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TRANSLATOR’S INTRODUCTION 

The long task of translating Marcel Giraud’s Le métis canadien has 
been a rewarding and interesting experience. It has revealed to me 
many details of which, despite my considerable knowledge of 
western Canadian history, | was unaware and which will be un- 
familiar to most anglophone readers; and also, in the months of 

translation, it has made me familiar with a panorama of prairie life 
ona scale broader and deeper than that of any other work I have 
encountered on the subject. Le métis canadien is the largest book yet 
written on the Métis in the Canadian West, and, though it was 
originally published four decades ago, in 1945, it is still the most 
thorough ethnographic and historical study of that people who 
considered themselves a “nation” apart from both whites and In- 
dians and who played so vital a role in the history of the parkland 
and the prairie between the Canadian Shield and the Rockies, But 
it is also a notable contribution to the general history of the region 
that has been inaccessible too long to anglophone readers, 

The story of the origins of Le métis canadien is an interesting and 
even at times a dramatic one. Marcel Giraud’s lifetime of studies 
in the francophone societies of North America began in 1918 when 
he was a student at the University of Aix-en-Provence and for the 
first time encountered Americans—soldiers who had been sent 
there for a period of study before they were discharged from 
military duties. It was this encounter that turned his attention to 
the transatlantic world. He graduated first from the University of 
Aix and then from the University of Paris. “After being rid of all 
those degrees,” he says in a brief account of his career, “I had one 
thing in mind: find an original subject to write a doctoral disserta- 
tion which might open to me a professorship in a university.” 

Still maintaining the interest in the New World that his encoun- 
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ters with American soldier-students had aroused in him, Marcel 

Giraud began a series of readings and of explorations in the French 
colonial archives which, as he says, “made me suspect that the ori- 

gins of the large expanse of western Canada had generated and be- 
queathed to its population historical problems that might justify 
and require a historical scholarly study still unwritten.” 

He accordingly applied for and won a Rockefeller scholarship 
that took him to the western provinces of Canada in the early 
1930s. Once he got there, he became aware of the Métis and their 
historic situation as a group poised between the white and the in- 
digenous societies and belonging to neither. He spent a great deal 
of time visiting Métis communities and observing the conditions 
that existed among them roughly half a century after the collapse 
of the vision of a Métis nation through the defeat of the North 
West Rebellion in 1885. These observations provided the basis for 
the later chapters of Le métis canadien, concerning the situation of 

contemporary Métis communities between the two world wars. 
He also researched the documents preserved in the archives of the 
Roman Catholic missions, mainly in Edmonton and St. Boniface, 

which narrated events in the history of the Métis as they had been 
observed by the missionaries. And he supplemented these obser- 
vations in the field and in ecclesiastical documents by establishing 
contact with such scholarly authorities on the Canadian and 
American Wests as Harold Innis, Chester Martin, and AS. Mor- 
ton in Canada, and J.B. Brebner and A.L. Burt in the United 
States. 

He soon came to realize that the best records illuminating the 
history of the Métis must be traced in the archives of the Hudson's 
Bay Company, which at this time were stored not in Winnipeg, as 
they mostly are today, but in the Company’s historic headquarters 
in the City of London. But there was no immediate opportunity to 
carry on research in England, and so he returned to France, where 
he took some ill-paid teaching posts to keep alive until he was for- 
tunate enough to secure an appointment to the Institut Frangais in 
London, which allowed him to work in his spare time in the Hud- 

son’s Bay Company’s archives. It was about this time that he first 
began to publish material based on his researches, notably an arti- 
cle in the Paris magazine Politique under the title “Les Canadiens 
francais dans les provinces de l'Ouest” (September 1938). Finally 
he received a scholarship from the University of Paris that enabled 
him to devote a whole year to completing his research in London. 

Giraud was still in London when the Second World War broke 
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out. He had to return to France, but he had gathered the material 

he needed for his book, and throughout the German occupation of 
France he devoted himself to the writing of it, using the history of 
another people far away as a kind of refuge from the even more 
violent and appalling history that was being made around him as 
he wrote, With the liberation of Paris, life returned surprisingly 
quickly to normal, and in 1945 Giraud’s completed book, which 
earned him his doctorate, was published by the University of 
Paris’s Institute of Ethnology; it was a massive volume of almost 
1,300 pages that in those straitened times must have taxed both the 
funds of the University and the paper stocks of its printers. 

It was clearly regarded in French academic circles as a notable 
achievement, and, as Marcel Giraud has remarked, it enabled him 

to reach the top of his profession “without going through the cus- 
tomary routine.”’ The chair of North American history at the pres- 
tigious Collége de France fell vacant, and Giraud’s book made him 
an eminently suitable candidate, so that he gained his professor- 
ship in one of France's great academic institutions without having 
to go through an apprenticeship teaching in a provincial univer- 
sity, as was the normal practice. 

Substantial though it may be, Le métis canadien is not Marcel 

Giraud’s most important work. After his appointment to the Col- 
lege de France, he turned his attention southward from Canada 

toward the other French colony in North America, Louisiana, and 
in 1953 he published the first volume of his Histoire de la Louisiane 
Srangaise. This work has been a continuing preoccupation over the 
decades. Four volumes have appeared, and now, living in retire- 
ment in Nice, Marcel Giraud is working on the fifth instalment of 

this massive and definitive work. 

The Métis were a people given a sense of historic mission by those 
outsiders—the bourgeois of the North West Company—who in- 
vented the concept of a “Métis nation.” Yet they recorded no his- 
tory of their own, an anomaly largely due to the fact that during 
the period when they played a notable role in western Canada they 
were mostly illiterate. They had their bards, like Pierre Falcon, 

who recorded in song the crucial events of their collective life, but 
they had no real chroniclers and to this day no historian of their 
past has emerged from their own ranks, They were and have 
largely remained a preliterate people. This does not mean that they 
were ignorant in terms of necessary knowledge, and in 
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their own way many of them were educated, for a man like Gab- 
riel Dumont could be fluent in six languages and know the prairie, 
as was once said of him, “as a sheep knows its heath,” could be 
capable of notable feats of social organization, as happened when 
he and Father André created the famous commune of St. Laurent, 
and yet be able barely to sign his own name, 

Writing the history of such a people presents its special prob- 
lems, since the historian in such a situation is really involved in a 
kind of elaborate mirror play. He has to trace their record by re- 
flection, in the way other people saw them, and he will find this 
kind of record has its intermittencies, when facts have to be sup- 
ported by conjecture. More than that, there are the problems of 
point of view. A missionary’s or a fur trader's perception of a 
Métis hunter is inevitably conditioned by his own calculations. 
The missionary sees him as a soul ripe for saving, the fur trader as 
a potential supplier or customer, and judgments are related to 
spiritual or material profits. So we have our accounts of the Metis 
seen from the outside, but—since this was a people lacking in 
those forms of artistic self-expression that are languages of the 
spirit—we have little tangible record of their inner lives. Before 
Louis Riel with his confessional writings, no Métis really bared his 

soul on paper, and Riel, with his Quebec classical education, was 
hardly a typical Métis. Gabriel Dumont, in the two oral narratives 
that have been recorded and have survived, gave some striking in- 

sights into the attitudes of a rather exceptional hunter of the west- 
erm prairies. Otherwise, we must mostly rely, as Giraud did, on 
the objective data, and on probability when that data is scanty. 

Given these limitations of information, Le métis canadien is a re- 

markable book. It pieces together an objective history of the Métis 
as a people playing their part in the changing history of the Cana- 
dian West. That history begins to reveal itself with the scanty don- 
nées from the period of the early French explorers, when métissage 
first began, and builds up to the time when missionary archives, 
fur-trade records, and later the narratives of travellers and official 

data, create a complex of observations that presents the Métis re- 

cord in considerable relief. Giraud extrapolates from this history a 
plausible collective portrait of the Métis character, with the 
strengths that made him so well adapted to the free life of the 
hunter and the weaknesses that made him incapable of coping with 
the changes in the economic and social life of the West that came 
with the collapse of the fur trade and the incursion of settlers. But 



Translator’s Introduction xiii 

the scantiness of autobiographical or biographical documents 
means that, with the exception of notable figures like Cuthbert 
Grant and Louis Riel, there are few particular portraits in this book 
rendered with any degree of psychological depth, so that we tend 
always to see the Métis collectively rather than individually; this of 

course is usually the case with preliterate peoples existing in small 
communities far from the centres of the dominant culture. 
Some of the limitations of Le métis canadien were self-imposed. 

While the subtitle of the book is “Son réle dans l’histoire des pro- 
vinces de l’Ouest,”’ Giraud has tended to interpret “history” in so- 

cial rather than political terms, and for this reason some readers 
will be surprised and may even be disappointed to find in the book 
no detailed accounts of the political and military events that took 
place during the Red River rising in 1869 and the North West Re- 
bellion of 1885. The insurrections are treated summarily, and 
Giraud concentrates much less on the dramatic episodes of such 
periods, which have preoccupied other historians of the Canadian 
West, than on the effect which the two events had on the social 
conditions of the Métis community, and on the way they deter- 
mined its position in the new society that arose in the West after 
annexation to Canada and the influx of immigrants, at first mostly 
white Anglo-Celtic Protestants from Ontario. Given the ethno- 
graphic nature of Giraud’s approach, | think such a limitation is 
valid and acceptable. In any case we have plenty of detailed ac- 
counts of the two insurrections, and more have appeared recently 
to celebrate the centennial of the North West Rebellion. What we 
have lacked is the deep and intensive study of Métis origins, and of 
the fate of the Métis between and after the insurrections, and this 
Giraud amply provides us. Hence, even if Le meétis canadien does 
not offer us a detailed narrative of the two rebellions, it does pro- 
vide us with a wealth of material and of sound analysis regarding 
social developments in the West that helps us better to understand 
these events and their tragic consequences, and also to see the 
Métis not merely as the actors in two dramatic episodes in our his- 
tory but as an enduring element in our society which cannot 
merely be relegated to the past. 

Le métis canadien inevitably reflects in some ways the prevailing 
attitudes of historians and cthnologists at the time and place when 
it was written. There is an inclination to echo the earlier 
ethnologists who tended to see processes at work in society 
analogous to those the evolutionists perceived in the natural 
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world. Indeed, there are times when Giraud does talk about 

white society being more “evolved” than indigenous societies, 
and at other times, in his descriptions of the life-styles of Indian 
peoples, he appears to be judging them according to white 
standards of honesty, decency, and so on, so that his account 
seems often more negative than we would expect from a 
modern ethnologist. However, Giraud was not insensitive to 

these issues. At one point he talks of the subjection of people of 
mixed blood to ‘“‘a variety of factors, some of which tended 
toward their elevation and others toward their debasement to 
the level of the native people” (Vol.I, p.323), But lest we 
assume his choice of language implies a comparative moral 
judgment, he adds a footnote that should be read with attention: 

By this we mean in no way that the native society is, in its con- 
ception or organization, inferior to white society. The two are in 
opposition because of their differences of structure, which we 
are not called upon to judge in terms of inferiority or superior- 
ity. If at times we resort to terms like “raising” or “lowering,” it 
is solely because they describe the reaction caused among the na- 
tive peoples by contact with the whites and by the comparison of 
their conditions of life with the more privileged status of the 
Anglo-Saxon. 

This caution should be borne in mind whenever the reader en- 
counters passages that seem to express judgments one might not 
find in the writings of contemporary anthropologists; where 
judgments exist in Le métis canadien they can be taken as relative to 
the changing situation of the West and not as absolute. 

There have been comparatively few difficulties in the task of 
translation, for Marcel Giraud writes a straightforward and hap- 
pily jargon-free prose, Occasionally his text contains redundancies 
that a strict editor might have judiciously pruned in the original, 
but in such cases I have chosen not to assume a post factim editorial 
role and have respected the text that print in its own way has made 
definitive. 

The title posed problems, since clearly what Giraud meant by 
“le Métis canadien” was the person of mixed French-Canadian 
and Indian ancestry, and to translate the term merely as “the 
Canadian Métis” would have blurred that special connotation. 
However, in the anglophone usage of Canada, the term “Métis” is 
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in any case restricted to people of mixed blood who are either of 
French descent or have been absorbed into a Prench-speaking 
group, so that the qualifying adjective did not seem necessary. In 
the end I decided that the most descriptive title could be obtained 
by uniting title and subtitle; I have called my English translation 
The Métis in the Canadian West. 

The word “canadien” itself aroused similar problems within the 
text. In the early part of the book it refers entirely to Québecois 
who came from Lower Canada to work or live in the West or, 

used adjectivally, to their descendants and their culture, After 
Confederation, however, and especially after the West became 

part of the new dominion of Canada, the word is also used at times 

in Giraud’s text to signify people of non-French descent coming 
from the old Canadian provinces. I have been unable to follow any 
strict rule in this connection; in each case I have been led by my 
judgment of what is appropriate in the context. In general I have 
tended to use the term “French Canadian” for a person of 
Québecois descent wherever there is any danger of misunderstand- 
ing. In practice this means that up to the 1860s “Canadian” 
wherever it appears means “French Canadian,” but after about 
1865 it is likely to mean “English Canadian.” There seemed no 
better way of solving the problem. 

Another problem arose over the word “Métis” itself, since, un- 

like anglophone writers, Giraud uses it to describe all persons of 
mixed blood in the West. Since to continue this usage would have 
led frequently to confusion, I have adopted the practice of restrict- 
ing it to people of partly French descent—the “Métis canadien” of 
Giraud’s title, In describing in a general way people of partly In- 
dian descent I have favored the term “mixed blood.” And in des- 
cribing those of partly Scottish or English descent, who lived apart 
from Métis society as described in this book, I have had recourse 

to the term “half-breed.” [ am aware that in certain circles this 
usage has fallen into disfavor. On the other hand, it is hallowed by 
the practice of historians and it is the translation of “Métis” fa- 
vored by the definitive bilingual Dictionnaire Canadien /Canadian 
Dictionary (1962) prepared by the Lexicographic Research Centre 
of the Université de Montreal. 

I would like to end by expressing my thanks to the Canada 
Council for providing a translation grant that made my task possi- 
ble, to Mrs. Norma Gutteridge and the staff of the University of 
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Alberta Press for their encouragement and help, and to Mr. 
Gerhard Ens for his invaluable assistance in checking a considera- 
ble number of points in the Archives of the Hudson’s Bay Com- 
pany and to Mrs, Shirlee A. Smith, the Archivist at the Hudson's 
Bay Company in Winnipeg. Ms. Jean Wilson of Vancouver 
copy-edited the text, Vic Marks of Typeworks, Vancouver, did 
the typography and typesetting, and Eve and Ron Gardner of 
Gardner Indexing Service, Edmonton, compiled the index. This 
work is published in co-operation with the Western Canadian 
Publications Project Committee of the University of Alberta. The 
University of Alberta Press has asked me to thank Les Editions du 
Ble of Saint-Boniface, Manitoba, for their permission to use the 

plates of the maps and illustrations prepared for their 1985 reprint 
of Le métis canadien. 

This translation has been published with the help of a grant 
from the Social Sciences Federation of Canada, using funds pro- 
vided by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of 
Canada. Additional funding toward production costs were pro- 
vided by the Emil Skarin Fund and the University/Special Projects 
Committee of the University of Alberta. 

GEORGE WOODCOCK 



PREFACE 

Ifinterbreeding between white and red peoples can be considered a 
general fact in Canada, if no part of the Dominion has completely 
escaped it, the provinces of the West offer the most numerous and 
the most striking examples. Not only do the Métis form a distinct 
group in the heterogenous society of this country that has hardly 
emerged from the frontier period,’ but they also have their own 
history within this setting. They are the survivors of a race which 
for a long period had its own special customs and an economy par- 
tially resembling that of the primitive tribes from which it had 
emerged, well adapted to the natural resources of the West; a race 

whose personality was repeatedly made manifest during the evolu- 
tion of those territories which were so rapidly converted from the 
exclusive exploitation of furs to the development of the primary 
resources they concealed. Even more than the Indians, who today 
are detached from their original patterns of organization and re- 

1. We use the term “frontier” in the sense that has been defined and 
widely spread by Professor F. J. Turner (The Frontier in American History, 
New York, 1921). The frontier denotes the advance guard of coloniza~ 
tion, the marches in which the influences of the primitive and the 
civilized worlds confront each other, in which the existence of the white 
man, whether he is trader, hunter, or settler, will depend on concessions 
to the wilderness he enters and the native peoples he meets there. The 
Canadian frontier thus shifted in gradual stages from the valley of the St. 
Lawrence to the shores of the Pacific, It underwent a long period of stag- 
nation in the country of the West; this favoured the emergence of the 
Métis group, which provided by far the most living expression of its 
spirit. 
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moved from their former ideals of life, the Métis have suffered, 
through the pressure of a new economy on their way of existence, 
a total disaggregation as a people. Nevertheless, this situation does 
not justify us in applying a uniformly negative verdict to them all, 
or in failing to appreciate the originality of their history and their 
past economy. Their personality reflects the influence of an envi- 
ronment which today is largely effaced, where the presence of 
primitive races, the existence of violent natural forces, to which 

man was closely subjected, and the distance from any nucleus of 
civilization dominated the attitudes and shaped the way of life of 
its inhabitants. Condemned, in regions difficult of access, to a long 
period of isolation, the Métis group was able to develop there 
without interference and to create for itself traditions and aspira- 
tions unknown to the hybrid groups that emerged in other parts of 
Canadian territory. 



INTRODUCTION 

In undertaking the story of the Métis in the provinces of the West, 
we have set out to portray the evolution of their group from its 
origins, to define the role it has played in the history of the North 
West, and to seek out the causes that explain the economic and so- 
cial position it occupies today in these provinces. Thus this is 
neither a genealogical study, for we have deliberately mentioned 
only a small number of families, and then only when it was neces- 
sary, nor is it a study of the insurrections of 1869-70 and 1885, 
events that have become the subjects of remarkable narratives and 
of innumerable polemical arguments, and which we touch on only 
insofar as they affect the evolution of Métis society and hasten its 
decay. In this study, which is essentially confined to Métis of 
French-Indian descent, the Scottish halfbreed appears only when 
his presence helps us better to define, by means of comparison, the 
personality of the Métis of French descent and to contrast the at- 
titudes and ways of life of the two groups. Sometimes also, the 
lack of documentation regarding the French-speaking Métis leads 
us to find examples among the Scots and describe them more ex- 
tensively than one would otherwise do in such a work. This oc- 
curs especially in the period of the origins of the Métis, when the 
scantiness of texts forces us not to observe too strictly the limita- 
tions of a work which we have devoted to that group whose role is 
manifested so vigorously in the history of the West, and whose as- 
similation into white society is even today so imperfectly achieved 
that it perpetuates a problem the solution to which it is difficult to 
foresee. 

This is the case especially in the three prairie provinces, the re- 
gion where the Métis group, especially numerous because of the 
contacts between races which the isolation of the country long 
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favored, constituted at an early period a distinct element, ani- 
mated by national pretensions, whose demands the public au- 
thorities were in many cases forced to accept. We have not ex- 
tended our study to the mountainous zone of the Pacific coast. At 
the same time, given the fact that it would have been impossible 
to adhere strictly to the conventional boundaries of provinces 
lacking —except to the West—in natural frontiers, we have been 
unable entirely to ignore the other bordering territories: to the 
northwest the valley of the Mackenzie River, and the area of the 

Barren Grounds, and to the East the region whose waterways 

drain into Hudson Bay and James Bay, which have been linked to 
the general framework of our study, yet we have not made them 
the object of an enquiry in depth, which the scarcity of population 
would have made irrelevant. 

In chronological terms, we have adopted as the era for begin- 
ning our work the last quarter of the seventeenth century. Only 
from that epoch can one date the establishment of the white race in 
the country of the North West in groups large enough and stable 
enough to give rise to appreciable interbreeding. If the phenome- 
non undoubtedly occurred earlier on the Labrador coast, which 
seamen and fishermen have long frequented, it is not likely that 
the pioneer expeditions which ventured into the Bay of the North 
contributed to the mingling of races. Since no precise data have 
come down to us on the even earlier Scandinavian expeditions, 
perhaps in the tenth or eleventh centuries,' it is impossible for us 
to form a judgment on such a remote epoch. But we can have no 
doubt that Henry Hudson's expedition (1610) and those that fol- 
lowed it (led by Thomas Button, Jens Munck, Luke Fox, and 
Thomas James), which were all simple voyages of discovery 
without those commercial or colonial preoccupations that led to 
the union of whites and Indians and which in any case made no 
contact with the peoples of the shorelines, played no part in the 
birth of the Métis group. 

We regret that, owing to events, we were unable to make our- 
selves acquainted with the English or American works regarding 
the provinces of the Canadian West that may have been published 
since the spring of 1940.* 

We wish to express our thanks to Mr. Chadwick Brooks, Sec- 
retary to the Hudson’s Bay Company, and Mr. Leveson Gower, 
the Company’s Archivist, who have kindly given us access to their 
remarkable collection of archives, and to Professor J. B. Brebner 
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of Columbia University, New York, Mr. G. Lanctot, the Domin- 

ion Archivist, and Miss Grace Lee Nute, Archivist of the Histori- 

cal Society of Minnesota; to Professors A. L. Burt of the Univer- 
sity of Minnesota and A. S. Morton of the University of Sas- 
katchewan; to Professors H, A. Innis and Chester Martin of the 
University of Toronto; to Professors P. Renouvin of the Sor- 

bonne and A. Siegfried of the College de France; and to Professor 
M. Griaule and Monsieur P. Lester, General Secretaries of the In- 
stitut d’Ethnologie, whose advice and material assistance have en- 
abled us to complete and publish this work. 

At the same time, we would have been unable to carry on our 
investigations among the Métis groups of the Canadian West 
without the help of the Congregation of Oblate Fathers. We ex- 
press our fullest gratitude to them, and also to Monseigneur 
E. Yelle, Archbishop-Coadjutor of St. Boniface (Manitoba) and 
his distinguished secretary, Father A. Deschambault, who agreed 
to put at our disposal the important documents in the Archiepis- 
copal Archives. 

MARCEL GIRAUD 

1. On this subject, see the interesting article by W. S. Wallace, “The Literature 

Relating to the Norse Voyages to America,” Canadian Historical Review (March 
1939), and that by C. T. Curelly, “Viking Weapons Found Near Beardmore, 
Ontario,” Canadian Historical Review (March 1939). 
2. The events to which Giraud refers here are, of course, those connected with 

the German invasion of France and the occupation of Paris in 1940, which iso- 

lated him from current publications in the English language until after he had 

completed Le meétis canadien (translator). 
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CHAPTER ONE 

THE PHYSICAL ENVIRON MENT 

The true Canadian West—the North West of the voyageurs —began 
only on the far side of Lake Superior. This was the termination of 
the water route that formed a natural extension of the St. Law- 
rence, and whose ease of access gave travellers from Lower Canadaa 
rapid entry into the heart of the American continent. At the end of 
the eighteenth century it was the trans-shipment point where the 
roomy canots de maitre that plied the Great Lakes, and their 
canoemen, too inexperienced to brave the spaces of the North 
West, both ended their stage of the journey into the interior. The 
winterers, inured to a harder way of living, now took the place of 
the “‘pork-eaters” from Montreal, and their Northern canoes, 

whose lightness was designed for the difficulties of navigating the 
waterways of the Canadian Shield, were launched on the network 

of rivers that traversed the broken country between Lake Superior 
and Lake Winnipeg.! 

At this point the traveller crossed the threshold of the true wil- 
derness, whose entry at the beginning of the nineteenth century 
was guarded by the citadel of Fort William at the mouth of the 
Kaministikwia River. The voyageurs who reached Fort William 
from Montreal had already traversed, by the Ottawa River and 
French River route to Georgian Bay, vast stretches of the rocky 
and wooded Canadian Shield. The lower edge of the Shield con- 
tinued to skirt the Great Lakes from Lake Huron westward until at 
Fort William it hemmed in the western shore of Lake Superior 
with its compact mass, which extended in a vast arc of rock 
formations—primeval, hard and meagre-soiled—in the direction 
of Hudson Bay and the Arctic Ocean. In just the same way as the 
landscape seemed to close itself off, so the civilizing influence of 
Lower Canada, which had percolated by way of the Great Lakes as 



4 THE PRIMITIVE ENVIRONMENT 

far as the frontier posts of Sault Ste. Marie and Michilimackinac, 

was unable to overleap the rugged shores of Lake Superior. In the 
country that stretched beyond, races and cultures would long con- 
tinue to mingle and merge freely, far away from the domination of 
the civil and military authorities in New France, 

To the first explorers this Shield, which separated the West from 
the colonized regions of Canada, appeared as a rocky wilderness, 
sombre and grey as its own granite, In places the surface was hori- 
zontally level, but then it would break into ridges and undulations, 

a fearsome chaos of wild-looking outcrops and of hollows filled 
with a multitude of lakes, turbid muskegs, marshes and streams 

both large and small.* These streams were the numerous afHuents 
of James Bay and Hudson Bay, which they entered through slug- 
gish and marshy estuaries. Everywhere they had delved valleys of 
varying depth, broken frequently by falls and rapids shaped by the 
grinding of vanished glaciers.* On the rocky surfaces, the soil de- 
rived from decaying vegetable matter was scanty and thinly 
spread. “The spots of tolerable soil are neither large nor frequent,” 
wrote David Thompson in 1785.* Here and there, in the basins 
around lakes or in the depths of valleys, sand and clay had col- 
lected,’ often mingled with grits,° as around Lake Athabasca,’ and 

in other places reduced to a thin scurf that barely hid the rock." 
Only on the very margins of the Shield, to the south along Rainy 
River and Rainy Lake, around Lake of the Woods and Lake Win- 

nipeg,® and to the north on the shores of Hudson Bay, did a layer 
of humus sometimes cover the stretches of sandy soil and the 
lakeside or seashore claybeds,'’ Thus the possibilities of cultiva- 
tion were narrowly localized. Forest and rock determined the look 
of the landscape. “Everywhere wooded shores, and never a distant 
view.”""? 

But the woodland did not cover the Shield with a uniformly 
dense mass of trees. Sometimes it reared up a tall and crowded 
forest where stands of conifers —black and white spruce, tamarack 
and larch, the dominant species of the north—mingled with leaf 
trees such as poplars, aspens, and white birches; the last provided 
both native hunters and Canadian voyageurs with bark for their 
canoes and wood for their sleighs, hatchet handles and snowshoe 

frames.'* Sometimes the forests were broken by sterile rocky out- 
crops or broad marshes where muskegs of decomposing vegeta- 
tion accumulated on the permanently frozen sub-soil.'* And often 
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the forest opened into clearings filled with a thick undergrowth of 
wild hops (Humulus lupus Linn.) and wayfaring tree (Viburnum 
opulus Linn.),"* or into burns opened by fire and encumbered by 
the charred trunks of conifers and birch trees among which poplar 
saplings (Populus balsamifera Linn.) had sprung up."® “Fire has 
made such ravages” on the north shore of Lake Superior, George 
Simpson noted in 1832, “that in many places nothing remains to 
show that vegetation had ever existed, but a few scorched trunks 
of trees standing upright among the ruins of immense forests laid 
waste by that overwhelming element.”'® 

In the neighborhood of the seacoast the effect of the colder and 
more humid climate was to aggravate that of the fires, and around 
the great indentation of Hudson Bay, on whose shores the tide 
ebbed and flowed over vast open beaches,'” the forests were re- 
duced, despite the comparatively thick vegetable mould, to 
growths of willows and stunted conifers scattered among vast 
marshes.'* The scarcity of wood in this region and the distances 
from which it had to be brought help to explain why James Knight 
hesitated in 1716 to order the construction of a fort at the mouth of 
the Churchill River.'* The marshes nourished a rich growth of hay 
from which the Company’s posts on Hudson Bay fed their live- 
stock.?” On this level ground the drainage was always poor, be- 
cause thaws never penetrated more than three or four inches below 
the surface, and the constant dampness of the soil was increased 
every spring by the floods caused by ice building up at the river- 
mouths,*! and was sustained through the summer by nightly 
frosts.2* 

Along the shorelines, enveloped in their icy mists, the cold was 
always more intense than inland, In 1782 Andrew Graham noted 
in the journal of Fort Severn that his men could not endure the 
cold when they hunted ptarmigan in the open marshes along the 
coast, while those who hunted hare in the forest, only a little way 
inland, complained of the warm, heavy atmosphere.*’ The Indians 
who brought their furs in the spring to the posts on Hudson Bay 
dreaded approaching the shore, where they were often enveloped 
in snowstorms as soon as they left the shelter of the forest. By the 
end of October the coast was almost completely under ice.** The 
larger rivers might remain free until the beginning of January*® but 
from October onwards the ponds, marshes, and slow-flowing 

streams were already frozen; the fragile structure of York Factory, 
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built on marshy soil, was greatly disturbed by the effects of winter 
frosts,?° and at the end of November the intense cold would begin 
to splinter trees and to crack rocks.*” 

At this season all work outside the forts came to an end. Cutting 
wood was impossible; within twenty minutes the faces and hands 
of men engaged in such tasks would be frost-bitten.** In 1715 one 
of the governors of York Factory expressed doubt whether in a 
land so meagre and deprived it would ever be possible to keep 
domestic animals alive.*” 

The winter raged for eight months, sometimes broken by inter- 
vals of moderate temperature, followed by violent storms and by 
cold so intense that the thermometer would fall to 63° F. below 

zero and even, on occasion, to 100° below.*° In Hudson Bay the 

sea froze to within ten leagues of the shore, and the open water 
between could only be identified by the veil of pale mist that 
obscured it.*! In spring the cold was aggravated by humid fogs; 
only in the middle of July was the coast again accessible to ship- 
ping, and the posts at last emerged from their winter isolation.** 
From the beginning of June, however, there were many warm 

days, interrupted by sudden forays of returning cold, whose effect 
was intensified by penetrating mists that threatened the health 
even of the native peoples,** by plagues of insects, and by fires in 
the woods caused by both Indians and the employees of the 
posts.** As a result of these fires, the coast took on, year by year, a 
progressively more desolate appearance. The trees scattered there 
were ravaged by fire, and the gaps thus opened in the forest 
pushed the wooded area farther inland. In 1774 Samuel Hearne ob- 
served in the neighborhood of the Churchill River the effects of 
this manmade devastation, which deprived the posts of their 
supplies of wood and would have been even worse if the Hudson’s 
Bay Company had not made an effort to end the setting of fires,** 

Beyond Prince of Wales Fort, the land became even more arid 

and the cold more rigorous. When Michael Grimington explored 

the Churchill River in 1686, he observed that its lower reaches 
formed the boundary between the woodland and the Barren 
Grounds, that sterile expanse which opened out beyond the Seal 
River and extended the Canadian Shield as far as the Arctic 

Ocean.*° 
Nowhere was the bleak monotony of the Shield more evident 

than on the Arctic-facing inner side of the great arc which the 
wooded zone, edged by a tangle of trees brought down by the 
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winds,*’ traced from the Churchill River to Great Slave Lake and 
the Mackenzie River, where it came to an end near the mouth of 

that great Arctic waterway.** Here and there, beyond the line of 
the forest, a few trees still grew in sheltered dips or where pockets 
of humus had collected. But very soon they gave way to the vege~ 
tation of mosses and lichens that covered the gently undulating 
surface of the Barren Grounds, dotted in every direction by lakes 
and sometimes breaking into chaotic heaps of glacial boulders that 
in the north subsided into the flatness of the tundra along the 
shores of Coronation Gulf.** 

Yet even that far extremity of the Shield, its most impoverished 
region, was not without resources, and human life was still possi- 
ble there. The wild berries, mosses, and lichens,*® which at times 
of famine gave nourishment even to travellers, provided grazing 
for herds of musk-oxen (Ovibos moschatus moschatus Zimm.) and 
Arctic caribou (Rangifer arcticus Richard.). The range of the 
musk-oxen ended south of Seal River, but that of the caribou 
reached as far as the southern shores of Churchill River and Rein- 
deer Lake.*! The native peoples made a practice of ambushing the 
caribou on their winter and summer migrations; in winter these 
wanderings led the bucks from east to west, toward the forest, 
where they sheltered during the cold season, and in summer back 
toward the east, in search of the does who passed the whole year in 
the desolate spaces of the Barren Grounds. Reunited near the 
shores of Hudson Bay, they provided an abundance of food for the 

Indians and the trading posts.** In summer the woods caribou—a 
distinct species**—would also leave the shelter of the forest to 
graze on the Barren Grounds.** 

Similar resources, in great variety, existed in the wooded zone 
which to the south and west spilt over the Shield’s igneous forma- 
tions and encroached broadly on the soils of the great inland plain 
that fanned out beyond the Shield’s archaic nucleus, extending 

from the lower end of Lake Winnipeg to the Rocky Mountains 
and touching the Arctic Ocean at the mouth of the Mackenzie 
River.*® In addition to the great variety of berries and wild fruit in 
this region—gooseberries, strawberries, blueberries, huckleber- 

ries, saskatoons**—there was an abundance of Labrador tea (Ledum 
latifdium Ait.) in the muskegs and marshes; its bitter decoction 
took the place of tea among the Indians and the Métis.*” In many 
places wild rice (Zizania aquatica Linn.) grew profusely, springing 
from the muddy beds of the chain of lakes—particularly Rainy 
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Lake and Lake of the Woods—that marked the route of the north- 
ern canoe brigades between the Kaministikwia and the Winnipeg 
tivers; the Ojibwa and the Dakota had long disputed its favorite 
habitat among the glacial alluviums and the marshy soils around 
the sources of the Mississippi.** 

Big game and fur-bearing animals were also more varied in the 
forest region. Most numerous were the woods caribou (Rangifer 
caribou Gmelin.), larger and stronger than their arctic cousins; in- 
fluenced by changing wind directions, they wandered incessantly 
over the rocky terrain and the frozen marshes in search of their 
food.*® There were also black bear (Enarctos americanus americanus 
Pallas) and especially moose (Alces americanus americanus Clinton); 
the latter preferred the southern parts of the forest, where poplars, 
aspens, and willows grew thickly,®” but the trading post journals 
also report their abundance in the regions of Ile a la Crosse, Lesser 
Slave Lake, and Athabasca Lake.*! The Woods bison of this region 
(Bison bison athabasca Rhoads) were shorter and more stocky than 
the plains bison (Bison bison bison Linn.), whose habitat lay to the 
south of the forest.** The elk or wapiti (Cervus canadensis canadensis 
Erxleb.) crossed the southern limit of the wooded zone, but by na~ 

ture it was an animal of the prairie.** When big game was scarce 
the Indians would resort to rabbit and hare,"* as well as fish and the 
flights of migrating wild geese that followed the coasts of Hudson 
Bay.” The forest was also the haunt of fur-bearing animals— 
beaver and otter, martens, foxes, and muskrats—and it was on the 

woods Indians that the fur-trading companies relied for their best 

peltries.°° 
Yet, varied as they may have been, the resources of the forest 

were precarious and unevenly spread. Wild berries did not ripen 
until the summer's end, and large areas of the Shield grew nothing 
but a covering of the lichen known as reindeer moss.*” In winter, 
game was often hard to find anywhere, and there were large areas 
where even in the best of seasons it was scarce;* the presence of 

caribou in particular was unpredictable because of their constant 
wandering.®® The explorers who first entered the wooded area of 
the Shield soon became aware of the agonizing precariousness of 
the Indian way of life, subject to periodic famine and threatened by 
cyclical phenomena like the disappearance of the hares at the end 
of seven- or nine-year periods.®° Only for the most adept hunters 
did the profits gained from fur-bearing animals compensate for the 
uncertainty of natural means of subsistence. At its best the native 
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life was hard. The privations it involved were aggravated by a 
climate whose arctic character, even when it was less extreme than 
in the Barren Grounds, allowed no escape from rigorous cold in 
winter or torrid heat in summer, made all the more unendurable 

by the proliferation of insects.*' In such circumstances it was to be 
expected that the woods Indians should often desert their forests 
for the prairie to the south, with its more reliable and easily acces- 
sible resources."* 

Between the true prairie and the forest, the transition was not so 

abrupt as between the forest and the Barren Grounds. An inter- 
mediate zone existed where they came together, uneven in topog- 
raphy and broken by frequent hills, lakes, and rivers, or by marshy 
sloughs whose high grasses concealed the trunks of trees felled 
by fire." In this parkland the forest lingered in the form of thick 
copses, more deciduous than coniferous,®* which alternated with 
broad clearings, veritable plains where cultivation would be estab- 

lished before agricultural settlement spread to the real prairie. This 
landscape extended from the Red River to the north branch of the 
Saskatchewan and reappeared, hemmed in by dense forest, on the 
black, heavy soils of the Peace River, where in 1792 Alexander 

Mackenzie noted the alternation of woods and of plains inhabited 
by herds of bison and elk."* Farther on, beside the Mackenzie 
River, he encountered parkland less constricted by the forest. 
The harmonious landscape of the North Saskatchewan was simi- 
larly described by Gabriel Franchére: ‘‘Hills in varied forms, 
crowned with superb groves; valleys agreeably embrowned, at 
evening and morning, by the prolonged shadow of the hills and of 
the woods which adorn them.”*” The dense forest line of oaks, as- 
pens, elms, and maples beside the Red River was often broken by 
open areas, such as Image Plain and Limestone Quarry, that linked 
up with the level expanses of the great prairic.®* In that inter- 
mediate zone, the animals of the northern forest—bears, moose, 

and fur-bearers—often mingled with the plains bison, which 
found winter shelter and pasture there, though the prairie was 
their usual domain,"* 

To the south the prairie spread out in that vast grassy surface 
which in 1690 impressed Henry Kelsey when—the first white man 
there—he entered the Saskatchewan Valley. “You leave the woods 
behind, and then you have beast . . . black buffilo, nothing but 

beast and grass.” A thrilling sense of immensity hovered over 
the landscape as it opened out from the parkland to the Mississippi 
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Valley, and merged without a break into the great American plain, 
to which David Thompson could fix no limit nearer than the Gulf 
of Mexico.”! Yet the voyageurs who travelled by the classic route 
of the North Saskatchewan did not see this treeless prairie stretch- 
ing before their eyes until they reached Fort Carlton,”? beyond 
which it encircled the banks of the South Saskatchewan and its 
tributary, the Red Deer River. But along the lower reaches of the 
Assiniboine River to near its confluence with the Red, and along 
the shores of the latter river, it reappeared, and the impression of 
endless space brooded over the prairie, created as much by the lie 
of the land as by the effects of climate and vegetation.” 

In this area the terrain was too little broken and too fragmentary 
in its variations to disturb the level monotony of the plain or to 
create in the general uniformity any clear pattern of landscape. Yet 
farther west the completely flat prairie gave way to the rolling 
prairie gently undulating’ and gashed by riverbeds that some- 
times opened into broad muddy valleys and at other times cut 
their meandering courses between steep banks as much as 150 
metres in height.”* More important as a feature of the western ter- 
rain was the series of escarpments, roughly oriented from north to 
south, and surmounted by thick glacial deposits dotted with 
enormous crystalline boulders,”* which divided the prairie into 

three successive terraces, stepping up from cast to west and merg- 
ing into the Rocky Mountains through a zone of gullies and bad- 
lands.”” The Saskatchewan wove its way through the escarpments 
in rapids that for long distances imposed on the voyageurs the 
slow labor of tracking, or hauling their canoes by rope.”* These 
successive elevations of the land were themselves broken up by 
erosion into a great number of often asymmetrical hills which by 
no means filled the bare horizons of the prairie. The Hair Hills, 
also known as Pembina Mountain, were succeeded by Turtle 
Mountain and Boss Hill, by the Grand Coteau of the Missouri, by 
the Touchwood Hills and File Hills. The Bear Hills merged into 
the Eagle Hills, and these into the Birch Hills, a cluster of plateaus 
and undulations that rose up to 250 to 300 metres above the gen- 
eral level of the prairie; finally there came Wood Mountain and the 
Cypress Hills which, rising slowly from east to west, reached 
from 300 to 600 metres above the plain.”” 

In the Indian economy, as later in that of the Métis before set- 
tlement chased them from the plains, these ranges of hills played a 
primordial role. They acted as natural observation posts where 
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camps might be established and the approach of enemies could al- 
ways be detected.** Some of them provided the birch bark from 
which the Indians made canoes to transport their furs each year to 
the trading posts.*' Others attracted fur-bearing animals® and of- 
ten, as in the copses of the parkland, herds of bison found shelter 

in cold weather among the trees that grew on their slopes. On the 
northern flank of Turtle Mountain the forest was so dense that 
horsemen could not penetrate it;** as the hills progressed toward 
the west,* the woods opened out, yet they still impressed the 
traveller as treed oases in the bare prairie, 
On the broad surface of the plains, trees in fact occurred only 

sporadically, dispersed in scanty marooned copses in the bare 
prairie,*® or hidden in the groins of valley bottoms, which the 
French Canadians called ‘‘coulees,””** or aligned, like detached re- 
minders of the parkland, in narrow corridors of oaks, aspens, 

birches, and conifers along the courses of the larger rivers.*” Be- 
tween these patches of woodland grew an abundant vegetation of 
grasses and small shrubs: mint and wormwood (Artemisia canaden- 
sis Mich.), alternating with Spartan feather grass (Stipa spartea 
Trin.), with kinnikinnick, also called harouge (Cornus stolifera 
Linn.), growing only on sandy soils and in valley depths (its inner 
bark being used by Indians and Métis as a substitute for tobacco), 
with cotton-grass (Eriophorum polystadion Linn.) and its aquatic 
foliage, and with lilies and vetches covering vast areas in an as- 
tonishing blossoming.** This diversity of grasses and other plants 
grew on soils of varying richness; sometimes a black, sticky allu- 
vial soil that was an extension of the fertile earth of the Red River, 
consisting of a clayey mud, “‘as firm as the surface of a road,” cov- 
ered with a layer of humus renewed each year by vegetable de- 
composition;** sometimes a poorer chalky clay, covered with 
wormwood and cactus, and broken by marshy stretches where 
Red River carts of the Métis would bog down, often a lighter 
sandy soil or a thick mantle of glacial drift that concealed the real 
character of the sub-soil.°” On the dry earths between the two 
branches of the Saskatchewan and in the southerly parts of the 
prairie, around the saline lakes and marshes that were frequent in 

this area, appeared a short greensward which the bison especially 
sought out: it consisted of a variety of “buffalo grasses” (Boutelous 
oligostachya Tott., Stipa spartes Trin., Spartin gracilis Trin.) which at- 
tracted enormous herds.” 
Owing to the fires that periodically coursed over the prairie and 
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destroyed its trees, this herbaceous vegetation continually gained 

ground.*? Conflagrations usually broke out in dry periods, some- 
times accompanying spring thaws, but more often occurring dur- 
ing the autumn, when the scourge of fire was noted repeatedly in 
such documents as Alexander Henry’s memoirs and the journals of 
the Hudson's Bay posts.®* It usually spread easily in the vast open 
spaces, and was arcumscribed only by areas of poor sandy soil 
whose more scanty vegetation limited its ravages, by river barriers 
it could not leap, or by the numerous ponds that helped protect the 
hills among which they were scattered." The American prairie 
suffered as much as the Canadian,” and travellers who went to 

Red River by way ofa detour through the Middle West were often 
overtaken by fires whose crackling approach took on a nightmare 
rapidity .*® Sometimes the Red River Colony was isolated by sud- 
den fires that destroyed the reserves of hay on which it depended 
and decimated its livestock;*’ fires consumed the pastures beside 

the Assiniboine and the Saskatchewan, and could threaten the 

trading posts themselves, 
The most important of them, Fort Edmonton, barely escaped 

destruction in November 1848, while in December 1846, the plains 

between Fort Carlton and Fort Ellice, both of which were closely 

hemmed in by the flames, became for thousands of square 
kilometres a vast charred wasteland.** In the autumn of 1848 and 
again early in December 1852, almost the whole prairie from 
Pembina to the North Saskatchewan was ablaze, except for a nar- 
row corridor from the Missouri to Turtle Mountain that the fire 
spared.’ Sometimes Métis caught in the plains were the victims 
of conflagration.'" "The plains are and have been these several 
days past, burning in the most dreadful manner,”’ wrote James 
Bird from the post of Edmonton on 12 October 1812. ‘Fires are 
raging in all directions, and the sun obscured with smoke. , . Ele- 
ven Blackfoot have been consumed in the flames near Paint Creek 
House.’’'? The colony of Assiniboia was forced to protect itself 
against the possible carelessness of its own people during the dry 
season by instituting rules designed to reduce the causes of a 
scourge whose frequency shook the confidence of even the most 
energetic settlers."°° When agricultural settlement reached the 
plains farther west, it had to deal in its turn with this calamity 
whose ravages were so difficult to turn aside. Thus the settlement 
of St. Paul des Métis in Alberta experienced from the beginning 
the kind of difficult times the Red River Colony had already lived 
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through, and only just escaped annihilation in a classic autumn fire 
that destroyed its first crops and its stores of hay. 

Invaded by such periodic devastations, the fragments of forest 
on the prairie continued to shrink, Along the rivers, clearings 
spread gradually among the corridors of woodland that shaded 
their damp banks; the grass grew lushly in these new open spaces, 
but the dwarf oaks and alders that sprang up in place of the origi- 
nal firs could not provide enough wood to heat the posts or to 
build the boats used on the Saskatchewan.'* Already in 1799, al- 
most a century before the geological surveyor G, M. Dawson 
confirmed his observations, David Thompson had noted in the 
plains beside the Bow River this steady growth of the prairie at the 
expense of the forest;!% the debris left by one fire soon became fuel 
for the next, since the Indians were constantly starting prairie fires. 

Indeed, whether intentionally or otherwise, the actions of the 

native people seem to have been the main cause of the retreat of the 
woodland on the plains. Sometimes it was merely negligence on 
the part of Indians or fur trade employees encamped on the prairie 
that started the fires.'°° But more often it was caused deliberately 
by plains Indians returning from warlike expeditions or from one 
of the many raids aimed at stealing horses from other tribes. They 
would light fires to protect them from their enemies’ reprisals, 
either by creating a smoke-screen that threatened to suffocate pur- 
suers, or by burning the grass to eliminate the tracks of their 
travois.'°? Sometimes, as well, in areas where there were no 
natural landmarks, fires might serve as signals between different 
bands, or they might simply be set to give richer pasture for the 
horses around the camps which the wandering Indians set up in 
the plains.'™ Finally, it sometimes happened that, to get their own 
back on whites who had been too energetic in frustrating their at- 
tempts at pillage or with whom there had been commercial mis- 
understandings, the Indians would set a fire to drive away the 
herds of bison and in this way lessen the traders’ chance of living 
off the land or of supplying their fur brigades with food.” When 
the Sioux were unable to defeat the Red River Métis in battle, they 
followed this procedure in 1843 and 1844 so as to limit the periodic 
intrusions of the Bois-brilés into their territories in North Dakota; 
unable to conquer their rivals with arms, they deprived them of 
food supplies by burning the prairie. 

No sooner was a fire ignited than it caught on immediately, en- 
couraged by the dry and luminous atmosphere of the West, whose 
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clarity —like that of desert air—reinforced the impression of flat 
immensity that was so striking in those first levels of the prairie 
where the horizon endlessly receded, an impression broken only 
momentarily by the deception of mirages or by discontinuous 
faults in the terrain. 

The customary dryness of the prairie atmosphere did not mean 
that either snow or rain was lacking. Snow might fall heavily dur- 
ing the autumn and winter months, and if it was followed by a 
rapid thaw, it could produce those spring floods which in the first 
years so adversely affected the colony of Assiniboia and in May 
1826 almost annihilated it.'"' Rain fell especially at the beginning of 
summer, and on its relative abundance depended the success of the 

crops sown beside the Red River."'* But dryness was still the most 
striking feature of the prairie climate. In the central plains of the 
West, springs and watercourses dried up in summer; in 1847 the 
Indians told F. U. Graham that they feared they would have to 
abandon their usual summer territories and stay beside the main 
rivers.''* In this hot season, the dryness of the air accentuated the 
variations of temperature; in June, in August, and especially in 
September, warm days might be followed by nocturnal frosts that 
were harmful to the attempts at cultivation in the colony of Red 
River or around the trading posts. And during the winter the same 
dryness sharpened the cold, and congealed the rivers into pack-ice 
which remained from the beginning of November or December 
until the last days of April.'"* 

Yet the prairie climate was notably gentler than that of the zones 
we have already described. Not only was the winter shorter there, 
so that the earth was free of snow from April onwards," but the 
warm breath of the Chinook, or south wind, interrupted the bit- 

terest stretches of winter with warm days, which could follow 

without transition on periods of the most intense cold, The rise in 
temperature during such an interlude surprised Anthony Henday 
when he emerged on 29 December 1754 from the wooded zone 
through which he had travelled all the way from York Factory and 
reached the south branch of the Saskatchewan. There it was so 
mild that he could shed his clothes: “The weather has been so 
warm today that we have gone without anything over our bodies 
and felt no cold . . . This part of the country is nothing to com- 
pare to York Factory for cold... ’*''® Similarly the Fort Garry 
journal noted on 19 April 1828: ‘After cold and snow, the wind 
changes to the South, and warm weather succeeds the cold almost 
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instantaneously.”""!” Finally, compare the extremes of cold on the 
shores of Hudson Bay as recorded in Andrew Graham’s ‘‘Obser- 
vations”’ with those noted in Alexander Henry’s journal and in the 
reports of the prairie trading posts, To the minimum temperature 
of -100° F, which Graham reports, we need only oppose such 
considerably more moderate figures as the —-27° F. at Pembina in 
the winter of 1807, and the —48° F. in the Red River Colony dur- 
ing the winter of 1846-7.'"* 

In the warm temperatures of summer and autumn, berries and 
fruits ripened in profusion on the prairie, Eaten raw, incorporated 
into pemmican, or infused in water mixed with bison fat, they 
formed one of the Indians’ principal foods.'" Many species 
flourished in the rich soils of the plains and especially where there 
were clumps of trees. Wild plums and cherries (Prunus americana 
Marshall, Prunus Virginiana Linn.), huckleberries (Vaccinium 
oxycoccos Linn.), rose hips (Rosa blanda Ait.), squashberries or 
“pembinas” (Viburnum), and service-berries or “‘saskatoons” 

(Amelanchier canadensis Torr. and Gr.), were to be found 

everywhere in the plains, but they were especially abundant in the 
Peace River country. There, during the customary gathering sea- 
son for wild berries at the beginning of August, they formed the 
almost exclusive diet of the Indians and the Métis.'*° In addition 
there were the wild roots, such as the prairie potato or prairie tur- 
nip (Psoralla esculenta Nuttal), which the Indians would dry to use 
as a vegetable during winter,’*! and the various products of the 
wooded zones. Each spring the maple furnished its sugar which 
the Indian women attached to the various posts would gather; in 
summer the saps of poplar and birch also provided a sugary liquor 
appreciated by both whites and Indians." 

This rich vegetation of the prairie in its turn nourished a variety 
of big game whose numbers for a long time seemed inexhaustible: 
moose which, like the bear, tended to prefer the parkland and the 
wooded areas; elk (wapiti), antelope (Antilocapra americana 
americana Ord.)'*8 and, dominating all the rest because of the part 
they played in the economies of both the Métis and the Indians of 
the prairie, the herds of bison, as dense as swarms of locusts,'™* 

which crowded among the short grasses and saline pastures south 
of the north branch of the Saskatchewan; sometimes they invaded 
the trading posts in their black masses and the palisades had to be 
reinforced to save them from destruction.'*® 

The Saskatchewan country was indeed the favored region of the 
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great herds. Here the animals multiplied freely, protected from 
excessive hunting by the permanent threat of warfare between 
rival tribes, principally the Blackfoot and the Cree, In 1857 an un- 
countable array of herds, each containing hundreds or even 
thousands of animals, spread out before the astonished eyes of 
Captain Palliser over pastures they had grazed down to the 
earth.'*° Both the North West and the Hudson’s Bay companies 
would find in these great hordes the provisions of meat they 
needed to feed even their most distant posts. One can judge the 
importance of these supplies from the figures contained in Gover- 
nor Simpson's correspondence; in 1822 the post of Edmonton 
alone, which dominated this vast buffalo preserve with its unlim- 
ited resources, gathered no less than 5,000 bison tongues, more 
than its employees had the time to salt down.'*” Aware how neces- 
sary the riches of their territory were to the fur traders, the tribes 
of the plains were able to force the Hudson’s Bay Company into a 
dependence that, in George Simpson’s view, made the Indians ar- 
rogant and hard to please.'?* 

On the prairie between the Red River and the Grand Coteau of 
the Missouri the herds also gathered in large numbers.'** There 
also, in the environs of Red River, on the approaches to the Grand 

Coteau, on the upper reaches of the Souris River, and along the 
Cheyenne, the animals were attracted by pastures dotted with 
saline lakes. And there, just as in the Saskatchewan region, wars 
between Indian tribes long helped to conserve the bison.'*? Alex- 
ander Henry was only one of the writers to describe the passage of 
the buffalo herds along the banks of the Red River, where their 
trampling transformed the soft, blackish earth into a hard and 
solid block.'®? Here the produce of the hunt was reserved first of 
all to feed the brigades on their way to the posts of the North West; 
once there, the winterers were nourished by provisions from the 
pastures of the Saskatchewan country.'** 

The buffalo were not in the habit of staying in set localities. 
From the last days of spring and through the hot season, the 
prairie pastures were their favored terrain, and it was at this time 
that the Indians and the Métis both organized their collective hunts 
here. But the spring and autumn fires, and the consequent im- 
poverishment of the available fodder, might force the herds to 
wander so far that it became difficult to reach them. Sometimes, 

indeed, the animals themselves were decimated by fire, as hap- 
pened in 1846 in the Edmonton region’ and on many occasions 
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in the plains near Red River.'** And when this did not happen, 
they would wander from the burnt prairie'®* toward the northern 
parkland in search of pasture, '*” or sometimes to the wooded hills 
whose greater humidity curbed the ravages of fire, such as the 
heights dominating Fort Dauphin,'** or Turtle Mountain,'*® from 
which Fort Ellice had to get its provisions in 1852; or at other times 
along the banks of the large rivers which constituted the most ef- 
fective barriers to the spreading conflagration .'*” 

But none of these places invariably attracted the herds. Year 
after year the migrations varied in their direction, and the posts on 
the verge of the parkland or beside the rivers could not count with 
certainty that the bison would pass near them when fires raged on 
the prairie. Despite their favored positions beside the North Sas- 
katchewan and in the proximity of wooded areas, the environs of 

Fort Edmonton, Fort Carlton, Fort Pitt, and Rocky Mountain 

House’! were as vulnerable to the effects of fire as the rich pas- 
tures of the Qu’Appelle River'** or the wide prairies that spread 
between the Missouri and Red rivers.'*? In unusually bad years, 
like 1826 and 1852, when the conflagration spread all the way from 
Lake Winnipeg to Fort Edmonton and the Missouri, the Hudson’s 
Bay Company was forced to do without the provisions of dried 
meat needed for its posts and its brigades. The employees in the 
posts had to make do with the scanty game resources of their im- 
mediate neighborhoods, while the brigades had to get their food 
from the rivers and lakes on which they travelled and from the 
woodlands bordering their route.'** Over the burnt prairie in such 
years, famine spread among the tribes who made it their home'** 
and equally among those who had deserted the woodland to fol- 
low the easier life of the buffalo hunter.'** But it was seldom that 
the fire in fact spread over the whole of the plains, and the threat of 
famine was usually confined to limited areas. At such times the 
Company was able to balance the poverty of resources in one area 
with their abundance in another.'*” 

Similar uncertainties emerged in the changes of habitat caused 
by the play of weather conditions on the prairie, a factor that influ- 
enced the wanderings of the herds even more than fires. In his re- 
port for June 1835 George Simpson noted that the number of bison 
varied according to both the extent of autumn fires and the nature 
of the winter.’ And if the journals of the trading posts often 
blame fire for affecting the seasonal migrations of the herds, 
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they lay even greater stress on the influence of climate, by which 
they mean the relative intensity of the cold and the varying heavi- 
ness of the snowfall. 

The bison remained on the open prairie only if the winter was 
moderate enough to allow it and if the snowfall was light enough 
to give them free access to pasture. In very temperate winters, the 
herds would wander far over the flat plains,""* where they would 
be out of reach of the hunters,'*? but their migrations would never 
follow established routes. Sometimes they were attracted to 
American territory;!*! other years they were drawn to the ex- 

panses of the Canadian prairie, and then, except for a few places 

like Devils Lake where the bison seldom failed to appear, the In- 

dians of North Dakota would be deprived of the provisions on 

which they relied.'** 
In his report for 1815, taking up observations he had already 

made in his correspondence,'** James Bird discussed the causes of 

the fluctuation of trade at Fort Edmonton, and blamed them 

mostly on the excessively mild winters which usually allowed the 
bison to remain on the treeless prairie south of the post.'®* In 1812, 
William Auld noted the same phenomenon. In 1813 an excessively 
mild winter, compounded by the effects of a fire that chased the 
herds far into the broad expanses of the plains, caused great priva- 
tions among the settlers newly arrived on the banks of the Red 
River.'"° 

At such times, famine threatened the Indians of the prairic: 

many succumbed and some avoided death only by having re- 
course to the degrading practice of cannibalism.'*” Travellers cros— 
sing the prairie had to sustain themselves by eating roots and 
rose-hips.'’* And the trading posts, unable to maintain their per- 
sonnel for lack of food supplies, had to leave their employees and 
their families to glean outside the fort a precarious diet of roots, 

dried bison sinews, and gophers.'*? Undoubtedly the gardens 
which most of the posts maintained helped to mitigate the scarcity 
of food caused by the absence of the bison.'*? But at best they pro- 
vided an inadequate substitute for supplies of meat, and in bad 
years even the gardens failed, In 1847, when F, U. Graham visited 
the post of Beaver Creek, he found a complete lack of provisions; 
the Indian woman and children gathered there were sharing with 
dog teams the last scraps of a bison carcass.'®' In 1860, at a period 
when the prairie posts no longer maintained the simple gardens of 
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earlier years, George Simpson noted that both Fort Carlton and 
Fort Pite were obliged to abandon the support of their many 
employees.'* 

Sometimes, after weeks of mild winter weather, there would be 
heavy falls of snow, and if they were accompanied by violent bliz- 
zards, the bison might be cut off on the prairie to which the warm 
weather had attracted them, Unable to make their way toward the 
shelter of the woodland and equally unable to dig down through 
the frozen crust to the pasture beneath, they would die in great 
numbers,'®* Sometimes the Indians would ferociously attack such 
herds that were trapped in deep snow; careless of the ultimate con- 
sequences to their families of such systematic massacres, they 
would not even use their bows, but would slaughter indiscrimi- 

nately with their knives.'** The death rate among the herds was 
even greater when snowfalls followed autumnal conflagrations 
and made it impossible for the animals to reach what remained of 
the pastures that had been ravaged by fire. 

It is indeed impossible to estimate accurately the mortality 
among the herds in such especially disastrous years. But George 
Simpson’s observations, based on the reports he received from the 
heads of posts, leave no doubt of the wide destruction which took 
place at such times. In 1848, when equally unfavorable conditions 
prevailed from the Red River to the North Saskatchewan, he con- 

cluded that tens of thousands of beasts perished under the com- 
bined effects of snow and fire, and he feared it would take several 

years before the herds in the Saskatchewan region would be able to 
build themselves up again.'** Sometimes, of course, despite the 
snowfalls that impeded their movements, the bison were still able 
to make their way to the wooded parts of the parkland, to which 
in normal winters they went at the onset of severe weather.'** 

At such times all the places that offered shelter from the rigors 
of winter became gathering points for the herds. They sought out 
the coulees that cut down deeply into the earth, especially in the 
neighborhood of the hills with their many watercourses. In these 
folds of the land, where clumps of trees growing in the moist soil 
protected the grass from being buried under snow, thousands of 
animals would crowd together.'*” Certain lakes, like Devils Lake 
in American territory, whose banks were sheltered by abundant 
growths of woodland, attracted the presence of bison at all sea- 
sons.'°* 
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Well-treed hills and the river banks provided even better shelter 
from the wind and cold. Among such refuges were the shores of 
the Saskatchewan and the Missouri; the Touchwood Hills, whose 

slopes were dotted with clumps of trees alternating with broad 
grasslands;'7° the Sweet Grass Hills'”! and the File Hills, where the 
personnel of Fort Pelly often went hunting to renew their provi- 
sions;'” the Hand Hills, a cluster of undulations broken by 

numerous streams and lakes whose shores were covered with a 
rich soil that nourished good pastures;'’* and finally the group 
formed by Turtle Mountain and the Hair Hills,'’* a bastion that 

occupied 800 square miles of the glacial plain and whose dense 
forests linked up with the verges of the parkland which swept in 
an arc around the verges of the plains and in winter became a fa- 
vored haunt of big game.'” The forts that lay like markers along 
the fringes, Fort Edmonton, Fort Pitt, and Fort Carlton,'” en- 

joyed the double advantages of the closeness of the hunting 
grounds in the prairie and the park belt, and the relative nearness 
of the great northern forest that offered a hiding-place for fur- 
bearing animals, Every year, toward the month of December, dur~ 
ing a particularly snowy or unusually mild winter, the herds 
would migrate in the direction of the parkland. 

For the officers in charge of these important posts, the approach 
of the animals would compensate for the bitterness of the weather. 
“The winter is severe,’’ wrote John Rowand from Edmonton in 

January 1830, “‘and the snow very deep; the Wolves . . . are mak- 
ing war on our poor horses . . . The only thing in our favour is 
that the Buffalo are numerous.”’'”” Similarly, in the journal of Ile a 
la Crosse, G, Deschambault noted, January 1857: “the Buffaloes 
were still an immense distance from our Establishment . . . Our 
thermometer stood not long ago at 40 to 45 below zero, with such 
weather we have reason to believe that the Buffaloes will be driven 
toward the woods.”'”* And George Simpson summarized the 
fragmentary observations of his agents in a general formula when 
he wrote, in his report for July 1834, that the bison “come from 
the open distant plain country to the neighbourhood of the thick 
woods as is usual in that season.”!7 

But as soon as the cold weakened, the bison would abandon 

their refuge in the parkland and return to the plains as quickly as 
they had left them. Noting that men were coming in loaded with 
buffalo meat, the journal of Fort Edmonton added on 4 January 
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1828, “should mild weather ensue the Buffalo would be as quick 
out of our reach as they are at present within."""*° The observation 
confirmed those which Alexander Henry the Younger noted in his 
memoirs after many years in the prairie: “Stormy weather causes 
the buffalo to approach the woods for shelter, and it no sooner 
abates than they return to the plain.”!*! 

There was a rather alarming capriciousness about these migra- 
tions in unpredictable directions on which the herds would em- 
bark thanks to the excess or mildness of the winter or because of 
the chances of spring or autumn fires. Not enough is known of the 
causes of this behavior to assess the true importance of the com- 
manding positions occupied by the wooded buttes that dotted the 
plain or even of the parkland itself, where normally the animals 
went to seek the refuge dictated by the rigors of winter. Undoubt- 
edly certain points can be regarded as the places generally fre- 
quented by the herds, and it was seldom indeed that the ranges of 
wooded hills, less vulnerable to fire, with their ponds and their 
pastures rich enough to survive the grazing of incalculable num- 
bers of beasts, were entirely deserted by the bison. The approaches 
to the Grand Coteau of the Missouri and to Turtle Mountain were 
particularly favored in this regard, and the Pembina region, be- 
nefitting both from the proximity of Turtle Mountain to the west 
and the nearness of the park belt along the Red River to the east, 
owed to its situation an exceptional wealth of game which saved 
the colony of Assiniboia from ruin in its early days. But some- 
times, even in these localities of whose importance the Indians and 

the Métis were both well aware, the bison did not appear during 
the winter, whether because exceptionally moderate temperatures 
led them far into the prairie, or because the early onset of a hard 
winter induced them to depart suddenly toward the park belt in 
the north,'** 

It was this capricious element in the wanderings of the great 
herds that explained the uncertainty of the hunting expeditions 
which the Red River Métis undertook each year in the plains that 
open out toward the Missouri, and the relative fragility of the re- 
sources which the prairie Indians sought when they hunted the bi- 
son. The apparent abundance of the herds concealed a precarious- 
ness in prairie life which, though it was seldom comparable to that 
endured by the woodland hunters, in certain years could lead to 
want and even to real famine. This kind of existence, in which 
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scarcity alternated with periods of unbounded plenty, was in vary- 
ing degrees the lot of all the tribes indigenous to the West. Among 
them the kind of sedentary life which the peoples of the Great 
Lakes so capably developed was quite unknown, and the nomad 
existence of these peoples of the plains would long inspire the way 
of life of the Metis people who sprang from them. 



CHAPTER TWO 

THE HUMAN ENVIRONMENT 

To a great extent the human environments of the three North 
Wests echoed their primitive natural characters. The conditions 
under which the native tribes lived, their numerical importance, 

their varying density of population, their political and social con- 
ceptions, and even some of their mental characteristics were 

shaped in varying degrees by the influence of the environment that 
surrounded them. 

THE PRAIRIE TRIBES 

Of the three zones that constituted the West, the expanses of the 

prairie offered the native peoples the most abundant and the least 
precarious resources, Apart from animal and vegetable food, the 
country furnished the Indian with clothing and the means of shel- 
ter and enabled him to rear troops of horses that were useful not 
only for transport but also in warfare and in hunting bison, Thus it 
was on the prairie that the most unified and at the same time the 
most widely spread—even if not the most populous —of the tribes 
were to be found. 

As well as the groups that originally occupied the central and 
western parts of the prairie, the wealth of the Western plains soon 
attracted tribes from the forest who had been discouraged by the 
poverty of their own territories and were seduced by the promise 
of an easier mode of existence. The original peoples of the plains 
consisted of the Blackfoot, the Blood, the Piegan, the Gros Ven- 

tres, and the Assiniboine,’ a detached branch of the great Sioux 

nation which, in American territory, inhabited the higher course 

of the Mississippi and part of the Upper Missouri valley. It was the 
Cree and the Ojibwa or Saulteaux who pushed their way south 
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and west out of the wooded zone that was their original home and 
joined the complex of the prairie population. By settling there, 
these people who were unaccustomed to the life of the plains in- 
troduced a new equilibrium of forces, which rested neither on 
affinities of language nor on similarities of origin, but depended 
only on common material interests. 

The Ojibwa began their westerly migration in the middle of the 
seventeenth century, propelled by the great Iroquois offensive that 
overflowed the region of the Great Lakes. Provided with firearms 
by the Canadian traders of Sault Ste, Marie,’ they reached the east- 
ern fringes of the plains of Manitoba and Minnesota, where the 
Sioux, alarmed by the superior armament of the newcomers and 
incapable of halting their aggression were forced to abandon part 
of their territories to the Ojibwa, and withdrew to the plains of 
North Dakota,* leaving many villages whose forlorn remains 

could still be seen around the marshy lakes of the Upper Missis- 
sippi at the beginning of the nineteenth century.* Though they 
never gave up their links with the wooded region north of Lake 
Superior, which had stamped on their economy its distinctive 
character, the Ojibwa were unable to resist the allure of the rich 
plains they were now entering.’ From this time onward many of 
them began to live permanently in the environs of Red River, the 
lower Assiniboine, Lake Winnipeg, and Lake Manitoba,° where 
they were constantly reinforced by new groups coming from the 
forest region, and whence in turn they swarmed out toward the 
south and west. 

To the south a new round of conflict began as the Ojibwa pres- 
sed on the hunting grounds now occupied by the Sioux. They also 
penetrated the flooded lands of the Upper Mississippi, whose ric- 
hharvests of wild rice they coveted.” A kind of no-man’s-land 
came into being around the present international boundary, a 
battleground perpetually contested by Sioux and Ojibwa, so that 
on their annual hunting expeditions the Métis would traverse it 
with the greatest caution. Toward the west, the Ojibwa spread out 
over the pasturelands along the southern fringes of the park belt, 
as far as the confluence of the two branches of the Saskatchewan.* 
There they encountered the Cree, who also had originated in the 
wooded zone and had abandoned it to exploit the better resources 
of the prairie.° Thus, as well as the original Woods Cree, there ap- 
peared a new group, known as the Plains Cree. 
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Even before the Hudson’s Bay Company had established trad- 
ing posts beside the great marine inlet whose name it assumed in 
1670, the Cree had already acquired the habit of periodically travel- 
ling from the forest in small bands to hunt the bison on the 
prairie.’” Already these intermittent movements had led to skir- 
mishes with the Sioux, to whose ferocity in 1659 or 1660 the fur 
trader Radisson bears witness.'' But when the great English com- 
pany provided them with firearms, which enabled them to hold 
the plains tribes at bay and at the same time extend their hunting 
operations, the Cree—as the Ojibwa had done with the support of 
the Canadian traders —were able to surge in greater numbers to- 
ward the prairie, to encroach on the yalley of the Saskatchewan, 
and to push southwards beyond it as far as the banks of the Mis- 
souri.'® Now they became involved in violent clashes with the As- 
siniboine, who occupied the right bank of the Saskatchewan and 
dominated the central region of the prairie.’* By the end of the 
seventeenth century, the state of warfare had become permanent. '* 

As early as 1690 Henry Kelsey observed the terror which the 
weapons of the newcomers inspired in the Assiniboine, who—like 
the Sioux to whom they were related—had to defend themselves 
with bows and arrows." It was the superiority in arms which the 
Cree owed to their prior contact with the whites that created in the 
prairie, before the Sioux were able to fight back with equal 
weapons,'® a new balance of power. 

Too weak to resist, the Assiniboine eventually separated from 
their congeners to the south and formed an alliance with the Cree 
and the Saulteaux to fight for the supremacy of the plains against 
the Sioux and the powerful western tribes. This alliance, formed at 
the end of the seventeenth century,'” was still in existence during 

the nineteenth. 

During this period the Cree mingled freely with the As- 
siniboine, and went on joint hunting expeditions with them.'* De- 
spite the difference in language, they also collaborated frequently 
with the Ojibwa." The three groups were united in a common 
hostility to the Blackfoot, whose way to Hudson Bay they bar- 
red,*° and to the Sioux with whom their encounters were often so 
violent that a tributary of the Red River was called Dead River be- 
cause of the carnage that had taken place on its banks.*’ The jour- 
nal of Brandon House bears witness to the fierce joy manifested by 
the allied tribes when they celebrated victories over their inveter- 
ate enemies.” 
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The warfare became ever more intense as the Cree gravitated in- 

creasingly toward the prairie grazing grounds of the buffalo. They 

did so in spite of the traders’ attempts to dissuade them from leav- 
ing the woodland with its abundance of fur-bearing animals. An- 
drew Graham in 1771 attributed the reduction of the quantity of 
furs traded at the posts on Hudson Bay to the indolence of the 
Cree, seduced by the easier life of the great plains.** In 1822 F. He- 
ron accused them in his report to the Company’s directors of pas- 

sing the winter among the bison hunters of the prairie and thus 

depriving the posts of the rich harvest of pelts they expected at this 

time of the year,** Given the Indians’ inclination toward idleness, 

the wealth of fur-bearing animals in the forests, and the profits 

they could draw from them, seemed a meagre compensation for 

the harshness of forest existence. The contagion even spread to 

more distant tribes like the Chipewyan; large groups of these went 

to the Fort Pitt region in search of the plentiful nourishment of 

fered by the bison herds.*° 
As elsewhere, the introduction of the horse, probably in the first 

half of the eighteenth century, combined with the presence of 

firearms to increase the deadliness of tribal wars and widen their 

extent,”° Threatened by the growing offensive from the east, the 

western tribes in their turn formed a loose confederation. Centred 

on the Blackfoot, it included the Piegan and the Bloods, and also 

the small tribe of the Sarcee, who lived in the parkland and spoke a 
different language from the other groups, yet shared their way of 

life and their conceptions.*” 

The inevitable trespasses on the hunting grounds of their adver- 

saries into which the tribes were led in their pursuit of the herds," 
and the even more frequent raids to steal horses*® or furs from 
their enemies," created a habit of war in the West which, as 

J. Marest observed as carly as 1695," became entrenched in the 
mental outlook of the prairie Indians. It was not, of course, a ques~ 
tion of wars conducted by large regular armies, but rather of lim- 
ited expeditions carried out by a few warriors who fell suddenly 
on enemies they hoped to take by surprise, with the sole intention 
of seizing whatever goods they carried and perhaps taking a few 
scalps.*? At the same time, this petty warfare was a constant 
danger to the Europeans in the area and paralyzed their commer- 
cial operations,** for the prairie tribes did not hesitate to attack the 
trading posts, which were amply stocked with all kinds of goods 
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and had herds of horses that especially excited the Indians’ love of 
pillage. 

Because of their situation on the eastern edge of the prairie, the 
Ojibwa were less involved in the conflicts among the tribes of the 
central and western prairies, and tended to be preoccupied with 
their traditional struggle against the Sioux, who lived in American 
territory.” But their period of easy victories did not last, for the 
Sioux in turn obtained firearms which enabled them to put up a 
more effective resistance and to regain control of the plains in 
which their enemies had driven them back in the first phase of at- 
tack,*” 

Thus, by the middle of the eighteenth century, the prairie was 
divided between two hostile groupings whose territories were 
somewhat ill defined in this terrain lacking in natural boundaries, a 
situation which favored mutual encroachments on hunting 
grounds. In the eastern and central prairie, from the Hair Hills and 
the lower reaches of the Assiniboine River as far as the confluence 
of the two Saskatchewans and as Fort Vermilion on the North 
Saskatchewan, the Assiniboine had their domain, which in the 
south reached the banks of the Missouri.** The Plains Cree were 
dispersed between the same limits,*” while the Saulteaux to the 

east, more closely attached to their primordial habitat, mingled 

outside the Red River plains with their many relatives who had 
remained in the woodland, 

West of the Assiniboine territory were deployed the rival feder- 
ated peoples whom David Thompson collectively described as 
“the Slave tribes,” First of all there was the powerful Blackfoot 
tribe, whose country was bounded to the south by the banks of the 

Red Deer River, to the north of the Battle River and the Sas- 

katchewan, and to the east by the territory of the Assiniboine;** 
next the Blood Indians who occupied the region between the Red 

Deer River and the South Saskatchewan;® and finally the Piegan, 
whose territory extended from the South Saskatchewan to the 
source of the Milk River, a tributary to the Missouri.” The Piegan 
were separated from the Assiniboine by the Gros Ventres. This 
last group, equally hostile to the peoples of the central plains, had 
been pushed out of the Canadian prairie by the end of the 
eighteenth century, and from this time onward they ceased to play 
an active role in the conflicts that divided the Indians of Canada.*' 
These western tribes which, like the Cree and the Saulteaux, spoke 
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Algonkian dialects, were supported in the northwest by their al- 

liance with the Sarcee. Established on the upper course of the 

North Saskatchewan and on the Athabasca River, the Sarcee spoke 

an Athapaskan or Dene language, and were related to the more 

northerly Beaver tribe, though culturally they were assimilated to 

the Blackfoot. 
These rival alliances, uniting tribes that in many ways were alien 

to each other, were no more absolute than the boundaries of their 

respective territories. The fact that the Cree lived dispersed in As- 

siniboine territory often resulted in members of the two tribes 

stealing each others’ horses or carrying off each others’ women, 

and often the conflicts flowing from such incidents endangered the 

general alliance of the two peoples and led to violent skirmishes." 
Nor did the Assiniboine live in perfect accord with the Saulteanx, 
while between the tribes of the West, whose federation was in any 

case devised to safeguard the independence of all its members, 

there were frequent disputes.*? On the other hand, though the 

Cree lived normally in the same territory as the Assiniboine, small 
groups of them did occasionally enter the territory of the 
Blackfoot and, without incurring their hostility, settled peacefully 
among them.“* But in general terms one can speak of an accord 
among the tribes of the eastern and central prairie as against those 
of the west*? and against the Sioux.** During the nineteenth cen- 
tury, as much as in the eighteenth, the Cree and the Assiniboine 

co-operated in their hunting expeditions into the territory between 

the Assiniboine and Missouri rivers.*® Their differences remained 

localized, and did not lead to a breakdown of the balance of power 

that determined the relations between the two great tribal group- 

ings who shared the prairie between them. 
It is impossible now to determine in any exact way the strength 

of the two opposing alliances. Estimates regarding the western 

tribes are contradictory, and there is no reliable information at all 

before the end of the eighteenth century, by which time the 
nomad population had already been greatly diminished by the 
smallpox epidemic which swept over the plains between 1780 and 
1781.°° Even in the early nineteenth century population estimates 
differ greatly. In 1824 John Rowand, then in charge of Fort Ed- 
monton, made a report based on many years of contact with the 
Indians. He gave a total number of warriors in the western con- 
federation, including the Gros Ventres, as 7,780. It was distri- 
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buted unevenly between the Blackfoot, renowned for warlike 

prowess and gallantry, who numbered 2,000 braves; the Piegan, 
who accounted for 2,400; the Bloods and the Gros Ventres, each 

of whom assembled 1,600 fighting men; and finally the Sarcee, 
smallest of all, who contributed only 180 warriors."' This suggests 
a population of at least 21,500 people for the three leading feder- 
ated tribes (Blackfoot, Piegan, and Blood), and 27,500 for all the 

five peoples listed by Rowand. The figure is notably higher than 
that of F, Heron in 1822, also based on several years in the West, 

which estimates a total of 11,000 people;* earlier on, Alexander 

Mackenzie had put the entire total of warriors in the three major 
allied tribes at 2,500, which would reduce the approximate total 
population to 9,000 men, women, and children.** 

It is even more difficult to evaluate the exact importance of the 
rival groups which populated the central and eastern prairie, for 
we have no means of knowing what proportion of the Cree and 
Ojibwa had deserted the woodland for the plains. The mingling of 
territory between the Cree and the Assiniboine increases the diffi- 
culty of making even an approximate calculation. Only with cau- 
tion did Alexander Henry the Younger at the beginning of the 
nineteenth century estimate the number of Cree warriors at 900, 
which would mean that the portion of the tribe established on the 
prairie consisted in all of 3,200 to 3,500 persons; this roughly cor- 
responds to the figure of 4,000 that Youle Hind proposed for 
1838.°° As for the Assiniboine, though David Thompson 

suggested as few as 3,200 persons, it has been customary to as- 
sume a population of between 8,000 and 10,000 at the beginning of 
the nineteenth century .°° 

If one takes the figures offered by John Rowand as a basis, the 
prairie must in all have supported a native population of about 
40,000 people, almost exactly equal to that of the northern wood- 
lands. But the lesser dimensions of the prairie allowed a more even 
distribution of the tribes established there, while the wealth of its 
herds of bison saved them from the uncertainties of life in the 
forest. 

Hunting the bison, and their own kind of warfare, were the dis— 

tinctive features of the culture of the plains Indians. The tribes fol- 
lowed similar hunting procedures, so that the Cree who were bred 
in the forest learnt from their Assiniboine allies the method of tak- 
ing the bison in “buffalo pounds."*” The peoples of the Blackfoot 
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Confederacy used the same general style of hunting and it is hard 

to make a sharp distinction between the tactics used by the Bloods 

and the Piegan, who drove the bison over a cliff or a sharp slope 

on to a level where the hunters waited to massacre them in their 

confusion or into an enclosure from which they could not escape 

and where they were killed at leisure, and the procedure of the 
Blackfoot, Assiniboine, and Cree, who enticed the animals into an 

enclosure on level ground or at the foot of a gentle slope.* For if 
the last two tribes seem to have used this latter method more or 

less habitually,*” Matthew Cocking’s accounts show that the 

Blackfoot sometimes used the same method as their more westerly 

allies."° 
In both cases it was a matter of driving the animals toward two 

lines of hurdles or tree trunks that gradually narrowed into an 
angle, at which was situated either the opening of the enclosure 
where the bison were imprisoned or the sudden drop over which 
they fell sharply, to become the prey of the young Indians who 
were given the task of slaughtering them. Various ruses were 
sometimes used to direct the bisons’ movements, such as setting 
fires which prevented their following any direction but that which 
led to the pound," or leading them on by counterfeiting their 
movements and cries.? Often it was at night that the Blackfoot 
and their allies went about their task of leading the animals toward 
the enclosure, where they could be encircled and massacred during 
the daylight hours.®* At other times, and especially in summer, 
mounted hunters surrounded the animals, either driving them to- 
ward the pounds or attacking them directly and slaughtering them 
with arrows." Thus the buffalo pound was not the only way of 
hunting, since in summer the tribes also attacked the herds di- 

rectly, and in winter, when the Indians dispersed into small groups 
and attacked isolated animals,® it was often not possible to have 

recourse to a system that demanded a certain concentration of 
population. Yet the buffalo pound was still the most widely 
employed procedure, and the Indians were reluctant to attach 
themselves to trading posts in regions where the scarcity of wood 
made it difficult to construct enclosures.** 

The capricious migrations of the bison into territories that were 
often inaccessible created an element of hazard in the existence of 
these nomad peoples that sometimes exposed them to harsh 
periods of famine. Yet, in comparison with the life of the wood- 
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land peoples, that of the prairie Indians was still relatively secure 
and easy: secure because the temporary absence of the bison did 
not exhaust all the resources of the prairie, for the Indians could 
then resort to the wooded river banks or the verges of the park- 
land, which harbored other species of animals and also provided 
sheltered spots to set up encampments;® easy, because hunting 
bison neither involved the physical exhaustion nor demanded the 
powers of minute observation that were inseparable from hunting 
in the forest. Moreover, the bison provided for all the needs of the 

Indian's material life. It gave him nourishment™ and also clothing, 
which consisted mainly of the skin of the animal, carefully dressed 
and tanned with a preparation made from its own brains and fat.*° 
It gave him the material for a dwelling, consisting of several skins 
formed into a roughly conical tent or “‘teepee,” whose design 
originated among the Sioux and neighboring tribes on the Mis- 
souri in American territory.” In such ways the bison assured the 
plains Indians a higher standard of living than the people of the 
forest, and this meant also better health and greater physical 
vigor.”! 

Given these circumstances, hunting necessarily dominated the 
activity of the prairie peoples, and the other resources available 
there assumed lesser importance. Agriculture was almost un- 
known to them. For the people of the Blackfoot Confederacy it 
was confined to the cultivation of a few fields of tobacco, They 
weeded the ground roughly rather than tilling it, and sheltered 
their plots from the north wind by placing them usually in the lee 
of a sloping poplar wood.” As well as gathering wild rice, the 
Ojibwa cultivated a few meagre gardens along the Red River and 
on the moist soils around Red Lake in the Minnesota region.”* But 
in the strict sense nothing resembling a sedentary life existed in 
this region. For the Canadian tribes as much as for the Sioux,”* 
who even abandoned the gathering of wild rice once they were es- 
tablished on the grazing grounds of the bison, the pre-eminence of 
hunting meant an end to primitive farming. 

Fishing also held a minor place in their economy. Only the 
Ojibwa, who were less fully committed to the prairie existence, 
followed it with any vigor. In 1823 S. H. Long described them as 
“good hunters and skilful fishers,""”* and in 1834 Jean Nicolet des- 
cribed the ponds in Ojibwa territory, populated by birchbark 
canoes and surrounded by the elegant lodges of the fishermen, 
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who spread their nets in the bays and coves.”* But the nomad 
peoples of the West were deliberately neglectful of this resource 
which their rivers and lakes offered in such profusion.”’ In 1764 the 
Indians of the Blackfoot Confederacy expressed to Anthony Hen- 
day their contempt for such inferior food, and they repeated the 
same sentiments in 1768 to Andrew Graham.” Only after the 
bison had disappeared did the Piegan and the Blood Indians even- 
tually become reconciled to eating fish.”’ 

Even the trapping of fur-bearing animals was subordinated to 
the hunting of big game. It was practised on a large scale only by 
the Iroquois whom the trading companies had brought to the 
prairie; they became active in trapping largely because they were 
strangers to the country and did not—like the indigenous trappers 
of the woodlands—feel any need to conserve their resources.*° 

To a lesser degree, the Ojibwa—insofar as they were still at- 
tached to the forest economy—continued trapping in the zone of 
parkland which, along the Saskatchewan and the Red River, and 
around Lakes Winnipeg and Manitoba, bordered on their hunting 

grounds.*! But after the end of the eighteenth century this region 
no longer offered the original abundance of fur-bearing animals ,"* 
and its peoples, as they began to experience prairie life, became 
less willing to keep up an activity that now seemed pointless." 

For their part, the true prairie tribes showed little eagerness to 
hunt fur-bearing animals. In the second half of the eighteenth cen- 
tury the posts along the shore of Hudson Bay received from the 
country of the Assiniboine and—to a lesser extent—of the 
Blackfoot, a fair quantity of good-quality beaver pelts. The trade 
was carried on through the Cree, whose double links with forest 

and prairie enabled them to pursue the vital role of middlemen.** 
But the diminution of the fur-bearers and the easy way of life of- 
fered by the bison herds combined to undermine this activity from 
which the Cree had gained the most profit. The Cree themselves 
set an example of negligence that quickly spread when they con- 
fined themselves to the middleman’s role, which implied the 

abandonment of actually hunting fur-bearing animals.*® After 1771 
they thought of nothing but hunting the bison and living at ease 
on the produce of the chase.** From about 1795 the Assiniboine 
seem to have imitated them,*’ and by the middle of the nineteenth 

century the Hudson’s Bay Company no longer regarded them as 
the providers of beaver pelts whom Andrew Graham had por- 
trayed.** It was the same with the Piegan. If they collected along 
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the banks of the Missouri and in the western foothills of the Rock- 
ies the beaver skins that helped to keep going the posts on the 
North Saskatchewan, these were the fruits of theft from the other 
tribes of this region, for they “rarely hunt themselves.’’*® As for 
the Blackfoot and the Blood Indians, from 1754 onward they saw 
themselves as bison hunters and neglected the fur-bearing animals 
that were abundant in their territories but which could not clothe 
and feed their families so generously as the skins and meat of the 
bison.” 

By providing them with everything, the bison guaranteed the 
Indians of the prairie an absolute independence in relation to the 
whites, for the security of their material life freed them from re- 

liance on the generosity of the traders, whose goods were indis- 
pensable for the Indians of the forest. Their needs were reduced to 
supplies of tobacco and above all alcohol, for which they were 
very eager, and for which they paid with provisions of meat;”! of 
needles they used in making their tents and clothing; of beads to 

decorate their moccasins and clothes;** and of firearms and am- 
munition. Some of them, like the Assiniboine and the tribes of the 

western confederacy, used their guns, as well as bows and ar- 

rows, in hunting the bison, while the Cree, who continued to use 

bows more than guns, traded the firearms they obtained for horses 
which they often used in pursuing big game.** But many articles 
that were of prime necessity to the peoples of the Shield were not 
needed in the prairie. Anthony Henday in 1755 completely failed 
to overcome the ill will he aroused among the Assiniboine and the 
Blackfoot when he tried to convince them that it would be in their 
interests to visit the posts on Hudson Bay. “They can do without 
any European support,” was his summary of their attitude.% 

As a consequence of this attitude, the activities of the prairie In- 

dians were virtually limited to the hunting which took care of their 
immediate needs, and strangers who entered their territory gained 
an impression of general idleness that contrasted sharply with the 
laborious existence a poorer environment imposed on the wood- 
land peoples.*? The Piegan rejected all efforts to provide them 
with modern implements, while the Cree, the Assiniboine, and 

the Blackfoot, satisfied with the substantial nourishment and occa- 

sional banquets which successful hunts provided, had little interest 
in preparing stores of dried meat for the trading posts.** Thus 
there was some justification in Anthony Henday’s remark in 1756 
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on the tribes of the confederacy, that for them work was reduced 
to junketing: “Indians doing little more than feasting on fat buffalo 
flesh.” The Hudson’s Bay officers who best knew the native 
peoples admitted that in their efforts to increase the prosperity of 
their posts'”’ they were incapable of shaking an indolence which, 
though the conditions of prairie life encouraged it, was an expres- 
sion of the mentality of all the Indian peoples and reflected their 
natures. For, no matter whether he belonged to the plains or to the 
woodland, the Indian disliked continuous effort and could be stir- 

red out of his torpor only by the spur of compelling need. 
The independence which the Indians owed to the easy life of the 

western plains also produced a haughty pride which made them 
despise any kind of activity that might be profitable to the traders. 
Sustained and renewed through the constant pursuit of war by the 
prairie tribes, this pride produced a fiercely aggressive attitude to- 
ward the whites,'®! in contrast to the submissive and conciliatory 

mood of the woodland tribes." In escaping the economic tutelage 
of the fur companies, the Indians were also aware how far the 

traders depended on them for the provisions that would enable the 
fur brigades to operate efficiently, and the Hudson's Bay Com- 
pany’s officers were so realistically conscious of this fact that they 
were willing to violate in their own immediate interests the deci- 
sion which the London Committee had reached, in the Indians’ 
own interests, to cease distributing alcohol.'"* 

The pride which the nomad and the warrior shared called up 
among the plains Indians a reaction of defensiveness and superior- 
ity toward the whites who entered their country, which was most 
evident among the Blackfoot, who had so many powerful enemies 
that they were forced to create a warrior mystique more potent 
than that of all the other tribes.!°* They went so far as demanding 
of the traders at Fort Edmonton free distribution of trade goods in 
compensation for occupying part of their country.‘ They were 
reluctant to allow the employees of trading posts to organize buf- 
falo hunts within their tribal territories and reacted indignantly if 
their demands were in any way refused.'’® As a result the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company had to appoint to its posts in the Saskatche- 
wan region men who were accustomed to the Indian way of think- 
ing, who were adept at flattering pride and sweetening a refusal, 
yet who had the courage to assert their will and dissolve any im- 
pression that the white man was at the mercy of Indian generos- 
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ity.!” It was most important to maintain in the forts established in 
the territories of such hostile peoples a personnel strong enough to 
assume the role of a military garrison. Fort Edmonton was the 
best equipped of all in this respect. As its chief, John Rowand, re- 
marked, the tribes of the Blackfoot confederacy would have 
scalped the whole staff of the fort if they had lowered their de- 
fences and given the Indians any impression of weakness.'* De- 
fensive precautions became all the more necessary as prairie tribes 
realized that their federal organization turned them into a more 
powerful force. In this respect they began to resemble the more 
socially evolved peoples of the Great Lakes region, among whom 
the Iroquois reached the highest level of organization.’ By the 
same token, they differentiated themselves from the peoples of the 
Shield, whose dispersion over vast areas made them incapable of 

understanding any principle of collective action. 
In contrast to the latter, the people of the prairies were obliged 

by the necessities of the summer buffalo hunt to organize expedi- 
tions in which the whole of the tribe participated, and by their in- 
cessant warfare to develop a degree of co-operation and discipline 
which limited the caprices of individuals to the profit of the com- 
munity. As early as the end of the seventeenth century Nicolas 
Perrot observed among the prairie peoples a collective organiza- 
tion that enabled them to forestall enemy aggressions and thus to 
conduct their hunts more successfully .' The Blackfoot, especially 
vulnerable to attacks from the tribes encircling their territories,'"' 

evolved the strongest and most thorough forms of organization. 
Their society was initially founded on the basic cell of the family, 
but it formed itself into groups of varying importance which 
brought together clusters of families related in the male line; each 
of these bands possessed a recognized and clearly delimited winter 
hunting ground, but in summer they came together to form the 
united tribe.'!* The tribes in turn were brought together in a con- 
federation created in response to the need for common defence; we 

have already described its composition. This alliance remained 
flexible enough to respect the independence of each of the compo- 
nent peoples; it infringed neither on the individual tribes’ rights 
over their own territories, nor on the right of all the tribes, when 
they came together, to order their own affairs in complete free- 

dom. Nevertheless, the alliance was cemented by the community 

of language and culture that existed between at least the three most 
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important tribes, and it was strongly enough established to allow 
its members to range without hindrance over the whole region 
from the North Saskatchewan down to the Missouri and from the 
Rocky Mountains to the land of the Assiniboine.'' 

Without achieving such a degree of organization, the As- 
siniboine likewise grouped themselves in clusters of families,’ 
and the Cree, living among them, doubtless imitated their cus- 

toms and organization.’'® Such a division of society of course re- 
quired means of co-ordinating the movements of the various 
groups and of protecting their interests by agreed common rules 
of behavior, The need for discipline made itself most strongly felt 
during the great hunting expeditions which the whole tribe under- 
took in summer, but there were times during the winter when it 

also became evident.''® Chiefs and councils were therefore ap- 
pointed to supervise the conduct of the tribes as a whole, as well as 
others who were in charge of the lesser units of which the tribes 
were composed. But the prairie peoples had not attained the con- 
cept of a chief furnished with lasting and absolute power. The 
power of the chiefs, whether of tribes or bands, was subject to 

many limitations inherent in the attitudes of native peoples, such 
as the authority the father exercised over the members of his fam- 
ily,"” the recognition of the right of each individual to redress of- 
fences or wrongs he had suffered, and above all the impediments 
created by the habit of independence among the Indians which 
made inconceivable to them the idea of an undivided authority .'!" 

The chief was chosen because of the prestige conferred by his 
fine bearing, his personal courage, wisdom, or eloquence, by his 
long experience, by the repute he had acquired through the prac- 
tice of magic or medicine, or by the popularity he had won 
through lavish giving." Thus the dignity of his role had essen- 
tially a psychological foundation; it was co-extensive with the re- 

pute of the man who held it, and it could only be transmitted 
hereditarily if the chief’s heir showed the same qualities as he had 
done and enjoyed an equal prestige.'*! When the chief of a band 
was promoted, because of his strong personality, to the leadership 
of the whole tribe, he had to respect the feelings of the other chiefs 
and to rely on their consent.'** In dealing with important matters, 
he would seek the advice of the most highly regarded warriors, the 
elders, and the chiefs in council.'® His functions included arbitrat- 
ing differences, giving instructions regarding the strategy of the 
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buffalo hunt, and deciding the movements of the tribe and their 

camping arrangements. He could only exercise them effectively 
by appealing to the free consent of all, and by relying on advice 
and recommendations, for too open an assertion of his authority 

would have destroyed it immediately.'** When necessary, dur- 
ing the collective hunts of the summer season which brought 
about the reunion of all the braves in the tribe, the chief had a kind 

of police force which he could call on to intervene. It consisted of 
members of the ‘military societies,” recruited from the various 
bands of the tribe, which existed among both the Assiniboine'®® 

and the Blackfoot confederacy'®® and which organized the annual 
ritual dances and the religious ceremonies connected with them."27 
In their role as a police force, the members of the societies pre- 

served public order, intervened in the quarrels aroused by the In- 
dians’ passion for games of chance,'** ensured the observation of 
the rules essential to the success of the hunt, such as the ban on 
prematurely attacking a herd of bison in such a way as to frighten 
the animals and prevent their destruction, and finally main- 

tained the sanctions against such crimes as murder, wounding, and 
theft. They could inflict severe penalties, which the tribe ap- 
proved, on delinquents or on those who defied the authority estab- 
lished by custom; such punishments might consist either of the 
seizure of meat belonging to a hunter who had violated the rules, 

the destruction of his weapons, the cutting up of his garments, 
mercilessly administered flogging, or even the penalty of death.'*° 
As effective as any of these was the subjection to public ridicule, 
by loading him with sarcasm, of whoever refused to obey the or- 

ders of the chief or the council,'*! 
At such times of activity by the tribe as a whole, the authority of 

the chief was unrestricted in its scope, but its power and his influ- 
ence vanished as soon as the collective enterprise came to an end. 

Warfare, like the hunt, took place under the direction of a chief: 

he was often chosen spontaneously because a dream had suggested 
to him that he should go on a campaign'* or because he simply 
expressed a desire to organize a war party,'** but always he was a 
man whose military qualities were already known.'** A number of 
men would put themselves under his leadership, inspired by the 
desire to fight and return as victors, and they followed his direc- 
tions without constraint merely by virtue of their free commit- 
ment to the venture.'** 
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Thus there existed everywhere in the prairie, among the Sioux 
as well as among the Canadian peoples, an organization which, in- 
complete though it may have been, was no less effective for that 
reason, and which obliged the Europeans to take account of the 
strength of the indigenous tribes. 

The Ojibwa were established in smaller numbers on the prairie, 
and their activities were more varied and less dominated by hunt- 
ing the bison,'*’ so that though they too were obliged to protect 
themselves against their enemies, discipline and organization were 
less advanced among them. They amounted to no more than the 
customary division of the tribe into bands each of which was led 
by a chief who, given the state of frequent war in opposition to the 
Sioux, often assumed the role of a war chief. But there were 

neither chiefs of tribes nor any kind of police force meant to sus- 
tain their authority.'** This simple system extended into the 
prairie that which the Ojibwa had originated in the wooded area, 
where most of them still lived. Spreading into the western plains, 
they had been able to retain their woodland ways of life, since in 
the marginal region into which they moved, the more elaborate 
organization of the great prairie tribes was less necessary, and the 
institutions of the forest Ojibwa were still adequate for their new 
conditions of life. On the other hand the Cree, who originally had 
no concept of organization, were obliged in their new habitat to 
adapt to the customs of the peoples already established there. Be- 
tween the Plains Cree and the Wood Cree, the break was thus 

much sharper than between the two sections of the Ojibwa. 

THE WOODLAND TRIBES 

To that great Algonkian tribe, variously described as the Nahath- 
away, as the Wood or Swamp Cree, and—by the French 
Canadians—as the Christinaux,'®® the forest offered living condi- 

tions considerably harder and more uncertain than those of the 
prairie. Obliged by their situation to devote themselves to the 
more active hunting of fur-bearing animals, they accepted with 
greater docility the demands of the fur traders and the conditions 
they laid down, The latter were constantly deploring that they did 
not have under their control on the prairies peoples as industrious 
and conciliatory as those of the forest.'*° 

Provided with firearms by the posts on Hudson Bay, the 
Cree—like the Ojibwa on the prairie—had been able to make 
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themselves masters of the Shield country, and to overflow their 

original territory as far as the Peace River and Great Slave Lake." 
But they had to withdraw from these extreme positions as a result 
of the epidemics that decimated them at the end of the eighteenth 
century, and also because of the resistance which the Athapas- 

kan or Dene tribes were soon able to offer.'** Yet despite its reduc- 
tion, their territory covered an immense area, limited to the west 

by the Churchill and Athabasca rivers, to the north by the 
shorelines of Hudson Bay, to the south by the north Saskatchewan 

and the country of the Ojibwa, while to the east it bordered on the 
peninsula of Labrador, where it surrounded the territory of the 
Naskapi. But in these limitless spaces of the Shield, the Cree, de- 

spite the relative importance of their tribe (20,000 people),'“ 
formed only a slight and scattered population, as James Isham and 
Andrew Graham observed at an earlier period.'® David 
Thompson at the end of the eighteenth century estimated at a mere 
644 souls the indigenous population spread over the 22,360 square 
miles to the north of Cumberland House known as the Rat Coun- 
try, which gives each family of seven persons a territory of 240 
square miles.'*° In the drainage basin of the Albany River, from 
Lone Lake to its estuary, George Simpson counted no more than 
150 families.*7 The Hudson’s Bay Company's journals confirm 
these impressions by the small numbers they record of native 
people gravitating to the posts situated in the rocky zone; 300 at 
Albany, 200 at Marten’s Falls, and 800 at Cold Lake and Lac la 

Ronge.'** 
This low density of population corresponded to the poverty of re- 

sources in the Shield. Game was not entirely lacking, and to a cer- 
tain degree moose replaced bison for the forest peoples,'*® but, as 
we have seen already, the animals were too unevenly distributed 

and too scarce in winter to assure the sustenance of a numerous 
population.’*° Certain areas were especially meagre, such as the 
Albany River basin, where the scarcity of game discouraged the 
Indians from taking their goods to the fort at its mouth,'*! and the 
environs of the rivers that flowed into the Bay at York Factory; 
here the Indians were unable to break their journeys and pitch their 
tents for even a few days without running the risk of perishing 
from hunger through the exhaustion of the game.'*? In the envi- 
rons of Cumberland House, where the Indians gathered in exces- 
sive numbers, they were reduced to living off beaver and muskrat, 
and the rapid disappearance of one animal, compounded by the 
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uncertainty of finding the other, created an endemic threat of 

famine.’ Such a situation F. Heron described when, writing to 
George Simpson in 1822, he remarked that in the forest the dif- 

ficulties of material living contrasted with the wealth of furs: “Furs 
valuable, but food hard to get.’"** On the shores of Hudson Bay 

the brief period of the migrations of caribou and wild geese farther 
reduced the availability of food, and here the absence of even fur- 
bearing animals aggravated the poverty of resources.'®* As early as 
1659, Pierre Radisson recorded that during the winter the Cree had 

to abandon this sterile region and make their way to the less dep- 
rived parts of the woodland,'** while James Isham contrasted the 
barrenness of the coast with the more clement nature of the inland 
regions.'*” Each year in their journals the Hudson’s Bay Com- 
pany’s officers mentioned the arrival around the trading posts of 
people dying of hunger, whom they gathered on the spaces out- 
side the forts where they assured them food and what clothing 
they needed while they waited for the arrival of the migratory 
birds.'** 

As a result of these uncertainties of living, the Woods Cree— 
except for those called Home Guard Indians who lived miserably 
around the posts on the Bay, relying for their survival on the char- 
ity of the whites'®*—were condemned to a perpetually nomadic 
life.'®° Like the animals they hunted, they were constantly on the 
move, in search of nourishment. Their life seemed even harder 
than that of the Eskimo.'*' The threat of famine hung without re- 
prieve over the Cree, and haunted them with superstitious ter- 

rors.'®* The trade at the posts was often interrupted by periods of 
dearth which condemned the native hunters to inaction,’* and in- 
stances of cannibalism, exceptional on the prairie, were more 

numerous in the forest. Menaced by hunger, the Indians would 

sometimes kill their children to feed themselves, and later on they 

would seek to efface the memory of their crime by incorporating 
other children by adoption into their families.'* 

This poverty of resources deprived the woodland Indians of the 
warm and abundant clothing which the bison assured their con- 
geners in the prairie, Moose and caribou could also provide such 
clothing,'®* but as these animals were often not to be found, the 
Cree had to make up for their scarcity by using woollen garments 
and blankets,'®* which did not offer such effective protection as 
skins. Shelter was equally precarious; in such an extreme climate 
the Cree tents of caribou skin, their wigwams roofed with bark, or 
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the makeshift bivouacs they constructed from branches and slabs 
of bark arranged to break the wind!*’ did not provide a protection 
like that of the prairie Indians’ tepees. Thus in every way the stan- 
dard of living of the Woods Cree was perpetually inferior to that of 
the prairie tribes, and they lost all care for physical cleanliness.'* 
Nor did they have the vigor and good health of the plains Indians 
to help them endure an existence that involved far more exhaust- 
ing tasks and more severe privations than the peoples of the prairie 
normally experienced. Undoubtedly their degradation was greater 
near the coast; Andrew Graham portrayed the Cree of the interior 
as less backward, and less negligent in their persons and in their 
ways of feeding, than those of the shorelines; they were also more 
robust, better adapted to endure the inclemencies of the weather 

and likely to live to a greater age.’*” David Thompson made the 
same distinctions between the people of the forest and those of the 
coast.!”” However, even if we ignore the ravages that alcoholism 
and contagious diseases quickly wrought upon them after contact 
with the white men,!”! it is unlikely that the Woods Cree of the 

interior, though they were better off materially than the ‘Home 
Guards,” were equal in stamina to the warrior tribes of the prairie. 
Certainly they could not have been asked to perform twice in the 
same summer the journey from Norway House to York Factory, 
which a Canadian voyageur could do without difficulty.'” 

In such circumstances, the forest Indians could not neglect—as 

the prairie peoples did—such an important resource as fishing. 
Even if they regarded fish as an inferior kind of food,'’’ they often 
had to swallow their hunters’ pride and make substantial use of 
it. They also had to utilize such resources as wild berries, fur- 
bearing animals, hare and rabbits, and migratory birds,’ as a 
necessary compensation for the uncertainty of finding big game. 
Above all, they had to abandon any thought of independence from 
the European traders, for it was only from them that they could 
obtain the various articles which helped them overcome the 
hazards of their existence: muskets and ammunition, steel traps to 
kill big game and capture fur-bearers, fishing lines and hooks, 

clothes, provisions of food when necessary, and, last but not least, 

alcohol, whose distribution was a source of vice and criminal dis- 
order,!7° and whose ravages soon reduced the Indians of the coast 
to a state of mental wretchedness which all observers attributed to 
the same cause.'”” Yet, while the prairie posts dispensed little else 
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than alcohol and tobacco, those of the forest and the Bay dealt 
principally in articles of basic necessity, among which woollen 
fabrics, steel traps, muskets, and fishing tackle were the most im- 
portant.'”* Because of their dependence, the woodland Indians 
never thought of forbidding access to their territory to the Euro- 
peans whose goods met their material needs.'”* Far from fearing to 
encounter here the proud and haughty temper of the prairie 
peoples, the officers of the Hudson's Bay Company found among 
the forest peoples a docility which it was easy for them to exploit 
in the interests of their trade,'*” 

The good will of the traders was in fact the price with which 
they bought the pelts the native people gathered in the forest. 
Forced to overcome their temperamental indolence, the Woods 
Cree were thus the people who dedicated themselves most actively 
to hunting fur-bearing animals, the people through whom the 
trading companies obtained their greatest profits, and whom they 
strove to keep in the forest lest they lose their inclination to work 
once they had experienced the idle life of the prairie.'*! The Cree 
brought to the search for pelts an experience and a skill'** that 
quickly established their reputation as fur hunters among the trad- 
ers,'*¥ Andrew Graham portrayed them assembling in spring on 
lakeshores or riverbanks they had agreed on before the annual dis- 
persion of families,'** to construct their bark canoes.'** Then they 

would transport to the posts on the Bay the furs they had obtained 
during the winter or which they had collected, in the days before 
trading posts were established among the prairie peoples, from 
tribes to the south of the forest.'*° Even in the heart of winter, if 
they had collected enough pelts, they would not hesitate to travel 
with their sleighs over two or three hundred miles of broken coun- 
try to deliver them to the Hudson’s Bay Company; on such jour- 
neys their only shelter at night would be an improvised windbreak 
of branches arranged in a semi-circle.'*” 

The Cree did not in fact hold the monopoly over this lucrative 
hunting. The other peoples of the wooded zone were compelled to 
follow a very similar way of living; they too became dependent on 
the trading posts and alternated hunting big game with trapping 
fur animals. 

Such was the situation of the tribes speaking the Dene or 
Athapaskan language who were northwesterly neighbors of the 
Cree; the Beaver who inhabited the western shores of Lake 
Athabasca and the Peace River basin, and the Slaves to the west of 
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Great Slave Lake, where they reached the farthest limit of the 
wooded zone."** It was also the situation of the Ojibwa, who oc- 
cupied most of the country to the south of the Cree between Sault 
Ste. Marie and Lake Winnipeg.'** 

Of these various groups, the Slaves were worst off. There were 
few of them—less than 1,300 in all—and they occupied the north- 
ern edge of the forest verging on the Barren Grounds, but they 
confined their activities to the woodland and refused to venture 
into the desolate spaces north and east of it;'*° hence the French 

Canadians called them ‘People of the Dense Woods.”"'"' The very 
dwellings of the Slaves showed how completely they relied on the 
forest; in summer they consisted of simple conical assemblages of 
pine bark, and in winter of rudimentary log huts protected by 
roofs of pine boughs.'"? In this distant region, big game was even 
less numerous and varied than in the country of the Cree; it was 

limited to scattered populations of moose and wood caribou,'* 

and this not only narrowed the subsistence resources of these 
people but also deprived them of the possibility of making tents of 

skin like their neighbors to the south. They had to devote more 

attention than other tribes to fishing for the salmon, pike, suckers, 

and ground fish of which the lakes and rivers contained ample 

supplies," and often had to rely solely for their food on rabbits 

and hares, whose cyclical disappearance often exposed them to 

starvation.'®’ Undernourishment debilitated them and predis- 
posed them to tuberculosis;'"° Alexander Mackenzie described 

them in 1789 as an ill-grown race with little vigor, suffering the 

same defects as the Cree who had established themselves around 

the posts on the Bay. “They are a meagre, ugly, ill-made 

people.”'*” 
Though they did not escape the uncertainties of nomad exis- 

tence, the Beaver and the Ojibwa were better off than the Slaves. 

The first tribe, numbering about 1,500,'°* mingled in the rich park- 

land of the Peace River with a small group of Saulteaux who had 

migrated from the prairie and exploited the abundant hunting 

resources of this region where moose lived side by side with 

bison.!® In addition, Lake Athabasca possessed inexhaustible fish 

resources. But the Beavers, like the Cree, neglected the fisheries 

and mainly hunted the large animals, of which the moose consti- 

tuted their favorite game* and provided them, as the bison 

did for the prairie Indians, with food, clothing, and shelter.?°' Yet 

they were not so free as the plains tribes from the tutelage of the 



44 THE PRIMITIVE ENVIRONMENT 

trading posts. The frequent wanderings of big game, which led 
them to the bounds of Sekani territory;** the uncertainties of 

winter hunting; *"* the inadequate protections which—as George 
Simpson remarked—their habitations offered to the cold;?"* and 

finally the poor quality of their clothing,?” all forced them to call 
often on the benefits offered by the whites. The abundance of furs 
which they could produce from their well-stocked region enabled 
them to retain the goodwill of the traders. 

The Ojibwa, finally, had access to a variety of resources not 
available to the Beaver and even less to the Cree. They garnered 
the best of every gift of nature and despised nothing; they not only 
accepted fishing as a useful complement to hunting, but practised 
both activities with equal diligence and success. Enjoying the less 
rigorous climate of the southern fringe of the forest, they 
exploited the vegetable resources of the Shield, such as the berries 

which they ate fresh or dried and kept in reserve for winter; the sap 
of maples and birches; and above all, the wild rice that grew abun- 

dantly in their territory.*°° Rather than limiting themselves to 
searching out specific animals, they indiscriminately hunted 
moose, bear, and fur-bearing animals.**” At the same time, they 
were so far dominated by the woodland economy, like the Slaves, 
that they constructed their dwellings of slabs of bark held down by 
a conical sheathing of poles; only rarely did they make tents from 
the skins of animals.” The utilization of so many resources made 
their existence less precarious than that of the other woodland 
peoples, without offering the complete security which only an ag- 
rarian economy, like that of the sedentary groups of Ojibwa at 
Sault Ste. Marie and on the southern shores of Lake Superior, 
could guarantee. The subsistence they derived from hunting in 
fact varied from year to year, and it also depended on which part 
of the Shield they traversed; fishing was a standby that did not al- 
ways suffice to remove the threat of dearth, and in bad years it 
could not prevent the practice of cannibalism .?” 

Numerically, the Ojibwa were probably roughly equal to the 
Cree, that is, about 20,000 men, women and children,*"® but they 

were just as unevenly scattered over the great terrain they oc- 
cupied as the neighboring tribes. The slight density of population 
in the Lake Nipigon region—with its 820 inhabitants—was re- 
miniscent of the desolate Rat Country.*'' However great their 
capacity to endure privations and fatigue, the Ojibwa do not seem 
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to have been able to challenge the plains Indians in terms of physi- 
cal vigor.?!? 

On all the woodland peoples, the most fortunate as well as the 

poorest, the need to survive imposed an incessant pattern of wan- 
dering whose uncertainties subjected them to the domination of 
the trading posts established by Europeans. At the same time, this 
nomadic existence implied an incessant fragmentation of the tribe 
into small groups, which in turn led to the absence of organiza~ 
tional ability that was shared by the prairie tribes. 

The breakup of the tribe into basic units, each containing a few 
families, was related to the dispersion of game animals, which in 
the forest never formed compact herds like the bison in the plains. 
This in turn meant a scantiness of food resources, which were in- 
sufficient to maintain even families for very long in the same area 
of woodland. The lack of organization was also encouraged by the 
pacific way of life which these people necessarily followed, since 
they were too scattered to sustain meaningful contact and too 
preoccupied with their own survival to dissipate their energies in 
warlike occupations. The collective precautions which the prairie 
tribes observed when they moved from one location to another 
would have been pointless in a woodland setting. 

Between the Cree and the Ojibwa there was an undisturbed ac- 
cord. [t was only on the northern verge of their territory that the 
Cree came into conflict with the Eskimo and the Chipewyan.*" 
Yet even then it was not a question of the kind of personal conflicts 
that in the prairie were renewed each year at the end of winter 
when groups of braves provocatively infringed on their enemies’ 
territory, but merely of fortuitous clashes, provoked by accidental 
encounters between members of hostile tribes. For example, 

around Prince of Wales Fort, where the Cree and the Chipewyan 
traded, there were sometimes skirmishes between the “northern” 

and the “southern” Indians.?"* On several occasions, in 1726 and 
later in 1729, the officers in charge of the Fort, Richard Morton 

and Anthony Beale, had to intervene so as to mediate dissensions 
that were prejudicial to trade.*"* But the journals of the trading 
posts make only rare allusions to such conflicts, which the in- 
frequent contacts between the two tribes made unusual. 

It is true that the invasion of Beaver territory by the better- 
armed Cree provoked more embittered encounters, yet these did 

not create between the two peoples a hostility as deep as that 
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which for very similar reasons divided the Ojibwa and the Sioux. 
Resigning themselves to a situation they were powerless to 
change, most of the Beaver made peace with the aggressors, even 
adopting their customs, and henceforward lived on good terms 
with them. The rest, not wishing to sustain—like the Sioux —a re- 

lentless struggle against their invaders, were content to find refuge 
from further incursions in the Rocky Mountains,*!® Thus David 

Thompson, whose judgment was confirmed by the observations 
many years later of Milton and Cheadle, was able to attribute to 
the woodland peoples a generally pacific way of life: “Whereas the 
forest Indians have a peacable life with hard labour. . . .”’?!7 From 
such inclinations the trading companies benefited greatly, since in 
their posts in the Shield they had no need to maintain the strong 
garrisons that were unavoidable in the prairie forts. 

In such a situation, the dispersion of the forest tribes took place 

without difficulty every year at the beginning of winter. The 
families then set off in all directions, searching for big game or 
fur-bearing animals, and never stayed long in the same place. As 
the journal of Cumberland House in 1815 tells us, the Cree “live 
together in little parties, pitching camp or wandering about in the 
winter, never more than a fortnight in the same place."’?'* When 
spring came, families would gather together again, either to trans- 
port collectively the furs gathered in the winter*!® to the Hudson 
Bay posts, or to fish in large groups, or to hunt more effectively 
the animals that from this time were more numerous and less scat- 
tered.**”” But these gatherings did not attain the proportions of 
those which took place in the prairie, and the tribe never came to- 
gether as a complete entity. 
Perhaps—more favored by the nature of their terrain—the 

Ojibwa to an extent escaped this constant fragmentation of the 
tribe, for the harvest of wild rice at the end of summer demanded a 

certain concentration of labor.**! Their more diligent practice of 
fishing acted in the same way by gathering large groups together 
in spring and fall near the rapids or around the lakes.*** But during 
the winter even the Ojibwa could not avoid, any more than the 

Cree, the need to disperse into small groups.**% 
A way of living that assumed no need for collective action was 

incompatible with principles of organization and discipline. Be- 
tween the groups of Beaver who wandered over the parkland of 
the Peace River the only links were those established by their acci- 
dental meetings at the trading posts or their encounters in the 
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hunting grounds.*** Among the Slaves, who were broken into 
equally unimportant groups,”*° it was only war that might lead to 
the formation of a larger and vaguely disciplined group, under the 
leadership of a chief elected for the occasion.*** 

The Cree had nothing more elaborate in the way of organization 
in the true sense of the word. The biological family formed the 
basis of their society.’ Several families might come together in 
simple clusters and share their winter wanderings, but they never 
abandoned their respective autonomy, and they recognized no au- 
thority other than that of the father of the family.?* But even his 
ascendancy proceeded less from any principle of authority than 
from the spontaneous obedience and affection of his children.’*’ 
At the most, during the springtime gatherings, a chief might be 
designated, either to lead the people to the trading posts, or to di- 
rect some warlike enterprise.**° His qualities of courage and en- 
durance and his knowledge of the terrain would qualify him for 
such functions, but his ability to exercise them often depended on 
his power to reward his subordinates.**' This institution spread 
under the influence of the Hudson’s Bay Company, whose officers 
eventually took upon themselves the naming of the chiefs or “cap- 
tains,” whom they picked from among the good hunters, the best 
orators, and those most versed in the practice of magic. The func- 

tion of such leaders, who were encouraged by presents and flat- 
tery, was to lead a greater number of Indians to the posts, so as to 
augment the supply of furs.*** Yet the chief's influence never 
equalled that of the shaman, whose pronouncements gained a 
prestige that nobody cared to contest because of the superstitious 
fears that dominated the life of the Cree.*8* Among the Cree who 
collected around Fort Albany there was also a system of totemic 
clans, and this type of relationship was strengthened by the pres- 
ence of the Midewiwin, the religious society of sorcerers or sha- 
mans which was active among all the people of the region.*** But 
these institutions did not in fact originate among the Cree; the lat- 
ter borrowed them from the Ojibwa whose territory bordered on 
that of the James Bay people, and only the Cree who lived in con- 
tact with the Saulteaux observed them. 

The Ojibwa lived less in isolation than the other forest peoples, 
and co-operative gatherings of various kinds made their life more 
easy. They were also in contact with more advanced tribes in 
American territory.2*® Perhaps these were the reasons why they at- 
tained a level of social organization somewhat less elementary than 
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that of the Cree, though they never developed any true concept of 
collective discipline. 

The biological family remained the foundation of their socety, 
and in winter they too dispersed as a tribe. In the poorer regions 
they split into separate families,**° but in the less meagrely en- 
dowed areas related families would sometimes maintain quite 
large encampments,**” very similar to the gatherings of families 
that even today take place in their summer villages.*** Quite apart 
from the larger concentrations of summer and autumn, cere~ 
monies and celebrations that brought people together were often 
organized. Such occasions, which would include feasts and both 
ritual and profane dances, helped maintain a feeling of tribal un- 
ity.29 

Quite apart from the family, Ojibwa society was also organized 
into a number of exogamous clans, each with its animal totem.**° 
Some of these clans seem to have been loosely linked into larger 
groups or phratries; these did not possess the same kind of cohe- 
sion as the Iroquois phratries, nor did they or the clans have any 
political or religious role.**t And thus, although there were many 
manifestations of collective life among the Ojibwa, no kind of 
political organization developed nor was there any institution 
similar to the indigenous police forces among the prairie tribes. 

The powers of the Ojibwa chief, also chosen for his persuasive- 
ness and his personal merits, were as fragile as those of his Cree 
counterpart, for they were limited to the occasion for which he 
was elected,*** He might be assisted by a council open to all adult 
men, but its functions were vague and limited, and it had no 

power of direct action.*** The concept of a “national council,” 
summoned to discuss matters of concern to the tribe as a whole, 
was unknown;*** the decisions of the chief and the council applied 
only to a limited group of families, and then only if each freely 
accepted them.*** In matters of civil order, the organization of war 
parties,**° or the settlement of personal grievances,**” everything 
was left to the free obedience or the free initiative of the individual. 
“They live in a perfect state of freedom and liberty,” as one fur 
trader remarked.*** Among the Ojibwa as well as among the Cree, 
and for the same reasons, the Hudson’s Bay Company's officers 
took it upon themselves to appoint captains, whose loyalty they 
sustained with gifts and with regales of alcohol.?** 

But even more than among the Cree, the shamans assumed 

among the Ojibwa a role of leadership alongside those officially 
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appointed to chiefly dignity, and their prerogatives extended 
beyond the framework of magic or supernatural curing. Their in- 
fluence was all the greater since it was they who constituted the 
powerful religious society of the Midewiwin, the idea of which 
some of the Cree borrowed from the Ojibwa. Open to men and 
women alike, this society held a great ceremonial each year that 
exceeded in importance all the other manifestations of Ojibwa re- 
ligious life.**° It also preached to the members of the tribe a verita~ 
ble social ethic," and it gave them a principle of cohesion which 
none of the other forest peoples possessed. Thus it was the Ojibwa 
alone who attained even a semblance of organization, and, in spite 
of its shortcomings, this enabled them to adapt to the life of the 
prairie while retaining the customs of the forest life, whereas the 
Cree who left the forest for the prairie, and became Plains Cree, 
imitated in every way the organization of their new allies. 

Tribes of the High Latitudes 

On the upper verge of the forest belt and in the Barren Grounds 
beyond it, there was a worsening of those natural conditions 
which already condemned the tribes of the wooded zone to a dis- 
persed and nomadic existence and weakened their powers of or- 
ganization. Among the Dene (Athabascan) peoples whose ter- 
titories bordered on those of the arctic Eskimo, this situation re- 
stricted farther the basis for a common existence. 

First among these peoples were the Chipewyan, established on 
the northern verges of the forest, which they left periodically dur- 
ing the summer for excursions of varying duration into the Barren 
Grounds, During the cold season, the absence of wood for fuel 
and of protection from the rigors of the climate made it impossible 
for the Chipewyan to spend long periods in these desolate ter- 
ritories, and forced them quickly back to the wooded region in 
which they spent the greater part of the year, so that in spite of 
their constant coming and going between the two zones, they re- 
mained mostly a woodland people.* Yet in this sparse northern 
forest, resources became even scantier and the vegetation no 

longer played such a part in sustaining the people as it did in the 
areas inhabited by the Cree.*®* The winter there was marked by 
long periods of privation which the more thrifty disposition of the 
Chipewyan* was not sufficient to mitigate, and even by famine 
which—here as well—reduced the native people to the point 
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where they destroyed their families and resorted to cannibalism.*** 
The Chipewyan did their best to counter the uncertainties of 

their existence by the exercise of a foresight that aroused the admi- 
ration of David Thompson and the approval of the Hudson’s Bay 
traders.*** They exploited every means of subsistence, no matter 
how meagre, that they found in nature. In difficult times they did 
not hesitate to utilize the mosses that clung to the rocky surfaces of 
the Barren Grounds,**’ nor did they neglect the forest clearings, 
whose produce they garnered at the end of summer.*** They 
fished in winter as well as summer,”** catching their prey under 
the ice or in open water by means of harpoons, nets, or hooks of 
wood or bone.*” They snared waterfowl ,?*! and though they were 
less adept hunters than the Cree,*** they pursued the wood bison 
and moose which were rare and scattered in their region, and even 

hunted musk ox, But it was from the herds of caribou that they 
drew their most valued sustenance.* They awaited the herds on 
the main routes by which they migrated in autumn from the coast 
toward the interior. Then they ambushed the animals at the cros- 
sings of lakes and rivers, where they speared them in easy mas- 
sacres.*** During the winter they captured them in pounds erected 
in the forest, or shot them down with arrows.?** 

These varied activities dictated a constantly nomadic life, alter- 

nating between the forest and the Barren Grounds, a situation that 
has not changed down to the present day,**® The price of such 
wanderings, which resulted from the great dispersion of the re- 
sources which the Chipewyan were able to exploit, was the frag- 
mentation of a tribe already small in numbers.**’ According to 
James Isham there were a thousand families, scattered in unequal 
groups over the immense area in which they wandered.*** It was 
only during the great migrations of the caribou herds that the 
families gathered in appreciable numbers.*** Most of the time they 
lived in scattered isolation or in small bands, always on the move, 
since in any region the game they hunted might be abundant for a 
few days and vanish shortly afterward because of a mere change in 
the wind.?”” To such natural uncertainties must be added the 
Chipewyans’ lack of skill in hunting the larger game like bison and 
moose. As a result, they might be able to make warm and com- 
fortable clothes for themselves with caribou skins,*”! but they did 
not have the resources to create habitations suitable for the rigor- 
ous climate of their country.?”* This made them more narrowly 
dependent than the great neighboring tribe [the Cree] on the 
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goodwill of the trading posts. And since there was no lack of fur- 
bearing animals, and the Chipewyan were better hunters of mar- 
ten and beaver than of big game,*”* they were well supplied with 
the means of exchange to acquire the articles they needed for their 
material existence; they would not trade for articles that were of 
no practical use to them.?”* 
Owing to this constant fragmentation of the tribe, organization 

became virtually non-existent. The family was a distinct commun- 
ity, under the direction of a father who took the place of a chief, or 
of old men whose opinions were heard with respect.?”° “The au- 
thority of the father is the only one known to the Montagnais 
[Chipewyan],” wrote the future Archbishop of St. Boniface, 
Father Taché, in 1853.2”° That authority was limited to the narrow 

circle of the family or the group of families depending im- 
mediately on the father-chief.2”” If there had once existed chiefs, 

chosen from among the individual families, who exercised a 

broader authority, their memory was virtually extinct by the sec- 
ond half of the eighteenth century, or survived merely in the de~ 
gree of honor accorded to certain heads of families.?”* Such influ- 
ence, barely perceptible and devoid of real substance, had already 
been supplanted by the prestige which the best hunters acquired 
thanks to the tangible rewards —and also to the esteem—which the 
whites accorded to them.?” 

The fragmentation of the tribe had one advantage; it reduced the 
risks of war with neighboring peoples. The conflicts in which the 
Chipewyans became engaged were reduced to unimportant skir- 
mishes with the Cree, with the Eskimo whom the Chipewyan had 
pushed back from the southern edge of the Barren Grounds,**° or, 
more rarely and at the other extremity of their territory, with the 
Beaver, whom Governor Simpson was anxious to keep from con- 

tact with the Chipewyan,**! The concerns of their material life 
were in fact too pressing to allow the Chipewyan the leisure 
needed to organize warlike expeditions. This lack of military in- 
itiative explains why, accepting the opinion of the Cree,*** Euro- 

peans attributed a pacific nature to the Chipewyan, notwithstand- 
ing the cruelty they displayed when they came to blows with the 
Eskimo .**8 

The same remarks apply, with few qualifications, to the peoples 
living beyond the territory of the Chipewyan. These tribes, the 
Dogribs, the Yellowknives or Copper Indians,#** the Hares, and 
finally, the Statudene around the Great Bear Lake, were even 
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farther removed from any conception of organization.”** Indeed, it 
is barely possible to accord the title of tribe to these groups, since 
they had neither cohesion nor numerical importance, The three 
first-named peoples appear to have comprised, respectively, 1,250, 
450, and 750 individuals;*** frequent periods of malnutrition,**’ 
the insanitary conditions of their existence,*** and the hard labor 

imposed on their women,**? condemned such populations to re- 
main stationary. For all these peoples, dispersion in small and 
tenuously united groups was the unavoidable law of existence.*"” 
The poverty of the land made it inhospitable to any accumulation 
of people. If the Hares and the Dogribs were divided into clusters 
of families in possession of well-defined hunting grounds,**! the 
Statudene knew no other unit than the cellular family, free to link 

up with other families during its wanderings, but lacking any ter- 
ritory of its own.?* The notion of the clan did not exist among 
these people,” and authority with them remained as undefined as 
it was among the Chipewyan.*"* In the interests of trade, the 
Europeans tried to increase the sense of authority by conferring on 
the most experienced hunters the title of chief,?°° but such efforts 
had little success.**° The tribes of these extreme latitudes con- 
ceived of no other chief than the elder, known for his courage or 
hunting skills, who could guide the families in their peregrina- 
tions.**” Nevertheless, when several families came together to at- 
tack the caribou on their migratory wanderings, they would ac- 

cept the guidance of a hunter or an elder, without extending his 
role beyond that particular collective activity.?°* 

It was only in the event of warlike expeditions that a chief 
would be elected, but as soon as hostilities came to an end his right 
to offer advice would cease. However, among these peoples 
conflicts were as rare and on as local a scale as they were among the 
Chipewyan, They might arise from the desire of two groups to 
occupy the best hunting grounds, from an attempt to abduct 
women from another tribe, from the feeling that a group or tribe 
was thwarting its neighbor’s hunting efforts through the power of 
sorcery,*”” or even from the temptation to take advantage of the 
weakness of a more timorous group in order to subdue it. And 
when such engagements did take place, these tribes would behave 
with as much cruelty as the Chipewyan. Thus, at the end of the 
eighteenth century and in the early years of the nineteenth, hos- 
tilities broke out between the Yellowknives on one side and the 
Dogribs, Hares, and Slaves on the other.**' Many skirmishes also 
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took place between the Yellowknives and the Chipewyan, but this 
warfare ended, and in the first half of the nineteenth century, with 
the fusion of the two tribes.*”* Even the more violent hostility 
harbored toward the Eskimo by all the tribes who hunted on the 
verges of their territory gave rise only to occasional skirmishes. 
All things considered, the Indians of these arctic regions were in 
fact only moderately bellicose.** Often, indeed, when groups of 
strangers met in the same territory, they would peacefully set 
about exploiting the same resources in common, Hares or Yel- 
lowknives hunting beside Slaves, in a relationship favored by the 
lack of cohesion within their own tribes and broken only occa~ 
sionally by brief clashes .*"* 

For the same reasons as the Chipewyan, none of these tribes lim- 
ited its wanderings to the stony spaces of the far North. All of 
them could be regarded as intermediate between the two zones. 
Though the forest, rather than the Barren Grounds, formed the 
semi-permanent habitat where they took refuge at the end of 
summer, their way of life fell into a pattern of migration that led 
them from the Great Slave Lake to the Arctic Ocean, and from the 
banks of the Mackenzie to the coastal fringe of Hudson Bay, the 
domain of the Eskimo. During the mild season, from the month 
of April, they made their incursions on to the tundra of the Barren 

Grounds, where they hunted both musk ox and arctic caribou. 

The Statudene and the Hares were indifferent hunters in compari- 

son with the Yellowknives and Dogribs.*°* The latter tribes were 

expert at trapping the caribou in pounds, spearing them in the 

lakes where they took refuge from insect pests, and driving them 

into snowdrifts where the foundering animals could be massacred 

without difficulty.2 The conical tent of caribou skins was the fa- 

vored habitation of these tribes,” and only rarely did they have 

recourse to the rectangular huts, assembled out of poles and 

branches,** which were customary among the Hare and 

Statudene, for whom they took the place of the teepee.*”* These 
last tribes actually pursued the animals of the Barren Grounds in 

the spring and also the months of August and September, but they 

were indifferent hunters, and fed mostly on fish, which they 

caught in all seasons, and on hare, which they hunted during the 

winter.*!” As they used the hare not only for food but also for clo- 

thing, they were exposed, whenever there was a dearth of these 

animals, to periods of privation and famine, to which many of 

them succumbed." Even the personnel of the trading posts were 
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not exempt from these disasters,*"? for in such times of despair an- 
thropophagy would make its appearance. In 1842 two employees 
of Fort Good Hope were savagely massacred by famished Hares, 
of whom fifty starved to death at the very gates of the fort.*"* The 
part of the wooded zone where these people sheltered over winter, 
around Great Bear Lake, along the Mackenzie River, and as far 

west as the foothills of the Rockies, nourished—apart from the 

hare—only scanty populations of woods caribou, moose, and 
fur-bearing animals.*' This lack of local resources made their exis- 
tence more difficult and precarious than that of the Yellowknives 
and Dogribs, who were better provided with both game and 
furs*'® in the northern rim of the forest which they inhabited be- 
tween Great Slave Lake and Great Bear Lake. But even this rela- 
tive security did not preserve them from the hazards of existence; 
either of these groups might sometimes in winter have to rely on 
the meagre nourishment which the hares offered, and they were 
no more exempt than their neighbors from the threat of famine.*!® 

In these distant territories, the far verges of the third North 
West, the trading companies established few posts, and those they 
did set up were situated in the immediate vicinity of that great 
route of penetration, the Mackenzie River. The relations with the 

whites of the tribes we have just discussed were restricted to such 
localized and comparatively infrequent contacts, and this fact les- 
sened the part they played in the formation of the Métis people. 

Native Society: Conceptions of Life and Psychological Attitudes 

In spite of the differences between the three North Wests, the na- 
tive tribes distributed within their limits were united in the similar- 
ity of their ways of life, equally dominated by nomadism, equally 
estranged from any sedentary occupation. There is no doubt that 
the physical setting was largely responsible for such inclinations. It 
forbade any kind of agricultural activity on the part of the tribes 
who inhabited the northern forest and the Barren Grounds. And 
while it is true that the rich earth of the prairie lent itself to cultiva- 
tion, its bare horizons and the dry and harsh climate that limited its 
farming season made it more suited for modern colonization, with 
its technical resources, than for the simple gardening the Indians 
customarily practised. 

Conditions favorable to such rudimentary agriculture existed 
only in the dampest clearings of the park lands, where the banks of 
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the Red River and the Peace River were particularly well adapted 
to cultivation. Yet the difficulties which the white colonists en- 
countered when they first tried to improve an area so favorable as 
that of the Red River, and the need they experienced for several 
years to model their way of life on that of the Indians, help one to 
understand why the Indians made no serious effort at breaking the 
land. The clearings along the Red River were lightly exploited 
only by the Ojibwa, but elsewhere neither the Slaves nor the 
Beavers practised anything that could be termed agriculture. 
Nowhere in the west did there exist a region so favorable to culti- 
vation as the lands of the Huron and the Iroquois, whose more 
southerly latitude, more moderate climate, and richer soil were 
suitable for an agrarian economy. At the same time, even in the 
areas that lent themselves to farming, hunting offered such re- 

wards that it would have been difficult for the peoples of the West, 
naturally indolent and hostile to any kind of sustained labor, not to 
be tempted by an abundance whose exploitation encouraged a 
nomadic existence in contrast to the perseverance and the method- 
ical work of the agriculturist. Thus the native mentality conspired 
with the environment to explain the kind of life that was shared by 

all the tribes of the North West. 
Doubtless one must also turn to the psychological element to 

explain the nature of their political and social structures, which 

cannot be attributed merely to the influence of natural conditions. 
It is apparent that, sometimes through causing a concentration of 
people and a reinforcement of discipline, and on other occasions 
by motivating a dispersion of the tribe and a loosening of its cohe- 
sion, natural conditions may indeed have determined the kind of 
differences in the degree of organization which we have observed 
among the tribes of the prairie, of the woodlands, and of the ex- 
treme latitudes. But the effect of the physical environment does 
not in itself sufficiently explain all the political and social concep- 

tions of these peoples, from their notion of authority limited to a 

framework of provisional jurisdictions, to their views of property 

and personal courage, or their ideas of the reciprocal relations bet- 
ween men and women in marriage; even less does it explain the 

modalities of their religious life or the functioning of their moral 
code. 

Perhaps it is necessary, as Diamond Jenness thought, to attri- 

bute a greater influence to historic events, to the links which the 

Indians made during their migrations with other tribes whose cul- 
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tures influenced them.*!” Certainly there is good reason at this 
point to bring in the native psychology. Closely related, as it was, 
to the mentality of the Indians of Lower Canada, it can usefully be 
evoked to explain the existence, among peoples whose material 
lives were not always dominated by identical conditions, of a 
group of non-varying characteristics. 

To a certain degree, of course, their mentality was shaped by 
their nomadic existence, for the unending contact it involved with 
the setting in which they had evolved conferred on them certain 
qualities of mind which all who encountered them agreed in rec- 
ognizing. Their intimate knowledge of the smallest of forest 
paths, of the ways of wild animals, of the landmarks that deter- 

mined their movements over the boundless plains, combined to 
develop in them an extremely sharp power of observation, and a 
visual memory that remained fresh to an advanced age. The smal- 
lest details of the regions they traversed were engraved on their 
minds and guided them unfailingly on their migrations, enabling 
them to find again years afterwards, merely by viewing the lie of 
the land and the shape or disposition of trees, routes they may 
have followed once only in the past.*'* Because it was not 
supplemented by writing, their memory was constantly being 
exercised, and for this reason it retained faithfully the deals they 
had concluded and the conversations they had shared. James Isham 
claims to have known patriarchs a hundred years old who were 
still sufficiently in control of their faculties to keep a vivid memory 
of all the transactions in which they had been involved.*!? The 
simple observation of trees, and the logical deduction of the 
reasons for their apparent abnormalities, gave them a sense of di- 
rection that did not fail them, either in the horizonless forest or on 
the bare prairie.**° A thicker bark, suggesting a greater exposure to 
heat, or the bending of tree trunks before the prevalent winds 
from the northwest, revealed to them a southerly direction;’?! 

abundant layers of moss would indicate a northerly aspect,’* 
while the position of the stars,*** the placing of poplar bluffs, or 
mere breaks in the land, served as substitutes for landmarks by 

which they excelled in. tracing their routes across the prairie. 
The same sharpness of observation can be seen in the representa 

tions of animals with which they ornamented their garments and 
their tents; physical proportions were well observed, movements 
accurately apprehended and reproduced with vigor, yet-—no more 
than the geometric motives which they executed on their leather 
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pouches or arrow quivers—did their accuracy of observation rise 
to a level of true artistic sensibility comparable to that manifested 
in the more evolved designs of the Pacific coast tribes.** 

Forced to make the best of the resources they found in nature 
with the rudimentary implements at their disposal, these peoples 
showed a remarkable manual skill in making their canoes, their 

snowshoes, and their habitations. An inferior hatchet, a knife, a 
file, and an awl were all that the Cree needed to cut from birch 

trees the sheets of bark which, after making them flexible by heat, 
they sewed with the roots of fir trees onto frames of branches clev- 
erly curved and held at their top edges by washboards that were 
fastened together fore and aft.” Once the craft was finished, they 
would caulk the joints with turpentine gathered from coniferous 
trees.** With nothing more than an axe, they would split poplars 
and birches fourteen or sixteen inches thick to extract strips seven 
or eight feet long on which they fashioned their showshoes by 
weaving a network of cord or “‘babiche.’’*? Finally, they were al- 
ways good marksmen, skilful with the bow and arrow, and adapt- 
ing to the use of firearms as soon as the Europeans introduced 
them .°?8 

At the same time, their habitual nomadism led to an essentially 
irregular life-style, in which idleness went side by side with effort, 
and abundance alternated with dearth. The wanderings of the 
tribes of the northern forests and the Barren Grounds involved 
periods of intense effort, made all the more painful by the priva- 
tions that accompanied them. At such times the Indians displayed 
extraordinary powers of endurance. On their snowshoes, whose 

broad surfaces enabled them to glide over shallow snow but did 

not prevent sinking to the knees when it accumulated thickly, the 

Cree moved about endlessly during the winter months, unper- 

turbed by the efforts demanded by this mode of locomotion, so 
often described by the missionaries.‘ Frequently, for lack of 
dogs, they themselves had to drag sledges heavily piled with bag- 
gage over distances of between two and three hundred miles, 

travelling twenty miles a day.**° Among the northern tribes, liv- 
ing in sparse forest and therefore less well provided with usable 
trees than their neighbors to the south, the construction of tobog- 
gans was less widespread, and goods were more often carried on 
the backs of men and dogs, but here also the snowshoe was used 
habitually to facilitate travel.** 

In themselves, such migrations were painful enough, without 
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the other sufferings that might be encountered. There was the an- 
guish of undernourishment; this was mitigated only for those 
who, having placed themselves on the caribou migration routes, 
found an abundant but short-lived plethora of food, followed, as 
soon as winter set in, by the risk of scarcity consequent on the an- 
nual dispersion of the herds.*** There was also the insufficient pro- 
tection afforded by the habitations they improvised on halting for 
the night, or when they stayed for several days in a place relatively 
well supplied with game. Having nothing better than their tents of 
moose or caribou skin, or fragile and hastily constructed shelters, 
they experienced all the effects of the polar climate. “‘Itts’ un- 
known what hardships,” James Isham wrote in 1743 ‘men must 
Endure in these parts, to see Isceles of Jack Frost, hanging over 
men’s heads as they Lye in bed,—from the mouth to the top of the 
tent will hang Ice in a great quantity, in one night’s time, occa- 
tion’d by their breath, and their Blankets are so thick of frost itt 
takes them one hour every morning to thaw and dry such.’’** 

Asa result, the tribes of the Shield developed an almost unbe- 
lievable resistance to the elements, which rendered them equally 

indifferent to the coldest temperatures and to the most oppressive 
heats: “heedless of exposures” was the description of the Chipe- 
wyan by S. H. Long in 1824;*** ‘‘patient under fatigue, hardships 

and privations,” noted the report of the Athabasca Department in 
the same year.*** Their constitutions endured the most exhausting 
travels. They cured their wounds by simple applications of 
water mixed with turpentine. They treated their sicknesses some- 
times by sessions in the sweatlodge, and on other occasions by 
bleeding, which the Cree practised by puncturing the back of the 
hand with the point of an awl or a sharp knife, afterwards staunch- 
ing the bleeding with a ligature.**? The women, on whom the 
hardest work was often imposed, shared to the full this capacity 
for endurance. James Isham declares that they could become 
mothers at the age of seventy.*** When, on their wanderings, 
Chipewyan women happened to bring children into the world, 
they immediately continued on their way, loaded with the extra 
burden of the infant, or harnessed to their sleighs, which they had 
often to drag through water and wet snow.*® Above all, the In- 
dian constitution lent itself to long periods of fasting which no 
European could emulate, At times of famine they would make do 
with putrefying meat, but when their hunting was successful they 
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would gorge to their utmost capacity. They showed no signs of 
dissatisfaction or discouragement in times of scarcity, and they did 
not appear to be affected physically by a diet that might be exces~ 
sive or inadequate but was never balanced,™° Such characteristics 
faithfully recall the traits which the first missionaries observed on 
their arrival in New France among the native inhabitants of the St. 
Lawrence valley;*! they confirm the judgment of Captain Le 
Duchat, writing in 1756 on the peoples of the New World: ‘‘Alll the 
various nations I have encountered are untirable, accustomed to il] 
fortune, and endure cold and hot alike without discomfort.’"*** 
On the prairie the climate was less rigorous and material exis- 

tence was less difficult. The Indians harnessed their dogs or horses 
to travois, rudimentary vehicles consisting of long poles which 
carried their baggage, and this means of transport, which could be 
used in winter and summer alike, saved them from the laborious 
migrations of the forest people.*** But in periods of scarcity they 
showed the same fortitude as the peoples of the Shield, and when 
the need arose they could display an equal power of resistance to 
inclement weather.*** The sole exceptions were the “Home In- 
dians” established around the posts on the shores of Hudson Bay; 
they had been too deeply affected by their contact with the whites 
to remain capable of enduring the efforts and the sufferings which 
the country demanded of its nomadic inhabitants.**° 

At the same time, if the Indian was superior to the European in 
his powers of endurance, it was essentially because he sustained, in 
the struggle against an unfeeling nature, a passive courage which 
made him accept without question the harsh trials to which his 
way of life constantly exposed him, but which never animated 
him to the degree of energetic enterprise that gave the whites their 
superiority. Men like Alexander Mackenzie and David 
Thompson, who carried out with such dogged heroism the explo- 
ration of the great river of the Arctic and of the most difficult 
routes through the Rocky Mountains, found in the passivity of 
their native guides—hostile to all efforts unconnected with the 
basic needs of their existence and indifferent to tasks whose use- 
fulness they could not recognize—one of the greatest obstacles to 
the realization of their projects.**° As soon as he thought himself 
sufficiently provided with food, the Indian at once abandoned all 
effort, and surrendered to the spontaneous indolence of his temp- 
erament and the improvidence of his nature. 
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In such improvidence the hazards of their way of life farther en- 
couraged the peoples of the Shield, and especially those of the far 
North. For them, any thought of building up reserves of food was 
negated by the feeling that death might come on the morrow and 
destroy the fruits of their foresight.**” The difficulties which their 
wandering life put in the way of accumulating a stock of provi- 
sions prevented them from imitating in this way the sedentary ag- 
rarians; the tribes of the prairie, though they were less narrowly 
dominated by the rigors of their environment, tended to obey the 
same reflexes. 

The improvidence of the native peoples was reinforced by their 
superstitious beliefs. Regarding the “Great Spirit” as responsible 
for the dearth of victuals which they experienced,*"* or believing 
that the animals would reappear in even greater abundance if they 
were killed in large numbers ,*** they took little care, even when 

famine threatened them,*** to portion out over several days the 
meagre product of their hunting. If, on the other hand, the game 
was especially numerous, they abandoned themselves to a veri- 
table sport of massacre, ready to abandon on the spot or throw 
into a river the slaughtered beasts they could not consume,**! or to 
take merely the choice morsels, neglecting to smoke the rest of the 

carcass, though by this simple procedure it might have been pre- 
served indefinitely to provide for the sustenance of their 
families.*** Thus Andrew Graham estimated at five thousand the 
number of caribou destroyed by the Cree in a single summer 
around York Factory, yet out of this exceptional abundance, use 
was made only of the animals needed for the immediate consump- 
tion of the families themselves and for the provisioning of the fort 
in exchange for the alcohol the Indians craved.*** 

On the prairie, the Indians were no less inclined to the blind de- 
struction of the bison herds;** the pounds in which they captured 
them became veritable charnel houses in which the animals were 
wasted without profiting either the natives or the trading posts.*”* 
Yet, quite apart from the fact that the great number of herds and 
the frequency of their migrations alleviated the consequences of 
such massacres on the prairies, the tribes there at least sometimes 

had the foresight to prepare pemmican or to dry or smoke some of 
the meat. These measures were in fact less useful than they might 
have been in the wooded zone, for the groups of families that 
wandered over the prairie during the winter would settle down for 
a while—as soon as they had encountered the bison—around the 
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pounds which they erected, and they could live for several days on 
the “booty” preserved by the rigorous cold, Among the northern 
peoples only the Chipewyan showed any degree of prudence. In 
spite of the entirely nomadic character of their existence and the 
uncertainty of resources in their country, according to David 
Thompson they avoided wasting the fish and meat destined for 
their families.*** But one should not exaggerate these qualities, 
Even if the Chipewyan appeared more careful than other peoples 
of the same latitude to save their children from the hazards of 
want, if they took care to preserve meat by cutting it into fine 
strips or reducing it to powder, they succumbed to the same pas- 
sion for destruction as the other tribes when they encountered 
herds of caribou in the Barren Grounds. On such occasions, they 

systematically slaughtered the animals, keeping only the tongues, 
the marrow, and the fat, and throwing away the rest or leaving it 
for the wolves.*%7 

In hunting fur-bearing animals, the Indians were also liable to 
surrender to their lack of foresight and to destroy blindly, without 
any thought of the future, particularly in those areas where the 
beaver was used for food.*** They were actually encouraged in 
such destructive practices by the trading companies and their pol- 
icy of outbidding each other, and when the Hudson’s Bay Com- 
pany finally became master of the West [in 1821], it often found 
difficulty in preventing the total exhaustion of the resources of cer- 
tain districts.**° Yet sometimes, left to himself, the Indian would 

spontaneously conserve the resources of his territory. This hap- 
pened when the hunting grounds were divided among individuals 
or families. Thus the natural good sense of some hunters pre- 
vented the exhaustion of game; others, on the contrary, allowed 

destruction to proceed unchecked.3° 
Once he had gathered enough to eat for a few days, the Indian 

would give in to his tendency to idleness, which he overcame only 
when the search for food again became necessary, and would hap- 
pily pass his time doing nothing. “They will never move but 
when necessity obliges them,"’ wrote James Isham in 1743. In 
such periods the Indians’ days were spent in idleness, or in the 
frantic playing of games of chance, to which all the peoples of the 
West were passionately addicted.** When Alexander Henry 
reached the shores of the Pembina River in November 1800, he ob- 

served there the disgusting indolence of a group of Ojibwa, 
among whom the men were so obsessed with their gambling that 
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they paid no attention to the crying of their hungry children, and 
only at rare intervals broke off their game to kill a bison and save 
their families from actually dying of hunger.** On 13 June 1806, 
the journal of Brandon House noted a similar example of negli- 
gence. “The Indians at the House all starving through mens Lazi- 
ness to hunt, They do nothing but smoke and play at the plat- 
tees 

If the Woods Cree showed an exemplary activity in hunting 
fur-bearing animals, it was because their material existence de- 

pended on it. But they were quick to abandon it whenever the 
moose became numerous enough* or whenever they found 
means of getting enough merchandise to render unnecessary the 
acquisition of the monetary tokens which furs represented.*° 
“Left entirely to their own exertions,” declared the report of 
Cumberland House in 1825, “they decrease in their activity, loose 

all ambition for pleasing the traders and even become callous to 
their own wants.” 

No matter whether one considers the Woods Cree, the 
Beaver,*** the Slaves,*** the Yellowknives,*” or the tribes related 

to them, or even the Ojibwa,'7! all these peoples incurred—from 
the mouths of the most various observers—the same reproach of 
indolence and passivity that justifies our identifying them with the 
tribes of the prairie. Both groups had based their existence on a 
strict adaptation to the conditions of the physical environment that 
surrounded them; once this objective was attained, their intelli- 

gence did not conceive the possibility of going beyond it.%” In 
fact, the mental outlook of the tribes in the three North Wests 

hardly varied; it conceived of effort only under the spur of neces- 
sity, with the sole exception that the need to resort more often to 
the trading posts somewhat stimulated the energy of the tribes of 
the northern forest and the Barren Grounds, without in any way 
changing their view of existence. 

Thus the life of the Indians, uniformly alien to regular and 
methodical work,*”* comprised a succession of periods of hard ef- 

fort, which the whites would have found it hard to sustain, and 

periods of idleness, which alternated in various ways according to 
the differences between environments. Often, in their slothful in- 
terludes, these peoples became prey to fears similar to those caused 
by their improvidence, or fell under the dominance of the emo- 

tional side of their nature, which among them always overruled 
logical reason. Thus in 1831 the Beaver of the Peace River were 
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attacked by a severe epidemic, giving in to the grief they felt for 
the loss of their relatives or friends, they entirely abandoned hunt- 
ing the muskrat.*”* Whenever they were unlucky in hunting, the 
Chipewyan believed themselves the victims of a malevolent spirit, 
and instead of redoubling their efforts, they gave in to despair, be- 
came inactive and, having massacred their families, passively 
awaited their turn to die.*”* Yet, despite their basically indolent na- 
ture,$”* the Chipewyan shared completely neither the fecklessness 
nor the negligent attitudes of the other tribes. If many of them 
were content, when caribou were numerous, to feast and live 

without effort near the pounds where the beasts were trapped, 
many others persevered in hunting fur-bearing animals and taking 
their precious pelts to the trading forts.*”? Alexander Mackenzie, 
George Simpson, and the officers of the posts situated in Chipe- 
wyan territory constantly describe them as more diligent in their 
work and more sensible than their congeners to the west, and as 
being receptive to the persuasions of the traders who warned them 
not to destroy blindly the beaver populations or suggested that 
they should temporarily withdraw from exhausted districts to 
allow the stock of fur-bearing animals to revive.5”* Aware that it 
was in their interest to acquire the trade goods their families 
needed, the Chipewyan began by meeting the demands of the 
North West Company, and delivering to them a rich store of pelts 
at a modest price.*”? When competition for their furs arose be- 
tween the English and Canadian companies, it offered the possibil- 
ity of unhoped-for gains, and this temporarily disrupted their 
work habits;**° but it was not long before they resumed their more 
steady and prudent routine, encouraged by a thrifty and somewhat 
calculating mentality .**! 

Perhaps it is this mentality, nearer to that of the whites and less 
completely alien to the notion of private property [than that of 
other Indian groups] which explains the accusation of avarice 
levelled against the Chipewyan even before the competitive bid- 
ding between rival companies could have been responsible for the 
greed with which they were reproached. Already in 1789 Alexan- 
der Mackenzie imputed to them egoistic inclinations—a “selfish 
disposition.’’*** In 1793 John Macdonell considered them “mean in 
their nature,"** in this way anticipating the opinion George 
Simpson formed in 1821 of this “rapacious people,”*** of whom 
Sir Henry Lefroy also said that they were “acute to their own in- 
terests.’"**° Without exaggerating their egotism, and without de- 
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nying the hospitable customs which they seem to have widely 
practised among themselves ,*** one can say that they do not seem 
to have possessed to the same degree as the Cree or the other 
peoples of the Shield the natural qualities of generosity with which 
the latter were generally credited.**” 
Among these peoples, whose existence was an incessant strug- 

gle against an unkind nature, the need for mutual aid was always 
evident, and it was a general practice for one of them to relinquish 
to his less fortunate neighbors any goods he possessed in excess of 
his needs. “They are . . . very kind and humane one to another, 
sharing their victuals till all is done; so that widows can live as well 

as others.”*** Though the hunter had the privilege of disposing as 
he wished of the meat or furs that belonged to him,** it was rarely 
that he kept more than he personally required. Among the Cree, if 
a hunter gathered more furs than he could dress, he would give the 

surplus to someone whom luck had less favored.*” If by some ac- 
cident he lost his modest possessions, he would obtain from those 
around him all the help they could give.**' Among the naturally 
generous and liberal Ojibwa, when several families gathered in the 
same camp, they would often put all their supplies into a common 
pool and share them equally .**? Sometimes, as among the Slaves, 
there were customary rules of sharing which prevented the hunter 
from disposing as he liked of the game he caught, and obliged him 
to share it out among the members of his own group.**’ For the 
great nomads of the plains, the “law of the Prairie” demanded that 
any Indian who violated the official instructions of the hunt must 
give up to the families with most children the animals he had killed 
against the rules.*** The Chipewyan themselves divided the 
caribou which they captured in their pounds among all the hunters 
who took part in the operation.*** 

From that natural generosity proceeded the Indians’ habits of 
hospitality ,*°° the custom among many of them of aiding the sick 
and the dying in their agony**’ and of taking orphaned children 
into their own families." Perhaps in these customs of mutual aid 
and sharing can be found one of the reasons for white accusations 
of apparent ingratitude. ‘They recieve favours... but never 
think themselves under obligation to the Donor." Their spon- 
taneous generosity prevented them from appreciating the value of 
any presents that were given to them, since they themselves distri- 
buted whatever they had without expecting recognition from the 
beneficiary. 
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Yet native societies were not organized on a strictly communist 
basis.*"” The general disinterestedness of individuals did not pre- 
clude a sense of property. The forest tribes often reserved the pos- 
session of certain defined territories and the right to exploit their 
fish and game to specific families or to groups of families who 
shared out the hunting grounds," Of course this was not an abso- 
lute rule applying uniformly to all the peoples of the wooded area. 
The Cree around Cumberland House, whose territory was espe- 

dally poor, allowed families the right to hunt wherever it pleased 
them, and even tolerated the encroachments of strange tribes.*”* 
The Ojibwa, who were less deprived, had enough respect for the 
principle of property to recognize that anyone in possession of a 
hunting ground had not only the right to exploit it and to refuse 
entry to other families, no matter how destitute they might be, but 

also the privilege of hereditary transmission in the male line.*°* Yet 
the Ojibwa also allowed a free exploitation of the wild rice 
meadows under the terms of a temporary use that ended with the 
crop.*** Access to fishing and berry picking grounds were open to 
everyone without restriction.*” 

For the prairie tribes or for the people who lived off the arctic 
caribou, there could be no question of dividing up the land be- 
tween families with exclusive rights to hunt within determined 
limits. The need to pursue wandering game, and the collective or- 
ganization of the hunt in which all the braves of the tribe might 
take part, would have rendered harmful and indeed impossible any 
hindrance to the liberty of their movements.*°* It was only when 
the northern tribes were divided into tiny groups that the hunting 
grounds could be assigned to the families who scoured them for 
food: and even to that custom there seem to have been many ex- 
ceptions.*"” In the prairie such a law was unknown, and the tribes, 

being more compact than in the northern regions, attained a 
broader conception of the collective ownership of the land in- 
cluded within their limits, which they saw as the appanage of the 
whole tribe; in an outburst of local patriotism they could claim 

sovereignty over it in opposition to the whites.*”* 
Moreover, each member of the western tribes disposed of a 

modest property, consisting of his weapons, his clothes, and his 
canoes, which were his personal possessions, and which were 
often buried with him.*°? On the prairie, the horse was an item of 
property which the Indians particularly valued. Taking the place of 
cash, it could enable them to buy wives or objects like medicine 
bundles which they desired for the prestige that accompanied 
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them, or it could enable them to acquire, by the practice of liberal- 
ity, a high position in native society.*!° The individual Indian was 
master of whatever he had acquired by his own toil, and he was 
not opposed to the idea of accumulating enough goods to satisfy 
his personal ambition, to augment the esteem in which he was 

held, or to gain whatever he coveted;*"' it never amounted to a 
great deal, and the modesty of his accumulations prevented it from 
becoming a cause of conflict. Native society acknowledged and re- 
spected individual property ,*"* whose transmission was conducted 
without difficulty according to the rules peculiar to each tribe, un- 
less the possessions of the dead man accompanied him after 
death.*'* The property of a man and his wife could be separate, so 
that, among the Ojibwa, such items as weapons, snowshoes, 
canoes, and sleighs, together with the game he slaughtered and the 

hunting territory he had inherited, were the property of the man, 
while the habitation and the houschold eftects belonged to the wife 
and were transmitted in the female line; the man, for his part, had 
an equal right to bequeath his hunting ground and his personal ef- 
fects in his own line.*" Similarly, among the Blackfoot the habita~ 
tion was considered the property of the woman.*!* But among the 
tribes of the forest and of the northern latitudes, the crushing 

harshness of existence elevated the status of the man and reduced 
the woman to an increasingly subordinate role, so that often she 
lacked the property rights which were granted to her sex by the 
peoples of more temperate regions. In the process she lost all ves- 
tiges of individuality and could be treated with the utmost harsh- 
ness. 

In this respect, even though they recognized a woman's right to 
dispose of personal property,*'® the Chipewyan exceeded in 
cruelty the other peoples of the Shield. They imposed on their 
women the most laborious tasks, obliging them during the tribal 
migrations, which lasted nine months every year, to transport the 
heavy belongings of the men, so that the latter might be free to 
hunt game. Any failure on their part was punished without pity. 
Excessive use of snowshoes soon deformed their posture, and by 
the age of thirty, worn out prematurely by fatigue and mother- 
hood, they had lost all appearance of youth."’? The Chipewyan 
were in the habit of fighting over women—married or 
otherwise—with no respect for their personal freedom, and carry- 
ing them off by main force, against their will, to serve as virtual 
slaves in supporting them in their wanderings.*** The same lack of 
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humanitarian sentiments was demonstrated by the scanty compas- 
sion they displayed for the weakness of the old and the infirm, 
whom they habitually left to die in the bare spaces of the Barren 
Grounds when they could not follow the tribe on its hurried 
marches.*" It also emerged in their tendency to ridicule the suffer- 
ings of those who could not endure the effects of cold.*?° Far from 
taking pity on the weak, they subjected them to violence, and, ac- 
cording to Mgr. Taché, they treated widows and orphans with the 
same meanness of spirit.*?! One cannot dismiss such an attitude 
simply by attributing it to the experience of privations which dul- 
led all humanitarian sentiments. It is true that the Yellowknives 
and the Loucheux treated women with no greater consideration.“ 
But though the life of the Slaves, the Hares, and the Dogribs in- 
volved sufferings as severe as those endured by the Chipewyan, 
they neither treated their women so barbarously nor burdened 
them with such exhausting tasks. If they often destroyed female 
infants at birth, it was to spare them the privations inherent in the 
life of such a deprived land—and also to husband the family’s 
supplies of food.*?* To this practice, as we have seen, a number of 
commentators attributed the stationary population of the 
Slaves.** 

The tribes of the southerly latitudes displayed more humane at- 
titudes. Among them, the practice of infanticide did not exist. In 
David Thompson’s view, the barbarity of the Chipewyan would 
have aroused the disapproval of the Woods Cree,**® who were as 
considerate as the Peace River Beaver of the old and the infirm,*** 
who neglected widows and women of advanced age only if they 
had been barren,**” and who took care not to abandon orphans.*** 

On the prairie, women escaped the hard duty of transporting 
goods, and enjoyed special attentions during the period of 
childbearing. Sometimes the men actually helped them in carrying 
out the less pleasant tasks.*** It is difficult not to attribute such dif 
ferences to the more advantageous way of life among these tribes. 

Yet, though the condition of women undoubtedly improved as 
one went from the Barren Grounds to the prairie, they were still, 

in all three zones of the North West, relegated to tasks of an in- 

ferior order.**° The very nomadic existence of the western peoples 
reserved for men the more elevated role of the hunter, alone re- 

sponsible for feeding the family, and this left to the women such 
functions as the preparation of skins and meat, the making of 
pemmican, the collection and carrying of firewood, and the trans- 
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port of water for domestic needs.**! Even among the Woods Cree, 
known for their humanity,‘ or among the Ojibwa,*** the women 
were condemned —just as among the Chipewyan—to carrying the 
family’s goods, setting up its camp, making its snowshoes, and 
ceaselessly looking after all the various details of material exis- 
tence, so that in the eyes of Europeans they seemed no better than 
“wretched slaves.’’*"* 

To make matters worse, the carrying out of all the tasks that 

were imposed on them allowed no interruption, and as a conse- 
quence the only way of allowing for maternity was the practice of 
polygamy. This necessity arose as much on the prairie as in the 
forest, but above all in the region of the Barren Grounds, where 

the hunter could only carry out his task and keep on wandering if 
he had the help of several women.**® For this reason women be- 
came the objects of trade and, if they were not carried off by force, 
went to the highest bidder,**® so that the acquisition of wives had 
very little to do with the usual preoccupations of conjugality.*"” 
The Hares, the Dogribs, the Slaves, may have shown relative con- 
sideration toward their women, but they disputed possession of 
them as violently as the Chipewyan,*** and with an acrimony due 
to the reduction of the female population by the practice of infan- 
ticide. Thus polygamy was a general custom in the North West: 
among the Ojibwa, Alexander Henry tells us that the chief whose 
daughter he married was endowed with four wives, of whom 
three were sisters,**" and this number was often exceeded;** 
among the Woods Cree, a man was generally accompanied by four 
or five women;** as to the Indians of the extreme north, the scan- 
tiness and uncertainty of their resources often prevented them in- 
dividually from keeping a great number of wives,** but the best 
hunters could assemble a cohort as impressive as the file of seven 
“grenadiers” belonging to Chief Matonabbee, the companion of 
Samuel Hearne.*** Nowhere in the nomad societies of the West, 
among whom the woman was incapable of playing as effective a 
role as the man in maintaining the family, could she claim the 
same rank as her sisters among the sedentary peoples of the Great 
Lakes, who showed them a consideration proportionate to the use- 
fulness of their functions in the economy of the tribe, and who 
gave them a place of honor in their system of government.‘ 

Yet though the Indian of the West accorded his wife only a sub- 
ordinate status, though he bullied and sometimes treated her 
cruelly, he showed a boundless affection for his children, which 
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his wife shared. The first missionaries noted an unrestrained depth 
of feeling in this direction among the primitive people of the St. 
Lawrence, but the observations of the Récollets and the Jesuits in 
that region differed in no way from those of James Isham, Andrew 
Graham, or Samuel Hearne in the West. Both groups remarked 
on the reluctance of the Indians to inflict on children the reprimands 
or punishments their whims or misdemeanors might deserve, 
and on the sorrow they displayed on losing a son or a daughter, 
which, however, was quickly allayed by the adoption or birth of a 
new child.“* If a boy showed a special aptitude for hunting, he 
gained the right to every kind of consideration and favor.**? The In- 
dian parent systematically avoided corporal punishments; in his 
view, these could injure his son’s pride and therefore his future 

as a warrior,*** and in any case such chastisements seemed to him 

acts against nature.“"* And though the prairie peoples’ pas- 
sion for games of chance could lead them to sacrifice almost 
everything—weapons, clothing, horses—they avoided risking 
things that were necessary for the well-being of their children, 

such as axes needed for cutting wood to protect them from the 
cold and kettles used in preparing their food.**° Even the Chipe- 
wyan, so little inclined to compassion for their neighbors, devoted 
to their children as much tenderness as the prairie peoples,**! and 
the other tribes of the extreme north*” were no exceptions to this 
common law which rules emotional reactions in primitive 
societies. 

Though they were accustomed to such excessive indulgence, 
the children do not seem, on reaching the age of reason, to have 

abused the affection directed toward them. They were generally 
receptive to their parents’ advice and to the instructions of the el- 
ders, whose example and teaching constituted their only educa- 
tion. They grew up under the tutelage of the old men, who for this 
reason assumed an importance in native societies that explains 
their traditionalist and conservative character.“** The child re- 
spected their wishes and suggestions, imitated their actions and at- 
titudes, assumed their gravity, and received from them the know- 

ledge that would guide him in his future roles of hunter and war- 
rior.*** Later on, the training to which the boys were submitted 

reinforced the knowledge they had imbibed from the words of the 
elders and from their evocation of the past of the tribe. Especially 
among the prairie peoples, with their warlike preoccupations, the 
youths were early subjected to a strict schooling. They were in- 
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ured to extreme temperatures, broken in to the fatigue of marches 
and horse rides, accustomed to the pain of wounds which the 

plains Indians habitually inflicted on themselves when their rela- 
tives died, and trained in the ruses which taught them to evade 
enemy attacks and to strike without direct confrontation.*** 

At the same time, by virtue of the examples they saw around 
them, they were imbued with the code of morality which ani- 
mated native society and which, when one compares it with the 
ideals and teachings of Christianity, was governed by principles no 
less severe, based on obedience to one’s parents, reverence for the 
elders, veneration for the “medicine bundles” and their magic 
power, respect for the personal dignity of the individual, condem- 
nation of robbery, treason, and false witness, and exaltation of 
courage and of the duty to protect women and children.*** Not all 
the tribes attached an equal importance to these various elements 
of the moral code. Lacking in respect for old people and disin- 
clined to protect the weak, the Chipewyans placed greater value 
on individual honesty and especially condemned the practice of 
theft,*"” while the peoples of the prairie set great store on the war- 
rior’s qualities of bravery and self-sacrifice, which they elevated 
above all other criteria when choosing their chiefs.*** At the same 
time, from the prairie to the Barren Grounds, every tribe had a 
certain number of rules to which its members submitted spon- 
taneously and to which their conduct conformed.*** 

Sometimes the collectivity intervened to guarantee good order 
and morality in the tribe by applying disciplinary sanctions to 
transgressors. For example, among the prairie peoples at the time 
of their summer gatherings, the “military societies” administered 
justice and imposed penalties proportionate to the guilt of each of- 
fender; crimes like murder, assault, or the theft of horses involved 
punishments that might go as far as the death penalty." Some- 
times, having satisfied his desire for personal revenge against his 
enemies, an Indian would immediately hand over to the camp the 
responsibility to judge his conduct, and would accept the verdict 
pronounced by the collectivity, no matter how severe.*®! 
Among these groups which had no regular tribunals, however, 

it was more often the individual or the family that in their own 
way redressed offences or crimes of which they had been victims, 
following a system of compensation mutually agreed between 
both parties.*** Even in the event of murder, the injured family 
would reserve to itself the pursuit of revenge. Its members might 
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decide to kill the murderer, or they might be content with fixing 
an appropriate compensation, generally consisting of payment by 
the guilty party or his close relatives of goods sufficient to indem- 
nify the victim’s family.*® Similarly, it was the individual who 
had the right to see that justice was done in cases of adultery. 
Among the prairie peoples, the penalty of death was often inflicted 
on the offenders. If the woman were spared, she would be 
pitilessly beaten by her husband or marked on the face with a 
mutilation that would be the visible sign of her guilt.“ Among 
the Ojibwa, the society of the Midewiwin offered an ideal in 
which honor was combined with piety; teaching that the length of 
each man’s existence is related to the rightness of his conduct, this 
society condemned theft, lying, and drunkenness, but the only ac- 
tion it pursued against transgressors was to predict that the lives of 
the guilty would be shortened by their own errors,*** In most 
cases, the Indians willingly obeyed the laws that governed their 
tribe; accustomed since childhood to a docility unaccompanied by 
constraint, they were naturally submissive to the restrictions em- 
bodied in their society’s code of morals. 

Yet this docility did not diminish the strongly independent side 
of the Indian character. In nomadism and the liberty it implies 
there is an incitement to break free, and the Indian’s individualist 
temperament was not only animated by his spontaneous inclina~ 
tions, but reinforced by the teachings of the elders and the exam- 

ples of his peers, so that he hated servitude and resisted any exces- 
sively strict discipline.*% This individualism was modified only by 
economic dependence on the whites and by the need for collective 
discipline which on occasion the conditions of the nomad life 
might impose. This explains why the Indian concept of authority 
always remained incomplete, and why the powers of their chiefs 
were always dependent on the voluntary obedience of the people 
and limited to provisional time-spans. Thus the mechanism on 
which the moral code of the Indians was founded functioned as a 
natural response to their habits and inclinations. On the whole, it 
was well ordered. The individual redressing of wrongs and 
crimes, and the general recourse to compensatory indemnities 
worked as efficiently among them as the decisions of tribunals in a 
more elaborately organized society. 

It is true that such a conception of morality was accompanied by 
a number of customs and ideas that were peculiar to the Indian 
peoples, and Europeans, when they tried to relate these to their 
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own view of life, often distorted their character and exaggerated 
their importance. For example, the Indians did not regard marital 
fidelity with the strictness that the missionaries sought to impart. 
If the prairie peoples, as well as the Sarcee and the Chipewyan, be- 
haved toward their wives with great severity,*°’ while exempting 
men from the same restrictions of behavior,*** other groups 
showed a broad degree of tolerance in this area. To the strictness of 
the Chipewyan, Samuel Hearne contrasted the indulgence of the 
Cree, about whom James Isham for his part noted in 1743 that they 
were ‘‘prone to all manner of lewdness and vices,” and that the 
girls among them rarely retained their virginities beyond the age 
of thirteen or fourteen.“ In their eyes adultery was not a sin or 
chastity a virtue.*”° If a husband occasionally punished an erring 
wife, it was because she provoked his annoyance by not asking his 
permission.*’! As for the tribes of Great Bear Lake, they seem to 
have attached little importance to the fidelity of their spouses .*7 
The strictest among them would punish adultery, not in the name 
of any principle of morality, but because they were jealous of their 
freedom to maintain or to surrender at will the property rights 
they claimed in their wives.*”* Even the Chipewyan, severe as they 
were, appeared to Europeans “hardly fastidious about the honour 
of their women.’’** They did not hesitate openly to authorize 
adultery, and they differed from the more amenable Cree and 
Blackfoot—who were always ready to interpret the law of hospi- 
tality as requiring the offer of their wives to strangers*”»—only by 
a more active jealousy and a sharper sense of property, which gave 
their society an appearance of being better behaved. 

In fact, among all these groups, looseness in sexual relations was 
inevitable. It derived not only from a different view of individual 
morality, but also from the very nature of Indian marriage. For, 
though this did not exclude mutual affection between spouses ,*”* 
and examples of marital fidelity were not lacking,*”’ especially 
when the birth of children had strengthened the mutual links ,*”* 
broken marriages were frequent happenings. This was largely be- 
cause the women were married at such an early age that after a 
short time their affections were inclined to wander; in many cases 
they were happy to renounce attachments regarding which— 
outside the prairie tribes*””—they were frequently not con- 
sulted.**° The ease with which separations were made and new un- 
ions formed predisposed the women to an extreme looseness of 
morals,**' aggravated in some tribes by the inhuman harshness of 
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the lives they had to lead. The aversion they often developed to- 
ward the men who treated them with so little consideration en- 
couraged them to embark on illicit relationships. On such occa- 
sions it was only the fear of punishment or—more rarely —of the 
shame of social disapproval, that might hold them back, and they 
remained attached to their husbands only through their affection 
for the children they bore. Governor Simpson said of the Chipe- 
wyan women that they “were not celebrated for their continence, 
even altho’ the vigilance of the Husbands cannot be surpassed.’"*** 
At the same time, the Indian custom of accepting illegitimate chil- 
dren into their society without regarding their origin as a degrad- 
ing blemish*** resulted in the encouragement of extramarital 
liaisons. It was natural, in such arcumstances, that the native 

women should enter willingly into relationships with Europeans, 
with the consistent exception of those of the Beaver tribe, whose 

religious principles alienated them from all sexual contact with 
whites, and who from the very beginning of European penetration 
into their area showed an aversion in this respect that was shared 
by neither the Chipewyan nor the Cree nor any of the prairie 
tribes .** 

Distant as they were in such matters from the concepts of Chris- 
tianity, the Indians were even farther removed from white at- 

titudes in their ideas of warlike courage. All the tribes exalted in- 
dividual bravery; all saw it as an essential element in the choice ofa 

chief. At the same time most of them left among Europeans an 
impression of their cowardice, and this impression has some jus- 
tification, Yet it would be unfair because of it to ignore the real 
role that personal courage played among the Indians. Indeed it 
seemed to them a characteristic so natural that they attached less 
importance to it than to such matters as self-control and to the abil- 
ity to elaborate “invisible and patient” ruses designed to take the 
enemy by surprise.**° Such warlike practices, which remind one of 
those among the nomads of the Asian steppe, were already noted 
by Champlain and Frere Sagard among the peoples of the St. 
Lawrence.**® Among the tribes of the prairie as well as the Shield, 
war was a matter of raids and surprises to be accomplished with- 
out harm to the aggressor and to end with the theft of coveted 
property or with the massacre of the adversary. Only if these ex~ 
pectations were fulfilled could the Indian take pride in his 
achievements and claim among the members of his tribe the repute 
of a proven warrior. 
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Because the peoples of the prairie had no idea of rational breed- 
ing methods,‘*” they were forced, when they wanted to renew 
their supply of remounts, to plunder the animals of hostile tribes, 
organizing frequent expeditions against camps well supplied with 
horses. But such enterprises were only regarded as warlike 
exploits if they were carried out in silence, preferably at night, and 
without arousing the enemy’s attention, and if they involved seiz- 
ing the horses on the edges of the camp where they were tethered 
and watched.*** The success of such nocturnal expeditions un- 
doubtedly required on the part of those who undertook them not 
only a personal courage that did not shrink from the perils to 
which they exposed themselves, but also a meticulous control of 
movements and of the smallest reflexes, a total mastery of the war- 
like guile needed to deceive the enemy and to avoid arousing the 
suspicion of his sentries, and a rigorous discipline to which all par- 
ticipants abdicated their customary independence. Sometimes an 
expedition would be motivated less by the desire for revenge than 
by the thought of effacing the sorrow of families stricken in earlier 
wars, and its aim would be to attack the enemy and carry off scalps 
for distribution among the mourning families. On such occasions 
the methods never varied; the attack would be made by surprise, 

usually at daybreak when the camp would be off guard; once the 
enemy had been overwhelmed, the retreat would be immediate, 

covered by such ruses as firing the grass of the prairie to eliminate 
all trace of the direction taken by the aggressors."** 

Thus the qualities of the ideal warrior consisted of courage, 
self-mastery, guile, and physical vigor. This explains the very re- 
stricted character of the enterprises we describe as wars, which 

were in fact carried out by small parties of men who gathered vol- 
untarily under the leadership of freely accepted chiefs to steal the 
enemy's property or win his scalps.“ But though this warfare 
carried out by the prairie peoples may have been intermittent and 
not very costly to the attackers, it did not exclude the possibility of 
open encounters and clashes ,‘"" and it created a state of permanent 
insecurity on the plains, so that the tribes could move about only 
in large groups.**? This was particularly the case with the tribes of 
the Blackfoot Confederacy, who were threatened by enemies on 
all their borders, and also with the Ojibwa, and later on with the 

Red River Métis when they exposed themselves to attack by the 
Sioux in the no-man’s land in American territory where they ven- 
tured in pursuit of the herds of bison. 
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The peoples of the Shield, on the other hand, did not have to 

maintain the same kind of vigilance; the dispersion of population 
in their territory rendered it unnecessary. For them also war was a 
matter of expeditions by small parties, of surprise attacks at dawn 
on isolated groups and never of open confrontations."®’ They 
avoided fighting with groups that were aware of their approach or 
numerous enough to defend themselves,** and with a mixture 
of barbarity and cowardice, justified by their peculiar criteria of 
warlike exploits, they massacred women and children indiscrimi- 

nately. In the narrative of Samuel Hearne, examples abound of 
odious attacks by the Chipewyans on parties of Eskimos, who had 
no firearms and, without distinction of age or sex, succumbed to 

the cruelty of their better-armed neighbors.‘ 
Ifthe Chipewyan were especially inclined to such inhuman prac- 

tices, other peoples, such as the Cree of the Hudson Bay shoreline, 
the Yellowknives, the Slaves, and the Ojibwa showed no greater 

mercy for the enemies they took by surprise.**° Thus the relatively 
peaceful way of life among the forest tribes appears to have been 
derived less from a natural inclination than from the scantiness of 
the contacts they made with neighboring tribes. The Woods Cree 
were perhaps more humane, for according to Peter Fidler they 
spared the lives of young women and of some of the children, in- 
corporating them into their families or reducing them to slav- 
ery.*"” On occasion the tribes of the prairie confederacy also spared 
the lives of some of their prisoners, giving them to families who 
wished to adopt them in place of members they had lost. Yet the 
same peoples did not hesitate to slaughter children, and if one of 
their war parties failed in an enterprise, the tribe took its revenge 
on the prisoners it had made and killed them without mercy .*%* 

Inevitably, the habitual use of guile, which the Indians them- 
selves saw as an attribute of personal valor, tended to degenerate 
among them into duplicity, and it is impossible to deny that this 
became a familiar aspect of their character.“* They themselves 
condemned duplicity when it was practised within the group and 
threatened its cohesion, but they accepted it when it was a matter 
of taking the enemy ata disadvantage by betraying his trust.°" Of- 
ten, for example, they pretended to accept offers of peace from 
their enemies merely to be in a position to strike at them more ef- 
fectively. Alexander Henry the Younger portrays the Cree in 1810 
preparing to attack the prairie confederacy by taking advantage of 
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the peace negotiations the latter had initiated with them,°” and 
such examples of double-dealing were frequently paralleled in the 
relations between the Sioux and the Ojibwa. Even when it had no 
serious cause, the enmity which the Indians harbored for their foes 

was too deep and too tenacious for any tribe to renounce sincerely 
the desire to pursue it to the bitter end. Once hostility had been 
established, usually as a result of the hazards of migration, which 
might lead a tribe to enter new territory or to trespass on regions 
well known for their abundance of game, it would be relieved 
only by brief truces, and would come to an end only in the absorp- 
tion of the weaker of the two antagonists by the more powerful, as 
in the partial incorporation of the Beaver into the Cree, or by the 
conclusion of an alliance, like that between the Cree and the As- 

siniboine, based on common interests and a fear of the same adver- 
sary. 

Hatred remained long engraved on the Indian heart.* Such 
persistence characterized the individual intent on gratifying his 
personal resentments as much as the collectivity pursuing its hos- 
tility against an enemy tribe, for the collective reactions were 
merely the amplified reproduction of those of the individual.** 
Just as the warrior watched patiently for the moment to surprise 
his enemy, so an ordinary Indian would wait with equal patience 
for the opportunity to take his revenge on anyone who had of- 
fended him.'” Far from betraying his feelings by his behavior, he 
would deceive his adversary with an easy and familiar manner, 
converse with him amiably while planning his destruction, and 
smoke in his company until the very moment for action.** If he 
got the worse of the encounter, he would not hesitate before the 

cowardly killing of his rival in an ambush.°** “They may seem to 
forgive,” David Thompson remarked: “‘they defer revenge to a 
more convenient opportunity.”°°? This obstinacy in bearing 
grudges forced the Europeans to be constantly circumspect in their 
behavior. A wrongly understood gesture, or a wound inflicted by 
accident, would be enough to make an Indian ignore all reasonable 
argument and immediately pursue with his hatred the white man 
he considered responsible.** Incapable of transcending the stage of 
thinking collectively and unable to differentiate the individual 
from the group, the Indian would include within his resentment 

the relatives and congeners of the person he thought had offended 
him, and would often set out to take his revenge on all the white 
men chance might put in his way.°” 



The Human Environment 77 

The Indian’s power of dissimulation, which Champlain had al- 
ready noted in 1603,°"° and his capacity to control his reactions in- 
definitely, were the expressions of his introverted temperament, 
so different from the open nature and expansive speech of the 
black races, characteristics which have notably facilitated their 

adaptation to white customs and attitudes.*"' This introversion 
explains why Europeans who passed long years among the Indians 
began by seeing them as beings devoid of sensibility, and entirely 
alien to the white man’s spontaneity of reaction. “They appear to 
an Englishman morose, insensitive and much on the reserve.’’** 
Sometimes their ‘cold and phlegmatic’*!’ temperament com- 
municated itself to Europeans who were habitually in their com- 
pany.*"* It was seldom indeed that the Indian, so hostile to exuber- 
ance,*!® displayed the vexation he felt at the failure of enterprises 
whose success was close to his heart.°'® Rarely did he express the 
sorrow he felt on being separated from his relatives or friends, or 
his joy at meeting them again after a long absence.*!” 

But this apparent impassivity concealed a deep and ardent inner 
life, affections as urgent as those of white men,*'* and equally vio- 
lent passions,*"® whose expression in rare and unusual cir~ 

cumstances**° showed no lack of sincerity or spontaneity. In inti- 
mate circumstances, the Indian enjoyed conversation,**! showing a 

lively interest in tales of marvels punctuated by supernatural inter- 
ventions,*** and on such occasions his external gravity would be 
tempered by a lively taste for jesting,®® in which his powers of 
observation would emerge, sharpened by intelligence, for he 
loved especially to ridicule the gestures and facial expressions of 
other people and to compare them with the animals with whose 
behavior experience had made him familiar.’ The repugnance he 
felt for lavishing attentions and expressions of affection on the 
woman he desired,*** the contempt he felt for the excessive man- 
ifestations of affection by the whites for their native wives,"° did 
not paralyse his capacity for passionate reactions, and when they 
inspired him he did not hesitate before crime, coldly planned and 
slyly accomplished.**” Samuel Hearne often described the absence 
of sensibility among the Chipewyan, yet he also tells us that their 
affection toward their closest relatives was as great as their insen- 
sitivity to the sufferings of others, and that they were profoundly 
moved by the death of parents to whom they were attached.*** We 
have already seen how, as a sign of mourning, the Indians would 

give up hunting; sometimes they would spontaneously abandon 
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or destroy all their goods—muskets, axes, kettles, and even the 
furs they had laboriously accumulated.** Nor were they indif- 
ferent to ambition or praise.°* They enjoyed the attention gained 
from their exploits as hunters and warriors, which they would de- 

scribe with great willingness,*! Some of them would even play on 
the credulity of their public by exaggerating for the sake of pres- 
tige the true or supposed revelations they had experienced in 
dreams."*? 

The women, for their part, gave free expression to their emo- 
tions, though when the need arose they were quite capable of con- 
trolling their feelings as completely as the men. The example of 
Sakakajewa, the legendary interpreter of the Lewis and Clark ex- 
pedition, is illuminating. Taken from her tribe at the age of twelve, 
she seemed to have lost the memory of her parents and friends, 
and betrayed no emotion at the news that she would soon be re- 
turned to them. But as soon as she recognized them she gave way 
to the most touching exhibition of joy,°*? without trying to repress 
the kind of emotions that an Indian would have thought unworthy 
ofa man."** Among the Cree, the peoples of Great Bear Lake, and 
the Chipewyan, whenever someone died, the women would fol- 
low a custom that still continues and abandon themselves for sev- 
eral days to lamentations and piercing cries,°** while the men re- 
mained silent. 

When they came into contact with Europeans, the attitudes 

which the Indians owed to their training and their way of thinking 
were quickly deformed, so that the judgments made on them by 
white men after several years of association tended to project the 
image of a society whose culture had been deeply changed. Their 
moral code, which worked principally because of their docile ac- 
ceptance of it, soon lost its power to restrain individual caprices. 
The restrictions it allowed rather than imposed crumbled away 
under the impact of a society whose culture was radically dif- 
fer .ent, a society in relation to which the Indian felt that he need 
no longer observe the rules that had been conceived in terms of his 
tribal life and shaped to act within its framework.*** All too soon, 

the young people, in their anxiety to imitate the whites, neglected 
the teachings of the elders and picked up a way of speaking whose 
crudeness was alien to those who did not grow up near the trading 
posts,**” All too soon, as well, the men began to condone every 
kind of liberty in the relations between their wives and daughters 
and the employees of the posts; the example of the whites quickly 
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led them to succumb to the temptations of personal interest, and in 
the hope of gain they did not hesitate to encourage the prostitution 
of their womenfolk.*** Following a practice that became general 
around the trading posts,"* the Cree actually encouraged the 
women to give themselves to the whites in exchange for 
supplementary rations of alcohol."*° Despite their severity, even 
the Chipewyan were mercenary enough to dabble in this trade; ac- 
cording to Samuel Hearne, when their women visited the Euro- 
pean establishments, they lost all restraint.°*' The Blackfoot and 
their allies also took advantage of a practice that often compen- 
sated them for unproductive hunting, enabling them to obtain by 
means of shameless prostitution the trade goods they desired.” 
Everywhere in the North West the native tribes, with the sole ex- 
ception of the Beaver,*** went out of their way to facilitate such 

relations, and, except in the cases of abuse and violence, which 

could incur cruel reprisals on the whites ,** the sanctions which the 
Indians customarily applied in their own societies ceased to operate 
when it was a matter of this kind of trade, which they themselves 
so often solicited. 

The Indians were highly conscious of the white men’s wealth, 
which they contrasted to their own poverty, and they were 
equally aware of the value the traders placed on the furs which na- 
tive people could supply and the greed with which they sought 
them out. Thus, in their relations with Europeans, the Indians de- 

veloped a highly mercenary attitude.**® With the Chipewyans, 
their natural acquisitiveness was exaggerated, and to get anything 
they wanted they would willingly cast aside all the rules they re- 
spected in their tribal life. Their duplicity was cynically paraded.** 
In their relations with Europeans, theft ceased to be a reprehensi- 
ble practice,” and spread rapidly even within their own soci- 
ety."* They lost all scruples as they gladly deceived the whites 
with imaginary tales whose fabrication out of whole cloth was a 
further manifestation of their double-dealing.**® For this reason 
the Hudson's Bay Company’s agents were continually picturing 
them as a two-faced, lying race, who flattered shamelessly to ob- 

tain better terms to the detriment of the traders’ profits, who 
lacked all sense of gratitude, and who took as their due any favors 

they received. Thus in 1743 James Isham made this judgment of 
the Cree: “‘a crafty sort of people, cheating, stealing and lying,” 
“the more you give, the more they Crave,”"**° clever at manipulat- 
ing the competition between rival companies to raise the price of 
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their furs,°*! always ready to forget the benefits they received, but 
never forgiving the injuries they suffered.*** The coastal Cree, not 
content with having their subsistence guaranteed by the Hudson's 
Bay Company, refused without extra payment to hunt the game 
needed by the posts or to transport the mail from one post to 
another.’** In August 1764 a group of them brought the officer in 
charge of Fort Albany the still bleeding scalps of four French trad- 
ers whom they had killed in the hope of gaining further re- 
wards.*** Yet the Cree, like the Beaver,®® were by nature less 
mercenary than the Chipewyan, and often, in spite of the egotisti- 

cal mentality which they acquired through their association with 
the whites, would still receive Europeans with a friendly and 
generous hospitality .°°° Among the Chipewyan the faults that can 
be attributed to the breakdown of their culture®*” were aggravated 
by their natural tendencies. In the days before the Hudson’s Bay 
Company was able to impose on them its own conditions, George 
Simpson denounced their extreme covetousness, their falseness 
and cowardice, their duplicity and vindictiveness, describing them 

is ““covetous to an extreme, false and cowardly, treacherous and 
revengeful.””*** As for the Ojibwa and the peoples of the prairie, 
they often degenerated into petty beggars,**® and Simpson consi- 
dered that there was not a single Indian one could not buy from his 
allegiance with the gift of an extra blanket.**° Only the Indians of 
the far North, whom the dispersion of the posts brought into less 
frequent contact with Europeans, appear to have kept their origi- 
nal cultures intact for any length of time,**! though even they were 
often accused of lying and duplicity.**? 

At the same time, the Indians felt in their relations with white 
men the suspicious timidity of primitive man in the presence of a 
more civilized being, whose degree of evolution enabled him to 
assert his superiority despite the scanty number of his representa- 
tives. All the groups realized how dependent they were on the 
European posts. Even the prairie tribes were unable to remain 
completely free of their tutelage; too accustomed to the alcohol 
and tobacco that were distributed to them, they reconciled them- 
selves to the minimum of work necessary to acquire such com- 
modities. Even this gave them a feeling of inferiority that made 
them extremely sensitive in their relations with those who domi- 
nated them in this way. Fanned by their natural pride, such feel- 
ings made them exaggerate the offensiveness of an attitude or the 
awkwardness of a word,'** and distorted their view of European 
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intentions. In excessive indulgence they saw weakness that might 
be exploited; in excessive severity, injustice to be resented. Hence, 

when they were face to face with whites they displayed those im- 
mediately defensive reactions that called for a profound know- 
ledge of the indigenous psychology among the men in charge of 
the trading posts. More submissive by nature than their prairie 
counterparts, the peoples of the forest endured the humiliations 
which the whites imposed on them in deriding their beliefs and 
practices. Yet some of them opened up rather timidly to David 
Thompson. ‘You white men always laugh and treat with con- 
tempt what we have heard and learned from our fathers, and why 
should we expose ourselves to be laughed at?’** This feeling of 

being humiliated was all the more painful for them since they were 
privately convinced of their own superiority®® over these new- 
comers who, despite the higher achievements of their culture, 

were unable to face the hostile natural conditions of the North 
West as successfully as the native people with their more modest 
means. Sometimes they countered the contempt the whites 
showed for them by striving to demonstrate their own superior- 
ity, and then they would hide their timidity under a show of over- 
confidence in their own strength that ended in boastfulness. Some- 
times their means of self-defence was to cling all the more strongly 
to their traditional beliefs, whose higher nature the immorality of 
some of the whites seemed to demonstrate.°* Or they would turn 

the tables by ridiculing the effeminate practices of the whites, 
which they did in trenchant jests; excellent observers of human na- 

ture as they were, they quickly detected the weaknesses of the 
white man who could not control his responses, and they were not 
easily deceived by a display of feigned courage."*” 

It is true that, being essentially emotional in their responses, 
they soon abandoned their preconceptions and let themselves be 
won over by anyone who knew how to impose on them or who 
could win their confidence with a clever word or a touching ges- 
ture and dissipate their feeling of inferiority by playing on their 
vanity. “I know by experience that good usage and dealing justly 
and honestly with them will gain their esteem,’’ wrote Andrew 
Graham in 1771, “and when once a factor has ingratiated himself 
with them he may sit easy. A free open countenance they love, but 
a morose ill natured person they despise and name him the de- 
vil.”5°* The clerk Duncan Finlayson, who kept the Edmonton 
journal in 1823 and 1824, flattered himself that he could get the 
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better of the proudest-natured among the peoples of the prairie by 
nothing more than his free and easy way of conversation,*®® and 
George Keith, reporting from Fort Chipewyan in 1825-6, in 
every way confirmed this judgment.°”° But the Indians were quick 
to change their minds, and some unexpected turn of events might 
at once transform their attitudes. Only an officer well acquainted 
with their character and accustomed to their company, like John 
Rowand, the chief factor of Fort Edmonton, could be confident of 
controlling their responses. From their incessant shifts of mood as 
well as the irregularity of their activities,°”! the Europeans gained 
the impression of an unrelieved capriciousness as the dominant In- 
dian characteristic. Their way of thinking, in which weak bursts of 
energy would be terminated by moods of discouragement,’”* 
made them unfitted, as Champlain had observed,*”’ for anything 
that demanded real steadfastness of intent, whether it was a ques- 

tion of lengthy campaigns?’ or, we have observed already, of ex- 
peditions of discovery, Yet one should not generalize exces- 
sively;*” if their fickleness of mood notably reduced their useful- 
ness in the service of the white men, they were nevertheless quite 
capable of showing energy and perseverance when their own sub- 
sistence was at stake, or when, as prisoners of a victorious tribe, 
they endured heroically the tortures inflicted on captives. Even the 
successful carrying out of the surprise attacks they plotted against 
their enemies presupposed qualities that hardly matched the cap- 
riciousness of which they were accused—a capriciousness whose 
manifestations would in any case have been less frequent if the 
blunders and follies of the whites had not so often provoked them. 

The character of the Indians, as it emerges from the insights of- 
fered by the most trustworthy observers, is a complex mixture of 
spontancous responses, partly dictated by the conditions of their 
existence and partly by a psychology whose pedigree is obscure, 
and of reflexes resulting from their contacts with the whites and 
from the gradual disintegration of the indigenous culture. Un- 
doubtedly the general characteristics we tend to attribute to the 
tribes of the North West must be modified to accord with the 
special natures of the peoples inhabiting the three various zones. 
But such local variations do not appear to have altered the underly- 
ing common characteristics which were shared by all the different 
groups. At one extreme we have noticed among the prairie 
peoples a haughty temperament which the whites never succeeded 
in subduing.” Certainly the pride of the Indian declined in the 
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more deprived regions of the Shield,*”? and even when he re- 
mained inwardly convinced of his own superiority, he accepted 
the ascendancy of the white man and showed a greater external 
humility than his congeners of the plains. At the same time, the 
introverted aspect of his temperament became more and more 
evident. To the comparative vivaciousness of the Cree and the 
Beaver,’ one can contrast, for example, the more sober attitude 

of the Chipewyan and the northern tribes,°”? who were further 
distinguished by their relative lack of the taste for external finery 
that was so developed among the Ojibwa and the Blackfoot,’*” 
and by their preference for simple clothing." It is likely that the 
crushing difficulties of their material life were not unrelated to 
these difterences."** Yet in general the indigenous mentality found 
expression in remarkably similar reactions, which created virtually 
identical problems for the whites who lived among them and 
which one cannot avoid relating to the mentality of the peoples of 
the St. Lawrence as recorded in the patient observations and fine 
analyses of the Jesuit fathers in the seventeenth century ."** 
Among all these groups, regardless of their habitat, contact with 

the whites provoked the same effects, produced the same distor- 
tions, and exaggerated the less honorable sides of their characters. 
Above all, the white men debased the native people and under- 
mined the foundations of their culture by abusing the distribution 
of alcohol, a practice to which the traders resorted because of the 
irresistible attraction that liquor held for primitive men, who were 
incapable of understanding its effects or of curbing their desire for 
it. The demoralizing effects of alcoholism are so well known that 
it is pointless to insist on them. Around the trading posts, the 
availability of intoxicating liquors very soon became a source of 
criminal disorders, which followed exactly the same course as the 
missionaries had recorded on the St. Lawrence, ending often in 
mutilation or murder.*** Alcohol became a corrupting element in 
native society, unsettling its morality and ruining its organization, 
Regarding the Ojibwa, S. H. Long tells us in 1823 that they had 
lost any kind of national cohesion through the effects of alcohol ."** 
Among the Woods Cree, vice and prostitution became general, 
and the Indians gave themselves to the worst excesses, abandoning 
all self-respect. In 1743 James Isham declared that it would be im- 
possible to abolish the distribution of alcohol without risking the 
destruction of the fur trade, yet he deplored that drink had been 
introduced among these people who had no understanding of 
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crime, and he attributed to this cause the demoralization they suf- 
fered: “Now there are some few that drink none, what may be cal- 

led virtuous women.”*** The northern tribes soon succumbed to 
the contagion, but perhaps more slowly, because of the later 
penetration of the whites, for Isham in the same report contrasts to 
the abandon of the Cree the more seemly behavior of the “North- 
ern Indians,” among whom the ravages of alcohol had not yet 
spread.**” Yet when contact had become more broadly established 
and the competition between the trading companies had given the 
Indians the means of freely satisfying their passion, George 
Simpson could observe even among the Beaver the pernicious ef- 
fects of alcoholism.*** 

Moreover, alcoholism added to the breakup of morality a 
physiological degeneration that immediately made its appearance 
among the coastal Cree, who were too intimately associated with 

the life of the posts they provided with victuals not to suffer more 
directly than other Indians the harm that resulted from drinking. 
Accustomed to asking for rations of alcohol in payment for their 
services, and to trade only for liquor the skins in excess of their 
needs in ammunition,** the “Home Indians” were soon reduced 

to a state of debility that shortened their lives and weakened them 
to the point where they could no longer endure the rigors of the 
arctic climate.*** For this reason the Hudson’s Bay Company soon 
imposed a limit on such excessive distributions.*?' The Woods 
Cree would have fallen to the same level if, instead of passing the 
greater part of the year at a distance from the trading establish- 
ments, they had lived in their immediate neighborhood, for their 

mentality was no different from that of the “Home Indians”; if 

they had a surplus of skins at their disposal, they would ignore the 
advice of the officers in the forts, and refuse to exchange their pelts 
for any goods but alcohol.*”? Though less gravely affected, they 
too suffered the usual effects of alcoholism on the human or- 
ganism.°"* [t was the same with the prairie tribes,°® with the dif- 
ference that the ravages of drink increased as the conditions of life 
became more precarious and periods of undernourishment 
weakened the body and made it more vulnerable. The Chipewyan 
and the peoples of the Barren Grounds would have suffered the 
effects of alcoholism more drastically even than the Cree by reason 
of their particularly difficult life if it had not been for their special 
circumstances. The former were too economically minded to give 
up valuable merchandise for alcohol and too sensible to submit to 
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the terms imposed by the Hudson’s Bay Company,*** and the lat- 
ter were less subjected to the disastrous effects of drink because of 
the smaller number of trading posts established in their unproduc- 
tive territories. 

The effects of alcoholism were augmented by those of the con- 
tagious diseases introduced by the whites, which were all the more 
virulent because of the Indians’ lack of immunization; this combi- 

nation of causes explains why European penetration resulted in a 
rapid fall in the populations of the indigenous tribes.” Tuber- 
culosis came first,*** and spared no tribe, but it spread most nota- 
bly among the peoples who were weakened by intoxicating 
liquors or by the hazards of their material life: the Ojibwa and the 
Beaver, victims of their passion for alcohol;*** the Woods and 

Coast Cree, subject to pulmonary sicknesses and scrofulous 
tumours; the Chipewyan whose heavy death rate Samuel 
Hearne and Alexander Mackenzie both attributed to the same 
evil; the Slaves, debilitated by their difficult conditions of exis- 
tence." There followed the sicknesses whose devastating 
epidemics on several occasions decimated the peoples of the West: 
measles which—accompanied by a terrible influx of whooping 
cough—cruelly attacked the tribes of the Edmonton region during 
the winter of 1819—20,°°° spreading rapidly among the Cree,°™* 
and reappearing in 1846, 1850, and 1853 on a more localized scale 
among the Indians of Norway House, the Saulteaux of the Red 
River and the tribes of New Caledonia over the Rocky Moun- 
tains;®" worst of all, smallpox, which, during the eighteenth and 
nineteenth centuries, periodically ravaged the prairie tribes, as it 
had ravaged the black races," and reached its peaks of violence in 
1781,°? in 1837—8°* (despite the precaution which the Company 
then took of vaccinating the Indians around the posts)®” and again 
in 1853, 1857, and 1870."° Peter Skene Ogden, in charge of Fort 
Vancouver, estimated in 1853 that in the last fifteen years the 

epidemic had carried off two-thirds of the warriors among the In- 
dians in his district.°"! Finally came the influenza, made particu- 
larly virulent by the sudden changes of summer temperatures on 
the shores of Hudson Bay,°! while whooping cough also exacted 
heavy tributes from Indians of all ages.°'* 

The native tribes slowly developed an immunity which helped 
them to re-establish the populations that were jeopardized by the 
first impact of the white race.*'* Until this happened, the only 
compensation they found for their own losses*’ was in the ap- 
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pearance of the Métis, who were favored like the Maori half- 
breeds of New Zealand®'® by a greater adaptability than the 
“specialized groups’’ from which they were descended,”"” 

At the same time, the native peoples in general experienced dif- 
ficulty in adjusting their ideas to the religious concepts of the 
whites, while the Métis, though they inherited the Indian ways of 
thinking and responding, were able to adopt a great many of the 
European beliefs, For the western Indian, unaccustomed to 
metaphysical speculations, religion meant mainly a respect for the 
natural forces around him, in which he believed he could see a re- 

production of his own conception of the human being. This con- 
sisted, in his view, ofa body, a soul which was located in the heart 
and which he identified with the intelligence, and finally an “im- 
age,” situated in the brain, which led the body in its wanderings 
and conveyed to the soul a perception of reality.*'* Trees, rocks, 
streams, all of them as living as animals,*' possessed the same 

faculties as human beings, also deriving them from the Great 
Spirit, the dispenser of good and ill fortune,“° who determined 
the functions and the powers of all that exists. Thus, to avoid be- 
coming alienated from the ambient forces of nature, men must 
treat them with discretion and mollify them where necessary, with 
offerings or with the intercessions of medicine men or conjurors. 

Hence derived a set of practices that found their way into the 
most habitual aspects of existence. There were the precautions ob- 
served on killing an animal or eating the food it provided, such as 
the plea addressed to it before its destruction, not to cause the 

withdrawal of animals of its species and in this way reduce the 
children to starvation. There was the observation of special taboos 
among different tribes,®*! such as the prohibition among the 
peoples of Great Bear Lake, and also the Chipewyan, against kil- 
ling and eating dogs."*® The Indians would refuse to give up alive 
to Europeans the bison they captured, lest such a transaction 
should lead the whole species to leave their hunting grounds.*** 
When they had to shoot a rapids, they would be lavish with their 
votive gifts to avert the dangers they might encounter. They ad- 
dressed invocations or made offerings to the spirits of trees.%* And 
they attributed a supernatural authority to the dreams they re- 
ceived, seeing in the vision of an animal or a bird the earnest of 

success in hunting or in battle.** 
As a consequence of such beliefs, the Indian religion was bur- 

dened with superstitious notions and practices, from which no 
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tribe was exempt, though they were especially prevalent among 
the forest Indians.®*° The custom of acquiring amulets or medicine 
bundles—miscellancous collections of symbolic objects deemed to 
give protection and fortitude —was a general practice. The role of 
the shamans"? or medicine men with their incantations became 
most important among the peoples of the woods, the Cree and 
especially the Ojibwa, who were dominated by their shamanic 
confraternity, the Midewiwin,"* and among the northern 
peoples, whose medicine men combined the roles of religious and 
political leaders. Their prestige and influence could be strong 
enough, under the pretext of a personal communication from the 
Great Spirit, to unleash attacks on the trading posts established by 
the Europeans. The situation resembled that among the Mon- 
gols, where only among the forest tribes could the shaman assume 
the sovereign role that allowed him to add royal privileges to his 
magical powers, for among the herdsmen of the steppes he had 
always to contend with the presence of a powerful aristocracy.°*! 
This overweening power of the shaman can perhaps be explained 
by the daunting impression of the powers of nature that men de- 
veloped in the forest. Fear of them led the Indians to protect them- 
selves by appealing to supernatural protection against the threats 
concealed in their environment. Among the Ojibwa and even 
more among the Cree, the very struggle they had to maintain in 
their search for sustenance demanded constant propitiatory sac~ 
rifices designed to retain the favor of the animals on which they 
depended.*** Their fear of starvation, magnified by the mysterious 
and oppressive atmosphere of the forest, became personified in a 
gigantic imaginary being, the “wittigo [wendigo], whose un- 
heralded presence was always dreaded among the families scat- 
tered through the woodland areas.*** The appearance among them 
of a strange Indian or even of a shadow which they mistook for a 
man was enough to persuade them that they were seeing the 
frightful image of the “‘wittigo demon.”*** 

Their submission to this multitude of natural forces, each of 
whose spirits they conceived as a separate deity,*** explains why, 
before the introduction of Christianity, only an evolved minority 
of the Indians had any conception of monotheism, and then only 
in an attenuated form, Polytheism in fact was general in the North 
West. If the peoples of the prairie were more definite than other 
tribes in assigning a supreme rank and an all-powerful role to the 
sun-god, under the name of Great Spirit, Manitou, or Wakanda,®* 
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this did not mean that they abandoned their belief in the secondary 
deities who represented natural forces, each conceived according 
to its special image.**” They did not go as far as human sacrifice, 
but in the course of the sun-dance, which they celebrated every 

second or third summer,®"* they did not hesitate to mutilate their 
own bodies in the hope of gaining for their tribes the compassion 
and favor of the Great Spirit.°*” But even while they made an ef- 
fort to stir his benevolence, they resigned themselves passively to 
his will whenever their enterprises were unsuccessful, and would 
attribute their failures indiscriminately to the opposition of Man- 
itou,* to the intervention of the guardian spirit of the animal who 
had escaped them," or to the malevolence of an evil spirit who 
harassed them.** 

Into their conception of a Great Spirit, or of a pantheon peopled 
with as many deities as there were natural forces, the Indians of the 

North West incorporated no moral principle. Incapable of distin- 
guishing good from evil in the personality of their deity, they re- 
garded him as the originator of both forces,™* and it was only 
under the influence of Christianity that in general they raised their 
thoughts to the notion of a Great Spirit who was exclusively the 
disseminator of good,®* though the Ojibwa had always jux- 
taposed such a benevolent spirit to a god of evil.** Nor did the 
Indians conceive of the intervention of a moral principle in the fate 
of the soul after death. It is true that the Chipewyan established a 
difference between the final destinies of the good and the bad. 
Only the first would immediately reach the ‘‘kingdom of spirits” 
where they would find an inexhaustible abundance of game, while 

the rest would be cast into a river which they would have to find 
their way across in order to achieve their goal.**® Some of the In- 
dians believed in the existence of two separate destinations after 
death, one reserved for those who had behaved badly in life and 
for sorcerers who had used their powers to harm their neighbors, 
and the other for those who kept their tribe’s laws and followed its 
moral code, Others divided the realms of the afterlife more simply 
between the shamans and warriors of high fame on the one hand, 
and people of more modest achievements on the other."*7 But the 
Christian idea that the good would certainly be rewarded and the 
evil inevitably punished merely caused confusion in their minds. 
Essentially preoccupied with life in the present, they were com- 
paratively little concerned with the beyond, and attached at least as 
much importance to the prolongation of life here and now as to 
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the happiness mortals might find in an afterworld which they 
sometimes situated in the sky, sometimes under the earth, and 

sometimes toward the setting sun.®® Thus in the code of ethics 
which they preached to the Ojibwa, the Midewiwin taught that 
the good would be recompensed by living longer. They did not 
envisage them evading the normal contingencies of life or gaining 
a higher and more permanent recompense in a future life.®*° 

Christianity triumphed only in part over these beliefs and prac- 
tices and this limitation of its achievement was due to its encoun- 
tering the resistance of the introverted Indian temperament,"*' too 

obstinately closed in upon itself to open easily to the teachings of 
the missionaries, whose success remained for this reason localized 
and incomplete. But if many of their original religious conceptions 
remained basically unchanged among the Indians, if the very no- 
tion of the Great Spirit, purified by the influence of Christianity, 
was never entirely disengaged from primitive ideas, the latter dis~ 

integrated entirely among the group of the Métis, and left with 
them only a marked inclination toward superstition which several 
centuries of contact with white society has not entirely overcome. 
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IN THE PRIMITIVE BACKGROUND OF THE NORTH WEST, 
closer relations than elsewhere in Canada developed at an early 
date between whites and native peoples. The Métis group, which 
emerged there as the whites gradually spread out along the routes 
of penetration, was able—thanks to the isolation that long 

protected the West—to develop traditions of living and a collective 
personality that were paralleled nowhere else within the limits of 
the Dominion. 

To any easy penetration the physical environment in fact inter- 
posed between the western plains and the western shore of Lake 
Superior—which was open of access to the St. Lawrence valley—a 
formidable barrier of glacially eroded land. Through this region 
parallel series of waterways began from the mouths of the 
Kaministikwia and Pigeon rivers and later, uniting in the wider 
basin of the Rainy River and the Winnipeg River, found a way 
down, through falls, rapids, and lakes, to the level of Lake Win- 

nipeg. In this region the penetration of the country, so far facili- 
tated by the unbroken succession of the Great Lakes, was impeded 
and slowed down by the obstacles the waterways offered to navi- 
gation. It was only beyond this rocky region barring the shores of 
Lake Superior that travellers once again encountered favorable 
conditions in the splendid network of rivers that spread out over 
the three North Wests. 

In the prairie, just as much as in the crescent of woodland that 
marked its bounds, the watercourses multiplied in majestic mean- 

derings or in irregular and broken courses, always oriented toward 
the west or the northwest, the direction which nature seemed to 

indicate for the penetration of the country from the St. Lawrence, 
but whose continuity was interrupted by the rocky hinterland of 
Lake Superior. For the prairie and the parkland this meant first the 
double system of the North Saskatchewan and the South Sas- 
katchewan, which directly united the Rocky Mountains with Lake 
Winnipeg, and then the Assiniboine River and its tributary the 
Qu’Appelle River which, linking up with the Red River valley, 
complemented the Saskatchewan and filled the space within its 
immense loop. For the wooded zone of the Canadian Shield, it 
meant the great artery of the Churchill River, whose channel was 
much broken by lakes and rapids; beyond Portage La Loche or 
Methye Portage, the Churchill was replaced by the Athabasca 
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River, curving toward the northwest and in its turn extended by 

the Slave River and the Mackenzie; all three of these rivers were 
supplemented by ramifying tributaries, such as the Peace River, 
the Hay River, the Liard River, and the Peel River, all of which, 

resuming the dominant east-west direction, became entangled in 
the ranges of the Rocky Mountains. 

This network of waterways, which traced the essential lines of 
penetration and were destined to guide the exploitation of the 
North West, was dominated by two routes of access, each of 

which fostered its own current of white expansion. To the south, 
the point of departure was formed by the two rivers that cut 
through the western shore of Lake Superior [the Kaministikwia 
and the Pigeon}; their valleys, singularly broken by falls and por- 
tages, linked them with Lake Winnipeg. This was the access used 
by the voyageurs and traders of French Canada; here the furs from 
the interior were transshipped and for a long time most of them 
reached the outside world through this narrow gateway. 

To the north, access to the penetration routes was more widely 
based on the shores of Hudson Bay and James Bay, though the 
difficulties it at first presented were no less daunting. From this 
area a series of roughly parallel waterways extended into the hin- 
terland, cutting their rocky channels through the Shield in a gener- 
ally westerly direction. The Albany River, by which travellers 
reached the English River valley and the closely linked Berens 
River, gave access to Lake Winnipeg. The Severn River, the Hayes 
River, and the Nelson River formed another complex by which 
Lake Winnipeg and the banks of the Saskatchewan could be 
reached. From Chesterfield Inlet, the Churchill River and the 
Dubawnt River gave entry into the Barren Grounds. By these riv- 
ers, which were formed by glacial action, travel was often dif- 
ficult. In some places there was not enough depth of water, or 
the channels were cluttered with sandbanks. Elsewhere rapids, al- 

ternating with reaches of calm water, frequently interrupted navi- 
gation and demanded from the boat crews an experience and a 
toughness which it took the Scottish or English personnel a long 
time to master as well as the Canadian voyageurs. Their success in 
penetrating the country suffered from this deficiency. With the ex- 
ception of a few pioneers who quickly explored the routes into the 
interior without creating a current of trade, the whites—here rep- 
resented by the employees of the Hudson’s Bay Company—did 
not make effective use of their northerly base until the second half 
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of the eighteenth century, The southerly route, which was shorter 

but equally difficult to traverse, was known and followed from the 

last years of the seventeenth century by the more acclimatized 
Canadians. 

Between these two main systems of waterways, transverse ar- 
teries of rivers and lakes formed great stairways [over the heights 
of land] that united the main penetration routes. Between the 
Churchill River, the principal artery of the Shield, and the Sas- 
katchewan,which dominated the river system of the prairies, it 
was the Maligne or Sturgeon-weir River, the Montreal River, and 
the Beaver River, with the network of their tributaries, that of- 
fered the possibilities of cross-country connections. Between the 
Nelson River and the basin of the Red River and the Assiniboine, 
whose valleys ran through the southerly expanses of the prairie, 
Lake Winnipeg, supplemented by Lake Manitoba and Lake Win- 
nipegosis, extended like an inland sea, from which the active 
penetration of the hinterland vigorously radiated. Instead of being 
divided by rocky barriers that isolated them from each other, like 
the rivers whose narrow valleys stretched from James Bay south 
toward the Great Lakes, the rivers of the North West found their 

way through tangles of lakes and waterways. Favored by such 
geographical dispositions, penetration by the white race was con- 
centrated along the two great currents dominated respectively by 
the rocky southern base [the western hinterland of Lake Superior] 
and the coast of Hudson Bay, whence, following directions traced 
for them by the natural network of waterways, the Canadians of 
the St, Lawrence valley, and afterwards the Anglo-Saxons of the 
Hudson’s Bay Company, spread out among the native peoples of 
the North West. 





CHAPTER THREE 

THE SOUTHERN CURRENT 

It was toward the end of the seventeenth century, when the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company had merely thrown up a few ill-favored forts 
on their northern coastline and had no thought of occupying the 
interior of the country, that the French Canadians set sail on the 
rivers which would open the southern verge of the Shield and give 
access to the western plains. 

THE FRENCH CANADIANS ON THE 
WESTERN SHORE OF LAKE SUPERIOR 

Even before this period the French Canadians had not, on their 
expeditions, neglected the tall and forbidding northern shores of 
Lake Tracy, later called Lake Superior, but for the most part they 
had turned toward its more welcoming southern shores and also 
toward Lake Michigan. 

In that direction the licensed voyageurs had ventured toward the 
Mississippi basin,’ and Canadians had already sought the passage 
that might lead them to the “southern ocean."”? In the same direc- 
tion the abundant beaver of the Illinois* and the Lake Superior 
mines, which several pioneers had already begun to exploit,* also 
promised notable profits, while in this region the missionaries 
found among the populations that crowded to the shores of Green 
Lake and into the upper Mississippi valley—the Illinois, the Saki, 
the Potawatami, the Outagami, the Sioux—an abundant field for 
proselytization. 

But though they were less visited, the opposite shores of the 
great lake were by no means unknown, and their prodigious 
wealth of furs had already compensated for the difficulty of access. 
Radisson’s journey there, in the company of Chouart des Groseil- 
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liers, between 1654 and 1656, enabled the Jesuits to locate the 
habitat of the Assiniboine tribe as being to the northwest of Lake 
Superior and to the west of Lake Nipigon.® Once the great inden- 
tation of Lake Nipigon—the base for future action against the 
English forts on Hudson Bay—had been explored, the topography 
of the northern shores of Lake Superior could in its turn be deter- 
mined, Thus, on the map they inserted into their Relation for 
1670-1, the Jesuits were able to portray with equal accuracy both 
shores of Lake Superior;® doubtless they gathered their informa- 
tion from the coureurs de bois who had ventured into this region. 
To the north they noted the opening of Nipigon Bay and the lake 
that extended beyond it. To the west they indicated, near the two 
waterways that cut parallel courses through the edge of the Shield, 
the mouth of the Kaministikwia River which gave access to the 
country of the Assiniboine and which Radisson evidently knew al- 
ready,’ though it is doubtful whether he had ventured into it, any 

more than the coureurs de bois who accompanied him or came 
immediately after him. 

Shortly afterwards, with the intention of winning back the al- 
liance of the Lake Superior tribes, whose trade the English posts 
on Hudson Bay had begun to divert for their own profit,* Dulhut 
(Daniel Greysolon) established himself in a position commanding 
Nipigon Bay and Lake Nipigon, which was frequented by many 
Ojibwa and Cree Indians and which enabled him to tap the re- 
sources of the various tributaries of the Albany River. From the 
end of the year 1678, a “few Frenchmen” —whose exact location 
the letters of Dulhut do not enable one to determine —succeeded in 
diverting part of the cargoes of furs on their way to the Hudson 
Bay posts.* Did Dulhut himself in the same year of 1678 establish a 
trading post at the entrance to Lake Nipigon which he expected 
would prevent the defection of the Cree [to the English mer- 
chants]?! Did he also, thanks to negotiations conducted with the 

coastal tribes of Lake Superior to end the warfare that divided 
them to the detriment of trade, succeed in constructing a fort at the 

mouth of the Kaministikwia River, in what we now call Thunder 

Bay?" 
All that is certain is that the last location and that on Lake 

Nipigon—where the enterprises of Dulhut, seconded by those of 
his brother, Greysolon de la Tourette, were reinforced by a new 
post established on the Manne River'?—became from this time 
onward especially active trading centres; in 1681 they were already 
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considered the meeting places of the coureurs de bois'* who spread 
out into the region of Lake Superior."* 

THE CROSSING OF THE 
ROCKY RIM OF LAKE SUPERIOR 

It was thus in the course of these years from 1678 to 1680 that the 
bridgehead for penetration provided by the channel of the 
Kaministikwia River was effectively opened to the explorers and 
traders from the St. Lawrence valley.'* Yet at first it was only 
scantily used by minor expeditions,'® which were discouraged by 
the difficulties of the route, “a gangway through wild-rice 
marshes and waterfalls,”"'” and it is impossible to tell how far 
Dulhut’s operations extended on the route leading to the Lake of 
the Assiniboines (Lake of the Woods).'* He himself wrote in 1678 
that the Assiniboines “were unknown” to him.'* He began, 

through the agency of messengers he sent out over this “road of 
the North,” by winning over the Assiniboines to the idea of a gen- 
eral peace with the Sioux, whom he was personally trying to re- 
concile with the Ojibwa,*° and in September 1679 a treaty was 
concluded “at the bottom end of Lake Superior” between the 
Sioux and the Assiniboine in Dulhut’s presence.?? Then, while his 
brother remained active in the region of Lake Nipigon, he under- 
took trading operations along the Kaministikwia River which ap- 
pear to have been successful, since in 1687 he advised Governor 
Denonville that he had been able to win over “the peoples who are 
in the habit of going to the English at Port Nelson.’”* 

We do not know whether exploration at this time wen* beyond 
the western coastal region of Lake Superior and reached into the 
basin of Lake Winnipeg. It is certain that the existence of water- 
ways between Lake Superior and the Nelson River was suspected. 
In 1684, in fact, Dulhut, who was then somewhere near Lake 

Nipigon, received a commission to send to “Sieur Chouart’’ (des 
Groseilliers) who was “‘on the Nelson River,”’ a message from the 
Governor of New France, Lefebvre de La Barre,** which showed 
that the Governor envisaged an advance toward the (Hudson Bay) 
coast along these same routes by reinforcements meant to support 
the victorious actions of his ships against the British posts.** 
Nevertheless, if one can judge from the maps made at the time, the 
notions then entertained of such ways of access were still vague 
and inexact. Confusion seems to have arisen between the routes 
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linking Lake Nipigon with the “Bottom of the Bay” (James Bay) 
and those that indirectly, by the detour through the Kaministik wia 
River and Lake Winnipeg or by difficult portages,”* established a 
link with Nelson River and Port Nelson. When he thought of 
sending reinforcements overland in the direction of the Nelson 
River, the Governor of New France had no real idea of the length 

and difficulties of the route. A similar error may explain why the 
Sieur Péré, to whom Lefebvre de la Barre’s message was confided, 

should have tried to reach James Bay by way of the Albany River 
where in good faith he expected to encounter the young des 
Groseilliers; des Groseilliers was then, in the company of Radis- 

son, near Port Nelson and as a result he never received the message 
that was meant for him.*” 

The route from Lake Superior to Lake Winnipeg, even if it was 
already in use, could not at first sustain anything more than a 
slight and intermittent current of penetration. Jacques de Noyon 
appears to have put an end to these uncertainties in 1688 when he 
reached Lac des Cristinaux (Cree Lake or Rainy Lake), and, estab- 
lishing himself there with several men over the winter, established 

relations with the Assiniboines that enabled him to threaten, at 
least for the time being, the trade of Port Nelson.** The alarm this 

created at the time among the Hudson’s Bay Company was such 
that its London Committee pressed Governor Geyer to oppose the 
initiatives of the Canadians with all the means in his power so that 
the Company’s enterprise should not fail.?* However, the activity 
of the French-Canadian traders was not sustained. The route to 
Lake Winnipeg was again neglected, apart from a few traders scat- 
tered among the Indian tribes, *° and in 1695 when the Sieur de 
Tonty, with a weak escort of merchants and soldiers, went among 

the Assiniboine, he found that the very recollection of earlier rela~ 
tions with them had already evaporated.*! The furs gathered by 
the indigenous peoples followed their normal course toward Hud- 
son Bay: those of the Assiniboine toward Port Nelson** and those 
of the Cree and the Saulteaux either toward the same establish- 
ment or toward the fort the English had built at the mouth of the 
Albany River. The routes they went by were as difficult because of 
the obstacles they presented as because of the poverty of their re- 
sources of food,** and their utilization is evidence that the Cana- 
dians had abandoned the bases which earlier on had enabled them 
to intercept the currents of trade whose directions were shaped by 
the conformation of the Hudson Bay watershed. 



Fig.1 Fragment of L. Franquelin’s map of North America (B.D.C.M. 4040B, 
no. 6 bis). The map shows several inaccuracies concerning access routes to Hud- 
son Bay. 
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This abstention on the part of the Canadians can be plausibly 
explained by the threat of hostile action by the Iroquois, whose 
aggressions against the settlements of the St. Lawrence were re- 
newed 1689 with increased intensity” and had spread out along the 
access routes of the Great Lakes. A few years later (1696) the reduc- 
tion in the number of coureurs de bois brought about by the offi- 
cal suppression of trading permits created a new obstacle to 
westward expansion.** As a consequence the Governor of New 
France renounced the idea of diverting at its source the flow of furs 
toward Port Nelson, and instead organized the maritime expedi- 
tion that attacked the British posts directly; its victorious issue in 
1694 deprived the post on the Kaministikwia of its usefulness.** As 
late as 1710 it may still have been the nucleus of a small amount of 
activity.*” But it must have disappeared shortly afterwards, since 
in 1718 Lieutenant de La Noue received a commission to establish 

at the mouth of the same river, near the present site of Thunder 
Bay, a trading fort that might serve as the departure point for the 
discovery of the Western Sea, and would attract the tribes in the 
vicinity of Lake Superior.** In the meantime, and despite the peace 
signed with the Iroquois in 1701, the Canadians discontinued their 
official expeditions into the country of the Cree and the As- 
siniboine. Once again, the western shore of Lake Superior marked 
the extreme limit of penetration, and, courted only by the posts on 
Hudson Bay, the native peoples reserved for them the whole pro- 
duct of their hunting. It would doubtless be an exaggeration to as- 
sume that trading along the route to Lake Winnipeg came to a 
complete halt. Protected by the vast distances and the scattered 
colonization of the St. Lawrence valley, the coureurs de bois from 

New France encountered no real difficulty in defying the ban on 
trading in the region of the Great Lakes, so that they did not resist 
the call of adventure and were far from renouncing their enter- 
prises in this distant country.*® Despite its imperfections, the map 
drawn by Guillaume de I’Isle in 1703 revealed a clear progress in 
knowledge of the possible routes beyond Lake Superior. The 
Bourbon River [Nelson River] was represented as being outside 
the basin of the Albany River. It ran, parallel to the Sainte Thérese 

River [Hayes River], in the direction of the Bay of the North 
[Hudson Bay], making a westerly curve which diagramatically re- 
produced the drainage system toward the exit of Lake Winnipeg.*° 
This evidence attests to a steady and still anonymous process of 
penetration, probably the work of coureurs de bois evading 
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the official bans on their activities: the virtual re-establishment in 
1710, after a brief abandonment, of the base at Michilimackinac, 

with a numerous population of soldiers and traders, must have fa~ 
vored their operations.*' Most important, it is certain that the 

Canadians did not cease to haunt the headwaters and tributaries of 
the Albany River, for in 1710 the Indians told the chief trader of 
Fort Albany of their presence and threatened him with French ag- 
gression in the near future.*? 

But the Canadians seriously resumed their operations only 
when the restitution of Port Nelson to England in 1713** deprived 
France of the base it had established on the shore of Hudson Bay 
and revived both the need for an interior route and the activity that 
would establish it. While the English reoccupied their ruined 
post,** the Canadians set out once more on the route that would 

lead them to the discovery of the North West.*® Fort Albany felt 
immediately threatened. In the autumn of 1715 it heard rumors of 
an imminent French attack,** and in 1716 the Indians asserted that 

the French—having made lucrative profits —were preparing to re- 
turn in greater numbers.*” In the same year the journal of York 
Factory, which had been silent on this subject in 1715, noted their 

activity in the interior.** No doubt, protected by the length and 
deviousness of its means of access, York was less vulnerable than 

Albany, which was barely seven days’ paddling away from the 
nearest Canadian establishment*® by waterways well provided 
with sources of food and relatively easy to navigate,*® and even 
less vulnerable than Moose Factory, which traders from Montreal 

could reach by the direct route of the Ottawa-Abitibi, not to men- 
tion the other ways of access opening on to the Great Lakes, But in 
every case the Canadians threatened the English positions most ef- 
fectively by relieving the Indians of the need to undertake long and 
exhausting journeys over territories poor in hunting and trap- 
ping,*! as well as of the uncertainties regarding trade goods which 
depended on the arrival of ships from England at the posts on the 
Bay, uncertainties whose likelihood the French traders were al- 

ways exaggerating in the Indians’ ears™ in order to gain their furs. 
In 1716, after having waited in vain for a fortnight at York Factory 
for the arrival of the annual ship, which did not appear until 4 Sep- 
tember, the Assiniboine (?) had to depart without getting payment 
for their furs, and hastily regain their tribal habitat at the risk—so 
late in the season—of dying of hunger on the way back.** Dis- 
gusted with such disappointments and difficulties, many of the In- 
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dians had already given up their journeys to the Bay when in 1717 
the Canadians under the initiative of Governor Vaudreuil resumed 
the work of Jacques de Noyon and began to establish permanent 
posts beyond Lake Superior. 
By this time, the route by way of the Kaministikwia, which the 

Canadians had first followed,® had been supplanted by that which 
followed the Pigeon River, whose estuary in Lake Superior was 
approximately seven leagues from that of the first river, and which 
contemporary reports described—despite its innumerable rapids 
and portages—as “‘the better way to go from Kaministikwia to 
Rainy Lake.”"* Yet it was at the mouth of the Kaministikwia River 
that Lieutenant de la Noue was ordered to restore the fort that had 
already been built there on a site near Fort William, where the 
canoes of the Canadian voyageurs rested before starting out on the 
more southerly route which they now preferred. In embarking on 
this last stage of French penetration, which had not ceased to 
progress—however gradually—since their first arrival in the valley 
of the St. Lawrence, the Canadians continued to be governed by 
the commercial and scientific preoccupations that had animated 
their first explorers. But the urge to convert the primitive, which 
had been so central during previous years and which had brought 
about the stabilization of the white race in the Ontario peninsula, 

was now paralysed both by the remoteness of the country and by 
the difficult and still little-known character of the native peoples 
“to whom we are not accustomed.”*” The missionaries did not 
venture here until later, and even then in small numbers; the fai- 
lure of their early efforts, which left the white men open to the full 
influence of the primitive environment, removed all restraints on 

the free intercourse between the indigenous and the civilized races. 
In July 1717, Lieutenant Zacharie Robutel de La Noue left the St. 

Lawrence valley, accompanied by thirty-two voyageurs in eight 
canoes, and provided with instructions ordering him, after he had 

re-established the fort at Kaministikwia, to proceed to the Lac des 
Cristinaux (Rainy Lake) and the Lac des Assiniboine (Lake of the 
Woods) and there erect two new posts which would be the staging 
points for an expedition intended to discover the ‘Western Sea’’®* 
and which would also appropriate the trade the Indians were carry- 
ing on at Hudson Bay.*® La Noue realized only the first part of his 
mission. In the autumn of 1717 he re-established the post at 
Kaministikwia. Then, while the winter immobilized him on the 
threshold of the rocky barrier that edges Lake Superior, he de- 
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tached some of his companions on the route toward Rainy Lake, 
where they became established in sufficient numbers to carry out 
successful treaty negotiations with the allied tribes of the As- 
siniboine and the Cree. According to the Indians who still visited 
York Factory, the garrison at Rainy Lake seems to have been 
composed of some forty men, thanks doubtless to reinforcements 

from the base of Michilimackinac, which supplied the forts of the 
west with the supplies they needed.®” Adopting a tactic already 
well used by the coureurs de bois, the Canadians proceeded to im- 
pose on the Indians by giving an exaggerated idea of their own ac- 
tual strength and boasting that their numbers would soon be in- 
creased by some sixty more voyageurs." Well supplied with trade 
goods of sound quality, and willing to distribute alcohol unrestric- 
tedly, they would certainly have succeeded in seizing the marten 
and beaver pelts that enriched the establishments of Hudson Bay, 
if the wars that divided the Indians had not forced the latter back 
on to the route to York Factory. 

The area of Rainy Lake and Lake of the Woods, situated on the 

boundaries of the respective territories of the Sioux and the 
Ojibwa, Cree, and Assiniboine tribes, was exposed to the incur- 

sions of these two hostile groups,®* both of them provided with 
firearms by the Canadian traders and the British posts, and both 

impervious to the conciliatory efforts of the Sieur de la Noue, who 
had taken advantage of the idle winter months to try and convince 
the Indians of the need for a general pacification.” 

In 1718 he had sent Ensign Pachot as his representative in the 
hope of persuading the Sioux to conclude a treaty with their 
enemies, the Cristinaux (Cree) that would enable them [the 
French] to carry on with their projects of discovery."® But, though 
his envoy returned bearing a promise of peace," the Sioux were 
quick to break it: far from keeping their word, in 1719 they at- 
tacked the Cree who happened to be in the neighborhood of 
Kaministikwia.°’ In the same year an attack was made on the In- 
dians who, at the invitation of the French, had sent a number of 
their young men to Rainy Lake to trade their furs.°* This attack 
seems to have been the work of the Sioux, whom the other Indians 

called Poets or Pouelles.* The natives expressed their anger to the 
Governor of York Factory, Henry Kelsey, and they reproached 
the French with having deliberately lured their fellow tribesmen 
into an ambush,” which seemed all the more plausible in view of 
the fact that in 1718, at the instigation of the coureurs de bois, the 
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Poets had indeed attacked Indians who were going via the Albany 
River to the posts on James Bay.”! In the eyes of the Crees and 
Assiniboine, both of whom had suffered from Sioux attack, the 
accusation they made against the Canadians was justified by the 
increase in French ventures into the territory of the last tribe. Vio- 
lating the limitations laid down with regard to Louisiana by the 
letters patent of the king of France in 1712,” they traded weapons 
with the Sioux for furs, and so strengthened them against their 
enemies. La Noue himself said that it would be in vain to think of 
mitigating the “pride of the Sioux” as long as there were coureurs 
de bois among them who traded in firearms.”* Accusing all the 
French without discrimination, the peoples bordering on Rainy 
Lake and Lake of the Woods refused to accept the commercial links 
with Lieutenant de La Noue’s men which the latter had hoped to 
achieve, and it took many years and the clever policies of La Vér- 

endrye before the Cree and the Assiniboine would abandon their 
prejudices. In the meantime, the French initiatives continued to be 
frustrated by the hostility of the natives. When he left his post, in 
which he was relieved by Captain Deschalion in 1721,”* La Noue 

took back with him no ideas about the Western Ocean which he 
had been commissioned to discover, and contented himself with 

offering vague and discouraging information about the narrow 
rocky fringe of the Great Lakes which the Canadians had still not 
completely conquered. “The land is extremely cold, it is impossi- 

ble to obtain any grain here, and the people live only by hunting; 

they meet only once a year, whether it is for war or to agree on the 
places where they may hunt.” 

At Kaministikwia a regular post existed, with a military garri- 

son,” where voyageurs with official trading permits reported, and 
which the Marquis de Vaudreuil was resolved to maintain.” At 
Rainy Lake a less important establishment perhaps survived,” 

used casually by adventurers who were courageous enough to seek 

out the native tribes from whom they bought a portion of their 

furs in return for gunpowder, blankets, and kettles whose good 

quality the Indians contrasted to the shoddiness of English trade 

goods.” In any case, even if the post at Rainy Lake had disap- 

peared, the Canadians continued to filter in small groups into the 

valley of the Rainy River and the Winnipeg River; in 1728 the gov- 

ernor of York Factory represents them as being involved every year 

in the wars of the various tribes, whom they reached, as in the 

past, by the two routes to Rainy Lake, but preferably, in spite of 
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its forty-seven portages, by the southern one.”° 
Intervening with increasing activity in the quarrels that divided 

the Indians, they supported the attacks which were made on the 
Indians who traded at the English posts by their enemies. When 
these Indians complained to them about such repeated aggres- 
sions, the officers of the Hudson’s Bay Company stubbornly con- 
tinued to advise them to reach an understanding with their adver- 
saries, and, accompanying their words with distributions of pre- 
sents, exhorted them to devote themselves to activities more 
profitable than such fruitless war parties. But their advice had no 
effect. The Indians replied with contempt, comparing the English 
with the Canadians who betrayed them, when they were defence- 
less, to their adversaries,*' and who profited by the absence of the 
men during the summer to encourage the attacks of their “mortal 
enemies” on the women and children. Doubtless, resuming the 
tactics of preceding years, the Canadians attempted with the aid of 
the Sioux to intercept the current of trade that flowed toward 
Hudson Bay. Doubtless, thrusting more deeply into the basin of 
Lake Winnipeg, they participated directly in the wars that went on 
around the headwaters of the Nelson River. According to the 
rather confused texts that are available to us, it seems that in 1728 

eight of them attacked the Indians who were in the habit of going 
to York Factory; in alliance with the latters’ enemies, they won a 

decisive victory over them and slaughtered some of their fam- 
ilies.** Another massacre took place, again at the instigation of the 
Canadians, in 1730.** 

Nevertheless, enough Indians went to York Factory for the 
trade there to show no falling off, though at the same time the 
trade of Fort Albany, hard hit by the competition of Lake Superior 
and Lake Nipigon, did not cease to decline, to such an extent that 
the Hudson's Bay Company found it necessary for fear of eventual 
failure to re-establish in 1730 the post of Moose Factory that had 
been abandoned since 1686."* The [French] traders became so bold 
that they visited the Indians under the very walls of Fort Albany, 
and besieged the routes of access to it so narrowly as to prevent the 
passage of all the canoes proceeding toward the coast.*” Some- 
times even York Factory experienced the effects of this invasive 
competition: in 1728 its commandant was able to judge, by observ- 
ing the clothes which the Indians wore, the importance of their 
trade with the Canadians.*® For all that, York Factory tempor- 
arily enjoyed a continued prosperity, measured in the steadily 
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growing size of the cargoes of furs it sent to London: 43,891 in 
1728, 47,656 in 1730, 52,000 in 1731.7 It was only in 1732 that its 

trade suffered the first setback: only 37,000 pelts left the post for 
England."* The Canadians had in fact succeeded in September 1731 
in reaching once again the shores of Lake Winnipeg, which the 
officers of York Factory recognized as the source of the Hayes and 
Nelson rivers.** Taking advantage of a treaty that appears to have 
been made between the mutually hostile tribes, and playing clev- 
erly on the threat of breaking it and once again letting their 
enemies loose on the conquered people if the latter did not accept 
their conditions, a dozen Canadians had in September 1731 reached 
the points where the Indians were in the habit of gathering on the 
shores of the Lake before starting the long trip to the Bay, and 
they had seized the furs destined for their rivals.°” That year, only 
sixteen canoes of Indians, against the sixty which the chief of York 
Factory expected, reached the coast. After several years of effort, 
the Canadians had finally broken through the obstacles which na- 
ture and peoples alike had put in their way.*' 

LA VERENDRYE’S ENTERPRISES 

Plagued by interruptions after Dulhut’s initiatives, but gaining 
more continuity following on the operations of La Noue, French 
penetration finally found in the policies of La Vérendrye, the vig- 
orous and orderly direction which hitherto it had lacked. La Ver- 
endrye (Pierre Gaultier de Varennes de La Vérendrye) arrived with 
fifty men” at the mouth of the Kaministikwia River at the very 
time when the Canadians were reaching Lake Winnipeg. He took 
with him a program whose magnitude exceeded his financial 
means and looked beyond the epoch during which he undertook 
to realize it: even its partial success was enough to establish on a 
solid and permanent base the penetration of the white race into the 
great expanses of the West. 

La Vérendrye’s enterprise in fact quickly deviated from the aim 
set for him by the ministers of the French king, the aim to which 
all other activities were supposed to be subordinated, of achieving 
the discovery of the ‘‘Western Sea,” that mirage which took so 
long to dissolve before the searching eyes of Canadians. Preoccu- 
pation with trading, and the difficulties encountered with native 

tribes, soon paralysed any possibility of realizing the initial pro- 
ject. But if the genuinely scientific side of La Vérendrye’s enter- 
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prise was jeopardized by this shift in aims, and if discovery prog- 
ressed only slowly, the intrusion of the French race into the primi- 
tive environment nevertheless became from this point both deeper 
and more forceful. 

Instead of restricting itself to the rapid passage through the 
country of an expedition hastening to realize the objective that had 
been set for it, La Vérendrye’s enterprise resulted in the establish- 
ment of a series of posts marking the various stages of penetration 
and spaced out as far as the prairie. They were well enough man- 
ned with troops who had no alternative but to remain for long 
periods in a single place. This for the first time made possible the 
assimilation of Canadians with the native tribes, and gave them an 
assurance of success among these primitive people that for a long 
time guaranteed their superiority over the personnel of the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company. With La Vérendrye, the French race ceased 
to appear as foreign to the North West. It acquired there the right 
of priority with which even today the French Canadians of the 
West like to challenge Anglo-Saxon pretensions. Henceforward, 
the current of penetration taking off from the Lake Superior route 
would continue with a persistence that even the occupation of 
Lower Canada by the English did not interrupt. This achievement 
is alone enough to excuse La Vérendrye for not having realized in 
all its details the original program of his expedition. 

In this enterprise were combined all the motives that had in- 
spired the first artisans of French penetration into the region of the 
Great Lakes. In the first place, there was scientific curiosity, domi- 
nated by the search for a passage to the Pacific Ocean. In that 
period this question was, more than ever before, on the order of 
the day. It had led to the journey of Father Charlevoix in New 
France during 1720;°* to the establishment on the Mississippi in 
1727 of a post— Fort Beauharnais —from which it was hoped the 
discovery might be achieved; and finally in 1728 to the publica- 
tion of the report of Father Gonner, “missionary to the Sioux,” 
who gave an account, based on information from La Vérendrye 
(then charged with the command of the “northern posts”) ,"° of the 
existence of a new water route of which the Indians had made him 
aware; its supposed orientation from east to west and the agitation 
of its waters by a movement of flux and reflux led to the conclu- 
sion that it would provide direct access to the ocean."® 

In the second place, the prospect of fruitful trading operations 
intervened in the projects of La Vérendrye, as it had done in the 
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earliest expeditions of discovery that set out from Lower Canada. 
The scientific work could only be accomplished at a cost which La 
Vérendrye was in no position to underwrite, and to which the 
king of France refused to contribute.*” Instead, La Verendrye re- 
ceived the monopoly of trading furs at the posts he intended to 
establish on the way to the Western Sea.** The profits resulting 
from this commerce were meant to defray the cost of his enter- 
prise and repay the initial debts with which he had been forced to 
encumber his expedition so as to procure the necessary supplies 
and equipment;” they also served the cause of New France’s 
economic expansion since, being made at the expense of the trade 
to Hudson Bay, they directed toward the St. Lawrence the furs 
that had hitherto flowed toward the British posts.'" It was evi- 
dently this last consideration that most concerned La Verendrye 
and the governor of New France, the Marquis de Beauharnais. 
Having at heart the expansion of the colony and the enrichment of 
its trade, both of them attached more importance to the establish- 

ment of an economic current that would increase the annual re- 
turns of the fur trade than to the discovery of the “Western Sea.” 

In this they differed from the Minister of Marine, the Count de 
Maurepas. Taken up with geographical and maritime questions 
and in agreement with the Jesuits who were concerned for the 
spread of the Gospel among the peoples whose existence would be 
revealed by exploration, the latter regarded the scientific aspect of 
La Vérendrye’s expedition as its most important aspect. Knowing 
that Maurepas was opposed to the excessive dispersion of posts 
and to the scattering of the population of the St, Lawrence valley, 
Beauharnais gained his agreement by representing the posts which 
La Vérendrye proposed to establish as mere storehouses, unim- 
portant depots on the way to the Pacific.'”' In reality, La Veren- 
drye undertook his expedition less with the intent of searching for 
the “Western Sea” than to extend beyond Lake Superior the com- 
mercial operations of New France and the bridgeheads of the 
French race. He himself wrote to Maurepas on | August 1731, in 
terms that leave no doubt of his intentions; “Beauharnais has done 
me the honor of picking me out and sending me to establish my- 
self on Lake Winnipeg with fifty men and a missionary . . . If he 
thinks fit to instruct me to go on into the West, I shall always be 
ready to leave with my nephew La Gemeraye, who is my second- 
in-command, and with my three children who are here with 
me, , 27102 
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Contrary to the evident intentions of the Minister of Marine, 
but in the interests of New France, the concern for commercial 
profits, which officially was intended to further the realization of 
the scientific task, in fact supplanted it in La Vérendrye’s mind. It 
was under this misunderstanding [between La Verendrye and 
Maurepas] that the expedition—for which Father Gonner’s 
memoir had served as the bait—was undertaken; the eventual con- 
sequence, in 1744, would be the disgrace of La Verendrye. 

At the same time, La Vérendrye was sincerely devoted to the 
idea of converting the Indians, and he attached to his expedition a 
Jesuit missionary who intended to carry on among the little- 
known tribes of Rainy Lake and Lake of the Woods'™ the work so 
successfully accomplished among the Hurons of Lake Ontario,'"* 
Finally, convinced that a guarantee of the allegiance of the peoples 
he approached would be the presence among the tribes of young 
Frenchmen instructed to learn their languages, study their ways of 
life, and nurture their loyalties, he resumed, though on a smaller 

scale, the policy of Champlain, who a century and a half earlier 
placed among the Indians of the Great Lakes young men charged 
with encouraging their adherence to the French. Leaving two of 
his men to share for a year the life of the Mandans on the Mis- 
souri,'”® giving two of his sons to the Cree as advisors and permit- 
ting their adoption into the tribe," he established between the 
two races a link of intimacy from which the French cause could 
greatly benefit. 

But the realization of his various projects encountered in this re- 
gion far more difficult conditions than earlier Canadian expedi- 
tions had experienced. Even supposing that La Vérendrye was 
committed to the work of discovering the Western Sea with all the 
diligence to which he had been urged by Minister Maurepas, it is 
certain that his ignorance of the topography of the North West and 
its real distances, which he had underestimated through accepting 
the accounts of excessively obliging Indians, would have exposed 
him to serious setbacks. If his informants were to be believed, 
once the journey had been made from Kaministikwia to Lake 
Winnipeg" it would take only another ten days’ march to reach 
the Western Sea,'** by way of a “great river that flows directly to- 
ward the setting sun and broadens constantly as it falls,""'°” which 
was tantamount to ignoring the endless spaces of the prairies and 
the barrier of the Rocky Mountains. Not only did the difficulties 
connected with the character and the immensity of the country di- 
rectly hamper discovery, but, whatever La Vérendrye’s intentions 
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might have been, such obstacles would have relegated to a distant 
date the reaching of the Western Sea, since they would have made 
impossible the immediate profits needed to finance the very same 
expedition. It was when they undertook for the first time to 
exploit the resources of the North West on a major scale that the 
Canadians began to suffer from the handicaps imposed on their 
trade by two circumstances: first that they had to procure their 
trade goods in Montreal, which was two months’ journey even 
from Kaministikwia,''® and, second, that more than five hundred 

miles of rugged and rocky terrain separated Lake Superior from 
Lake Winnipeg. La Vérendrye concluded that canoes could not 
travel from Montreal to Lake Winnipeg during the short summer 
period when navigation was possible.''’ He himself left Montreal 
on 8 June 1731 and reached the mouth of the Pigeon River only on 
26 August; his crews refused to attempt its ascent, and, like Jac- 
ques de Noyon in 1717, he was forced to pass the winter on the 

threshold of the West.''? 
It was this combination of difficulties that in the end would ena~ 

ble the English of Hudson Bay to get the better of their adver- 
saries. From the beginning, it seriously hampered La Vérendrye’s 
projects. The provisioning of his posts was affected by the length 
of the route, by uncertainty as to when or whether the canoes 
would arrive, and by the obstacles created by the portages of the 
Pigeon River, which aroused the discontent of the crews and led 

them to increase their demands to the point where La Vérendrye 
was forced to improve the way of access to Rainy Lake.'* The 
members of the expedition consequently suffered the risk of 
famine in the unsympathetic Shield region where, apart from a 
few favored spots,'' resources were badly distributed and often 
insufficient,’ wild rice not being adequate compensation for the 

meagreness of the “clearings around his posts which La Véren- 
drye assiduously tried to cultivate."!° These uncertainties regard- 
ing supplies were even more detrimental to trade with the Indians, 
since they annoyed the tribes who visited the posts,''” thus reduc- 
ing the returns of the fur trade,''* which in turn hampered the con- 

struction of new establishments.'' Above all, the high wages re- 
sulting from the difficulties of navigation burdened the price of 
trade goods with extra charges, which proportionately diminished 
La Vérendrye’s profits. On top of everything else, he had to keep 
the goodwill of the native people by burdensome distributions of 
presents,'”° and to pay the inflated costs of constructing spacious 
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posts, protected by bastions, galleries, and ranges of palisades,'** 
large enough to house relatively strong garrisons—forty men at 
Fort Saint-Charles'® and from twelve to twenty at Fort Saint- 
Pierre'**—and capable of entertaining considerable groups of In- 
dians who gathered there to trade and to be instructed by La Veér- 
endrye while they feasted at his expense. 

The situation became worse in 1735 when the Marquis de 
Beauharnais deprived La Verendrye of the franchise of the fur 
trade that had at first been granted to him, and instructed him to 
divide it between various middlemen in Montreal who would pay 
him a royalty from their returns. In this way Beauharnais hoped to 
bring an end to Maurepas’ complaints about the excessively com- 
mercial character of La Vérendrye’s operations and the way he was 
neglecting his program of discovery. He also hoped that by setting 
him free from seeking to gain directly from trade the funds he 
needed for his expedition, he might enable La Vérendrye to con- 
centrate more fully on the latter aim. Unfortunately he acted at the 
very time when the fur trade, which for several years had been un- 
certain, was at last assuring La Vérendrye his first profits.'°° As for 
the Montreal merchants, they were indifferent to the success of La 
Vérendrye’s enterprise and used for their gain the goods they fur- 
nished. For three years they neglected the provisioning of his 
posts; they haggled over the dispatch of merchandise that was 
necessary to further his Indian policy; and they provoked the dis- 
appointment of the Indians who complained of the “lack of every- 
thing” and were not slow to hand over to the English the furs they 
had at first intended for La Vérendrye.'*”7 They even went so far as 
to thwart his policy directly by inciting the warlike passions of the 
Indians.'** 

Caught between the demands of his creditors whom he had 
been unable to repay the ever-increasing debts incurred'*® to sus- 
tain the loyalty of the Indians with ever greater presents, the ill 
will of the merchants on whom now fell the task of making sure 
that the posts on the way to the ‘Western Sea” were regularly 
provisioned, and the lack of diligence among the crews who 
transported the trade goods,'*® La Vérendrye exhausted himself in 
vain attempts to carry out the task of colonization he had set 
himself—a task which it was difficult to reconcile with the ac- 
complishment of the more limited program that Maurepas had set 
him. In fact, La Vérendrye was at heart a colonizer rather than an 
explorer. The establishment of permanent and well-defended 
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posts, surrounded by clearings intended to provide at least part of 
the food needed for the personnel, the opening out of access routes 

by improving the portages that interrupted them, and the estab- 
lishment of regular commercial relations with the Indians were 
manifestations of a philosophy of colonization rather than of dis- 
covery. 

It was the same philosophy that gave birth to his ideal of con- 
verting the primitive peoples and to his Indian policy. Unfortu- 
nately, other difficulties emerged in this direction, which exceeded 
La Vérendrye’s ability to deal with them, and which destroyed the 
illusions he had formed. The first attempt at conversion had failed 
by 1733. Father Messaiger, who accompanied the expedition, was 
weakened by privations and sickness, and perhaps also discour- 
aged by the difficulty in keeping the attention of an essentially 
nomad population; he renounced his task and returned to Lower 
Canada.'*! His successor, Father Aulneau, was slaughtered in 1736 

by the Sioux on an island in the Lake of the Woods, and in this way 
the second attempt at conversion came to an end. The work of 
evangelization was resumed several years later, and without great 
success, by Father Coquart, who seems to have arrived in 1742,'*? 
and, after a short stay at Fort la Reine, departed in 1744. His distant 
successor, Father La Morinerie, who served there in 1750-1, con- 

fessed his inability to make converts among the peoples of the 
West. ASS 

As to the Indian policy of La Vérendrye, it was inspired by a 
wish to mediate among the tribes who were constantly at war. But 
he had failed to take account of the inveterate dispositions of the 
peoples among whom he wished to intervene, of their conception 
of war and the place they gave it in their code of honor. At the 
time of his arrival the conflicts which the coureurs de bois had con- 
stantly provoked by their interference continued to keep the In- 
dians of the region in a state of continued hostility —the Monsoni 
of Rainy Lake who were linked with the Ojibwa, the Cree of the 
Lake of the Woods, and finally the Assiniboine who inhabited the 

area west of the Lake of the Woods that bordered on the prairie. At 
the same time, the local conflicts that divided these peoples were 
overshadowed by their common hostility toward the Sioux in 
American territory.'** 

In spite of the suspicion he first encountered among the As- 
siniboine, La Vérendrye, assisted by his son and his nephew La 
Jemeraye, set about winning them and their allies over to his pol- 
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icy of peace.'*° In view of the presence of Frenchmen in both 
camps, it was the most logical policy, and it also conformed with 
the views of the governor of New France who in 1732, with the 
same aim of a general pacification, had ordered the re- 
establishment by the Sieur Linctot of Fort Beauharnais in Sioux 
territory.'*? Buc the agreement which he sought to realize led 
merely to new conflicts. To win over the Monsoni, the Cree, and 
the Assiniboine, La Vérendrye had to increase his presents, par- 
ticularly of ammunition and firearms.'** which were so useful to 
these tribes of hunters. In this way he strengthened their offensive 
capability against the Sioux and, by reversing the situation of pre- 
vious years, he created among the latter, even though they were 
equally well provided with firearms by the Canadians, the impres- 
sion that they had been betrayed by the French in the interests of 
their enemies.'** The impression soon became a reality, for to win 
the alliance of the peoples whose furs he wished to obtain, La 
Verendrye—like Champlain in the past when he was involved 
with the Hurons—had to offer effective and personal help in the 
wars which they pursued and from which neither his counsels of 
moderation nor his distribution of symbolic collars and other 
gratifications succeeded in diverting them. When the Monsoni 
undertook an expedition against the Sioux, the need to keep their 
goodwill forced him, no matter what the cost, to assign them as 

counsellor his eldest son, Jean-Baptiste, whom they would have 

liked to make their chief." Similarly, in 1743, his son Louis- 

Joseph, Chevalier de la Vérendrye, who saw the Rocky Mountains 
from South Dakota, was obliged, despite his pacific intentions and 
exhortations, to join the warriors who asked him to help them 
against their enemies.'* 

La Vérendrye’s own attitude spread among the Sioux the con- 
viction that the French were now their enemies, and they planned 
reprisals against them in the same way as they did against the Cree 
or the Assiniboine. Perhaps it was to support given them during 
their wars that the latter tribes were referring to when they told 
the commandant of York Factory that the French were their allies 
against the Sioux.'** Certainly the massacre of 1736 on the island in 
the Lake of the Woods, when not only Father Aulneau, but also La 
Vérendrye’s eldest son and twenty-one of their companions died 
horrible deaths, was more than anything else an expression of the 
change of mood that had taken place among the Sioux.'** The in- 
cident provided a rude awakening from the illusions La Véren- 
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drye had been harboring, and placed him in a similar dilemma to 
that which a few years earlier Boisbriant, the French commandant 

of the Illinois country, had experienced in his relations with the 
peoples of the Missouri.'*® Far from intimidating the allied tribes, 
the massacre at the Lake of the Woods merely united them more 
firmly against the Sioux and involved them in a new war inspired 
by an animosity intensified by the desire to avenge the death of La 
Verendrye’s son, whom they had adopted as one of their own, '" 
Drawn against his will into the maze of native politics, La Vér- 

endrye had believed he could achieve an appeasement which the 
very psychology of primitive people condemned to failure, 
though he saw it as the condition for the success of his commercial 
operations and for the permanent establishment of the French race 
among the Indians. Only rarely would an Indian chief who had 
accepted La Vérendrye’s contention that all the Indians regardless 
of tribe were the subjects and dependents of the French king show 
himself willing to plead the cause of peace in one or other of the 
gatherings of warriors La Vérendrye liked to call together at his 
outposts in order to distribute the presents meant to “bar the way 
of the Sioux.”'*’ He could not systematically oppose their enter- 
prises, since this would have lost him their sympathy, which in 
turn would have impeded his access to new territories and 
paralyzed his commercial activity. So he preferred, at the risk of 
defying his official instructions, to consent to wars and at the same 
time to try and localize them. This happened in 1733, in 1734,"* 
and finally in 1737; in that year, rightly estimating that he could no 
longer hold back the war party that had been formed to avenge the 
raid of the preceding year, he merely advised them not to attack 
the Sioux on the Mississippi, and to spare the lives of the French- 
men whom they might encounter among the Sioux of the plains, 
against whom he agreed to an attack.“ 

Yet La Véerendrye’s efforts were far from remaining sterile. No 
more than the officers of the posts in Louisiana could he ever at- 
tempt to forbid warfare, which even the sedentary colonization of 
the prairies were able to bring to an end only after a long period. 
But at least he succeeded in reducing the incidence of aggressions, 
and it would be unjust to create the impression that his policy 
merely contributed to their aggravation.'** Convinced of the sin- 
cerity of this man who appeared to be taking their part, the Indians 
accepted his exhortations to limit their raids. They even agreed, as 
in 1732, to the truce he asked them to respect.'*' Doubtless these 
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were makeshift solutions, but they delayed aggression, they 
created a favorable atmosphere for trade and, without harming the 
good relations between the French and the native peoples, they 
created a fragile security in an area up to this time infested with 
war parties.'** Though he was unable to achieve a peace between 
the two groups of tribes he would have liked to reconcile, La Vér- 
endrye was able to arrange a treaty between the Assiniboine and 
the Mandans of the Missouri, and in this way to open the route to 
that great tributary of the Mississippi, along which he sought the 
passage to the Western Sea.'** He was adroit enough to dispel the 
hostility the Assiniboines had first manifested toward him,'* and 
after concluding with them, at their request, an official pact of 
friendship ,'** he made them his assiduous allies, whose cordial- 
ity'®® made him remark, perhaps with some exaggeration: “While 
there are Frenchmen among the savages, they will not go looking 
for the English, whom they do not love... “"? He himself 
showed a concern for the Indians which emerged with particular 
emphasis in 1737, when the Cree of Lake Winnipeg were at the 
point of decimation by a smallpox epidemic; his care at this time 
reinforced the attachment they felt to him and his sons.'** Such 
sympathy with the native tribes went hand in hand with the con- 
tinuation of French penetration and the establishment of 
bridgeheads in the wooded zone and on the verges of the prairie by 
La Vérendrye and his countrymen. 

In the first place, on the rapid-broken route to Lake Winnipeg, 
and around the lake itself, three posts supplemented each other, 
marking indispensable staging points in the process of penetration. 
They were sited on the verges of lacustrine basins where alluvial 
terrain favored clearing and allowed modest agriculture, especally 
plots of wheat and peas, whose crops were supplemented by 
game, fish, and the wild rice that grew abundantly in the marshy 
beds of the creeks,'** First there was Fort Saint-Pierre, which La 
Jemeraye and La Vérendrye’s son constructed at the outlet of 
Rainy Lake, on the right bank of the river of the same name,'® in 
the summer of 1731, when La Vérendrye himself was immobilized 
at Kaministikwia.'*' Next came Fort Saint-Charles, which La 
Verendrye built the following year on the west bank of the Lake of 
the Woods, within reach of Assiniboine territory and at the begin- 
ning of the route which, following the portage of La Savanne and 
the windings of the Roseau River, gave direct access to the Red 
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River valley.’ Finally Fort Maurepas was constructed as late as 
1743 not far from the mouth of the Maurepas River (now the Win- 
nipeg River) on Lake Winnipeg .'®* Thus the Canadians utilized the 
strategic position Lake Winnipeg occupied between the Red River 
and the basin of the Nelson River; this was the beginning of the 
most important access route to the prairies, by the Saskatchewan 
River. 

But already, even before they had occupied the mouth of the 
Winnipeg River, the French had spread out in directions radiating 
toward the south and the west. In one direction they had reached 
the valley of the Red River, near whose mouth in the autumn of 

1734 they established the first Fort Maurepas,'** and in 1738 Fort 
Rouge at the “grand forks” of the river, by which they meant the 
confluence of the Assiniboine and the Red River.'®* [In the other 
direction, following the chain of Lakes Winnipegosis and Man- 
itoba, which flanked Lake Winnipeg to the west, they built Fort 

Dauphin at the mouth of the Mossy River, which was the outflow 
of Lake Dauphin.'** In this way they strengthened their contacts 
with the Cree and the Assiniboine, whose bands frequented the 

rich hunting territories concealed between the Park Land and the 
ranges of hills bordering on Lake Winnipegosis.'*” 

Perhaps before establishing themselves between these two lakes, 
La Vérendrye’s men were already by 1735 in occupation of a post, 
whose existence the Indians revealed to the commandant of York 
Factory, on the north bank of Lake Winnipeg, which gave them 
the advantage of intercepting the fur convoys on their way to 
Hudson Bay.'®* But they did not establish themselves perma- 
nently on that shore until 1741, when they founded Lake Bourbon 

on the lower course of the Saskatchewan, at the point where it en- 
ters Cedar Lake.'* The Indians spoke highly of the wealth of furs 
in this region, whose trees provided them with the framework of 
their bark canoes.” The positions gained by the French there nar- 
rowly constricted the routes of access to York Factory. 

But La Vérendrye’s enterprise was not restricted to the bases 
disposed around this series of lake basins. He also embarked on the 
Assiniboine River, whose curves meandered through the 

monotonous stretches of the prairies.’’! In 1738 he built Fort la 
Reine on the left bank, not far from the “portage that goes to the 
Lake of the Prairies [Lake Manitoba],” and which the Assiniboine 
used to reach the series of lakes and waterways that led them to the 
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Bay of the North [Hudson Bay].!”? Thus the French positions, 
from the Kaministikwia River to the Saskatchewan, traced out an 
immense arc, whose outposts were the points through which the 
Indians passed on their way to the North, so that the furs they car- 
ried with them were inevitably appropriated. If one adds, to the 
positions La Vérendrye established or consolidated, those which 
individual traders set up on the Albany River, the circle with 
which the Canadians invested the establishments of the Bay be- 
came even broader. Not only did they now control, as well as the 
Winnipeg River, the connected route of the English River and, as a 
consequence, the Albany River itself; thanks to their base on Lake 
Nipigon they also kept their hands on a number of the tributaries 
that united to form the southern branch of the Albany River. Fi- 
nally, in 1742, they established themselves downstream from the 
meeting of the Albany’s two branches; this was a mere hundred 

miles from Fort Albany, whose trade from this point slowly with- 
ered away.'7* 

The intention of establishing themselves permanently in their 
new situations which the Canadians now expressed seemed to 
threaten the early and entire ruin of the British trade.'* From their 
posts ranged around Lake Winnipeg they strove, doubtless with 
new incursions in mind, to inform themselves on the true strength 
of their competitors by opening up, through Indian inter- 
mediaries, a correspondence with the factors of York and of Prince 
of Wales Fort in which they proposed to visit them in the hope of 
fostering mutual friendship and commerce. 

The English were not deceived. Fearing the spectacle of their 
feeble forces would only encourage renewed attacks in later years, 
they were careful not to take up these overtures. They made clear 
their intention not to embark on any correspondence or to admit 
any visitors.'”® Their precautions were entirely justified by the re- 
sumption of hostilities between France and England and by the fal- 
ling away of their trade after the expansion of the Canadian enter- 
prise in the interior. At York Factory the remarkable figures we 
have noted for the years before 1732 stabilized themselves, from 
1732 to 1739, at a lower level of between thirty and thirty-two 
thousand skins a year.'”° The decline would have been greater and 
more sustained if La Vérendrye had not been hampered in his op- 
erations by the irregularity of his supplies, and by the constantly 
renewed disputes with his associates and creditors. Because of 
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such difficulties, there were years when it seemed to him impossi- 
ble to retain the allegiance of the Indians and to keep them from 
following the route to the north,!”” and for the same reasons he 
was sometimes forced to abandon even the most strategically 
placed of his posts.'”* But even allowing for these conditions, the 
fact remains that York Factory no longer experienced the prosper- 
ity of the preceding decade, and that the trade of Prince of Wales 
Fort in its turn began to show signs of weakening.'”” The Indians 
were attracted by the good quality of French trade goods,'"" and 
they became accustomed to the new tariffs which the Canadians 
introduced and to which the English were forced to adapt their 
rates of exchange.'*’ They saw in the French from Lower Canada 
allies who freely associated with them, who adapted admirably to 
their way of life and learnt their languages, while the English of 
Hudson Bay, isolated in their posts along the coastline, continued 
to appear as aliens. 

In 1744, when La Vérendrye abandoned the posts in the West, 
where his state of health prevented him from undertaking new ac- 
tivities, he left the French there in a position that threatened to nul- 
lify entirely the trade which the English had organized with the 
Indians of the interior. He died five years later, impoverished and 
unnoticed, at the moment when he was preparing to take up again 
the work he had left incomplete. That the project for the discovery 
of the Western Sea had made little progress in comparison with the 
gains in penetrating the hinterland, if not yet in its colonization, 
was a logical consequence of the kind of activity on which La Ver- 
endrye had dissipated all his means. Yet the discovery of the West- 
ern Sea was not entirely forgotten, though the results obtained in 
that direction were evident only in what is now American terri- 
tory. They resulted from the journey which La Véerendrye under- 
took in 1738-9 across the plains of the Assiniboine and Souris riv- 
ers to the Mandans of the Missouri, and the expedition of his son 
in 1742 to South Dakota.'* In the first instance, La Vérendrye had 
to break off his journey, and it was his son, the Chevalier de la 

Vérendrye, who with an escort of seven men, reached the great 
tiver and established that it was not the sought-for passage to the 
West. In the second instance, the Chevalier and his two brothers 

sought in vain a way to the Pacific along the Big Cheyenne River; 
it led them to the foothills of the Rocky Mountains, which they 
could not attempt to cross. These enterprises extended existing 
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knowledge of the American continent, but they also showed the 
impossibility of reaching the Western Sea by the routes the Indians 
had so confusedly described. 

THE LAST PHASE OF CANADIAN PENETRATION 

During the years following La Vérendrye’s retreat, the Canadians 
pushed beyond the bases they had established around Lake Win- 
nipeg, and embarked on the exploration of the Saskatchewan 
River, whose vast ramifications penetrated the nearest chains of 
the Rocky Mountains and whose lower reaches only had hitherto 
been known as the Deer River.'** The ease of its navigation, which 
was impeded only where the land rose at the end of the first step of 
the prairies, combined with the state of peace resulting from the 
presence of the Cree as a homogenous population along the verges 
of the parkland to make the task [the ascent of the Saskatchewan] 
much less difficult than that of crossing the southern section of the 
Shield. 

There is no doubt that the man who between 1744 and 1747 be- 
came La Veérendrye’s successor, Nicholas-Joseph de Noyelles, was 
not imbued with the same sincere conviction as his predecessor, 
and certainly lacked the knowledge of the western tribes for which 
Beauharnais held La Vérendrye in such esteem.'** He took over 
the direction of the enterprise at a moment when war between 
France and England had paralysed the arrival of goods in the col- 
ony and increased the price of imports;'** this complicated the 
problem of provisioning the western posts.'*® So far as trade at 
these posts was concerned, it was a period of immobility, which 

explains the unwillingness of the merchants to accept responsibil- 
ity for them.'*” It was also a troubled time in relations with the 
native peoples, marked by frequent attacks on French posts and 
canoes around Lake Superior, carried out by the very peoples 
whose confidence and devotion La Vérendrye had won.'* These 
events were perhaps not unconnected with provocations on the 
part of the Hudson Bay traders, encouraged by discontent among 
the Indians over the lack of goods in the [French] trading posts.'* 
In 1745, when the capture of Cape Breton had diminished the pos- 
sibilities of provisioning New France itself, Beauharnais expressed 
a fear that Hudson Bay would gain the allegiance of “our say- 
ages.”’!** But at the same time there is no doubt that a conciliatory 
but firm approach adapted to the nature of the primitive mind was 
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lacking. The burning of Fort Maurepas by the Indians'®* clearly 
demonstrated the deterioration in the situation that began with La 
Verendrye’s departure. The retreat was equally evident on the Al- 
bany, where the farthest position the Canadians had reached, 

below the junction of the river’s two branches, was abandoned for 

good, while activity on the north branch lapsed entirely" and on 
the south branch it became at best intermittent.’ 

Yet La Vérendrye’s sons, Pierre and the Chevalier, did not hesi- 
tate to remedy the situation when in 1747 they were able to resume 
their father’s work in the West.'* With a devotion equal to La 
Vérendrye’s own, they applied their means to the restoration of 
the forts that had been burnt down or were near ruin,'** Then in 
1749 they leapfrogged Fort Bourbon and, taking full advantage of 
their knowledge of the Cree language, ascended the Saskatchewan 
as far as the junction of its north and south arms, Here they not 
only acquired some interesting notions about the way to the West- 
ern Sea, whose access the river they were following seemed to 

control;!*° they had also established themselves in a key situation, 

for it was at the forks of the two rivers that the various Cree tribes 
of the plains and the woods came together to discuss in what direc- 
tion they should dispatch their cargoes of furs.'*” York Factory's 
trade was immediately affected by this resumption of French activ- 
ity. From 1747 onward, James Isham was concerned about the 
progressive anaemia of his trading, which now no longer attracted 
the precious marten pelts the Indians of the Saskatchewan had been 
in the habit of bringing him. That year they visited him in large 
numbers, but they brought only 300 martens compared with the 
3,000 which in ordinary times half as many hunters had offered 
him.'®* The warning embodied in this situation was all the more 
serious since the Indians already saw themselves obliged, if they 
were to acquire the furs they needed, to seek out animals in ever 
more distant regions of the parkland and the prairie—and these 
were precisely the regions to be reached by the Saskatchewan 
River, along which the French had now laid hold of the most im- 
portant strategic points.'** 

Faithful to their old tactics, the Canadians—whom the officers 
on Hudson Bay were beginning to describe contemptuously as 
“pedlars”—endeavored to convince the Indians, in the hope of 
turning them away from the English, that they would very soon 
outflank and conquer the British positions.*°° It appears, indeed, 
that De Noyelles had conceived the idea of recruiting the Indians 
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for attacks against the forts on Hudson Bay. Very soon, in fact, 
Fort Churchill, though it was less vulnerable because of its greater 

distance, began to feel threatened when, at the end of hostilities 

between France and England, the Canadians, again better pro- 

visioned, gave a new thrust to their trading operations. Round 
about 1750, presumably on the instructions of Pierre de La Véren- 

drye, a post was erected on the present site of the little settlement 
of Le Pas, at the point where the Saskatchewan swings back to- 
ward the southeast in the direction of Lake Winnipeg.*” This Fort 
Paskoyac further consolidated the position of the French within 
the network of waterways serving York Factory. 

After the forced retreat of La Vérendrye’s sons, Legardeur de 
Saint-Pierre (Jacques Repentigny Legardeur) and the Chevalier de 
Niverville exercised control over the western posts from 1750 to 
1753 and were succeeded by the Chevalier Saint-Luc de La Corne 
from 1753 to 1757. Under these administrations the traders became 
ever more numerous in the region La Vérendrye had opened to 
their enterprises. In 1750 the Indians warned the officer of 
Prince of Wales Fort of the arrival in the interior of thirty Cana- 
dians in seven large canoes; amply supplied with trade goods, they 
were intercepting the furs of the Assiniboine.?* In 1751 a dozen 
men embarked?” on the henceforward classic route of the Sas- 
katchewan, where they erected Fort la Jonquiére on the borders of 
Assiniboine territory; it marked the extreme limit of French penet- 
ration.*°° But they abandoned it shortly afterwards,*°’ and with- 
drew to their original bases on Lake Winnipeg. There Fort Pas- 
koyac, flanked in 1753 by the advance post of Fort la Corne or 
Fort Saint-Louis, a short way from the junction of the two Sas- 
katchewans, played the central role in their trading operations ,?” 
because of the importance within the tangled network of the 
Shield’s waterways of the passages which these sites dominated.*”” 
At the same time, the Canadians resumed their activities on the 

tributaries of the Albany River: in 1750 they reached Carp Lake, 
where in 1752 they founded, half way between its shoreline and 
Lake Nipigon, a post which usefully supported the last base [on 
Lake Nipigon] and which, added to the presence the French had 
already established on the headwaters of the principal stream, lim- 
ited more and more narrowly the commerce that flowed toward 
Fort Albany.” 

Yet the Canadians did not always find their task easy. The same 
difficulties La Vérendrye had experienced complicated their enter- 
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prises. Some of these were inherent in the land itself, and especially 
in the poverty of its resources of game, which forced the “pedlars” 
to practise strict rationing, as Anthony Henday observed when he 
visited Fort Paskoyac in 1754,*!' the others were caused by the 
everlasting conflicts between the native peoples, and notably be- 
tween the Sioux and the forest tribes. The Sieur Marin, who was 

detailed to work among the Sioux, as Ensign Pachot had formerly 
done, achieved some slight successes in his attempts at mediation 
between the Sioux and the alliance of Cree and Saulteaux.*"* But 
Saint-Pierre was less fortunate, for he refused to lend himself to 

those generous distributions of presents without regard to cost 
which La Vérendrye had regarded as necessary.*'* No more than 
de Noyelles did he possess a knowledge of the psychology of 
primitive man,*" and this lack was particularly serious at a time 
when the English seemed to be provoking the Indians against their 
enemies.*!° 

But the voyageurs from Lower Canada were accustomed 
enough to dealing with the native people to make up for their 
chief's inadequacies. Their easy manner, their ability to win the 
confidence of the Indians, made up for his scanty breadth of un- 
derstanding.?"* Above all, the Canadians were so well positioned 

that they could not fail to intercept the furs of the Indian tribes 
which, on their way to the Bay, were unable to avoid Fort Pas- 

koyac. This modest post, whose pitiful appearance and shabby 
poverty Anthony Henday described, was now the most vigorous 
centre of the pedlars’ operation, Fort Saint Louis having been re- 
duced to the simple role of an advance post.”!” From this strong- 
hold originated the threat that henceforward hung over Prince of 
Wales Fort and deprived it of the security it had long enjoyed be- 
cause of its isolation. In 1752 only the Indians whose northerly 
habitat sheltered them from the activity of the French posts 
brought in a total of furs equivalent to those habitually traded.*!* 
As for York Factory, neither in 1750, nor 1751, nor 1752 did it 

reach again the level of 30,000 skins at which its trade had 
stabilized itself during the preceding years.?"® On the other hand, 
the affairs of the French prospered greatly, as is shown by the 
value of the receipts in 1765 by the concession of the “Western 
Sea,” which came to 9,000 livres for the year, against 4,000 livres 
for the concessions that followed immediately afterwards. 

Being always courteous and sociable by nature, the Canadians 
once again did their best to enter into relations with the posts on 
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the Bay. Whether, as in the days of La Vérendrye, they saw in this 
a means of keeping informed about their adversaries’ powers of 
resistance, or whether they merely wanted to gain some allevia- 

tion of their solitude, they were always asking the English for 
small favors, which were not often refused. For example, 
J. B. Proulx from his post at Le Pas asked the English to send him 
“a few fathoms of tobacco, a pair of double-soled shoes, a fiddle 

and some strings for it.'**' Sometimes, however, these amiable 

Canadians exposed themselves to a haughty refusal, as when some 
of them proposed to the governor of York Factory that they estab- 
lish a clandestine trade in furs when they came to bring him in per- 
son the payment for services they had asked of him.?** “You write 
a little out of character,” he answered, ‘‘when you offer to bring 
the payment yourself.""*** 

His suspicion was justified, for the joviality of the ‘‘pedlars” in 
no way relaxed their buildup of a state of siege in the hinterland to 
Hudson Bay, whose riches they exhausted and whose ways of ac- 
cess they blocked. They did not remain immobile in their posts. 
The shortage of food alone made this impossible. Fort Paskoyac 
could not have sustained a garrison of thirty men if its personnel 
had not often spread out among the Indians in search of supplies. 
Around the forts on Lake Winnipeg these peregrinations gave rise 
to the establishment of unimpressive and nameless advance posts, 

mere huts or shelters of logs which the Canadians put up on the 
waterways or on the lakeshores at points well placed to intercept 
the Indians. When the “‘pedlar” J. B. Larlee deserted the French 
cause for reasons of personal resentment and arrived at York Fac- 
tory in June 1759, he claimed to be unable to give a complete list of 
the Canadian positions because, apart from the principal forts he 
enumerated, there existed a number of shelters scattered around 
the Indian hunting grounds which carried out intermittent trad- 
ing. The English justly gave the name of “‘interlopers” to these 
humble and over-enterprising rivals whose operations were pro- 
liferating, in defiance of the commercial monopoly which the 
Charter of 1670 had conferred on the Hudson’s Bay Company, all 
over the drainage basin of the great inland sea.?* 

Employing both threats and blandishments, the Canadians pre- 
vented the Indians from entering Hayes River: those hunters who 
persisted in taking their furs to York Factory had no alternative 
but to make a long detour through rocky country by way of the 



The Southern Current 125 

most distant branch of the Nelson River.*** In the direction of the 
Severn River, they tried also to intercept the convoys of furs that 
were reaching the tributaries of the Hayes and Albany rivers, 
whose basins lay close by. In 1752 the commandant of York Fac- 
tory warned the Hudson’s Bay Company of their intentions.?”® 
The following year the threat became even more obvious,?*” and 
James Isham pressed the Committee in London to forestall their 
rivals by establishing a fort at the mouth of the Severn to be 
supplied by an annual ship.*** But the same year the Canadians 
blocked the upper course of the river with a post staffed by twenty 
men who were able from this central point to close off the currents 
of trade that howed toward York Factory and Fort Albany.**° The 
establishment lay about six days’ journey from the river mouth, 
roughly two hundred miles from the coast.?*° It represented a new 
attack on the trade of York Factory. The whaleboat that went an- 
nually to the estuary of the Severn River to pick up furs returned 
empty to York that year, for the Indians, well supplied with 
French trade goods, announced their intention of going hencefor- 
ward to the Canadians, with whom they had established a com- 

merce.?8! 
The head of Fort Albany wrote that the “pedlars’’ guarded “all 

the tributaries and all the arms” of the Albany River, and that the 
Indians could no longer reach his post.** Little shacks with five or 
ten, or at most twenty men, were set up everywhere; in the spring 

the traders would abandon them to take their harvests of furs to 
Lower Canada, and in the autumn would reoccupy them so as to 
gather the high-quality winter pelts.*** Toward the “Bottom of the 
Bay” the Canadian incursions, strengthened by the nearness of 
their bases, continued with ever greater vigor. “I need not tell you 
the principal cause for the lack of furs,” wrote the governor of 
Moose Factory, Thomas White, to James Isham in 1753, “for you 
know as well as I, and it is the same here or worse.’’?** 

The offensive had been well directed, considering the limita- 
tions of manpower, for it radiated in every direction around Lake 
Winnipeg. By a methodical progression it was eliminating the 
English from their rich hinterland and pushing them back toward 
the coastal fringe of Hudson Bay. Occasionally, indeed, difficul- 
ties arose with the Indians, for the pedlars did not hesitate to use 
violence to bring around those who obstinately rejected their ad- 
vances. In this way hatreds were generated, and sometimes the In- 
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dians responded by massacring a few pedlars.*** This did not hap- 

pen with the English, whose policy was prudent to the point of 
inertia, since it immobilized them in the coastal posts. Yet, on the 

whole, such events did not affect the good understanding that had 
grown up between the two races [French and Indians], and, de- 
spite everything, even when the pedlars imposed trading condi- 
tions more onerous than those of the English, they gained the pre- 

ference of the Indians®** by their clever mingling of menace and 
conciliation.?*”? Everywhere they threatened new aggressions 
against the British posts; to these plans which they paraded before 
the Indians—justifying their legitimacy by appealing to the prior- 
ity of French occupation in the interior —the destruction of Henley 
House in 1754 and again in 1759 by the common action of French 

and Indians gave a menacing import.?** 
The situation would have been even worse for the British posts 

if the conquest of Canada by England had not interrupted the op- 
erations of the French Canadians. Called to the defence of the col- 
ony on the St. Lawrence, most of them left the positions they had 
established, and as their activity gradually died away, they aban- 
doned their posts, which either fell into ruin or were burnt or pil- 

laged by the native people.” In 1759 they were still active on the 
Severn River*! and in the environs of the Churchill River.*#* But 
in the autumn of 1760, after trading lucratively with the Indians of 
the Saskatchewan,?** their canoes left Fort Paskoyac, and the 

winter passed without their returning. “Information the French 
Left Pasquca in the Fall and none of them has been seen this winter 
as usual.’"*4* 

Once again, increased by groups who hitherto had never gone 
beyond the French posts, the Indians took their furs along the 
routes to York Factory and to the establishment the English had at 
last erected at the mouth of the Severn River.*** Yet the Canadians 
had secured in the West a position too well established for the re- 
collection of their enterprises to be extinguished by the abandon- 
ment of their forts. Not only did that memory survive, but the 
Canadians left a few representatives in the West. Such men had in 
fact become incorporated into the native tribes and were more at- 
tached to the immensities of the prairie than to their native coun- 
try, so that they refused to answer that country’s call to intervene 
in a conflict to whose outcome they were indifferent.*** Isolated 
individuals, scattered in the primitive milieu, they nevertheless at- 
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tested by their presence to the survival of French penetration. 
When, after a break of some years, the latter was resumed with a 

new vigor, it was merely necessary [for the newcomers] to use 
once again the routes their predecessors had followed and marked 
out with trading posts. Then that renewed current of penetration 
was not slow in clashing with the other current that for some years 
had been timidly probing into the interior from the shores of Hud- 
son Bay. 





CHAPTER FOUR 

THE NORTHERN CURRENT 

The current of penetration that should have fed the shoreline of 
Hudson Bay never developed with as much vitality as that which 
emerged from the southerly base of the Canadian Shield. It had at 
its disposal access routes which were both more numerous and 
more practicable than the rivers that cut through the rocky plateau 
from Lake Superior, but it ventured on them only at a later period 
and ona limited scale. Yet on this northerly base was built the em- 
pire of the great Hudson’s Bay Company, whose sovereign au- 
thority would in the end be imposed on the whole immense terri- 
tory of the North West, and whose control over the exploitation of 
the fur trade, from the prairie to the Barren Grounds, would drain 
away all its profits for the benefit of the City of London. From this 
base also originated the first enterprise of sedentary colonization 
organized in the West, as a consequence of which agricultural pro- 
ducts now flow from a region which for long years remained the 
exclusive domain of the fur trade. 

Only after a long period of uncertainty and lethargy —beginning 
in 1683 and ending only in 1774—did the Hudson's Bay Company 
succeed in imposing its tutelage over those territories into which 
the Canadians had preceded it. Even the initiation of its enterprise, 
whose stagnancy for a long period seemed to foretell eventual fail- 
ure, included an alien element. For it was Radisson and Chouart 
des Groseilliers, the two adventurers whose operations had ex- 
tended to the extremity of the Great Lakes the economic domina- 
tion of New France, who suggested to the King of England 
[Charles I]] the double plan that resulted in the Company’s crea- 
tion; on the one hand, the search—by way of the inland sea called 
Hudson Bay—for a passage toward the Western Sea, a project 
which its promoters knew to be completely unrealizable; on the 
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other hand the establishment of a trade with the native peoples of 
North America whose possibilities they knew in advance to be un- 
limited. Responding to their suggestions, the King signed the 
famous Charter which confirmed the establishment and commer- 
cial privileges of the company. A mere two years later, the newly 
founded enterprise organized its first expedition to the shores of 
Hudson Bay and established “tat the Bottom of the Bay" [James 
Bay] and on the delta of the Nemiskau River, henceforward 
known as Rupert's River, its first post of Fort Charles,’ Soon forts 
multiplied at the mouths of the rivers that emptied into James Bay 
and Hudson Bay; in 1673 Moose Factory, at the estuary of the 
river of the same name, which in the beginning was the Com- 
pany’s principal stronghold and later was destined to hold at bay 
the final aggressions of the Canadians from Lower Canada;? in 
1675, Fort Albany, at the mouth of the Albany River, whose 

headwaters were close to those of the English River;’ in 1682 Port 

Nelson or Fort Hayes, which was situated on the left bank of the 

Nelson River estuary, and in 1684 was flanked—and later 

supplanted—by York Factory on the opposite shore;* in 1685 Fort 
Severn, which was built near the mouth of the New Severn River, 

about three miles from the coast;* finally, Prince of Wales Fort 
which, after an abortive attempt in 1688, was erected in 1715 on the 

delta of the Churchill River, at the entrance to the Barren 

Grounds, for the purpose of draining off the furs which the 
Chipewyans brought from Great Slave Lake and Lake Athabasca.* 

Taking possession in this way of the sterile shoreline of Hudson 
Bay, the Company of Adventurers of England Trading into Hud- 
son’s Bay had no thought of embarking on a penetration of the 
country along the rivers that seemed to offer an entry. At the same 
time, the Company did not contemplate remaining entirely im- 
mobile along the coastline of the Bay. It had assumed that some of 
its personnel would venture into the wooded and rocky interior of 
the country, if not for extensive periods, at least long enough to 
develop a knowledge of the terrain, to gain the friendship and the 
trade of the Indians, and to persuade them to visit the coast in 

larger numbers. From the beginning, the governor of Port Nelson 
was urged to stimulate the goodwill existing in this region by in- 
creasing payments for services and distributions of gifts.7 When 
the Company learnt of the initiative which young Richard Norton 
had shown in his journeys among the Indians, it granted him the 
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monetary reward that he deserved.* Similarly, the London Com- 

mittee urged its employees to learn the languages of the native 
peoples, in the hope of making use of them in the expeditions of 
discovery which they planned.* But such exhortations had no 
practical result. With a few isolated exceptions, the Company’s 
personnel remained impervious to the lavish urgings of its direc— 
tors, who were too far away for their initiatives to be really effec- 

tive among the kind of men who formed the garrisons of the 
posts. 

In fact the project of penetrating the hinterland, which turned 
out to be so easy to realize for the voyageurs of Lower Canada, 
presented—so far as the Hudson’s Bay Company was 
concerned—a mass of obstacles that paralysed the chances of their 
achievement. The establishments first built on the shores of Hud- 
son Bay long justified the reproach of being ‘‘paltry little forts” 
which Governor La Barre levelled at them in a document intended 
to demonstrate the priority of the Most Christian King’s rights 
over the domain which the Company had arrogated to itself.'° 
They were in fact no more than wretched wooden houses, whose 

dilapidation is constantly attested in the correspondence of their 
officers; the thickness of the logs in their palisades could not even 
protect them from simple musketry fire, and the constant repairs 
demanded by the harshness of the climate were notably neg- 
lected.!! The men who occupied them might at a pinch have been 
capable of performing the task of limited penetration which the 
Company expected without weakening the defences of the posts, 
but only ifit had been possible, in case of emergency, to unite their 
forces at the especially threatened points along the coastline. Thus, 
when it was decided to establish Moose Factory, the Company as- 
signed to it a first contingent of twenty-five men.'? At Fort Nel- 
son, the Committee first fixed at forty men the complement of its 
garrison.'* In 1686, when the 100-man expedition led by the 
Chevalier de Troyes seized in succession the forts established at the 
“Bottom of the Bay’ —Moose, Rupert, Albany'*—the entire force 
gathered in the British posts amounted to a total of about ninety 
men,'® of whom the majority belonged to the captured forts.'® In 
1694, when the expedition of Le Moyne d'Iberville occupied Fort 
Nelson, it found there a garrison of fifty-three men.'? Ideally, such 
numbers might have provided for both the defence of the Hudson 
Bay forts and for enterprises of discovery in the hinterland. 
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But their effectiveness was greatly diminished by their fragmenta- 
tion among posts isolated from each other and also by the medioc- 
rity of the personnel they represented. 

The isolation of the bases which the English had scattered along 
the coast of the Bay seemed from the beginning one of their main 
weaknesses. Not only did great distances separate them—384 
miles from Albany to Severn, 150 from Severn to York Factory, 
78 from Albany to Moose'*—but the harsh character of the terrain 
made travel between the posts virtually impossible. Only the In- 
dians and men who were charged with carrying mail faced its dif- 
ficulties. Thus the Bay itself was the only feasible means of com- 
munication, But navigation was not easy, for the shallowness of 
the water and the ice that drifted about during the summer" often 
made dangerous the access to this shifting coastline where ships 
were liable to run aground on the scattered shoals. Both the es- 
tuary of the Nelson River and the mouths of the rivers that 
emptied into James Bay were well known for their difficulties. 
“The seashores are very difficult, mariners finding themselves 

forced to keep more than three leagues out to avoid shipwreck.’’*" 
Asa result of this maritime situation, the English posts, which 

were always furnished with excellent pilots capable of overcoming 
the difficulties of navigation, were led to orient themselves toward 

exploring the coastline rather than discovering the hinterland. 
Right from the beginning, the officers of the Company pushed on 
with their discovery operations along the coast. In 1686, Michael 
Grimington in the sloop Hayes reached the mouth of the Churchill 
River, where he found two pieces of artillery which he supposed 

were the remains of expeditions by the Dutch or the Danes.?! In 
1722, Captain Scroggs, accompanied by young Richard Norton, 
went north of the Churchill River in search of the copper mines 
whose existence had been indicated to them by the Indians.** In 
1750 and again in 1756 the sloop Churchill, commanded by James 
Walker, and later by James Wood, followed the coast in the same 
direction, with a view to charting it and penetrating Chesterfield 
Inlet.?* At this period the Company had instructed the comman- 
dant of Prince of Wales Fort to undertake expeditions each year to 
render more exact the knowledge of the coastline and to establish 
commercial relations by water with the native populations.** But 
if the situation of the posts predisposed them to maritime enter- 

prises, and if they contributed actively to the knowledge of the 
coastline which the French, for their part, neglected entirely dur- 
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ing their occupation of Hudson Bay, they also encountered, in this 
necessity of using the sea as a way to communicate with each 
other, an obstacle to the combination of their forces against their 
enemies. 

The lack of solidarity among the chiefs of the various posts 
further aggravated this dispersal of forces. Instead of uniting their 
efforts and working together for the success of the Company's op- 
erations, the officers soon gave in to the desire to increase the trade 
of the establishments they directed to the detriment of neighbor- 
ing posts. Between York Factory and Prince of Wales Fort, be- 
tween Moose Factory and Albany, between Albany and its ad- 
vance post, Henley House, the same spirit of competition was 
manifest and destroyed all community of action.”* In this fragmen- 
tation of [the Company’s] forces, the Canadians found their ad- 
vantage: by exploiting it they were able, in 1686, to get the better 
successively of all the [British] positions on James Bay, which, to 
make matters worse, were badly defended by a personnel whose 
poor quality resulted from its indiscriminate recruitment in British 
towns and its failure to adapt to primitive conditions of living. 
What, in fact, could these British garrisons do against adversaries 

familiar with the guerrilla methods of native warfare, and accus- 

tomed to the extremities of climate and the difficulties of travel? 
The harshness of the climate had its effect on the English em- 
ployees,** all the more because many of them were too old to en- 

dure the privations and hard toil demanded by life in these des- 
olate lands,*” which were often made even less supportable by the 
bad condition of the forts and other buildings.** From the very 
first years, there were open expressions of discouragement," and 
discipline suffered as a consequence. At York Factory," at Fort 
Albany,*! at Moose Factory,"* there were frequent refusals to 

obey; sometimes they went as far as mutiny.** The officers in 
charge complained to each other that the men too often neglected 
their duties and caused grave accidents through carelessness.** The 
worst propensities of the urban proletariat re-emerged among 
such a carelessly recruited personnel, who resisted all efforts to 
improve them.** 

At the same time, relations with the Indians called for a know- 

ledge of their languages, in which the employees were completely 
lacking and which they had little interest in acquiring.*® Their lack 
of experience unfitted them for fishing and hunting,*” and the 
short term of their engagements, limited by contracts of two to 
five years,°* prevented their gaining that experience of a primitive 
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environment which was built into the Canadian way of life.” 
They were paid fixed wages that were enough for their needs but 
not enough to encourage a spirit of enterprise,*° nor, in compensa- 
tion, did they possess that lively energy which so often flourished 
in frontier regions. They were qualified neither for the risks of ex- 
peditions in unknown regions which repelled them by their desol- 
ate appearance and by the tales of their tribal wars, nor for the 
perils involved in defending the posts. It would have been self- 
deluding to expect that such men, engaged as tradesmen or as un- 
skilled laborers ,** would willingly leave the shelter of the posts to 
develop the Company’s operations in the hinterland. Indeed, the 
latter often incurred their ill will when it stirred itself to a more 
energetic policy of expansion.** They were unfamiliar with the 
operation of the canoe, which was the only means of transport in 
the rocky terrain of the Shield and which demanded qualities of 
energy and endurance that the timid reconnaissance expedition or- 
ganized on the Albany River in 1743** showed were beyond such 
men’s capabilities, 

Given the Grcumstances, it was natural that the personnel of the 

posts should long remain ignorant of the most elementary details 
regarding the hinterland of the country whose very coast they 
knew only fragmentarily. Their ignorance and their absence of 
curiosity came as an unpleasant surprise to the London Committee 
in 1750 when it decided to interrogate the men returning to Eng- 
land on the expiry of their contracts. The questions its members 
put on the nature of the country to the north of York Factory and 
on the distance of the French bases remained unanswered, and the 

Committee complained to John Newton, the officer in charge [at 
the Bay]: “We do find [your men] very ignorant in most things, 
Especially in knowing the true distances of places from the Fac- 
tory .. . all the Information they can give us comes from the In- 
dians who widely differ in their accounts of Distances.”"*° Accord- 
ing to Andrew Graham, as late as the eve of Anthony Henday’s 
expedition of 1754, the Company's officers refused to believe in 
the existence of horses and horsemen in the hinterland.** It was 
precisely to remedy the poor quality of the garrisons that in 1710 
the Company undertook the recruitment of its men in the Orkney 
Islands.*” They were accustomed to boats, and this was regarded 

as qualifying them for the operation of canoes.** They appeared to 
be more conscientious in carrying out the tasks allotted to them. 
But in practice they somewhat belied the virtues that had been attri- 
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buted to them, since, faced with the difficulties of a type of naviga- 
tion to which they were not accustomed, they showed no more 
skill than the rest in manipulating the fragile canoes that were en- 
trusted to them.*® It would have been equally self-deluding to 
count on their valor in defending the posts. 

These vicissitudes in the history of the English establishments 
leave one with the impression that the failure of the Company’s 
enterprises must have seemed imminent. It was only in 1713 that 
the coastal forts, definitely restored to England by the Treaty of 
Utrecht, gained at least a measure of security. Up to that time, 

their history had been an alternation of setback and success. The 

most striking setbacks were the loss in 1686 of the posts at the Bot- 
tom of the Bay, captured by the Chevalier de Troyes’ men;"” the 
failure in 1687—8 of the attempt by the English to reoccupy their 
base at Albany;*! the voluntary destruction of the post of New 
Severn in 1690 to prevent its falling into the hands of the French;"* 

and finally, in 1694, the abandonment of Fort Nelson.’* The suc- 
cesses, which ended in the retaking of the posts at the Bottom of 
the Bay, remained incomplete, for the pride the Company felt in 
this achievement was immediately wiped out by the new humilia- 
tion inflicted by the victorious attack of Le Moyne d’Iberville on 
the key establishment of York Factory in 1694.°* 

The fear of a sudden attack, rapidly carried out by groups of 
Canadians surging out of the forest and throwing themselves un- 

expectedly on posts that were unprepared, became a veritable ob- 

session which one finds endlessly repeated in the monotonous 

journals of the posts. It was, indeed, justified by the isolated sur- 

prise attacks which, quite apart from the more important assaults 

culminating in the enterprise of 1686, the Canadians carried out 

periodically against the trading posts, such as the attack in 1709 on 

Fort Albany, which was fortunately warded off by Governor Ful- 

lertine’s defensive preparations.*® Only one establishment was 

exempt from these adventures, thanks to its isolation and the late 

date of its construction. This was Prince of Wales Fort, now Fort 

Churchill; situated on the edge of Chipewyan territory, which was 

equally inaccessible to the Canadian enterprises, it had nothing to 

fear from the encroachments of the Company’s adversaries." 

These attacks were not merely a matter of regular assaults, car- 

ried out according to the strategic rules of the period. The manner 

in which they were conducted was much more reminiscent of the 

wars between native peoples. They borrowed from such Indian 
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campaigns their sudden and unexpected attacks, their ferocity, and 
even the theatrical use of war cries. All of this was calculated to 
make an impression on the mixed array of recruits who undertook 
to defend the posts, and who were prepared neither for the 
methods which the primitive environment had taught their adver- 
saries, nor for the ruses of which the latter made excellent use in 

seeking to capture the forts without exposing themselves to 
danger.*” In 1686 the garrison of Moose Factory would have been 
the victims of the fury of the Chevalier de Troyes’ men if de 
Troyes himself had not intervened, “Then I had a great deal of 
trouble dampening the ardor of our Canadians who, shouting as 
loudly as a crew of savages, asked nothing more than to give 
employment to their knives.””** 

In such circumstances, what could be expected of men of whom 

most were artisans disgruntled with their fate,*® whose only aim in 

accepting service under the Company was to escape for a while the 
life they had endured in the towns of England, and whose courage 

was in no way stimulated by promises of rewards and pensions in 
case they were wounded or incapacitated?* After the defeat of 
1686, a witness declared to the London Committee that, in the 

forests of the North, five hundred of its recruits would be incapa- 

ble of carrying as much as a hundred Canadians used to the coun- 
try and its difficulties.’ And, if the Company placed on Henry 
Sergeant, the Governor of Moose Factory, the responsibility for 
the defeat that besmirched the national honor (‘‘so extraordinarily 
tainted by the negligence and cowardice of Sergeant”) ,"* the Gov- 
ernor excused himself by blaming his men, claiming that their re- 
fusal to fight had been the cause of his capitulation.** 

Even when, after the long period of stagnation in which the 
Company was reduced to the single establishment of Fort Al- 

bany," the Treaty of Utrecht at last stabilized its position on Hud- 
son Bay, the threat of attack was not completely ended. Not only, 
as we have seen, were the operations of the pedlars a source of ever 
renewed anxiety, but, at the end of the eighteenth century, when 
the memory of the French exploits of 1686 and 1694 had died 
away, the threat reappeared suddenly in the expedition of La 
Pérouse, who in 1782 destroyed the walls of Prince of Wales Fort 
and completely burnt down the palisades of York Factory.** 

Thus the threat of a renewed French offensive long over- 
shadowed the destinies of the posts on Hudson Bay. It is easy to 
understand how their officers, badly supported by their personnel, 
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with nothing to fall back on but these unconnected posts, and lost 
at the extremity of a continent that seemed intent on repelling 
them, should have systematically neglected the work of penetrat- 
ing the country. They had no means with which to undertake it, 
and simple prudence advised them not to make the attempt. 
Moreover, in this prolonged inertia, which allowed the Cana- 
dians, without fear of competition, to develop freely their com- 
mercial operations among the tribes of the interior, there was 
something more than a mere concatenation of unfavorable condi- 
tions, whose blame rested neither with the Company, forced to 
recruit its personnel haphazardly in England, nor with the com- 
mandants of the posts, forced to accept the tactics which common 
sense suggested to them, Other elements intervened, which in- 
volved more directly their respective responsibilities. 

The Company itself hampered the initiatives of its representa~ 
tives by forbidding them to organize any expedition into the hin- 

terland without its express authorization. Thus we see it on the 
one hand encouraging some enterprise that contributed to know- 
ledge of the country and its people, and on the other hand disap- 
proving the request of a young employee who wished to go 
among the Indians in order to learn their language.** Andrew 
Graham reproached the Committee for neglecting energetic 
young people who volunteered to establish useful relations with 
the peoples of the interior and for reserving its favors and its in- 
creases of wages for men who merely carried out the work of arti- 
sans.*? The example of Anthony Henday, whose services in the 
domain of discovery remained unacknowledged by the Company, 
seems to justify Graham's criticisms." James Isham also contrasted 
the Company’s indifference with the attitude of the Canadians, 
who encouraged initiative among their men by giving them a 
commission based on the number of furs they acquired in trade," 
whereas the Company manifested its recognition only by granting 
fixed increases in wages.”” To the idea of annual expeditions of 
employees into the hinterland the Company came round only re- 
luctantly. Even in 1769, refusing to accept the evidence of actual 
successes, it disapproved of this practice, and ordered the chief fac- 
tor of York to discontinue it.”! 

It seems that having first looked favorably on such enterprises, 
the Company gradually turned away from them, and for a long 
period remained frozen in an attitude of immobility and in an ina- 
bility to recognize the factors that were detrimental to the impetus 
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of its operations. Thus the manpower of the posts, sufficient in the 
beginning, gradually fell behind the needs of the service. This in- 
sufficiency was evident as soon as the Company resumed posses- 
sion of its establishments. York Factory complained that it was 
unable to assure proper service with a personnel parsimoniously 
limited to twenty-four men, when a minimum of twenty-six was 
necessary.” The post of Albany, reduced to less than fifteen men, 
saw itself obliged in 1743 to tolerate the crippling encroachments 
of the pedlars into its territory.”* The Churchill River post, 
situated in a particularly desolate region, had to start operations 
with a garrison of sixteen men, many of whom could not adapt to 
the rigors of the climate, and this situation aroused Captain James 
Knight's indignation against the directors in London: “I wish 
...the Committee . . . was to take their Winter Quarters with us 

. then I believe they would sett a Little more value upon mens 
Lives.”’* Severn, where the work of construction required at least 
twenty employces, was even worse provided, with a garrison of 
five men in 1760.7" And Moose Factory, threatened on all sides by 
the French enterprises, had in 1736 a complement of only twenty- 
three men.”* When the Committee made up its mind to more vig- 
orous efforts and raised to forty-eight men the garrisons of Albany 
(1751) and York (1758),77 it was not exceeding the needs of its 
posts, for by that date the work of penetration into the interior had 
begun, and the resulting diminution of manpower rendered these 
establishments incapable of resistance in the ever possible eventual- 
ity of an attack.”* If later on the staff of Fort Albany was stabilized 
at fifty men, the increase at York was intermittent, subject to the 
Committee’s caprices and the difficulties of recruitment, From 
sixty-nine men in 1768, York fell to thirty-four in 1772, a number 
obviously insufficient for the double tasks of maintaining the post 
and carrying out expeditions into the interior.” 

The Company interposed a further hindrance to penetration by 
failing to adapt the quality of its trade goods to the demands of the 
Indians and the nature of their life. In this way, instead of giving 
its employees the means to struggle on equal terms with the Cana- 
dians, it paralysed any serious attempt at entry into the interior. To 
judge from the repeated complaints of officers at the posts, the 
Committee for many years ignored the real needs of its establish- 
ment. Undoubtedly the situation of its posts and the length and 
perils of the route that linked them with the homeland made their 
provisioning difficult and at times uncertain.*” From this disability 
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the French during their occupation of Port Nelson suffered even 
more than the Anglo-Saxons, With even less adequate supplies,** 
they allowed the trade they had established in the beginning with 
the Indians to fall into jeopardy, and had to tolerate their custom- 
ers’ departure in the direction of Albany as they waited for the 
treaty of 1713 to eliminate them from their coastal base.** Thus it 
would have been equally difficult for them, relying on Port Nel- 
son, to follow the waterways into the interior, and the years of 

French occupation were just as much a time of immobility as those 
of the English presence.** The English in fact suffered less from 
the difficulties of getting supplies than from the poor adaptation to 
native requirements of the merchandise that did arrive. For 
nomadic hunting peoples, lightness and solidity were as necessary 
in the other articles that were sold to them as good quality in mus- 
kets and ammunition. It was precisely in these directions that En- 
glish goods were inferior to those offered by the Canadians. Even 
in the Committee’s opinion, their gunpowder was of mediocre 
quality."* The kettles, needed for preparing the Indians’ food, 
were too heavy and difficult to handle, and did not win their satis- 
faction.*® On the other hand, the ornaments with which the Cana- 

dians always adorned the cloaks and tunics they offered increased 
their value greatly in the eyes of the Indians.*° By the middle of the 
eighteenth century the Committee had still not entirely eliminated 
these inferiorities by systematically improving the articles they of- 
fered for exchange. Moreover, for a number of years the unre- 
stricted distribution of alcohol gave the Canadians a real advan- 
tage.*” In this direction, however, after an initial period of hesita~ 
tion, the Company reconciled itself to imitating its competitors’ 
methods, and shortly after the reoccupation of its bases, it resorted 
more widely to this practice, whose pernicious character had 
aroused the scruples the Committee showed in the beginning re- 
garding its use." 

In its struggle against the Canadians, the Company had only 
two appreciable advantages. The first was its ability to import by 
sea heavy merchandise which the Canadians could not easily 
transport over the inland waterways. Among other items, these 
included muskets, which the Indians could obtain more reasona- 
bly at the posts along the coastline and which they sometimes re- 
sold to the Canadians.*® Even more important was the fine quality 
of the Brazilian tobacco the Company sent to Hudson Bay, with 
which the Canadians were unable to compete.*” But the advan- 



140 THE PENETRATION OF THE WHITE RACE 

tages of these ready supplies of heavy trade goods disappeared in 
the interior, where the matter of transport became as crucial for 
the Company’s men as it was for the traders from Lower Canada. 
Here it was only with their tobacco that the Anglo-Saxons could 
compete effectively with the pedlars, and this was not enough to 
neutralize the advantages the latter found in the better adaptation 
of the articles they offered to the needs of the primitive peoples 
whose customs they knew so well. As for the terms which the 
English offered to the Indians, in the earlier years these were some- 

times easier than those of the Canadians. The Indians often com- 
plained to the officers on Hudson Bay of the greed which the ped- 
lars showed. But even if the Canadians could not offer the heavier 
kinds of merchandise at rates so advantageous as their rivals, they 
often fixed better terms for other articles, which prevented their 
adversaries from ever gaining complete supremacy."! 

The inequality resulting from this complex of factors prevented 
the current of penetration proceeding from the coast from rival- 
ling for a long time that which was based on the Great Lakes. This 
was in spite of the superiority which logically should have accrued 
from its greater proximity to the base that sustained it as compared 
with that of the Canadians to their St. Lawrence base." Before 
1774, what penetration took place consisted of a small number of 
individual initiatives that can have contributed only slightly to 
bringing together white and native. Given the mediocre personnel 
which the posts on Hudson Bay had at their disposition, it would 
have been impossible to undertake expeditions comparable to 
those of La Vérendrye. There were merely a few exceptional men, 
obeying their natural curiosity or a desire to broaden the Com- 
pany’s operations, who could accept the risks of a task so unfamil- 
iar and attended by such unknown perils. In 1743, tired of listening 
to the reproaches of the Indians for not imitating the Canadians’ 
activity ,"* the commandant of Fort Albany decided to erect a trad- 

ing post on the river whose passage his rivals were intercepting. 
The attempt merely revealed the inability of his men to reproduce 
the pedlars’ exploits, and it meant a setback of several years in col- 
lective enterprise.** 
The promoter of this enterprise, Joseph Isbister, was not the kind 
of man to remain content with a policy of immobility. Conscious 
of the gains to be made from broadening contacts in the hinter- 
land, he devised a new type of craft, of shallow draft to enable it to 
ascend the rivers of the interior, of larger dimensions than the 
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canoe to allow for heavier cargoes, and built with a solidity that 
would resist the wear and destruction that the clumsiness of the 
employees was constantly inflicting on the canoes.®* Under his di- 
rection, in 1743, eight men, accompanied by ten canoes of Indians, 
ascended the Albany River to the confluence of the two main 
arms, and there, on the southern branch, not far from the junc- 
tion, they built an advance post called Henley House, which was 
well defended, like a mediaeval keep in miniature.*® The journal 
kept on this expedition shows the difficulties that hindered the en- 
terprise, the awkwardness with which the crews manoeuvred their 
craft against a current that was too fast for them, the sufferings due 

to heat and insects, the exhaustion caused by the what seemed such 
long distances (in fact only 120 to 125 miles) and by the need for 
the frequent use of the towrope.*” When at last the post was com- 
pleted and fortified, the danger of Canadian attacks reappeared, 
more urgently than on the coast. Operating from their bases on 
Lake Superior or Lake Nipigon, always ready to intimidate the na- 
tives by spreading rumors of their aggressive designs,"* the Cana- 
dians were too numerous in the environs of Henley House to tol- 
erate for long the post’s existence. In 1755 the news reached Al- 
bany that the little garrison had been massacred by the Indians: a 
number of clues showed that they had acted at the instigation of 
the coureurs de bois. The following year, the latter burnt the post, 
whose handsome appearance had been the pride of the chief factor 
of Albany, and whose construction had marked the first attempt at 
penetration of any importance to be carried out by the personnel 
of the British company.** 

The experiment was resumed, not without misgivings, in 
1759." It ended even more wretchedly in the murder of George 
Clark, who had been appointed to the command of Henley 

House, and in the destruction of the post even before its garrison 

had arrived. The assault was carried out by a dozen Canadians, 
reinforced by an equal number of Indians they had won over to 
their cause.'*! [t was only in 1766 that the Company's men could 
overcome the fear these events had created, and would agree to 
make another attempt, this time more fortunate.'” 

This isolated and relatively unimportant instance of collective 
penetration did not fall within the geographic framework of the 
true West, and it was individual enterprises that were responsible, 

during the first century of the occupation of Hudson Bay, for the 
establishment of a rudimentary trend of expansion into the in- 
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terior; in character it was radically different from the French 

method of penetration. Instead of fostering ever closer association 
between the primitive and the civilized, and of encouraging, as La 
Vérendrye had done, a rudimentary form of colonization, these 
isolated travellers rapidly followed the routes of penetration, paus~ 
ing merely to establish short-lived commercial relations with the 
new tribes they encountered. But, though they remained only 
temporarily among the Indians, they nevertheless contributed 
more actively through their mobility to the discovery of the coun- 
try than the Canadians had done. This tradition was established 
with the first such individual enterprise, that of Henry Kelsey, in 
1690: henceforward, it was among the Scots and the Anglo-Saxons 
that the discovery of the West found its most convinced and enter- 
prising pioneers. 
When the Canadians had not yet reached Lake Winnipeg, the 

young Henry Kelsey, whose curiosity of mind and partiality for 
the company of the Indians distinguished him from the ordinary 
Company employees, had penetrated as far as the lower reaches of 
the Saskatchewan.'*? Then, plunging into the prairie itself, he 
reached the neighborhood of the Touchwood Hills.'"* Encouraged 
by the increase in salary which Governor Geyer had granted 
him,'"* but above all impelled by the desire to develop his know- 
ledge of native languages and to clarify his notions regarding the 
interior of the continent,’ he lived among the peoples of the 
prairie and the park land, the Assiniboine and the Cree, from 1690 
to 1692, and, having asserted himself to dissuade them from their 

incessant warfare, he returned to Fort Nelson, accompanied by a 
flotilla of canoes abundantly loaded with furs.'°? That initiative, 
which ended in the discovery of a region still unknown to the 

traders of Lower Canada, should have assured to York Factory the 

domination of a vast hinterland. Unfortunately, and despite the 
hopes the Company expressed that his example would soon be fol- 
lowed,'" Henry Kelsey’s achievement remained isolated. He him- 
self was promoted to the charge of York Factory, and became too 
much absorbed in his duties to absent himself for a long enough 
period to repeat his journey, and the memory of his expedition 
faded gradually away. Andrew Graham seemed unaware of it in 
1792, when he gave Anthony Henday the credit of having been the 
first to winter among the native peoples." And in fact it was only 
with Henday’s initiative that the work of Henry Kelsey was really 
taken up again. 
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During the interval, though individual initiatives were not en- 

tirely lacking, they were limited enterprises of no great scope 
which added merely to the knowledge of the immediate environ- 
ments of the posts on the Bay. It is in this context that one must 
consider the 1690 expedition of Chouart des Groseilliers and Elie 
Grimard, then in the service of the Hudson’s Bay Company, who 
ventured without great profit some two hundred miles from York 
Factory;'!” or the enterprise of William Stewart who, at the insti- 
gation of the governor of York Factory, accompanied a group of 
Cree in 1715 to the territory of the Chipewyan and tried to recon- 
cle the two peoples with a view to facilitating the exploitation of 
the supposed mineral wealth of the region.’ Similarly limited 
was the task confided in 1718 to the apprentice Richard Norton, of 
visiting the Indians of the Churchill River to exercise a conciliatory 
influence among them and to direct their furs toward York Fac- 
tory.''? Perhaps more important, but with little bearing on the real 
problem of penetration, were the initiatives of Moses Norton, 

who, in the first years of Prince of Wales Fort, stayed for long 
periods among the Chipewyan to lead them in greater numbers 
toward the post on the Churchill River.’ None of these enter- 
prises could in fact be compared with those of Henry Kelsey or of 
Anthony Henday. 

In 1754, disturbed by the progress which the Canadians were 
making, Henday put an end through his courageous initiative to 
the Company’s immobility. Taking off on a higher level from the 
achievements of Henry Kelsey, he inaugurated the series of indi- 
vidual enterprises which, however intermittent, constituted the 
first stage in the occupation of a territory that was on the point of 
passing under the domination of the traders from Lower Canada. 
Anthony Henday, whose clouded past detracted in no way from 
his qualities of energy and disinterestedness, offered on his own 
accord to hold the excessively bold Canadians at bay by establish- 
ing direct contact with the peoples of the prairie.'" In June 1754 he 
left York Factory with the Cree who had come there to trade their 
furs, with the intention of pushing as far as the territory of the 

Blackfoot.'"® In 1755, having passed the winter on the prairie, he 
returned to York merely to guide the Indians whose allegiance he 
had gained, and departed at once for the country of the As- 
siniboine and the Blackfoot.'!® His example immediately gained 
converts. In 1756-7 and in 1757-8, J. Waggoner and Joseph 
Smith in their turn penetrated to the boundaries of the prairie,''"” 
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followed soon by George Potts and Isaac Batt in 1758—9,''* who 

were joined in 1759 by Henday and Smith.'"® From this time on- 
ward the current continued without interruption, augmented in 
1761—2 by Henry Pressick, and in 1764—5 by Joseph Taylor,"®” 

Usually employees would depart at the beginning of summer 
and return the following year with the Indians who were willing 
to accompany them. Sometimes, however, they reappeared at 
York Factory only after an absence of two years.'*! Their activity 
was entirely commercial. The work they set out to accomplish 
was neither a scientific enterprise, with a clearly defined aim of 
geographical discovery, nor a program of evangelization. Its aim 
was nothing more than the establishment of broader economic re- 
lations with the native peoples, intended to prevent the exhaustion 
of the Hudson Bay trade through the invasive action of the Cana- 
dians. Yet these men who sought to form an economic link with 
the parklands and the prairies involuntarily made a more effective 
contribution to the discovery of the interior than La Vérendrye, 
whose efforts, theoretically limited to the search for the Western 
Sea, had been dispersed in commercial operations, in the founda- 

tion of posts that might ensure the effective occupation of the land, 
and in his interventions in native quarrels. Instead of attempting to 
take possession of the land, the Hudson’s Bay Company’s men 
went rapidly along the routes of penetration and so they reached 
far beyond the limits that were attained by their rivals. 

The itinerary they followed was invariably based on the water- 
ways uniting Lake Winnipeg with York Factory.'** Having 
reached the great lake, whose approaches were guarded by the 
Canadians, they used either the artery of the Saskatchewan River, 
or the series of interconnected lakes—Winnipeg, Winnipegosis, 
and Manitoba—and by such routes they could reach the most re- 
mote sections of the prairies and the parkland. Anthony Henday, 
following the lower reaches of the Saskatchewan, came to the Car- 

rot River, and, having traversed that extreme edge of the prairie 
where saline lakes abound and the trees disappear, he reached the 
South Saskatchewan, went on to the Red Deer River without giv- 
ing even a thought to consolidating with outposts the route he had 
followed, and there he found himself in the country of the Blood 
Indians, where he spent the winter of 1754—5 within sight of the 
Rocky Mountains.'** In 1756-7 Joseph Smith and J. Waggoner 
decided to circulate in the neighborhood of Lake Winnipegosis, 
among the clearings and wooded stretches of the Porcupine River 
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and Duck Mountain, where in December the bison found their 

natural refuge. Their aim was to broaden exchanges with the 
Sturgeon Indians.'** In 1763—4, they probed more deeply into the 
prairie, as far as the South Saskatchewan and the Birch Hills.'*° In 

1757-8 Smith followed the coast of Lake Manitoba to the As- 
siniboine River; he ascended its course and spent the winter among 

its inhabirants.'*° Finally, Henry Pressick resumed Anthony Hen- 
day’s work among the Blackfoot.'®” 

Thus the expeditions of the Hudson’s Bay Company's men into 
the prairies extended over a far greater area than those of the 
French Canadians. The Canadian positions, solidly established at 
the entry to the western plains and on the borders of the parkland, 
were well enough placed to spare their garrisons from the need of 
such journeys. The Canadians had little to fear from the operations 
of their rivals. The very superiority of their positions neutralized 
the effects of such competition, Since they could not carry any ap- 
preciable amount of trade goods, the Hudson’s Bay Company’s 
men were reduced to urging the Indians to accompany them to the 
coast, which meant asking of them a useless effort that aroused the 
aversion of those peoples who were accustomed to the easy exis- 
tence of bison hunters and poorly trained in the use of canoes. 
Thus the Bloods and the Blackfoot replied by offering, as pretexts 
for their refusal, the length of the journey Henday asked them to 
undertake, the risks of starvation it involved, the impossibility of 

abandoning their horses during their absence. All these inconveni- 
ences they could avoid by visiting the nearer bases of the Cana- 
dians or letting their beaver skins go to the Assiniboine who resold 
them to the pedlars.'** [t was by similar arguments that the As- 
siniboine, whose way of life differed in no respect from that of the 
Blackfoot, justified their refusal to go to the distant posts on Hud- 
son Bay.'** 

To this disadvantageous situation, due to the Company's tardy 
entry into the hinterland and to the hold of the Canadians on the 
travel routes of the native tribes, must be added the insufficiency 

of the Anglo-Saxon personnel. Only a few men were active in the 
interior—a mere dozen for example in 1759!’—apart from the 
leaders of the expeditions, who often found themselves entirely 
isolated, without any kind of support among unfamiliar popula- 
tions whom they did not know how to manage with the ease the 
Canadians showed in such circumstances. If the group known as 
the Sturgeon Indians, to which the posts on the Bay were more 
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accessible, replied favorably to the persuasions of the newcom- 
ers,'*' the prairie tribes showed little eagerness to change their 
ways.'** Yet many of them were willing to hand over to the posts 
on the Bay the furs the Canadians did not want,'** and undoubt- 
edly, contrary to the opinions Andrew Graham would express on 
these early enterprises,'** the trade of Hudson Bay showed at this 
time a modest increase, Thus York Factory, having failed to reach 
a total of 21,000 pelts in 1754,'° received after Anthony Henday’s 
first expedition more than 24,000 furs in 1755! and nearly 27,000 

in 1756.'*? But this revival of activity was not harmful enough to 
the pedlars’ interests to arouse in them a real hostility toward these 
competitors who were so evidently incapable of stabilizing their 
positions. It was not until the pedlars disappeared, recalled to 
Lower Canada by the demands of war against England, that the 
stores of pelts in the establishments along the coast were notably 
augmented, '** 

It is this inoffensive character of the Anglo-Saxon attempt to 
penetrate the hinterland that helps to explain the cordiality of the 
relations that were formed in the hinterland between the two 
groups of traders. The indifference shown by some of the Cana- 
dians toward the war which set France and England at each others’ 
throats'** was just as much an expression of this state of affairs as it 
was of the meagre interest which they sustained, in the West that 

had become their fatherland, toward events in the colony on the 

St. Lawrence. It is true that Anthony Henday was greeted with 
distrust in 1754 at Fort Basquea by the Chevalier de la Corne, who 
went so far as to demand from him papers establishing the legality 
of his enterprise and threatened to take him prisoner and send him 
under guard to France.'*® But on his return, Henday was well re- 
ceived at both Fort Basquea and Fort la Corne.'*' In subsequent 
years, though the war between France and England became in- 
creasingly violent, good relations persisted between the pedlars 
and the Anglo-Saxons. In 1757 Smith and Waggoner expressed to 
the chief factor of York Factory their satisfaction with the great 
civility of the welcome shown to them by the French.'* 

At the same time, without entirely abandoning their precautions 
against the Canadians, the officers of the posts on Hudson Bay be- 
came reconciled to the idea of making use for the Company’s be- 
nefit of their experience and their superior knowledge of primitive 
people. The possibility of an attack was, of course, always to be 
feared, and the officers did not lessen their vigilance.'“* The 
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Committee continued to view the coureurs de bois as “enemies 
and spies,""'* and urged that they should be forbidden access to 
the Company’s forts.'** Yet it did not hesitate to have recourse to 
them if the opportunity arose, and to accept their offers of service. 
When J. B. Larlée presented himself to Humphrey Marten, the 
governor of York Factory, in 1754, he was courteously received in 
recognition of the cordiality the French had shown in the West to- 
ward British employees.'*® And as soon as the Committee was 
convinced of Larlée’s possible usefulness in establishing relations 
with the Indians, it instructed the commandant of Fort Albany ta 
incorporate him in the fort’s staff and to admit him to the officers’ 
table."7 A few years later, in 1764, a Canadian named Louis 
Primeau who had refused to leave the West at the time of the col- 
lapse of New France, also found his way to York Factory and was 
engaged for two years in the Company's service. He was given 
instructions to return to the interior and entice new groups of In- 
dians toward Hudson Bay, to interpose as peacemaker between 
mutually hostile tribes, and to keep an eye on the movements of 
his compatriots who, once the French were defeated, had resumed 

their activity in the West." 
Thus, in that preliminary phase of Anglo-Saxon penetration, re~ 

lations between the Canadians and the personnel of the British 
posts remained peaceful. Too scantily represented to clash in those 
vast expanses where the Company sent merely a few men, and 
also too poorly equipped to develop an effective competition, the 
two parties pursued without hostility their trading operations in a 
country which, up to the conquest of Canada by England, re- 
mained an appanage of the men of New France. But, as soon as the 
confusion provoked by the occupation of the St. Lawrence valley 
had died down, the Canadians who had temporarily abandoned 

the West appeared there in greater numbers than ever before, and 
they were now animated by a less conciliatory spirit. Finally con- 
vinced of the need for a more energetic policy, the Hudson's Bay 
Company abandoned at the same time the sluggishness of its ini- 
tial policy. It undertook to assign greater manpower to expedi- 
tions into the hinterland, to establish posts there that would be 

permanently occupied, and to thwart by a more resolute program 
of expansion the designs of the opposing camp. Not that it im- 
mediately implemented its decision. It persisted in its. traditional 
system of isolated enterprises until the day it became evident that 
the return of the pedlars looked like resulting in the annihilation of 



148 THE PENETRATION OF THE WHITE RACE 

its trade. Only in 1774 did it finally rally to a new policy, In the 

struggle which then began, the weaknesses that for so long had 

paralysed its expansion were now brought into the daylight and 

threw into greater relief than ever the superiority of its adversaries. 

But for all that, the two currents of penetration did not cease their 

parallel progress along the main routes to the interior, where from 

this time onward they contributed in a more equal way to the es- 

tablishment of relations of crucial importance between whites and 

natives. 



CHAPTER FIVE 

THE MEETING AND CONFLICT 

OF THE CURRENTS OF 

PENETRATION 

NEW ELEMENTS IN THE 
PROCESS OF PENETRATION 

As we have said, the Canadians never completely deserted the 
West. A number of isolated individuals, virtually incorporated 
into the primitive milieu and too attached to the fur-trader’s life to 
care greatly about events in Lower Canada, had continued to live 
among the Indians. The best example is Louis Primeau, an illiter- 
ate braggart of a trader who was nevertheless a past master in Ind- 
ian dialects. After a few years, tired of a lengthy contact with the 
life of the savages and the sufferings it involved, he became en- 
gaged at York Factory and from that time onward he defended the 
interests of the Hudson's Bay Company in the prairies.’ 

Thus, between the two phases separated by the English con- 
quest of Lower Canada, the suspension of continuity was never 
complete. Moreover, the withdrawal of the Canadians did not last 
for long. The traders were not slow to take once again to the road 
for the West in considerable numbers, using the same routes as 

their predecessors, and once again they established the numerical 
preponderance of the southern route. 

But while, in the years preceding the conquest, the traders from 

Lower Canada had been essentially of French origin, hencefor- 
ward they were less homogenous, and among the more enterpris- 
ing of their organizers figured men who were entirely alien to the 
Canadian race and its traditions. They were, largely, an acquisitive 
group, formed of that adventurous and cosmopolitan section of 
humanity which enters a conquered country in the wake of vic- 
torious armies and in the quest of commercial profits. But there 
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were also men moved by higher motives, who had vowed an un- 
changing loyalty to their country and had abandoned the dissident 
United States to seek a refuge on British soil. It was this last cate- 
gory, the group of United Empire Loyalists, augmented by some 
of their compatriots who had entered Canada in the ranks of 
Wolfe’s army,? who henceforward provided the fur trade with its 
most famous and most active representatives. Mainly Scottish, 
with a high proportion of Highlanders, they soon became the mas- 
ters of this industry which offered their ambition a lucrative outlet: 
the names of the McGillivrays and the McTavishes are as insepara- 
ble from the period opening in 1763 as the name of La Verendrye 

had been in earlier years. 
Alongside them came Americans who brought with them the 

emergent variety of their races and the rough ways of frontier life. 
Among these were old soldiers, like James Tute, who had served 
as captain in Rogers’ Rangers during the Seven Years’ War and af- 
terward had followed the fur trade in Illinois,* and specialized 
merchants, like Peter Pangman, of German origin, who had de- 

veloped his operations in the Mississippi region.* William Bruce 
had also been formed in the rough school of fur traders among the 
Indians of the Mississippi, where he had gained a repute for vio- 

lence.* Alexander Henry the Elder originated in New Jersey, and 
had been associated since youth with the fur trade; at the age of 
twenty-one he followed General Gage’s army to Canadian terri- 
tory and set out immediately on the way to the West with a stock 
of merchandise he proposed to exchange with the natives.® There 
were talented explorers, like the New Englander Peter Pond, 
whose natural curiosity led him to an especially brilliant role in the 
discovery of the unknown spaces of Athabasca, and whose partici- 
pation in the campaign against Montcalm’s troops and long ex- 
perience among the Indians of the Mississippi had prepared him 
for the difficulties of living in the North West.’ Finally, there were 
some unlucky merchants who had been reduced to failure as a re- 
sult of their involvement in weighty affairs in the Albany [New 
York] region and had come to try their luck in Canada, where the 
fur trade offered them the kind of resources in which American 
territory was now impoverished. 

These elements formed a mosaic of humanity, in which the 
American of Anglo-Saxon ancestry mingled with the Israelite, and 
the Scot worked side by side with the Swiss or the German; their 
collective outlook, often shaped by the American frontier, differed 
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profoundly from that of the French Canadian. Moreover, to their 
adventurous and unscrupulous attitude, most of them added a 

knowledge and experience of business, of which the men of New 
France had been deprived by the more humble level of their up- 
bringing. Because of this they were able to take control of the trad- 
ing operations. They reconstituted them into organizations that in 
size equalled the Hudson’s Bay Company, but excelled it in activ- 
ity, in spirit of enterprise, in methods better adapted to the de- 
mands of the primitive setting, and above all in the subordinate 
personnel they were careful to recruit from among the men of 
Lower Canada, who had experience that was indispensable to suc- 

cess. A distinction was thus established between the true Canadian 
population and the newcomers, which was a living expression of 
the conditions the conquest had created in the colony of the St. 
Lawrence; to the Scots and Anglo-Saxons, the McTavishes and 

Frobishers who headed the enterprises, were added the Canadians 

who, as voyageurs, as petty traffickers, as simple post employees, 
formed the greater part of the trading companies’ personnel. As 
well as the Scots, there were indeed a few Canadians who oc- 
cupied directive positions, such as Nicolas Montour and Maurice 
Blondeau, but they represented only a tiny minority, which was 
dominated by the strangers whose antecedents qualified them for 
important roles. 

This merchant aristocracy was far from confining itself to the 
passive role of distant administrators, unaccustomed to the harsh 
conditions of the trader’s and the explorer’s life. Ifa few remained 
in Montreal to look after the direction of the enterprises they had 
created, many of them set out in person for the primitive hinter- 
land and themselves carried out some of the most daring projects. 
In this way they shared the hardships of the lesser personnel. A 
reciprocal esteem developed as a result, which prevented the birth 
and development of the kind of national hatred that, after the con- 
quest of Canada, might have seemed inevitable between the rep- 
resentatives of the victorious power and the subject population. 
Making their own the struggle which the governors and inten- 
dants of New France had so long pursued against the posts on 
Hudson Bay, the Scots newly established in Canada became 

champions of the cause of the St. Lawrence against the ascendancy 
over Rupert’s Land of the great British company. They brought to 
the direction of the trade a unity of views, a sureness of judgment, 
and an energetic impulse that the French enterprises had not 
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displayed. The process of penetration lost the somewhat fragmen- 
tary character of its earlier years. Instead of dissipating itself in 
commerdial, religious, and scientific endeavors, it henceforward 

obeyed entirely commercial objectives, to which the scientific side 
of the enterprises was strictly subordinated. The duality of aims 
that had weakened La Vérendrye’s enterprises gave place to a 
single orientation, directed toward the realization of lucrative op- 
erations, which ambitious men were resolved to make successful 
without allowing themselves to be embarrassed by scruples affect- 

ing their choice of ways of action. 
A new mentality also began to spread in the organizations di- 

rected by the adoptive Canadians; a violent, harshly acquisitive 
mentality, which aimed at the elimination of their rivals, contested 

openly the legality of the charter held by the Hudson’s Bay Com- 
pany, and the right the Company invoked to sole occupation of 
the territories to which it held the official concession. It demanded 
of the subordinate personnel a merciless effort, a struggle without 
truce against the difficulties of existence in the most inhospitable 
areas of the North West, but it recompensed them liberally after 
their effort. The will to succeed and the impressive results of the 
new enterprises served as excuses for the extravagences of be- 
havior in which the spirit of the American frontier was revived at 
the same time as the warrior mentality—not without its own 
nobility —of the Highlanders. 

Regarding this new spirit, so distant from the inclinations of the 
French Canadians, the officers of the Hudson’s Bay Company ex- 
pressed their alarm from the beginning in terms that have become 
classic to the historians of the West. In 1761 the commandant of 
Moose Factory communicated his apprehensions to the Commit- 
tee in London. 

Those you will find however are already encroached 
upon to the Southward and se by Interlopers who will 
be more Destructive to our Trade than the French was. 

The French were in a manner Settled, Their Trade fixt, 
Their Standard moderate and Themselves under particu- 
lar regulations and restrictions, which I doubt is not the 

Case now, The Consequence of which is this, every 
Party in view of increasing Their Trade and Interest 
amongst the Indians, will endever to draw them from 
each other, by the allurements of considerable Presents 
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and Trading with them upon easier Terms than their 
Neighbours. The Indians percieving this, the Trade will 
become an Auction.” 

In 1768 the chief of Fort Albany called the attention of Major Ro- 
gers, commandant of the garrison at Michilimackinac, to the new 

methods of the pedlars, whose encroachments excelled those he 
had observed during the whole eighteen years he had passed in the 
Hudson’s Bay Company’s service: “.. . for many Traders not 
only Build Huts & small places of Defence on the Company's 
Lands but also use force to Hinder the Natives from Coming to 
trade with us.""!° 

Conducted in this way, the fur trade led to some imposing re- 
sults, from which science profited as well as commerce. Up to this 
time only the eastern verges of the vast North West had been 
explored, but now the whole country was traversed from the 
prairie to the Barren Grounds. The Arctic region at the mouths of 
the Mackenzie River, the ridges of the Canadian Rockies, and the 

crests of the system of the mountains bordering on the Pacific, as 
well as the deep valleys that traversed these ranges on their way to 
the ocean, passed under the economic domination of the organiza- 
tions which the Scottish entrepreneurs had built up. In obedience 
to the initiative of these leaders, the French Canadians spread in 
ever greater numbers through this country of the West over 
which, since La Vérendrye, they had maintained a notion of pre- 
emptive right. The occupation of the West continued virtually 
without interruption. It followed a plan that depended in no way 
on already devised projects, but took shape on the spot and grew 
through its contacts with realities whose details emerged out of the 
very geography of the land and the possibilities it opened to the 
traders’ ambitions. The new penetration began from the initial 
bases that the earlier pedlars had established; these were quickly 
reoccupied, and afterward the process developed simultaneously 
along the waterways of the prairie and across the rocky zone of the 
great northern forest, by way of which it reached the hitherto un- 
explored region of the Athabasca River. 

THE RESUMPTION OF 
THE PENETRATION OF THE WEST 

The process of penetration along the southern routes was resumed 
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again in 1761, and it continued without pausing to take note of the 
restrictions which the Imperial government made a show of im- 
posing, between 1763 and 1768, on the free pursuit of trade in the 
so-called Indian Territory.'' Moose Factory was an immediate 
target, because of its situation. All the routes that came together at 
the “Bottom of the Bay” were reoccupied, from the Nottoway 
River where the pedlars, according to one Indian chief, swarmed 

in 1761 “as thickly as mosquitos,’’? to the Rupert and Abitibi riv- 
ers, which the Canadians, favored by the closeness of their bases, 
embarked on in the spring of 1761 and ascended as far as the coast 
before the breakup of the ice.'* From the posts they built, five or 
six days by river from Moose Factory, they provided amply for 
the needs of the natives, and those who presented themselves at 
the Fort on James Bay went there only in search of a few articles 
they had not been able to get from the pedlars."* 

Fort Albany enjoyed a somewhat longer respite. The Indians 
were still gathering there in considerable numbers in 1763—4 and 
the trade with them was satisfactory.'® But in 1764, when its offic 
ers were beginning to think themselves safe from the attacks of the 
coureurs de bois, the pedlars reappeared.'* To begin with, they en- 
countered difficulties with the Indians,’’ but they persisted in es- 
tablishing themselves on the routes of access to Fort Albany. In 
1766 they were reported as being only a short distance from Hen- 
ley House and the Indians complained they were forcibly seizing 
their furs.'® The trade of Fort Albany began to show a notable de- 
cline.'* From their base on Lake Superior, where they were once 
again established, the pedlars reached the waterways that came to- 
gether in the southern branch of the Albany River. Thence they 
were able to get to the English post (Henley House) by way of the 
Pic or Michipicoten River with an ease facilitated by the presence 
of a few old hands sufficiently familiar with the topography of the 
Shield to guide the newcomers.”° As in the past, they provoked 
the Indians to attack Henley House, which they themselves were 
constantly threatening to destroy,®! and they were quick to exer- 
cise a disruptive influence on the Indians. One by one, the most 

important among the latter deserted the post and transferred their 
loyalty to the “damned pedlars” from Lower Canada,** whose 
numbers were such, the Indians said, that they could not pass 

through their ranks without being stopped and forced to let them 
have their furs, either willingly or under duress.** Everywhere, 
their shacks were set up among the outcrops of the Shield, and 
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along the borders of the lakes, creeks, and other waterways.™* In 
1783, by way of the Nipigon River, they reached St. Joseph Lake, 
which commands the Albany River proper;?* they even went 
beyond it and to the north established themselves on Cat Lake, 
while to the west they settled on Lac Seul and reached Lake Win- 
nipeg by the Berens River or Pigeon River.”* In 1764, the year in 
which the rumor of their return reached Fort Albany, they had 
pushed far beyond the shores of Lake Superior. Following the 
classic route, which was as well remembered as the way to Moose 

Factory or Albany,?’ they proceeded with considerable bodies of 
men toward the bases disposed around Lake Winnipeg. At their 
head were two Anglo-Saxons who had returned from the interior, 

Isbister and John Patterson; these two men had deserted the service 
of the Hudson's Bay Company, and probably took charge of the 
expedition at the head of Lake Superior. The enterprise was un- 
successful, for quarrels broke out among the men, and this pre- 
vented them from continuing on their way and forced them to halt 
over the winter.*® They may have run into difficulties with the 
Rainy Lake Indians, whose hostility paralysed the expeditions un- 
dertaken in subsequent years. In 1765, 1766, and 1769—70, the na- 

tives, who had long been deprived of merchandise, pillaged the 
canoes that were trying to reach Lake Winnipeg,”® and it was only 
after the year 1779 that the pedlars gained control over them with 
the support of a well-known native chief.*° 

Yet, despite these violent encounters, the adventurers of Lower 
Canada succeeded in retaking possession of their old bases. By 
1765 they had reached them. During the winter of 1765-6 they re- 
sumed their trade with the Indians. In June 1766 the latter took 
only a small number of furs to York Factory, and those of poor 
quality.*! In the same year, letters from Prince of Wales Fort re- 
ported that the ““Quebeckers” were committing new trespasses in 
the interior.*? An experienced fur-trader, Maurice or Barthélemy 
Blondeau, took over Fort la Reine, which had been abandoned 

for several years.** Near him, another trader, Frangois le Blanc, 
well known to the Indians who nicknamed him Sasswe, arrived at 
Fort Dauphin and probably gained the lower course of the Sas- 
katchewan.™ In June 1767 the traders departed with the products 
of their trade, and returned in September to resume their opera- 
tions.*® Francois le Blanc, with an escort of ten or so Canadians, 

went to Paskoyac for the winter,** and perhaps also to Fort 
Dauphin and Fort la Prairie near Nipawin,*” while Blondeau 
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reached either Fort la Reine or Fort Dauphin.** Some of their men 
were already familiar with the Indian tribes in these rich ter- 
nitories, and their trade goods were soon circulating among these 
peoples as in the past.** 

In this preliminary phase of the pedlars’ return, the preponder- 
ant role thus belonged to the French. Meanwhile the Anglo- 
Saxons were quickly penetrating into the North West, guided by 
the Canadians themselves. In 1766 Forrest Oakes ventured there, 
thanks to an agreement he had made with the trader Charles 
Boyer, whose activity during the French regime had centred on 
Rainy Lake, and from 1766 to 1768 he traded there with the Indians 

of the Red and Assiniboine rivers.*® In 1768, James Finlay ascended 
the Saskatchewan and established himself at Nipawin: thence he 
extended his operations toward Paskoyac, where he had an ad- 

vance post guarded by a small garrison of five Canadians,*' while a 
dozen lived with him in the principal post,*? which was merely a 
modest log house.** 
By this time the old positions had all been reoccupied. The cen- 

tral base of Lake Winnipeg was furnished with a series of posts, 
which saved the Indians from making the long journey to York 
Factory or Severn.** Beyond that, the pedlars controlled the lower 
course of the Saskatchewan. The Assiniboine, which the French 

had hardly embarked on, now became a highly active commercial 
axis; its course was punctuated by new posts, such as Fort du 
Milieu or Middle Fort, and Fort des Epinettes or Pine Fort, which 

flanked Fort la Reine.*® The heart of the country through which 
the Indians had borne their tribute to Hudson Bay now sustained 
the enterprises of the Canadians. 

THE ENCIRCLEMENT 
OF THE ENGLISH POSITIONS 

In the following years, the invasion of the traders from the St. 
Lawrence continued to expand. They were favored by the repeal, 
in 1768, of the restrictions which the Imperial government had 
first imposed on trade with the native populations,*” and also by 
the gradual re-establishment on the Great Lakes route of the se- 
curity that had been disturbed temporarily by Pontiac’s uprising 
(1763). They benefited at the same time from the development of 
more conciliatory attitudes among the Indians of Rainy Lake. 

In 1769 many traders found their way to the Assiniboine River, 
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including Forrest Oakes and Charles Boyer, Maurice Blondeau, 
and J. B, Adhemar; new posts were built there, and its commer- 
cial importance was reinforced.** In 1770 the two Frobishers, 
Joseph and Benjamin (well supplied with trade goods by Montreal 
businessmen) inaugurated their brilliant career in the country of 
the West by founding Lake Fort on the Red River,** a post in- 
tended to fulfil the double roles of providing furs and dried buffalo 
meat, two products that would soon be complementing each other 
in the extension of trading operations and expeditions of discov- 
ery. Shortly afterward, the trader Thomas Corry built a post on 
the shores of Cedar Lake, near La Vérendrye’s old Fort Bourbon, 

in an area where prime furs were especially abundant,*® and from 
there Blondeau penetrated into the valley of the Red Deer River."! 
These initiatives served to complete the network of positions 
which surrounded Lake Winnipeg and which, by way of the Sas- 
katchewan and the Assiniboine, cut deeply into the parkland and 
the prairie. In this way each year showed more clearly the impor- 
tance of the commanding position which the great lake of the West 
and its series of interconnecting lakes continued to confer. By 
means of the establishments they had created in increasing num- 
bers from the Saskatchewan to Grand Portage, the pedlars had 
once again achieved the almost total encirclement of the Hudson 
Bay seaboard.®? 

Their activity was manifest in the numbers and the dispersion of 
their men, who spread out to all the thoroughfares used by the In- 
dians. In 1772 Francois Le Blanc set out for the West with ten 

canoes, which meant at least forty men.** In 1773 he disposed of 
fifteen canoes, which he divided among the various transit routes 

or sent in pursuit of Indians on their way to York Factory." In 
1774 the Indians estimated at forty the number of canoes that had 
reached Lake Winnipeg, whence they swarmed into the neighbor- 
ing waterways.®* Often the men dispersed in very small groups 
among the natives. They received provisions of meat from them, 
and also the furs which they would afterward transport to the 
more important posts,°° where twenty or thirty men might come 
together.°” 

Their forts were not so permanent as in La Vérendrye’s time. 
They were more mobile and shifted frequently in response to In- 
dian migrations or to the exhaustion of furs in the locality. Thus, 
abandoned posts were numerous along the penetration routes. 
Some of them predated the conquest and had not been reoccupied; 
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others were more recent structures that had already been aban- 
doned,®* or merely temporary shelters erected to last a year or 
two."" At this period, in any case, few of them were permanently 
occupied. The pedlars would arrive at the beginning of autumn, 
spend the winter in the forts, and depart in the spring to transport 
their crops of furs to Michilimackinac or Montreal." Because of 
this great mobility of their posts and the dispersion of their men, 
the pedlars were able to spread their trade goods in profusion 
everywhere."' The Indians not reached by them were usually in- 
tercepted at the crossroads occupied by the principal posts of Pas- 
koyac and Cedar Lake, customary halting points on the road to 
Hudson Bay.*? 

Faithful to their traditional habits, and hostile to the idea of un- 

dertaking the journey to Hudson Bay when they could be supplied 
directly by the traders from the St. Lawrence, the Indians awaited 
placidly the arrival of these convenient providers, and the Hud- 
son’s Bay employees found it hard to stir them out of their 
lethargy. To the bitter remarks of the officers who accused them of 
ingratitude, reproaching them for not remembering the presents 
that had been distributed to buy their fidelity, the Indian chiets 
remained indifferent.® A few of them, more attached than the rest 
to the governors of the English posts, did their best to keep their 
tribesmen from deserting, but they ran up against the ill will of the 
younger people, who were too easily tempted to trade with the 
ever-present pedlar™ and to keep for the Hudson’s Bay Company 
only the furs which the Canadians did not want." Importuned by 
the competing groups, the Indians became more and more merce- 
nary in their attitude. They only respected the European when 
they could expect considerable benefits from him.®* If they were 
sometimes willing to go as far as Hudson Bay, they did so with 
greater claims than ever before, either to demand presents 
which—despite the excess of their requests—would be given to 
them,* or because particularly advantageous trading conditions 
were being offered.®* But neither presents nor the most favorable 
terms of exchange could be relied on to divert them from their 
dangerous alliance with the pedlars.** Unaccustomed to ideas of 
emulation, the Indians would make no attempt to regain the es- 
teem or favor of the commandants of the posts by a resumption of 
activity.”” They continued to offer them their worst-quality furs 
and to answer with insults or threats when these were refused.” 

In such conditions, the trade of the posts everywhere on Hud- 
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son Bay entered a new phase of decline. From Moose Factory to 
York Factory, the figures sank to ever lower levels. Albany, 
whose vicinity was infested with pedlars, received 7,516 furs in 
17697" against 9,104 in 1768.7" Severn recorded only 3,000 pelts in 
1773.7* York at last saw its operations completely paralysed, as 
much by the excessive demands of the Indians” as by the encir- 
clement of its hinterland, From 31,640 pelts in 1767, the trading 

figure fell to 18,324 in 1768, and sank to 8,037 in 1774.”° In a letter 

to the governor of the fort in 1772, the pedlar Thomas Corry in- 
formed him ironically of the decision of a particularly important 
chief not to visit Hudson Bay that year, since he preferred to ac- 
company Corry to Grand Portage, where copious distributions of 
alcohol were awaiting him.”” 

But the Canadians were not content with this policy of encir- 
clement. Becoming more and more aggressive, they even began to 
approach the Indians attached to the Hudson Bay posts and tried 
to gain their alliance. They gave the Indians of Albany whose duty 
it was to provide the game necessary for sustaining the post, pre- 
sents whose generosity astounded the Hudson’s Bay Company 
men; they offered to enter into personal bonds with them,”* and 

take them into their service.”" They infiltrated the tribes in the hin- 
terland to York Factory,*° displayed openly their intention of es- 
tablishing relations with the natives at Prince of Wales Fort,*' and, 

by gradual stages, they wound around the coast itself the same 
kind of besieging circle as they had already achieved in the hinter- 
land. The prospect that they might soon take over the Home 
Guard Indians of York Factory, of whose wavering loyalty and 
idle temperament they were well aware, made the governor of the 
fort, Joseph Colen, fear the total ruin of his trade.** His fears were 

all the more justified by the fact that the pedlars had gained a defin- 
ite superiority through their ability to adapt their trade goods to 
the needs of the primitive life, which gave their merchandise a spe- 
cal value in the eyes of the native people. To a kettle or a light 
blanket, sold at roughly half the Hudson’s Bay Company’s price, 
the Indians naturally gave their preference, to the detriment of the 
cumbersome and expensive articles offered by the English posts."* 

THE HUDSON’S BAY COMPANY ’S ATTITUDE 

Instead of countering the Canadians’ vigorous efforts by a more 
enterprising policy, the Company defended itself clumsily by 
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measures that were no more than expedients whose efficacy re- 
mained doubtful so long as the organization delayed the decision 
to send into the interior stronger contingents capable of ensuring 
effective possession of the land.* 

What in fact did it present in opposition to its rivals’ initiatives? 
Distributions of presents to the Indians who were willing to 

visit its factories? Such measures resulted merely in tempting the 
natives to new demands, which even when they were granted did 
not seem to compensate for the inconveniences of the journey to 
the Bay. [As one officer of York Factory remarked]: “The great 
favours we give them only induce them to ask more.”** 

A lowering of the tariff? A simple expedient, but it could not 
overcome the advantage the Indians gained from the quality of 
Canadian goods; to such expedients, in any case, the pedlars re- 
sponded, after an initial reaction of annoyance, with identical mea- 
sures." 

The invocation of the privilege of exclusive trade which the 
Company held by reason of the charter under which it was 
founded? To this argument the pedlars paid no more attention than 
they did to useless and inconsequent gestures enjoining them to 
leave the Hudson Bay territory.*’ 

To the approaches which the pedlars made, in imitation of the 
Canadians’ former practice, with a view to entering into trading 
relations with the Hudson Bay posts, the Company's officers re- 
plied by rejecting any dealings with them. Thus Peter Pangman, 
who dared to appear in person at York Factory, was quickly 
shown the door and had to suffer the confiscation of his furs, in 
doing which the officer in charge departed in no way from the 
standards of courtesy which the Company urged upon its agents.** 

But the practical activity of the Hudson's Bay Company re- 
duced itself to enterprises that in the beginning were modest, con- 
sisting of the journeys into Indian territory of small groups of men 
who did not settle among the Indians. The failure to create perma- 
nent establishments meant that the best was never made of the per- 
sonal qualities of the men involved, which were often very great, 
or of the wide scope of their enterprises. Isaac Batt and the Cana- 
dian Louis Primeau set out in 1765—6;** Isaac Batt went again in 
1766-7, accompanied by William Pink, James Dearing, Edward 
Luttit, and James Allen; in the following year Louis Primeau 
joined them on his renewed wanderings, which he continued in 

1768-9." 
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Among these men, none of whom hesitated, for a modest sal- 
ary, to return year after year on their enterprises, some stand out 
in especial relief. One of them was William Pink, who carried on 

without interruption from 1766 to 1773 the ungrateful task of sus- 
taining the loyalty of the peoples in the interior against the solicita~ 
tions of the pedlars.*! In the company of a group of Indians he 
wandered over a region extending from the western banks of the 
South Saskatchewan to the Edmonton parkland and the Beaver 
River; he got as far as the headwaters of the Churchill River, close 

to the watershed from which the streams run down to the 
Athabasca River.* 
No less remarkable were the expeditions of Matthew Cocking. 

In 1772 and 1773 he travelled widely in the territory of the 
Blackfoot Confederacy; he observed their cultivation of tobacco 
and their deer pounds, he described their dexterity in the use of 
bow and arrow, their skill in riding their fast and restive horses, 

admired their endurance in periods of want, and praised the qual- 
ity of their hospitality.°* In 1774—5 Cocking limited himself to the 
less distant region of the Red Deer River and the Assiniboine; he 
wandered over the prairies of this region, which were a theatre of 
energetic activity on the part of the pedlars, against whom he 
found himself practically defenceless."* 

And then there was William Tomison, whom the factor of Fort 

Severn sent toward Lake Winnipeg in 1767 to hinder the progress 
of the pedlars.** He travelled to the lake by one of the rivers that 
break through its eastern shore, from which he reached the 
mouths of the Red River and the Winnipeg River. Once again, in 
1769-70, he followed the same itinerary, but this time he pushed 

as far as Lake Manitoba and the Assiniboine River, returning af- 
terward to York Factory.” 

In the domain of discovery the Company’s employees were 
once again superior to the pedlars. Their work was all the more 
remarkable since it was carried out with scanty resources. This in- 
sufficiency of support explains why their initiatives did not end in 
establishing new currents of trade and left the Canadians free to 
exploit the rich territories of the Athabasca, from whose threshold 

William Pink had recently turned back. If the Hudson’s Bay 
Company’s men had been able to create permanent posts, if they 
had disposed of the kind of system of provisioning which later on 
was so adeptly organized by the Scots from Lower Canada, they 
would perhaps have robbed their rivals of the honor of discover~ 
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ing and reaping the trading profits of the extreme North West. Left 
to themselves, poorly supported in these vast solitudes, they suc- 
ceeded merely in keeping up a scanty movement of furs in the di- 
rection of the coastal posts.*” In spite of all their arguments de- 
signed to win over the Indians, the cargoes they brought back 
were often slight. Now and again, indeed, more impressive flotil- 
las of canoes would appear. In 1767 Louis Primeau on his own 
brought in thirty-six, and in the same year, Batt, Pink, Dearing, 
and Allen returned at the head of a small fleet of a hundred and 
fifty-six canoes." But as soon as the pedlars reached the interior in 
larger numbers and intensified their operations, the success of the 
Hudson’s Bay men declined, and by 1770 William Tomison with 
difficulty persuaded four canoes to accompany him.® Very occa- 
sionally a member of the confederated [Blackfoot] tribes would be 
seen arriving at the coast, but his fellow tribesmen, unaccustomed 
to travelling by canoe, would refuse to follow him.” It was grow- 
ing evident that the trading which the posts on Hudson Bay sus- 
tained with tribes who were provided with everything by the 
Canadian traders was becoming too artificial to survive for long 
by means of isolated initiatives in competition with enterprises 
that were constantly expanding. 

Forced by the exhaustion of fur supplies to go beyond their orig- 
inal bases, the Canadians pressed forward and threatened the trade 
of Prince of Wales Fort, which Ferdinand Jacobs, the chief of York 

Factory, had still thought invulnerable as late as 1769, “The Ped- 
lers,” he then wrote, “are in different parts of the country all the 
way between Albany & York fort but they can never get so nigh 
Churchill as to harm its Trade,"""' But in 1771 the volume of furs 
at the fort showed a definite wavering, which the officer in charge 
attributed to the influence of the pedlars among the Cree, whose 
territory to the south of the Churchill River they had reached." In 
1773 the threat increased, and the governor of the fort became 
alarmed at the growing diversion of trade to the profit of the 
Canadians.’ Finally in 1774 he admitted that, without the 
supplies of furs from the Chipewyan, the ‘Indians of the North,” 
his fort would soon be ruined.'* He had just, in fact, received a 
message from Joseph Frobisher, whose presence in the proximity 
of the Churchill River marked the first stage of the great offensive 
which the pedlars were preparing to direct toward the basin of the 
Athabasca River. In this way they intended to complete their out- 
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flanking movement, extending from Grand Portage to the Mac- 
kenzie, against the posts on the Bay.'°* 

THE WEAKNESSES OF THE BRITISH OFFENSIVE 

The situation was lost for the posts along the coast of Hudson Bay 
unless energetic measures were taken to redeem it, It was only at 
this point that the Hudson’s Bay Company, finally renouncing its 
policy of immobility, responded to the suggestions which those 
who were aware of the problem had been making for several 
years. Embracing the idea of founding permanent posts in 
Rupert's Land, it actually inaugurated the current of penetration 
that, setting out from Hudson Bay, would mingle with that 
created by the Canadians. In 1768, Andrew Graham formulated a 

plan for the occupation of the interior, which was in his eyes the 
sole means of abating the audacious offensive of the Canadians. He 
had already urged on the Committee the advantages the Company 
would discover in the lesser distances its men would have to 
travel, compared with those the pedlars from Montreal had to 
cover; in the greater ease of navigation compared with the 
obstacle-ridden journey by way of Rainy Lake; and finally in the 
friendly character of the Indians in the hinterland to York Fac- 
tory.'* Aware of these circumstances, Matthew Cocking had 

suggested that the incapacity to manage a canoe, which he himself 
shared with the Hudson’s Bay employees, might be overcome by 
having recourse to the services of the natives.'°” 

The Committee veered toward Andrew Graham’s views. In 
1773, in consultation with Ferdinand Jacobs, it decided to au- 
thorize the establishment of the first permanent post in the in- 
terior.’* That year Jacobs organized a rather modest expedition 
composed of a number of experienced men who decided to hire 
from the Indians a few canoes to transport men and merchandise 
and to spread the news of the projected enterprise. This plan was 
realized in the following year, under the direction of Samuel 
Hearne, whose expedition in the Barren Grounds made him an 
obvious choice for the Company to make.’ Hearne left on 21 
June 1774 with two men and an Indian chief, whose loyalty had 
been bought with generous presents. Five men followed a short 
way behind them.""" Hearne went past the site of Paskoyac, for the 
Indians did not favor the locality, and he established his post a 
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hundred miles beyond, on the shores of Cumberland Lake, at an 
important crossing which many Indians used on their way to York 
Factory and the Churchill River.''' The initiative took place in the 
nick of time; in 1774 more than fifty pedlars’ canoes had spread out 
into the interior, and the Indians had almost completely aban- 
doned York Factory.'!® The foundation of Cumberland House 
marked the first stage of a new policy, the starting point for the 
creation of a series of posts that would act as stages on the penetra- 
tion routes radiating from the shores of Hudson Bay in an area that 
had hitherto been merely the scene of individual enterprises. 

This new policy was far from being conducted with the energy 
that the pedlars deployed on their side, [ts aims were pursued with 
the usual dilatoriness, and with the aid of men of little consequence 
whose weakness was thrown into relief by the strength of their 
adversaries. There, for a long time, lay the inferiority of the north- 
ern current of penetration; at the beginning it seems as though the 
posts in the interior, like those on the coast, would have difficulty 
in defending themselves against the rival enterprises. Cumberland 
House began its career with an establishment of three men." In 
the years that followed the increases in their establishments 
granted to the posts along the Bay were too niggardly to allow the 
organization of well-manned forts in the interior. In 1775 Albany 
disposed of no more than fifty-eight men,’'* and York of sixty- 
one,"® of whom sixteen were allocated to the service of Fort 
Severn. In 1778, to meet the growing needs of penetration, the 
staffs of the two posts were each increased to seventy men.''® In 
1784 the entire personnel of the Hudson Bay forts consisted of 294 
men, divided between Churchill, York, Albany, and Moose Fac- 

tory,'!” and it was only in 1785 that the establishment of York Fac- 
tory was raised to a hundred men, a level slightly exceeded in the 
following year, when it reached 112." 

This insufficiency of manpower paralysed operations in the in- 
terior. In the vast expanse of its hinterland, York Factory in 1776 

maintained no more than sixteen men.''® In 1778 it was not in a 
position to detach more than twenty, though the bitter competi- 
tion and the needs of trade would have justified at least four times 
as many.'*° By 1780, the figure had risen to round about thirty 
men." But the rivalry had also intensified, the enterprises of the 
pedlars had become even more invasive, and a hundred men 
would have been needed to keep them in awe.'*? Even in 1780, as 
we have seen, York Factory disposed in all of a hundred men, of 
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whom only sixty-five could be seconded to operations in the in- 
terior.'?* Not until 1791, the epoch in which the brilliant initiative 
of Alexander Mackenzie extended Canadian enterprise to the basin 
of the great Arctic river, that York Factory was in a position to 
detach ninety-six men for activity in Rupert’s Land." 

This shortage of manpower was the cause of many disadvan- 
tages which remarkably complicated the task of penetration. The 
Hudson's Bay Company's men were often at the mercy of the In- 
dians. For lack of sufficient personnel, they had to rely on the lat- 
ter's services, and expeditions undertaken on the basis of their co~ 
operation were liable to come to nothing because of their negli- 
gence or desertion.'** If the Indians betrayed those they were sup- 
posed to protect and guide, the Company was powerless to deal 
with them, having insufficient forces for any rigorous action, and 
also to provoke the resentment of culprits who might still be valu- 
able auxiliaries in their trading activities. Such a case occurred in 
1775, when one of the Company’s employees, Robert Longmoor, 
was robbed of his trade goods and roughly handled by the Indian 
who accompanied him, and afterward abandoned without provi- 
sions on the trail to Cumberland House; the governor of York 
Factory refrained from remonstrating with the Indian who had 
acted in this way, knowing all too well how valuable was his 
commercial allegiance. “But we, for want of strength, are obliged 
to suffer insults tamely,” the journal of York Factory noted on this 
occasion.’ Because of their lack of numbers, the Company's men 

had sometimes to abandon part of their cargoes of furs in the in- 
terior,'*” and on other occasions it was found impossible to trans- 
port the necessary trade goods to the Company’s post.'* 

But it was above all in the struggle they had to sustain against 
the pedlars that their numerical inferiority handicapped the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company’s men. The disproportion of forces was 
enormous, It was evident in every sector, in the hinterland of Al- 
bany,'** in the hinterland of York Factory ,'®* and above all in the 

region of the Athabasca River and Lake Athabasca. This sector of- 
fered an exceptional abundance of furs, but the vigor of competi- 
tion and the difficulties of material life there would have de- 
manded an upsurge of effort the Company was then unable to 
muster. At the moment, indeed, there were nearly a hundred men 
in the interior, But success would have been possible only with 
forces at least twice as strong.'*! What could the Company's 
scanty personnel do, when their numbers grew only by a few men 
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each year, against the pedlars’ forces? In 1779 Humphrey Marten 
excused the somewhat unsatisfactory methods of trading at Cum- 
berland House by pointing out that the twenty employees who 
had passed the winter there were faced by two hundred or even 
three hundred Canadians.'** The men’s own impression was that 
they were fighting one to fifteen.'** The disparity did not diminish 
in succeeding years. The Company's forces showed a slight in- 
crease, but those of the Canadians grew more rapidly. To the 
fifty-nine men divided among the Company’s posts in the in- 
terior, the Canadians in 1786 opposed round about four 
hundred,'** of whom nearly two hundred were in the Saskatche- 

wan sector, which left them ample reserves for the more distant 

regions of the North West.'** Later, when the operations of the 
Canadians had been centralized in powerful commerdal organiza- 
tions, the earlier figures were notably exceeded. In 1788 the North 
West Company alone employed nearly a thousand voyageurs, not 
counting a score of guides, forty-five clerks, and seventy inter- 
preters. In 1796 it disposed of more than sixteen hundred men. 

Tt would no doubt be unjust to blame the Hudson's Bay Com- 
pany alone for a neglect that in part can be explained by the 
economic insecurity created by the war with revolutionary and 
imperial France and by the difficulties of recruiting manpower. 
Faced by a reduction in the demand for furs, the Company hesi- 
tated to increase its personnel and gave up filling the vacancies 
created by the departure of employees on the expiration of their 
contracts. At the same time, it certainly seems to have shown a 
marked indifference to its officers’ appeals.'*? Without regard for 
the difficulties it was creating for them, and carried away by its 
wish to economize, it recalled men who were indispensable to the 
service,'** or forbade its representatives to renew the contracts of 
the personnel at their posts.'*’ In 1799, James Bird complained of 
the gaps created by the exodus of his employees,'*® and in 1811 
William Auld declared that he had lost round about a third of his 
best qualified men.'*! The Governor of York Factory advised one 
of his subordinates, in the hope of staving off this manpower 
crisis, to keep his men whatever the cost by giving in to all their 
demands;'? this was contrary to the Company’s official instruc- 
tions, which it consented to modify only after many years.'** Here 
was an element of weakness that had been evident from the begin- 
ning. The policy the Company now adopted did nothing but ag- 
gravate it. And other weaknesses which had manifested them- 
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selves in the early years became even more evident when the 
Company set out to stabilize its positions in the interior, for the 
competition developed between the pedlars and the Anglo-Saxons 
gave the two parties occasions for confrontation, and this threw 
into even greater relief their respective qualities and deficiencies. 

From the beginning it was evident that the struggle had begun 
under unequal conditions, not only because of the numerical dis- 
proportion between the participants, but also because of the poor 
quality of the personnel the Company opposed to its competitors, 
who soon became its adversaries. The situation resembled that 
which we have observed in connection with the coastal posts. 
Owing to the serious difficulties it was now experiencing in main- 
taining the recruitment of employees, the Company made use, in 
the interior as on the coast, of men transported into an alien envi- 
ronment whose conditions of life imposed on them sufferings 
which most of them sustained with difficulty. There was the 
harshness of the climate. There was the martyrdom inflicted in 
summer by a combination of insects and overpowering heat, espe- 
cially at the portages.'*? There was the need to accept the luck of 
the road in terms of shelter."*° There were the unexpected compli- 
cations arising from association with the native people, which 
were aggravated by the lack of flexibility in the Anglo-Saxon 
temperament and by ignorance or insufficient knowledge of the 
native languages.'*” “If a man can write his name and knows ten 
words of the Indian Dialect,” wrote the commandant of Fort 
Churchill in 1799, “we will put him to trading with Indians whom 
he has no idea how to soothe or to intimidate.”"** The handling of 
canoes, that problem which had discouraged the first efforts at 
penetration, was perhaps the area in which the lack of experience 
among the Company’s men was most clearly manifest, above all 
on those waterways whose shallowness often made it necessary to 
substitute the pole for the paddle,'*” They constantly showed 
themselves inferior to the voyageurs of Lower Canada in the prac- 
tice of navigation and were even more incapable in undertaking 
the construction of canoes."*° It is true that in the long run they 
showed perceptible progress, so that the journal of York Factory 
could represent them in 1781 as navigators with skills that equalled 
and sometimes exceeded those of the Indians,'*! but the uncer- 
tainty due to lack of experience was never completely overcome. 

Not only did the post continue to suffer a shortage of men capable 
of making canoes,'*? but often the guides were incapable of con- 
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trolling their crafts in the rapids and allowed them to founder with 
their cargoes,'®* so that they had to avoid the reaches of waterways 
that were too broken by obstacles.'** How could one expect such 
personnel to disperse among the Indians during the winter months 
as the Canadians did, following them step by step to make sure of 
their furs? Such a procedure presupposed an exceptional training 
in the conditions of life in a primitive country. Only a few 
employees were able to adapt themselves to such a nomadic exis- 
tence.'** While the Canadians constantly hovered around the hunt- 
ing tribes, the Company's men had all too often become set in the 
routines of daily existence in the trading posts.'** 

Forced into a way of life to which they were not well adapted, 
such men could not fail to feel a dissatisfaction that was prejudicial 
to the enterprises assigned to them. Only considerable material 
advantages might have helped to overcome their fears or their in- 
difference. But they were mainly wage-earners who had often 
been led by poverty to emigrate and who were now poorly paid 
and inclined to compare their meagre returns with the considera- 
ble rewards that the Canadians dispensed to their voyageurs. In its 
scale of salaries, the Company does not seem to have taken ac- 
count of the difficulties which service in the interior involved. In 
1768 William Tomison renewed his contract of engagement at a 
scale of £10 per annum, while the carpenter at York Factory re- 
ceived a salary of £30.'*7 Yet Tomison was treated relatively favor- 
ably. Despite his unceasing activity, James Allen was reduced to £8 
a year, many others earned barely £6 a year,'** and in 1776 Hum- 
phrey Marten pressed the Committee to raise to £10 the salary of 
men detached for work in the interior of Rupert’s Land.'** At the 
same period, the Canadians involved in the operation of canoes re- 

ceived pay according to their functions at the following rates: the 
guides, 1,000 livres; the steersmen, 800 livres; the pedlars in the 

middle of the boat, 600 livres. These were considerably higher 
figures than the wages of their rivals.'®° In spite of all this, the men 
might have accepted more willingly the idea of existence in 
Rupert’s Land if they had felt for it the kind of attachment which 
many of the Canadians formed. But the brief term of their en- 
gagements, and the habit they had acquired of returning to their 
own country as soon as they had accumulated sufficient savings, 
did not give them enough time to become familiar with the primi- 
tive environment and to feel its attraction. 

Hence arose the discontent which the heads of the posts noticed 
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among their employees, and which led to frequent occasions when 
the latter refused to obey their officers when they were detailed for 
inland service. The experience that had marked the foundation of 
Henley House was thus repeated on a large scale. It was when the 
Company turned to the desolate Athabasca country that acts of in- 
discipline beeame especially frequent. The shortage of means of 
subsistence, the need to remain content with a diet consisting en- 
tirely of fish," was discouraging to the men. In 1796, and again in 
1799, many categorically refused to return there, and openly 
mutinied.'®? The officers sometimes forced the men to return 
against their will, which can neither have stimulated their activity 

nor made their work more effective.'®* Ill will was general,'** and 
the pedlars profited from it to encourage defaulting and desertion 
among their competitors. The wages they offered were a potent 
weapon.'®® While the company considered a salary of £12 very 
high,'®* James Finlay offered up to £25 to the men he wished to 
tempt into his service.'®” Isaac Batt deserted the Hudson’s Bay 
Company and went into the pay of a pedlar who gave him a salary 
of £30.68 Louis Primeau was not slow to go back on his engage- 
ment with the governor of York Factory and accept the repeated 
invitations of the Canadians.'** An exceptional man like David 
Thompson did not hesitate to abandon the Company and join the 
ranks of the Canadians, though it is true that he was moved more 

by personal resentment than by the attractions of gain.'”° Edward 
Umfreville, well known for his attempts to find an alternative way 
from Lake Nipigon to the Winnipeg River, and other more 
obscure employees were equally willing to be won over by their 
enterprising rivals.'?' Threatened by this spreading epidemic of 
desertion the Hudson’s Bay Company should have resolved to 
make concessions to the demands of its personnel, who were unit- 
ing in a general refusal to obey that would bring matters to a 
head.!” Even the officers spontaneously acted in contradiction to 
the orders of the London Committee,'”* and they gave in to de- 
mands for increased wages, knowing all too well that a strict ap- 
plication of their instructions would have ruined trade in the in- 
terior.'"* London rebuked them but finally, in its turn, surren- 
dered.!”? In 1778 the men were granted salaries of between £10 and 
£12 a year and the more qualified received as much as £25.'° Yet 
these increases were not sufficient to eliminate every trace of dis- 
content and overcome the men’s indocility.'”” As late as 1780 
Humphrey Marten could write to the Committee: “‘Not one of 
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your inland servants think they are properly encouraged.”'”* 
Other flaws appeared in the ageing organism of the great Com- 

pany. There was first of all the constant fragility of its position on 
the shores of Hudson Bay; La Pérouse’s exploits at the end of the 

eighteenth century showed how much it was still at the mercy of 
maritime attacks.'”? Then there was the lack of solidarity among 
its posts, whose disadvantages we have already observed. In the 
interior it led often to conflicts which were detrimental to the at- 
tempts at penetration. The expansion zones of York Factory and 
Fort Churchill, whose waterways ran so near each other that they 

almost united, were extremely liable to mutual trespasses. The ex- 
peditions which the factor of York despatched in 1795 toward the 
upper reaches of the Nelson River and as far as Reed Lake im- 
mediately provoked recriminations from Fort Churchill, for they 
impinged on the route used by its Indians.'** According to the 
chief of the latter post, these encroachments were planned deliber- 
ately to divert the trade that was destined for him. He accused the 
rival factor not only of soliciting the Indians’ trade, but also of 

slandering him publicly before them.'*! On the other hand, Joseph 
Colen, the officer in command of York Factory, reproached his 
colleague in 1796 with not limiting himself to the territory of the 
northern Indians, which bordered the Churchill River, but delib- 
erately sending his men into the basin of the Nelson River to in- 
fringe on York Factory's enterprises rather than opposing those of 
the Canadians." The conflict between York Factory and Fort 
Churchill reappeared in Athabasca where the two posts endea- 
vored to organize expeditions that competed with each other.'** 
By these incessant struggles, Humphrey Marten argued, the trad- 
ing forts were condemning themselves to common suicide.'"* As 
soon as it was established, Cumberland House became the rival of 
York Factory, which had conceived it, as Albany had conceived 

Henley House, as a simple advance post whose mission was to 
protect the Indians against the pedlars’ enterprises and not to estab- 
lish an independent trade with them.'*® Between York Factory and 
Fort Severn, between Albany and its advance post of Swan River, 
the same equally paltry rivalries emerged and destroyed all sense 
of fraternity.!*° They were complicated by personal contests, even 
more troublesome than the struggle of economic interests. Such 
rivalries, it seems, were not unconnected with David Thompson's 

desertion and with the failure of at least some of the attempts at 
penetration into Athabasca.'*” They were aggravated by conflicts 
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over precedence,'* which ended in weakening the Company in re- 
lation to the Canadians, who were more assiduous in their efforts, 
better organized, and above all better equipped. 

Instead of learning the lessons of its early experiences and even- 
tually adapting its trade goods to the preferences of the natives, the 
Hudson’s Bay Company persisted in offering them merchandise 
designed for the needs of a European clientele. It neglected those 
small items, such as rings, bells, needles, and vermilion, which so 
seduced the natives and which the Canadians let them have for a 
pittance and often for nothing.'*® At the same time the Commit- 
tee, generally so careful about the quality of its merchandise, ap- 
pears to have sacrificed it to that policy of economy which it prac 
tised in the last years of the eighteenth century, and which fol- 

lowed closely on its program of penetration. On many occasions, 
the officers complained of the bad quality of the muskets that were 
sent to them and the refusal of the Indians to accept them in ex- 
change for their furs.'*° Sometimes it was the knives, articles of 

primary need to these hunting tribes, that provoked Indian discon- 
tent.'*! At other times it was the hatchets, or even the cloth, that 

they refused to accept, saying that they were better served by the 
Canadian pedlars.!* Yet, with an inexplicable blindness, the 

Committee refused to yield to the evidence. “We are persuaded,” 
it replied to its agents’ protests, ‘‘whatever you may think to the 
contrary, that the Goods either of the old or New Canadian Com- 
pany are not near so good as ours.’"!%% 

At the same time the quantity of trade goods diminished, just 
when the realization of new enterprises called for an increase. Un- 
doubtedly the Company suffered from the war with France. From 
the beginning of 1796, the constantly growing cost of exports by 
sea, the failure to sell furs on the European markets, and the limita- 
tion of their sales in the British market which alone remained open 
combined to impose on the Company ever narrower restrictions 
and these were reflected in the poor provisioning of the posts on 
the Bay."** In 1797 York Factory did not have at its disposal half 
the articles that would be needed to supply the interior posts. Yet 
there again the Company scems to have been guilty of negligence, 
for the dilatoriness with which it had provisioned its posts even 
before the war had made shortages inevitable. For their part, the 
establishments of the interior suffered from this insufficiency of 
merchandise, which compounded the scantiness of personnel.!°° 

But did the Hudson’s Bay Company, as it has often been said, 
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gain from the more advantageous prices it offered the Indians? The 
witness of its officers constantly attributes to it a real superiority in 
this respect. Thus in 1780 the journal of York Factory declared that 
the Company had the advantage because of the reasonableness of 
its tariffs, which, for example, gave a hatchet for two beaver skins, 
while the Canadians demanded four.'®” But one cannot generalize 
from such examples. There were often times when even the Com- 
pany’s agents admitted that the pedlars offered better terms. In 
1777, the commandant of Moose Factory called the attention of the 
factor at York to his exorbitant trading terms, which exceeded the 
more moderate tariffs of the canny pedlars,'"* and even before the 
difficult years of the war with France, the Company actually 
changed the scale of its tariffs in ways that were prejudicial to the 
Indians’ interests. On the Saskatchewan in 1790 it refused to give 
more than six rings for a beaver pelt, while the Canadians would 

give a dozen for nothing; it ceased to stimulate the Indians’ activity 
by sufficently generous distributions of muskets;'** finally, it 
lowered the value of a wolfskin from two beavers to one, which 
was detrimental to the prairie tribes, among whom the wolf con- 

stituted an important item of trade.2°° 
Most of all the pedlars had the advantage over the Hudson's Bay 

Company of using more adaptable price scales, which were often 
left to their personal judgments, and which they could con- 
sequently modify according to the arcumstances; they frequently 
offered at half price items whose slighter solidity justified the more 
moderate terms yet at the same time made them more easy to 
manage and more fitting for the nomad existence of the native 
people.*” It is true that when they reappeared in the interior, they 
offered terms whose severity repelled their customers. The Indians 
complained of it to the officers of the Hudson’s Bay Company; it 
was only the actual presence of the Canadians in their midst, and 
the convenience this assured them of trading their furs without 
making the journey to the Bay, that compensated for this inferior- 
ity. But the Canadian traders did not persist in a policy that was 
contrary to their interests; not being tied to rigid scales like their 
competitors, they did not hesitate to make whatever sacrifices 
were necessary. ‘The pedlers seemingly have no fixed standard of 
cloth and such like,” wrote Matthew Cocking in 1775, “Trading 
them at various rates according to the natives they have to deal 
with.” In the course of his expedition of 1772-3, he heard the 

favorable testimonies the Indians themselves offered regarding the 
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liberality of the trader Thomas Corry.’ Such liberality could 
only be an advantage during the opening of the rich territory of 
Athabasca, which the Canadians were able to exploit as masters 
for several years, and whose profits often allowed them to offer 
their goods at rates that astonished their rivals. “It is surprising,” 
noted the journal of York Factory in 1792, “that these go-between 
traders can sell at such reasonable prices the goods they bring so 
far. Several of their articles are much cheaper than ours.”’?°* The 
officers of Cumberland House had made the same remark in 
1778.*°* Even in 1813, when the North West Company had passed 
the crest of its most prosperous years, it was prepared to offer par- 
ticularly low rates in competition with the Anglo-Saxons, and its 
men declared that the means to do so were provided by the profits 
of Athabasca. If we add that the pedlars never stinted on pre- 

sents, particularly when they were meant to gain the favor of a re- 
nowned chief,?”” then we can understand why Joseph Colen, the 
chief factor of York, could in 1794 write in his journal: “The very 
number of the Canadians imposes itself on the natives, their influ- 
ence broadens from day to day, and they assure themselves of the 
Indians’ esteem by the generosity of their presents.””°° 

In fact, whatever superiorities the Hudson’s Bay Company had 
shown in its trading operations were eventually dissipated. The 
advantage it had drawn from the ease of shipping heavy merchan- 
dise was notably reduced once it had to be transported over the 
waterways of the Shield. Its former monopoly of the famous 
Brazilian tobacco, whose quality attracted the Indians as much as 

the Canadians’ alcohol ,*° disappeared in turn as soon as the Scots 
took over the direction of the enterprises in Lower Canada, for 
they were quick to introduce the “bewitching weed” among their 
trade items,?!° a move whose effect was all the greater since it 

coindded with the reduction of the Company’s exports from Eng- 
land and with the undeniable lowering of the quality. of its to- 
bacco, as of all the other goods,?"' to the point that even for this 

item the Indians sometimes preferred to trade with the Cana- 
dians.?"? 

THE SUPERIORITY OF THE CANADIAN ENTERPRISES 

Undoubtedly the Canadians had to confront notable handicaps. In 
the rivalry that set them against the Hudson’s Bay Company, their 
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role was far from being an easy one. In certain respects it incurred 
even more difficult problems than any faced by the English com- 
pany; in fact, once the latter finally decided to overcome its in- 
feriorities by imitating the organization and methods of its rivals, 
it quickly triumphed over their opposition. But, for the moment, 
its rather outworn conceptions left it in no position to fight on 
equal terms and take advantage of the difficulties that hindered the 
Canadians’ operations. 

For the latter, the main obstacles were created by the distances 

they must cover in travelling from Montreal to Lake Winnipeg or 
Red River. The problems confronting the pedlars’ flotillas were 
the same that in the past had faced La Vérendrye. They were com- 
plicated by the need to cross the rocky barrier that hemmed in the 
head of Lake Superior, where the great number of falls and por- 
tages fatally slowed down the movement of canoes, and where in 
the beginning the Indians had not welcomed the return of the ped- 
lars.*!8 

At the same time, if solidarity was lacking between the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company posts, the pedlars appeared—as soon as they 
resumed their operations in the West—to be divided into a great 
number of pools. These rival organizations, animated by a com- 
petitive spirit even more bitter than that directed against the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company’s officers, went to extraordinary lengths of 
violence against rival personnel in the conflict that set them against 
each other. It was this acceptance of merciless struggle aimed at the 
elimination of trading competitors*'* that constituted the famous 
North West spirit, a direct emanation of the mentality born in 
frontier societies in contact with the primitive environment and 

the exaggerated behavior it encouraged. It quickly characterized 
the relations of the rival companies between which the forces of 

the pedlars were divided. 
The violence which they directed to detaching the Indians from 

each other by a policy of competitive underbidding,*"® and to 
erecting in the same territories posts that were predestined to 
mutual combat,*"® could go as far as murder, and the traders did 
not hesitate to have recourse to that extremity against a rival they 
wanted to get rid of. The murders of Jean-Etienne Waden and John 
Ross by Peter Pond or at his instigation in 1782 and 1787 respec- 
tively,?'7 and that of the pedlar Thompson in 1795?'* were exam- 
ples of the violence with which the traders pursued their undertak- 
ings and of the hostilities that divided them. It is hard to im- 
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agine La Vérendrye indulging in such excesses against his com- 
petitors, and it is undeniable that the onset of such behavior cor- 
responded with the appearance of the Scots and the Ango-Saxons, 
or American frontiersmen, in the country of the North West, It 
was with them that the opposition of interests degenerated into an 
open war, emphasized by murderous acts of violence, such as 
were recorded neither among the Canadians from the St. Law- 
rence, when they were masters of the interior, nor among the men 
of the Hudson’s Bay Company. 

But these inferiorities among the pedlars, from which the rival 
organizations equally suffered, quickly came to an end. Soon they 
were able to impose themselves on the hostile Indians of Rainy 
Lake through the prestige of a chief they succeeded in winning 
over to their side. But it was above all the large number of Cana- 
dians they recruited into their organizations that formed the best 
guarantee of the allegiance of the primitive hunters; such men 
were as adept at gaining the Indians’ confidence as they were at 
making themselves feared. Thus the two brothers Michel and 
Charles Boyer, once they were established at Rainy Lake, pre- 
served the fidelity of the Indians by their tactful behavior, which 
compelled the admiration of their adversaries, Certain of the lead- 
ing traders, such as Thomas Corry, Simon McTavish, William 

M’Gillivray, themselves understood instinctively the psychology 
of the native people,*"* and they brought to the manipulation of 
Indian reactions an adroitness comparable to that of their 
employees. In them, the good nature of the Canadian” seemed to 
exist side by side with the aggressive and calculating temperament 
of the Scot. It is significant that on his very first contact with the 
natives the methods and the attitudes of Thomas Corry should 
have won him their goodwill," 

At the same time, the pedlars gradually abandoned the policy of 
dispersing their forces which was so harmful to their respective in- 
terests, and they came round to the idea of an increasing concent- 
ration of the modest organizations which disputed the exploitation 
of the fur trade. They overcame the fragmentation of their man- 
power by the formation of great commercial companies. Among 
the eight associations which first apportioned between them the 
pedlars’ enterprises, there was one that rose quickly to predomi- 
nance over the others. In 1779, by the absorption of isolated 
groups and merchants, it assumed an importance that was 
strengthened in 1783 by its reorganization under the supreme au- 
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thority of the Scot Simon McTavish, soon afterwards reinforced 
by the Yorkshireman, Joseph Frobisher.*#* This was the starting 
point for the North West Company. There followed a period of 
struggle with three rival companies, of which the New North 
West Company or XY Company, established in 1798, became the 
most dangerous enemy owing to the strength it acquired from the 
adhesion of Sir Alexander Mackenzie in 1802, The North West 
Company emerged victorious in 1804, and from this point main- 
tained sovereign power over the commercial exploitation of the 
West.*° Ably directed by William M’Gillivray, the nephew of 
Simon McTavish, it now entered the decisive phase of its expan- 
sion. By rational organization, knowledgeably based on the essen- 
tial features of the geography of the North West and on the way 
the resources of the prairie and the Shield complemented each 
other, it succeeded in triumphing for the time being over the ob- 
stacles that had hindered the development of its policy of penetra~ 
tion. 

The North West Company's organization depended on the 
bringing together of the two extremities of Canada, the first con- 
centrated around the St. Lawrence valley, the centre of urban life 
and of commercial and financial activity; the other concentrated in 
the North West, whose expanses opened out beyond Lake 
Superior, and whose entire economy consisted for the present of 
the exploitation of the fur trade. On the group of financiers and 
merchants who were the agents of the new company in Lower 
Canada devolved the task of providing the capital and the mer- 
chandise needed to carry on the trading operations; they were also 
responsible for assuring the disposal of the furs in foreign markets. 
The men entrusted with the direction of the posts and expeditions 
in the North West, under the various titles of “bourgeois,” “part- 
ner,” and “proprietor,” had the mission of producing the furs 
whose profits would feed the company’s coffers.*** 

To enable trade goods to reach the most distant regions of 
Athabasca, it was important to perfect the technique of transport 
and provisioning on the long route from Montreal. In this respect, 
the North West Company had no need to innovate, for the princi- 
pal lines of the system it adopted had already been traced by the 
more modest “pools” that had anticipated its formation. But from 
this point an unprecedented impetus was given by the speeding up 
of the fur brigades, and the synchronization on the routes in the 
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interior of the prompt arrival of foodstuffs and the rapid passage of 
canoes loaded with trade goods or furs. 

Their transport system in fact merely reproduced on a larger 
scale that whose functioning John Cole had described to Andrew 
Graham in 1772. Leaving Montreal, the merchandise destined for 
the fur trade was directed to Grand Portage, and then, after 
1802-3, to the mouth of the Kaministikwia River, in craft capable 
of transporting crews of between seven and ten men and cargoes 
of four tons. They were then transshipped into lighter canoes, the 
canoes of the North, whose dimensions, less by a half those of the 
canots de maitre which traversed Lake Superior, allowed for crews 
of only four or five men, or six at most, and cargoes of half a 
ton.*** The canots de maitre were constructed in the neighborhood 
of Trois Riviéres in the St. Lawrence Valley, according to the tradi- 
tions transmitted from father to son; the canoes of the North were 

made in the locality of Lake of the Woods or Rainy Lake,”*® where 
the trader Charles Boyer distinguished himself by his talent for 
building them.””’ To avoid the overloading of craft that embarked 
on the difficult navigation of the Shield, the Company reduced the 
quantity of heavy goods and for preference substituted articles of 
little bulk. Such articles were doubtless not so valuable, but they 
responded to the desires of the native people—especially alcohol, 
which the pedlars distributed without restraint (unlike, in the early 
years at least, the Hudson’s Bay Company),"** and the multico- 
lored trumpery of their ribbons, beads, and rings. Yet heavier ob- 
jects were not completely eliminated. The Canadians’ muskets, as 
we have seen, were well enough appreciated by the natives. The 
canoes were able to transport them because the Company confided 
their care to that special class of hands who were so easy to recruit 
in Lower Canada; its members, the well-known voyageurs, were 

divided into the mangeurs de lard or pork eaters, and the hivernants 
or winterers.**° The endurance of the latter was proverbial. It 
aroused the admiration of the Hudson's Bay Company's officers, 
who described them as a select group of men, inured to exhaus- 
tions which their own hands would not have been able to endure, 
and able to put up with long periods of privation.**! The occupa- 
tion of voyageur was a trade to which the young Canadian was 
apprenticed from childhood. Apart from the degree of endurance 
it demanded, certain other aptitudes were necessary. The voy- 
ageurs must be able to live in almost constant contact with the na- 
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tive people, among whom they had to spread out as soon as they 
reached the wintering posts in order to make sure of getting their 

furs,?*? They also needed certain manual skills, to pack the furs and 
make baskets and boxes to contain the trade goods; the weight and 
size of these had to be calculated carefully to fit them into the 
canoes.?** These simple voyageurs, men without ambition and ac- 
customed to the simplicity of Lower Canadian life, would become 

the most effective machinery of the North West Company, the in- 
dispensible instrument for realizing its most audacious enterprises, 
the element that enabled it to conquer the length and difficulties of 
the most arduous routes and always to bring its goods on time to 
their destinations. From 1801 onward, a number of Iroquois 
worked beside them;?%* they also were excellent at handling 
canoes,*** but the Company relied on them mainly to increase the 

input of furs.?8° 
This system by which the canoe brigades came and went on 

their ways depended on the existence of an equally rationalized 
system of victualling. There again, the ground had been prepared 
already, by the initiatives of Joseph and Thomas Frobisher. In 1770 
they had established a fort on Red River, near the locality of the 
bison herds. Its purpose was to provide pemmican for those of 
their associates who had assembled their furs near the mouths of 
the Saskatchewan and were now leaving Lake Winnipeg to con- 
front the barren Shield that separated them from Lake Superior.?*7 
This Fort Frobisher, or Lake Fort, was soon abandoned in favor of 
posts set up, in 1773-4, near Portage la Prairie, and on the Sas- 

katchewan, downstream from the junction of its two branches. 
The function of these posts was to send provisions of dried meat, 
in the first case to the mouth of the Winnipeg River, and in the 
second to the region of Cumberland Lake or Paskoyac, where they 
supplied the canoes entering or leaving the Churchill River.?* 
This ably conceived system, by which the meat-producing zone 
made up for the shortage of food resources in the fur~producing 
forest, became the basis for the new organization. Put into practice 
on a broader scale, supported by new provisioning depots, it 
could be adapted to the growing magnitude of the trading expedi- 
tions that were now setting out for Athabasca. 

At the head of Lake Superior, first at Grand Portage and later at 
Fort William, considerable stocks of corn, brought from Detroit 
or Michilimackinac, awaited the brigades, either on their entry 
into the North West or on their return toward the Great Lakes.**° 
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Thence the canoes embarked on the route of Grand Portage and 
the Pigeon River or, beginning in 1802-3, on that of the Kaminis- 
tikwia River, which now supplanted the earlier access route.** 
Often on the way they added to the provisions with which they 
had been supplied an additional stock of wild rice which was sold 
to them by the natives of Rainy Lake.*"' After crossing Lake Win- 
nipeg, they found, scattered along the route to Athabasca, which 
was equally deprived of necessary resources, posts that were pro- 
visioned with food by consignments from the prairie: Bas de la 
Riviere,*** Cumberland House,** Ile a la Crosse, and finally Fort 

Chipewyan, which lay on Lake Athabasca and was the farthest of 
the depots, supplied with pemmican from the herds on the Peace 
River park lands.*** Nowhere, in the wooded solitudes through 
which the Churchill River traced out the way to Athabasca, were 

supplies lacking for the North West Company's brigades. In 
Athabasca itself, the rich territories of the Peace River, wisely 

exploited, removed the threat of famine. The precision with which 
this system, conceived in the lucid minds of the Frobishers, 
functioned under the impetus of the North West Company, and 
the remarkable qualities of the men charged with the transporta- 
tion of merchandise in one direction and furs in the other, are 

enough to explain how the brigades of northern canoes, proceed- 
ing rapidly at a speed of five or six miles an hour, were able to set 
out, reach their destinations, and effect their encounters at Lake 

Superior with the canoes that brought the trade goods from 
Montreal and carried away the cargoes of furs from the interior, 
“almost with the regularity of oceanliners.’”** 

The canoes left Montreal at the beginning of May; reaching 
Grand Portage or Fort William in the early days of July, they re- 
turned to Lower Canada with the furs they had collected.**° On 
their side, the northern canoes left Athabasca round about the 

same date, reached Rainy Lake in mid-July, and regained the final 
destination of Lake Athabasca and the Peace River (Fort Dunve- 

gan) respectively in the first week in September and the first ten 
days of October.**7 
However remarkable this feat of organization may seem it 

would still not have been sufficient to achieve the fulfilment of the 
task attempted by the North West Company if it had not been 
guided by a spirit of solidarity and a sense of emulation that ani- 
mated all levels from the heads of the enterprise down to the ordi- 
nary personnel. 
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The spirit of solidarity took the place of the attitude of aggres— 
sive competition that for so long had divided the traders, It 
showed itself first of all between the partners and the agents, Des- 
pite the differences between the conditions under which they 
lived, there was neither jealousy nor resentment, but a complete 
community of view and interests assured by the sharing out be- 
tween them of the Company's stocks.*** Shareholders in the same 
enterprise and entitled to participate in its profits, they were all 
equally interested in the success of its operations. For sharing in 
the profits was not the privilege of a single group of men, but the 
reward destined for the most meritorious and active officers, and 
granted to new members of the establishment as their seniors re- 
tired 24" 

From this situation there resulted a healthy emulation that 
spread among the lower officers or clerks, who had the possibility 
of acquiring the dignity of sharcholders and wished to elevate 
themselves in this way;?* it led to a close unity between them and 
their bourgeois like that between the latter and the agents. Each 
year this solidarity was given expression and reinforcement in the 
rendezvous at Grand Portage or Fort William, where the 
bourgeois and the agents came together. The details of their opera~ 
tions were discussed in a convivial atmosphere, and the accounts 

were balanced. At this point of contact between the primitive wil- 
derness and the region of the lakes, the men who by virtue of their 
occupations represented the greatly different economies of those 
two halves of Canada fraternized in a solidarity that already sym- 
bolized the union of these regions so distant from and yet so com- 
plementary to each other. 

The same kind of attitude animated the Canadian voyageurs, 
whose profusion spread into all parts of the West the warmth and 
simplicity that were characteristic of the province of Quebec. Be- 
tween the voyageurs and the bourgeois, sympathy was sustained 
by the cordial relations which the latter established with their sub- 
ordinates, and also by the care with which they catered to the voy- 
ageurs’ taste for pomp, their delight in spectacular arrivals at the 
trading posts, and their pleasure in relieving the monotony and 
hardship of their labor by periods of merrymaking, with dancing 
and feasting, which took place at the wintering posts or at Grand 
Portage during the annual rendezvous,®** when the most highly 
placed of the directors joined in the general gaiety.*** 

Such cordiality, which explains the devoted attachment of the 
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voyageurs to their bourgeois, did not mean an end to discipline. 
Yet the discipline was not rigid and formalized; rather, it took the 

form of a spontaneous docility which the voyageur undertook to 
observe when he entered the Company’s service, and which he re- 
spected in the most trying moments; this was partly a result of the 
principles the Church inculcated among the people of Lower 
Canada, but it was also because a discipline of this kind accorded 
well with the natural tendencies of the voyageurs.?™ Besides, any 
shortcoming would result in appropriate penalties.**° 

As for the emulation which stimulated these subordinate per- 
sonnel, it was, like that which arose among the superior officers, 

the outcome of the material advantages which the service pro- 
vided, from the regular provisioning of the brigades with food 
supplies, to the higher scale of wages paid to the men and the 
bonuses granted those who distinguished themselves by their ac- 
tivity or by important achievements. Alexander Mackenzie re- 
ceived a grant of £300 as a reward for the discoveries he had made, 
and each of the men who accompanied him was given £100, with- 
out prejudice to their usual pay.** To the value of these emolu- 
ments must be added that of the equipment in the form of blan- 
kets, body linen, tobacco, knives, beads, and vermilion,**” from 

which the interpreters and clerks benefited in addition to their 
salaries,®°* in the same way as the simple voyageurs.”*° 

Finally, the activity of the men charged with gathering furs di- 

rectly from the Indians was carefully encouraged; furnished with a 

stock of trade goods that did not exceed the value of their wages, 
they were expected to bring in a fixed number of furs and hand 
them over to the bourgeois of the post, but they could use any 
surplus to buy whatever articles they saw fit. “I cannot help think. 

ing, was your servants permitted to trade in the same manner 

Humphrey Marten wrote to the London Committee in 1777, “it 
would have a good effect.” It became possible, without imposing 
a humiliating discipline, to ask a great deal of the men. The advan- 
tages guaranteed to them were accompanied by threats of sanc- 
tions that merely increased the efficiency with which they worked: 
the voyageur was responsible for the merchandise he transported 
and for any damages it might sustain,** and if he did not bring his 
bourgeois the expected quantity of furs, he might lose his pay.*"* 

Yet in this admirably conceived pattern there was one weakness; 
it was the enormous costs imposed by long distances, by the large 
number of personnel, and by high rates of pay. The Company was 
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partly compensated by the profits it could expect from the verita- 
ble mine of furs it had found in the Athabasca region. It also 
gained from the high prices which it charged its men for the vari- 
ous articles they needed. In describing the system, the Hudson’s 
Bay Company's employees showed all the acrimony of traders 
who were jealous of their competitors as they delightedly exposed 
the other side to the advantages the Canadians guaranteed their 
personnel, As soon as it entered the North West, the price of mer- 
chandise was in fact marked up by as much as 100 per cent above 
the Montreal rates.*** Thus the men stood the risk of quickly 
spending their wages on purchases of rum or clothes,*" and the 
Company had no interest in taking into its service voyageurs who 
were animated by too great a spirit of economy; this did not pre- 
sent a great difficulty, since the people of Lower Canada were 
hardly economical by nature.*** Some critics even claimed, not 
without malice, that three pints of rum were enough to absorb the 
whole of a voyageur’s salary,"** Yet, without attempting to deny 
that the North West Company found in this way a means of re- 
couping part of the money it laid out in the wages of its personnel, 
one must say in its favor that it did not exploit its men as 
thoronghly as its adversaries claimed, since the system that had 
been devised responded to the Canadians’ preferences.**? Even if 
there had been a better balance between pay and the price of 
goods, their slight inclination toward economy would have led 
them to spend their wages quickly.*** Yet the exceptional men 
among them, who had a greater inclination toward saving, could 
in the end accumulate a certain amount of capital as a result of their 
journeys." In the final calculation, the material advantages en- 
Joyed by the voyageurs exceeded the losses they might incur from 
the excessive prices of the merchandise. If this had not been the 
case, why would the Canadians have hesitated to enrol in the Hud- 
son's Bay Company's service because of the poor conditions it of- 
fered them? And why should an officer of the same company have 
had to fight against his men’s desertion when the prospect of bet- 
ter and more complete outfitting attracted them to the rival or- 
ganization??”" 

All things considered, it is hard to avoid the conclusion that the 

Hudson's Bay Company, in trying to realize its new policy, re- 
mained in a state of real inferiority in relation to the traders from 
Canada. Its position in the interior must have been for many years 
as fragile as it had earlier been on the coast.?” Before it proceeded 
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in 1811 to an entire recasting of its methods, it succeeded at most in 
achieving a few improvements which slightly narrowed the gap 
that separated it from the enterprising Canadian traders. First of 
all, there were two kinds of improvements in its personnel. One, 
which had at best a middling effect, was the introduction into its 
service of young Orkneymen in the hope of raising the poor qual- 
ity of the personnel generally recruited. The higher rates they were 
offered, £20 to begin, and up to £25 and £30 for the pilots of the 
craft, allowed for a better selection of men, more vigorous and 
more prepared for the hardness of the life. Devoted to the British 
Company and its protocol-ridden apparatus, docile, with few de- 
mands,*” they still could not rival the men of the opposing camp 
in endurance and in their knowledge of river navigation.”* 

It was precisely by making an appeal to the latter that the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company transmitted to its personnel part of the qual- 
ities in which it was lacking. At the time of his tour in 1774-5, 
Matthew Cocking had voiced the feeling of the Indians in this di- 
rection: so far as it affected them, penetration could succeed only 
with the support of the Canadians.** Though he was personally 
hostile to the idea of engaging them,?” Cocking came to the con- 
clusion that such a move might have its limited usefulness, since it 
seemed the only way of bringing an end to that mercenary at- 
titude, insensitive to any thought of gratitude, which the struggle 
between the traders had developed among the native peoples.*”° 
Andrew Graham expressed himself similarly,?”” and experience 
was amply to justify the hopes that were pinned on the Cana- 
dians.*” 

Not that matters proceeded without difficulties. Between Cana- 
dians and Orkneymen or Scots, there was little fellow-feeling. 
The prejudices of the latter were strongly manifested, revealing a 
narrowly clannish spirit among them. It was laughable to sce them 
refusing to embark in canoes with the Canadians, their sole excuse 
being that they did not belong to the same country.?” If, by 
chance, a Canadian were promoted to a position of command, the 

men would refuse to accept his orders under the pretext that they 
did not understand them,”*° and in two instances at least their hos- 

tility provoked the Canadians to desert. Toward these newcomers, 
employees and even the officers themselves showed an obvious 
aversion, whose bitterness is projected in the remarks made by 
Edward Umfreville in his description of Hudson Bay.**! Further- 
more, the Hudson’s Bay Company’s lower rates of pay, 
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the slighter value of the equipment it allotted to its men,’** the less 
cordial relations between chiefs and subordinates, the more formal 
character of the service, and the length of the contracts which the 
Company customarily expected*** were all displeasing to the 
French-speaking personnel. 

Finally, when Canadians were engaged, there was the ever- 
present risk of corruption by the pedlars. The inevitable inclina~ 
tion of men from Lower Canada to mingle with each other, and 
the sympathy aroused by a common language, soon exposed the 
Canadians to the intrigues of their compatriots and weakened their 
fidelity to the British company.*** The example of Louis Primeau, 
who deserted the Hudson’s Bay Company’s service, despite his 
contract, as soon as the pedlars returned to the West is signifi- 
cant.?*" No less significant was the attitude of a number of 
Anglo-Saxons who had transferred their allegiance to the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company, but returned very soon to the service of the 
pedlars,*° or the conduct of Francais Maugenest, who stayed for a 
brief time at Fort Albany and improved its trading methods, but 
then renounced the Company's service.**” There is no doubt that 
the Company experienced many disappointments with its Cana- 
dian personnel. In 1791 Edward Jarvis wrote from Gloucester 
House that it would be advisable to reduce the number of men en- 
gaged from Lower Canada; they were difficult to manage, and 
their refusal to accept contracts of long duration was harmful to 
the stability of the service.*** But since it was obliged to turn to 
them, the Company had to adapt itself to their customs, and it was 
able to incorporate into its personnel a certain number of voy- 
ageurs**’ without attaching them seriously to its cause. Some of 
them were tempted by the less exacting labor which the Company 
demanded;?" others, impelled by some passing grievance or per- 
sonal grudge, offered their services impulsively, but these were 
not always accepted.**' Yet even though they appeared as aliens 
among its personnel, the Canadians were still precious auxiliaries 
for the Hudson's Bay Company. Henceforward the navigation 
became more reliable, contact with the Indians was facilitated by 
the use of Canadian interpreters," and the Company was eventu- 
ally satisfied enough by the voyageurs’ attitude to undertake on its 
own account the direct recruitment of voyageurs in the parishes 
beside the St. Lawrence.” 

It is true that at the same time the Company had recourse to an 
innovation which was well adapted to its slowish methods and to 
the character of its personnel, and also made the employment of 
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Canadians less necessary.*** It was the utilization on the inland 
waterways of a type of craft different from the light, swift canoe 
which only the men from Lower Canada were able to navigate 
with such ease. Known as the York boat, this flat-bottomed 

bateau was curved upward like a canoe at both ends. The first 
model was built in 1788, and it was brought into general use in 

1797.*** That year two of these new craft reached York Factory 
without experiencing any difficulty; they carried 180 packs of furs, 
against the mere twenty to twenty-five that constituted the usual 
load of the northern canoe.*** Soon they were circulating regularly 
on the routes through the prairies and on the waterways that led to 
York Factory and Fort Albany, canoes now plying only on rivers 
with obstacle-ridden beds. 

Asa result, the Company was able to economize on manpower 
and, as a consequence, to reduce its costs. Most important, since 
the handling of the York boat was so much more simple, only two 

of the nine-man crew, the bowsman and the steersman, need be 
specialized personnel.**” Finally, the means of constructing these 
boats was nearer than that of the northern canoes to the methods 
with which the Orkneymen were familiar. At Cumberland House 
a supply depot was established to provision these heavy craft.?** 

Thanks to these few improvements, which it conceived only 
when it began to expand its progress into the interior, and thanks 
to the much easier access which the routes available to it opened 
out toward the prairies, the Hudson’s Bay Company was able 
slowly to develop a policy of expansion with the help of a handful 
of devoted men, such as William Tomison, John Mackay, James 
Sutherland, Peter Fidler, and Philip Turnor, Of course, the Com- 
pany was still far from measuring up to its powerful rivals, and its 
achievements remained very modest in comparison with the bril- 
liant successes of the North West Company. But it never re- 
nounced the objective it had set itself after a century of hesitation 
and the two great currents of penetration, branching out on the 
southern and northern routes, henceforward proceeded along 
parallel lines. 

THE SIMULTANEOUS PROGRESS 
OF THE CURRENTS OF PENETRATION 

The Canadian Offensive 

While the pedlars used the main arteries of the prairies and the in- 
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tersecting waterways of the Shield to pursue their progress toward 
the West and the North West, the Hudson’s Bay Company 
docilely followed them; it established itself beside them on the 

routes which they had traced out for it, thus preventing the encir- 
clement of its essential positions and obtaining its share of the fur 
trade. 

Proceeding from the bases where they were solidly entrenched 
around Lake Winnipeg, the pedlars’ initiatives fanned out simul- 
taneously over the three great zones into which the West was di- 
vided. 

Over the prairie and on the southern fringe of the parkland we 
see them extending up the great river valleys the gains they had 
won in the preliminary phase of their offensive. The grand lines of 
the hydrographic network tempted them to this action, but it was 
the rapid exhaustion of the supplies of furs, which they sought 
without restraint so as to reap the profits necessitated by their 
enormous costs, that made it necessary.**° In 1774-5 they oc- 
cupied Lake Winnipegosis, the valley of the Red Deer River, and 
that of the Swan River, the region of Fort Dauphin and the Red 

River valley .*°° Thence they advanced toward the Assiniboine val- 
ley while, apart from Pascoyac, they retained several establish- 
ments in the neighborhood of the Fort la Corne of the French 
period and of the fort known as Isaac’s House, which Alexander 
Henry the Elder called Fort la Prairie.°°! 

In 1776-7 they went beyond the junction of the two arms of the 
Saskatchewan River, and established themselves on the north 

branch at the inflow of the Sturgeon or Net-Setting River, where 
they built Sturgeon Fort, which they also gave the name of Lower 
Settlement,*” In 1778 they went on from Lower Settlement to es- 
tablish, at an important junction of routes frequented by the forest 
Indians, Middle Settlement or Middle Fort,*°* whence they 
reached the Eagle Hills and, pushing close to the confluence of the 
Battle River, established Upper Settlement, or Pangman’s Fort, 
on the left bank of the Saskatchewan.*” Later on, after an inactive 

period, they resumed their assault on the North Saskatchewan; in 
1784 they established themselves in strength at Pine Island Fort 
near the present frontier of the provinces of Saskatchewan and Al- 
berta,*°* and in the succeeding years they pushed even closer to the 
headwaters of the great river, built Fort George in 1792," and, 
last of all, the remote outpost of Fort Augustus near the inflow of 
the Sturgeon River of present-day Alberta in 1795, and Rocky 
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Mountain House near the junction of the Clearwater River in 
1799.5°" In 1801 Fort Augustus was replaced by a post built on the 
present site of Edmonton.** Now the North Saskatchewan was 
completely occupied, and this assured the Canadians a rich harvest 
of furs from the wooded zone that extended along its left bank.*°° 
Every year the establishment of a hundred or so men they main- 
tained there extracted from it some 8,000 beaver pelts and an equi- 
valent number of bear and wolf skins. 

At the same time as they occupied the North Saskatchewan, the 
pedlars embarked on its southern branch. In 1785—6 on its lower 
course they established the Fort of the Isles,‘ and in 1800 at the 
junction with the Red Deer River they founded two adjoining 
posts,‘!! leaving unoccupied a vast area, which was deserted in 
winter by the bison and scantily populated by fur-bearing animals. 

At the same time the pedlars multiplied their enterprises on the 
more southerly rivers; on the Assiniboine, where their posts suc- 
ceeded each other from the area of Portage la Prairie as far as Fort 
Alexandria; on the Qu’appelle River, whose lower course they 
controlled from Fort Hope; on the Red River where, since before 

1789, the junction of the Pembina River was dominated by a trad- 
ing fort,*"? and where Fort Gibralter would be built in 1808—9 at 

the inflow of the Assiniboine.*'* From these last groups of forts, 
sited in a region favored equally by abundant bison herds and by 
fur-bearing animals, particularly prevalent in the parkland and in 
the clusters of hills that extended it into the plain,’ the pedlars 
encroached on American territory. There they extended their op- 
erations, establishing advance posts in Minnesota and North 
Dakota*” and developing an active current of trade with the Man- 
dans of the Missouri.’’® The post situated at the junction of the 
Souris and Assiniboine rivers played the most important role in 
these developments.*!” From the Mandans the Canadians bought 
furs, especially wolf and lynx, and found among their herds the 
horses they needed for their operations.*"* Red River was the ulti- 
mate terminus of the Crow Wing Trail, by which the traders from 
Prairie du Chien, in American territory, reached the Assiniboine; 

it was a very dangerous route because it ran through the no- 
man’s-land which the Sioux and the Saulteaux unceasingly dis- 
puted." 

But the prairie was not the Canadians’ only field of activity. 
Their enterprises proliferated in every direction, with a boldness 
encouraged by the need to keep on finding new sources of furs. 
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Thus, early on, they penetrated into the zone of woodland that 

clothed the rocky soil of the Shield, and invaded the hinterland of 
Fort Albany, where their posts were scattered along the basin of 
the English River and as far as Cat Lake on the upper course of the 
Albany River.**° Later they spread into the hinterland of York Fac- 
tory, where they quickly reached the principal waterways, such as 
Grass River and Minago River, that flowed into the Nelson River. 
By 1774 they had set foot in the basin of the Minago, which 
drained partly into Lake Winnipeg and partly into Hudson Bay, 
and in this area from 1783 onward a struggle to maintain their in- 
fluence brought the pedlars and the British company into con- 
flict.) Thence they penetrated David Thompson’s Muskrat 
Country, from whose heartland between the branches of the Nel- 
son and Churchill rivers they hoped to gain important cargoes of 
furs.3?? York Factory’s journals and letter-books reveal how much 
these encroachments troubled its officers,*** at a time when the 
post had only limited manpower at its disposal .*** 

It was in the direction of the Churchill and Athabasca rivers that 
the pedlars’ most active and fruitful enterprises were developed. In 
1774, by way of the Maligne or Sturgeon Weir River, Joseph 
Frobisher reached Trade Portage, where the summit of the divide 

separating the basin of the Saskatchewan from that of the Chur- 
chill formed an essential stage on the route used by the Indians on 
their way to Fort Churchill.*** Louis Primeau, who by this time 
had deserted the Hudson’s Bay Company, constructed a rough 
shelter there in which Joseph and Thomas Frobisher spent the 
winter of 1774-5, in particularly difficult conditions, with the 
threat of starvation never far away.*** For this reason, they picked 
for the following winter a better-supplied spot on Beaver Lake,**” 
where the abundant fisheries enabled them to await the reopening 
of the waterways so that they could continue their operations in 
the direction of the Churchill River.*** Thence they returned in the 
spring of 1776 to Trade Portage, where they accumulated a stock 
of exceptionally fine furs. Then Thomas Frobisher crossed the 
watershed and, following the Churchill River, reached Lac Ile 4 la 

Crosse before the winter set in; his brother rejoined him there in 
the spring of 1777.**° In this way the pedlars reached the threshold 
of Athabaska; from here onward the country remained temporar- 
ily unexplored, since Thomas Frobisher, doubtless from lack of 
sufficient supplies, had to abandon the idea of going beyond the 
lake beside which he had spent the winter.**° 
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The decisive step was taken in the following year by Peter Pond 
when he crossed Methye Portage, and, by the henceforward clas- 
sic route of the Clearwater and Athabasca rivers, reached the 
shores of Lake Athabasca, where he erected the first post that had 

yet been founded in that distant region,*"' Here he was able to in- 
tercept the rich cargoes of furs which the Cree and the Chipewyan 
were in the habit of trading to Hudson Bay by the very route 
which he had followed in the other direction,*** Thanks to the 
proximity of the Peace River, he was able to get as many victuals 
as he required from the local Indians.*** This achievement opened 
to the Canadians the limitless possibilities of the North West. Mas- 
ters of the main access route and assured of finding at Lake As- 
siniboine the provisions of food needed for their enterprises, they 
saw the promise of new explorations opening out indefinitely. 

In the following years Peter Pond continued his activities in the 
same region. In 1781-2 he seems to have been delayed by an early 
freezeup, and had to spend the winter at Lac la Ronge.*** He reap- 
peared in Athabasca in 1783—4 and did not leave the region for 
several years. During this period, on the basis of his personal ob- 
servations and of information gained from the Indians whom his 
lively curiosity led him to question, he drew up a map which with 
remarkable prevision linked the vast extent of the Arctic regions 
with the world as it was then known. 
New positions were soon added to those he had occupied as the 

traders poured into Athabasca in ever greater numbers. John Ross 
and Laurent Leroux established themselves beside Peter Pond, and 
Laurent Leroux went on to Great Slave Lake.*** Alexander Mac- 
kenzie and Patrick Small, quickly followed by Roderick Macken- 
zie and Duncan M’Gillivray, established themselves at Ile a la 
Crosse.**° Peace River in its turn was invaded, and two posts were 
built there.**” From Ile a la Crosse expeditions were organized to- 
ward the south. Advance posts were established on Green Lake 
and Moose Lake, and along the Beaver River; thence David 

Thompson was able to reach Deer Lake, the upper course of the 

Athabasca River, and Lesser Slave Lake, while, by way of Moose 

Lake, it was easy to reach the Upper Saskatchewan at the point 
where Fort George was established.*** 
By this radiation of their operations, the Canadians became the 

masters of Athabasca. The North West Company, whose profits 
continued to increase, now enjoyed its most prosperous years. Yet 
the progress which the Canadians had up to now realized was only 
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the prelude to enterprises which, though less profitable than those 
of Peter Pond, outstripped them in the range of discoveries to 
which they led. 

First of all, there were the famous explorations of Alexander 

Mackenzie, northward toward the Arctic coastline, westward to- 
ward the Pacific Ocean, explorations whose results Peter Pond had 

already foreseen and whose main directions he had traced out on 
the map he compiled. Pond himself had moreover outlined orally 
in Montreal the plan he had conceived of following the river sys- 
tem, whose upper course he had discovered, as far as Alaska, 

whence he hoped to reach the coast of Asia, and thence return to 
England.**? It was in the hope of reaching the Pacific Ocean that 
Alexander Mackenzie set out in the summer of 1789 on the explo- 
ration that led him, by way of Slave River and the waterway that 
bears his name, to the shores of the Arctic Ocean.**” However 
commercially advantageous this voyage may have been because of 
the new breadth it gave to the North West Company's opera- 
tions,**' it disappointed the hopes that had been raised of reaching 
the Pacific Ocean.* So Mackenzie resumed his search in a wes- 
terly direction. This was the aim of his expedition in 1792, during 
which, ascending the Peace River, he found his way through the 

Rocky Mountains and, by way of the Parsnip, Fraser, Blackwater, 

and Bella Coola rivers, reached the Pacific in the locality of Elcho 
Harbour.*** Mackenzie was the first man to succeed in crossing the 
full breadth of the American continent: drawing the conclusions 
from his journey, he now thought of substituting the Hudson Bay 
route for that, beginning in Montreal, which the North West 
Company now used. He proposed to send the furs from the in- 
terior via Hudson Bay or the Pacific rather than taking them to the 
St, Lawrence by a route whose length made it impractical for the 
export of furs from the Rocky Mountains, and to inaugurate be- 
tween Canada and the countries of the Far East a commercial link 
that would be a new source of profit for England.“ 

These ambitious projects soon inspired the men of the North 
West Company. Following the example of their great predecessor, 
they set out to reach the shores of the Pacific, but by different 
routes. The first was Duncan M’Gillivray, who vainly attempted 
the journey in 1801, probably abandoning his project at Kootenay 
Lake in the valley of the same name, which he had reached by way 
of the Bow River.**® Simon Fraser was more fortunate in 1807-8. 
Leaving the Peace River, on whose upper course he had estab- 
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lished two posts that served him as reconnaisance bases, he as- 
cended the Parsnip River, and quickly reached the waterway 
which henceforward bore his name, and which led him to the 
Pacific in July 1808.%*° The route he thus discovered, despite its al- 
most rectilinear appearance on the map, was difficult to use be- 
cause of the falls by which its course was broken. 

It was David Thompson to whom fell the honor of finding the 
easier way of the Columbia River. From the North Saskatchewan, 
by way of the Howse Pass, he reached the Columbia valley in 
1807, but for several years he dissipated his efforts in trading oper- 
ations, in comings and goings that hindered the progress of his 
discoveries. It was only in 1811 that he seriously re-embarked on 
them: ascending the upper course of the Columbia River, he went 
over into the valley of the Kootenay, which he followed in Ameri- 
can territory to the extremity of its southern curve. He then travel- 
led westward over land, and re-entered the Columbia valley at 

Kettle Falls in American territory; he descended the river to its 
mouth, where he arrived on 15 July 1811.%*7 

The Americans had got there before him. They had already 
taken possession of the mouth of the Columbia by the construc- 
tion of Fort Astoria. This would have turned Thompson’s exces- 
sively slow expedition into a failure if the war of 1812 had not soon 
put the Americans in a position of liquidating their enterprise and 
giving up their fort to the North West Company,** which at last 
had a maritime base and an easy way of access to the Pacific. The 
Rockies, where trading posts in the meantime had proliferated, 
passed in their turn under the economic domination of the pedlars 
of Lower Canada. In spite of the growing complications which the 
problem of distances created for the North West Company as it 
extended its operations farther from its base on the St. Lawrence, 

it had nevertheless achieved some impressive exploits, of which 
the parallel enterprises of the Hudson’s Bay Company seem only a 
weak echo. 

The British Offensive 

Since the day Samuel Hearne established the post of Cumberland 
House, the Hudson's Bay Company’s progress continued, slowly 
perhaps, but with an obstinacy that does it credit, and which in the 
end would enable it to seize from its rival the exploitation of the 
North West. Its policy of penetration, like that of the pedlars, was 
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developed simultaneously across the prairie and the Shield. There 
was no general plan, but a series of tentative moves as each officer 

organized his isolated expedition, acting in response to the enter- 
prises of his competitors without any consideration for the orien- 
tation of his neighbor’s expeditions. Because of the rivalries that 
divided them, of their excessively narrow conceptions of their 
posts’ immediate commercial interests, and of their ignorance of 

the geography of the hinterland, the governors of the forts on 
Hudson Bay would have found it difficult to co-ordinate the ef- 
forts of their men or devise for them a methodical plan of penetra- 
tion.**” Yet some of them, like Humphrey Marten, the governor 
of York Factory, were devoid of such narrow prejudices, giving 
good guidance to the initiatives of their employees and suggesting 
to them new fields of exploitation.*** 

Cumberland House, the departure point for the offensive, ex- 
perienced some painful setbacks. Its weak manpower, consisting 
of only eight men, was surrounded on all sides by the superior 
forces of the “‘pedlars,”’ some 160 men, and this meant that in the 
beginning they were unable to carry out very lucrative opera- 
tions.**' Yet from this modest base, which did not seem to have 

much chance of survival, Matthew Cocking, who succeeded 

Samuel Hearne in 1775, dispersed his men in tiny groups, in- 
structed to follow the pedlars and to intercept the Indians before 
they joined the Canadians, or to escort them to his post.**? But it 
soon became clear that such sporadic enterprises were not enough, 
and that it was necessary to found new and better-equipped posts, 
since the Canadians’ establishments were already sited too far up 
the Saskatchewan for Cumberland House to gain any appreciable 
profits .*°* 

Thus the progression began, sometimes in docile response to 
the Canadian advances, sometimes more boldly conducted by 
men who rebelled against this cautious policy. In 1778 William 
Tomison led out from York Factory a small expedition, not even a 
dozen men, but still a little larger than usual and supplied with 
better-chosen merchandise. He ascended the Saskatchewan and 
established himself beside Sturgeon Fort. Then the expedition 
moved on erratically to Middle Settlement,** and succeeded in 

building, upstream from it, a post called Upper Hudson House, 
which was soon abandoned.* In 1759 Tomison constructed, 
somewhat downriver, the post of Hudson House, which he was 

able to build before the Canadians returned; this enabled him to 
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carry out an active and profitable trade with the Indians .°°* 
These initiatives opened a contest in speed between the compet- 

ing traders, On the routes across the prairie it became a matter of 
who could overtake the other and build his post first on a well- 
chosen site, far enough away to intercept the Indians on their jour- 
neys. As soon as the pedlars embarked on the South Saskatche- 
wan, Tomison hastened to imitate them and to construct a fort be- 
side their establishment.**” To the building of Pine Island Fort on 
the north branch near the present frontier of Alberta he answered 
by constructing Manchester House,** whose site was outflanked 

by one of his more active competitors.*** Not only did the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company witness its possibilities of trade widening 
gradually in this direction, but it gained positions in the neighbor- 
hood of pasturelands that could provide meat, and near to wooded 

zones that offered the raw materials needed for building canoes. 
Soon, in their turn, its men set foot in the Assiniboine valley, 

within immediate reach of the bison herds. There they constructed 
Brandon House in 1793 as an outpost of Fort Albany, whose men 
had recently reached the basin of Lake Winnipeg and the Red 
River valley. Forewarned of the arrival of their enemies, the ped- 
lars had taken the precaution of diverting the Indians from the loc- 
ality of Brandon,** but the newcomers did not let themselves be 
evicted. In fact, between 1794 and 1796, they added Marlborough 
House to Brandon House; it lay at the other end of the Assiniboine 

valley, near the source of the river. Carlton House was then built 

near Alexandria, and Albany House took the place of 
Marlborough House; as well, a series of positions in sight of 

Canadian ones were occupied between Brandon House and these 
more distant posts. The zone of wooded hills and humid valleys 
extending to the west of Lake Winnipegosis, whose wealth in furs 
had early attracted the pedlars, was also occupied, between 1790 
and 1794, by posts set up in the Swan River valley.*** Here the 
Hudson’s Bay Company gained results similar to those of the ped- 
lars and in its turn acquired good bases on the principal penetration 
routes and in the fur-producing areas. 

The difficulties that at this time arose with the Indians, affecting 
the pedlars’ enterprises just as much, led to the abandonment of 

the posts on the South Saskatchewan, which were replaced by new 

establishments on the north branch: Buckingham House which 

from 1792 onward stood beside Fort George,*®* and Carlton 

House which in 1796 was built upstream from the inflow of Stur- 
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geon River and close to the Canadians’ Fort la Montée, on a site 
that fitted it for the role of a provisioning post.** When, after the 
exhaustion of furs around the positions they already occupied, the 
pedlars built Fort Augustus, the Hudson’s Bay Company imitated 
them and established Fort Edmonton beside it;* in 1801 this was 

transferred to the site of the existing town of Edmonton, where 

once again it stood near to the Canadians’ post.*** Beyond that, 
near the mouth of the Clearwater River and facing the Canadians’ 
Rocky Mountain House, Acton House constituted the farthest 
point of the Company's expansion on the North Saskatchewan.**” 
Thus the river was studded, along its entire course, with rival es- 
tablishments which often, in the case of both companies, were 

merely temporary structures, condemned to abandonment 
through the rapid destruction of the fur-bearing animals. Some- 
times, on the other hand, the competing traders resumed 

possession—often simultaneously —of the bases they had earlier 
abandoned, in the hope of finding there once more the resources 

their more recent posts no longer offered. Thus in 1800 they reoc- 
cupied the South Saskatchewan, which had never been a major ob- 
jective, and on its upper course, at the junction with the Red Deer 
River, founded three neighboring posts, the English company’s 
bearing the name of Chesterfield House.*** 

By these enterprises, radiating over the boundless spaces of the 
prairie, and along the multiple limbs of its waterways, York Fac- 
tory promoted a renaissance of its former prosperity, and once 
again it was able to ship to England cargoes of furs that recalled the 
figures of earlier days: nearly 50,000 pelts in 1794, nearly 43,000 in 
1795, more than 47,000 in 1797.%*" The fur trade which in the first 
years had been concentrated on the shores of Hudson Bay was 
now carried on in the interior of Rupert's Land; in terms of activ- 
ity the posts there eventually exceeded the coastal factories, and 
some of the Company’s officers even advised the pure and simple 
abandonment of the shoreline, which had ceased to be productive 

and tied up too many men.*”" 
If the Hudson’s Bay Company successfully carried out in the 

prairie enterprises whose undramatic character did not reduce their 
effectiveness, in the zone of the Shield it remained at a disadvan- 

tage in relation to the Canadians. No doubt it succeeded in com- 
bating the encroachments that threatened to outflank its estab- 
lishments on the shoreline, and it developed in their hinterland a 
resistance that broke the besieging circle of the pedlars. But it 
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could not vie with them in the more distant spaces of Athabasca, 
to which it brought neither the number or quality of personnel nor 
the trade goods that the nature of the country demanded. 
When York Factory in 1774 inaugurated its policy of expansion, 

the other posts on Hudson Bay had already set about breaking the 
blockade in their hinterlands. Thus it was only in the later years of 

the eighteenth century that these establishments began to show an 
interest in the regions for which they formed the outlets. In 1776 
the factor of Albany was surprised to learn that in a few days he 
could reach the post of Michipicoten on Lake Superior, which was 
an important departure point for Canadian expeditions directed 
against his post.*’! In 1773 the personnel of Moose Factory under- 
took the “discovery” of the Nettaway River,’”? and embarked on 

the straight waterways that fanned out toward Lake Superior, 
Lake Huron, and the Ottawa River.*”* Posts began to be built in 
that barren region,*”* where the lack of food supplies, the difficul- 
ties of navigation, and the often unfriendly dispositions of the In- 
dians hindered operations.*”” By way of Albany River, which 
opened direct communication between James Bay and the basin of 
Lake Winnipeg, the Company reached the Red and the As- 
siniboine rivers, after consolidating on the way several staging 
points, such as Henley House, Gloucester House, Osnaburg 
House, and Rocky Valley.3” In 1777, George Sutherland reached 
the shores of Lake Winnipeg. The route was long, difficult, and 
did not seem to favor the establishment of useful relations with the 
Indians; and it was only from 1780 onward that the offensive was 
effectively developed.*”’ Posts were then built on Red Lake and 
English River.‘ In 1793 James Sutherland and John Mackay 
penetrated as far as the Winnipeg River by the classic route of Por- 
tage de I'Isle, close to which they founded the fort of the same 
name. From this important junction of trails they were able to 
reach, on one side the Rainy Lake area, and on the other the region 
of the Red and Assiniboine rivers, where, as we have seen, several 

forts were soon established *”* 
Finally, from York Factory and Fort Churchill, expeditions 

were organized to counter the enterprises which the pedlars were 
conducting in the basin of the Nelson River. Joseph Colen, com- 
mandant of York Factory, distinguished himself in this situation 
by his activity and his spirit of initiative. To the intrusions of the 
Canadians he replied by putting up numerous shelters, placed 
mostly around the lakes with which the region is scattered, and 
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shifting them frequently so as to prevent his rivals staying too long 
in another place; Lake House on Split Lake in 1790, Chatham 
House on Wintering Lake in 1791, Sipiwesk House on the lake of 
the same name in 1792.%*° Not only was the pedlars’ invasion 
slowed down, but the distances the Indians had to travel were 
shortened by the interposition of posts where they could trade 
their furs without going as far as Hudson Bay.**' 

More striking expeditions were directed toward the Barren 
Grounds and Athabasca. Across these desolate spaces in the direc- 
tion of Coppermine River, where he expected to find an actual 
copper mine, Samuel Hearne made the celebrated journey of ex- 
ploration, his account of which communicates an interest compar- 
able to that of the wanderings of David Thompson, It led him 
from Fort Churchill to the mouth of the river in question and to 
Great Slave Lake, but its results were not very positive. Hearne 
did not find the vein of copper he was looking for. His expedition 
in fact did little more than reveal a commercial link between the 
Indians of the Slave River and Fort Churchill through the inter- 
mediary of the Dene tribes living on the outer edge of the forest 
and the barren land surfaces of the far North.**? This current of 
trade provided a convenient source of profit for Prince of Wales 
Fort, which in part compensated for the losses inflicted on it by 
Frobisher’s enterprises. Samuel Hearne set about making the trade 
more active, and perfecting its organization. Under his direction, 
groups of northern Indians went as far as the tribes of Great Slave 
Lake, commissioned to trade with them for furs, and Hearne 

could congratulate himself on the results he obtained.*** 
But this policy soon seemed insufficient, and the idea was de- 

veloped of eventually discovering a new access route that would 
make it easier to reach the area that provided the coveted pelts.** 
The reconnaisance and surveying expeditions carried out during 
1780—2 in the Athabasca region by Philip Turnor, Peter Fidler, 
and David Thompson*** had ended by showing that the pedlars’ 
route was too solidly occupied to be profitably used. The enter- 
prise [of finding an alternative route] was difficult and looked too 
ambitious for the personnel of the Hudson's Bay Company,%** 
whose posts moreover were insufficiently stocked with merchan- 
dise and provisions.**” Fort Churchill and York Factory made 
concurrent attempts which merely resulted in postponing the 
realization of the idea. After three years of uncertainty and fruitless 
efforts,*"* the project was realized in 1796 by David Thompson, 
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who reached Lake Athabasca by Reindeer Lake and the Fond du 
Lac River.*** The trail turned out to be rough and unprofitable, 
Thus the Hudson’s Bay Company had to renounce its ambition to 
maintain a route guaranteed against the inroads of its competitors. 
Here, as on the prairie, it had to resign itself to the limited policy 
that consisted of docilely following the initiatives of the Canadians 
in order to reap the best possible share of profits. The Committee 
facilitated the task by deciding in favor of Prince of Wales Fort the 
dispute that had set it against York Factory, and confiding to the 
governor of the post that guarded the mouth of the Churchill 
River the mission of organizing the necessary expeditions. 

In 1799 the York boats reached Ile a la Crosse, A post was built 
there, from which a series of offensives was directed against points 
already occupied by the Canadians—Green Lake, Essex House, 
Lac la Biche (Greenwich House), Lesser Slave Lake." Next, the 

Operations were extended in the direction of Lake Athabasca, 
where in 1802 Peter Fidler built Nottingham House a short dis- 
tance from Fort Chipewyan, and in the direction of Peace River, 
where the post of Mansfield House assured the victualling of the 
personnel in Athabasca;**! Great Slave Lake was also reached 2%? 
Thus the Hudson’s Bay Company had everywhere succeeded in 
establishing itself beside the Canadian traders, and this was done in 
spite of the disproportion in manpower, which was particularly 
pronounced in Athabasca, where the hard life discouraged its 
employees.*** It was in the numerical insufficiency and also the 
poor quality of its personnel, who would refuse to set out on 
routes where the Canadians had overcome every obstacle,*® that 
the Hudson's Bay Company's principal weakness was still to be 
found. The pedlars expressed their view of the situation with 
irony when they observed that the Company always held to its old 
maxim: “Sleep and take your rest.”’**° Thus, although the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company did succeed in carrying out lucrative trading 
operations in Athabasca, it still seemed to retain a rather precarious 

hold over its position there, which aggravated the increasingly ag- 
gressive attitude of the Canadians. 

The Clash of the Currents of Penetration 

At first, the hostility which these rival enterprises could not fail to 
arouse had taken the form of a commercial rivalry, sometimes ac- 
companied by reciprocal courtesies and by a promptness to help 



198 THE PENETRATION OF THE WHITE RACE 

each other in difficult situations. Of that comparative cordiality 
which mitigated the bitterness of competition there were many 
examples. There was the hospitality Matthew Cocking received 
on several occasions from Francois le Blanc.**° There was the 

generous attitude of Andrew Graham, who sent medicines and 

food to Joseph Frobisher when the latter suffered a disastrous set- 
back to his trade after embarking on the Churchill River.**? Dur- 
ing the long wintering period, it was customary for the staff of the 
Canadian posts to pay the traditional visit to their competitors on 1 
January. In 1779 the pedlar Holmes, in residence at Sturgeon Fort, 
invited the Hudson’s Bay Company's officers to spend Christmas 
in his company.*** And in 1783, when his rivals could not be 
supplied from York Factory, which had been abandoned in 1782 
because of La Pérouse’s attack, the same Holmes provided them 
with enough food to enable them to reach Hudson House.°% 
When Robert Flett was the victim of attack by an Indian on the 
way to Cumberland House, Frobisher gave him the most cour- 

teous of welcomes, and provided all the material succor he 
needed.*"” Sometimes the pedlars called on their competitors to 
lend them assistance in catching men who deserted after stealing 
merchandise.*°' On other occasions they went among the Man- 
dans together with the Hudson’s Bay Company's men, and in 
practice the good relationship sometimes went as far as building a 
common palisade around the rival posts to protect them from the 
possibility of surprise attack by the Indians.** 

Yet soon enough indications began to appear that the traders 
from Lower Canada were now resolved to manifest their opposi- 
tion with a brutal intransigence which the French Canadians in 
their time had not displayed. The language used by James Finlay 
revealed early on the changed nature of the struggle that would 
soon begin, In 1769 he made the flat declaration to his enemies that 
he would go within fifty leagues of the posts on the shoreline and 
that fifty men would not be enough to stop him.*** Openly deny- 
ing that the Charter of 1670 had any legal validity, the pedlars 
affirmed that they had the right to go anywhere they wished.*” 
Undoubtedly the harsher temperaments of the new leaders of the 
enterprise, their state of mind, at once more mercenary and less 

conciliatory than that of the Canadians from the St. Lawrence, was 
bound to introduce methods of violence such as, in earlier years, 
had been manifest only sporadically on occasions like the affair of 
Henley House. It was certainly the new arrivals, the High- 
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landers and the American frontiersmen, who took the initiatives 

leading to the worst instances of violence. The Canadian, naturally 
more sociable in his inclinations, tended to return quickly to his 
habits of courtesy and generosity. Charles Boyer, the well-known 
trader from Rainy Lake, always did his utmost to get the better of 
his competitors, but at the same time showed them a courteous 

hospitality which they themselves recognized.*° And Charles 
Chaboillez, despite the ‘“‘devilish” methods he used to intercept the 

Indians, was never lacking in kindness toward the men at Brandon 
House.*°° 

The more aggressive methods of the newcomers were first man- 
ifested against Cumberland House. The Hudson’s Bay Com- 
pany’s post was immediately besieged by the pedlars, who carried 
off by force the canoes which the Indians had built for its person- 
nel,*”’ and did not stop short of assault in hindering the natives 
from taking to Cumberland House the furs they intended to sell 
there.*** Intercepting the arrival of victuals,*” seizing furs from 
Indians on the trails in order to ruin the trade of the rival enter- 
prise,*"° openly bribing them with presents and alcohol to refuse 

help to the officers of the British company,*"' and finally using 
their numerical superiority to threaten with reprisals the Indians 
who had dared to make canoes for their enemies,*!* or themselves 
cornering all the available supplies of birchbark,*"* the pedlars did 
their best, by all these methods, to isolate the establishments of 

their rivals and to force them to abandon their positions. Edward 
Umfreville, who had deserted the Hudson’s Bay Company to join 
the ranks of the Canadians, appears to have played among them a 
role especially harmful to his old masters, and, led perhaps by the 

resentment he nurtured ,*"* to have known no limit in the spiteful 
actions he performed against them. 

Alcohol was distributed in profusion, to lure the Indians so that 

the trade goods they accepted from the English company with the 
promise of repayment in furs would be lost to the latter.*!? In this 
way any spirit of honesty vanished among these primitive people. 
They became accustomed to receiving merchandise from one of 
the competing enterprises and giving their furs to the rival group, 
from whom they received a second time over the reward for their 
hunting.*"® Going even farther, the pedlars directly attacked the 
canoes of their adversaries to pillage them,*”” took advantage of 
the temporary abandonment of posts to appropriate their con- 
tents,‘"* and egged on the Indians to make open attacks on the 
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trading forts.’ In these circumstances, it is not surprising that 
William Tomison should have come to dread Canadian attacks and 
the theft of the furs he acquired by trading.**° If, during the period 
of growing vexation, one observes frequent interludes marked by 
courteous gestures,**! it was not long before these gave way to a 
continuous and increasingly violent hostility. When Tomison in 
1796 asked the bourgeois of Fort Augustus to hand over to him the 
Indians who had murdered three of the Hudson’s Bay Company 
employees, the reply he received from this Scot showed clearly 
that any thought of mutual aid had by now been banished. “That 
it was not for the paltry Consideration of the loss of three of the 
Hudson’s Bay Company’s Servants that he would lose the Trade 
of so valuable a tribe of Indians.’"*? 

Against the Indians, who sometimes resisted the demands of the 
pedlars because they found competition among the traders advan- 
tageous to them, there were more frequent attacks,"?’ and the as- 
saults became more aggravated, sometimes going as far as mur- 
der.** In order to turn the native peoples away from the Hudson's 
Bay Company, the pedlars, who had used calumny from the be- 
ginning, now turned to derision. Its success was infallible among 
the Indians, who in their own society customarily employed it as a 
disciplinary measure. Whenever the British company’s employees 
appeared, fewer in numbers and poorly equipped, they were at- 
tacked with sarcasm, Their awkwardness and their inexperience 
were openly turned to ridicule, and the Indian feared discredit 
among his own people if he dared to take them his furs.*8° But it 
goes without saying that the violence to which the pedlars so often 
gave way in their treatment of the native peoples provoked the lat- 
ter’s resentment, despite their instinctive preference for the French 
Canadians, and led to reprisals, especially since the diffusion of 
firearms, as a consequence of the growing number of trading 
posts,“*° had put them in a position to take their revenge and thus 
aggravated the state of war that prevailed in the prairie. The 
haughty and suspicious temperament of the nomads rebelled 
against the proceedings of the pedlars, which bore no comparison 
with the moderate recourse to the tactic of intimidation hitherto 
practised by the Canadians. From the beginning, the Indians 
began to learn from the pedlars’ example, leading them into am- 
bushes and lying in wait at the rapids in order to pillage their mer- 
chandise.””” Alcohol also had its demoralizing effects, and violence 
often ensued when the Indians were drunk.*** Assaults and mur- 
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ders became increasingly frequent.*** As a consequence of this 
situation, the Hudson's Bay Company's men found themselves 
the objects of a resentment which was due both to the tendency of 
the Indians to apply their thoughts of revenge to all the whites 
who moved among them,‘ and to the annoyance they felt 
whenever their demands, inflated by competitive bidding, were 
refused."*! The destruction of Manchester House in 1793, and the 
attacks on the English and Canadian posts on the South Sas- 
katchewan in 1794, showed in its clearest form the hostility which 
many of the Indians nurtured without distinction toward all the 

representatives of the trading companies.**? In such moments, 
danger would draw together the personnel of the rival enterprises, 
and then the solidarity that had once united the competing traders 
re-emerged.*** But it lacked the conviction of the earlier years, and 
there were numerous exceptions, exemplified in McDonald's at- 

titude (at Fort Augustus) in 1796, and confirmed by the complaint 
of James Bird when he was commandant of Fort Edmonton in 

1807-8. 
Thus there developed that merciless competition which the 

officers of the Hudson’s Bay Company had foreseen when the 
traders of Lower Canada returned to Rupert’s Land with a control- 
ling personnel of Scots and Anglo-Saxons in place of the Cana- 
dians of the first epoch.*** It was above all when the two great rival 
Canadian companies, the North West Company and the XY 

Company, began their struggle that violence and the will to an- 

nihilate were given free play. At that time the traders developed 
the habit of recruiting veritable shock troops from Lower Canada, 
whom they employed against each other in the regions where 
rivalry was most active, each side trying to ward off the compet- 
ing troop and carry off by main force the Indians’ furs. These are 
the “bullies” whose actions Lord Selkirk publicized in his Sketch of 
the British Fur Trade in North America.**° 

The desperate struggle which the two companies waged against 
each other led them into conflict with the Hudson’s Bay Company 
as soon as, in 1804, they had merged in the great North West 

Company. The latter, under the direction of bellicose Highlan- 
ders,*’’ resumed against its adversary organization the practices 
that had now become general. Athabasca became the main theatre 
of conflict. There was no longer solidarity of any kind, nor even 

common human feelings among the rivals struggling for posses- 
sion of the last territory where furs were still abundant. On his ar- 
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rival at Deer Lake in 1799, Peter Fidler remarked on the animosity 

which his enterprise aroused among his rivals. ““The Canadian 
master is enraged at our coming.”’*** The hostility increased when 
it became evident that the Anglo-Saxons were determined to hang 
on to their positions. In order to eliminate them, every kind of op- 
eration was used in succession: posts too weak to defend them- 
selves were robbed,"* the men were molested ,**° and the greatest 
ingenuity was used to cut them off from all possibility of suste- 
nance."*' Battles were fought between rival groups, and these acts 
of violence, though they were especially conspicuous in 
Athabasca, were not confined to this central point of conflict. 
Everywhere, the same episodes were repeated, showing the inten- 
tion of the North Westers to put an end to their enemies.*** Mur- 
ders were committed on both sides,*** But it was evident that the 
Hudson's Bay Company, given its numerical inferiority and the 
demoralization of its personnel, could not at that time sustain the 

struggle in Athabasca. In 1805, faced by his men’s refusal to return 
to Athabasca and failing to receive support from his headquarters, 
Peter Fidler was forced to retire and leave the field free to the 
North West Company.*** 

The Hudson's Bay Company in Control of Rupert's Land 

Yet the North West Company had not won a final victory. The 
very fury of the fight it had put up was aimed at making up for the 
defects that were beginning to show themselves in its ageing or- 
ganization. Buying furs excessively in a ceaseless effort to increase 
the profits that enabled it to meet its ever-growing costs, and 

quickly exhausting the districts it occupied,*** it was forced to ex- 
tend itself farther and farther beyond its original bases. When it 
found in Athabasca the resources whose exploitation allowed it to 
survive, it was forced to take stock of the disadvantages which the 
length of its penetration routes had imposed upon it. Sir Alexan- 
der Mackenzie, Duncan M’Gillivray, and Simon McTavish had all 

understood how useful to their company would be the possession 
of a nearer base, and they initiated negotiations aimed at gaining a 
tight of passage through the ports of Hudson Bay.**® When the 
negotiations miscarried because of the Imperial government's re- 
fusal to abolish the Hudson’s Bay Company's monopoly, the 
North Westers were forced to seek a solution in a policy of more 
severe economies ,**’ in an attempt to create a port for themselves 
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on the Pacific nearer to the theatre of their operations, and finally 
in the merciless struggle they waged with their enemies in order to 
forbid them access to Athabasca and force them to make the con- 
cessions they themselves were seeking.*** But the policies by 
which, from 1810-11 onward, the Hudson’s Bay Company set out 
to remedy its deficiencies and narrow the gap separating it from its 
rival meant that this supreme effort on the part of the Canadian 
organization would finally be in vain. 

By the plan of reorganization which it adopted at that time and 
brought to completion in 1814, the Hudson’s Bay Company estab- 
lished a system of rigorous supervision over the posts and com- 
mercial operations in Rupert's Land, under the direction of two 
superintendents, later augmented by a governor-in-chief assisted 
by a council." In this way, by the inauguration of a regime of ra- 
tional co-ordination, the fragmentation of efforts that for so long 
had characterized the policy of the various establishments came to 
an end. The creation of additional chief factors, appointed to direct 
interior posts and gather under their control the less important es- 
tablishments, reduced the excessively large jurisdictions of York 
Factory and Fort Albany, and allowed for an organization at once 
more vigorous and more in sympathy with enterprises devoted to 
penetration. The officers’ activity was stimulated by the introduc- 
tion of a system of shares, imitated from that used by the North 
West Company, which allowed them to partake, according to 
their efforts and achievements, in the general profits of the London 
organization. Finally, the morale of the personnel was trans- 
formed by a growing appeal to the energetic populations of the 
Hebrides and the west coast of Scotland, as well as to recruits from 
the St. Lawrence, and by the abandonment of that policy of con- 
ciliation which, in its excessive concern for legality, the Company 
had unceasingly recommended to its men as a response to the 
worst violences of their enemies.*** Into a structure still dominated 
by sluggish attitudes, ill adapted to the demands of frontier life, 
the Committee inculcated a new spirit, nearer to that of the North 
West Company, and finally rid of that egotistical attitude which so 
often had paralysed all community of intent and achievement 
among the posts of Rupert’s Land,**! 

Thus reorganized and better equipped for struggle, the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company could resume in Athabasca the efforts which 
it had temporarily abandoned. This last endeavor definitively con- 
cluded the history of the penetration by the white race into the 
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zone of the Shield. The two currents which had first resulted in the 

occupation of the great routes of the prairie by the ethnic groups 
which used them simultaneously, finally mingled in the basins of 
the Athabasca and the arctic rivers, which, despite their stubborn- 
ness, the pedlars were unable to subject to their exclusive 

monopoly. 
The Hudson's Bay Company's penetration into Athabasca was 

resumed in 1815, under the energetic leadership of a veteran of the 

fur trade, the American John Clarke, whose past experience, in 

the service of the North West Company and later of the Pacific 

Fur Company of John Jacob Astor, had made him familiar with 

life in the most distant regions of the North West, with all its dif- 

ficulties and its violence.*** Instructions were given by Colin 
Robertson, who had been shaped in the same school of the North 

West Company, and the personnel was mainly recruited among, 

Canadians from the St. Lawrence.’ Despite the poor organiza- 
tion of its system of supplics,*** the expedition reached Lake 

Athabasca in October 1815. It erected there Fort Wedderburn, fac- 

ing the North West Company’s Fort Chipewyan, and occupied it 

with a garrison of fourteen men.*** Deciding against immobiliz- 
ing himself in a place whose provisioning was so unreliable, 
Clarke detached a group of thirteen men in the direction of Great 
Slave Lake to build a post there. He himself took the lead in the 

most important expedition and, at the head of fifty-four men, as- 

cended the Peace River with the aim of establishing a series of 
posts to provide supplies of meat, while a smaller group of voy- 
ageurs was sent to establish the post of Berens House upriver on 
the Athabasca.*** The North Westers immediately replied by a 
counter-offensive that was favored by the scarcity of provisions in 

the more desolate areas. Before Clarke's expedition succeeded in 
reaching the hunting grounds of the Peace River, it was forced by 
starvation to capitulate and give in to the North Westers. The ex- 
pedition to Great Slave Lake met a similar fate. Only the positions 

of Fort Wedderburn and Berens House remained in the hands of 

the Hudson’s Bay Company.**” 
A further expedition, in 1816-17, was even more unfortunate: it 

ended in the capture of its principal leaders, whom the North Wes- 
ter A. N. McLeod, henceforward celebrated for his violent tac- 
tics, arrested by pleading the commission of Justice of the Peace 
which he held under the terms of the Canada Jurisdiction Act of 
1803 and which allowed him to color with a pretext of legality the 
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arbitrary detention he conducted.‘ The Company’s posts on 
Lake Athabasca and Lesser Slave Lake, together with its estab- 
lishments at Ile a la Crosse, Green Lake, and Reindeer Lake, were 
also seized, and it was only in 1818 that J. Clarke reappeared in 
Athabasca with superior forces, under the command of Colin 
Robertson, who personally assumed direction of the enterprise. 
Though Robertson was arrested and made prisoner by the Cana- 
dians, Clarke’s energy and tenacity enabled him to establish a 
series of forts as well as to reoccupy the lost positions, thus giving 
stability to the Hudson’s Bay Company’s situation in Athabasca, 
Colvile House and St Mary’s House on the Peace River, Fort 

Waterloo on Lesser Slave Lake, and Fort Wedderburn on Lake 

Athabasca, confirmed the success of the attempts at penetration 
which, for so many years, the Hudson’s Bay Company pursued in 
the rich domain which Peter Pond’s initiatives had in the past 
opened to the pedlars of the St. Lawrence.**" 

Without having formulated any new or spectacular ideas for the 
future, without having imagined any of the brilliant improvisa- 
tions that remained the privilege of its rivals, the Hudson’s Bay 
Company had in the end succeeded in establishing itself 
everywhere beside those who had preceded it. It had succeeded by 
its thoroughly British stubbornness, by its refusal ever to give up, 
without hope of returning, the fragile positions it had successively 
established in the direction of Athabasca, not to mention its utiliza- 
tion of the routes and methods ofits rivals and predecessors. When 
it finally remained the only power in the vast North West and un- 
dertook on an even greater scale the exploitation of its resources in 
furs, it adapted for the circulation of its own brigades the ingeni- 
ous procedures which the pedlars of Lower Canada had invented. 
But it added to them its economical bent, and the procedures of 
strict financial management inspired by the City of London. In 
that at least it had always shown itself superior to the North West 
Company; it was the latter’s financial difficulties, as much as the 
impossibility of carrying on an effective struggle in the far-off reg- 
ions where it found itself engaged, that explained the decision to 
which its directors resigned themselves in 1821; union with the 
powerful British organization,*® which had reached the threshold 
of the most important phase in its history. 

The North West Company suffered the fate which in the past it 
had imposed on the XY Company. It was absorbed into the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company, whose name it accepted, and contributed its 
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posts, its personnel, its bourgeois, and the inestimable prize of its 
experience.*"' The North West, which hitherto had always been 

linked to Lower Canada, where the Company recruited its men 
and from which it was administered, passed henceforward under 
the influence of the English metropolis, manifest in the Hudson’s 
Bay Company; its great representative, Sir George Simpson, who 

had revealed in Athabasca his qualities of energy and adaptability, 
would administer its interests in Rupert’s Land for more than forty 
years. From now onward it was no longer a question of the North 
West. That term, which for Canadians meant the area extending 
beyond Lake Superior and northwest of the St. Lawrence, as dis- 
tinct from the region of Michilimackinac and Lake Michigan, fell 
into disuse and was replaced by the term Rupert’s Land, which 
evoked the all-powerful ascendancy of the Hudson's Bay Com- 
pany. The charter that had presided over the Company's birth was 
no longer contested, and Parliament extended its range by grant- 
ing a trading licence that conferred on the Company, for a period 
of twenty-one years, the monopoly of commercial exploitation of 
land not included within the limitations of the Act of 1670.4 

The framework of law and administration within these im- 
mense regions was then laid down. They were divided into two 
departments, themselves subdivided into districts. At the head of 
the Northern and Southern Departments, which covered the 
whole stretch of land between the Rocky Mountains and the 
Montreal region, there were two governors, each assisted by a 
council, which usually met at Moose Factory for the Southern De- 
partment and at York Factory for the Northern Department. In 
fact, from 1826 onward, Sir George Simpson exercised the func- 

tion of governor-general of both departments. Within the struc- 
ture that was now imposed on the old North West, a whole hierar~ 
chy of officers was built up: the chief factors appointed to direct 
the more important establishments; next the chief traders; then the 

clerks allocated to accounts and correspondence; the postmasters 
entrusted with the management of the outposts, who could be 
either clerks or simple employees (“servants”); and finally the in- 
terpreters and voyageurs,*°* 

Such was the simple and effective organization that for the half 
century leading up to its entry into the Canadian confederation 
would rule over the West. When it came into force, the white race 

had extended the network of its positions from the prairie to the 
Barren Grounds and from Lake Superior to the basin of the 
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Athabasca and Mackenzie rivers. The history of penetration 
would be enriched by no further developments, except for the 
slow progression in the direction of the Arctic Ocean by means of 
the posts which the Company set up during the ensuing years 
along the Slave and Mackenzie rivers. Elsewhere it was led to 
create a few new posts, but these were balanced by the disappear- 
ance of forts that had no further use. Knowledge of the prairie and 
the forest increased without changing the basic routes the Com- 
pany had adopted from the Canadians, and except for isolated 
remnants, there was no discovery of hitherto unknown territory, 

At the same time the two original bases of penetration on Lake 
Superior and Hudson Bay changed in character. There again, the 
situation of one deteriorated to the benefit of the other, an inevita~ 
ble result of the victory of Hudson Bay over the St. Lawrence bas- 
in. Undoubtedly, the northern route retained for several years a 
demographic importance, for this way came the men from Lower 
Canada on whom the Company still relied to a large extent to fill 
the ranks of its voyageurs and employees. Nor was it entirely lost 
to commercial activity. As late as 1858 George Simpson tells of 
heavy craft, with a displacement of a hundred tons, which arrived 

loaded with merchandise from Lower Canada and dropped anchor 
at the mouth of the Kaministikwia River, where their loads were 

transshipped to the lightest of canoes, drawing eight to ten inches 
of water.** But Great Britain inevitably became the principal 
supplier of articles necessary for the fur trade, and as a conse- 
quence the northern route was substituted for the route by the Great 
Lakes, where, for so many years, the canoes had plied to the quick 
rhythm of their paddles. The old distinction between pork-eaters 
and winterers vanished, and with it went the picturesque quality 
of their annual rendezvous at Fort William. On the trails of the in- 
terior the canoe lost the primordial role it had once filled. Though 
it continued to circulate in many waters, the more massive 

framework of the York boat was preferred wherever conditions of 
navigation allowed it. The Canadian voyageur gradually became a 
forgotten man, while a new ethnic group emerged in the West and 
in its turn became the personnel entrusted with the management of 
the boats. This was the group known as the Métis, formed during 
the last stages of penetration. The history of the western provinces 
bears their image as clearly as it does that of the voyageurs from 
Lower Canada. 





PART THREE 

THE BIRTH OF 

THE METIS GROUP 





THE BIRTH OF THE METIS GROUP COINCIDED WITH THE 
appearance of the white race in the West. But it was only at the 
beginning of the nineteenth century, in the years of decisive 
conflict between the two rival companies, that it emerged for the 
first time as a truly individual entity. The earlier years had been the 
period of its gestation, during which it appeared gradually on the 
scene of history in the West, without as yet standing out in 
prominent relief. No clear analysis of its birth exists, nor are there 
any precise numerical estimates, as if its double origins endue it 
from the beginning with an ill-focused image as it stands 
equidistant between the two societies from which it emerged, 
neither of which absorbed it. 

Nowhere else was the Métis group called to a role so sharply 
defined as that it eventually assumed in the region that begins with 
the western shore of Lake Superior. Nowhere else did it become 
detached so clearly as in those provinces of the Canadian West 
whose economic exploitation the rival companies so long dis- 
puted: neither in the valley of the St. Lawrence and its vicinity; nor 
in the region of the Great Lakes; nor even in the plains of the 
American Midwest, even though the coureurs de bois and later the 
regular merchants and the employees of the Canadian and 
Anglo-Saxon trading companies had disseminated at an early stage 
the practice of mixed unions and had created either important 
groupings of Metis or a floating population of Franco- or Anglo- 
Indians." 

The opportunity that events gave them to play a historic role, 
and the claim they laid to constituting an independent nation en- 
dowed with a tradition and a glorious past allowed the collective 
personality of the Métis to develop more vigorously in the Cana- 
dian West than anywhere else. This personality, in which primi- 
tive elements survived alongside the civilized ones, could only 
have been developed in the prolonged isolation of the West and in 
the unbroken contact between whites and the native peoples dur- 
ing the eighteenth century. The Métis group thus came into exis- 
tence around the two bases of the penetrative process which we 
have already described and along the routes opening out from 
them toward the interior. Thus two nuclei can be defined, mark- 
ing with their ethnic diversity the formation of the new race. The 
first corresponded to the southern routes, in which the French- 
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Canadian element played the preponderant role, alongside a 
minority of Scots whose descendants soon merged into the do- 
minant group; this was the most important and the oldest nucleus, 
giving birth to those Métis who were best known for their active 
role, so that one is often tempted to limit to them both the defini- 
tion and the origination of the mixed-blood group, whose image 
was certainly most clearly defined among them. The second nuc- 
leus took shape around the Hudson’s Bay Company’s posts; it de- 
veloped more slowly and its members, fewer in number, re- 
mained for a long time detached from the West proper and also 
from the Métis of French origin, with whom they were never to 

establish a complete solidarity. 



CHAPTER SIX 

THE SOUTHERN NUCLEUS 

From the beginning the southern nucleus outweighed in numerical 
importance that which came into existence on the shores of Hud- 
son Bay. It was also distinguished by its broader scope, for it was 
less narrowly limited to the environs of its original bases; by the 
deeper involvement of its representatives with the primitive tribes; 
and above all by their more intimate incorporation into the native 
environment. The tendencies and antecedents of the French Cana- 
dians themselves offer an explanation for this degree of assimila- 
tion, which contributed an undoubted element of strength to the 
group resulting from it, but also left a source of weakness from 
which even today it is far from having detached itself and which it 
is doubtful that it will ever escape. 

THE DISPERSION OF MANPOWER 

The numerical superiority of the nucleus of mixed breeding that 
emerged around the southern bases was inevitable. We have al- 
ready, indeed, noted the disproportion between the men using the 
northern trails and those who followed the southern routes. So far 
as the early years are concerned it would be difficult to establish 
that superiority in precise numerical terms. Already, however, 
during the intermittent expeditions preceding La Vérendrye’s vig- 
orous effort at penetration there is mention here and there of quite 
numerous groups, of which the most important, composed of 

thirty to forty men, not counting those who infiltrated the hinter- 
land of Moose Factory and Fort Albany, appears to have accom- 
panied the Sicur de la Noue in 1777-8. 

With La Veérendrye, the figures increase somewhat. Slightly 
larger groups of Frenchmen begin to establish themselves in some 
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of the forts he built on the threshold of the prairie, and it is likely 
that at this time a more perceptible interpenetration of races and 
cultures began, In 1731 La Vérendrye set out for the West with a 
complement of fifty,* but as some of them returned to Montreal in 

the following year, he was left with about thirty men,’ In 1733 
Fort Saint-Charles, the central point of his operations, boasted a 

garrison of thirty-six, and the more modest Fort Saint-Pierre dis- 
posed of a mere thirteen men.* In 1736-7 the garrison of Fort 
Saint-Charles was of the same strength, while five men wintered 

at Fort Maurepas.” La Vérendrye does not appear to have disposed 
of more than fifty or so men, of whom the greater part lived in 
Fort Saint-Charles, and the remainder were divided among the 

various forts he had established in the parkland and the prairie, If 
one adds the personnel engaged by the traders to whom Beauhar- 
nais had granted the exploitation of the territories originally allot- 
ted to La Vérendrye, one reaches a slightly larger figure, but not 
notably higher than the earlier level.® In 1743 the register of trading 
permits established at Montreal, with which every trader who 
wished to enter the West was supposed to conform, recorded the 
departure of fifty-three employees for the “post of the West” and 
eighteen for Kaministikwia.” 

Over the following years, despite the fluctuations owing to vi- 
cissitudes in the process of penetration, the same register shows a 
steady increase which reached its highest point in 1791 with 
ninety-one entries for Grand Portage and the ‘‘Western Sea.”* It 
seems likely that these data give less than an exact idea of the real- 
ity, for to the official figures must certainly be added those uniden- 
tifiable individuals who went into the West from the St. Lawrence 
valley, from the nearer base of Michilimackinac, or from the posts 

on Lake Superior, either to trade illegally or to spare their forts the 
tisk of shortage owing to the uncertainty of provisioning. It 
should also be remembered that the personnel of the forts was 
necessarily renewed in its entirety every year, and that the licences 
issued in Montreal sometimes added new recruits to existing garri- 
sons. Thus it is impossible to know exactly what balance to strike, 
but one can hardly estimate at more than 150 to 200 men the 
number of scattered Canadians who lived permanently in the 
West. No doubt this was an unimpressive number, but it seems 
more significant when one compares it with the number of men 
the Hudson’s Bay Company then maintained in the interior, and 
its volume increased immeasurably after the conquest of Canada, 
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when commercial operations entered on the deasive phase of their 

development. 
The existence among the Indians of groups of twenty or thirty 

men, often mentioned in the journals of the Hudson's Bay Com- 
pany, was sufficient to lead to contacts between the whites and the 
native peoples that were numerous and lasting enough for us to 
assume that the first fusion of races took place during the prelimi- 
nary stage of French penetration.’ With the return of the 
pedlars—that is to say, after 1763 —the numerical superiority of the 
southern nucleus was more clearly revealed. Once again, the 
Canadians spread among the native peoples, not singly like the 
employees of the rival company, but in groups of ten to twenty 
men,'® and their numbers grew rapidly, particularly among the 
posts on the Saskatchewan, where the aggressive disposition of 
the Indian tribes required a greater concentration of forces. The 
modest garrisons of La Vérendrye’s time were now increased to 
complements of as many as sixty or eighty men." In 1786, accord- 
ing to William Tomison, the total strength was already more than 
four hundred men." After the great North West Company was 
definitively organized, with its hierarchy of personnel, it reached 
between 1,000 and 1,600,'° spread over the country from Lake 
Superior to Athabasca. 

This profusion of personnel, which David Thompson con- 
trasted to the Hudson’s Bay Company's parsimonious resources ,"* 
favored the reconciliation of the civilized and the primitive ways of 
life. This was due less to the considerable numbers of men in- 
volved, than to their extreme dispersion among the native tribes. 

This in turn was a consequence of the dispersion of the posts 
which the Canadians scattered along the waterways, even in the 
most remote parts of the Shield and whose effect they extended by 
means of temporary outposts; even more it was a consequence of 
the fact that the men were accustomed to moving around outside 
the trading posts.’® As we have seen, far from letting themselves 
be tied down to the day-to-day tasks of the posts,'’ the employees 
of the Canadian companies, as soon as they reached their winter- 
ing places, provided themselves with trade goods and scattered 
among the Indians in the hope of securing their furs and gaining 
their allegiance through the mutual sympathy that was born of 
such a shared existence.'? Even before the struggle that divided the 
rival companies had made such diligence a pressing rule, the 
Canadians already had recourse to this procedure, which they 
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found to their advantage as well as to that of the Indians.'* In all 
this there was a kind of natural inclination that is perhaps best 
explained by the conditions under which the men from Lower 
Canada had lived. The practice was universalized when furs be~ 
came a stake which the opposing companies bitterly disputed. The 
“coureur de drouine,” as such an employee-trader was called, be- 
came the essential cogwheel in a trading post.'? Many of the 
Canadians shared in its most elemental form the life of the natives, 
choosing to live over winter in their tents, next to their families, 

without caring about the rigorous cold or the uncomfortable quar- 
ters.*° At the posts situated in the more desolate areas, such a dis- 
persion might have an added importance as a means of conserving 
the fort’s scanty resources of food.*! 

Even in the most favored districts, though of course less fre- 

quently, this might also become a necessity. Hunting might be 
fruitless and the post find itself unable to sustain all its garrison, or 
the Indians might neglect to gather the usual provisions of meat 
and the men would be forced to accompany them to stimulate 
their activity. On such occasions it was not uncommon for one of 
the trading fort's employees to take over the leadership of a group 
of native hunters.** Only the posts situated among the most war- 
like peoples of the prairie maintained a greater strength, so as to 
ward off possible attacks. Thus the officers of the Hudson’s Bay 
Company had the impression of a veritable swarming of Cana- 
dians among the Indian tribes,?* and it goes without saying that 
the multiplication of contacts resulting from this situation brought 
the two groups into a relationship of growing intimacy. 

Yet such circumstances would not have been sufficient to create 
such close links if the Canadians had not brought with them a 
combination of factors singularly favorable to the kind of fusion 
that took place in the West. These included the manner of life to 
which they had been accustomed from infancy, their long-lasting 
familiarity with native peoples, and their very temperament, 
whose characteristics were largely determined by the influence of 
the natural setting of the St. Lawrence valley and the kind of exis- 
tence it imposed upon them. They showed too many affinities 
with the Indians for harmony not to develop spontaneously in a 

living situation where nothing was really foreign to the men from 
Lower Canada. The latter fact was noted by observers who had 
the opportunity to see colonies of native peoples and of Canadians 
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living side by side.** The reasons must be sought in the conditions 
of Lower Canadian life and the mental attitude that evolved there. 

THE CANADIAN OF THE ST. LAWRENCE: 
HIS CONDITIONS OF LIFE, MENTAL ATTITUDE, AND 

FIRST CONTACT WITH NATIVE PEOPLES 

The colony of the St. Lawrence, a narrow populated fringe ex- 
tending beside the river, never came so far under the influence of 

native societies as to abandon, in favor of a primitive life, its initial 
culture. If in its early years and again in the eighteenth century it 
presented the image of a frontier society, it maintained, despite its 
remoteness, a close enough relationship with the homeland to 
make it at least partially obedient to the controlling factors that at- 
tached it to the latter. 

Its early social structure, directly inspired by the French seigneu- 
rial system, and the tone of refinement introduced from the begin- 
ning by a number of bourgeois families (and which the Swedish 
traveller Peter Kalm contrasted in 1749 with the more uncouth 
character of the New England colonies) ,®° at least partially coun- 
teracted the influence of the frontier and the licence of behavior it 
encouraged. Moreover, the form of government, which from 

1647 and especially from 1663, was dominated by monarchical ab- 
solutism, saved it from the kind of politically weak regime, with 

no well-defined authority, that the West was to know under the 

direction of the Hudson’s Bay Company.** The more intimate, 
and notably effective, control of the church, exercised over the 

whole of society by the official authority it enjoyed from 1647 on- 
ward*’ and by the activity of its missionaries and parish priests ,** 
also contributed to mitigating the excesses of the frontier and 
forestalling a too rapid transformation of the French culture. From 
the beginning it seemed as if New France, like the Dominion of 
Canada today, sought its centre of gravity outside itself.** 

From these various directions, the colony on the St. Lawrence 
was not favorable to the interpenetration of unequally evolved cul- 
tures, and the fusion of the white and native races does not appear 
to have played more than an insignificant role in the formation of 
its population." Yet it is no less true that, transplanted into an en- 
vironment where the conditions of existence were profoundly dif- 
ferent from those of the homeland, and where the Indian was con- 

stantly at the white man’s elbow, the Canadian population was 
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subjected to certain adaptations and necessities that conferred on it 
a very distinctive personality. If the upper classes of sodety, and to 
a certain degree also the people of the towns, were able largely to 
escape the influence of an environment which one feels even today 
is very close to the life of French Canada, this was not the case of 
the classes less solidly attached to their original culture, or of the 

rural population which was obliged to modify its customary at- 
titudes through contact with primitive nature and the indigenous 
inhabitants. 
New France in reality offers the contrasts of a society apparently 

arranged on the model of French society, whose institutions it im- 
itated and whose structure it reproduced, but in fact deeply im- 
pregnated with the manners and outlook of a frontier world, of 
which from the beginning it possessed the popular elements. 

It can hardly be denied, of course, that the colonists were rela~ 
tively well selected, and certainly more rigorously than in many 
new territories, since the church was called upon to take part in 
their choice at the point of departure from the homeland as ac- 
tively as on their arrival in New France.*' Champlain himself had 
inaugurated this policy of selection by doing his best, from the ear- 
liest years, not to retain elements that seemed doubtful to him, and 

Colbert, on the advice of Monseigneur de Laval, endeavored to 

get rid of colonists who were reputed to be “poor workers" or 
“lacking in religious zeal."’*? Thus the colony received a majority 
of well-chosen immigrants, essentially recruited from among the 
artisans and the rural classes, and, in a lesser proportion, from the 
urban middle class. 

From the beginning, however, even at a time when control was 
made easier by the colony’s small population, poorly selected ele- 
ments found their way in, especially since the trading companies, 
who had little concern for the quality of the inhabitants and were 
almost exclusively preoccupied with their material interests, were 
not exacting in their choice of clerks and interpreters.** The exam- 
ple of the interpreter Marsolet is significant enough. If one can 
judge from the complaints of Pere Le Jeune in 1637,** and Marie de 
I’Incarnation in 1644,%° and again in 1662,°” his case cannot have 

been an isolated one. In the same way, the outpost of Montreal, 
whose initiation responded to a genuine spiritual impulse,** 
quickly deviated from its original character. Less than twenty 
years after its foundation, Maisonneuve, who had promoted the 

enterprise, found it necessary to initiate rigorous measures against 
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the threat of widespread disorder.** Later on, the implementation 
of the colonization plan of Louis xtv and the Intendant Talon, and 
especially the arrival of the Regiment of Carignan-Sallitres in 
1665, could not fail to change the character of the population by 
directing toward New France groups of colonists too numerous to 
be seriously chosen,*® and of soldiers whose recruitment was 
guided by no principle of selection." The contagion was not con- 
fined to the people of the towns.** Outside their bounds, undesir- 
able elements were not lacking, as was shown by the harsh re- 
marks of Governor Denonville, who attributed to the young 
people of the country districts, and more especially to gentlemen’s 
sons, a standard of conduct that was less than edifying.** Even if 

the growing rigor with which justice was administered during the 
eighteenth century and the development of a parochial organiza- 
tion contributed to a tightening of public control over the undis- 
ciplined elements in the population, society was far from adopting 
the moral attitudes which the clergy would have liked.** 

One should not, of course, exaggerate the extent of disorder ina 
population that, in spite of everything, was still better adjusted 
and less turbulent than that which emerged with the advance of 
American colonization.*® Let us merely remark that, like all fron- 
tier countries, it was hardly homogenous in character and its 

moral quality was somewhat uneven; indiscipline on the part of 

many people tempered the apparent rigidity of its political and so- 
cial structures, and the dignity of life among the respectable mod- 
ified the teachings of the clergy. 

Thus there existed in New France an element, foreign to factors 
of control, that the colony absorbed into the very structure of its 
society and its government, which were naturally predisposed in 
the long run to submit to the influence of the frontier. The way of 
life which primitive nature along the St. Lawrence imposed on the 
Canadian colonists also tended in the same direction, and perhaps 
with even greater efficacy, since its resemblance to the existence of 
the native people made it easier for the two groups to approach 
each other, and even, to a certain extent, created a common men- 
tality. Thus to this process of drawing together two factors con- 
tributed: a socal factor, limited to the presence of elements that 
resisted imported constraint but were ready to make ample con- 
cessions to a new culture in which their instincts of liberty and in- 
discipline might have free play; a natural factor, whose influence 
extended to a larger portion of society, if not to the whole of it, 
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represented by the unavoidable operation of the conditions of exis- 
tence to which the colonists of Lower Canada had to adapt them- 
selves. 

As soon as he was established in New France, the colonist was 
subject to the impact of primitive nature, manifested in the vast 
forest that unfolded from the Canadian Shield to the St, Law- 
rence,*® and in the difficult life it imposed. The clearing of the 
forest was a superhuman toil.*” The heat of summer, made even 

more burdensome by the swarms of mosquitoes which the forest 
nurtured,** increased the hardness of the task. Winter came early, 
with its five and a half months of rigorous cold," during which, 
for many years, the insufficiency of cultivation made food supplies 
precarious. Grappling with this desolate natural environment, the 
people became quickly resigned to effort and accustomed to severe 
privations; in this way they acquired the powers of endurance 
which Intendant Champigny and Governor Denonville, little dis- 
posed as they were to exalt the worth of the Canadian, recognized 
unreservedly. The clearing of the forest, restricted by the short 
period of summer, proceeded slowly,*' and the clearings did not 
extend very deeply from the banks of the river.** Thus, unable to 
rely on the resources of farming alone, the habitant sought to gain 
the necessities of living through a diversified economy, including 
hunting and fishing, which the St. Lawrence and the forest offered 
in plenty.®* As late as the eve of the British conquest, the colony 
still had to accept this necessity, for, even though the soil was rela- 

tively rich, poor harvests were an ever-present danger in New 
France.** 

In the forest, the colonist soon became used to seeking a little 
profit in addition to his subsistence: he found it in the fur trade, the 
basis of a relatively lucrative commerce whose gains exceeded the 
more prosaic returns of the earth itself, and attracted young people 
of every class."* Thus there emerged a semi-nomadic way of life 
which soon, for many people, became the dominant pursuit. The 
Canadian found in it an excellent training school which prepared 
him for the fatigue and privation involved in wars against the in- 
digenous people.®* At the same time he acquired the inconstant 
mentality of the nomad, in which the Intendant Duchesneau 
thought he recognized the attitude of the Indian;°’ the habit of ir- 
regular effort; the careless state of mind which made the idea of 

diligent work unattractive to him,"* and which led him to seek in 
nature the resources which a poorly developed agriculture could 
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not supply him. In this life of constant wandering, he also imbibed 
the taste for adventure. An inclination in this direction many of the 
immigrants probably brought with them; according to 
W. B. Munro, it was a reflection of their Norman heredity. But it 

increased on the threshold of this primitive and mysterious natural 
world in which the habitant also acquired a strong leaning toward 
superstition.°® On top of everything else, the great freedom found 
in this way of life developed in him a “naturally undocile charac- 
ter,’ “a spirit alien to subordination,”®' the essential manifesta~ 

tion of every frontier society.®* 
This “disposition toward the free and independent life”’ was in- 

tensified in the isolation to which, for many years, the localization 
of their holdings condemned the Canadian colonists. Responding 
to the temptation offered by the long stretches of the St. Lawrence 
to disperse their farms along the river, the habitants were not in- 
clined to cluster together. From the beginning, even when it con- 
sisted of no more than two or three hundred inhabitants, the col- 
ony broke up into inconsiderable groups separated from each 
other by great empty spaces,** the “numerous and scattered nuc- 
lei” which were still being described at the beginning of the 
eighteenth century, and which did not begin to grow until after 
1713.°° The settlement of the country continued to organize itself, 
as it were, “entirely in length’’—in elongated fields with narrow 
frontages, bounded by the curves of the St. Lawrence and the dark 
line of the forest, “there being nothing but woodland in the far 
ends of the homesteads,”” a mere quarter of a league from the 

river.*® 
The extreme scarcity of roads forced the inhabitants to use the 

river for their journeys, which—following the Indian methods— 

they made by canoe, sleigh, or snowshoe."” This excluded the pos- 

sibility of any real concentration of population," and meant that 
the colonists, like planters in Virginia, lived for long periods in the 

isolation of their lots.® In such a situation they surrendered in- 
stinctively to all the reflexes associated with life on the frontier; at 
an early stage they were manifesting an ‘‘independence like that of 
savages,"’”° which both travellers and intendants in the eighteenth 
century contrasted with the greater docility of the “peasants in 
France.’’”! Such independence was encouraged by the infrequency 
of pastoral visits,”* and by the weakening, through contact with 
this primitive land, of the seigneurial regime and the principle of 
authority it embodied.”* In such ways society was permeated by 
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the atmosphere of liberty, which everyone “breathed from child- 

hood,” and which the young gentry,“fickle and ill-disciplined,” 

shared with farmers’ sons.”* Thus developed the colonist’s habit of 
relying on his own intitiatives, of looking to himself for the de- 
fence of his holdings, of developing a closed economy, and of 
making up through his own ingenuity for the absence of colonial 
industries.”* All these qualities, even if they expressed the emi- 
grants’ innate inclinations, could only blossom in the kind of envi- 
ronment in which the colonist found himself. They prepared him 
for that ease of adaptation which the voyageur, like the legendary 
Daniel Boone,” must display in the more desolate regions of the 
North West. 

From these admirable pioneer qualities, the French-Canadian 

race would derive a notable power of expansion. But as a result of 
it the colony lost cohesion and the habitants lost discipline. Cana- 
dians refused to submit to regulations intended to protect the gen- 
eral interest.”” Dividing their activity between fishing, hunting, 
and fur-trading,”* too cut off on their holdings to think of increas- 
ing their crops, they often gave scanty attention to cultivating the 
land. After a while they would abandon their barely cleared fields 
to the thistles that threatened to wipe out their early labors.” They 
would practise methods of clearing the forest that destroyed im- 
portant reserves of fuel.*° Often, because he had failed to increase 
his provisions of forage, a peasant would have to sacrifice part of 
his cattle at the onset of winter.*! Yet to the thought of tilling new 
lands he showed a passive indifference.** The yield of his holding 
remained less than half that of the French countryside.** The 
stimulus to his energy and spirit of enterprise was lacking, and it 
could not be provided either by the closed economic system in 
which he was confined, or by the absolute liberty of his existence 

“close to his woods and fields and without witnesses to his con- 
duct,’’** or by the situation in New France where markets were 

too small and external outlets too uncertain.” 
Such conditions of life could only encourage heedlessness re- 

garding the future. They naturally awakened in the colonist the 
pride usually found in a man accustomed to the absence of discip- 
line, guided by his own impulses, and dominated by self-love and 
the kind of excitability that made commanding him a ticklish task. 
Thus, by his independent habits, by the irregularity of his ac- 
tivities, by his inclination to “run in the woods like a savage,’’** by 

his unlimited powers of endurance, and his easily awakened irrita- 
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bility, the Canadian colonist was remarkably close to the Indian. 

His unavoidable association with the latter helped to develop the 
tendencies and habits the colonist already derived from his manner 
of existence. Not only could the public authorities do nothing to 
prevent the contacts to which in the first few years the presence of 
a large number of Indians exposed the much smaller number of 
newly arrived colonists, but they encouraged the coming together 
of the two groups. With a degree of illusion which events would 
soon destroy, Champlain and the Récollets had hoped to absorb 
them all, without distinction between nomad and settled people, 
into the colonial society.*7 Champlain had even promised the 
Hurons that the French would go into their country and marry 
their daughters, and he did not shrink from the material sacrifices 
that allowed him to welcome and give lodging to a number of In- 
dians whom he hoped in this way to win over to civilization.” 
Talon even believed that the population would be enriched more 
by the incorporation of natives than by the immigration of col- 
onists,** and Louis xiv shared the same idea when he instituted the 
“king's gift,” a pecuniary subsidy for mixed marriages.°° The 
Church naturally supported the action of the civil authorities; by 
conversion and co-education they hoped to Gallicize the natives 
“in language as well as manners,” and in 1633 the Jesuits laid the 
foundations of a modest Indian school, an institution they would 
later expand.*' Finally, without openly favoring a policy of mixed 
marriages, whose realization would encounter many obstacles, the 
church sustained from the beginning the hope that Indian women 
raised in its schools would be inclined to enter into unions with 
French men and to adopt more completely their religion and their 
culture. 

Thus, early on, there emerged in New France a mingling of the 
primitive and the civilized which the public authorities themselves 
regarded with favor. Doubtless the Church's efforts at the moral 
transformation of the Indians ended in great disappointment. Des- 
pite the reproaches of Colbert and the lay authorities who per- 
sisted in their utopian vision of mixed marriages ,”* the clergy soon 
had to renounce its policy of assimilation,” and reconcile itself to 
isolating the natives from the whites, penning the former in ‘‘mis- 
sions,” veritable reserves separated from civilized society and sub- 
jected to the superintendence of their pastors."® But the complete 
mutual isolation of the two groups was no more possible than the 
ideal of their fusion, as the Church envisaged it, had been realiza~ 
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ble. If cases of mixed marriages remained exceptional,"* the two 
societies were too often led into establishing prolonged contacts 
for them to remain for long alien to each other. Apart from the 
accidental and inconsequential mingling between colonists and na- 
tives at religious ceremonies," often through the widespread prac- 
tice among whites of acting as godparents to converted Indians,"* a 
closer association resulted from the needs of commerce and of 
war. 

Every year the fur trade attracted many native tribes to the col- 
ony, and, outside the more important centres, it was carried on in 

private dwellings; this developed among the Canadians a deeper 
knowledge of the Indians, their customs, and their mentality. This 

experience was further broadened by the pursuit of war against the 
Iroquois. To carry on an effective struggle, it was necessary to 
learn from the aggressors’ practices, and, to a certain extent, from 
their state of mind. Until 1701 the danger of Iroquois attacks, in- 
terrupted only by brief truces, remained always latently present in 
New France. Thus the habitant had to adapt himself to the tactics 
of his adversaries. When the practice spread of associating Indians 
and colonists in the same warlike expeditions, the Canadians in the 
end became permeated with the customs of their primitive com- 
panions.'*° In this way they were trained in a warfare of ambush 
and immediately improvised defences, using the lic of the land and 
the scanty cover provided by the forest; they acquired the qualities 
of watchfulness, guile, and agility.!"" When a regular army 
threatened the town of Quebec in 1690, they opposed it with an 
action that was undisciplined “in the manner of savages,”’ but well 
adapted to the difficulties of the terrain and also both elusive and 
deadly.’ In such wars, they also contributed their share of feroc- 
ity, which the cruelty of their adversaries exacerbated; the habitant 
did not hesitate to finish off the Iroquois he captured with tor- 
ments imitating the tortures which the latter inflicted on their 
prisoners.'"* The colonists’ habits of independence, their mental 
resistance to unusually prolonged discipline, found expression and 
encouragement under such conditions, for these were wars con- 
ducted by surprise attacks in which everyone, immediately the ac- 
tion was over, became his own master again, and in which indi- 
vidual qualities of guile, bravery, and initiative were usually more 
important than discipline. Of this kind were the expeditions which 
the Canadians and their native allies directed in 1690 against the 
settlements of Corlard and Salmon Falls in New England. In these 
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two Cases it was a matter of simple expeditions of looting and am- 
bush, using practices very much like those of Indian wars and end- 
ing in the devastation of crops and the systematic massacre of 
those people who let themselves be surprised. Afterward both 
Canadians and Indians dispersed at their leisure and resumed their 
ordinary lives.!** Categorical orders and general instructions had 
no influence on either group. To command the Canadians called 
for the kind of discretion for which officers from the homeland 
were ill prepared. A leader was successful only if he let it be 
known to his men that he was not their master, if he flattered their 

self-esteem, winning them over if necessary by the distribution of 
rewards,'"* and if he recognized each individual's temperament.'%* 
This was what commanding meant among the Indians, and the 
Canadian accepted such an attitude because it suited the viewpoint 
he had acquired from his way of life, from the extreme freedom he 
demanded, and from his association with the native peoples. 

Like the Indian, the Canadian also left his children free to follow 

their own inclinations, not attempting to change their habits of in- 
dolence; unaccustomed to any regular activity, many of the sons 

of the gentry waited until they reached the age to carry a gun, 
when trading and hunting would provide them with a living.'’” 
French-Canadian society in general was gradually influenced by 
the “savage temper,”’ for many of its ways came to resemble those 
of the Indians,'** but this tendency spread more noticeably in the 
marginal areas where the people were in closer contact with primi- 
tive folk, for the Indians in their vagrant wanderings tended to 
haunt the more remote seigneuries.'°* 

Thus, by the conditions of living it introduced in the valley of 
the St. Lawrence as much as by the habitual contact with the In- 
dians to which it led, the primitive environment exercised on 

Canadian society a pervasive influence that changed its original 
character and gave it, despite the strictness or refinement that 
lingered among certain sections of the population, a rougher tone, 
marked sometimes by disorders and acts of violence that were not 
limited entirely to those individuals who, because they had been 
badly selected, seemed fated to submit to the influence of the fron- 

tier. It would of course be an exaggeration not to make allowances 
for the part played by natural tendencies in forming the attitudes 
of the people of Lower Canada. Their vivacious spirit,""° their love 

of jesting and conversation, not to speak of boasting, their easy 

affability, their predilection for somewhat ostentatious lux- 
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ury!"!—all these arose from their natural inclinations. Perhaps they 

were spontaneously resistant to the idea of discipline and control. 

Nevertheless, the characteristics generally recognized among 

them—which were sometimes very remote from those distin- 

guishing the French rural classes of the same period—revealed 

themselves only in the natural setting of Lower Canada, with the 

kind of existence it involved and the contact with the native 

peoples it encouraged. 
This familiarity with primitive existence prepared them for the 

intimate relations between them and the Indians that emerged 

once they left the colony and embarked on the task of penetration 

which, step by step, would lead them as far as the country of the 

North West. As soon as they entered the region of the Great Lakes, 

where there existed, to keep them in order, “neither priests 

. nor fathers, nor governors,""'* the French of Lower Canada 

showed a great ease in adapting their way of life to that of the In- 

dians, in imitating their customs, and in becoming incorporated in 

their tribes. When, beyond Lake Superior, they reached the last 

stage of their expansion, they carried with them not only the state 

of mind necessary for the fusion of cultures and races, but also the 

tradition of more than a century of mutual intercourse and mixed 

marriages. 

THE FIRST FUSION OF RACES 

One cannot argue that the unions contracted in the colony itself 

between whites and native people under the form of regular mar- 

riages were anything other than exceptional occasions. The Indian 

women themselves had not welcomed the idea with any great 

favor.!!* They could not easily lend themselves to unions that im- 

plied on their part a new state of mind, the abandonment ofa trad- 

itional culture, and entry into a society whose concepts were obvi- 

ously different from those of the native tribes. But, even if regular 

marriages remained isolated episodes,'" it is probable, if not cer- 

tain, that free unions between the two groups were more com- 

mon. The disproportion of the sexes which, as in all new coun- 

tries, favored the males, could only encourage such unions,'"* and 
the presence in the colony of individuals of no great moral worth 
was bound to result in a promiscuity with the Indians of which 
evidence is to be found in the Relations of the Jesuit Fathers and in 
the letters of Monseigneur de Saint-Vallier.""° Governor Vaudreuil 
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in 1709 recognized the presence in the colony of the beginnings of 
interbreeding. He regarded its effects with misgivings: children 
born of such unions, he said, ‘‘have turned out to be as idle as the 

savages themselves.”'!? As the phenomenon naturally evades 
statistical reckoning, it is hardly possible to measure its impor- 
tance. But, since most of the children were absorbed into the 
mother’s tribe, they remained outside the French-Canadian popu- 
lation and the latter was not seriously affected biologically." 

Contact was established more freely outside the colony, among 
the peoples inhabiting the shores of the Great Lakes, particularly 
the Hurons and the Iroquois and, toa less extent, the Algonquin of 
the Ottawa River. There we find the first groups of Frenchmen 
living alone among the native peoples, obliged to share their life, 
and inevitably prone to absorption into their families. 

In that first fusion of races the initiative rests with Champlain 
and the trading companies. In 1610 Champlain entrusted to the Al- 
gonquin of the Ottawa “a young boy who has spent two winters 
in Quebec,” partly to maintain their commerdial allegiance and 
partly to satisfy his own curiosity and his desire for knowledge of 
the native peoples.'"® This was the beginning of a practice that 
spread over later years. It led to the formation of that class of in- 
terpreters who became so useful to the first trading companies; 
their role was not limited to the functions their title suggested, but 
also included the tasks of assuring, at the end of winter, the regular 
arrival of furs, and of mobilizing the braves of the allied tribes in 

case of need, and also the duty of intervening as mediators in Ind- 
ian wars. Some of them eventually co-operated usefully in the 
work of penetrating and discovering the country. This was the 
case with Champlain’s “young boy,” Etienne Brule,'*° and with 
Jean Nicolet, “interpreter and agent for the Gentlemen of New 
France” from 1618 onward.'*! As well, there were certain men 
whose roles were less definite but who were nevertheless useful in 
establishing relations with the native peoples: Thomas and Nicolas 
Vignau, specialists in the language of the Algonquins of the 
Ottawa,'* Olivier, who was fluent in the Montagnais and 

Huron languages,'** Jean Richer, adopted among the Algonquins 
of Lake Nipissing,'?* Nicolas Marsolet, “dragoman to the Mon- 
tagnais.”""*" To these young clerks, led by their functions into 
permanent contact with the native peoples, one must add the 
Frenchmen whom at an early date the opening of the missions led 
among the Hurons of Ontario!** and those whom in 1629 Cham- 
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plain himself entrusted to the Hurons and the Algonquins to lessen 
the risk of famine in the town of Quebec, which was threatened by 
siege. 

Forty or so Frenchmen, in groups of ten or fifteen living in vil- 
lages of ‘200 to 300 households,”!*” were scattered in this way 

among the native peoples living close to the colony, passing sev- 
eral consecutive years among them. Jean Nicolet stayed with the 
Algonquin for ten years,'** and Jean Richer consecrated two whole 
years to his training as an interpreter.'*" From 1610 onward, 
Etienne Brulé spent his life among the Indians, and in 1619, when 
the Récollets resumed their missions in the country of the Hurons 
after having abandoned them for two years, they encountered 
once again five or six Frenchmen who had virtually established 
themselves there.'*” 

A similar phenomenon developed among the Iroquois. Here the 
warfare which the latter waged against the colonists of the St. 
Lawrence was the determining factor. Often, at the request of 
families who wished to make up for the disappearance of one of 
their members by adopting a stranger, the Iroquois spared the 
prisoners they captured. Such gaps in families were a frequent oc- 
currence among these warlike tribes, who were in conflict not 
only with the Canadian colonists but also with the native tribes of 
the Great Lakes, whose economic monopoly they coveted. The 
gaps were filled by the process of adoption, which absorbed many 
individuals of different races into the Iroquois families, including 
both Canadians from New France and Anglo-Saxons or Dutch- 
men captured on the frontier of the American colonies or brought 
among the tribes by the necessities of trading. In no other tribe 
was adoption practised on such a wide scale. The families them- 
selves decided the prisoner's fate: the resentment or grief they felt 
for the losses they had suffered might be assuaged either by the 
captive’s immediate destruction,’ or by his pure and simple 
adoption by the relatives of the dead man, whose name and rank 
he immediately assumed,'** or, more rarely, by his reduction to 

slavery.'** The substitution took place without the age or sex of 
the captive necessarily justifying the title that was accorded him. 
Young people of fifteen could thus take the place of fathers to men 
of thirty,'** The example of Mary Jemison —captured in childhood 
on the borders of the English colony and raised among the Seneca 
tribe by two Indian women whose dead brother she replaced, and 
then married successively to two Iroquois by whom she had seven 
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children, or the experiences of David Hunter, shows the extent of 

a practice which ended in the complete absorption of the adoptees 
into their new families, and which alone could save prisoners from 
the tortures it was customary to inflict upon them. It was to such a 
situation that Radisson in 1653 and Joncaire in 1692'** owed the 
salvation for which they had ceased to hope. The families im- 
mediately overwhelmed the newcomers with the utmost affec— 
tion.'** When peace was concluded in 1701 between the Iroquois 
and New France, some of them were too sincerely attached to the 
Canadians they had received among them to do other than reject 
the proposal made by the governor for a reciprocal exchange of 
captives. '37 

Mingling in this way, whether willingly or by force, among the 
native peoples neighboring the colony on the St. Lawrence, a fair 
number of French from Lower Canada quickly adopted not only 
the Indians’ way of life, but also their reactions and their mental 
attitude. Their own culture, which had already been perceptibly 
changed by contact with the natural environment and with the 
peoples inside the colony, receded even farther in this first stage of 
penetration into the hinterland. The interpreter or clerk who estab- 
lished himself among the Hurons according to the instructions of 
the trading companies, would seek to gain their confidence by 
avoiding the look of a stranger, and to achieve this he quickly 
familiarized himself with their language,'** adapted himself to 
their customs, and even adopted their dress.'*" Some had recourse 
to native medical practices and sought in the sweat-houses, 
“pellmell among the savages,” a means of “‘fortifying their health 
and avoiding certain sicknesses.""""° Finally, there were others like 

Etienne Brulé who even denied their religious upbringing, losing 
“almost the semblance of a Christian,” ridiculing the teachings of 
Christianity in the presence of native people,'*' and not hesitating 
to make offerings to pagan deities or to solicit from the spirit of a 
rock the promise of a good voyage.'** In such lasting contact with 
the Indians, men sometimes forgot their loyalty toward New 
France; how fragile it had become among some of them was 
shown when the English captured Quebec in 1629.'** They also 
surrendered quickly to that looseness of native morals which 
Jacques Cartier had already observed in 1535 among the nomad 
peoples of the Saguenay,’ and which existed also among the 
Huron, despite their more advanced social organization and the 
greater degree of cohesion that it involved.” 
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As a consequence, the Hurons did not take offence at the lack of 
self-control among the French."° The free sexual relations that 
immediately developed between the two groups accorded with the 
conceptions of the natives, which the strict notions of the mis- 

sionaries aimed to divert in the opposite direction. The Hurons 
could admire Champlain’s irreproachable conduct, but they re- 
jected the idea of regular marriages with the French which he 
sought to put into effect. They replied that “it was not necessary 
to stand so much on ceremony, and that those among the French 
who had made up their minds to marry were at liberty to take 
wives wherever that seemed good to them.’’'7 It was in these 
unions, whose free character spread to the boundaries of New 
France, that the first origins of the Métis emerged. In such primi- 
tive societies, where Christian concepts were still alien, regular 

marriages could only contribute in a very minor way to such a re- 
sult, especially since the types of men who lived scattered among 
the tribes were attracted to adventure and independence and cared 
little about moral principles. 

In the beginning, Frere Sagard had recommended that the 
Frenchmen destined to go among the Hurons should be carefully 
chosen, and the Jesuits reproached those who went for hindering 
by their “‘bad conduct” the impetus of Christianization.'** There 
was a rapid increase in the disorderliness of life, which testified to 
the excessively abrupt transition from one culture to another: for 
the European, transplanted into a milieu where, as far as he could 

see, there were no constraints on liberty, did not perceive the 
curbs on freedom that arose from the operation of primitive in- 
stitutions. It was at this time, according to Frere Sagard, that ve- 
nereal diseases were introduced among the Huron, and the conta- 

gion spread so violently that the medicine men tried to check it by 
isolating infected people from the villages.'* 

Sometimes disorderly conduct became so excessive that the In- 
dians’ resentment was aroused. In 1624 a Frenchman died as a re- 
sult of it—victim of the disapproval his bad conduct had 
aroused.'** It was perhaps similar factors that led to the slaughter 
of Etienne Brulé by the Hurons whose confidence he had so long 
enjoyed.'*' Doubtless one should not exaggerate the importance 
of such extreme instances. Many Frenchmen seem to have been 
content with temporary unions regulated by Huron customs— 
marriages characterized by that “reasonable licence’ of which 
Sagard speaks,'** and which the missionaries were obliged to tol- 
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erate so as to avoid disorders that would have been prejudicial both 
to the cause of Christianity and to French expansionism. It is pos- 
sible that the increase in the number of missionaries among the 
Huron—one can count eighteen of them out of a total of forty-two 
Frenchmen in 1648!°*—resulted in more complete supervision and 
reduced the licentiousness of earlier years. But it is doubtful 
whether the Jesuits would have been able to eliminate the practice 
of temporary unions in a region whose entire area the missionaries 
did not control and in which the French moved around too often 
to be subjected to rigorous supervision. 
Among the Hurons, the practice of adoption also favored mixed 

unions. Sometimes it was no more than a formal adoption, whose 
only practical effect was to ensure the material subsistence of the 
guest allowed to share the life of the family that adopted him (an 
institution from which the missionaries profited in furthering their 
evangelistic aims) ,!°* but occasionally it took the form of a more 

genuine adoption, which—as among the Iroquois—incorporated 
the newcomer completely into the family and made it easy for him 
to contract an alliance among the native people.'®* Yet precise in- 
stances of such genuine adoption are lacking. While the texts re- 
veal the existence of the custom, they are expressed in vague terms 
which prevent us from seeing here a habit as widely spread—and 
as germane to the origins of interbreeding—as adoption became 
among the Iroquois. 

In admitting into their families the individuals whom they had 
captured on the frontiers of New France, the Iroquois tribes ab- 
sorbed them into the structure of their society, and in this way 
subjected them to the disciplines that ruled it. The social organiza~ 
tion of these tribes, dominated by a matriarchy linked to the essen- 
tial role of agriculture in their economy, involved a degree of 
rigidity of which the nomad peoples of the west were wholly un- 
aware. A hierarchy of tribes, clans, and maternal families took the 
place of the basic cellular family, and constituted a network of 
political unities destined for the defence of collective interests and 
resistant to the impulses of excessive individualism.'*° The group 
sustained its cohesion only if the individual subjected himself to 
certain moral standards: sexual relations in such circumstances 
demanded, outside the generally accepted polygamy, a discretion 
which the Hurons did not observe to the same extent.'*” By im- 
posing the same limitations on strangers, the procedure of adop- 
tion prevented the disorders to which the whites so quickly aban- 
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doned themselves among the native peoples. This was all the more 

so since most of the whites in this position were prisoners of war, 
and their situation implied a narrowing of their personal freedom 
and a more complete submission to the disciplines of the society 
that had welcomed them. In entering it, they automatically sac- 
rificed their original culture, took native wives, and from this 
point found themselves bound to the primitive milieu. It is possi- 
ble that some of these captives, uprooted against their will from 
the life of Lower Canada, sought to evade this “perpetual con- 
cubinage” which the Iroquois conception of marriage represented 
in the eyes of the Jesuits."* But itis hardly to be doubted that most 
of them regarded it as the natural consequence of the status they 
had accepted and of the incorporation into Indian society which it 
implied. 

The economy of that society was not alien to the newcomers. In 
telling a group of French who had been captured near Montreal in 
1643 that they were taking them to their homes so that “together” 
they could work the earth of their country,'** the Iroquois were 
giving them to understand that there would be no absolute break 
between the two ways of life. The existence of these tribes, half 
way between the exclusively nomad economy of the Algonquins 
of the Shield (“notably more beggarly than the Hurons’’)'*° and 
that of the more developed societies to the south,’®' was divided 
between farming and hunting. Europeans accommodated easily to 
the conditions of life in which extreme freedom, accompanied by 
the relative stability introduced by an agricultural economy, com- 
pensated for the privations inherent in native life. Even the gov- 
ernment of the Iroquois society, which Aubert de la Chesnaye 
compared to that of “the republics of Europe,'"'*? imposed no 
change on the prisoner's habits. Thus assimilation was effectively 
achieved. Many even forgot their maternal language.'** Some 
were willing to join in the warlike expeditions of their adoptive 
tribes; this set the seal on their assimilation into Iroquois society, in 
which war constituted one of the basic activities." The women 
themselves, once they had married among the natives, mingled 
with the squaws and joined in the loud expressions of joy with 
which the Iroquois customarily saluted the return of victorious 
warriors. ‘°° 

For many of these captives, their fusion with the society that 
had accepted them was complete. In 1698, when the question of 
the restitution of prisoners to New France was raised, most of 
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them refused to abandon the families they had established or to 
sacrifice the greater freedom of their new existence." Thirteen 
French—five men and eight women—returned from the country 
of the Iroquois, a figure which certainly did not tally with the 
great number of prisoners taken by the warriors of the Five Na- 
tions.'*” Restitution was in fact feasible only under the promise of 
leaving a free choice of action to those who did not want to aban- 
don their adoptive country,'®* and even that concession could not 
have softened the unwillingness of the captives or the stubborn- 
ness of the families who had received them if it had not been for 
the mediation of a couple of the best known among the adoptees, 

Joncaire and Maricourt.'* Their intervention revealed the political 
role which the custom of adoption might play in relationships be- 
tween the French and the native peoples. 

So long as he did not completely deny his own country, the 
adoptee could in fact use the mediative position conferred by the 
confidence of both whites and Indians to intervene usefully be- 
tween the two groups. Sometimes called upon to act as counsellor 
for his conquerors, he could use his situation to consolidate the 

position of France in the region of the Great Lakes and foil the in- 
trigues of the English among the Iroquois. It was to this task that 
Philippe Chabert de Joncaire devoted himself successfully. Jon- 
caire, a sergeant of the guards under the Count de Frontenac, was 

captured by the Iroquois in the course of their last offensive and 
adopted by the Senecas, among whom he eagerly took a wife 
under romantic conditions reminiscent of the adventures of Radis- 
son.'” In a similar way Charles Le Moyne, an “habitant of 
Montreal” who had been promoted to the rank of squire and seig- 
neur of Longueil, was also “taken in war’ and then “carefully pre- 
served and led away” by the [roquois.'’! He disposed of a separate 
cabin in the principal village of the Onondaga tribe, which he oc- 
cupied when he lived among them,'” His family was admitted to 
the privilege of adoption, and his sons, the Baron de Longueil and 
Captain Maricourt, were able to assume among the Iroquois the 
dignity of counsellor which their father had enjoyed.'”* Using 
their knowledge of the native languages, they did their best to 
prevent the breakdown of the fragile equilibrium which Iroquois 
neutrality, constantly threatened by the economic advantages of- 
fered by a British alliance, maintained between the English and the 
French.!"* Thanks to Joncaire’s personal influence, France was able 

in 1720 to obtain Iroquois consent to the construction of the first 
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Fort Niagara, which barred access for the English to the hinterland 
and drained off its furs to the St. Lawrence.'7 

Regulated by the procedures of adoption, the unions which the 
Canadians contracted during the seventeenth century with the 
Iroquois tribes had a relatively orderly character. 

The contact between the two peoples, which for so long had 
consisted of no more than the captors’ relations with prisoners of 
war, very soon began to expand, through the sporadic appearance 
during the intervals of peace of traders—usually in the employ of 
the Flemings at Fort Orange—who tried to create commercial 
links with the Iroquois,!"* and by the fleeting appearance of men 
appointed to defend the missions which the Jesuits tried to estab- 
lish in this region toward the middle of the seventeenth century.!”” 
But it was only when the pacification of 1701 had given security to 
the St, Lawrence route that traders penetrated in greater numbers 
among the Iroquois. Immediately, disorders appeared, as they had 
previously done among the Hurons. Adoption lost its effective- 
ness, and unions began to be consummated more freely, with no 
respect for the limitations which the native social structure had 
hitherto imposed upon them. 

It goes without saying that as the French race advanced more 
deeply into primitive country, it would be called upon to establish 
increasingly close relations with the native tribes. This occurred 
around the positions situated at the junction of Lakes Superior, 
Michigan, and Huron, where the currents of trade divided, in one 
direction toward the Mississippi basin to the southwest, in the 
other toward the posts on Lake Superior to the North West. It was 
here that Bigsby, visiting the village of Sault Ste. Marie in 1823, 
decided on the basis of the preoccupations and manners of the in- 
habitants, and especially through seeing a woman who hid the scar 
on her scalp under a silver plate, that Indian country was near.!”* 
Not only was the environment less inviting geographically, but 
the civilizing influences of Lower Canada were more distant, and 

the Canadians here had been recruited in a way that predisposed 
them to surrender more readily to the lure of the frontier and of its 
limitless freedom. The missionary’s influence was still active and 
relatively stable within the confines of the colony, but it was only 
intermittently effective on the kind of men who went on to 
Michilimackinac or established themselves there among the native 
people. 

From 1641 onward the Jesuits were aware of the importance of 
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the positions that commanded access to the basins of the three 
great lakes. It was there that they laid the foundations of the mis- 
sion of Sault Ste. Marie, which they occupied from 1669 onward 

and fortified in 1671, and of the mission of St. Ignace, established 
on the island of Michilimackinac and on the southern tip of the 

peninsula that faced it,'”* But the mission at the Sault disappeared 
in 1689,'*° The Michilimackinac mission, soon transferred to the 
southern shore of the narrows, became from this time onward the 
extreme vanguard of Christianity on the threshold of “savage 
country.”"'8! 

On the peninsula of Michilimackinac and around Sault Ste. 
Marie, the voyageurs and coureurs de bois had—for their part— 
quickly formed settlements among the Algonquin and Huron 
peoples. At Michilimackinac they concentrated in particularly 
large numbers because of the fertility of the soil and the abundance 
of fish and game. The region formed the centre for provisioning 
the most distant posts and became an obligatory halting place for 
the voyageurs who obtained here the stocks of maize they needed 
to reach their destinations.'** Here the traders were no longer con- 
tent merely to sustain the commercial loyalty of the Indians. They 
had come to seek furs among the hunting tribes themselves, and 

this meant that they must spread out either among the peoples of 
the Mississippi or among the groups who lived around Lake 
Superior.'** And for them the influence of the missionary was no 
more than an empty word. It could not prevent their adaptation to 
the life of the native peoples, whose dwellings they copied and 
whose pattern of activity they imitated, composed as it was of 
hunting game or fur-bearing animals, fishing, and a little agricul- 
ture.'** The missionaries indeed disapproved of the undisciplined 
ways of the traders who came into these distant regions, but they 
were less numerous here and were often called on to make excur- 
sions among the native tribes, which led them to be absent for 
long periods.'*® 

It was here, in fact, that the coureurs de bois, men coming from 
the most contrasting social origins and forming a highly mixed 
group in moral terms, became the essential moving force of trade 
and of penetration. They were the first to venture on the water- 
ways leading to Hudson Bay, threatening the trade of the English 
posts and, in the region of Rainy Lake, preceding La Vérendrye’s 
enterprises. Their importance dates above all from the creation of 
new conditions, in the second half of the seventeenth century, 
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through the abolition of the monopoly granted the commercial 
companies, who at first had assumed the exploitation of the fur 
trade to the exclusion of local merchants,'** and through the dis- 
persion toward the shores of Lake Superior of the Hurons and Al- 
gonquins driven back by the Iroquois. Deprived of the pelts which 
these peoples customarily supplied them, the traders of the St. 
Lawrence were obliged to follow them into their new territories. 
Soon, they were bypassing them to reach the more distant hunting 
peoples with whom they now traded directly.'*” In assuming this 
intermediary role between the fur-gathering tribes and New 
France, they supplanted the Indian nations who up to now had 
served as middlemen between the wilderness and the St. Lawrence 
valley. 

The coureurs de bois attained their highest importance during 
the period when the Intendant Talon, anxious to draw on the help 
of all the elements useful to his program of imperial expansion, 
and aware of the effective role of the coureurs, treated them with a 
favor his successors did not hesitate to imitate, often in defiance of 

“‘monarchical institutions.”"** Everywhere, from this time on- 
ward, the coureurs de bois, like the squatters in Australia, acted as 

the forerunners of civilization. Often they intervened with the na- 
tive tribes, as the adoptees had done with the Iroquois, to sustain 
their loyalty to the French cause and to hold in check the adverse 
manoeuvres of the English, Everywhere, they pushed forward 
penetration and discovery.'** 

This movement revitalized the nomadic inclination, the taste for 

adventure, and the imperious need for independence of the people 
of Lower Canada,'*” and gave expression to the traditional ways of 
the fur trade which, in the beginning, had supported rural ac- 
tivities and which now developed into an occupation in its own 
right, distinct from the life of toil with which it had first been as~ 
sociated. It offered a source of profit whose reliability was guaran- 
teed for a number of years'*! by the stabilization from 1675 on- 
ward of the price of beaver skins in the royal warehouses,'*? and 
which provided a solution for the poverty that was so widespread 
at all levels in the society of New France. Young people who had 
no vocational training and for whom in any case few occupations 
were available;'®® young noblemen; officers or their sons, unaccus- 

tomed to “the plough, the mattock and the axe,’"'* and often rid- 

den by prejudices which did not fit the realities of a frontier soci- 
ety;!® all these groups, lacking the kind of wealth that could be 
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gained in a country where land was the only real foundation for 
prosperity!" and where the spirit of economy was little evident,'"7 
found in the fur trade the means of realizing attractive profits!” 
and at the same time asserting the qualities of their race in the gen- 
eral framework of an activity that suited their inclination coward 
irregular effort, Thus all social conditions were brought together 
in the ranks of the coureurs de bois: young noblemen,' officers’ 
sons,*"" relatives of members of the Sovereign Council of New 
France,*"' habitants or their sons*” led on by the example of the 
gentry, soldiers released from the Carignan regiment, even arti- 
sans (though not many of them),®”* and finally vagabonds, men 
with no occupation, described as “volunteers,” who wished to 
escape from the disciplines of the colony. In such a varied recruit- 
ment, neither intelligence nor moral values were absent, but there 
was an abundance of dubious elements, drawn by instinct to the 
hinterland so as to evade the control of the missionaries; youth was 
the essential characteristic shared by them all, “for age was not 
capable of enduring the hardships of such a trade.”?°* Permeated 
by the ways of the frontier, most of them started out with a pro- 
pensity to share the existence of the Indians with whom the fur 
trade forced them to associate. 

Alongside them, the military garrisons spaced out along the 
Great Lakes provided an element that was selected with no greater 
strictness and lent itself with equal ease to relations with the In- 
dians. Few in numbers—a score of men on an ayerage at 
Michilimackinac despite the record figure of 143 reached there in 
1690,?" the soldiers did not stay immobilized in the posts to which 
they were assigned.**” Some of them had no hesitation about de- 
serting and going off to swell the ranks of the coureurs de bois.” 

Under the influence of this haphazard recruitment and of the 
more primitive environment, where association with the native 
peoples was unavoidable at the same time as the civilizing influ- 
ences of Lower Canada grew ever more distant, relations between 
primitive and civilized man became all the closer. The trader wil- 
lingly adopted the custom of cohabitation with Indian women, 
whose presence now seemed necessary for the process of traffick- 
ing and to meet the very necessities of his material existence. For 
him the Indian woman pounded Indian corn, prepared sagamite, 
dressed the furs he collected, cut out from mooseskin the mocca- 
sins he used in travelling over the frozen soil, and repaired his 
canoes.’ She intervened personally in his transactions with the 
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Indians, and, if the need arose, she warded off the plots that 
threatened the trader.?"” And this diversity of roles the Indian 
women would assume on an even broader scale beyond Lake 

Superior. 
Against the generally accepted custom of irregular unions of this 

kind, the missionaries’ invective was unavailing.?"' The native 

tribes, who in these regions lacked the organization that charac- 
terized Iroquois society, behaved among themselves with an equal 
freedom." If the practice of adoption persisted and still served to 
fill the gaps caused by death,*' it was less widespread than the cus- 
tom of the trader acquiring an Indian woman who would be his 
helpmate by purchasing her father’s complaisance with a little 
merchandise.?"* In this way the custom of polygamy spread 
among the whites, and the extreme looseness of relationships was 
accompanied by frequent outbreaks of violence, aggravated by the 
traffic in alcohol.?"° The witness of the missionaries is confirmed 
by that of La Motte Cadillac. Though he was always ready to 
argue with the Jesuits and deny the supposed evils of alcoholic 
drinks, he himself recognized that their distribution was one of the 
sources of disorder, and Dulhut supported the same accusations 
with the authority of his long experience.?"® All constraint van- 
ished in the relations between Canadians and Indians. Irregular 
unions increased, often with the connivance of the officers them- 
selves.?!? Though Governor Vaudreuil had expressed his resolve to 
prevent the mingling of “bad blood with good,” he does not seem 
to have thought of imposing his will in these regions, which in any 
case were too far away to feel the effects of his legislation.*!* A 
reading of the baptismal registers of Michilimackinac shows how 
the limitations which the missionaries sought to impose on the 
free association of the races were frustrated.?"® Even the village 
which the traders had built in Michilimackinac beside the Indian 
village offered an example of the promiscuity which became even 
stronger beyond Lake Superior and of which Sault Ste. Marie of- 
fered a less extreme version. Numbers of Indians had chosen to 
live among the traders in Michilimackinac, halfbreed children 

wandered constantly from one village to another, the people of the 
two settlements often gave each other assistance, and the whites 

themselves often went to live among the Indians.” If it had not 
been for the presence of the missionary and the officer in com- 
mand of the post, the two villages would soon have become indis- 

tinguishable. 
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On reaching the threshold of the West country, the Canadians 
thus found themselves predisposed, asa result of their antecedents, 
to a close union with the native populations. Their mental at- 
titudes and those of the Indians showed analogies that were some- 
times astonishing; their living practices were often influenced by 
methods and devices invented by the Indians; and in those regions 
of the West which were completely isolated from Lower Canada 
their long familiarity with the primitive life and the tradition of the 
free fusion of races and cultures which they had developed made 
possible their almost immediate assimilation with the Indian 
peoples. In this zone which they entered at the end of the seven- 
teenth century, the coureurs de bois found nothing that was 
foreign to them—neither the country nor its peoples nor their 
economy, and the same applied to the later arrivals who, under 
different names—employees or voyageurs —imitated their activity 
and perpetuated their social type. 

CANADIANS AND NATIVE PEOPLES 
IN THE COUNTRY OF THE NORTH-WEST 

The Canadian’s Powers of Endurance 

To the difficulties inflicted by nature, the Canadians opposed the 
qualities of endurance which they had acquired in Lower Canada, 
following the examples of their fathers. Life in the still unknown 
West at the beginning of the eighteenth century was, in a more ex- 
treme form, the same as life on the St. Lawrence. The privations 
were indeed harder, the primitive environment was bleaker, and, 
because of its vastness, it was less susceptible to domestication. 
The peoples were less familiar to the Canadians than those on the 
verges of the colony. Sometimes, indeed, the Canadians were 
eventually repelled by the sufferings involved in the existence of 
the primitive peoples of the West: after a few years of mingling 
with them and sharing their lives, there were some who decided 
not to prolong the experience and surrendered to the attractions of 
an easier life in the trading post.?*! Nevertheless, in Lower 
Canada, they had already become inured to vigorous effort and 
harsh conditions:*** they had adapted themselves to the constant 
struggle which desolate environments demand, to the semi- 
nomad life of the fisherman and the hunter which in the West be- 
came the customary pattern of existence; they had become skilled 
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in the navigation of canoes whose manufacture—taught them by 
the Indians —they had perfected;?** they had learnt to move around 
in the forest with the sureness and ease of savages. “I have learnt,” 
Edward Jarvis wrote admiringly to the London Committee in 
1776, “that the Canadians when they hear an Indian is well 
gooded, will take a sled load of goods if in winter and a Canoe if 
Summer, and go 100 miles or even more, being all excellent hun- 

ters and travelling thro’ the Woods with the facility of an In- 
dian."*** 

In the West, in fact, the Canadian immediately revealed the ef- 
fectiveness of his training. He showed himself at once to be a 
superb canoeman, the man for whom the navigation of the frail 
craft that must take him to the most distant parts of the North 
West held no secrets and who did not shrink from any of the ef- 
forts it imposed on him. Skilful enough to steer between the rocks 
which, at times of drought, obstruct the waterways, he was also 
vigorous enough to endure the hard toil of the portages, which the 
Indians themselves often found too much for them.** He crossed 
these at a smart pace,**° with a tumpline around his brow that ena- 

bled him to transport goods without exposing himself to the acci- 
dents that a strap around the chest might incur.*” Plunged in 
water to the waist,”** he would hold the canoe when an excessively 
rapid current threatened to carry it away, or would free it from the 
rocks that were holding it, an extremely dangerous procedure, as 
was shown by the number of crosses beside the rapids, perpetuat- 
ing the memory of humble voyageurs who had lost their lives in 
such spots.*#° He could easily overtake the Orkneymen, who were 
more methodical but also slower,?* and thanks to a stronger will 

or to a pride peculiar to the “northern men” who embarked on the 
most sterile regions of the Shield,?*’ he demonstrated an evident 
superiority over the Indian, who was always the victim of his 
natural indolence. His energy seemed to be redoubled in the dif- 
ficult moments when, exhausted by his toil, he had to navigate in 
heavily loaded and dilapidated canoes, rivers that were both low in 

water and scattered with obstructions.*** On such occasions his 
pride prevented him from complaining openly,’* and he was 
ready, if his honor were challenged ,*** to undertake the most diffi- 
cult tasks or negotiate the most challenging rapids.*** 

One can judge the extent of his endurance and pride from Alex- 
ander Mackenzie’s account of the life of the “Northern men.” At 
the beginning of May, as the rivers opened, they left Athabasca, 
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and travelled in haste to the post of Rainy Lake, where they left 
their furs and then, supplied with trade goods, they returned to- 
ward their destination, paddling without rest, and allowing them- 
selves at night only a few hours of sleep. Mackenzie saw them, 
when they reached the end of their journey, starting on the con- 
struction of their own dwellings, in a cold so intense that it broke 
the axes like glass, and continuing, without complaint, two 
months of exhausting labor. ‘Such is the life,” he concluded, 
“which this people lead; and is continued with unremitting exer- 
tion, till their strength is lost in premature old age."*°* They were 
mostly descendants of those men of “great toil” whose qualities 
the intendants of New France had recognized and praised. 

They were also thoroughly familiar, from having practised it in 
Lower Canada, with the use of the sleigh and the snowshoe, and 

they brought to splitting the wood from which they made their 
sleighs and prepared the frames of their snowshoes the same skills 
as they used in making their canoes.**” 

Even the most extreme temperatures did not discourage them. 
Often, in the most rigorous weather, they were content with im- 
provised shelters resembling those made by the Indians.2** Even 
the trading posts themselves offered no more than indifferent 
comforts. Only the most important of them were spacious and 
well-furnished dwellings, protected by wooden palisades.?*° Thus 

Matthew Cocking in 1773 described the post of Francois le Blanc 
at Nipawi as a squared-off dwelling, divided into two rooms of 
which one served as a kitchen and the other made do as both bed- 
room and shop, where the Indians gathered, with a garret above 
that provided storage space for furs. Three smaller houses, built of 
logs and separate from the main building, provided lodging for 
the men.“ The post he visited on the Red Deer River in 1774 was 
also a log building with a loft, divided into three rooms—a 
kitchen, a meeting hall, and a bedroom-cum-shop, protected by a 
bark roof, and supplemented by separate huts for the men.*"' But 
how many more modest dwellings were raised in the North West 
which—like so many of the Métis houscholds today—consisted of 
no more than rough structures of logs, the gaps between them 
filled with mud, with a roof of earth held together by the grass 
that quickly took root there, and no better windows than the un- 
dressed skins of deer or moose, merely stripped of their hair!?# 
Yet the Canadian accepted this lack of comfort without flinching, 
with a legendary good temper that contrasted with the frequent 
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fits of discouragement among the competing personnel.?*3 
Perhaps he did not endure the privations involved in the 

nomadic way of life with quite the same degree of resignation as 
the Indians themselves.*** At the same time, he knew how to re- 

main content with short commons,*** Whether he followed the 
native tribes in their wanderings through the forests or the Barren 
Grounds, where he excelled in capturing hares;*° whether he set 

up his lodge like the Indians, either to be nearer the buffalo 
herds**” and gather the meat necessary for the personnel in the 
posts, or to find his living by chance in the wilderness and so spare 
the scanty provisions in the fort?" he was rarely at a loss for 
sustenance, He knew the vegetable resources of the wilderness as 
well as the Indians. If he could not obtain the food he preferred, 
the wild rice of which he made a thick and nourishing broth," he 

made do with the berries, roots, and tubers whose uses the Indians 
had shown him, with wild pears or saskatoons, roschips, and in 

the desolate regions of the north, with reindeer moss, skunk cab- 
bage, or marestails.*°° No more than the Indian did he despise the 
exclusively fish diet which the Hudson's Bay Company’s men re- 
jected.**' If game were lacking, horsemeat could take its place, or 

dog, whose flesh was for him—as for many of the Indians—a 
choice dish which they appreciated as much as pork.?*? In the Ed- 
monton journal, James Bird paid homage to this extreme flexibil- 
ity on the part of the Canadians, whose earlier existence had pre- 
pared them for periods of frugality:*** “They can feast with plea- 
sure on Horses, Dogs, or any Substance whatever that can yield 

Nourishment to a human Being, and even support a Deprivation 
of all Food a greater length of time and with less concern than any 
other men on the Face of the Earth.’’*** But as soon as abundance 
returned, even in the posts where the supplies of food were often 
precarious,*** the Canadian abandoned himself without restraint 
to the excess of feasts where everything was eaten, which recalled 
the characteristic irregularity of Indian behavior, and which also, 
as an expression of badly disciplined desires, echoed the violent ex- 
tremes of nature on the North West, where famine always hovered 
near to profusion.*"* 

Affinities with the Natives and Conceptions of Life 

In the country of the West, closed to the ways of New France and 
its civilizing influences, the affinities in character between Cana- 
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dian and native were strongly revealed and blended the two 
groups in a veritable community of life and feeling. The habit of 
irregular effort, which we have already observed in Lower 
Canada, here became the rule of life for the Canadian, in the same 

way as it governed the Indian's actions. To periods of almost 
superhuman effort, especially apparent in the regions of the ex- 
treme north, succeeded long intervals of idleness. It is true that the 
Canadian did not share the passive courage which the Indians man- 
ifested in the more difficult moments of their existence. Yet the 
Anglo-Saxons recognized his energetic nature, and judged him to 
be capable of “seeming impossibilities."*°7 But, once his task was 
completed, he lapsed into idleness, varied by the undemanding 
pastimes of the western posts which Alexander Henry des- 
cribed.*°* Only Athabasca, where the material conditions of exis- 

tence were more severe, demanded periods of relatively prolonged 
activity. It is true that this was especially the case in the early years 
when the need to build the trading posts, and even before that to 
hastily improvise temporary shelters from the excessive cold, im- 
posed on the voyageurs who had barely arrived from Rainy Lake a 
toil that seemed endless and debilitated their strength. Once the 
country was occupied and the posts built, life—though it remained 
more difficult than elsewhere—took on a great resemblance to 
existence in the more favored areas. The longer he stayed in the 
West, the more accustomed the Canadian became to this intermit- 

tent pattern of activity, so near to that of the Indian, and this tradi- 

tion he would transmit to his Métis descendants .** 
The very necessities of trading only increased this tendency con- 

tracted in Lower Canada. The man who left the trading post to 
live in moveable camps among the Indians was exposed to great 
physical sufferings. He had to travel endless distances with heavy 
loads and often without dogs or horses, and to be content at night 
with whatever shelters the Indians improvised.** But there again, 
if game were abundant, idleness made its appearance and con- 
tinued until provisions were exhausted. Sharing the native’s exis~ 
tence, the Canadian showed the same ill-regulated ways, the same 
lack of ambition, the same heedlessness of the future; all these ten- 

dencies had been hatched in Lower Canada, but they developed in 
the West through contact with the nomadic peoples.**! These men 
who were capable of such vigorous efforts and proud of the feats 
they accomplished in navigating their canoes, were equally liable 
to lapse into the idleness of the native peoples, and then they al- 



244 THE BIRTH OF THE METIS GROUP 

most ceased to care for their own subsistence.?* 
The idea of saving, hardly developed in New France, di- 

minished even more in the company of the Indians and in the gen- 
eral fecklessness of a day-to-day existence. Imitating the Indian, 
who was incapable of overcoming his desire for whatever trum- 
pery trinket might be dangled before him,*** the Canadian gladly 
sacrificed the fruits of his work to satisfy any passing caprice or to 
buy the objects that flattered his taste for ostentation, Doubtless 
there were many Canadians who accepted engagements for the 
West in Montreal with the sole intention of bringing back a nest- 
egg that would set them up in Lower Canada.?™* But certainly, in 
the nomadic life they led in the West, their desire for economy en- 
countered conditions that were hardly favorable to its fulfilment. 
George Simpson, who knew as well as the North West Company 
their inclination to spend, recovered in this situation much of the 
costs he had laid out in his voyageurs’ wages.*°° Less mercenary 
than the Europeans, they accepted cuts in their pay more will- 
ingly,?°° and pecuniary rewards had little effect on them.?*7 

In their conversations and amusements the general fecklessness 
of their character was revealed. Often devoid of education, and ac- 
customed to the unpolished life of the Canadian countryside, they 
took pleasure in abandoning themselves in the Indians’ company 
to puerile amusements or to interminable narrations of their ad- 
ventures, concerned especially with the exploits of sturdy fighters, 
with the virtues of their dogs or horses, with their success among 
the Indians.*** All this surprised and disconcerted Anglo-Saxons 
like David Thompson and Daniel Harmon, who were too edu- 
cated to adapt themselves to an atmosphere so removed from their 
tastes and their breeding.**® With the Canadians’ fecklessness a cer- 
tain fatalism was mingled, the reaction of simple natures who re- 
signed themselves, like the Indians, to the privations inherent in 
the environment that dominated them, awaiting patiently the 
moments of pleasure that it afforded, and remaining innocent of 
any thought of improving their condition. This state of mind was 
an element of weakness in the Canadian. Yet it was also, in the 
way of life he had chosen, a kind of strength, for his lack of con- 
cern for the material difficulties to which he was always exposed 
saved him from discouragement and vexation, and his exhaustion 
would immediately vanish in the distractions of jesting, talk, and 

shallow amusements .?”° 
This cheerful simplicity was also accompanied by a tendency 
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toward superstition that had already manifested itself in Lower 
Canada, that increased in the region of the Lakes, and manifested 

its complete form in the West, where it became a pale reflection of 
the Indian belief in the constant intervention of the supernatural. 
There the Canadians would conform to the rites the Indians prac- 
tised to obtain a favorable wind;*?! they would view a natural 

phenomenon as the realization of a mysterious influence;?”* they 
were reluctant to accept David Thompson's explanations when 
they surprised him in his observations, since they were convinced 
that his instruments were meant to read the future in the stars or to 
raise a wind that would be favorable to hunting.?”* 

Their Christian upbringing, attenuated alike by the absolute 
freedom of the North West and the company of Indians, was not 
powerful enough to hinder this propensity, which was constantly 
encouraged by the beliefs of their primitive neighbors.?”* For here 
the influence of the missionary vanished and ‘Do what you will!” 
became the rule.?” Moreover, the religious convictions of the 

employees and voyageurs, recruited among individuals deeply at- 
tracted to the free life of adventure, were too fragile not to suffer 

inevitable diminution in the West. Whatever the Church might do 
to improve the selection of voyageurs,?”* it could not prevent the 
Canadian, left to his own devices and mingling with the Indians, 
from abandoning himself to an immoderate licence in which his 
religious sentiments inevitably foundered. Observers often re- 
marked on the violence of language among the Canadians.*” 
Under the influence of drink, they would be overcome by verita- 
ble paroxysms of savagery, almost as extreme as those of the In- 
dians.°”* And the answers that some of them gave to the moralistic 
observations of Daniel Harmon—that “there is no Sabbath in this 
country, and, they added, no devil’ —show that in the West their 
religious scruples were reduced to a mere vestige,?”® even in cir- 
cumstances, such as the feast of Christmas, when their religious 
upbringing might have overcome their intemperance.?** They re- 
tained no more than a confused religiosity,*" liable to be 
awakened by the feeling of danger,?** or a vague consciousness of 
the wrongs they committed against the conception of Christian 
morality. Gabriel Franchére, for example, tells of voyageurs who 
had taken wives in the West and were attached to their Métis 
families but dared not return to Lower Canada, where their con- 
duct would arouse strong reprobation.?** 

But in general they lost the feeling of constraint from which 
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they had suffered in the colony. Inevitably, the “wild disposition” 
that had been observed in the Canadian on the St. Lawrence was 
magnified in the liberty of his new existence. Even more cir- 
cumspection than ever was needed in handling the ‘‘Northern 
man” than in handling the Canadian of the St. Lawrence. His 
natural pride was accompanied by an extreme touchiness which, 
though it did not proceed from the same causes, was as liable as 
that of the Indian to be aroused by the least offence; it made him 
prompt to reject the discipline of an authority that was too strict 
and the bonds of an engagement that lasted too long.*** Thus, like 
the officers of Lower Canada with their soldiers, the bourgeois 
had to avoid bruising the pride of the voyageur, and instead to flat- 
ter his self-esteem*** and to be content with that spontaneous dis~ 
cipline which was established by the personal attachment of the 
man to the chief who was capable enough to win his confidence or 
admiration."*° The relations that were established between the 
bourgeois and his subordinates resembled to a considerable degree 
those which united the Indians to the chief they had chosen.**7 In 
both cases, the leader who had neither the prestige that commands 
respect nor the confidence that creates attachments was neither fol- 
lowed nor obeyed.*** But if the Canadian avoided binding himself 
by excessively long contracts, it was not only out of aversion for 
the idea of constraint; it was also a manifestation of that strongly 

individualist and quickly changeable temperament which he had 
manifested already in Lower Canada and which the Anglo-Saxons 
so held against him. ‘Obedient, but not faithful,” ‘fickle disposi- 
tions,” “volatile, inconsiderate race,’ such were the terms in 

which Daniel Harmon and George Simpson described his nature, 
indicating yet another point of resemblance, even though it sprang 
from different origins, with the temperament of the Indian.**” 

Can one push the comparison farther, and see in the Canadian’s 
nature an element of duplicity that finally aligned him with the In- 
dian? Perhaps the Anglo-Saxons have exaggerated that flaw.*” 
But if one can judge from the procedures he sometimes followed 
in abusing the credulity of the Indians, by spreading calumnies 
against trading rivals?” or adroitly depriving the native of his 
furs,?"* one must perhaps admit that he was not entirely exempt 
from the faults for which he has been blamed. 

In sum if we ignore for the time being the Canadian’s propen- 
sity to generosity and helpfulness,?** which reflected a great 
natural goodwill as much as it did a character whose fecklessness 
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excluded egotism, we reach the conclusion that there existed real 
affinities between the two groups which their almost identical 
conditions of life in the West had brought together in a permanent 
association. 

At the same time, one cannot omit the differences that separate 

them from each other. One does not find in the Canadian the in- 
stinctive ferocity of the Indian, most strongly manifest among the 
warlike peoples of the prairie, nor that indolent temperament that 
rendered the Indian unfitted for prolonged effort, even within an 
irregular, ill-disciplined pattern of activity. His temperamental ex- 
citability did not involve the tenacity with which the Indian would 
nurse his resentment until the appropriate moment for revenge.?"* 
It was in fact impossible for him to experience the reactions natural 
to the self-enclosed Indian mentality, for his open and affable 
temperament projected the radically different inclinations of ex- 
trovert natures. The reserve under which the Indian concealed his 
passions was transformed in him into an accessibility and a spon- 
taneous courtesy which David Thompson contrasted with the 
Orkneyman’s rigidity ,?°* and which survived the influence of the 
most desolate environments." Even in the posts that were most 
poorly supplied with trade goods and food, the Canadian would 
always display those qualities of extreme civility which contrasted 
with the harshness and crudeness of western ways.*°? Always ex- 
pansive,** addicted to endless conversation, he would often aban- 
don himself to the excesses of the imagination, whether in telling 
of his own exploits which he wilfully exaggerated, or of the routes 
he had followed and the regions he had travelled.*** Perhaps this 
exuberance of word and attitude concealed a certain timidity ,* 
which became evident in his relations with the Indians of the 
prairie, whose aggressive ferocity he feared.*' Yet this did not 
make him incapable of heroic or even rash acts; he displayed a for- 
titude on perilous journeys or in unknown regions which the 
explorers appreciated,’ and a remarkable control of his feelings in 
the presence of Indians." If he still showed a volatility of temper- 
ament that deprived him of the confidence of the Anglo-Saxons ,*"* 
it never led him into the sudden and repeated shifts of mood 
characteristic of the Indian, nor did it deprive him of a respect for 
contracted engagements” or of the energy needed to carry out the 
tasks he undertook, 

But these differences did not diminish the affinities that brought 
the Canadian close to the Indian. It was natural that, once trans~ 
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planted into the primitive environment which begins at Lake 
Superior, the Canadian from the St. Lawrence should have spon- 
taneously adapted his commercial methods to the psychology of 
the Indians, and that he should have seemed at home among them. 

Knowledge of the Indian Psychology 

To communicate with the Indians, the Canadian possessed first of 
all that incomparable instrument of reconciliation, the mastery of 
native languages. Accustomed from childhood to their intona- 
tions, he acquired the ability to converse in the tongues of the 
western peoples without having, like the Hudson's Bay Com- 
pany’s personnel, to commit himself to sustained study.*"* It is 
true that many of the voyageurs were poorly educated, if not illit- 
erate,*”” and the bourgeois of the forts, if they wanted an employee 
who could read and write, must sometimes turn to the personnel 

of the English company.*"* But the voyageurs’ insights into the 
nature of primitive people, and their lively power of observing the 
country, its resources, and all its manifestations of human life 
made up for their lack of education.*°® They were aware of the In- 
dian’s wavering will-power, of his resistance to continuous effort, 
of the capricious changes of his mind that might be provoked by 
some passing displeasure*" or by the excessive toil involved in the 
task confided to him. They knew that, to avoid his defection for 
such reasons, they must either win his attachment or hold him by 
fear.*!! 

In assimilating themselves to the daily life of the Indian, whose 
dialects they spoke like their own language and whose reactions to 
a certain degree they shared, they usually awoke in him a confi- 
dence which was strengthened by their participation in his warlike 
expeditions; this was the decisive step in which the western 
people, like the [roquois, saw the essential sign of the incorpora- 
tion of the Canadians into their tribes. But they had recourse also 
to intimidation and even violence. Often, by playing on the 
superstitious terrors of the Indians of the woods, they prevented 
them from going to the enemy’s posts. It was this mixture of 
familiarity, confidence, and fear that best assured the Canadian’s 
success with primitive people. The approach succeeded because 
the native saw in the Canadian a man separated from him by no 
profound differences and because he recognized his fearlessness 
and powers of endurance and—perhaps unconsciously —accepted 
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his superiority. With the prairie Indians, who were less inclined to 
bow before others, the recourse to intimidation was no longer ef- 
fective.* But here the Canadian increased his precautions, and, 

while maintaining his customary affability, he treated the Indian 
with respect. If he gradually fell—less from a natural inclination 
than asa result of accelerated competition—into excessive violence 
toward the Indian, or even into a policy of unrestrained duplicity 
(of which examples are fortunately rare),*"* he still knew better 

how to guard himself from the reprisals of his victims than the 
personnel of the Hudson’s Bay Company, who were less aware of 
possible reactions among the native people. Witness the attacks by 
the Gros Ventres, in 1794, on the English and Canadian posts on 
the South Saskatchewan. They ended in the destruction of the 
English post, but failed against the Canadian fort which, despite 
the intimacy that reigned here between the personnel and the local 
Indians, had been well fortified against a surprise attack .*" 

Adept at exploiting the superstitious fears of the Indians of the 
forest, the Canadian also knew how to make use of the general 

credulity of these primitive people, and also of their propensity for 
thieving. He could exploit his talents as a conjuror to convince the 
Indian that he worked miracles and in this way charm his furs 
from him. Sometimes he would leave lying about a few of the 
petty objects which infallibly tempted the Indian, so as to draw 
him into his store and seize his best furs at the moment when he 
was about to take the bait that had been offered him.*!* At other 
times, exploiting the respect which the native people harbored for 
the relics of their dead, the Canadian would carefully preserve the 
bones of one of their relatives to induce them to pay him a visit 
from which his trade would benefit.*" 

To gain the alliance of a chief whose prestige was high among 
the native people could also be a factor in the Canadian’s success. 
He would flatter his vanity by habitually using the title of captain, 
win him over by appropriate presents, and might also confide to 
him, in the presence of his adherents, the defence of their in- 
terests.°!7 But it was rarely that the familiarity and confidence 
which drew him near to the Indian allowed the Canadian to forget 
the latter's natural duplicity, His confidence was never blind. 
When he advanced on credit the goods for which he expected re- 
payment in furs, he was careful to demand pledges,*"* and pre- 

pared, if need be, to seize the furs of his debtor, so that the latter 

should not evade his obligations and profit from the rivalry be- 
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tween companies and posts,*!" He would obey an impulse of 
generosity only if he was sure that it would not result in an exces- 
sively demanding attitude on the Indian’s part.*”” Thus his com- 
mercial methods were adapted to his knowledge of the primitive 
mind; like his extravagant familiarity, they could succeed only be- 
cause he was generally able to control the Indian's reactions and 
did not let himself be duped by the latter’s abrupt changes of at- 
titude, 
Above all, the breadth of his experience was shown in the 

adroitness with which he took advantage of the indolent temper- 
ament of the native people—their tendency to avoid work while 
trying to get the best possible prices which, under the pressure of 
immediate necessities, were generally related to the needs of their 
families.**! To stimulate their energy, the Canadian would freely 
distribute objects of little value to win them over, and did not hesi- 
tate to encourage their love of alcoholic drinks. By his constant 
practice of trading among the Indians directly and by locating his 
posts on their travel routes, he spared them any effort that went 
outside the normal framework of their activity .*** In this situation 
he could trade on his own terms," and limit his choices to the 
most select furs, for which he offered, moreover, terms that were 

often superior to those of the Hudson’s Bay Company.*%* 
All this demonstrated a knowledge of the country and its 

people, whose empiricism made up for the absence of education 
among the majority of Canadians; Daniel Harmon considered it 
their strongest quality. It justified the excesses to which the Cana- 
dian often abandoned himself with the primitive people, and al- 
lowed him to regulate his relations with them on the basis of the 
greatest intimacy. 

Familiarity of Relations 

Of such familiarity the posts in the West offered an early example 
to the employees of the Hudson’s Bay Company. Thanks to the 
informality which reigned in their forts,%* the Canadians talked 
and drank with the Indians, joined in their songs, whose intona- 
tions they incorporated into the voyageur repertoire,**° adopted 
their nonchalant attitudes,*?? and sometimes took advantage of 
their sorcerers’ talents for divination.*** Toward well-known 
chiefs they showed a deference which the Indians did not en- 
counter among the English; they welcomed them to their tables, 
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entertained them in their posts, and offered them lodging as they 
would to one of their own people.*®® Access to their forts was 
freely open to the native people. The Canadians did not worry 
about the consequences that might follow if an Indian got drunk, 
nor did they take offence at his indiscretions.**' 

Matthew Cocking was astounded that Francois le Blanc took no 

precautions even at night against the Indians who were gathered in 
great numbers around his fort; no watch was kept within the post, 

whose rich assortment of merchandise was thus exposed to the 
covetousness of the native people.** It was only in the forts on the 
prairie that the Canadians regarded it as prudent to safeguard 
themselves against the depredations of the nomads. Elsewhere the 
need only arose after several years, when excessive distributions of 
alcohol™* and the bitterness of competition had destroyed the 
confidence of the Indians increased their desire for gain,*** and 
modified the familiarity of earlier relations. 

The Anglo-Saxons haughtily disapproved of the Canadian at- 

titude. Matthew Cocking criticized their chiefs for not maintain- 
ing toward their men or toward the Indians the distance which it 
was the custom to keep in the Hudson’s Bay Company’s posts.*** 
But the imperious and independent temperament of the Indians 
found this absence of protocol more congenial than the reserve 
shown by the officers of the British company. Edward Jarvis rec- 
ognized that in this spontaneous intimacy lay one of the principal 
strengths of the “Quebec traders,’*** and the observations of 

Alexander Henry on the astonishment Indians showed at the 
houses enclosed by palisades fin the Hudson’s Bay Company’s 
forts], and on the violation of their nature involved in restrictions 

on their coming and going freely, which had been their habit since 
childhood,’*” in every way justify the tactics adopted by the Cana- 
dians. 

In the forts thus thrown open to their access, the Indians en- 
countered men who showed little sign of embarrassment at being 
in contact with them. These men were almost “savages” in ap- 
pearance,*** simply dressed in capotes of coarse wool that resem- 
bled the Indians’ own habitual garments; trousers of leather or 
corduroy with, in summer, neither shoes nor stockings, and, in 
winter, moccasins made by the Indians; and finally a shirt of 
striped cotton with long sleeves which in winter was reinforced by 
a vest or wool or leather, drawn in at the waist by a ceinture 

fléchée, a speciality of the weaving shops of Lower Canada.** It 
was a garb of little formality and unlikely to deter a primitive man, 
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for whom it contrasted with the stiffer welcome he received at the 
Hudson's Bay posts.** It is significant to compare the rigid at- 
titude of Alexander Henry, after a long period of contact between 
Anglo-Saxons and Indians, with the ease the Canadian Charles 
Chaboillez showed among the Gros Ventres tribe; the first felt 
only revulsion and did not hide his feelings, and the other behaved 
like the Indians, seated familiarly in their midst, and smoking 
without any sign of repugnance the calumet that circulated from 
mouth to mouth.**! Yet Alexander Henry had spent many years in 
the service of the North West Company among Canadians and 
their Métis descendants. But he never succeeded in overcoming 
the rigidity of his attitude. There is no need to be surprised, in 
such circumstances, that the Hudson’s Bay Company’s personnel 
always appeared as strangers among the Indians. This fact was re- 
marked by Miles Macdonell in 1811, long after the British com- 
pany had established in the interior of Rupert's Land a network of 
posts as close-knit as that of the rival company.** 
Amazed at the intimacy which united the two races, the Hud- 

son’s Bay Company’s men never succeeded in clearly dissociating 
them. If they distinguished the true Frenchmen from both the na- 
tive and the Canadian, they wilfully confused the latter with the 
Indian. For them, the Canadian was embodied in the epithet of 
“coureur de bois” or ‘‘woodrunner,” which they qualified by the 
terms “Franco-Indian"*** or “half-French naturalized Indian.”** 
An exaggerated description no doubt, particularly in that absolute 
form, but not without some justification. Not only, in fact, was 

the Canadian assimilated with the Indian by the community of 
existence and temperament which he offered as an example to the 
Anglo-Saxon, but he had realized already, at a time when his rivals 
still did not dare to cross the threshold of the wilderness, the actual 
fusion of his race with that of the western Indians through the 
widespread practice of mixed unions. 

The Fusion of Races 

As soon as it becomes possible for us to glimpse the various as- 
pects of existence in the country of the West, a familiar tableau be- 
gins to appear on the monotonous trails of the prairie and the 
forest: that of a Canadian going from place to place accompanied 
by his squaw or his Metis children, In 1732, Joseph Adams, the 
governor of Fort Albany, shows us the Canadian Joseph Delestre 
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arriving at his post, followed by his ‘Indian slave woman.’’*° 
When William Tomison undertook his first journey into the in- 
terior, in 1767, he described the pedlar Francois installed with his 

squaw and his child in the middle of a canoe, preceded by a native 
guide who was also transporting his wife and child in his craft.4* 
Dressed like an Indian, imitating the gestures and the appearance 
of primitive folk, this man of mediocre appearance seemed to im- 
pose himself on everybody around him. 

When he set up his tent among the Indians to join them in the 
hunt, when he went in search of provisions needed at his fort, even 
when he joined the personnel of an expedition of discovery, the 
Canadian was generally accompanied by his native spouse.**7 The 
spectacle of trading posts crowded with the wives and children of 
the employees was as familiar as the tableau presented by William 
Tomison.*** But in fact the Indian woman was not merely the 
habitual companion of the Canadian. In the wilderness she was his 
indispensable auxiliary, able if necessary, like the squaw of the 
voyageur Bourassa in the time of La Vérendrye, to save him from 
attack by her own people.*** She alone was capable of carrying out 
in the white man’s service the material tasks to which her rude up- 
bringing had accustomed her since childhood. The role she played 
in relation to the traders in Michilimackinac became broadened in 
the North West. Radisson, and later on La Vérendrye, had in turn 

realized that it was necessary, as the Indians themselves advised, to 
add to their expeditions a certain number of squaws to carry out 
the various tasks for which the men were not trained. Even the 
day-to-day operations of the posts needed the support of their 
skills. 

In July and August the Indian woman went off to pick berries 
and wild fruits, which were greatly appreciated by both Indians 
and voyageurs, who usually incorporated them in the pemmican 
destined to feed the canoe brigades.**° In the spring she extracted 
from the maple and birch trees the sap needed to make the sugar 
the posts consumed in large quantities .**' She excelled especially in 
dressing bison skins, and her patience was not daunted by this 
laborious and tiresome work. When the tanning was done, she 
softened the skin by exposing it to the smoke of a slow fire; then 
she cut it into strips which she used for lacing the bags into which 
she pressed the pemmican until it formed a compact mass.*** After 
that came the work of making snowshoes, of which the posts were 
constantly in short supply, of moccasins, mittens, and leggings, 
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and of gloves which the women laced and stitched with sinews 
neatly extracted from the muscles of elk and moose.*** Such ser- 
vices were particularly valued and only the Indian woman or her 
Métis daughter could carry them out with the necessary compe- 
tence. In their absence, posts were lacking in snowshoes, and the 
bourgeois declared that they could not do without the squaws, if 
only to carry out this relatively small task.*** 

The assistance of the Indian woman was particularly useful in 
the struggle against the Hudson’s Bay Company. With their help, 
the Canadians could intercept the passage of their enemies’ cus- 
tomers and persuade them to give up exchanging their furs at the 
English posts;*** through the intervention of these women they 

were able to provoke desertions among the rival personnel ,*** to 
persuade natives even within the Hudson's Bay forts to pay them 
visits,°°’ and to appropriate without any scruple the carefully con- 
cealed consignments of meat which the Indians had intended for 
their competitors .*** 

Thus, far from opposing unions between their men and Indian 
women, the chiefs of the posts actually encouraged them; they 
themselves would in fact provide the trousseaux for the wed- 
dings.*°* They even set examples by choosing for themselves In- 
dian women who were particularly useful or influential. 

There were yet other functions expected of these wives “‘accord- 
ing to the northern fashion.” They were expected to gather the 
pitch needed for waterproofing roofs,**’ and to prepare the wattap 
needed to join the sheets of bark from which canoes were made,"*! 
To complete such tasks before freeze-up they often worked in 
large groups of thirty or more.**? When the men left the post for 
hunting encampments in the prairie, their squaws accompanied 
them to help in skinning the animals and also to gather the by- 
products that were indispensable for winter provisions.** And if 
the men went on long journeys, the women would follow the 
caravan with the customary mission of setting up the camp, and 
then folding the tents in the early morning and organizing prepara- 
tions for departure while the men still slept.*** Often, also, the task 
of carrying or dragging the baggage was imposed on them; it was 
in stressing the importance of such services that several of the In- 
dian chiefs urged La Vérendrye to recruit a certain number of In- 
dian women for his operations.%** Nevertheless, such usage re- 
mained exceptional on the part of the whites. Accustomed to the 
merciless effort which their society demanded of them, the Indian 
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women found themselves in a privileged position among the 
Canadians, and this situation was not unrelated to the favor with 
which their people regarded alliances with the whites. 

Undoubtedly life with Canadians was not always entirely har- 
monious. There were times when they did not spare their compan- 
ions bad treatment, and then it might happen, at least among the 
Ojibwa, that after quarrels and assaults the Indian woman would 
voluntarily put an end to her days, as she might also do under the 
effect of grief caused by the loss of a child.*®* But if one discounts 
acts of violence provoked by drink, such episodes were too in- 
frequent to diminish the enviable lot which the woman enjoyed in 
her new situation. Once she had become a white man’s compan- 
ion, she ceased to behave like a slave. Even in the prairie, where 
life was less hard for the Indian women and her circumstances less 
inhumane, she appreciated the difference.**’ The Cree chief who 
begged Daniel Harmon, newly arrived in the West, to form an al- 
liance with his daughter, hoped she would find a better life among 
the whites than in her own tribe: ‘My wish is to have my daughter 
with the white people, for she will be treated better by them than 
by her own relatives.””5** 

Without abandoning the live affection she felt for her family, 

and without giving up the habits of endurance she had acquired 
during her training,*®* the woman would go to live in the trading 
posts and reject her origins to the extent of adopting Canadian 
garb.°7* In the farthest zone of the forest, where women were re- 
duced to a state of servitude so degrading that some of them 
would kill their daughters at birth to save them from a life of want 
and suffering,*’! the contrast between the two situations was even 
more evident. James Mackenzie described to us, at Fort Chipe- 
wyan, one of those mixed unions which in practice loosened and 
even overturned the pattern of relations native society had estab- 
lished between man and woman; in this case the woman was 

happy to carry her child, while her Canadian companion willingly 
took care of the enormous bundle of moss which, according to a 
custom that is still respected today, was meant to serve as diapers 
for the infant.” 

It was natural that such concessions, in which the Indian saw the 

man lowering himself to the level of the women, as well as the 
prospect of an easier life to be enjoyed in a trading post, should 
have beguiled the Indian woman and tempted her to abandon 
among white people the inferior status to which her own society 
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reduced her. Profoundly moved by the loss of a child, the Indian 
woman would accept passively the death of the husband of her 
race who had tyrannized her, and would hasten, immediately after 
his disappearance, to contract with some Canadian a union that 
promised her a better existence.” 

Other elements than the certainty of a more easy life made her 
open to such alliances. There was, to begin, the custom of adop- 
tion so widely practised among the Iroquois nations. Examples of 
it were more rare in the West, and, above all, less well known. But 
cases were not lacking of adoptions carried out in circumstances 
identical to those of the first years of penetration: either, as in the 
case of Alexander Henry the Elder," or John Macdonell,*”* to 
make up for the disappearance of a brother or a son, or, as in the 
case of the American mentioned by Daniel Harmon who was kid- 
napped as a child in Illinois by the Ojibwa, to incorporate a new 
clement into the tribe.*’* John Long likewise tells of his own adop- 
tion as a “brother warrior” by the tribes of Lake Superior.*”” 
Among the same peoples Radisson had to lend himself to a cere- 
mony similar to those he had undergone among the Iroquois, and 
the hospitality which the Indian in the West customarily offered to 
traders in his lodge was equivalent, when the white man accepted 

it, to a veritable adoption.*”* The event had less significance than 

among the Iroquois since the adoptee, because of the absence of a 
political rivalry similar to that which existed between France and 
England in the region of the Lakes, did not assume so useful a role 
as a Joncaire or a Maricourt. Nevertheless adoption did form an 
element of reconciliation between the white and the native, and it 
notably favored the alliance of Indian women with the men their 
families had admitted into their ranks. 

The Indian women were also led naturally toward such alliances 
by that extreme ease of behavior which we have observed in native 
society, and which the dissolution of the original culture tended to 
increase year by year. The tribes who were most jealous of their 
independence, and even those who appear like the Blackfoot to 
have retained up to the present a great racial purity, had the cus- 
tom of offering to Europeans, for brief or lasting unions, their 

slaves, their sisters, their daughters, and even their wives.‘ A re- 
fusal could offend them, and sometimes a trader found it prudent 
to allay the eventual consequences by making extra gifts .** 

Prostitution was practised equally freely among the peoples of 
the prairie and those of the forest; among the Assiniboine who had 
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the custom of exchanging their wives among themselves for min- 
imal gains:**' among the confederated tribes, the Blackfoot, 
Bloods, and Piegan, who appeared to have considered it a law of 
hospitality toward strangers and whose importunity Alexander 
Henry the Younger described with contemptuous harshness.** 
Without forming an exception to the rule, the Sarcee showed 
somewhat more modesty than the Blackfoot or the Piegan,*** 
whose customary severity toward their women relaxed abruptly 
in their relations with the whites and gave place to unbridled li- 
cence.*** Yet the Gros Ventres went even farther,*** a few inches 

of tobacco being the price for which they gave their women to the 
Europeans: in such unbelievable looseness of behavior, they equal- 
led the tribes of the Missouri, among whom the Mandans distin- 
guished themselves by an unlimited lewdness.™* The peoples of 
the forest gave in to the same temptations, The Cree particularly 
would rent their women to passing voyageurs for whatever period 
was convenient to them, and those who refused to lend themselves 
to such practices risked the censure of their fellow tribesmen.**” 
The greater modesty of the Chipewyan, for which Samuel Hearne 
had vouched, did not stand up long to their contact with white 
men.*** The Ojibwa appear to have been less eager to allow the 
prostitution of their women.“** But only the small group of 
Beaver Indians completely refrained from that general custom of 
the tribes in the North West.3°° 

For his part, the Canadian was little disposed to follow the 

example of a man like Daniel Harmon who was concerned for the 
duties his upbringing had inculcated, and for a long time evaded 
the invitations that were offered to him.**! On the contrary, being 
always too ready to sacrifice his means and position to the satisfac- 
tion of his passions, he was no less willing than the Indian woman 
to accept the union which she sought.** Thus he came to be in- 
corporated increasingly closely into that native milieu to which his 
way of life and his character had already drawn him, and he was 
glad to accept the kind of union that fitted in with Indian concep- 
tions which were reflected in the custom among the Canadians of 
taking to themselves women whose very youth portended the 
carly loss of any affection they might develop for their partners. 
Alliances with Indian girls of ten to fourteen were usual in the 

North West." Alexander Henry the Younger even mentions an 

extreme case of marriage with a child of eight. The same con- 

ceptions, on a somewhat mitigated scale, were also reflected in the 
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development of a modified kind of polygamy.**” If the Canadian 

had the rank of a bourgeois, or even if he merely occupied a posi- 

tion above the average level of the employees, the natives regarded 

it as an honor if he accepted, according to his rank, a second or a 

third wife; they regarded it, moreover, as indispensable for the 

satisfactory execution of the material tasks incumbent on the In- 

dian woman.*"” 
Often, following the example of the natives but with less discre- 

tion, the Canadian reduced to a simple principle of venality the 
unions he contracted in the country of the West. For voyageurs 
who wished to acquire a companion, the formalities were simple: 
a few presents, some trade goods, and especially alcohol, were 
enough to gain the approbation of the relatives, and the alliance 
was concluded, without the choice of the Indian girl—too young 
in any case to have an opinion—having been taken into account.*”* 
Sometimes a ration of alcohol was enough to gain the parents’ 
consent, *? but the price could be higher. Daniel Harmon cites as if 
it were a fabulous figure the sum of $200 in various articles with 
which his Canadian interpreter bought the Indian woman he de- 
sired.* The bids could go even higher; the Canadian who was 

unable to put up the sum needed to buy a squaw would not hesi- 
tate to give up his freedom by binding himself for an indefinite 
term to the service of a bourgeois who, at such a price, would ad- 

vance whatever was needed.*°! Sometimes a man would acquire 
an Indian woman for one or two horses, which to the native 

people, today as in the past, is the manifest and always appreciated 
sign of wealth.*” 

But the Canadian might have need neither of goods nor of a 
formality of any kind when, learning from the example of the na- 
tives, he found in the practice of slavery a convenient means of 
securing a companion, Not that the Canadians instituted—as 
Matthew Cocking accused them of doing—a regular traffic of 
slaves which they bought in the West for resale in Montreal.*°* But 
they often did acquire among the Indians women who had been 
captured in warlike expeditions, had been reduced to slavery, and 
in this way became their property.“ Such women, however, did 
not fall into the servitude which the term might seem to imply. To 
prevent the slaughter of her husband by the Sioux, the squaw of 
the voyageur Bourassa told them that he had saved her from slav- 
ery and from that time onward had never failed to treat her with 
consideration.” If abuses occasionally occurred and justified the 
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hesitation of some Indian chiefs to entrust their daughters to stran- 
gers,*°* the Canadians in general demanded of the slaves whom 
they bought no more than the customary tasks. Thus they raised 
them to a higher level of existence, except for the fact that, while 
they remained free to dispose of such women at will, they did not 
allow the women a choice of breaking the union that had been im- 
posed upon them. Yet this was not a real sign of inferiority. For 
union with a white man did not always efface the subordinate role 
in which the Indian woman had grown up; if the alliance came to 
an end with the reciprocal agreement of the partners, the woman 
was often less free than the man to announce its rupture, and her 
father would sometimes himself take her back to the Canadian she 
had voluntarily left.*°” 

Such a conception of marriage, reduced to the formality of a 
purchase, was not of the kind that created very solid alliances. In 
any case, when they were concluded it was usually with a tacit un- 
derstanding that limited their duration to the presence of harmony 
among the partners. As soon as disagreement emerged, both of 
them resumed their respective freedoms, without the presents that 
had constituted the price of the purchase being restored to the par- 
ents.‘* [t was easy for the Canadian to marry again, given that in 
their own society the Indians did not admit that marriage could 
survive reciprocal disagreement.‘°® In that law of purchase and 
separation, there was indeed a potentiality for disorder that no- 
thing, in the conditions of life in the West, could neutralize; 

neither the tottering religious convictions of the Canadians who 
took up their engagements in this distant country, nor the fragile 
discipline which was all the bourgeois expected in the trading 
posts, and which left the men, on the level of morals, on untram- 
meled freedom. There are often mentions of odious transactions in 
which Indian woman were taken and exchanged without scruple, 

being sold to the highest bidder,*"® without the chiefs of the posts 

making any effort to halt deals that sometimes offered them the 
unexpected means of recuperating, from debtors who were 
otherwise insolvent, the sums they had advanced to them,*" 

Nowhere in the forts erected by the Canadian companies did there 
exist any official regulation of the licentiousness whose develop- 
ment the tacit or open complicity of the chiefs encouraged, Even 
the Scottish or Anglo-Saxon partners or agents were hardly in- 
terested in formulating moralistic rules. Many of them were as 
free in their ways as the men, and even those among them who 
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lived in an unusually edifying manner imitated their subordinates 
in finding a wife for themselves among the native people. The 
bourgeois appointed to the control of posts in the West—men like 
Charles and Roderick Mackenzie, Alexander Henry, William 
M’Gillivray, and Patrick Small—were untouched by any racial 
bias and were in fact convinced of the advantage their trade and the 
progress of their forts could gain from mixed alliances; it was sel- 
dom than one of them failed to have, like the Canadians, a native 
companion and Métis children.*" It is true that some of them 
adopted an exemplary attitude to their wives ‘tin the Northern 
manner,” and refrained from abandoning their families in the sol- 

itudes of the West, Daniel Harmon himself, shaped in the severe 
school of New England puritanism, overcame the hesitation he 
had first experienced at the thought of introducing his wife, a 
Canadian Métis he had married when she was barely fourteen 
years old, into the civilized society of his homeland, and he treated 
her to the end of his days with the most sincere affection. 

It was not until the year 1806 that the North West Company, 
whose affairs had by then begun to decline, became troubled by 
the excessive cost to its establishments caused by the presence of a 
numerous personnel of women and children. At that time the 
squaws and the Métis families were forbidden to live in the posts. 
Henceforward it would be the responsibility of employees of all 
grades to maintain the native families with which they had en- 
cumbered themselves.‘'* Financial penalties were applied;*" the 
result of this was perhaps to reduce the number of families which 
lived in the posts, but not to hinder the practice of mixed alliances 

against which the rules were not in fact directed,‘ nor to limit the 
disturbances which that custom could engender. Licentiousness 
continued on a considerable scale in the posts of the North West, 
Sometimes, it even provoked the resentment of the native people 
against the excesses of the Canadians. 

If the debauchery to which the latter abandoned themselves 
with the complicity of the Indians aroused no disapproval, if they 
could take advantage with full freedom of the encouragement the 
Cree and the confederated tribes offered them in the hope of easy 
gain or with the thought of enriching their families with white 
offspring,*'® they could still not commit with impunity, against 

the will of the Indians, all the excesses that tempted them. But, 

even before the distributions of alcohol and the deliberate violence 
introduced by the rivalry of the trading companies had become 
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general in the North West,*'” the Canadians seem already to have 
been guilty of brutalities against the native women that merited 
harsh reprisals. Such a situation seems to have given rise to the 
massacre of part of the garrison of Fort Phelipeaux, which the 
French, during the years when they occupied Hudson Bay, erected 
at the mouth of the Nelson River. According to the witness of the 
Indians, the men were certainly not, as Nicolas Jérémie, governor 

of Fort Bourbon, claimed, victims of a passion of destruction pro- 
voked by the famine that was decimating the native people.*!* 

Later on, abuses became even more frequent. The Chipewyan 
were especially victimized, perhaps because of their more timid 
nature or because of the freedom which the violences they com- 
mitted within their tribe seemed to allow the white men. The 
Canadians did not hesitate to carry off their women by main force, 

in defiance of the elementary rights of the relatives, who tried to 

interfere. As a consequence, in the last years of the eighteenth cen- 
tury, according to Philip Turnor, a strong resentment developed 

among the Chipewyan against the personnel of the Canadian 
companies.*'® The spread of alcohol, while it increased the moral 
depravity of the primitive people, at the same time aggravated the 
disturbances that ensued. The code of morality freely accepted in 
their society lost all its effectiveness in an epoch when the tribes of 
the Columbia River, still unaffected by the pernicious action of al- 
coholism, had not yet denied all its principles.*?° For the Cana- 
dians, every excess became possible.*#' 

It was inevitable that this unbridled licence should exact its tri- 
bute in the growing infection by venereal diseases that took 
place.*** Doubtless one cannot attribute to the whites who haunted 
the West, as was done in relation to the Huron country on the 
strength of a text by the Récollet Sagard, the responsibility for the 
introduction of sicknesses which Alexander Henry and Daniel 
Harmon tell us were universally spread among the native tribes of 
the North West at the beginning of the nineteenth century.*** But, 
as prostitution became general, contamination by venereal diseases 
was bound to assume an impetus that was all the more disastrous 
because many of the tribes knew no remedies for it. This seems to 
have been the case with the Cree,*** the Assiniboine,*®® the confed- 

erated tribes,*° and most of all with the Mandans, whose con- 
summate immorality exceeded the licence of all the other 
peoples.” The Saulteaux, who knew how to make use of the 
medical properties of certain plants, suffered less."** As for the 
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Canadians themselves, there is every evidence that they were often 

affected by the same sicknesses. The difficulties they experienced 
in this primitive country of taking proper care of themselves re- 
tarded their cures and aggravated the gravity of their condition." 

Yet an emphasis on this unlimited freedom does not give a full 
view of the kind of relationship that developed between the 
groups we have been considering. The observers who have left us 
their pictures of the manner of life in that early epoch have espe- 
cially retained in their memories the episodes that caught their at- 
tention or provoked their indignation, at the cost of neglecting the 
more humble and habitual events of an existence that was not 
wholly dominated by excess. Many Canadians became sincerely 
attached to the squaws who shared their lives and their work, and 
the latter’s more privileged condition constituted a guarantee of 
their fidelity.**° It is not uncommon for the Indian woman to wait 
patiently in the company of her relatives for the return of the 
Canadian who was called upon, during the summer months, to 
undertake the journey to Fort William or Grand Portage.**! Some- 
times one is made aware of the joy which a Canadian felt on leav- 
ing the trading post to take up his life among the Indian lodges 
where his wife waited for him.**? Some of them showed toward 
their native spouses an attachment whose intensity*** could lead 
them into acts of intemperate jealousy.*** And when Alexander 
Henry enumerated the Canadian employees who set up house 
around his Fort Vermilion, he gave us the impression of men liy- 
ing in excellent harmony with their wives and children and carry- 
ing out peacefully their daily tasks.*** Most of the Canadians, 
moreover, were provided with families too numerous for the af- 
fection they bore toward their children to be anything other than a 
guarantee of the solidity of the household, Married to a white 
man, the Indian woman felt the same attachment to her Métis 
children as she would have shown within the tribe to her indigen- 
ous progeny: in such depth of feeling there existed a link strong 
enough to prevent the breakups that happened so often in unions 
based merely on venal considerations. Unconsciously the Cana- 
dian who prolonged his stay in the West allowed himself to be 
dominated by the affection which a life in common and the crea- 
tion of a family established, and if the disorders that tainted the 
relations of the two peoples played a great part in the birth of the 
Métis race, at least as important an element was contributed by 
such regular and well-cemented alliances. Why should not the 
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Canadian be attached to his Métis spouse in the same way as he 
might be attached to a woman of his own race, particularly in a 
country where only the Indian woman could endure the rigors of 
existence,*** and at a period when white women were not yet rep- 
resented in the West? And how can we explain, if the relations be~ 
tween the two societies amounted only to the excesses we have 
been describing, that the Indians—even the most ill treated among 
them—should have felt toward the Canadians that attachment and 
confidence which George Simpson would note with astonishment 
and which proceeded from the genuine assimilation of the two 
groups. 

At the same time, if we discount the temporary employees who 
went back to Lower Canada after a few years without the expecta- 
tion of returning, the Canadians developed for this land of the 
West where they had established their families an attachment that 
could not develop in alliances without a future. Their unions with 
the native women were in reality the beginning of an increasingly 
close fusion between the two races of which the almost unavoida- 
ble consequence was that the Canadians were drawn rapidly to- 
ward the primitive way of existence. In spite of the various and 
well-sustained ties that they retained with Lower Canada, such 

Canadians were exposed to this process by the nature of their 
employment, which too often called them to the wandering life of 
direct trade with the Indians or to the nomadism of the buffalo 

hunt, since many of them were occupied with pursuing the ani- 
mals needed for provisioning the trading forts.*"’ During the 
winter months, when the bourgeois called on his men to resort to 
the prairie so as to avoid an excess of personnel during the slack 
season, the life of the Canadian, accompanied by his squaw and his 
Métis children, became similar in every respect to that of the na- 
tive people. The families gathered in their conical teepees, where 
they formed groups of ten to fifteen people, leading during the 
winter months a life of abundance or scarcity according to the luck 
of the hunt on which they depended.*** Sometimes they returned 
to the fort, even though it might be several days’ march away. 
More often, they stayed away from it among the Indian groups— 
also occupied in hunting the buffalo—who would visit their 
lodges; sometimes they even organized common hunting expedi- 
tions with them. Returning to the post, where various tasks had to 
be completed before the brigades departed for Lake Superior, the 

Canadians found themselves once again in a native milieu, for 
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many Indians were then attracted to the fort, some to carry out 
their habitual fur trading, and others to await—from the generos- 
ity of the whites—the subsistence which, in old age, men without 
families were unable to obtain for themselves.**" Add the women 
and children whose husbands were away on war parties, and the 
numerous Indians who came to visit their relatives living with 
Canadians,“ and it will be evident that contact with the natives 
was an everyday event in the life of the employees. 
Of the sedentary agrarian economy they knew no more than the 

meagre gardens which were cultivated around the posts and occa- 
sional tasks, like haymaking, that recalled those of the St. Law- 
rence farmer.**? These occupations of short duration weighed lit- 
tle, in the balance of their lives, against the operations of traffick- 
ing and hunting. Contact with Lower Canada was renewed only 
on a few days in the year when, from the different sectors of the 

North West, the men found their way to the shores of Lake 

Superior and met once again the “pork-eaters’” who had come 
from the St. Lawrence with their cargoes of merchandise. This 
was a time for the awakening of memories that would be just as 
quickly obliterated. It was a time when the moral union with 
Lower Canada was re-established—a union that would not last. 
Other links now attached the men to the primitive country, and if 
some of them remained indifferent to it, many, on the other hand, 
renounced the hope of returning to Lower Canada, whose life had 
become alien to them, and abandoned service in the trading posts 

to establish themselves in the solitudes where they finally merged 
into the native society. 

THE FREEMEN 

From among these individuals who henceforward were dedicated 
to the primitive existence, a new class of men emerged in the West 
which, under the name of “gens libres,” “hommes libres,” or 
“freemen,” established between white and native the last and most 
complete link in their unification. Nearer to the Indian than to the 
employee in the post, more intimately associated with his nomadic 
ways, the freeman let himself be absorbed irrevocably into the 

country where the voyageurs were often content with temporary 
tesidence. He even developed confused aspirations of local pat- 
riotism of which the first settlers in Manitoba would soon experi- 
ence the effects. To the regions in which he wandered, surviving 
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by his own resources, independent of the trading companies, he 
was not attached merely by the modalities of his existence, but 
also by the Métis family he had created, by the blood relationships 
that united him with the native tribes, and finally by the nature of 
the country whose majestic spaces or wooded horizons he had 
come to love. 

Origins 

The origins of this class of men are as old as those of French pene- 
tration, for, to judge from the ease with which the coureurs de 
bois established themselves in primitive settings, it is logical to 
suppose that isolated individuals —of whom Louis Primeau serves 
as an example—found their place quite early on among the native 
peoples. If Primeau was eventually repelled by the excessive suf- 
ferings which the primitive life involved, others appeared to have 
endured it more valiantly. The observations recorded here and 
there in the narratives of employees of the Hudson’s Bay Com- 
pany reveal the presence among the Indians of a few Canadians 
who, by deliberate intent or under the spur of personal resent- 
ment, had abandoned their masters to adopt the native way of liv- 
ing. This would lead us to believe that the phenomenon first oc- 
curred during the French regime, certainly by its last years, and 
probably in the middle of the eighteenth century.** We need not 
go back as far as La Vérendrye, for his detailed narrative would 
have mentioned such cases of desertion if they had occurred. Nor 
need we accept the sweeping assertions of certain officers of the 
Hudson’s Bay Company that a great number of Canadians put 
down roots at an early date in the vast spaces of the West merely 
because of their propensity to surrender to the lure of the native 
peoples’ nomad existence.*” 

All the evidence shows that the phenomenon could not have 
existed to any great extent until the trading companies had intro- 
duced into the West a personnel of employees numerous enough to 
disseminate, on an appreciable scale, the custom of mixed mar- 

riages and thus create the Métis family as the essential factor of at- 
tachment to the primitive setting. Thus, in the years following the 
conquest of Canada by England, we begin to witness clear breaks 

with their pasts in Lower Canada on the part of a fair number of 
such employees who, after leaving the St. Lawrence with every 
intention of returning there, soon lost the memory of their home- 
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land.** A few letters from the relatives they had left behind fol- 
lowed them at long intervals to Grand Portage or Fort William. 
But in the isolation of their new existence they regressed so far 
into illiteracy that they could no longer understand the meaning of 
these communications.” While this process of separation went 
on, the West enchanted and captured them, The instinct of free- 
dom that had propelled them toward the career of voyageur de- 
veloped vigorously in this setting, where the resources of the land 
were available to them without any limitation, and they experi- 
enced something approaching a feeling of sovereignty over these 
spaces that they traversed without any challenge to their enjoy- 
ment of them. Others hesitated to return to Lower Canada, fearful 
of the disapproval they would incur because of their long absence 
and the bonds they had formed with native spouses.*** Yet others, 
who had deserted their company or their bourgeois in defiance of 
the contracts of engagement they had signed, had no other place of 
refuge than the country of the West. Sometimes, in such cir- 

cumstances, they would leave the Mississippi region where their 
contract should have kept them and seek asylum in the Canadian 
West. Sometimes they would migrate in the reverse direction, and 
seck refuge in the plains of the Mississippi, where the possibilities 
of subsistence were not lacking,**”7 and where the possibility of 
trading with the Mandan would favor their escape.** 

But most of these freemen were employees who could not make 
up their minds to leave their families and so, at the end of their 
contracts, stayed on with their children.**° In 1789, William Tomi- 

son traded with two such men, near the territory of the confeder- 
ated tribes, for a stock of pelts and buffalo meat, Although they 
had only recently left the service of their bourgeois, they preferred 
to trade their furs at York Factory.*"” The dissolution of the XY 
Company appears to have led to a considerable disbanding of per- 
sonnel, which appreciably increased the number of freemen living 
in the West. Alexander Henry remarked on the appearance of such 
men beside the Pembina River in 1805, and complained of their 
turbulent character.**! The North West Company in turn released 
many of its employees, either at the end of their contracts or when 
their infirmities made them no longer useful.*** But to forestall 
their defection to the Hudson's Bay Company*"* and to prevent 
them from setting up as competitors to their former masters, it did 
not grant them complete freedom. Alexander Henry, in the same 
way, avoided the formal liberation of his men in the country of the 
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West.*** But the Canadians who were released in this way from 
service in the posts in fact enjoyed little less than total indepen- 
dence,**® since the few restrictions imposed on them were more 
apparent than real. The freed men in fact arranged their lives as it 
pleased them, sometimes entering a new and temporary arrange- 
ment with their former bourgeois and at other times preferring to 
hunt big game or fur-bearing animals. 

The Freemen’s Occupations 

Once he was set free, the employee usually devoted himself to 
hunting, in which he was at least as skilful as the Indians. Here and 

there on the prairie groups of two or three freemen, with or with- 
out their families, installed themselves in their teepees, like the 
employees who wintered in the prairie, and hunted the large ani- 
mals that provided their food.*** Around the confluence of the Red 
River and the Assiniboine they gathered in larger numbers to live 
on the resources they found in the wilds; when these were insuffi- 
cient, they offered their services to the Hudson’s Bay Company’s 
staff.**” Many of them spent months on end in isolation, far re- 
moved from all human contact, and gathered rich stores of furs 
which they would take to exchange in the forts of their former 
bourgeois .*™* 

Everywhere, from the Red River to the Peace, they scattered in 

search of beaver or bison,*** or erected dams in the prairie water- 

ways that in the spring enabled them to capture the sturgeon mig- 
rating from Lake Winnipeg.**’ Sometimes they mingled with in- 
dependent traders, unconnected with the companies, who had suf- 

fered setbacks and took to hunting animals themselves and ex- 
changing their pelts at the trading posts.*” 

Conceived and practised in this way, the activities of the 

freeman could become a source of profit for the post from which 
he had been liberated, all the more to be appreciated because the 
Canadian hunted his animals with a discrimination which the In- 
dians did not equal.*® In fact, the custom spread of confiding to 
the freemen the task of procuring the provisions that the trading 
post needed for its subsistence,*** and according to the officers at 
Edmonton it was these freemen who assured to the North West 
Company its most abundant supplies of furs. 

Yet this was by no means the sum of their occupations. A cer- 
tain number of them appear as minor traffickers who cleverly 
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exploited the caravans of various kinds that passed through the 
country. These were the “petty traders” whom Alexander Henry 
never ceased disparaging. Some set up their booths along the 
brigade routes, and traded their merchandise for the winterers’ 

possessions. They baked bread for the passing voyageurs in im- 
provised ovens and accepted payment in buffalo robes or leather 
garments." They operated taverns or restaurants where the fare 
was similarly priced.*”° They prepared slabs of bark and resin with 
which the voyageurs could repair the rents in their canoes,**’ and 
dug up at the sources of the Carrot River the salt with which the 
brigades supplied themselves before reaching the interior regions 
where it was lacking.*** They offered travellers the sugar they had 
made from the sap of maple and birch.*®® They traded the horses 
which they had raised or bought from the Indians, and in ex- 
change they received merchandise that would allow them to carry 
on a grassroots trade in furs whose products they could sell at a 
profit to the nearest post.*”” They would ask the bourgeois for 
temporary engagements that would allow them to increase their 
modest means, and for this purpose several of them would always 
be following the convoys in their bark canoes, in the hope that 
their services would be accepted.*”! 

Others, who were more enterprising, took on the role of inter- 

mediaries between the Canadian posts and the native tribes of the 
Missouri: well supplied with trade goods which they obtained 
from the forts, they would travel among these people, buying up 
horses, buffalo robes, and pelts, which they would afterwards bar- 

ter at the trading posts, gaining a profit from such deals that would 
enable them to increase their stock of merchandise. A typical 
example was the Canadian René Jusseaume; accepted by the Man- 
dans after long residence among them, he carried on a regular 
traffic between the posts of the North West or Hudson’s Bay 
Company and the villages of this sedentary tribe on the Mis- 
souri.47* 

Some of the freemen arrogated to themselves the complete 
exploitation of a district in the prairie or the parkland. Lakes or 
rapids provided them with fish, while the wooded banks offered 
them game or fur. In 1814, on the verge of Lake Winnipeg at the 
point where the Saskatchewan breaks into its celebrated rapids, 
Gabriel Franchére found an old Canadian who, in token of the 

sovereignty he claimed over the sturgeon fisheries, called himself 
“king of the lake.’’*”* On the shores of Deer Lake, surrounded by a 
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forest of conifers, the family of the freeman Antoine Desjarlais 

exploited on its own the profusion of resources which—in that 
area which in our days has become so desolate—the diversity of 
fish, the abundance of water birds and their eggs, and the wealth 
of beaver assured them at all seasons of the year.‘”* It was the true 
example of the simple and happy life, satisfied, like that of primi- 
tive man, with resources offered by a nature that seemed inexhaus- 
tible; its anachronistic image would be transmitted to the Metis 
descendants of these former masters of the West. 

When the animals had been exhausted in an area which they had 
hitherto frequented, the groups of freemen would undertake verit- 
able hunting expeditions that led them to districts which were still 
unspoilt. Already, in the early years of the nineteenth century, 
scarcity began to appear in the country of the West.‘”* Only 
Athabasca offered a real wealth of resources, and in consequence 
an appreciable number of freemen abandoned the environs of Lake 
Winnipeg to betake themselves to this last refuge of the fur- 
bearing animals.*”* Some of them would spend the winter at Red 
River, then travel to the most distant sites in the Edmonton region 
and around the Paint River in the foothills of the Rocky Moun- 
tains, where they searched for beaver. In one of these groups, in 
1808, was to be found one of the most famous of these freemen, 
J.-B. Lagimodiére, accompanied by the first Canadian woman 
who appeared in the spaces of the North West, Marie-Anne 
Gaboury, Not wishing to impose on her the difficulties of the 
hunter’s existence, he confided her that year to the commandant of 
Fort Edmonton, James Bird, who agreed to give her shelter while 

she awaited her husband's return.‘”? Thus, as soon as the first exp- 
lorations had traced the road, the freemen were looking toward 
the Pacific slopes of the Rocky Mountains, where they glimpsed 
great wealth to be exploited,*”* and where many of them were al- 
ready establishing their winter camps.*7° 

A more or less pronounced form of nomadism thus remained 
the habitual life-style of these freemen. Most of them, exclusively 
occupied with hunting, were forced to move constantly and to 
seek out temporary places of residence which they would occupy 
until the game disappeared.**" Helped by their families, they knew 
no other activity, in the encampments they formed on the prairie, 
but hunting the buffalo. During winter they would erect before 
their tents a wooden scaffold on which they accumulated the meat 
of the slaughtered animals. Inside the teepees, around a central 
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hearth whose fire emitted a bitter smoke that curdled into a low 
cloud, haunches of meat would be roasting on wooden spits, 
while other cuts, suspended from a conical framework of in- 
tertwined branches, would be slowly drying and preparing the 
provisions to serve as food during the summer. As soon as they 
had slaughtered an animal, the men would hasten to skin the 

“robe” which would serve them instead of a blanket, and to cut up 
the carcass before the cold could freeze the flesh into axe-breaking 
hardness. The fat was immediately buried in the snow, the quar- 
ters of meat were disposed of on the scaffold, and the skins not 
used as blankets were cut into strips meant for use as rope and har- 
ness, which the women gave the necessary suppleness by soaking 
them in warm water and stretching them tightly between two 
trees until they had completely dried.**' Once the animals in the 
area were hunted out, the families abandoned the camp they had 
set up and went in search of them into new territories. 
Among these freemen there were some indeed whose adapta- 

tion to the native life was not decisive enough to have stifled all 
notions of a sedentary economy. In places that were more favora- 
ble to cultivation, such as the junction of the Red River and the 

Assiniboine, where several families seem to have settled by the end 

of the eighteenth century ,*** or the areas surrounding trading posts 
such as Fort William,**’ they organized little agricultural com- 
munities, whose activities are recalled in the primitive gardens 
around Métis settlements which today form one of the most fami 
iar images of the West. The potato was the basic element in such 
cultivation.*** It completed a diet that was essentially composed of 
game, since in the last resort hunting remained the principal activ- 
ity of all the freemen, whether they formed themselves into little 
agrarian communities or accepted the completely nomadic life. 

The First Settlements 

In these communities, which were given a certain stability by the 
rudimentary agriculture they practised, we glimpse the birth of 
the first freemen’s settlements. Apart from the concentrations 
around Fort William and at the junction of the Assiniboine and the 
Red, there was a steady flow of freemen into the valley of the latter 
river; game and fish were not lacking there, the soil lent itself to 

cultivation, and in its marshy areas produced the forage which the 
freemen used, following the example of the North West Com~- 
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pany, to nourish the horses they had formed the habit of rear- 
ing.**® In 1814 their numbers, including women and children, had 
reached 200 souls.**° 
A similar concentration of freemen assembled near the conflu- 

ence of the Pembina River, The Canadians were drawn to this spot 
by the abundance of animals that inhabited the neighboring hills. 
On the Pembina River in 1807 Alexander Henry counted forty- 
five of them, many accompanied by their families, and along the 
Hair Hills, a short distance from the Red River, he noted several 
groups of them established near the habitual gathering points of 
the buffalo herds; here they put up their first dwellings in 1801— 
2.**7 All of these were semi-nomad encampments, well provided 

with the horses needed for hunting the buffalo. The men were 
often away in search of food, and the women and children were 

left to protect the animals and their other possessions in a region 
where the terrible attacks of the Sioux were always to be feared. 
During the summer these various groups, who lived scattered in 
the rich hunting grounds of Pembina Mountain, gathered at Alex- 
ander Henry’s fort at the junction of the Pembina and Red rivers: 
they brought with them the carcasses of the animals they had kil- 
led, which were used for the fort’s subsistence and for the prepara- 
tion of pemmican.*#8 

Shortly afterward they settled at the fork of the two rivers, 
where they set up their log shacks which from this time formed 
the nucleus of the Pembina settlement, one of the Métis centres of 
population most dominated by prairie ways. In the wooded zone 
on the edge of the Red River parkland, on the enclaves of fertile 
soil that fringed the shores of Rainy Lake, a little colony of 
freemen was similarly installed in 1817, Apart from the wild rice 
that grew in the marshy bays, which they gathered by the same 
methods as the Indians, they exploited the migrations of the stur- 
geon, cultivated a few wheat fields of no great size, and raised the 
inevitable crops of potatoes."*” At the other extremity of the park- 
land, where important Métis villages survive to this day, derived 
from the groups of freemen who first came together around the 
watering points, the emergence of the earlier embryonic settle- 
ments was hardly perceptible at the beginning of the nineteenth 
century. There certainly existed, in the neighborhood of Edmon- 
ton, a considerable population of Canadians, liberated employ- 
ees,*"° but they had not yet come together in definite concentra- 
tions, and it is hardly possible to interpret in terms of settlement 
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the presence of a few isolated freemen around the posts at Lac la 
Biche, Lac Sainte-Anne, or Lesser Slave Lake, where they do not 
appear to have established any kind of stable life.** 

The dwellings these freemen began to erect were invariably 
constructed of logs or roughly squared and caulked planks covered 
with a bark roof, plastered with a whitish clay that made them 
look neat, and lit, like the more modest trading posts, by small 

windows protected with scraps of skin which had been turned into 
parchment by prolonged exposure to the slow smoke of a wood 
fire.*%* 

Association with the Native People 

It is not surprising that Alexander Henry should have felt con- 
cerned over the formation of this class of men who were more 
nomad than sedentary. Apart from the competition it was likely to 
offer the organization he represented, he doubtless feared the dis- 
orderly behavior which many of the freemen developed in an exis- 
tence that in the end always propelled them in the direction of na- 
tive society. When such men were reduced to living in isolation or 
in contact only with primitive people, their habits tended to copy 
those of the Indians too faithfully for them not to experience the 
same kind of reactions to existence. On those who hunted in the 
company of the native tribes**’ and were content to appear at the 
posts only after long intervals with the furs they wished to trade 
for merchandise,* the influence of white society was too remote 

to prevent their falling to the level of the Indians. 
Their existence was dominated by the same irregularities as that 

of the Indians, and, even more than the employees who were ex- 
posed to it only occasionally, they suffered an alternation of abun- 
dance and scarcity. This was particularly so in the remoter areas of 
the Shield where, as easily as the Indians, the freeman who hunted 

beaver could succumb to an excess of privations.*"* Whenever 
game abounded, they fell into the habit of wasting it like the In- 
dians. If they went in for raising horses, it was in ways directly 
imitated from the Indians, who did not take the trouble either to 
provide nourishment for their animals or to prolong their lives or 
improve their performance by protecting them from injuries or 
bad treatment. When he arrived at Red River, Alexander Henry 

described this primitive way of rearing. Merely hobbled, the 
half-wild horses grazed the prairie pasture. To find grass in the 
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winter they had to break the ice that covered the ground. Their 
badly-made saddles galled them without the Indians or the 
freemen showing any concern; with their usual indifference they 
rode their horses in this condition, and paid no attention to the 
exhaustion resulting from the pain which the animals endured.*°° 
On their journeys the Indian travois either took the place of or was 
used as well as the prairie cart, that two-wheeled vehicle roughly 
assembled without the use of metal, which made its appearance in 
1803 in the Red River region.” Alexander watched one of these 
parties of freemen who had piled their possessions on to travois 
and carts, and, followed by their women burdened with infants, 

were smoking their calumets with the impassive reserve of the na- 
tive people; he compared them to a procession of Assiniboine 
crossing the prairie.“°* 

From the Indians they also borrowed their habits of marauding 
and pillaging. It was logical that this tendency should be man- 
ifested early on among the kind of employees who deserted the 
service of their masters and had no scruples about deliberately 
breaking their contracts of engagement. From the end of the 
eighteenth century, the Hudson’s Bay Company’s journals contain 
many allusions to these vagabonds always on the lookout for op- 
portunities to make raids on the herds or the merchandise of the 
trading posts. ‘““The Canadians which we meet below was not 
good men that they run away from their masters in the Mississippi 
River and take some goods from their Masters & went to the Mis~ 
sissippi River & now lives like Indians among them.’***° 

But the duplicity of the Indian and his propensity for thieving 
appeared even among those whose links with the trading com- 
panies had been broken in a regular way but who had been affected 
by several years of life shared with the Indians. Indeed, these ten- 
dencies seem to have been exaggerated among them so that they 
behaved toward the whites with an insolence and a cynicism en- 
couraged by their greater familiarity with Europeans and a lack of 
uncertainty in their presence.° Alexander Henry condemned 
their ignorance of all principles of “honour and honesty,” and re- 
proached them with having done more harm in the prairies than 
the Blackfoot.°”! For its part, the journal of Brandon House ac- 
cused them of resorting too often to the practice current among 
the native people of taking goods on credit in one post and reserv- 
ing for a rival trader the skins they should have provided in settle- 
ment of their advances.°* 
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In fact, when the freemen could be seen selling the favors of 

their native wives to the Hudson's Bay Company’s employees for 
supplies of meat,°"* when like the Indians they mutilated the 
women who had deceived them,*" one is obliged to admit that 

this class of vagabonds, whom Alexander Henry derisively called 
“the meadow gentry,” were different in no way from the Indians. 
Once detached from the occupations of the trading posts, whose 
regularity imposed on them a certain habit of work, the freemen 
largely abandoned themselves to the fatalistic indolence of primi- 
tive man. They accepted privations passively; thanks to the horses 
that transported their goods and enabled them to overtake large 
animals with ease, they avoided excessively arduous effort;°” if 

their needs were not pressing, they abandoned themselves to in- 
terminable gambling and talk in their lodges or their log shacks; 
they showed little inclination toward the energy of the Canadian 
voyageurs, which seemed to evaporate in this setting.*"* The 
example of René Jusseaume, sharing the life of the Mandans, leav- 
ing his Métis children to the influence of their Indian mother, shar- 
ing her superstitions, adopting the Mandan habits of duplicity and 
devoting them to important and insignificant matters alike, reveals 
the extent of the regression which the Canadians underwent if 
they were limited to the company of primitive men,.°” To them 
one can apply the severe judgment W. J. Snelling made of the 
freemen: “‘It would seem ... that ten civilized men degenerate 
into barbarism, where one savage is reclaimed from it. Metaphysi- 
cians may speculate upon such a propensity as long and as much as 
they please . . . but the fact is thus, and it is believed, always will 
be.'7508 

But one must be careful not to confound under a simple descrip- 
tion all the individuals who composed the class of freemen, and 

identify them without distinction with that type of vagabond hu- 
manity whose regression toward primitive societies was as com- 
plete as that of the poor whites in the Union of South Africa. In 
the country of the West, there existed a series of gradations among 
the freemen, from the inferior group of marauders against whose 
depredations the posts tried to protect themselves, to those who 
kept up more sustained relations with the trading posts, whether 
they accepted temporary engagements in their service, co- 
operated with them in active fur trading, or took charge of provid- 
ing buffalo meat. 

Between these two extremes one can place the petty traders who 



The Southern Nucleus 275 

set up along the routes of the convoys; those who, provided with a 
few Red River carts, organized transport enterprises in the interest 
of the trading posts,®®* and among whom one finds former chiefs 
of posts who had decided to stay in the West;"! and the families 

who established themselves in areas well provided with natural re- 
sources and lived withdrawn existences in a peaceful atmosphere, 
with no other ambition than to tend to their immediate needs,*” 
but without declining to the level of the primitive. In spite of the 
scantiness of their contacts with white society, which may be con- 
sidered the first step toward adaptation to the native society, many 
such families manifested the same qualities of harmony and hon- 
esty as the rural classes of Lower Canada, except that they were 
even more heedless. Their qualities of cordial amiability, their 
taste for conversation and jesting, their courteous way of welcom- 
ing strangers, whom they immediately greeted with songs from 
Lower Canada, beguiled John McNab when in 1816 he experi- 
enced the hospitality of one of these families of buffalo hunters liv- 
ing simply in its lodge deep in the prairies of the Assiniboine.*'* 
The freeman Lagimodiere offers an equally good example of one 
of these honest families whose sincere attachment to the customs 
and religion of Quebec, sustained by the presence of a mother re- 
cently arrived from the St. Lawrence, kept them closer to the 
whites. Even among those who shared the existence of the Indians 
and made habitual companions out of these primitive people, there 
were some who refused to give in completely to their freedom of 
behavior and risked their lives for the scruples they had about al- 
lowing their children to be dishonored.*!* 

Between these individuals and the class of vagabonds who lost 
all sense of personal dignity when they came into contact with the 
Indians, there was nothing in common but a denomination. 
Generous, far removed from any thought of egotism, they were 
always ready to help each other, and, like the Indians, they freely 
welcomed into their abodes the wives and children of those who 
were absent, Groups of twenty or twenty-two people might be 
gathered under a single roof, in a heterogenous kind of mingling 
of which, even today, the Métis families have not lost the tradi- 
tion.*"* In the same spirit, Gabriel Franchere describes the freeman 
Nadeau, himself weakened by several days of hunger, offering to 
share with strangers the game to which an unexpected stroke of 
good fortune had led him.*" 

At the highest level, the freemen who kept up regular contact 
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with the posts showed a degree of activity which was still close to 
that of the voyageur. Not that they were capable of as much 
energy, or obeyed the same feelings of emulation and pride, but 
they raised themselves clearly above the native people by the 
greater enterprise and activity they devoted to their occupations 
and by the ambition that animated them. The laziness of the In- 
dians, the indifference to personal gain that neutralized in them all 

will for action—and which also manifested itself among the in- 
ferior kind of freemen—had not extended their effects to those 
who supplied game or furs to the trading posts. More motivated 
than the Indians, desirous of satisfying the inherent needs of more 
evolved societies, they generated an energy that it would have 
been vain to expect of primitive men.*'® They excelled over the 
Indians not only in the zeal they displayed but also in the punctual- 
ity with which they carried out their instructions.*!” 

This fact is verified constantly in the journals of the Hudson’s 
Bay Company. These grant such freemen the merit of putting 
more energy into their search for fur-bearing animals,*'* and of 
avoiding the idleness that prevented the nomads of the prairie, 
whose material needs were all provided by the bison, from re- 
sponding to the requests for victualling which the chiefs of the 
posts urged them to fulfil.*!® The richest consignments of furs that 
reached the Canadian posts were the outcome of hunting by this 
class of freemen, and the most reliable provisioning was the result 
of their activity. It was to them or to their sons that the North 
West Company confided the responsibility of carrying out in the 
Rockies the hunting that the Indians there refused to undertake.”?” 
Some of them appear even to have been animated with a certain 
sense of economy and these planned eventually to use the small 
capital they accumulated to establish themselves in the Red River 
colony.??! 

Must we conclude that these groups who occupied the upper 
level of the class of freemen escaped the dissolvent action of associ- 
ation with native society? In reality, none of them was completely 
exempt from it. All underwent its effects, in varying degrees, but 
in every case more so than the employees in the trading posts. It 
was among them that Canadians came closest to Indians in the 
way they reacted to existence. Permanent contact with a primitive 
environment, and the carclessness and freedom of the nomad life 
created the most immediate repercussions. When Miles Macdonell 
undertook to convert the freemen to the sedentary life of farming, 
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he soon gave up the hope he had first entertained of attracting 
them in large numbers to Lord Selkirk’s colony, “They have fol- 
lowed so long the Indian manner of living that it will not be an 
easy matter to wean them from it.’’** The links that the 

employees still retained with white society were broken or 
weakened in the group of freemen, whose various categories, 
whether or not they completely renounced their original culture, 
imitated more faithfully the customs and the outlook of primitive 
man. 

THE BENEFITS AND DRAWBACKS OF ASSIMILATION 

Thus, more than any other race, the French Canadians were des- 
tined to become assimilated into the indigenous populations of the 
West. Here one can find the special character of that nucleus of 
interbreeding—deriving directly from the French-Canadian 
population—which developed around the southern routes of 
penetration. In that fact of assimilation appeared the principal 
strength of the men of Lower Canada among the primitive tribes 
of the North West. The same element was correspondingly lack~ 
ing in the relations of the Hudson's Bay Company’s personnel 
with the native people. Assimilation explains the sincerity of the 
attachment which, even under the domination of the British com- 

pany, the Indians continued to show toward the Canadians, de- 
spite the excesses of which the latter had been guilty toward them. 

But it cannot be denied that the Canadians, and especially the 
freemen, paid certain penalties for the benefits which assimilation 
brought to them in terms of their relations with the primitive 
tribes and the profit their commercial relations derived from it. 

Here we face a situation similar to that in which, during the first 
years of penetration, their excessive intimacy with the Indians 
placed the coureurs de bois. 

In identifying themselves with the native peoples and making 
nomadism the rule of their existence, the freemen found them- 

selves exposed, even more directly than the personnel of the posts, 
to the depredations which the nomad peoples were in the habit of 
carrying out, either to their reciprocal disadvantage, or to the det- 
riment of strangers who ventured into the prairie. The personal 
possessions of such people, however meagre they might be, were 
coveted by the Indians, who did not hesitate to rob them as they 
robbed people of their own race,*** and who would go to the ex- 
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tent of slaughtering them in order to seize their goods.?** The 
horses they kept were particularly tempting to the native tribes,**° 
and conflicts often broke out between freemen and Indians, pro- 

voked by thefts that could originate equally with one or the other 
side.°?6 

At the same time, quarrels between the tribes unavoidably led 
the freemen to side with one or other of the rival clans. Because of 
the alliances they had formed with these groups, they often had 
relatives or friends among the Indians who, in the course of war- 
like adventures, succumbed to their adversaries,"*” and at such 
times the freemen associated themselves with the resentment of 
the families with whom they were allied, The mere fact of marry- 
ing an Indian woman belonging to a certain tribe might involve a 
freeman in enmity with a rival tribe,"** as a kind of counterpart to 

the security which his spouse had brought him within her own 
tribe. Furthermore, the very fact of sharing the Indians’ way of life 
exposed him to the frequent attacks of the war parties that roamed 
the prairie, and it was not uncommon for a freeman, or even an 

employee of one of the forts, to be killed in an ambush intended 
for the group with which he was travelling.** Such attacks were 
especially frequent on the verges of American territory, for 
freemen related to tribes from Canadian territory were as much 
the objects of Sioux hatred as the Ojibwa or the Assiniboine.**” 

Certainly the history of penetration shows quite clearly that 
Canadians had all too great an inclination to become involved in 
the conflicts dividing the Indians, either through unhesitating per- 
sonal involvement or through the distribution of firearms which 
encouraged the aggressiveness of one tribe against another.** The 
continued delivery of muskets to the Indians by the trading posts 
could only heighten the dissensions that divided the prairie tribes, 
and it risked arousing against the employees of one post the 
animosity of a tribe that drew on the resources of a competing es- 
tablishment.’* But the personal relationships into which both 
employees and freemen entered also became one of the essential 
factors in creating animosity toward them on the part of the native 
people. The latter would develop a hostility to the man who by 
marrying an Indian woman indentified himself in their eyes with a 
particular tribe, just as the white man who heard of the death of an 
Indian with whom he was connected would naturally think of 
helping to avenge him. 

There is no doubt that many freemen perished thus in retalia- 
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tory expeditions in which they took part directly, as had happened 
in the past with the coureurs de bois,*** and it was logical that the 
class of freemen should have suffered most from the conflicts that 
raged in the country of the West. But it is even more significant to 
see Alexander Henry, regularly appointed to the direction of a 
trading post and inclined through his superior upbringing to avoid 
such quarrels, giving the ammunition they needed to the Indians 
who proposed to avenge the deaths of those among them to 
whom he was allied through his marriage to a native woman.°** 
The Canadian or freeman whose way of life and personal relation- 
ships virtually identified him with the native peoples and who 
took part in their disputes became more than anyone else the target 
of hostility on the part of the group to which his family connec- 
tions put him in opposition, 

Another and more lasting consequence of the tendency of the 
first Canadians to become completely absorbed into the primitive 
environment was that it attached many of their descendants to a 
way of life whose archaic character must inevitably resist 
economic revolution in the West and hinder their adaptation to 
white culture. 

For the moment, the inconveniences which the Canadian suf 
fered as a result of his excessive adaptation to the Indian way of life 
did not greatly diminish the strength he derived from it; if we col- 
lect the evidence left to us by the officers of the Hudson’s Bay 
Company, we must conclude that here the Canadians enjoyed a 
real superiority over their adversaries, whose relations with the 
primitive folk were more neutrally based and lacking in the advan- 
tages the Canadians were assured as well as the penalties such ad- 
vantages implied. Of the ascendancy which the Canadians wielded 
over the Indians, and of the confidence which both engaged men 

and freemen inspired in the native peoples, the journals of the forts 
on the coast of Hudson Bay offer us the first evidence. Thus, in 
1731-2, the journal of Moose Factory was ceaselessly describing 
the intimate associations between the two groups. Soon the In- 
dians began to wait for the Canadian traders so that they could 
show them the location of their tents and reserve their furs for 
them; equally soon, attaching themselves completely to their new 
alliance, they began to decline requests to hunt game needed for 
the sustenance of the fort.** To the invitation which the comman- 
dant of Moose Factory addressed in 1743 to an Indian “captain” to 
resume the operations he had hitherto undertaken on behalf of the 
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fort, the latter replied that, as a result of the alliances contracted by 
his son and daughter among the Canadian traders,** he had given 
up working in the interest of their rivals. And, while they some- 
times cursed the French who did not spare them from brutalities, 
and even asked the doctor attached to Fort Albany for a dose of 
poison that would enable them to get rid of the traders from 
Lower Canada,** they still hastened, as soon as the news reached 

them that the French were near, and invited them to a meeting, to 
depart immediately, bag and baggage, so as to join these traders 

once again,*** 
This attraction which the pedlar from Quebec wielded over the 

native people was emphasized by Alexander Henry the Elder at 
the time of his journey to Michilimackinac,* and by Anthony 
Henday when he reached the great plains of the West in 1754. “It is 
surprising,” he wrote, “to observe what an influence the French 
have over the Natives.’**° In 1755 he repeated the same percep- 
tion: “I found them strongly attached to the French interest.” 
He also said: “The French speak the language of the natives with 
the same ease as they themselves do, and they command them at 
their will, even though the Indians pretend the opposite.”"*** Wil- 
liam Tomison corroborated Henday’s judgment in every point.*** 

In 1769 he came upon the Indians near Lake Manitoba, devoting 
themselves to ritual dances and magical invocations meant to has- 
ten the arrival of the Canadians.*** The correspondence and jour- 
nals of York Factory contain similar observations,’ and it would 
be easy to multiply examples of them.*** It was natural that, in cer- 
tain cases, the Indians should concentrate their devotion and their 
most intense sympathy on a particular Canadian, who was unusu- 
ally adept at winning them over and making himself loved and re- 
spected by them. Such men were Michel Boyer, the trader on 
Rainy Lake, and the Canadian Réaume in the region of Brandon 
House.°*” The Hudson’s Bay Company's employees, with a re- 
markable impartiality, pay homage to the qualities of these hum- 
ble traders, whose affinities, backgrounds, and tactful approach 
made them adept at handling primitive people. 

But it is not merely to the personal influence of a few men that 
one can attribute the partiality which the Indians showed for the 
Canadians. The reason must be sought in the spontaneous confi- 
dence born out of the close relationship between the two groups. 
In this respect the attitude of the Chipewyan is particularly sig- 
nificant. In spite of the inhuman violences which the Canadians, 
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according to Philip Turnor, committed among then, and in spite 
of the excesses of every kind to which the bitterness of the struggle 
against the Hudson's Bay Company gave rise during the years be- 
fore the fusion of the rival organizations, the Chipewyan retained 
for them a preference which George Simpson personally witnes- 
sed in 1821 at the end of that period of merciless conflict. While 
blaming the North West Company for reducing these Indians to a 
state of “abject servility,” and attributing their docile attitude to 
the reign of fear which its tyranny inspired, he admitted that the 
timidity this experience had engendered was accompanied by a 
real attachment to the great Canadian company: ‘‘Strange to tell, 
they have not only an innate fear, but attachment to that associa- 
tion.""*” He thus pays homage to the Canadians’ talent for adapt- 
ing themselves to the habits and mentality of the native people: the 
excesses from which the latter suffered had not been able to over- 
come the confidence which the incorporation of men from Lower 
Canada into their tribes had spontaneously established between 
the two races. Simpson thus confirmed the observations that in 
1776 Edward Jarvis had noted in the letter he addressed to the 
Committee in London.”*° 

Of that incorporation the group of freemen represented the 
most significant manifestation and the most complete realization. 
It was at their level, rather than that of the engaged men in the 
posts, that the white race mingled with the primitive in a perfect 
identity of existence and reactions. This link was always missing 
so far as the Hudson’s Bay Company was concerned. Its relations 
with the native peoples were ordered with a more regular 
framework, which had no room for the Canadians’ excesses of 

violence, but also excluded the intimacy of relations they 
achieved. 





CHAPTER SEVEN 

THE NORTHERN NUCLEUS 

To the nucleus of racial mingling that centred around the southern 
routes of penetration must be compared its counterpart which 
emerged on the coast of Hudson Bay and gradually radiated into 
the hinterland. For more than a century it was limited to the ver- 
ges of the inland sea where the first British posts were established. 
The white race at that time was represented essentially by Scots 
and Anglo-Saxons: at least, these formed the great majority, just 
as the French Canadians, though mingled with them were the 

Scots who were generally in charge of the posts, constituted the 
dominant element in the southern nucleus. The enterprises of 
Radisson and the Chevalier de Troyes, and the intermittent occu- 

pation of the English forts by French garrisons from 1686 to 1713 
introduced only small groups of men, whose presence could not 
seriously change the character of the white population then estab- 
lished on Hudson Bay. Thus in 1682—3 Radisson disposed of a 
mere fourteen men, with whom he was able to capture thirty- 
three men from the Anglo-Saxon garrisons on the coast.' When he 
absented himself, in the summer of 1683, to rejoin the service of 
England shortly afterward, he left at the mouth of the Nelson 
River a group of only eight men who passed there the winter of 
1683—4.? The fifty or so men disembarked in the same area by the 
two Canadian ships that in 1684 went to Hudson Bay to compete 
with the operations of the English company’ did not prolong their 
occupation beyond a single year.’ Even the expedition of the 
Chevalier de Troyes left in the coastal ports only small numbers of 
men, which, at Moose Factory, barely reached a strength of fif- 
teen.’ The higher figure of sixty-seven for Fort Bourbon in 1684 
can hardly be regarded as a decisive advantage for the French race 

since the position was lost soon afterward.® During the years of 
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occupation the manpower of Fort Bourbon must have varied con- 
stantly; sometimes increased by the arrival of a boat whose crew 
wintered at the post and could swell its personnel to eighty men,” 
sometimes diminished by the serious difficulties of provisioning 
which the Canadians seem to have experienced there,* and which 
finally reduced the garrison to a mere dozen men by the time the 
post fell into the hands of the English." 

These men, unlike the English garrisons, were not immobilized 

at set points on the coastline. Since the epoch of Radisson’s enter- 
prises, the Canadians, whether to attract the natives to the coast, 

or in search of a subsistence they could not find along the 
shoreline, spread out among the Indians as they had done around 
the shores of Lake Superior.’ It is true that they did not penetrate 
very far into the interior, but they were able nevertheless to enter 

into relations with the Indians similar to those they had established 
in the more southerly sectors; only their small numbers and the 
intermittency of their occupation of Hudson Bay prevented such 
relations achieving the same amplitude. The extreme ease with 
which they always reached an accord with the Indians showed it- 
self equally in that coastal zone, as is evident from the cordiality of 
relations that immediately developed between the Chevalier de 
Troyes’ men and the Indians around Moose Factory.'! It goes 
without saying that sexual relationships were not slow to emerge, 
sometimes contained within the framework of “reasonable li- 
cence,” and sometimes, on the contrary, leading to disorders 
whose excess led to the massacre of nine men in the garrison of 
Fort Phelipeaux.'* Without doubt, the presence of a few coureurs 
de bois who found their way here and there to the coast of Hudson 
Bay also helped to tighten the relations between the two races. 
But, if one leaves out the “Bottom of the Bay’ (James Bay), 

which they reached more easily, these last elements represented no 
more than an accidental contribution, and, from the day when the 

restitution of the posts to the Hudson’s Bay Company assured the 
stabilization of its personnel, the white race was represented, in 
this extreme sector of the Shield, only by the Scots and the 
Anglo-Saxons. 

THE POLICY OF SEGREGATION 

The excesses committed by the Canadians against the native 
peoples seem to have greatly impressed the Hudson’s Bay Com- 
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pany'’s London Committee. From this time onward it continually 
used them as a reason to urge its agents to hinder the establishment 
of excessively close relations between the Company’s personnel 
and the Indians. Even in the earliest years, before the dangers to 
which the Canadians exposed themselves could have justified a 
policy of segregating the races, the Committee had shown an ob- 
vious desire to impose on its representatives a life separate from 
that of the native people.’® Afterward, it tirelessly recommended 
the chiefs of posts to issue instructions which seemed likely to pre- 
vent the risk of disorders and guarantee pacific relations between 
white and primitive people. “‘No . . . person is allowed,” wrote 
Andrew Graham in 1768, “to have any correspondence with the 
Natives without the Chiefs orders, not even to go into an Indian 

tent and the Natives are not permitted to come within the Forts 
but when their business requires,’’!* These instructions limited the 
contacts between the two groups to strictly commercial relation- 
ships. The Company imposed them not only on the coastal forts, 
where the concentration of personnel under the authority of a 
commandant made they easy to apply, but tried also to extend 
them to those of its men who undertook the exploration of the in- 
terior, where they were reduced to living in conditions of isolation 
from civilized life that rendered illusory all official instructions. 

In acting thus, the Hudson’s Bay Company was inspired 
primarily by an ideal of morality which the Scottish entrepreneurs 
of the North West Company did not share. The exemplary con- 
duct which it attempted to impose on its personnel could not have 
resisted the pressures of a milieu under the close domination of na~ 
tive concepts. A deep concern for religious edification appeared in 
its first circulars to the governors of the forts: these insisted on the 
need to observe the “law of God,’’!® and to make sure that all the 

employees were present at official prayer gatherings,’ which the 
journals of the posts inform us were observed regularly, thanks to 
the attentiveness of the officers in charge.'’ Backsliding employees 
were punished by deductions from their wages. Reading such in- 
structions, and the oath which Henry Kelsey, the governor of 
York Factory, required of his men in 1718, one gains the impres~ 
sion that the Company’s enterprises were inspired by the idea of a 
Protestant crusade, in the service of the Church of England, as 
much as by commercial preoccupations. In the text of the oath 
which he imposed on his staff, Kelsey regarded respect for the re- 
ligious laws of the kingdom as inseparably associated with hatred 
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for “‘all Popish pretenders & Superstitions with their cerimoniall 
Jurisdiction and Authority of the Roman Catholic Religion. . . .””"* 
And the officers never failed to take advantage of an opportunity 
to proclaim their loyalty to ‘‘the established Church of England” 
and to wish the confusion of its enemies. The celebrations which, 
in the month of November, marked the anniversary of the Gun- 
powder Plot were inevitably accompanied by similar professions 
of faith, equally aggressive toward the enemies of Anglicanism 
and the Honourable Company." The Committee even tried to 
make the Canadian Louis Primeau, whose long association with 
the native peoples hardly inclined him to religious duties, conduct 
himself in an edifying manner among the tribes of the interior.*” 
At the end of the eighteenth century it undertook to furnish pious 
books to its posts in the hope of encouraging among the men a 
sense of their moral obligations,®' and at the same time, as a logical 

extension of the religious principles it preached, endeavored to de- 
tach them from thoughts of licentiousness. From the earliest days, 
sobriety above all was urged upon them.* The attention of the 
governors was drawn to the need to forbid all habits of idleness,?* 
to prevent “immorality,” to encourage “‘virtue’ by the 
celebration—morning and evening—of “divine service,”** and to 
treat with uncompromising vigor any excess of which the 
employees might be guilty.?* Finally, to eliminate the disorders 
that could not fail to follow the overabundance of alcoholic drinks, 
the governor of York Factory took precautions to dilute its 
strength and to regulate its distribution.*® 

The same care to maintain an irreproachable morality in the 
posts led to instructions regarding the observation of continence. 
In 1682 the Committee threatened not to pay their salaries to chiefs 
of posts who might be easygoing enough to let native women into 
their establishments and to tolerate relations that could amount to 
infractions of the “law of God.””*” 

It is true that other preoccupations also inspired this policy of 
isolation. It proceeded partly from the indifference which the 
London Committee manifested in the early years toward the na- 
tive peoples. The idea that constantly shines through the letters pa- 
tent relating to the foundation of New France, of bringing col- 
onists and natives together and merging them into a single com- 
munity of race and civilization destined to further the uplifting of 
primitive man to the level of civilization, in no way guided the 
policy of the Hudson’s Bay Company. The Committee was 
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equally removed from any program of mixed alliances and from 
any ideal of transforming the native people’s way of life. It 
thought even less of applying in the territories that had been 
granted to it a policy of co-education, and in 1724 it actually re- 
commended to Governor Macklish that he abstain from giving the 
Indians even the rudiments of an education, either reading or writ- 
ing, since this would have no other effect than to give them free 
access to the posts.** Perhaps the Committee was not completely 
hostile to the idea of converting the heathen. Doubtless it was also 
moved by a sincere wish for justice toward the native peoples; it 
tirelessly urged on its agents a humane and reasonable attitude to- 
ward the tribes which gathered at the forts, and Governor Kelsey 
did not hesitate to punish men who went so far as to maltreat the 
Indians.*® But this was far from the policy of a Champlain who 
envisaged the unification of the races and the mingling of their 
views of life, The Hudson's Bay Company in fact never com- 
pletely overcame its feeling of mistrust toward the native peoples. 
In any too close contact between its employees and the Indians, it 
saw the possibilities of a clandestine trafficking that would have 
been prejudicial to its interests,*° and it regarded as indispensable 
the redoubling of precautions to keep apart these groups whom 
the hazards of life had destined to come together. By forbidding 
employees of the forts to hold any personal conversation with the 
Indians during trading operations, and by attempting to immure 
them in the posts and prevent their access to the ‘‘plantations” 
where the Indians customarily gathered, the Committee in fact 

formulated rules whose rigorous application would have been 
harmful to the trade.*' To this excessive caution, which corres- 
ponded so well with the inflexibility of the Anglo-Saxon temper- 
ament and its habit of keeping a distance between superiors and 
subordinates, one must add a genuine fear of the native peoples, 

among whom any excessive show of confidence would, in the 
Company's eyes, encourage aggressive attitudes and even surprise 

attacks. In 1688, when the Committee authorized young Henry 
Kelsey to exploit the contacts he had made among the Indians and 
go in their company to the Churchill River, it cautioned him not 
to trust himself entirely to men he did not know and not to risk his 
life needlessly among them.”* The news of the difficulties that 
arose between the Indians and the French at Port Nelson con- 
firmed the Committee in such attitudes, and the fear that it might 

have to regret similar incidents involving its personnel became a 
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veritable obsession in the years after the re-establishment of the 
English positions.** To such apprehensions the events at Henley 
House soon offered a partial justification." They established that 
there was complicity between the French and the Indians, and the 
Company came to fear more and more the collusion of these two 
groups in league against their trading forts. Nothing less than a 
rigorous demarcation between the employees of the posts and the 
native peoples seemed to it capable of forestalling the effects of the 
kind of attachment which the Indians felt for the Canadians."* 

Guided by these various motives, the Company constantly reit- 
erated the formal injunction to refuse the natives access to the 
forts, and above all to forbid them to take up residence there. The 
prohibitions were particularly rigorous in the case of Indian wo- 
men.*° Even in an epoch when theoretical rules had in actuality to 
give place to a considerable degree of tolerance, they were still 
proclaimed with a strictness that was directed equally toward the 
women whom the employees had made their regular compan- 
ions.*? Severe penalties—imprisonment and the reduction or 
withholding of pay—were threatened.** Men who had contracted 
venereal diseases were punished with the loss of a month's 
wages.** 

The viewpoint from which this policy of isolation and mistrust 
arose, elevated as it may have been in certain respects, fatally 
paralysed the mingling of these two peoples, of which one was 
openly reduced to a condition of inferiority. In fact, as we have 
seen, the Company did not try to keep its employees in complete 
ignorance of the native peoples. It admitted the usefulness of a 
knowledge of Indian languages.*° But, unlike Champlain, it had 
no conception of the necessity for interpenetration between the 
two groups. The barriers it raised up between them led to limita~ 
tions in the encouragement it gave to projects of discovery by its 
more enterprising agents,*! and even to refusals like that given in 
1725 to young Butler when he proposed to go among the native 
peoples and carry out a task comparable to that of an Etienne 
Brulé;* all these circumstances contributed to the continued im- 
mobility of the Company's operations on the coastal fringe of 
Hudson Bay. Unlike Champlain, who favored the initiatives of 
men who wished to mingle with the Indians and achieve among 
them a program of political and commercial expansion, the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company followed a reverse policy which consisted of 
cultivating the friendship of peoples on whom its commerce de- 
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pended less by allowing its men to stay among them than by brief 
and occasional periods of hospitality given to a few of the young 
Indians in its posts.** If occasionally it recommended a melding be- 
tween employees of the posts and native people, this was solely in 
terms of temporary associations intended to give the Company’s 
personnel the training that would enable them to provide for the 
feeding of the forts and lessen the somewhat embarrassing depen- 
dence on the Indians to which they were reduced. It envisaged 
neither reconciliation nor assimilation in the real sense.** By such a 

policy the Company hoped, more effectively than if it authorized 
free association between the two groups, to avoid any change in 
the moral standards it sought to impose in its forts—standards that 
would not have been able to survive any prolonged relationship 
between whites and natives. When it abandoned the indifference 
of its early years and decided to develop education among the In- 
dians, it still remained aloof from that program of co-education 
which Champlain, Talon, and Colbert had successively projected 
in New France. Was it obeying, in all this, an impulse of ethnic 
rigidity, a racial prejudice? It is doubtful in fact if such a tendency, 
which later on was manifested so strongly in the English-speaking 
world, already inspired the attitude of the London Committee. It 
may have existed in the form of a confused reaction, linked to the 
less cordial nature of the Anglo-Saxon company with the French 
Canadian’s easy adaptability.** But certainly, if the prejudice did 
exist, it was not evident in the Company’s instructions. Neverthe- 
less, it cannot be denied that the humane concerns which in the 
beginning played so great a part in the programs of the colonizers 
of New France, were not nearly so dominant in the commercial 
enterprises of the Hudson’s Bay Company, at least until—at the 
beginning of the nineteenth century —it fell under the influence of 
philanthropists who drew the Committee's attention to the need 
to work for the uplift of the native peoples.*® 
Of course, the isolation which the Company at first envisaged 

could not prevent the establishment of closer relations than it may 
have wished among its personnel and the Indians. But it is certain 
that the original program it tried to apply combined with the very 
temperament of its men to imprint on relations between the two 
groups a character that was never wholly erased, and which hin- 
dered the accomplishment of a union like that between the Cana- 

dians and the native peoples. There were other factors that tended 

in the same direction, and their influence, even if it did not assure 
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the complete application of orders that were too absolute to be en- 
tirely reliable, helped at least to prevent the instructions from be- 
coming entirely a dead letter even in a country where so many cir- 

cumstances hindered their execution. 

THE APPLICATION OF THE OFFICIAL POLICY 

Among such factors there was, first of all, the attitude of the heads 
of the posts. They were far from all conforming with complete 
docility to their superiors’ instructions or scrupulously executing 
them. We shall have occasion to observe that some among them 
were not men of irreproachable morals, and that their very situa- 

tion often enabled them to interpret freely the Committee’s or- 
ders. Yet they could not remain entirely indifferent to the circulars 
that were addressed to them, and if they tolerated a great deal, 
their tolerance did not amount to unreserved acceptance of the 
misdemeanors of their personnel, and even less to encouragement. 
Various indications suggest that the Company’s instructions were 
applied with a certain severity, even at the interior points whose 
distance might seem to dilute their effect. In 1788, for example, we 
witness a Canadian employee rebelling against the attempt by the 
chief of Brandon House to forbid him keeping an Indian woman 
like his compatriots who in the posts of the rival company were 
free to follow their own inclinations.*” And several officers seem 
to have given proof of energy in the repression of abuses which, in 
spite of everything, emerged among men who were condemned 
to a life of isolation that might well unsettle the most robust of 
temperaments. 

There were the instances of Richard Staunton of Moose Fac- 
tory,** and Joseph Isbister of Prince of Wales Fort and later of Al- 
bany, who did not hesitate to chastise with corporal punishment 
both the vice of drunkenness and relations with Indian women.** 
There was also James Duffield whose severity imposed on Moose 
Factory a regime of military discipline; he compelled his men to go 
to bed at a set hour, forbade them to have lights in their rooms, 
and forced them to start work early in the morning, as soon as he 
himself had opened the gates of the fort.°° Applying the Commit- 
tee’s orders to the letter, and exaggerating them if need be, he kept 
the native hunters outside the fort, refused to distribute to them 
the rations of oatmeal porridge to which the good nature of his 
predecessors had accustomed them, and systematically proscribed 



The Northern Nucleus 201 

any converse between his men and the Indians," at the risk of dis- 
pleasing the latter through his excessive rigor. Others again in- 
gratiated themselves with the Committee by displaying an equal 
severity to the employees and to the native people,** by meticul- 
ously eliminating contacts between their men and the Indians, and 
by endeavoring to prevent any clandestine traffic in furs."* In 1761 
a young Indian was provisionally allowed to live in York Factory, 
but the experiment turned out to be less than satisfactory, and the 
newcomer was quickly expelled so as to avoid the dissemination 
of his vices among the men of the garrison.* This attitude of the 
Company’s officers, in making the orders of the central Commit- 
tee respected, gave effect to the policy of segregation which that 
body had formulated from the beginning. 

But the mode of recruitment of the employees for the forts, the 

short period of their residence™ in a country that offered them no 
material satisfactions, provided its own obstacle to the reconcilia- 
tion of the races and thus led toward an identical result. Not only 
were their engagements of short duration, but the Company did 
not seriously encourage their renewal. For a long period at least, it 
refused to guarantee them any increase of salary immediately after 
the expiry of their first contracts: such an increase was granted 
only after a supplementary stay of two years,°* and the Company 
paralysed the renewal of engagements on the spot by refusing its 
officers authority to do so on their own initiative.*” Many of the 
employces—especially among the Scots and the Orkneymen— 
looked forward to returning only in order to gather a nest-egg that 
would give them better opportunities of employment in their own 
country.** There were even some men who gladly cut short their 
term so as to rejoin the families they had left in their native land.” 
As a consequence, they had no time to develop an attachment to a 
country where they lived a few years at most. When they came 
back to it, they still appeared as foreigners in an environment for 

which their past lives, unlike those of the Canadians, had not pre- 

pared them. This is not the place to dwell on the sharp break 
which their years in Rupert's Land formed in such men’s lives, It is 

enough to remark how the adaptation of their habits, their lan- 

guage, their disposition, to the corresponding elements in the 

country and its population could only result among them from as- 

siduous effort and from a diligence most of them had neither the 

will nor even the desire to apply. The knowledge of Indian lan- 

guages in particular was for them a matter of hard study,® or at 
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best of unconscious assimilation bred of lasting association with 
native people,°! which was precisely what the Company would 
not allow without restriction, even when it did not formally for- 
bid such a relationship. Their way of life was more fitted to stay- 
ing in the trading posts than to direct contact with a desolate envi- 

ronment, and the officers frequently had difficulty persuading 

these inexperienced men to adopt the practice of hunting which 

they had got into the habit of leaving to the Indians. 

As to the natural tendencies of this unhomogenous personnel of 

Scots and Orkneymen, they did not find expression like those of 

the Canadians in a combination of characteristics that bore the 

stamp of a distinct milieu or of established human intercourse. It is 

true that we are lacking in real estimations of the situation, except 

in the case of the Orkneymen, of whom the little we know does 

nevertheless allow us to measure the distance separating them 

from the native populations and from the Canadians of the St. 

Lawrence. Without going so far as to deny all of them the posses- 

sion of the qualities needed for existence in the North West,"* qual- 

ities which some showed more than others, one must admit that 

the characteristics generally observed among them were the oppo- 

site of those of the Indians. Their slow and excessively methodical 

working habits and their lack of ability to submit to the privations 
which the Canadians endured or to the superhuman efforts of the 
voyageur’s career, predisposed them neither to that instantaneous 

adaptation in the most various situations that was the special 

characteristic of the men from Lower Canada, nor to the difficul- 

ties of existence in the country of the West. Clinging obstinately to 
their traditions, they adapted badly to new practices. Their slow- 

ness in learning how to handle canoes, and in adopting hygienic 

measures with which they were unfamiliar, bear witness to their 

lack of flexibility. 
“The Orkneymen,” declared the commandant of York Factory, 

William H. Cook, in 1812, “are slaves to old habits and old cus- 

toms,’ and Donald Mackay, who saw in their slowness an effect 

of indolence, judged them to be “stubborn and lazy,” and attri- 
buted to them “a natural ill-feeling.”°* Perhaps his complaints 
were excessive. But they were justified by the difficulties he ex- 
perienced in commanding them, and by the lack of eagerness 
which they devoted to competing with the Canadians who sought 
to get ahead of them with the Indians and seize their furs. Other 
witnesses accuse them of lacking the spirit of initiative, of making 
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demands greater than those of the Canadians, of not being content 
with the scanty rations of food which it was sometimes necessary 
to allot them, of enduring with difficulty the sufferings and ef- 
forts involved in the life of the North West, and finally of indulg- 
ing in petty squabbles which divided them into mutually hostile 
groups and prejudiced them against anyone who seemed foreign 
to them—against the Canadians, as we have seen, and above all 
against the native peoples." It seems certain, even if one makes al- 

lowance for the personal prejudices which may form part of such 
judgments, haphazardly noted down by the Scottish or Anglo- 
Saxon officers of the Hudson’s Bay Company, that the employees 
who came from the Orkney Islands showed themselves, in their 
excessively cautious outlook and their lack of enthusiasm, inferior 
to the men recruited from the St. Lawrence. It was a matter of 
grave miscalculation to oppose them to the Canadians in particu- 
larly disputed areas.’ George Simpson, whose judgment was 
rarely at fault, also agreed about their inferiority. He maintained 
they had less resistance, were less capable of steadfastness in diffi- 
cult moments; that they had a stubbornness which could only be 
broken by a commander capable of making himself feared; that 
they had closed and unreceptive natures and made their decisions 
secretly.” In brief, he attributed to them a combination of charac- 
teristics that hindered them from accepting their new existence 
easily or forming spontaneous links with the Indians, and which, 
given the brevity of their terms in the North West, was unlikely to 
be noticeably modified while they were there.”! 

The short contracts which the Company was in the habit of 
concluding with them were in any case not the only reason for 
their short periods of residence. The greed which they seem to 
have brought to the search for gain and to economizing on their 
wages, as well as their attachment to traditional ways and to their 
native land,”® which they had left in the hope of returning pro- 
vided with the means they could not acquire at home, als made 
them disinclined to prolong their terms in Rupert's Land.”* Wil- 
liam Auld, who perceived a great affinity between the nature of 
the Orkneymen and that of the Scots, wrote that both of them 
“identified themselves” with their purses.”* Here was a token of 
outlooks too fundamentally different from those of the native 
people for confidence to be possible between the two groups in the 

same way as it was between the Canadian and the primitive man. 

Because of his wish to economize, the Orkneyman or the Scot was 
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repelled by the uncertainties of native existence, its habitual waste 
and the day-to-day life that implied, as well as the carelessness 
about the morrow and the absolute lack of foresight that were 
among the most striking manifestations of the Indian character. 
Of course, the Orkneymen had their virtues, and the criticisms 

of them were generally modified by expressions like “efficient” 
and “beneficial,””* which bore witness to the services they ren- 
dered to the Hudson's Bay Company. They conscientiously car- 
ried out the tasks that were confided to them.”* Their slowness 
was accompanied by a moderation—if not a natural goodwill —in 
their behavior toward the Indians that was far from the violence so 
often observed on the part of the Canadians.” But their natures 
made it impossible for them to attain a relationship with primitive 
people comparable to that which the Canadians owed to their 
affinities and their way of life.”* The level of feeling on which the 
relations of Canadians and Indians seemed to develop was lowered 
among the Orkneymen to a more neutral level of relations that in- 
volved neither excesses nor a true coming together. 
Though they aroused fewer comments on the part of officers in 

the posts, the same characteristics were to be found among the 
Scots and even among the more distinctive group of Highlanders. 
Here and there allusions to the strongly mercenary character of the 
Orkneymen and Scots emerge,”® but a prouder nature and an even 
more pronounced clannishness were generally attributed to the lat- 
ter.*° As obstinate in their prejudices as the Orkneymen, free of 
the volatile disposition of the Canadians and consequently of their 
fecklessness, harder to satisfy*’ and often rebellious where priva- 
tions were likely, they nevertheless showed themselves better 
adapted than the Orkney employees to the demands of service in 
Rupert's Land.** But they shared with them a closed, inflexible 
temperament, which made it more difficult to command them 
than the Canadians" and reduced the possibility of their adapting 
completely to a new setting. As to the recruits which the Com- 
pany gathered in the towns of England, who for many years 
formed the personnel of its coastal posts, they were even less stable 
than the Orkneymen. Nothing had prepared them to mingle in a 
society with which association was in any case officially forbid- 
den, and there were not bonds to attach them to a country into 
which they had been abruptly transplanted. It was this lack of 
roots in the geographic and human environment that contrasted 
them to the Canadians, not only in the first years of their terms in 
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Rupert’s Land, but even at a later time when, if they had not been 
doomed by their character and their upbringing to resist it, they 
might have at least begun to achieve the assimilation that still 
eluded them. Colin Robertson made this observation at the begin- 
ning of the nineteenth century, when he contrasted the 
Orkneymen’s desire to economize, so as to return without delay 
to their own country, with the deep attachment which the Cana- 
dians felt toward a land they had adopted,"* and when he noted at 
random the spiteful attitude of Company officers toward the na- 
tive people, symptomatic of a state of mind far from that of the 
Canadians."* 

From these conditions there emerged a clearly established sep- 
aration between white and natives. Neither of these groups inter- 
vened in the other’s wars.*® At the most, the Indians sometimes 
mounted around the posts on the coastline a theoretical guard in- 
tended to give warning of the possible arrival of the French.*” But 
it is doubtful if they would have been glad to take part, had the 
occasion arisen, in any expedition directed against the latter. The 
kind of welcome they met in the British posts contrasted too 
clearly with the ease the Canadians had shown to them in the days 
before the diffusion of alcohol made them more prudent. 

In the commercial transactions that took place in the posts on 
Hudson Bay, a regime of truly military discipline prevailed, which 
forbade the Indians the right to enter freely,** and forestalled the 
possibility of surprise attacks by placing guards at the fort's most 
vulnerable points.*® Summing up the observations he had been 
able to make in the course of his journeys from York Factory to 
Winnipeg, Colin Robertson condemned the general neglect 
shown by the officers toward their primitive guests. Of the wel- 
come reserved for them at the time of trading operations he left a 
picture which is perhaps somewhat exaggerated in tone. But there 
is reason to accept its portrayal of the lack of cordiality that sepa~ 
rated the two parties, resulting from the temperaments of the 
officers as much as from the orders issued by the Committee. 
“The poor creatures that arrive here have not even a shelter from 
the inclemencies of the weather, you see them standing and laying 
under the porch of the trading room, shivering with cold.”*° 

Yet we cannot conclude from this that the officers were lacking 
in humanitarian sentiments. In the posts they were generous in 

their care of sick or wounded Indians, they did not hesitate to 
clothe friendless young children, and to distribute to abandoned 
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old or infirm people the scanty rations they needed." For their 
part, the Indians often came to the assistance of employees who 
might be wounded or exhausted at a distance from their forts.®? 
But one should not see in these actions, which do honor to the 
Company’s representatives, the expression of an instinctive draw- 
ing together, analogous to that of which the Canadians give us an 
example. This fulfilment of the obligations which the civilized 
man felt toward a less evolved section of humanity could not re- 
place the confidence that sprang from a community of life and 
character. The policy of segregation dominated the relations be- 
tween the two races, and it was natural that the Indians should 
have expressed their bitterness at an attitude so remote from that 
of the Canadians, whose cordial generosity they had been able to 
appreciate during the latter's period on Hudson Bay.’ The dis- 
tribution of presents did not sufficiently compensate for the effects 
of this lack of spontaneity,”* nor did it win the English company 
an influence comparable to that which, as its own officers acknow- 
ledged, the Canadians wielded over the native peoples.*’ If the 
stubborn rigidity of the Committee's instructions could not hinder 
the practice of mixed unions in a milieu where they were a law of 
nature, it prevented the real assimilation of those who did come 
together, and it deprived the Anglo-Saxons of that strong base 
which their personal influence or their intuition of the primitive 
character gave the men from Lower Canada. Consequently, if a 
dispute arose, or if the officers sometimes allowed themselves to 
commit brutalities or blunders against the native people, there 
was nothing that might soften the repercussions.°” Moreover, 
thanks to this lack of confidence, the Canadians were able to lead 
the Indians into committing criminal acts against the Hudson's 
Bay Company’s personnel.®* 

Fortunately, the positive aspect of the Company’s instructions, 
which continually urged the avoidance of all acts of violence 
against the native peoples, was scrupulously applied by its rep- 
resentatives.®® Assaults or other acts of violence were rare in the 
British posts, and in this way the danger that resulted from the 
lack of intimacy between their personnel and the Indians was 
averted or notably diminished. It was the only real compensation 
for the excessive formality of the relations established between the 
two races. The only exceptional situations arose in the cases of a 
few heads of posts, who violated their instructions by giving their 
men a freedom of relations like that allowed by the Canadian 
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bourgeois. This was the reason for the great popularity of James 
Isham among the Indians. Of him Andrew Graham was able to 
write that the natives never ceased to lavish their affection on 
him! But the indulgence of a few officers, which indeed intro- 
duced a relaxing influence into their posts that conformed little to 
the Company's ideals—was not enough to create the affinities of 
temperament necessary for the thorough fusion of these peoples 
who, after more than a century, remained alien to cach other, in 
spite of a few instances of sincere attachment, The attitude of chief 
Matonabbee, who was doubtless won over by Samuel Hearne’s 
personal initiative, and who remained faithful unto death to the 
British cause, is an example which shows the depth of feeling that 
might lie hidden under the Indian's impassive exterior .'"" 

THE COMING TOGETHER OF THE RACES 

As we have seen, the Company’s policy did not succeed entirely in 
raising between the races the barrier of segregation which seemed 
necessary to the objects, whether moral or mercenary, that it was 
pursuing. Though the general nature of relations between white 
men and primitive people was not radically changed, the mixed 
unions that had been so rigorously forbidden were soon being put 
into practice. On reading the instructions of the Hudson’s Bay 
Company, one asks oneself if the Committee that framed them it- 
self believed they could be carried out literally in a country so far 
away and offering such direct exposure to contact with native life, 

The official rigor of the regulations was bound to slacken in real- 

life situations. It might contribute to the relative isolation of the 

groups from each other, and it might maintain, by its own author- 

ity as well as by the officers’ actions, a higher moral level than 

many of the Canadian posts sustained; but it could not prevent 

“tmiscegenation,” and a nucleus of interbreeding was not slow to 

appear around the forts on Hudson Bay, even before it gained im- 

portance on the routes of penetration into the interior, But instead 

of being practised openly from the earliest years, as in the Cana- 

dian forts, the unions in the British establishments appear to have 

been usually the effect of unspoken tolerance, or of culpable in- 

dulgence, or the result of a clandestine commerce carried on with- 

out the knowledge of the officers. b 

During the period of immobility on the coastline, these officers 

themselves understood the impossibility of carrying out to the let- 
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ter a policy of absolute separation. In 1715 Captain James Knight 
expressed his intention of adopting a native policy whose 
pacificatory aims could not be carried out without direct relations 
with the Indians. At the same time as he wrote to the Company 
that the operation of his posts needed men well acquainted with 
the native population, a quality they could have acquired only by 
association with them, he was confiding young William Stewart 
to the care of the Indians, with the idea that his influence might 
convert them to peace.'* At the same time, the conditions of life 
in the posts on Hudson Bay quickly imposed unavoidable con- 
tacts, in spite of all the precautions that were observed at times 
when the Indians crowded into the ‘‘plantations.” At first, in the 
preliminary years of occupation, it was necessary for the person- 
nel, like the French whom Champlain had to send away from 
Quebec in 1629, to share at times the life of the native people. In 
1686, when Moose Factory had fallen into the hands of the Cana- 
dians, twenty-two men were forced to live by fishing and hunting 
among the Indians, and some of them, who had no experience of 
such an existence, paid for it with their lives.'°* 

Later, when the forts had been taken back and stability re- 
established, occasions for contact arose out of the very rhythm of 
daily activity in the forts, whose monotony was relieved by a host 
of external tasks. These were not, indeed, comparable with the ac- 

tivity that went on outside the Canadian posts, for the country — 
desolate and broken—was ill adapted to that constant trafficking 
which in any case the Hudson's Bay personnel, unaccustomed to 
the natural environment of the North West, would not have been 
able to carry out.’ Hence resulted a greater immobility than 
existed in the interior posts: a situation in which men spent long 
hours gathered around the fires during those interminable winter 
nights when the rigorous temperature paralysed every kind of ac- 
tivity." At Prince of Wales Fort, during the cold season, work 
ended at two o'clock in the afternoon," the morning having been 
devoted to carrying out the regular tasks, such as clearing snow in 
the fort’s inner courtyard, keeping the palisades in repair, ptepar- 
ing meals—occupations which, during the summer, were spread 
out into the evening and carried on at the same time as gardening, 
fur-trading, and the preparation of consignments of furs destined 
for the homeland.'°” 

There was no lack of external activities. Stocks of wood for 
heating had to be collected, and, in a coastal region with no 
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forests, this meant in summer, and often also in winter, consider- 

able trips on the part of the men.'** Often, when a post ran short 
of provisions, the men were ordered to bring in the game that was 
needed —partridge in autumn and winter,'*’ wild geese in autumn 
and spring,''’ and of course the big game whose migrations near 
the coastline were eagerly awaited.'"' To these tasks must be added 
the setting of traps for marten'" in winter, and, during the good 
season, the fishing that went on at the mouths of the waterways.'!* 
All these occupations gave plenty of occasion for contact with na- 
tive people. Woodcutting especially, when it was carried out sev- 
eral days’ journey from the forts, forced the men into veritable iso- 
lation on the trails they cut through the woods," and left them 
free to associate with the Indians''® to such an extent that the 
Committee soon recommended restricting the practice. 

Thus, by the simple play of the most normal activities, there 
emerged a series of encounters which official regulations had no 
means of hindering. Around the posts, when trading operations 
began,"* or when the Indians, impelled by poverty and privation, 
came to seck from the officers some relief in their sufferings,''” the 

influx of population would be such that the watchfulness of the 
posts’ officers could never be sufficient to detect every infraction 
of the rules laid down against secret trafficking in furs or against 
relations with Indian women.""* 

In any case, the dependence of the Hudson’s Bay Company’s 
men on the natives was too close for it to be possible to apply the 
Committee's instructions literally. This dependence was con- 
stantly evident, proceeding from the men’s lack of experience in 
both the difficulties of northern life and in the requirements of 
trading. Encouragements and favors had constantly to be given to 
the Indians in order to increase the posts’ clientele and its contribu- 
tions of furs;"" an excessively rigid attitude would have turned 
them away from their allegiance to the British, as happened in the 
case of officers who followed their instructions too slavishly. The 
ignorance of native languages which was the great failing among 
the Company’s employees forced the officers to introduce among 
their men Indians of both sexes to act as interpreters, and in these 
circumstances the clause forbidding natives to live in the forts 
seemed difficult to apply.'*° The first governors of York Factory, 
James Knight and Henry Kelsey, not only welcomed native 
women who would enable them to communicate with their fel- 
lows, but actually commissioned Indians to visit Prince of Wales 
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Fort so that they [the Company's officers] could familiarize them- 
selves with the languages of the northern peoples and thus facili- 
tate the establishment of relations with new tribes,'*! 

The same dependence appeared in the domain of hunting. 
Sometimes the Company's men and the Indians hunted together, 
with the Committee’s approval;'** sometimes the officers engaged 
native hunters to furnish posts with the game needed for their 
sustenance. This was the origin of the class known as “Home 
Guard Indians,” whose families collected around the forts they 
supplied with food. Experienced enough in hunting game of every 
kind, the Canadians did not need to have recourse in the same de- 
gree to Indians for services which their own engaged men and 
above all the freemen provided, and they never had the need to 
maintain a group like the “Home Guards” who, because of their 
changed conditions of life, quickly became a people without roots. 
But on the sterile shores of Hudson Bay, the means of survival 
were so limited, and the rigorous cold was so painful to the per- 
sonnel of the forts that, in the first years at least, life would have 
been impossible without the help of the native people.'** The prac- 
tice thus came into existence of relying on their experience in kil- 
ling the game that was needed,’ and it continued even after the 
men themselves had become accustomed to the task. Whole 
families might be engaged in such activity.'®* In October, once the 
hunting of the geese had ended, the Home Guard were in the habit 
of leaving the immediate localities of the forts. supplied with trade 
goods, to hunt for marten in the hinterland. In May they would 
return to the posts, once again kill the wild geese needed by the 
garrisons, pay with the produce of their winter hunting for the ar- 
ticles that had been furnished to them, and trade the surplus for 
their personal profit.'*® But they also carried out other tasks, such 
as transporting merchandise and mail from post to post,'?” and so 
they found themselves dedicated, by the very nature of their occu- 
pations, to an almost permanent contact with the white race, 
which led quickly to the disintegration of their original cultures. 
The nearness of the forts assured them, in times of scarcity, a 
ready means of making up for the lack of food by the distributions 
of peas or porridge made by the Company’s officers. Giving in to 
his natural indolence, the Indian gradually abandoned his normal 

activities, apart from the seasons when the birds were in migra- 

tion, and soon showed himself incapable of procuring his own 
nourishment during the winter.'** While alcohol ravaged their 
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constitutions, the “Home Guards” cleverly exploited the pedlars’ 
offensive in order to increase their claims,'*® and to reduce even 

further their routines of work, while they rebelled against the de- 

mands of the officers who were annoyed by their attitude.’ Fi- 
nally, when the men expired, their families, unaccustomed to ef- 
fort, fell to the charge of the post, from which more than ever, ina 

total reversal of roles, they expected the subsistence they had at 
first accepted the duty of providing for it.'*' 

It is true that the commandant of the post could always make 
use of them to carry out the tasks which it was the custom to as- 
sign to native people. For if the Canadians, despite the diversity of 
their skills, were unable to do without the contribution of Indian 
women to the activities of their posts, this was even more the case 

with the Hudson’s Bay Company’s employees. 
The earliest journals of York Factory, dating from 1715, show us 

the natives going with the men into the forest to prepare the 
frames for snowshoes.'** The journal of Prince of Wales Fort, im- 
mediately after the post’s foundation, described “Indian women” 

occupied in preparing the fine cords with which snowshoes were 
laced,'** a work often repaid by distribution of alcohol.'* Later 
on, the tasks they were asked to perform became more and more 
numerous: making sails adapted for use on the York boats,'** 
transporting willow shoots and young fir branches which served 
as forage for the animals,'*® haymaking in the clearings around the 
forts.'*” If the need arose, the women were even expected to hunt 
for game or to set traps for marten," and they became so usetul 
that the custom spread of maintaining in each post, as well as the 
widows and orphans (who no longer left the neighborhood of the 
fort and were employed haphazardly on minor services), a few 
families of Home Guards to whom were relegated the tasks in 
which natives were especially skilled.’** The officers even inter- 
vened with the Company's directors, asking them to substitute a 
system of regular remuneration for the habit of paying with ra- 
tions of food for the duties carried out by these families who had 
become an integral part of the personnel at their posts. Such a re- 
quest was tantamount to asking for the recognition of a practice 
that was directly opposed to the earlier instructions of the Com- 
mittee and against the spirit of its regulations.” 

This association of native women with the life of the posts ren- 
dered ineffective the rule which the Committee had formulated in 
the beginning against mixed unions. It was logical, on the other 
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hand, that the Company should rigorously forbid European 
women any access to its posts. If at first it had given signs of toler- 
ating their presence,"! it quickly assumed a stricter attitude. Cap- 
tains of ships had to inspect their craft before weighing anchor in 
the port of Gravesend, and to expel any women who prior to de- 
parture had been allowed on board.'** At the most, a few scattered 
employees gained authorization to bend the official rules.'? A 
notable exception was a Scottish woman who succeeded in reach- 
ing James Bay in 1805, whence she proceeded in 1807, dressed as a 
man, to Red River: in 1808 she put into the world the first white 
child who saw the day in the plains of the West, but shortly after- 
ward she was sent back to her country.'* 

Tt would have been illusory at this period to hope to restrain 
men whose morality was not suited to a life of reclusion in the 
forts on Hudson Bay. In spite of defects that might have appeared 
offensive to Europeans, the Indian woman seemed seductive to 
them,'*° and the commandant of Prince of Wales Fort declared that 
he personally was incapable of suppressing a commerce that could 
only be stopped by a rigorous discipline, reinforced by high 
palisades designed to prevent nocturnal excursions.'*® Besides, in 
1682, at the period when the Bay was first occupied, the Commit- 
tee’s instructions recognized the existence of a practice that 
breached the whole edifice of morality it hoped to erect in its 
forts.!"7 It was soon evident that the men did not gladly put up 
with the excessive severity which the Company attempted to im- 
pose on them."** They also accepted grudgingly the rules relating 
to sobriety: the Committee had to reiterate continually the need to 
combat an evil which the solitude of the posts made inevitable,'*” 
and whose perils were revealed by the tragic fire at Moose Factory 

in 1735,'%" 
On Hudson Bay the native peoples showed as much looseness 

of morals as in Rupert's Land.'*! They regarded it an honor to in- 
crease their families with children of mixed blood; in such cir- 

cumstances the husband even felt an enhanced affection for his 
wife.' This situation inevitably contributed to a certain slackness 
underlying the appearance of good behavior at the posts on the 
shoreline, so that the zeal of the officer in charge was liable to fall 
away. Thus, reading the reports of even the strictest officers, one 

cannot doubt that, for a certain numbers of years, the governors 
showed a good deal of indulgence toward their personnel. This 
was the case during the period of instability preceding the Treaty of 
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Utrecht, and the re-establishment of English domination did not 

bring about an immediate redressment of the situation. It was only 
with the arrival toward the middle of the eighteenth century of 
officers determined to apply the Committee's orders strictly that 

the official regulations appear in practice to have been followed to 

any effect. Until then, there is no doubt the Indian women were 

often admitted into the Hudson Bay factories and that often the 

example was set by the commandants themselves. A good deal of 

publicity was given, on the occasion of the capitulation of Fort Al- 

bany, to the hardly edifying conduct of Governor Sergeant in the 

presence of the Chevalier de Troyes’ men.'** In that epoch, to 

judge from the complaints of the officers who later strove to raise 

the garrisons’ moral levels, and also from the Committee’s ad- 

monishments, relations were carried on openly between the 

Company's men and Indian women, and the degree of licence was 
at least as great as in the Canadian posts.'** At Moose Factory, at 

Prince of Wales Fort, at Fort Albany, the officers’ correspondence 

denounced to the Company’s directors the corruption of their per- 

sonnel, the excessive familiarity that, in a generally disorderly at- 

mosphere, had been established between their men and the native 

women.'** When they attempted to put an end to such abandon- 

ment, they came up against the ill will of their own men as well as 

the hostility of the Indians, who had no desire to submit to the 

excessively strict regime that corresponded with the Committee's 

ideal, Against their rebellious personnel, the officers had to use 

corporal punishment, fines or, in the last resort, dismissal. Such 

was the case at Prince of Wales Fort, where Joseph Isbister ran into 
great difficulties in redressing a situation which the indulgence of 
James Isham had allowed to degenerate into one of excessive free- 
dom." 

It was at this time that discipline in the posts took on the milit- 
ary appearance which we have noted. Subject to the watchful 
supervision of their chiefs, forced to work long hours, the men 
now had only rare opportunities to break the rules that had too 
often been neglected. 

Yet at the same time a new factor for disorder was at work to 

undo the effects of the reformation that was under way; this was 

the spread among the Indians of alcoholic drinks. In the posts 
themselves a great vigilance was imposed to check the progress of 
a vice to which the men were all too inclined,'®” and here again 

recourse to corporal punishment was sometimes needed. The 
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Company’s directors were personally opposed to the excessive 
distribution of alcohol among the Indians; the profits it brought 
did not seem to them sufficient compensation for the disastrous 
effects. For a long time it remained largely a clandestine traffic be- 
tween the employees—or the crews of the ships that periodically 
visited Hudson Bay!**—and the Indians.’ Nevertheless, it was 
necessary for the officers to consider the needs of trade and the de- 
sirability of turning against the Canadians the very arms they used 
against the Company. Sometimes, of their own accord, they 
would ignore the underground trade in alcohol, knowing all too 
well its effectiveness among the Indians.'®" It was in fact the only 
weapon that could prevail over the superstitious terrors which the 
pedlars knew how to inspire in the Indians to deter them from 
trading with the posts on the Bay,'*! and in spite of the Commit- 
tee’s efforts to prevent the spread of the practice, the officers were 
obliged to give in to the Indians’ wishes and turn as widely as their 
enemies to the help of the “bewitching liquor.”'* Unfortunately, 
the use of it spread everywhere among the Home Guard Indians, 

who quickly became accustomed to expecting alcohol in payment 
for any work they did: the women demanded this form of remun- 
eration as eagerly as the men.’** Thus the familiar scenes were re- 
enacted around the Hudson Bay factories, accompanied by a li- 
cence that encouraged prostitution. This took place especially at 
trading times and when the Hudson's Bay Company’s ships paid 
their annual visits:'®* the crews often evaded the vigilance of their 
officers'® and secretly provided alcohol to the Indians. The chiefs 
of the posts did in fact redouble their precautions and punished se- 
verely any infractions of the regulations that came to their notice, 
but they could not prevent all communication between their men 
and the native people, nor could they halt the abuses that resulted 
from the moral degradation of these primitive people.'*” Follow- 
ing the example of the peoples of the interior, the Indians of the 
shoreline did not hesitate to give their women to Europeans for a 
ration of alcohol,'** The latter, in their turn, exploited the aban- 

donment of Indian women in a state of intoxication.'** Did these 
excesses lead to violences comparable to those committed by the 
Canadians during their occupation of Port Nelson? Examples of 
such violence are extremely rare, but not entirely lacking,'’® and 
those that took place show that even the most severe of officers 
was never able to check completely the disorders around the trad- 
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ing forts, and that the personnel of the garrisons were by no means 
innocent of relations with Indian women. 

If the rigorous discipline that appears to have been firmly estab- 
lished in the forts, after’a period of excessive tolerance, succeeded 
in reducing the abuses of earlier years, the officers’ zeal was unable 
to eliminate the excesses that took place outside the posts; what- 
ever they might do, promiscuity between the two races flourished 
there, as witnessed by the spread of venereal diseases, among the 
Europeans as well as among the native people, and especially 
among the Indian women who frequented the Company’s estab- 
lishments. Threats of punishment'”! were not enough to repress 
the evil, since their effect was partly neutralized by the connivance 
of the doctors attached to the various posts. Numerous cases oc- 
curred not only in the early years, but even after discipline had 
been reinforced, and their extreme gravity alarmed the Com- 
pany’s directors.!” In 1763 they again urged their officers to keep 
watch so that contagion should not spread among the Home 
Guard Indians, whose numbers were already seriously eroded by 
epidemic sicknesses and the ravages of alcoholism.'” 

But it is not necessary, any more than in the case of the Cana- 
dian posts, to regard such excesses as typical of the relations estab- 
lished on Hudson Bay between whites and natives. Trapped be- 
tween the contradictory demands of the regulations they were in- 
structed to apply and the conditions of life to which they must 
necessarily make concessions, the officers could not avoid adopt- 
ing a system of compromise that sustained the directors’ official 
orders and made an external show of the behavior they prescribed, 
but at the same time accepted a situation which it was better to 
tolerate in moderation than to resist systematically all the laws of 
good sense. Consequently, in the posts on the shoreline, regular 
relations were established between whites and Indian women, in 
the form of unions limited to the period of the man’s term of ser- 
vice, Even the officers who made the greatest show of severity 
were no exceptions to this rule. They acted rigorously against the 
graver misdemeanors,' and, by requiring that their men keep up 
religious observances and submit to a regime of strict punctuality 
in their work, they sought to assure within their establishments 
the exemplary behavior which the Committee urged. But they 
had no thought of proscribing the very unions which they them- 
selves practised. The most conscientious of them, so as not to der- 
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ogate the rules of which they were the custodians, and not to give 
an example that could have led to numerous infractions, would 
forbid their own native companions to live in the forts they com- 
manded. 

Such was the case, apparently, of Joseph Isbister, whose strict- 

ness within his establishment was tempered outside its palisades, 
for his personal convenience, by a considerable tolerance.'” 
Others, less faithful to their instructions, openly allowed their 
women the benefits of living within the posts.'”* Andrew Graham 
recognized openly the universalization of this practice that ran 
counter to the Company's prohibitions.'”? Without officially 
granting any privileges, the governors also allowed great freedom 
of action to the lower officers.'* To the ordinary employees they 
permitted only relations outside the forts.'”” But even this rule 
could not be fully maintained: the employees’ women were too 
often employed on material tasks necessary to the life of the post 
for it to be possible to keep them entirely outside the establish- 
ments on the shoreline, and the chief factor of York declared per- 
sonally to the Committee that in such circumstances he was unable 
to carry out his orders strictly.'*° 

Thus, in the British factories, mixed unions became a regular 
practice which, though not officially recognized, was in fact toler- 
ated.'*? An example had been given already in 1714 by the appren- 
tice Richard Norton who, shortly after his arrival, married a Cree 
woman.'** In subsequent years the journals often show the native 
companions of officers of all ranks, or their parents-in-law, asking 
for the whites’ assistance in their old age, which they received 
generously in the form of temporary employment or rations of 
food,'** In 1802 the directors complained that the superior officers, 
almost all of whom had wives and children, did not charge against 
themselves the merchandise which they appropriated from the fac- 
tories’ stocks to clothe their families.'"* Several years later, when 
the settlement of Assiniboia was about to be established on the 
banks of the Red River, the commandant of York Factory, Wil- 

liam H. Cook, who himself kept several Indian women,'*® re- 
matked that mixed unions continued to be a general practice 
among the Company’s representatives.'** 

OBSTACLES TO THE 
ASSIMILATION OF THE RACES 

But, even if the situation in the posts on the Bay appeared to re- 
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semble that of the Canadian forts, there remained, in the concep- 
tion many of the officers held of their relations with the native 
peoples, a difference that prevents one from equating entirely the 
Canadians’ position with that of the Anglo-Saxons. It is evident, 
for example, that for William H. Cook the unions of the chiefs of 

posts with Indians was no more than a makeshift arrangement 
which circumstances necessitated, and not, as among the Cana- 

dians, a practical consequence of their virtual assimilation with the 
tribes of the West and even, for many of them, a desirable way of 

living which they accepted without effort. Thus the commandant 
of York Factory welcomed with favor the idea of founding at Red 
River a colony that would enable the officers to contract marriages 
with women of their own race; in this way they would no longer 
need to have recourse to Indian women, and he expressed the view 
that mixed marriages should henceforward be forbidden, except 

with the halfbreed daughters of officers.'*”7 Superintendent Wil- 
liam Auld shared the same prejudice against unions with Indian 
women. He refrained from recognizing as his wife the native 
woman he kept at Fort Churchill and whom he described merely 
as the “mother of my children.’’'** Like many others, he also was 
pleased with the creation of the colony which would hencefor- 
ward provide a home for the halfbreed families of the Company’s 
personnel,'** William H. Cook’s attitude suggests a feeling of 
pride that was repelled by the thought of such misalliances; it was 
the resentment of the civilized man who is convinced of his own 
superiority and in spite of it is constrained to accept a way of living 
close to that of the native peoples. Such a mentality was obviously 
remote from that we have observed among the personnel who 
came from Lower Canada. It emphasizes the lack of any true in- 
corporation between the two groups whom circumstances had ob- 
liged to come together, yet who remained, in spite of the forced 
intimacy of their links, completely unalike and lacking in mutual 
affinities. 

The viewpoint which many officers shared with the chief of 
York Factory created a somewhat false situation between the two 
races, When the governors did not hesitate to live with one or 
more Indian women, while they kept the men rigorously outside 
the posts, they provoked among the latter a legitimate resentment, 
which was not mitigated by the officers’ strict commercial hon- 
esty.!*° The Indians were not willing to accept the fact that, while 
making use of the women of the tribe, the chief of the post refused 
the menfolk free access to his establishment and did not allow 
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them to share the material advantages it might offer them. They 
therefore awaited the opportunity to take revenge for this remote- 
ness of the officials, which ran counter to the intimacy of their re- 
lations with the Indian women. It contradicted the conceptions 
held in their own society and provoked their extreme sensitivity to 
such an extent that they adopted an attitude that was not only in- 
solent but verged on the criminal. The circumstances surrounding 
the first destruction of Henley House make it clear that, even if 
Canadian provocations (which were particularly evident in the 
second attack on the post) had their share of responsibility, the re- 
sentment created among the Indians by the equivocal situation in 
which the private life of the chief within his post gave the lie to the 
rigidity of his public attitude, should not be ignored.'*! The mas- 
sacre of the little garrison at Henley House, though it did not pro- 
ceed from quite the same causes, was nevertheless strikingly re- 
miniscent of the massacre of the French at Fort Phelipeaux, whose 
memory haunted the Company’s London Committee and was 
used to justify its regulations. The discontent among the Indians 
was all the greater because Joseph Isbister had set out to strengthen 
the wavering discipline of Fort Albany after many years of in- 
dulgence that had made the Indians accustomed to complete free- 
dom of activity.'"? This sharp break with the methods of his pre- 
decessors earned the governor of Albany a lively unpopularity, 
and when the officer he appointed to operate Henley House dared 
refuse to the Indians, whose wives or daughters were publicly ad- 
mitted into the fort, freedom of access to it and free distribution of 

the presents and provisions they demanded, the inevitable tragedy 
occurred.'®* As we have seen, Isbister contributed through his 
own private life to the creation of an equivocal situation harmful 
to frank and open relations between whites and natives. All the 
same, the incident at Henley House must be regarded as an excep- 
tional one. The Indians seem to have become reconciled to the 
kind of compromise that was developed by the officers of the 
Hudson’s Bay Company, and relations settled down to a peaceful 
and neutral level, accompanied neither by true intimacy nor by ex- 
treme hostility. 

Thus, even though the severity of the Company's instructions 
suffered inevitable dilutions, they were not entirely devoid of 
practical effect, since they do in fact appear to have restricted free- 
dom of behavior, The large turnover of personnel at the posts, as 
well as the attitude many of the officers and even some of the men 
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developed in their relations with the native peoples, helped to frus- 
trate the free play of influences in a milieu where they might 
otherwise have led more than one employee toward the primitive 
life. Seldom in fact do the posts’ journals mention cases of their 
men giving in to an acceptance of the native way of existence.!* 
At Moose Factory, indeed, we find mention of an employee who 
had formed an alliance with an Indian family and surrendered to 
his desire to share their freely wandering life, But the measures 
immediately taken by J. Duffield made it impossible for him to 
complete a process that was so much opposed to the Company’s 
policies.'** In spite of the disorders whose existence is sometimes 
revealed to us by the documents of the trading posts, it was not in 
vain that the Committee decreed the measures intended to raise a 
barrier between the civilized and the primitive man that would 
prevent all true assimilation. 

THE SITUATION IN THE 
INTERIOR OF RUPERT'S LAND 

The relations that were created in the posts on the shores of Hud- 
son Bay inevitably underwent a certain change in the interior of 
Rupert’s Land, for it was impossible there to consider in the same 

way the effect of contact with native peoples and with their ways 
of life. As the nucleus of interbreeding that had first become estab- 
lished on the shoreline spread into the interior, the gap between 
Indians and white men was narrowed, owing to the effects of a 

situation that imposed on the employees a greater activity outside 
the forts and involved them more closely in the life of the native 
peoples; owing to the dilution of the strictness of official regula- 
tions in proportion to distance from the shoreline; and finally 
owing to the greater familiarity that in the isolation of these primi- 
tive regions drew the chiefs and their men more closely together 
and prevented the excessively severe application of discipline. This 
is not to say that the assimilation which failed to materialize on the 
coastline was here achieved to any great extent between the Hud- 
son's Bay Company's personnel and the Indians. The factors 
needed for a real coalescence were equally lacking in these cir- 
cumstances. The men were no more inclined to prolong their 
terms in the interior posts than they had been in those on Hudson 
Bay. In 1810 Colin Robertson described the mercenary attitude of 
a personnel which, desirous only of making the funds they had 
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hoped for, would abandon the Company’s service to return to 

their native lands as soon as they thought themselves sufficiently 
enriched,'** and he urged the Committee to compensate for this 
inferiority by turning more widely to recruits from Lower 
Canada. At the same time, Superintendent William Auld made a 
similar estimate of the situation.'’? The men did not let themselves 
be troubled by the requirement to pay for their return voyage that 
was imposed [on those who left before their term of engagement 
was over].'°* They abandoned Rupert's Land all the more readily 
since they had put down no roots there. If, like the men of Lower 
Canada, they had been animated by a true attachment toward the 
natural wilderness, or if they had been propelled by the same spirit 
of adventure, they would have more gladly renounced the tradi- 
tions that called them back to their country; they would have 
created for themselves a new mentality and have shed their preoc- 
cupation with economy. Being what they were, they could not es- 
tablish solid links with a milieu in which their failure to adapt, al- 
ready visible on the coast, became even more strongly evident. 

The distance which, during the years of immobility, had clearly 
separated them from the Canadians persisted in the interior of 
Rupert’s Land, and for all practical purposes destroyed any possi- 
bility ofa true identification of the newcomers with the native soc- 
iety. It was especially in their relations with the latter that the 
spontaneity of the Canadians showed up their failings. Not only 
did their psychology prevent them from having that instinctive 
knowledge which the recruits from Lower Canada possessed of 
native ways, but they never mastered the techniques of primitive 
living so far as to do without the services of such recruits and be- 
have in their new environment with the same ease as the Cana- 
dians.'** Hence arose an awkwardness and a timidity, and some- 

times an excessive stiffness of manner,*” which they sought to 
mitigate by their liberalities, so that trade would not be jeopar- 
dized and they could avoid alienating the people they had to 
humor even at the risk of looking small in their eyes. If the Cana- 
dian provoked the native’s resentment by his violent actions, the 
Hudson’s Bay Company’s personnel, on the contrary, even hesi- 
tated to avenge the insults of an Indian, for they felt too closely 
dependent on him and too uncertain of his reactions. The chiefs of 
the posts were obliged to be constantly on the watch because of 
the Indian’s propensity for thieving, while the Canadians had an 
intuitive awareness that forewarned them and enabled them a- 
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droitly to safeguard their interests.*°! An attempt by a drunken In- 
dian to murder a Hudson’s Bay Company employee would pro- 
voke neither reprisals nor reprimands, for the Company's officers 
feared to lose a hunter who was essential to the survival of the 
post.*"* Sometimes, without flinching, the Company’s men had to 
accept offensive practices on the part of the Indians which they 
could not avoid sharing.?°* 

It is true that the chiefs of the posts did not have the same free- 
dom of action as their Canadian counterparts. The Committee laid 
down for them a policy of peace at any price. If, on occasion, an 
officer gave in to an impulse of violence that involved the life of an 
Indian, he would anticipate the penalties that could not fail to be 
inflicted on him by deserting the Company’s service.** Such ex- 
cesses, in fact, rarely occurred, and in the interior, as well as on the 
coast, the relations between Anglo-Saxons and Indians, rarely dis- 

turbed by murders or surprise attacks, sustained that neutral 
character which eliminated either deep attachments or violent re- 
sentments .7°° 

But it goes without saying that the Hudson’s Bay Company’s 
personnel, once involved in the exigencies of material life in the 
North West, were bound to feel the effects of more immediate 

contact with primitive peoples and with the conditions of living 
inherent in their environment. For a long time the Company’s 
men acted as mere novices in Rupert’s Land. None of them ever 
enjoyed, as the Canadians did, the benefit of habits contracted in 
childhood, Nevertheless, the very force of circumstances obliged 
them to accommodate to the habits and associations of a milieu 
from which they did not find it possible to withdraw as they could 
on the coast. It was no longer a question of merely awaiting the 
arrival of the Indians and exchanging European goods for their 
furs; instead it became important that the personnel, if it did not 
wish to abandon the field to the Canadians, should learn from 

their methods and spread out among the native people. 
The Hudson's Bay Company’s men had gradually to resign 

themselves to the wanderings imposed on the petty trafficker in 
furs;?°7 this situation was not lacking in difficulties, and in 1805 

there were whole posts that did not dispose of a single individual 
capable of undertaking such expeditions.*"* Gradually also, they 
accustomed themselves to transporting the meat for which they 
went in search among the Indians.?°° Then it became necessary for 
them to learn the practices of the buffalo hunt, so that if necessary 
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they could make up for the failures of the Indians who were ex- 
pected to provision the forts.*"" A few of them even went of their 
own accord to stay among the Indians and become familiar with 
their languages and customs.*" Finally, when a post was 
threatened by famine, the garrison would be forced to seck its 
sustenance in the prairie and to conform completely, as the Cana- 
dians did, to the native nomad life.*"* Of course, such occupations 
were only temporary among the Company's employees, limited 
to the few years of their contracts of engagement, and too brief to 
lead to their absorption into the environment in which they 
moved. For all that, the experience could not fail to strengthen 

their contact with the land and its people; this was all the more so 

since the factors that on the coast reminded them of their home- 
land no longer acted so strongly once they had reached the in- 
terior. 

Here the instructions from the directors in London were no 
more than distant orders whose theoretical rigor could not survive 
the demands of a new environment. They were supposed to apply 
to the establishments in the interior as much as to those on the 
coast, and they showed, with regard to Rupert’s Land as well, just 
as great a preoccupation with hindering promiscuous intercourse 
between the Company’s men and Indian women and with impos- 
ing on everyone the strict observance of religious duties.*!* Of 
course, the chiefs of the posts could not entirely neglect their im- 
plementation, and here and there we see them becoming con- 
cerned over excessive licentiousness.?' But we also see them lay- 
ing down a line of conduct for men newly arrived in the territories 
of the interior in more moderate terms than the directors would 
have done.*! They clearly understood the need for evasion, They 
did not even think of opposing the unions which, even in the coas- 
tal factories, had ended by becoming a general practice, to whose 
law the exceptional men who pioneered the exploration of the in- 
terior were the first to submit, Such had been the case with Henry 
Kelsey, to whom, when he returned, the governor of York Fac- 

tory refused the right to bring his native wife into the fort, where 
he was attempting to apply his superiors’ instructions.*'® Such, 
later on, was also the case with Anthony Henday,”!’ and Joseph 
Smith,?!* who like the Canadians would go nowhere without their 
squaws; the now incumbent governor of York did not reprove 
them for their conduct.*"® 
When they chose a native companion in the interior of Rupert’s 
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Land, such men were not only obeying a human reaction to lone- 
liness, which still today can lead a civilized man to seek the com- 

pany of primitive people.*” The native wife was even more neces- 
sary to the Hudson’s Bay Company man than she was useful to 
the French Canadian, for she alone could initiate him into the sub- 
tleties of native thinking, on which the success of his trading oper- 
ations was closely dependent. Anthony Henday could only con- 
gratulate himself on the services which his squaw, who was al- 
ways ready to foil the duplicity or the calculating tricks of her 
congeners, rendered him in this domain,’ and James Isham 
openly criticized him for having refused to marry the daughter of a 
Blackfoot chief and thus having neglected an opportunity to en- 
sure the Company’s posts a profitable alliance.*#* Even more use- 
ful to the interest of trade was the custom among the Indian chiefs 
of admitting to their tents the men who ventured into the interior. 
The presence of white men in their families flattered the chiefs’ 
pride. Besides, it brought them numerous material benefits, for 

which they expressed their gratitude by doing their best to lead 
their followers to the English posts, whose profits they increased 
in this way.”** To refuse such hospitality, even though it went 
against the directors’ orders, could—like abstaining from any in- 
tercourse with Indian women—have endangered the prosperity of 
the British forts*** and widened the gap which so many cir- 
cumstances conspired to maintain between the two races. 

Furthermore, both officers and employees had before their eyes 
the Canadians’ example: the gains which the latter knew how to 
draw out of their unions with native women could not fail to in- 
spire the conduct of their rivals. Contrasting with the many ad- 
vantages enjoyed by their adversaries the more difficult position in 
which the Orkneymen found themselves and the great errors they 
made in their dealings with the native people,*** the officers did 
not hesitate to provide themselves with the indispensable Indian 
companions and tolerated an equal freedom among their men.**° 

If Indian women had already demonstrated in the posts on the 
shoreline the value of the material services they could offer, they 

appeared even more useful in Rupert’s Land, where the personnel 
spent their time on activities which called for the advice or the ac- 
tual assistance of native women, It was not unusual for such a 
woman to guide personally the expeditions made into areas where 
the Company proposed to erect new posts.**7 She would protect 
the men in regions infested by war parties," and keep them in- 
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formed of their competitors’ plans.*** Often she was called on to 
act as interpreter**’ or to carry out the tasks necessary for the 
maintenance of the men or the operation of the posts: at Ile a la 
Crosse, in 1810, it was Peter Fidler’s squaw who made up for the 

absence of personnel with any experience of fishing and who fed 
the garrison.**' At Edmonton, Manchester House, Brandon 

House, and in the posts on the Red River, the squaws carried on 

the same multitude of occupations as they did in the Canadian 
posts, cleaning and dressing beaver skins,** cutting the roots 
needed for caulking canoes and the grass needed to stuff the cracks 
in roofs, making and repairing moccasins and snowshoes, which 
the interior posts used more widely than those of the shoreline.** 
Thus it seems to have been even more necessary in the interior 
posts for the factors to classify Indian women as part of the per- 
sonnel regularly attached to the trading posts and to remunerate 
them on this basis for their services.*** 

The differences that had distinguished the English posts on the 
coast from those of the Canadians tended to vanish in the interior 
of Rupert’s Land. It is possible that in the British establishments 
the men were somewhat more reserved; the witness of Daniel 

Harmon, who contrasted the greater dignity they displayed on 
holidays with the intemperance of the Canadians, is confirmed by 
the impatience of those Canadians who entered the service of the 
English company toward the regulations—often no more than 
nominal —which it made a show of imposing on them.*** Doubt- 
less a stricter protocol, imported from the coast where the spirit of 
the homeland survived with greater rigor, also regulated the rela- 
tions between chiefs of posts and subordinate employees. Only 
notable Indians were freely received into the forts, and officially 
admitted to the commandant's table among his principal offic- 
ers.**° A more complete solidarity was bred of the difficulties of 
existence, and the Indian woman, present everywhere, doubtless 

communicated to the personnel a little of her own egalitarian out- 
look. For the presence of the native wives and mixed-blood 
families of commandants and employees was the most striking 
characteristic of the English as of the Canadian posts.?*” There 
would also be numerous native families whose fathers had left 
them in the post’s charge and with whom it was more difficult to 
avoid contact than it had been in the factories on Hudson Bay.** 

Above all, the state of mind was not the same as on the coast. 
Inevitably it was impregnated with the mentality that existed in 
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the Canadian posts. These were too near and—as we have seen— 
too often associated with the life of the English establishments by 
the rendering of reciprocal services, by the visits competing trad- 
ers made to each other, and by the mutual assistance they would 
lend each other in preventing the pillages of the prairie Indians ,*** 
for their influence not to affect the British posts. The presence of a 
certain number of Canadian recruits in the English establishments 
favored the spread of that mentality. In finally moving away from 
the coastline, the Scots and the Anglo-Saxons themselves acquired 
new inclinations. 

In spite of the admonitions they had received, soon after enter- 
ing the interior they were liable to surrender to the sway of their 
passions.“° When the recruitment of personnel became increas- 
ingly difficult because of the war with France, the Company’s 
men, knowing they were indispensable, abandoned their docil- 
ity.**! They accepted less willingly the constraint of long-lasting 
engagements, and endured less easily the rules which the gover- 
nors had attempted to sustain on the coast. The officers even com- 
plained that some of them had been converted too completely to 
French ways.**? When attempts were made to stop them arriving 
at York Factory accompanied by their squaws, many abandoned 
the service rather than allowing their personal freedom to be li- 
mited.*** Faced with such a state of mind, the severity of orders 
tended to slacken; there was no longer the same strictness in keep- 
ing up appearances, and relations with the native people showed a 
more evident loosening than in the initial [coastal] sector of the 
Company’s enterprises.*** Naturally, with the spread of alcoholic 
drinks, the loosening of relations increased,*** and prostitution 
was more widely practised.**° Sometimes—but fortunately only 
rarely—the employees in the posts would abandon themselves, 
under the influence of drink, to the same criminal excesses as the 

natives "47 
Because of the spread of mixed marriages, and because the offic- 

ers and men more often found it necessary to adopt native styles of 
living, it is certain that in the interior of Rupert’s Land the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company’s personnel were subjected more directly to 
the influence of the environment that surrounded them. The al- 
liances they contracted gradually had their effects, tying the men 
more closely to this land where at first they had been merely 
strangers. Soon such influences would help to keep a number of 
them in the North West, particularly when, as in the Red River 
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colony, they found the means of providing more adequately for 
their children and of bettering their futures. But a true assimila- 
tion, similar to that established between the Canadians and the na- 
tive societies, still did not take place among the employees of the 
British company, Not only did their upbringing and their past 
lives make it difficult for them to undergo a spontaneous adapta- 
tion, but the attitude we have noted in men like William Auld and 

William H. Cook must also, to a degree, have existed among the 

officers in the interior posts and have set them against the kind of 
coalescence which the Canadians had achieved. 

One significant factor is the absence, between the Company's 
personnel and the native populations, of a class like the freemen 
who established between the Canadians and their primitive 
neighbors an especially strong link of intimacy. The instances of 
drifting into the native life, common enough among the Cana- 
dians to have given birth to a highly individualized category of 
men, were rare among the Hudson’s Bay Company's employees, 
at least so far as one can judge from the documents at our disposal. 
The examples one notices here and there seem to have been excep- 
tional, like the instances we have observed on the coast, such as the 

two employees we have already cited in the early years of penetra- 
tion, Isbister and Peterson; such as John Richards, whom the jour- 
nal of Brandon House represented as giving himself up to odious 
excesses in the company of the Indians and abandoning the fort to 
share their life.*** Since, at the same time, most of the employees 
returned to their homeland once their contracts were ended, the 

Company long remained lacking in a group like the freemen who 
showed themselves so useful in the pursuit of commercial opera- 
tions. Here was a failing the extent of whose harmfulness to their 
enterprises the Hudson’s Bay officers quickly understood. They 
contrived to fill it only incompletely, at first by appealing to the 
freemen belonging to the rival group. Later they tried to deal with 
the situation by adopting in their turn the practice of releasing on 
the spot those of their men who were willing to take up residence 
in the country of the West. But this practice only appeared rather 
late,**" at a time when the Métis group was already solidly estab- 
lished, and it affected only a small number of men, of whom most 

were released either for lack of zeal or because of disobedience .** 
Meanwhile a few Canadians who had been incorporated into the 
Company’s personnel obtained their freedom from it in the same 
conditions as the engaged men received it from the North West 
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Company.**! Like the few Scots or Orkneymen who were freed of 
their obligations, they adopted in the prairie the way of life of the 
freemen, hunting fur-bearing animals whose skins they reserved 

for their former masters,” providing transport with the horses 
and the rough vehicles that formed their only capital,*°* or under- 
taking ever more distant expeditions in search of bison.*** But 
they remained few in numbers, and until the fusion of companies 
in 1821 allowed the Anglo-Saxons to make use of their rivals’ 
freemen, the Hudson’s Bay Company appears to have been de- 
prived of this intermediary element which formed the best step- 
ping stone beween the two races. 

Thus, the increasing reconciliation established between the 

Hudson’s Bay Company's personnel and the native peoples from 
the threshold of Rupert’s Land to the immensities of its internal 
territories did not give place to a true assimilation of races and cul- 
tures, A demarcation remained, varying in sharpness from place to 
place, such as the Canadians had never conceived, It extended 

beyond the shoreline the spirit of the regulations which the Lon- 
don Committee had formulated at the end of the seventeenth cen- 
tury and thus from the beginning it contributed to the distinction 
between the two nuclei of interbreeding which formed around the 
respective penetration routes of the Canadians and the Anglo- 
Saxons. 





CHAPTER EIGHT 

THE APPEARANCE OF 

THE METIS PEOPLE 

THE FIRST METIS 

It is only toward the middle of the eighteenth century that one be- 
comes aware of the presence around the posts on Hudson Bay of 
the earliest representatives of the Métis people. In 1743 James 
Isham, the Governor of Prince of Wales Fort, described in his 

“Observations on Hudson’s Bay” the new type of people who 
were emerging out of that contact between the races which the 
Company had striven in vain to prevent. Though his post had 
been in existence for a mere twenty years, such a short period had 
been enough to bring into being an offspring of “mixed blood,” 
sufficiently distinct from the ethnic groups that had produced it to 
assume its own individuality and to introduce among the native 
people manifest evidence of the dilution of their indigenous na- 
ture, Despite the silence of the records in this respect, it is logical 
to assume that the posts of York Factory, Fort Albany, and Moose 
Factory, longer established and better manned, would present an 
even more numerous population of mixed bloods at the same 
period than the fort on Churchill River. In fact, as early as 1682 the 
Committee in London had thought it desirable to intervene by 
reprimanding the heads of its posts for their excessively wide- 
spread practice of allowing and maintaining large numbers of In- 
dian women in their establishments. In view of such official disap- 
proval aroused by their indulgence, we may justly assume that the 
commandants of the forts would be disinclined to record in their 
journals of correspondence the presence of a progeny that would 
serve as evidence of their breach of official orders. 

We are in fact no better informed about the first origins of the 
Canadian Métis. None of the French explorers—Dulhut, Jacques 
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de Noyon, or even La Vérendrye himself—whose narratives are 
more ample and precise than those of their predecessors, pays any 
attention to the emergence of that population which in the early 
years of the eighteenth century must clearly have already been rep- 
resented on the threshold of the West. Yet the obscurity of the in- 
dividuals concerned, and their virtual absorption into the ranks of. 
the native societies, may help to explain the apparent impercep- 
tiveness of the explorers so far as they were concerned. 

Indeed it is only the documents of the Hudson’s Bay Company 
that help us envisage their first appearance. Yet even here the allu- 
sions are often too vague for us to decide exactly whether they 
imply the existence of individuals of mixed blood or pure blood. 
In what way, for example, must we interpret such expressions as 
“French Indians” or “woodrunners,”’ which are endlessly repeated 
in the texts that have come down to us? Sometimes there is no 
possibility of doubt; in one instance it is quite evidently a matter of 
Indians affiliated to the French cause, and in another of ‘“coureurs 
de bois” from Lower Canada.! But there are times, on the other 
hand, when the texts actually differentiate “French Indians” from 
both Canadians and natives; in placing them apart from the others, 
the writers are perhaps describing individuals near enough to the 
Indians to be confused with them, yet offering affinities with the 
French which justify the name by which they are described.? In the 
same way, when they talk of coureurs de bois as “half-French,” 
one is tempted to see in them individuals so closely associated with 
the primitive way of life that they no longer look like Frenchmen,’ 
and one may suppose that already in their ranks there were Métis 
whose presence gave them an appearance closer to that of the In- 
dian. This is all the more likely since the dates when the “French- 
Indians” or “woodrunners” are mentioned logically coincide with 
the epoch—the first quarter of the eighteenth century —during 
which one must accept the Métis as being already numerous 
enough to attract the attention of the Hudson's Bay Company's 
officers. 

It is, moreover, along the trails at the bottom of the Bay (James 
Bay), the routes of penetration most directly communicating with 
the St. Lawrence and the Great Lakes, where the French had been 
established long enough to have given birth to a Métis population, 
that the texts indicate the presence of those individuals whom we 
may regard as the descendants of the earliest mixed unions. The 
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journey undertaken at the same period from Lake Superior to 
York Factory by the Métis Joseph La France, “native of Michili- 
mackinac,’”* helps to confirm us in the opinion that the allusions to 
“French Indians” in the English texts refer to the most outlying 
groups of Metis whose existence one can recognize. 

In the West properly speaking, that is to say in the region ex- 
tending beyond Lake Superior, the origin of the Métis entirely 
eludes us. Yet if one remembers that, from the first quarter of the 
eighteenth century onward, French penetration undoubtedly 
began along the routes between Lake Superior and Lake Win- 
nipeg, and henceforward continued intermittently, involving ap- 

preciable numbers of men, in the region of Rainy Lake up to the 
time when La Vérendrye extended and stabilized his positions, it is 
difficult to escape the conclusion that, from the early days of the 
eightcenth century, a scattering of Métis must have figured among 
the native peoples around Rainy Lake. The groups of French who 
established themselves on the shores of Hudson Bay at the period 
of the enterprises of Radisson and the Chevalier de Troyes and 
later at the time of Iberville’s exploits, and stayed on until the Tre- 
aty of Utrecht, must also have brought about an early mingling of 
races, The texts say nothing of this, but its development can be 
deduced from the kind of relations that came into being between 
the French and the native people. Thus, at the time when the 
Meétis—French or Canadian—make a confused appearance in the 
trails that pierce the Shield in the direction of the Bottom of the 
Bay, one can as easily envisage them emerging beyond Lake 
Superior, and mingling, on the shoreline of Hudson Bay, with the 
first mixed-bloods of Scottish or Anglo-Saxon extraction, whose 

origins Isham’s text justifies us in attributing to the beginning of 
the eighteenth century. Unfortunately we cannot actually trace the 
evolution of the Canadian Métis before the end of the eighteenth 
century. At this point, however, the texts represent them as a 
group already solidly established and ready to play a part in the 
events that mark the establishment of a sedentary economy in the 
western plains. Before that date we have at our disposal only the 
Hudson’s Bay Company’s documents which, if they contain a 
growing number of allusions to the halfbreed population that was 
growing up around the Anglo-Saxon trading posts, virtually 
ignore —despite its undeniable numerical superiority —the group 
that sprang from the French-Canadian race. 
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THE PEOPLE OF MIXED BLOOD ON HUDSON BAY 
AND THEIR EARLY ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL STATUS 

Of the first mixed-bloods of Scottish or Anglo-Saxon origin the 
Company’s documents present a somewhat flattering picture. To 
James Isham’s description, which applied to Prince of Wales Fort, 
Andrew Graham in his collection of observations soon added a 
more general description of the children born of mixed unions. 
According to him, in 1768 they formed an important human ele- 
ment around the various posts along the shoreline. “Although re- 
lations between native ‘ladies’ and the Company’s employees are 
forbidden, a numerous halfbreed progeny exists in every fort.’”® 
Both Isham and Graham saw in these people the signs of superior- 
ity to the native race. They were more active, more adept at the 
use of bow and gun, more inclined to adapt themselves to Euro- 
pean ways. Cleaner and more civilized in appearance than the In- 
dians, they displayed a straightforward and vigorous bearing. 
Their hair, fair and often curly, differed from that of the natives, 

which was black as ebony, straight and coarse, and hanging 
uncared-for to their knees. Their skin color, faintly coppery, was 
also quite different from the densely yellow tint of the Indians, 
while their blue eyes and clearly delineated fair eyebrows added to 
their distinctiveness and often conferred great beauty on the faces 
of their women.® 

At this period, if one accepts the remarks recorded by Isham and 
Graham, a youth of mixed blood with the sense of superiority 
which he did not hesitate to express’ toward the native races seems 
to have attained a certain social equilibrium. Fondly regarded by 
the native woman who had borne him and to whom he was at- 
tached enough to help her in old age, he was also accepted by the 
whites who, detached in their frontier posts from the prejudices of 
the homeland, did not think of applying to him the kind of ostra- 
cism that is nowadays so prevalent in the society of the West.* He 
had not broken any of his original attachments. If he gloried in the 
superiority of his ancestry to that of the Indians, he did not forget 
the mother who had lavished affection on him, out of natural sen- 

timent but also doubtless from pride in the links which a child of 
mixed blood established with a people who from the beginning 
appeared as a “privileged race.”” Unlike the primitive peoples of 
Tasmania and Australia, who would often kill at birth children of 
mixed blood," the Indians accepted them without discrimination 
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and even allowed them a more favored status than their own des- 
cendants,'® and did not hesitate, after the father’s departure, to 
adopt into the mother’s tribe such children of mixed blood as had 
not grown up in native families.'' At first sight, if one can judge 
from the observations made by Isham and Graham, the mixed 

bloods on the shores of Hudson Bay round about the middle of the 

eighteenth century seem to have benefited from a combination of 
factors eminently favorable to their existence, to their activities, 

and to the rise of the new race which they represented. 
At the same time, if one compares these rather generalized re- 

marks with the scanty records we possess from the same period, it 
seems as though from the beginning the small groups of mixed- 
bloods on Hudson Bay were subjected to a variety of factors, 
some of which tended toward their elevation and others toward 
their debasement to the level of the native people.'* Absorption 
into the primitive society did not resolve for all of them the prob- 
lems aroused by the departure of their fathers. Many of them, and 
especially the children of employees of lower rank—and even 
more those who owed their birth to transitory unions and whose 
fathers were actually unknown—grew up among the Indians, 
mingled with their families, and quickly lost the memory of their 

origins. No doubt the special attention which the Indians paid to 
them, and the affection which their adoptive fathers lavished on 

them,'* encouraged a feeling of superiority on their part. But their 
upbringing differed in no way from that of the native children. It 
consisted of the usual training in meeting the exigencies of the en- 
vironment, and in the adoption of the simple moral doctrines of 

Indian society.'* As soon as they wedded a woman of pure race, 
they disappeared into the native background, and became ab- 
sorbed into the ranks of the Home Guard Indians, of whom An- 
drew Graham declared that such mixed bloods formed the major- 
ity.'® In the eyes of the Company's officers they were, like the rest 
of the “home guards,” merely fishermen and hunters, and this was 

the role that, at the beginning of the nineteenth century, was re- 
served for many of them." 

But, as well as this category whose members so quickly sank 
back into primitive life, another group emerged that remained 
more directly associated with the life of the forts, and whose closer 
relations with the whites seemed destined to offer them a higher 
status. These included the offspring of officers of higher rank, the 
sons of the heads of posts, or those children of more modest 
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employees who had passed their early years in the immediate 
neighborhood of the forts and in the company of fathers who be- 
came separated from them only on the day of their departure. 
Even in those early days we can detect the play of causes that could 
neutralize the potentialities which such individuals might owe to 
their birth and their early education, and which already deprived 
some of them of any clear way of entry into either of the two 
societies to which they could lay claim. It is certain that, in the de- 
solate regions of Hudson Bay where, in their isolation, the men 
felt the need for a family life strongly enough to demand on occa~ 
sion the breaking of their contracts of employment so as to return 
to their native land, many must have become deeply attached to 
the children of mixed blood whose presence filled the gaps in their 
existence.'? Even those who were already married at home could 
not avoid nourishing a lively affection for their new families. To be 
convinced of this, it is enough to glance through the letters which 
some of the officers exchanged with the Committee in London in 
the hope of obtaining permission from their directors to take their 
children home, Thus in 1783 the commandant of Fort Albany 
begged the Company to mitigate in his favor the strictness of the 
instructions it had laid down on this subject: ‘An infant that has 
the tenderest claims upon me, and looks up to me for protection 
and support demands that I should not (whatever fault originally 
there may be in his very existence) increase it by leaving him in 
this country, a helpless orphan—unprotected.”’'* Before leaving 
York Factory in 1772, Andrew Graham had expressed himself in 
terms just as urgent, when he appealed to the directors, in the 
name of their ‘‘duties as men and Christians,”’ to let him take his 
daughter back with him to his native land.'* Sometimes the father 
would be unable to endure the separation, and, after going home, 
would ask to be allowed to return so that he might settle on Hud- 
son Bay and share the life of his mixed-blood family .*° 

There were times when the chiefs of the posts hesitated to ter- 
minate the service of ordinary employees, despite their lack of 
zeal, because they anticipated the sorrow such men would feel on 
abandoning their children, and the children’s unfortunate situation 
once their fathers had departed.?! Samuel Hearne, for one, des- 
ctibed the excessive affection that Europeans customarily showed 
toward their children of mixed marriages; they loaded them with 
the tokens of affection, shielded them from the privations inherent 

in the life of these desolate lands, and supplied them with an excess 
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of food and clothing.** Moses Norton, the halfbreed son of 
Richard Norton, who in 1762—several years after his father— 

succeeded to the command of Prince of Wales Fort,®* showed this 

kind of excessive affection toward his daughter Mary. There were 
times when even ordinary employees, despite their more modest 
means, adopted a similar attitude,** which doubtless showed not 

only the depth of their feelings, but also the desire to remove their 
children from the influence of the primitive environment and give 
them a level of existence more in conformity with civilized ways 
of living. 

Unfortunately, once the father's contract expired, he was ob- 

liged to take the homeward road and abandon his children and 
their mother. He could not even think of settling in the country. 
Before Lord Selkirk’s enterprise in 1812, the absence of a settle- 

ment colony gave him no alternative but to adopt the nomad life 
of the Indians or to become dependent on the trading posts. But 
the Company could not allow its depots to become the haunt of 
men it no longer employed, whose age or infirmities might render 

them useless appendages.** And, since many of the officers already 
had wives and children in Europe,?* they were unable—without 
incurring the directors’ disapprobation and bringing down on 
themselves appropriate sanctions—to renounce the bonds that un- 
ited them with civilized society in favor of those that attached 
them to the primitive environment. 

The Committee was in part influenced by this last consideration 
when it forbade its men to take their mixed-blood children back to 
Europe. A few individuals, like Edward Jarvis or Humphrey Mar- 
ten, might manage to soften the strictness of the directors,*” but in 
general the Company remained opposed to a practice which, quite 
apart from the family complications that in many instances it 
created, had led in the early years, when permission was more 
freely given, to instances of great distress, and had involved the 

Company in heavy expenses which it soon refused to accept. If the 
fathers died, their children were often completely isolated in a 
world where they had neither friends nor resources, so that they 
had no alternative but to call upon the Company’s generosity.** 
With a view to preventing the repetition of such situations the 
Company had rigorously forbidden the captains of its ships to ac- 
cept any family on board the craft that supplied Hudson Bay.” It 
was in these circumstances that Andrew Graham’s request in favor 
of his daughter was rejected.*° In 1791, intensifying the severity of 
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its instructions, the Company decided no longer to accept the in- 
creasingly numerous demands of the officers who asked for simi- 
lar privileges for their children.*! If, occasionally, it allowed 

breaches of this rule, it was only in exceptional circumstances 
when an assurance has been received that the individuals involved 
disposed of sufficient capital to save their children from all risk of 
poverty after the parents’ death.** 

Otherwise, the officer who had truly at heart the fate of the 
child he was forced to leave behind on the shores of Hudson Bay 
could mitigate the uncertainties of its future only by guaranteeing 
a payment each year for its benefit, or by making a deed of gift 
which he would deposit in the Company’s hands so that its in- 
terest, paid regularly, might assure it the benefit of an income. The 
greater affluence of the superior officers allowed them to follow 
this procedure more often than the simple employees, and as most 
if not all of them had families of mixed-blood,®* such deeds of gift 

became a general practice in the posts on the Bay. 
They were sufficient to provide the young mixed bloods with 

clothing and provisions of food, whose distribution was a continua- 
tion of the indulgences their fathers had hitherto lavished on them.™* 
Ferdinand Jacobs, for example, regularly sent to his daughter and 
grandchildren while he lived the annual sum of 5 guineas, which was 

dispensed to them in the form of blankets and cloth;* after his death, 
the executors of his will increased the amount of this periodic pay- 
mentto£1().*° Moses Norton leftan annual legacy of £10 to his mixed- 
blood sister and her daughter, who also received its value in clothes 

and blankets.*’ In the same way, Matthew Cocking provided for the 
needs of his three daughters by an annual provision of £6, which he 
confided to the Company to be dispensed in kind.** One could mul- 
tiply the examples.*® Officers at all levels in this way credited to the 
accounts of their children sums of varying importance, whose pay- 
ment the Company or sometimes their legitimate spouses were 
commissioned to ensure.*’ Such commissions were punctually fulfil- 
led by the Company, butit refused the least generosity in the absence 
of any provision, and it took the precaution of asking the heads of 
posts for certificates attesting that the beneficiaries were stillalive.*! 

This attentiveness of the Hudson’s Bay Company’s officers did 

not, however, compensate for the effect of their absence. By pro- 
viding for their children the modest revenues intended to protect 
them from the uncertainties of their material existence, they could 
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postpone their absorption into native society, but not entirely pre- 
ventit. Left to themselves, or to theinfluence ofan Indian mother, the 
children quickly ceased to findin the pension granted to them enough 
to live on without haying recourse to the nomad occupations of 
hunting and fishing. Often the gift to them, represented merely by 
the interest on shares deposited with the Company’s directors, 
rapidly declined in value, and, after the father’s death, it might prove 
insufficient to provide for their material needs,*? for it was seldom 

that the officers, excepting the commandants of the mostimportant 
posts, could guarantee them an annual income in the order of £15— 
20, While they were alive, they would sometimes increase the 
amount of their gifts. But afterward these were reduced, in most 
cases, to an annual interest of a few pounds which, shared among 
several children, represented merely the value of a small quantity of 
trade goods.** Gradually, the sons of officers fell to the level of the 
children whose less prosperous fathers wereinno position to provide 
any income whatever ,**and whom theheads of the posts, touched by 
compassion for their need, would assume the responsibility of clo- 
thing at the expense of their establishments."® 

In fact, after the departure of their fathers, nomadism quickly 
became the customary way of life for officers’ sons, with no dis- 
tinction of grade. Their presence is noted here and there, some- 
times at Fort Severn, sometimes at Fort Albany, sometimes at 
York Factory, It is evident that such mixed bloods had no fixed 
residences. Sometimes they appeared at the forts merely to pick up 
the money or goods that were due to them.*® Their nomadic wan- 
derings were governed by those of the Indians with whom they 
mingled their existence, For those among them whose fathers had 
been careful not to detach them entirely from the primitive envi- 
ronment, there was no abrupt breach of continuity in their lives at 
this point. Samuel Hearne described the chief factor Ferdinand 
Jacobs as conscious of the need to take the precautions on which 
depended the happiness if not the lives of his children. He took 
care to bring up his own daughter to experience the exigencies of a 
pitiless milieu, and the latter was afterward able to marry one of 
the better Home Guard Indians and to become as useful a compan- 
ion to him as any Indian woman, without experiencing the shock 
that awaited those young women of mixed blood who had been 
deprived of any preparation for the primitive existence.*” In the 
same way, the half-Indian family of Andrew Graham shared 
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the life of the native people at Fort Churchill where he assumed 
control;** Humphrey Marten, the commandant of York Factory, 
confided his two children to the care of his squaw’s relatives;** fin- 

ally, James Swain, an officer of the same grade, employed his In- 

dian wife and his own daughter, in the company of the Indian 
women attached to the post, in carrying out the material tasks that 
were the laters’ speciality." In the same way the families of the 
ordinary employees often mingled with those of the native people; 
they imitated their occupations and followed, though to a lesser 
degree, their nomadic ways.°! It was natural that such individuals, 
accustomed to Indian conceptions of life, should suffer relatively 
slightly from the departure of their fathers. Some mixed bloods 
even preferred the freedom and hazards of the hunter’s life to the 
montonous regularity of the tasks to be undertaken in the trading 
posts.** For them, absorption into native society came automati- 
cally. Lacking any solidly established religious principles, because 
they had been brought up too close to the Indians, they quickly 
surrendered—with few exceptions—to the extreme freedom of 
morals that prevailed among the native people, and adopted the 
latter’s already profoundly changed culture.** 

For others, who were victims of the excessive affection of their 
fathers, the latter’s departure created a rupture in their lives, whose 

first symptoms appeared immediately; this hindered any normal 
return of the young people of mixed blood into native society. 
Brought up to follow the conceptions and habits of white society, 

they suffered from the beginning a moral disequilibrium, which 
removed any possibility of their complete absorption into primi- 
tive existence. An assumption of superiority was evident from the 
beginning in their attitude toward the native people, manifested 
timidly—as Andrew Graham noted’* by most of the mixed 
bloods, but more noticeable among others, whom it encouraged 
to consider themselves the equals of the whites and to aspire to the 
same employments as they followed.’ Whatever material advan- 
tages they received from their absent fathers tended to sustain 
them in this feeling, which one encounters in all the groups of 
mixed blood who lived in the neighborhood of the two unequally 
evolved races from which they were born. The native race would 
seem to them an alien race, among whom they failed to make 
friendships, and in dealing with whom they did not encounter that 
generosity in helping each other which was so broadly practised 
within primitive society. It was this situation that Edward Jarvis 
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evoked before the Committee to justify his desire to bring home 
with him his son of mixed blood, who in his absence would be “a 

helpless orphan, unprotected to the mercy of unfeeling Indians.”"** 
Humphrey Marten put forward a similar argument.’ And in like 
vein, the journal of York Factory noted in 1813 the case of three 

young Métis who were reduced to a life of friendless isolation, 
since the subordinate employees resonsible for their existence had 
left them behind.** 

The situation was especially grievous when the mother of such 
children had herself, as a result of her new existence, broken her 
tes with her own tribe. This could easily happen if she herself 
were of mixed blood by origin, the daughter of a superior officer, 
Her marriage with the head of a post would then complete her as- 
similation with the whites, and her children, experiencing more 

directly the ascendancy of European culture, would feel them- 
selves too far removed from the native people to hope to adapt to 
their way of life or to gain free admittance into their tribes. Such 
was the situation that faced Edward Jarvis’s son; in yielding to this 
request, the Committee enabled him to avoid the loss of social 
position which his father feared. 

But the moral disturbance suffered by these children of mixed 
blood at a time, moreover, when the foundations of Anglo-Saxon 
society on the Bay were weak and its numbers limited, was also 
accompanied by a dislocation of their material existence. Samuel 
Hearne cites to us the example of Moses Norton's daughter who, 
having been too delicately brought up, perished of hunger and 
cold at the age of twenty-two in her mother’s family, and he 
blamed the improvidence of the officers, who too often neglected 
to give their Métis children the training that would enable them to 
face a primitive existence as soon as they no longer enjoyed their 
father’s material support,®* Often the heads of posts pleaded the 
precarious health of their children, and the perils of abandoning 
them to the rigors of native existence, when, contrary to the 

Committee's instructions," they asked to be allowed to bring 
them to Europe." It is true that the pensions paid to such children 
mitigated the uncertainties of their lives, but such support did not 
exempt them from the need to seek their subsistence in a difficult 
environment. If, after a few years, the father neglected to keep up 
payments, or if he did not dispose of a capital sufficient to provide 
for the child’s material needs, the latter’s situation could then be 
even more painful than that of the Indians. For the Company re- 
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fused to grant the benefit of its generosity to the sons of officers 
whose parents were well enough off to guarantee the endowment 
of their children; they even refused to include them in the distribu- 
tions of food which the heads of posts customarily made to the 
Indians who gathered around their forts.* 

In such circumstances, deprived of material help from the posts, 
and at the same time less equipped than the natives to exploit the 
resources of fishing and hunting, the young man of mixed blood 
indeed became a man without standing. His position was already 
that of the modern Métis, deprived by white society of all the 
kinds of material assistance which it distributed generously to the 
Indians settled on the reservations. As yet the situation existed 
only in embryo: according to the texts at our disposal, only a few 
familics® suffered from this total abandonment. Yet it is none the 
less interesting to be able to glimpse, from the beginning, one of 
the causes of the difficulties which the Métis suffer today in the 
provinces of the West. These consequences were already painful 
enough, in 1796, for the commandant of York Factory to take 

upon himself to expose to the Committee the destitution of these 
families in terms whose severity amounted to a frank reproach to 
the directors for their own severity.** 

THE REMEDIES FOR THE MIXED BLOODS’ LOSS OF 
STANDING 

The simplest solution consisted of preventing the disorientation of 
the young mixed bloods by preparing them for reabsorption into 
native society, whose circumstances would inevitably be imposed 
on those children who were abandoned. We have seen that some of 
the chief factors and officers of lower grade did not hesitate to 
make the sacrifices that such an eventuality demanded of their af- 
fection. But the judgment of Samuel Hearne seems clearly to indi- 
cate that there were many who did not follow the examples of 
Ferdinand Jacobs or James Swain. The petition which 110 officers 
and employees of all grades addressed to the Earl of Bathurst in 
1816, requesting him to constitute a colony that would give shelter 
to their families, is an even more significant indication of the up- 
bringing which the majority of the Company's personnel gave 
their children. The signatories declared that, having educated their 
children in the ways of the white men, they would not leave them 
to the mercy of savages, whose numbers they would augment 
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without “possessing those Arts and Habits which render a Savage 
Life supportable.” At that relatively late date, the signatories had 
the hope of soon finding in the colony of Assiniboia a refuge for 
their numerous families. In the years before the appearance of a 
settled way of life on the shores of the Red River, no solution of 
this kind could even be envisaged. It was therefore natural that the 
officers who had neglected to prepare for the break with their chil- 
dren by providing an appropriate training, or who were too am- 
bitious to accept the idea of their children returning to the primi- 
tive life, should dream of orienting them toward their own society 
as a preparation for their assimilation into the white race. 

Marriage to a white, whether an officer or an ordinary em- 
ployee, constituted for their daughters the first step in that process 
of assimilation. Such unions were frequent in the Company’s 
posts, where the whites were more ready to ally themselves to 
women who had been brought up in their own conventions.®* Ac- 
cording to Andrew Graham, officers’ daughters quickly found 
matches with their fathers’ successors," and in this way a number 
of women of mixed blood could escape submergence in native soc- 
iety. But this was only a temporary solution, for the departure of 
their husbands soon posed for them and their children an equally 
agonizing dilemma. Detached by birth and upbringing from na- 
tive society, lacking ties and sympathies in an environment with 
which they had lost contact, they were unable to orient their own 
daughters toward the tribes which they themselves had rejected, 
and the future of such children seemed, when their fathers de- 
parted, even more threatened than that of the first generation of 
halfbreeds. Thus the Factor John McNab in 1807 called the atten- 
tion of the Committee to the fate of girls of mixed blood and to 
the difficulty in protecting them from the vexations that awaited 
them in native society.” 

Male children escaped such vexations more easily, At least, for 
them the problem was at first sight less complex. They only 
needed to gain employment in one of the posts, and then they 
could be incorporated into its regular personnel and find, in the 

company of white men, the means of re-establishing themselves. 
The girls did not have the same opportunities, since their entry 
into the fort’s labor force merely meant their immersion in the 
ranks of Indian women employed in material tasks around the es- 
tablishment, and promoted rather than prevented their contact 
with primitive life. For the boys whom their fathers had been 
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careful to train in white men’s ways, there was no obstacle to their 
gaining employment. Their absence of technical training was 
hardly a drawback: work for laborers without special skills was 
not lacking in the posts. Neither the Anglo-Saxons nor the Scots 
could express any unwillingness to accept them in their midst, 
since they themselves, almost without exception, had mixed- 

blood families. Moreover, in a frontier setting and in the absence 
of European women likely to arouse in their men a racial prejudice 
against native women, they had as yet no serious feelings on the 
question of color, At most the youths of mixed blood might be 
exposed to a certain amount of ridicule among the whites because 
of the dark —though by no means black —coloring that sometimes 
emerged, following the Mendelian law of heredity, among 
mixed-blood children of the second generation. But for the mo- 
ment this was only an occasional manifestation, without im- 
mediate consequences, of the sense of inferiority which the color 

of their skin would later impose on Métis and mulattoes in 
Anglo-Saxon society.” 

During this preliminary period, the Company itself does not 
seem to have developed any prejudice of this kind. Nevertheless, it 
was only in a later epoch that the first employees of mixed blood 
figured on the lists of regular personnel in the trading forts. 
Though James Isham represented the mixed-blood group as al- 
ready numerous toward the middle of the eighteenth century, he 
had to wait until 1774 before his own son, Charles Price Isham, 
after several years of apprenticeship at Fort Severn, officially as- 
sumed the rank of laborer in the Lists of Servants at York Fac- 
tory;’! for this his antecedents had prepared him, since he had 
grown up around the fort in which he now became an employee 
and he had been able to familiarize himself there with the ways of 
the white men.”* 

In later years, recourse to mixed bloods in this field continued to 
be very slow, It was only in 1783-4 that two of them appeared in 
the registers of employment alongside young Isham, and, like 
him, in the rank of laborers, one at Eastmain and the other at Hen- 

ley House.’* Indeed, it seems evident that for a long time the 
Company remained uninterested in the fate of children of mixed 
blood. It is true that in 1775 the Committee urged Humphrey 
Marten to prepare for useful employment the two young children 
of an officer whose death had left them no other resources than a 
capital of £9/3/0.” But this seems to have been a whimsical act 
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that was not followed up, and it was only in 1794 that the Company, 
doubtless responding to the reiterated complaints of its agents on the 
dearth of personnel in its establishments, formally authorized the 
chief factor of Fort Albany to engage the adult sons of its “old 
employees."”* After this time, while giving preference to the sons of 
superior officers and of the most esteemed employees,”® and also 
reserving posts for the sons of the doctors attached to the various 
establishments” (in other words for the individuals best prepared for 
the disciplines of the trading forts), the Company also engaged the 
sons of more obscure employees, of simple laborers whose aptitudes 
are not even recorded in the lists. In this way orphans without any 
resources were eventually spared the hardship of being engulfed in 
Indian society or the humiliation of a loss of standing that was even 
more painful than the mere fact of being absorbed into the primitive 
world.” 

From this point onward the custom was established of each year 
engaging a certain number of employees of mixed blood in the 
posts on the shoreline and also in the interior.”® The growing diffi- 
culty of recruiting manpower in Europe as a result of the continu- 
ing war with France, and the rigorous economies that the Com- 

pany was forced at this time to accept,*” quickly accelerated this 
tendency, and the Committee openly manifested the desire to give 
an increasingly important place in its establishment to young men 
of mixed blood. In 1806 it even asked the governor of York Fac- 
tory to supervise their instruction so as to enable them to occupy a 
greater variety of posts,"’ and from 1800 onward their numbers 
never ceased to grow.** 
Among the rather colorless group of Europeans who rep- 

resented the Hudson’s Bay Company in the interior, the mixed 

blood Charles Price Isham, whose name was linked with the very 
first attempts at penetration, stands out in sharp relief. In 1775 he 
went to the interior post newly erected by Samuel Hearne [Cum- 
berland House] to carry on trade there with the Indians.*’ Perhaps 
the commandant of York Factory hoped to use Isham’s relation- 
ships to make up for the poor training of his men in the milieu 
where they would find themselves, It is certain that in his trading 
enterprises, which he soon extended to the rich sector of Swan 
River," Isham showed a remarkable knowledge of the country 
and its difficulties, as well as of its peoples. His training had made 
him a successful hunter,** while his origins and his knowledge of 
their languages*® made him welcome among the native peoples. 
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Thus he was able to compensate for that failure of the Anglo- 
Saxons to become absorbed into the native milieu which had al- 
ways been the Hudson's Bay Company’s weakest point.*” More in 
tune with the psychology of primitive people, he was successful in 
winning them over as allies against the Canadians and in inspiring 
them with his own resentment against the Company’s enemies. 
He was ready to oppose violence against violence, and the pedlars 
accused him of inciting the murder of several of their men.** His 
great adaptability enabled him to mediate with ease between 
whites and Indians, whom he excelled in cunning. Finally, on the 
physical level, he showed a greater resistance than the native 
people to the contagious sicknesses imported by Europeans: in 
general, these appear to have been less deadly to those of mixed 
blood, who were perhaps protected by inherited immunities." It 
is not surprising that in such circumstances the Canadians should 
have counted him one of their more formidable enemies," or that 
he should have quickly climbed the ladder of the Company’s ser- 
vices, especially distinguishing himself by the qualities that ena- 
bled him to adapt to a primitive land and by the aptitudes that 
were derived from his upbringing and his ancestry. These varied 
assets manifested themselves equally in his organization of canoe 
transport, which was allotted to him at Cumberland House and 
Hudson House in 1785, in the function of interpreter and linguist 
which he fulfilled from 1786 to 1787 at York Factory, and in the 
role of associate trader which he assumed at the same post and later 
in the interior, from which, in 1790, he was promoted to the rank 

of postmaster in the Company’s establishment at Swan River.*! 
His example showed how far the Company, lacking a personnel 
that could compete with the Canadians, was able to benefit from 
accepting the services of intelligent people of mixed blood brought 
up in the company of white people, but remaining close to the In- 
dians so that they never appeared among them as strangers. 

At the same time, the young mixed bloods tended to specialize 
in occupations that depended on good training in the conditions of. 
life in the West and in the habits of its peoples: in the navigation 
and construction of canoes, in which, whatever may have been 

their fathers’ positions, whether they were officers like John 
Thomas,® or doctors like John and Thomas Knight,’* or more 

modest employees like Thomas and William Richards,‘ they were 
particularly successful, thus making up for one of the principal 
weaknesses in the Company’s service; in the operation of moving 
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from post to post, in trafficking directly among the Indians, or in 
reconnaissance expeditions in connection with which the officers 
frequently called upon their experience;* finally, and by no means 
least important, in the role of interpreter. If they continued to show 
zeal and endurance, they might hope, as they grew older, to assume 
more important posts, involving greater responsibilities. As in 
Charles Price Isham’s case, they then became associated, as traders or 
assistant traders, inthe commercial operations of the trading posts, at 
salaries of £30 or £40 per annum."* Sometimes they even rose so far as 
to become the heads of posts of secondary importance,” or, like 
J. P. Prudenin Edmonton, to occupy under the title of master trader 
a position superior to that of the ordinary traders, which could put 
them—should the need arise—in charge of the fort’s commercial 
operations.” 

On the other hand, they were more rarely employed as artisans, 
or tradesmen, which was understandable in view of the difficulties 

of giving the young mixed bloods a specialized technical training 
in the trading posts. Here and there a few are mentioned—as ma- 
sons,** carpenters,'’’ coopers,'°' and shipbuilders. But these 
were exceptional cases which did not threaten the virtual 
monopoly that Europeans held on employments requiring long 
years of apprenticeship. At the same time, given the importance of 
providing for the material needs of life in an environment lacking 
in industries, the young mixed bloods tended to develop a manual 
aptitude which recalled that of the people of Lower Canada and 
which some of the factors recognized when they described them as 
“universal good hands”! 

Their superior qualities became especially evident in the provi- 
sioning of the interior posts and in the struggle against the Cana- 
dians. Here their association with the Indians provided a basis for 
their activity of which the mixed bloods took advantage with an 
ease facilitated by their affinities of race and nature. J. Thomas, 
the commandant of Moose Factory, displayed a special interest in 
the mixed bloods among whom his son held an honorable place, 

and in 1803 he wrote to the Committee that the interior posts re- 
lied on them to assure their provisioning and to hold their rivals in 
check." One has only to glance through the journals of the vari- 
ous posts, Edmonton, Moose Factory, Ile a la Crosse, to see noted 
from day to day the usefulness of the tasks they carried out in these 
two domains, which reproduced point for point the activity of the 
Canadians. They hunted game in company with the Indians, they 
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mingled with them to get their furs, they got round them cleverly 
so as to prevent their defection, and they were not deterred by the 
prospect of long marches during the most rigorous season of the 
year.'®® Around the Anglo-Saxon forts they played a role almost 
identical with that of the freemen around the Canadian establish- 
ments.'°° When the Company decided to establish itself perma- 
nently in Athabasca, it appealed at the same time to the French 
Canadians and to the young men of mixed blood whose value as 
fishermen and hunters it proposed to exploit.'”’ In the same way, 
when the commandant of York Factory in 1809 planned to recon- 
noitre the Canadian positions in the environs of Lake Winnipeg 
with a view to embarking on an energetic counteroffensive, it was 
to the mixed blood Thomas McNab that he confided the ac- 
complishment of this task, whose realization depended on a mas- 
tery of very difficult waterways ,'°* 

Again, it is interesting to observe that despite the privilege of 
their birth, the sons of superior officers were obliged, like the rest, 
to climb the preliminary steps of “apprentice’’ and “‘laborer,” and 
in this way worked beside the mixed bloods of more humble ori- 
gin. The nuances of class and lineage were thus dissolved in a 
common activity, in which the young men of mixed blood were 
equally oriented toward achievements that put to the test the qual- 
ities all of them had developed through their immersion in the 
primitive environment and their contacts with native people.'* 
The distance that separated the personnel of the rival companies 
was thus dramatically curtailed by the entry on the scene of a new 
factor. The Canadians were sharply enough aware of the changed 
situation to concentrate their hostility on this new generation of 
mixed ancestry, They developed against them a campaign of vio- 
lence and also of attempts at debauchery.''* 

On their side, the Hudson’s Bay Company's officers congratu- 
lated themselves on the zeal and efficiency of their new employees. 
In 1816, contrasting the mediocrity of the Orkneymen with the 
quality of recruits from Lower Canada, D. McPherson declared 
that the Canadians were superior to the Hudson’s Bay Company's 
personnel —always excepting the mixed bloods whom the organiza- 
tion was now bringing into its service;'" the report of 1822 from 
Rainy Lake declared that a mixed blood, by definition, was a 
“good trader.’’""* The appreciations of individuals of mixed blood 
in this early phase of their employment are no less laudatory. 
Terms such as “useful and active,” ‘successfully acting as mas- 
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ters,” “yery useful, like the rest of the native youths,’ recur con- 

stantly in the writings of officers called upon to express their opin- 

ions.1! 
Complaints are rare. Occasionally one encounters an accusation 

of laziness or of an inclination toward drinking.''* Sometimes a 
mixed blood may be reproached with lacking frankness and acting 
underhandedly in the interests of the Canadians.''* Such an accusa- 
tion reminds one of similar charges of duplicity against the In- 
dians, but in the absence of broader evidence it does not justify 
generalizations made on the basis of a tendency that seems to have 
been only sporadically manifested. Some mixed bloods surren- 
dered to the attractions of primitive existence: under the influence 
of a passing grievance or because of a natural preference, they 

gladly abandoned service in the posts for the freer life of the In- 
dians.!° A degree of negligence in the performance of their duties 
was sometimes imputed to the mixed bloods, and as they were less 
susceptible than the Scots to the attraction of monetary gains, the 
usual penalty of the partial withholding of their wages was no 
more successful with them than with the Canadians.''7 But on 
these few clues it is impossible to form any definite judgment. 
And it is hardly possible, given the almost unanimous evidence of 
the officers, to avoid the conclusion that the mixed bloods 

employed in the posts resembled the whites as much as—and 
perhaps more than—they did the native peoples. 

The custom of engaging mixed bloods during their extreme 
youth or at the beginning of adolescence—at anything from ten to 
fifteen years of age'!’—inevitably eased their adaptation to the 
methods of the dominant race and the disciplines of the service, 

while the very nature of the occupations they were asked to per- 
form safeguarded the links which their affinities and their nearness 
to the primitive world had in varying degrees established between 
children of mixed blood and native people. The formulas worked 
out by the Company, at the request of its officers and under the 
pressure of present needs, thus circumvented the life crisis that 

threatened children brought up too close to the posts; without de- 
taching them from the milieu into which they were born, it facili- 
tated the process by which they were gradually drawn back into 
the race of their fathers. 

At the same time, it offered the Hudson’s Bay Company incon- 
testable material adyantages, In recruiting its mixed-blood 
employees on the spot, not only did it avoid the travelling costs 
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involved in the engagement of hands from Europe, but it could 
pay wages lower than would have been acceptable to Scots or 
Orkneymen, If the need arose, it could even pay them in kind." 
In the first three years or so of their engagements, before they had 
gained the training needed for more important roles, the young 
men of mixed blood did not earn salaries of more than £6 per an- 
num, while the Europeans started with appointments of between 

£6 and £10, with increments, provided they were diligent, of £2 
per annum.'?° At the expiry of their first three-year contract, the 
wages of the mixed bloods increased to £10, or to £15 if they were 
clearly exceptional,'®! a sum which J. Thomas in 1804 recom- 
mended should be brought into line with the needs of existence in 
the neighborhood of £25 at the beginning of the third contract of 
engagement. As they advanced in grade, the employees of 
mixed blood began to gain remuneration equal to that of Euro- 
peans in the same role, but they were never able to reach the more 

elevated ranks which the latter occupied on the ladder of employ- 
ment. The superior posts were not accessible to them above the 
rank of trader, or, at best, of postmaster,'®* and only Charles Price 

Isham was appointed to that dignity. The most notable of the 
others did not rise beyond the rank of trader, of whom, in the 

early years, no more than ten were indicated as having climbed so 
far in the “list of servants.”"'** It was equally seldom that they were 
entrusted with the functions of accountancy, implied by the desig- 
nation of “writer” or “clerk,” which were the first steps for those 
who might become chiefs of posts. The few mixed bloods who 
did exercise such roles—John McNab, Charles Thomas, Charles 
Bird, James Hodgson, Thomas Fidler'?*—were themselves the 
sons of superior officers or accountants. They owed to the upbr- 
inging their fathers had been careful to assure them the level of 
education necessary for such a profession, an education whose ab- 
sence constituted the weak point of the mixed bloods as a group. It 
was in fact inevitable that the earliest officers, preoccupied with 
their occupations, and little concerned about the instruction of 
their sons whom they left too often to the care of their native 
mothers, should by and large have neglected their education. The 
need for it became evident only some years later, when the specta- 
cle of so many children immobilized around the fort, on the edge 

of a society which did not absorb them, awakened among, the 
officers a sense of their responsibilities. 
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EDUCATION IN THE POSTS ON HUDSON BAY 

A long period in the homeland would have been the sole means by 
which a child of mixed blood could escape from such a manifest 

inferiority. Among the reasons which the officers would invoke 
for taking their sons with them to Europe, a number emphasized 
the desire to assure them the education without which there would 
be no opening for them in civilized society.'*° Young Moses Nor- 
ton owed to his father's solicitude'®’ the possibility of acquiring, 
probably in England, this element that was indispensable for the 
exercise of the higher functions in the Company’s service. While 
his sister, who remained in the setting of her birth, quickly ming- 
led with the natives (in the same way, apparently, as his own 
daughter),'** he himself was able to contract a regular marriage in 
Europe. Soon he was in a position to assume the charge of ac- 
counts at Prince of Wales Fort, and then, in 1762, to attain the 
grade of chief of post there.'®* He then returned to Europe, leaving 
his sister and his daughter Sarah (?) among the natives of Hudson 
Bay. His connections, his instinctive knowledge of the native 
people, combined with the education he had acquired to facilitate 

his career, whose success was affirmed by the good relations that, 
under his administration, were immediately established between 
whites and natives. Toward the Indians he never ceased to show a 
concern and a familiarity that contrasted with the stiff manner of 
the Anglo-Saxons and which give the lie to the fictionalized por- 
trait Agnes Laut has left us of his administration.'* Faithful to the 
pacific instructions of the Company, he pursued a policy of con- 
ciliation between Chipewyans and Eskimos to whose wisdom 
Chief Factor Ferdinand Jacobs himself paid homage.'*! Resuming 
the tradition of his father Richard, who had always shown a lively 
interest in the country and its inhabitants, he followed attentively 

the progress made by the pedlars in their discovery of the 
Athabasca region. Using data provided by the Indians, he pre- 
pared a map in order to solve the problem of the routes of penetra- 
tion toward Great Slave Lake,'*? and he personally directed explo- 
rations on the coast of Hudson Bay, where in 1761 he penetrated 
into Chesterfield Inlet.'** 

Richard Norton was certainly not the only officer to make sure 
of a solid education for his son. Before the Company became op- 
posed to a practice that sometimes involved it in heavy expenses, 

several officers succeeded in taking their children to the Orkney 
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Islands, where, in a school specially organized for them in South 

Ronaldshay, they received the education which was so long lack- 
ing in the posts on Hudson Bay.'* The instructions issued by the 
Company in 1791 notably reduced this exodus, though it was not 
entirely suppressed, since the Committee authorized a number of 
exceptions. Nevertheless, the school in the Orkneys continued to 
function for several more years,'** and a certain number of officers 

were able to have their children educated there, but without great 
profit for the Company itself, since the majority of the young 
people brought up in this way established themselves later on in 
their fathers’ country. Lower Canada also offered the possibilities 
of education, and a number of families benefited from it, but only 
toward the end of the period we are considering ,'** and without 
the service of the posts reaping any benefits from it. 

Tt was the Committee itself that, doing final justice to its agents" 
suggestions, provided their children of mixed blood in the posts 
themselves with the elements necessary for their education. The 
initiative was an interesting one. Decided on in the final years of 
the eighteenth century, at a period when nothing of the kind had 
been thought of in the Canadian posts, it seems to have contri- 
buted to giving a fair number of mixed bloods of Scottish origin 
an intellectual status superior to that of their French-speaking con- 
geners. 

In 1794, in response to a request from the heads of posts, the 
Committee sent to Moose Factory, York Factory, Fort Churchill, 

and Eastmain a series of alphabets intended to familiarize the chil- 
dren with the first rudiments of reading and writing.'*” The fol- 
lowing year it congratulated J. Thomas, whose attention never 
flagged in a cause which was that of his own family, on the early 
progress made by the children at Moose Factory.'** With that 
acute sense of opportunity which permeated the policies of the 
Committee and led it to soften the theoretical rigidity of its in- 
structions in response to circumstances, it now saw in the class of 

mixed bloods, whose very birth it had attempted to prevent, the 
uniting factor that might win for it, through closer contacts, the 
confidence of the native people. Not that it contemplated a policy 
of assimilation between white men and primitives, But, recogniz- 
ing a situation that had come into being, it prepared to profit by it 
in the interests of its operations and in the recruitment of its per- 
sonnel. The instructions it addressed in 1805 and 1806 to the com- 
mandants of York Factory and Moose Factory show no evi- 
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dence of a special concern for the native people, but rather the de- 
sire to communicate to children expected to join the posts’ regular 
personnel the same basic training and education as the Committee 
claimed to expect of its usual employees. ‘Wishing to cultivate as 
much as possible an intimate connection with the Natives all over 
the country & to facilitate your Intercourse with them, which 
must of course prove to the Company, we have thought it would 
be advisable to instruct the children belonging to our servants in 
the principles of Religion & teach them from their youth Reading, 
Writing, Arithmetic, & Accounts, which we hope would attach 
them to our Service, and in a few years become a small colony of 

very useful Hands.”"'5* 
At the same time, and without harboring the thought of any 

concession on the part of the whites to a primitive culture, the 
Committee relaxed its earlier policy of isolation and agreed to ex- 
tend to young Indians the benefit of the education it planned for 
the sons of officers and employees. It was to serve these double 
ends that in 1808 it instructed one of its agents to recruit, at Strom- 
ness in the Orkneys, schoolteachers intended for the trading posts 
of Rupert’s Land.'*° The gains the Indians might reap in this way 
would ease their relations with the whites, and the mediation of 

the mixed bloods, whose upbringing would now guarantee their 
fidelity to the cause of their masters, could sustain the natives’ 

loyalties. The religious functions that had hitherto been entrusted 
to the chiefs of posts, who were expected to perform services and 
administer baptisms,'*! should henceforward to entrusted to Ang- 

lican clergy. But until that became possible,'? and until the 
teachers could be appointed, instruction should immediately be 
organized with such personnel and means as the trading forts 
could call upon. The doctors attached to the various establish- 
ments could usefully be employed in this way.'** 

In 1808 it was possible to engage a minister willing to act as 
schoolmaster, G. Geddes, and a teacher, W. Harper, the first for 

York Factory and the second for Fort Albany, and the Company’s 
program went into operation,'* to the great satisfaction of the 
officers who had already expressed to the Committee the gratitude 
its projects inspired in them.'** The more ambitious among them 
at last saw the realization of their desire to preserve their children 
from the environment that seemed to lie in wait for them, both by 
the teaching of the religious principles of their own country and by 
the compulsory practice of their language, which the young mixed 
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bloods were all inclined to neglect when they were associated 
permanently with their native mothers.'*° 

In 1807 the chiefs of the posts asked the Company to make room 
in its educational program for their daughters, whom they were 
unwillingly obliged to put in the care of native servants. They 
proposed the establishment, a short distance from York Factory, 
of an institution where their children could be gathered together, 
away from the Indians, under the direction of a European woman 
charged with their moral and intellectual upbringing.'*” The pro- 
ject proved overambitious, and the Company, which had already 
experienced great difficulty in finding the schoolmasters it 
needed,"** was unable to contemplate its execution. But at least the 

arrival of Harper and Geddes, and the simultaneous opening in 
1808 of a modest school at Moose Factory, under the direction of 
D. Robertson,'** assured a partial satisfaction of the personnel’s 
demands. At York Factory, while the teaching of G. Geddes was 
bearing its first fruits, the commandant even undertook the con- 
struction of quarters intended to be used as both a school and a 
hostel for the children of employees.'*” 

It is true that these were modest beginnings. Not all establish- 
ments were as well served as York Factory. At Moose Factory, 
owing to the lack of space, the governor had to turn his bed- 
chamber into a classroom"! until a school could be built.’ 
Everywhere the process of instruction had to be adapted to the 
necessities of the frontier and to be carried on at the same time as 
the material tasks that were inseparable from life in a trading post. 
At Moose Factory we see the schoolmaster sometimes devoting 

himself to his teaching, sometimes serving as steward, sometimes 
hunting hares in the company of the eight children entrusted to his 
care,'®* supervising the packing of trade goods destined for the in- 
terior posts,'™* filleting fish,'** felling trees, or preparing logs.'** 
During the winter, the children spent the mornings with the na- 
tive women gathering firewood, and devoted their afternoons to 
learning.'*’ In the spring, trading for furs and the various activities 
connected with it became the universal occupation and took pre- 
cedence over school work.'** At Fort Albany, where the pupils 
were naturally more numerous, they often had to accompany their 
fathers on hunting expeditions. And there were some who became 
disgusted with the monotony of learning, and played truant to in- 
dulge in material activities.'° 

At the same time, by no means all the children of employees 
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benefited from the chance of an education. Attendance in school 
was in no way obligatory ,'*’ and a glance at the lists of pupils regu- 
larly inscribed in the schools at Moose Factory and Fort Albany 
shows that it was mainly the sons of officers who attended these 
early establishments.'®' A few sons of ordinary laborers figure 
there, but they form a tiny proportion. 

In the conditions and in the setting where it was carried out, the 
work inaugurated by the Hudson’s Bay Company was bound to 
remain incomplete and to encourage most of all those who, like 
William H. Cook, wished to ban unions with native women and 
preserve the “racial purity” of their group. We should not exag- 
gerate the benefits which, in the long run, the young mixed bloods 
could gain from such training. As we shall soon have occasion to 
observe, in most cases their knowledge remained too elementary 
to give them access to the ranks which their fathers would have 
liked to see them attaining. Yet this educational process spread 
among a certain number of young people new conceptions that 
were more in conformity with civilized society and superior to 
those of the young Canadian Métis who were deprived of such 
facilities. 

The process even benefited the Indians themselves. Admittedly 
only a tiny proportion of exceptional Indians replied to the offic- 
ers’ invitation to send their children to the schools in the posts, and 
in the beginning, like the natives of Lower Canada in the schools 

which the first missionaries opened on their behalf, these tended to 
desert the establishments where they were constrained to a life that 
was too sedentary for them.'® Yet many of these Home Guard 
Indians were in fact of mixed blood, the sons of the first 

employees in the forts; for the most part, primitive life had en- 
tirely reabsorbed them and stifled all thought of returning to the 
society of their fathers. Nevertheless, there are a few examples 
which show us that the benefit of education was not lost to all of 
them, and that the women who consented to submit to this 
clementary discipline were especially favored as spouses for white 

men,'°* 
Those officers whose careers developed in the interior of 

Rupert's Land were less favored than their colleagues on the 
shoreline of the Bay. The Company could not contemplate open- 
ing schools in all the forts it had scattered over its vast domain, and 
even if it did not forget in its educational program the children in 
posts that were still hardly more than dependencies of the coastal 
forts, it never thought of doing more than bringing them to the 
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latter locations when they were old enough to benefit from the in- 
struction being organized there. 

The records do not tell how far such plans were in fact carried 
out, but, to judge trom the only list of pupils we have, that of Fort 
Albany, only the children of personnel from the coastal establish- 
ments seem to have been registered in their schools.'** Many of 
the young people, denied the advantage of education and brought 
up among the native people, had no alternative but to efface them- 
selves in the primitive milieu, like the son of Joseph Smith, who 
through the accidental death of his father, found himself entrusted 

to the care of his Indian mother and went to live among her 
tribe."® Yet Sir John Franklin, whose evidence is admittedly 

somewhat tardy,'®* does affirm that the sons of Orkneymen who 
grew up in the interior posts received from their fathers, even 
though they lacked formal teaching, a kind of moral upbringing 
which the records do not suggest existed among the young Cana~ 
dian Metis,'®7 

Even if one treats Franklin’s view with certain reservations, it 
seems likely that the lesser degree of integration that took place 
between the Indians and the personnel of the British garrisons 
helped the young mixed bloods of Anglo-Saxon or Scottish origin 
to sustain more faithfully the principles of the white man’s culture. 
The desire shown by a great number of the officers to keep their 
children away from the background of their Indian mothers; the 
temperament of the Orkneymen and the Scots, which prevented 
them from making any great concessions to primitive culture; the 
means of acquiring the principles indispensable to their inclusion 
in civilized society which, in tune with its original policy of segre- 
gation, the London Committee offered to a certain number of 
young people: all these influences combined to save many of them 
from slipping entirely into the native way of life. 

THE EARLY SITUATION OF THE CANADIAN METIS 

At the same period, in the absence of factors likely to sustain it at a 

civilized level, the opposing group (the Canadian Metis) became 
more clearly oriented toward the primitive tribes. Doubtless we 
must see in this development one of the circumstances that, in later 

years, would hinder the progress of the Canadian Métis and keep 
large numbers of them in an inferior social position. In the posts 
organized by the companies from Lower Canada, there was no ef- 
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fort to give the children the elements of any culture higher than 
what they acquired in associating with their native mothers, and 
the bourgeois who nurtured any ambition for their sons similar to 
that of the Hudson’s Bay Company's officers had to rely on their 
own efforts. But those who were convinced of the utility of an 
education and the need for a moral upbringing made use in the in- 
terests of their children of all the resources at their disposal in the 
isolation in which they lived. Daniel Harmon dispensed to his 
own children and to the son of the bourgeois Archibald 
N. McLeod the elements of his own education,'** while Roderick 
Mackenzie—proud of the library he had assembled in his distant 
residence of Fort Chipewyan!” and later in the school at 
Terrebonne!”*—could easily bear comparison with the most edu- 
cated of the English company’s chief factors. Many others—such 
as J. Macdonell,'7! David Thompson,'”* and John McLoughlin,‘ 
sent their children into American territory or to the St. Law- 
rence,'”* where the Terrebonne school played for the young Métis 
of the North West Company the same role as the South 
Ronaldshay school for the sons of Orkneymen.’”* Daniel Harmon 
sent his son into American territory at the age of three to assure 
him the education he considered necessary.'”° Here there was no 
official attempt to hinder the exodus of families into Canada. The 
more fortunate heads of posts could in this way remedy the neg- 
lect into which the children fell in the forts of the West, and pre- 

pare them for the exercise of functions needing a certain intellec- 
tual level.!”” The joy which many of them manifested at the crea- 
tion of the colony of Assiniboia, where they saw an outlet for their 
families, showed how similar their wishes were to those expressed 

at the same period by the Hudson’s Bay Company’s officers.'”* 
Some of them established, for the benefit of the native or Métis 
spouses whom they abandoned in the country of the West, funds 
that enabled them to surmount the difficulties of existence and to 
live in “comfortable security.”'’® But with few exceptions the 
bourgeois in charge of the Canadian posts were themselves Scot- 
tish'®° in origin, and the resemblance we observe between their 
views and those of the officers of the British company should not 
lead us to confuse the situations of the groups derived from the 
two nuclei of interbreeding we have distinguished. 

The great majority of the [Canadian companies’] personnel was 
recruited among the French Canadians, and the numerical 
superiority of this group, together with the absence of any ten- 
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dency such as existed in the Hudson Bay posts to prevent or mod- 
erate the influence of the native milieu, explains the more complete 
submergence of the southern group of Métis in primitive society. 
The subordinate positions which they occupied gave the men 
from Lower Canada no scope for ambition, Their style of life, 
their state of mind, the ease with which they adopted the exis- 
tence, and the very attitudes of the native people were bound to 
re-emerge in their Métis descendants. Guided in the same way by 
the upbringing they received from their Canadian fathers as well 
as by the influence of their native mothers, these children found 

themselves thrust in the direction of Indian society, and thus they 
paid the price for the assimilation that had drawn the Canadians so 
close to the primitive peoples. 

Against the inclination of the Canadians to merge with the na- 
tive people, the trading companies had no thought of reacting. 
Conscious of the profit it brought to their operations, they 
avoided issuing rules that would have conflicted with the in- 
grained inclinations of their personnel. They allowed the two races 
to mingle without hindrance, and remained indifferent to the fate 
of the young Métis who grew up, left to their mothers’ care, far 
removed from the principles and ideals of civilized society. This 
almost universal way of bringing up Métis children had at least the 
advantage of preventing the onset of that sense of rootlessness 
which we have observed among those Scottish halfbreeds who, 

being the victims of an education according to white methods, 
were incapable of becoming absorbed into the native tribes among 
whom their fathers abandoned them. For the Canadian Métis this 
problem did not arise. If, at the expiration of his contract, the 

father refused to break the bonds of affection he had formed in the 
country of the West, he could either take his Métis family back 

with him to Lower Canada, or settle down near them in that In- 
dian country whose way of life required of him no effort of adap- 
tation since its modalities merely reproduced on a broader scale the 
voyageurs’ existence. The children of the Canadians, whether they 
were engaged or freemen, were consequently raised in conditions 
that strikingly resembled the upbringing of young Indians. Their 
education was gained through a permanent contact with their 
natural environment and with the peoples who inhabited it. The 
freemen's dwellings, like the trading posts, were generally 
crowded with children for which their modest space could some- 
times hardly provide room. There were even instances where 
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families were too numerous for the employees to be able to carry 
out their duties.'*' But such children, raised in the care of their 
mothers,'** rarely grew up merely in the environs of the trading 
posts. The sons of the engaged men spent long months with their 
fathers in the prairie, entirely preoccupied, like nomad Indians, 
with hunting and freedom, removed from the regular discipline of 
the posts,'** and sometimes abandoned to their own resources or 
to the supervision of their mothers, while the fathers undertook 
distant expeditions that involved protracted absences.'** In marry- 
ing a Canadian Métis girl hardly fourteen years old, Daniel Har- 
mon had to accept the extent to which she had already regressed 
toward the native milieu, her ignorance of white customs, her 

habitual use of her mother’s tongue; those of his children whom 

he could not shape by a white schooling inevitably adopted the use 
of that same language. 

The concessions to primitive ways emerged spontaneously, as 
unavoidable consequences of the life-style of the Canadian 
employees and the company it led them to keep. Most of the sons 
of engaged men were brought up too near to the Indians not to 
surrender to an attraction they had felt since childhood. If on 
reaching adulthood they in turn embarked on a term of service to 
the trading companies, they would find their education was insuf- 
ficient for them to aspire to the higher positions, so they were re- 
stricted to the subordinate roles their fathers had filled, which in- 
volved association with the native peoples. If we except the rare 
Metis like J. B. Cadotte, who was born in the region of the Great 
Lakes where he benefited from the educational possibilities offered 
by the relative proximity of Lower Canada'** and was thus able to 
assume the direction of commercial establishments, the vast 
majority of the children of engaged men were destined for the 
tasks of voyageur'®’ or guide,'** for the occupations of interpre- 
ter'*? or hunter.'®® Their perfect knowledge of the land where they 
had been born would sometimes lead to their being entrusted with 
the transport of mail from one post to another.'"' At other times 
they acted as cooks in the forts.'* In brief, they tended to be trap- 
ped in employments where education was unnecessary, and where 
responsibility did not count. These employments resembled those 
confided to the mixed blood personnel of the Hudson's Bay Com- 
pany, with the difference that, being less privileged in their up- 
bringing, the Canadian Métis attained less often the relatively high 
rank that the others could occasionally reach, and their usefulness 
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was less evident because of the great number of Canadians capable 
of filling the same roles, The modest situations of their fathers, the 
upbringing they had received, the more familiar nature of the rela- 
tionships that were established between employees and natives in 
the Canadian posts, all hindered the young Métis from finding in 
the engagements he accepted any way of access to white society 
comparable to that which incorporation into the personnel of the 
trading posts offered his English-speaking congeners. When rela- 
tions with the native peoples were especially difficult, the Métis 
became an indispensable element, whether he set out as an in- 

terpreter to win them over and prevent the possible effects of their 
ferocity,’®* or, in his capacity as hunter, provided the bourgeois 

with a security which his post would have lacked if it had been 
forced to rely on the services of the Indians.’ Less hard to please 
than its rivals, the North West Company would occasionally put a 
Métis in charge of a secondary post without caring greatly about 
his scanty education or his intemperance, as it did with Jacco Fin- 
lay who, despite his [Scottish] ancestry, mingled with the Cana- 
dian Métis and became well known for the activity he showed in 
the exploration of routes to the Pacific.'"’ In such positions, the 

young Métis was no more out of contact with the country and its 
people than if he had continued to live away from the fort; he did 

not let the new discipline change his way of life, and remained 
under the influence of his earliest education. 

To an even greater extent, the children born of the fleeting rela- 

tions between Canadians and squaws were destined to pure and 
simple absorption into the tribes among whom they were born.'*° 
The Indians appear to have admired the special hunting abilities 
and warlike qualities of these children of mixed origin,'®? which 
explains why some of them attained, like Le Batard Flamand 
among the Iroquois, or the Métis Richarville among the Miami,'®* 
the dignity of chiefs in native hierarchies.'°° 

Sometimes, however, the traders’ descendants, however illus- 
trious their ancestry, seem to have vanished among the ranks of 
the Indian world, like the granddaughter of Pierre de Rocheblave, 
one of the most celebrated partners of the North West Company, 
whom the missionaries discovered many years later, entirely sub- 
merged in a milieu whose way of living she had adopted without 
retaining any stronger link with the civilized world than the vague 
memory of her distant origins.?°° When the trader Jacques Porlier 
in 1793 encountered in Wisconsin the French Métis woman he 
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eventually married, she had—after being abandoned by her 
father—renounced all her attachments to the white people and, in 
the company of her Indian mother, adopted the nomadic life of the 

Menomenee.?"' 
In the families of the freemen regression was even more rapid, 

for the young Métis knew no other existence than that of hunting 
big game or fur-bearing animals. If he acquired a few notions 
about sedentary living in the nascent colonies that clustered 
around the trading posts, around watering places, or in the favo- 

rite haunts of the bison herds, he practised by choice a perpetually 
nomadic existence. The distance from the trading posts at which 
many of these children lived, sometimes for several years,*°? im- 
printed on them the characteristics of the native and his ways of 
living. Though he shared the activities of his father, the young 
Métis received no other education than that which he owed to ex- 
perience and to the lessons of his mother. When the freeman as- 
sumed responsibility for provisioning a trading post, his children 
would accompany him in the hunt like a tribe of nomads.*" If he 
settled by a lake or in an area of rapids where fish were abundant, 
the children would fish beside him and thus contribute to the 
community’s subsistence. Nearly always, it is the same tableau we 
are offered: the freeman had no other assistants than his chil- 
dren.?* Whether he sailed the rivers of the Shield on his frail 
craft,? or traversed the prairie with his carts or travois, the family 
followed him, nourishing itself on whatever resources—wild ber- 
ries, game, or fish—it found on its way. Those who went to 
winter in areas of the Rocky Mountains where food was scarce and 
difficult to obtain would often travel with their children, who did 
not shrink from the length of the journey or the precarious nature 
of existence on the way.?"° 

In this manner the characters of these various categories of Metis 
were molded in a life of nomadic freedom, and in contact with the 
Indian women who had given them birth and with the society 
such women represented, To what extent were their characters ac- 
tually distinguishable from those of the Indians, or identifiable 

with those of the Canadians? The rare and scanty allusions one 
sometimes encounters are insufficient to establish any definite 
conclusion, It appears as though these young Métis, whose only 

school was nature, drew from it the powers of endurance shown 

by their fathers, the acceptance of privation that was inherent in 

the troubled existence of the nomad hunter, the qualities of obser- 
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vation that engraved on their memories not only the least details of 
the land they traversed but also the mentality and the habits of its 
wild animals—all the qualities that enabled them to excel in the 
role of hunter or guide; Daniel Harmon said of them that they 
were “blessed with a retentive memory.’’*°” There was nothing in 
all this that differentiated them from either their Canadian fathers 
or from the Indians, or identified them more with one than the 
other. It seems merely that they owed to the example of their 
fathers, whose degree of activity the trading companies regarded 
as greater than that of the native people, the qualities lacking in the 
Indians. It is impossible to say whether these qualities were diluted 
in them as a result of the indolence latent in the native tempeta- 
ment which may have been communicated to the Métis children 
through the upbringing they received from their mothers. Here 
and there one encounters unfavorable evidence in this respect.*”* 
Yet, if one can judge from their participation in hunting expedi- 
tions to the more desolate sections of the Rockies, where it was 
impossible to count on the assistance of the Indians, they cannot 
yet have lost the qualities of energy their fathers displayed.?” The 
natives whose views of the young Métis are recorded by Alexan- 
der Henry seem to have reached a very similar conclusion, and 

several other judgments, unfortunately too scattered to authorize 
an emphatic generalization, offer additional corroboration.?”” 

Doubtless it would also seem logical to assume that the contacts 
and training they owed to their mothers, by transmitting to them 
habits of thought and language identical to those of primitive 
people, put them in a better position to influence the natives. But 

in this also the texts are almost silent, and one’s deductions can 

only be uncertain. This would continue to be the case until the 
Métis as a group had reached the period of maturity and had been 
forced to manifest, by responsible actions, the effects of their 
heredity or, at least, of an upbringing that took the place of hered- 
ity. It is enough, on the strength of subsequent evidence, that as a 
result of their origin and upbringing, many of the Métis possessed 
a genuine ascendancy over the native people, and a familiarity 
with primitive man that inspired the latter's confidence,?'' and 

would make the Métis, in missions requiring close links with the 
natives, equally useful and dangerous to the trading companies. 
No less plausible would be the conclusion that they were better 
adapted even than their fathers to the life of the West, and more 
responsive to the appeal of the primitive land in which they were 
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born and whose ways of living were the only ones they knew. The 
young Metis who went to Quebec under the guidance of Frangois 
Florimeaux, refused to enter civilized life there, and hastened on 

his own initiative to return to the vastness of the West, offers con- 
vincing evidence?!* whose limited nature does not lessen its value, 
since the same law was also made manifest among certain descen- 
dants of Orkneymen,!* whose fathers had never felt the same at- 
tachment as the Canadians to the primitive regions. The need for 
freedom and a nomadic existence, it appears, took hold of them 

from their earliest childhood and entered into them like a true 
heredity, to abandon which would have meant doing violence to 
the nature they had in this way acquired. 

Can one accuse them of especially intemperate habits, as Daniel 
Harmon?"* insinuates as if he referred to a situation by no means 
isolated,*'* and as much later evidence demonstrates? It could 
hardly have been otherwise, given the conditions in which they 

grew up, as much under the tutelage of the Indians as of the Cana- 
dians, among whom intemperance constituted an undeniable 
shortcoming. Finally, did they present a nature more savage than 
the whites, which might be interpreted as the mark of Indian 
affinities they owed to their birth or derived from their upbring- 
ing? Manifestations of this tendency are hinted here and there in 
the documents of this early period. The example of a young child 
shooting arrows at his Canadian father before leaving him to fol- 
low the mother who was taking him back to the tribe would cer- 
tainly appear to be the expression of a nature dominated by primi- 
tive reflexes.*!* Sometimes the Métis were chosen as the individu- 
als best qualified to cope with tribes whose aggressive mentality 
made them fearful to Europeans,*!” and occasional acts of violence 

and murder were attributed to them.*!* But the example offered 
by the Canadians and Highlanders in the exasperation of the 
struggles that set them against each other offers an excuse for such 
acts of violence and makes it difficult to consider than as peculiar 
to the Métis.*'* It would seem, on the contrary, in this early 

period, that the Metis did notin the absence of provocation to vio- 
lence display an instinctive reaction comparable in ferocity to that 
of the nomad peoples of the prairie. It would even seem that on the 
whole the whites were more given to excesses. 

In personality the Métis showed strong resemblances to the In- 
dians only when they became entirely submerged in the ranks of 
the primitive tribes which, as we have seen, was the case of some 
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of the freeman families whose lives were carried on among the 
peoples with whom they became identified. In noting such prom- 
iscuous situations, Alexander Henry found little difference be- 
tween the two groups. He noted merely the more arrogant at- 
titude of Métis and freemen toward the whites, whose ascendancy 

they denied and whose superiority they refused to accept with the 
appearance of humility shown by many of the Indians.*#° In the 
Indian war parties the Métis participated more fully than the 
freemen, and suffered the hostility of opposing tribes to the same 
extent as the Indians with whom they allied themselves,**! 

Apart from the instances of total fusion, in which his personality 
was entirely subordinated to the native milieu, the real distinctive- 

ness of the Métis—difficult by its very nature to perceive—seems 
to have lurked in that very absence of a moral training which he 
owed to his dual origins. This uncertainty, many examples of 
which appeared in later periods, had certainly emerged in the early 
stages: when we perceive its obvious manifestations, these clearly 
represent the culmination of a process whose beginnngs must be 
sought in the very nature of the education offered to the young 
Canadian Métis. This left him devoid of any solidly rooted culture 
that might have offered even the slightest resistance to external in- 
fluences. 
Among the mixed bloods of Scottish origin, this irtesolution 

was less marked, if one ignores those individuals whom the primi- 
tive life absorbed without their being sufficiently prepared to offer 
any resistance. Here it was a matter of the fathers not merging 
with the native peoples and thus maintaining more immediate 
contacts with their own culture, a tendency reinforced by the 
Company's official policy and its attempts, however incomplete 
they may have been, to hinder the excessively powerful influence 
of the primitive environment on life in the forts. 

The Canadian Métis, on the other hand, whether he was the son 

of an engaged man or a freeman, himself employed in the service 
of a post, suffered from the excessive concessions his father had 
made to the native milieu. In his eager acceptance of the primitive 
way of life, the Canadian had abandoned the foundations of 
civilized culture, had denied the principles of his moral upbring- 
ing, and even if he accepted the superstitions of the native peoples 
along with their ways of life and thinking, he at the same time 
failed to understand and imbibe the moral aspects of their culture 
and the discipline it called for. In consequence the education he 
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could give the young Métis was only a weakened and profoundly 
altered image of his own native culture. [t was reduced to little 
more than vague notions of Christianity tinged with superstition, 
while the Indian woman in her turn transmitted to her Métis chil- 
dren only the husk of a culture that was gravely disturbed by as- 

sociation with the whites, and whose disciplines— which had once 
given the tribe its cohesion—were in her awn case dissolved by the 
union she had contracted with a Canadian."** The reconciliation 
which both sides attempted to establish between their respective 
civilizations ended merely in a series of concessions and reciprocal 
sacrifices, which communicated to the child only the fragile rudi- 
ments of an education and, while orienting him to a way of life 

nearer that of the native than that of the white man, assured him 

nothing better than a combination of two incomplete cultures 
without any firm foundation. It was logical that his moral de- 
velopment should feel the effects of this situation, that his will 
should thus become weakened, that his sense of honor should be 

diminished ,** and that in the absence of any clearly defined direct- 
ing principle, he should have been destined to suffer the ascen- 
dancy of conflicting influences. 

In the period we are discussing, the weaknesses of the Métis as a 
group were not yet defined as sharply as they would become later 
on. In many individuals among them, as we have observed, the 
urge to work, for example, does not appear to have fallen away, 
and the diligence which they displayed in the execution of the 
tasks entrusted to them by the heads of the posts make it clear that 
their fathers’ qualities survived among them, Yet we may with 
some justification admit that many of them had already fallen vic~ 
tim to that moral laxity which Sir John Franklin mentions at a 
period relatively near to that we are considering, even if we put 
aside as distorted by evident hostility William Auld’s unfavorable 
judgment of the Canadian Métis,*** accept with caution Alexander 
Henry’s descriptions of nomadic groups that were hardly distin- 
guishable from the Indians," and stress, once again, that some of 
the Canadians, even when they married Indian women, raised 

their children along lines singularly reminiscent of the practice in 
Lower Canada. In many cases, indeed, there was nothing to pre- 
vent the children from declining into abandonment; in the specta- 
cle of the freedom of behavior among the Indians, in the easy ways 
of many of the Canadians, whether freemen or engaged men, in 
the weak and distorted vestiges of cultures that were taught to 
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them, there was nothing to awaken in them the quality of resis- 
tance. Indeed, their weakness of will, even if it did not find open 
means of expression in the simple and eventless life they led in the 
North West, was certainly a clearly marked element in their per- 
sonalities, and the difficulties which emerged in later years, at the 
time of the adventure in Assiniboia, were enough to demonstrate 
the extreme docility of the Métis in giving obedience to individu- 
als who recognized their essential weakness. 

Their ill-defined status, which became more evident as time 
went on, could in the last resort be evaded, at least by the young 
Métis women, through entering into marriage with the whites. 
When the North West Company in 1806 informed its employees 
that henceforward it forbade the maintenance of native wives 
within the trading forts, it formally exempted the Métis daughters 
of its personnel ,**° and these were thus able to benefit in the same 

way as the mixed-blood girls of Scottish origin, from the pos- 
sibilities of social elevation to be found in such unions. Among the 
Canadians, nevertheless, the possibilities were more limited than 

among the other group, for the marriages most likely to free them 
from their situation were those they might conclude with the 
bourgeois or higher ranking officers, who were naturally inclined 
to choose their wives among women of Scottish descent.”*” If a 
few women of Métis descent, like Daniel Harmon's wife, suc- 

ceeded in contracting alliances of this kind, most of them had 

merely the opportunity to marry a simple employee or a 
freeman;*** such marriages were no more than temporary solu- 
tions, since the children that came of them were mostly destined to 

marry into their own group, if not among the natives, or, at best, 
in the case of young women, to enter into a union with some 
employee or Canadian freeman whose way of life hardly differed 
from that of the Indians. 

At the same time, as we have observed in the British posts, the 
recurrent problem for the young men lay in the fact that their 
choice in marriage was limited to Indian women or to women of 
their own group. Logically, their preferences might be expected to 
lean toward the latter but it would be difficult to determine how 
far the Métis group actually turned in on itself in a kind of en- 
dogamy whose result would prevent the injection of outside 
blood.*** Certainly many marriages continued to take place be- 
tween Métis and Indian women, and it was the Métis girls, limit- 
ing themselves more narrowly to the circle of families of mixed 
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ancestry, who contributed more than the young men to the 
stabilization of the group. Already, we begin to see the appearance 
of families whose very names evoke even today in the West the 
race of “mixed blood”’; the Desjarlais, the Vandals, the Cardinals, 

the Beauregards, the Dumonts, the Beaulieus, the Deschamps, 
whose founders, whether employees or freemen, sometimes wan- 
dered according to the needs of the service, but in other cases 

began to settle around the posts or in areas which later, like Deer 
Lake or Lake Winnipeg, became favored concentration points for 
Métis families.?8° 

Between such men a solidarity had already established itself, a 

community of both life and origin, which probably extended to 
the two branches of the people of mixed blood. This was not only 
because the descendants of the personnel of the two companies 
were often neighbors or because the freemen often hired out their 
services to the Hudson's Bay Company, but even more because, 
in each of the two camps, the presence of a few representatives of 
the other group prevented a rigid division between individuals of 
Canadian and Scottish descent. The latter often adopted the 
French language, which was dominant because of the numerical 
superiority of the Canadians, and despite their names—which 
even today betray their origins—many of them had no difficulty in 
identifying themselves with the Canadian Metis. 

The ethnic diversity of the Métis race, which also included, 
apart from the two dominant elements, the prisoners captured by 
Indians on the frontiers of the American colonies and transplanted 
by the chance migrations of their captors into Canadian terri- 
tory,*"' did not in the beginning diminish the good relations and 
sense of fellowship that resulted from similar ways of living and 
similar affinities. But this emergent fellowship was far from lead- 
ing to a real cohesion, and even less did it result in the formation of 

a sentiment of nationality common to the group as a whole. Their 
dispersion was too widespread, their ambitions too limited to 

immediate realities, their material life as yet too peaceful and too 
little threatened for them to become conscious of the strength they 
could represent or to experience the feeling that, between the 
whites and the Indians, they formed a distinct “nation,” called on 
to defend its own interests and to play in the history of the West a 
special role, in conformity with the destinies its dual ancestry 
might assign to it. 
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[t was with the appearance of sedentary colonization in the 

western plains that the Métis group, which had no history during 
the eighteenth century, stepped on to the stage and rapidly ac- 
quired the national consciousness which it had hitherto lacked. 
But no sooner had events called the group to a clearly defined role 
than the weaknesses were revealed of a personality whose ele- 
ments were in many ways alien to each other. 
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CHAPTER NINE 

THE ENTERPRISE OF 

ASSINIBOIA 

On 23 September 1811, the Edward and Ann under the command of 
Captain Gull, followed by the Eddystone which arrived two days 
later, dropped anchor in sight of York Factory, and disembarked 

the first group of seventy to eighty men who had been sent to pre- 
pare on the banks of the Red River for the arrival of the families of 
settlers who were to be sent there in the following year.' The Scot 
Miles Macdonell, who commanded the expedition as governor of 
the future colony of Assiniboia, was provided by the promoter of 
the enterprise, the Earl of Selkirk, with instructions laying down 
the boundaries of the territory to be assigned to the settlers, detail- 
ing the first tasks of clearing and cultivation, and specifying the 
policy that should be followed in relation to the native peoples .* 

LORD SELKIRK’S PROJECTS 

The plan whose fulfilment these men were to prepare had been 
developed by Thomas Douglas, Ear] of Selkirk, as a result of see- 
ing the misery that in the eighteenth century was devastating the 
Scottish Highlands. The cause of this misery Selkirk found in the 
substitution for the older form of rural economy, in which hold- 
ings of small extent would include a mountain slope devoted to 
cattle rearing and an area of cultivated valley land, of large estates 
devoted entirely to grazing. Gradually adopting the mercenary at- 
titudes of the English magnates, the Scottish landlords abandoned 
their traditional custom of sustaining on their lands, as a sign of 
their power, large retinues of small tenants (or crofters). They de- 
liberately reduced the number of these crofters to increase the 
profits they could make from rearing sheep’ on the lands that had 
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ceased to be the collective property of the clan and were now re- 
garded as belonging to the head of the clan himself.* 

Unable to meet the landlords’ demands and pay the rents he 
now so harshly demanded, the tenants were subjected to ruthless 
eviction procedures and whole families were expelled from the 
lands they had cultivated for long periods. Certain com- 
munities—such as Clyne and Kildonan—were especially af- 
fected: the development of grazing there had resulted, by the be- 
ginning of the nineteenth century, in the eviction of more than a 
hundred families whose pride as Highlanders and whose habit of 
considering these lands their property prevented them from sub- 
mitting without resistance to practices that were so remote from 
the conditions of life they had once known.’ Revolts broke out 
against the sheep farmers,® but the resistance was quickly broken 
and between 1809 and 1819 some 450,000 acres of land were taken 

away from the hereditary tenants.” Exasperated and impoverished 
by the falling prices of the products of his soil and by the growth 
of his rents,* the tenant whose personal loyalties had formerly un- 
ited him with the head of the clan, now saw him as nothing better 
than an egotistical landlord, concerned only with the profits he 
could wring from the soil, and too often absent to inspire any feel- 
ings of affection or fellowship.* As the trader D. Cameron put it, 
“the unprincipled of France destroyed the rich in order to plunder 
them and the unprincipled rich in the Highlands squeeze and 
starve the poor in order to get more money."’'” 

For those men who had been humiliated by this degrading situa- 
tion into which circumstances had plunged them after the glorious 
age of warlike feudalism,"' Lord Selkirk could see no other solu- 
tion than an exodus to distant lands, The process of emigration 
had in fact begun by the middle of the eighteenth century: between 
1763 and 1775 more than 30,000 Highlanders deserted their native 
land, some for the industrial towns of the Lowlands and others for 

the American continent.'* Soon, the wave of misery had reached 
the Western Isles, and there again the exodus of a population that 
had become too numerous for its resources seemed the only rem- 
edy for a growing poverty.'* Convinced that the very security of 
Britain called for the removal of these elements who could not be 
reconciled with the new economy and the social changes accom- 
panying it, the Earl of Selkirk undertook to divert the flow of 
emigration toward the British possessions. In this way he hoped to 
prevent the loss of a population that otherwise would go to enrich 
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the American republic, where Highlanders were tending to pick as 
their places of settlement New York State and North Carolina.'* 
The increase of Highlanders on Canadian soil would help to limit 
the growth of the American population, whose progress Lord Sel- 
kirk had been observing uneasily.'* Seeing that these rural people 
were otherwise condemned to be submerged in the proletariat of 
the great manufacturing centres of the Lowlands or to lose in the 
United States the most distinctive of their characteristics,'® he 

planned to resettle them in such a way that they would retain their 
framework of traditional occupations and be able to make full use 
of their special abilities while taking up the harsh life of pioneers 
on the Red River. For the Highlanders were so accustomed to car- 
rying out a meagre kind of farming on desolate land, to the hard 
existence of mountain peoples, and to the severity of the Highland 
climate,'7 that they would experience no difficulty in accom- 
modating themselves to the problems that would inevitably mark 
the first efforts at colonization in Manitoba. Their frugal habits 
would prepare them for the shortages of the first years, and their 
traditions of pride and independence, liberated from the obliga-~ 
tions that burdened them in their fatherland, would blossom freely 
in the pristine plains of the Canadian West. For them, as for the 
colonists of Lower Canada, the life of the frontier could offer 

neither surprise nor disappointment. 
It was in this way that Lord Selkirk, going beyond the specula- 

tive concerns that had first directed his attention to the plight of 
the Highlands, ended by formulating a plan of colonization, which 
gave concrete expression to his patriotic ideal and in which he saw 
an effective remedy for the troubles of his native land.'* But, if it is 
impossible to cast suspicion on the sincerity of Selkirk’s patriotic 
intentions, if there is no doubt that he engaged in this enterprise 
with the intention of saving his fellow countrymen from immi- 
nent ruin, it is hardly likely that the Hudson’s Bay Company, 
when it allowed him to realize his project through granting the 
vast territory of the Red River, was interested only in the altruistic 
aspects of his plan for colonization and had not been attracted by 
the multiple benefits the project might offer to its commercial op- 
erations. 

In fact, Lord Selkirk’s colonizing plans opened up to the Hud- 
son's Bay Company the prospect of quickly terminating to its ad- 
vantage the conflict in which it had become engaged with the 
North West Company on the day when, going over to the offen- 
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sive on the trails of the interior, it had presented the latter organi- 
zation with a competitor whom its interests called upon it to 
eliminate. In establishing a settlement colony on the banks of the 
Red River, Selkirk created a refuge that could gather in the Cana- 
dians engaged by the rival Company and their Métis families. In 
this way a kind of manpower pool would be organized from 
which the Hudson's Bay Company could draw the hands it 
needed for its service, so that it might eventually be able to give up 
the practice of drawing entirely on the population of the Orkneys 
or of Scottish territory.'? But it would also open up a market that 
could provide the supplies of food which the Company needed for 
its posts and its brigades. Situated near the areas in which the 
Company operated, the colony could free its provisioning from 
close and costly dependence either on the British homeland or on 
the St. Lawrence valley, itself too far away and too difficult to 
reach by a route that was, in any case, pre-empted by the North 
West Company. For the Anglo-Saxons, the fertile Red River val- 

ley would become the equivalent of Lower Canada, It would neu- 

tralize the advantages which the Montreal merchants had so capa- 
bly exploited. Even better, it would quickly disrupt the whole 

method of trading which they had so rationally organized. Not 

only would the new colony of Assiniboia provide the establish- 
ments of the interior, and even the coastal posts, with grain, meat, 

and flour which at present were brought there by the sea route 

through Hudson Bay,”° but, through the attraction it could not fail 

to exercise on the North West Company’s personnel, it would 

have a chance of provoking defections in its ranks that would 

weaken its position and correspondingly strengthen that of the 

rival company.*! Above all, it would narrow the Montreal traders’ 

field of operation in the Red River area, since the Indians, because 

of the closeness of the outlet the colony offered them and the more 

advantageous conditions Selkirk suggested should be presented to 

them,* would inevitably become the clients of the Hudson's Bay 

Company. By the threat which this enterprise suggested of a rapid 

extension of settlement beyond the limits at present assigned to 

it, the very existence of the North West Company seemed doomed 

to annihilation in the near future.’ Finally, such a concentration of 

people in the heart of a district where the bison herds abounded 

would consume the provisions of fat and pemmican which the 
Canadians customarily extracted from them, and, in the 
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last resort, would jeopardize their ingenious mechanism for keep- 
ing the fur brigades supplied.** 

Simon M’Gillivray summed up the uneasiness which this cluster 
of unfavorable circumstances aroused in him when he wrote in 
April 1812, to the partners of the North West Company in London, 
that he would oppose with all his power these projects whose 
achievement would be “fatal to the very existence of their 
trade.” At the same time, it was the prospect of the benefits 

which Selkirk’s program offered the Hudson's Bay Company that 
persuaded its Committee to cede to the Scottish nobleman, for the 
derisory sum of ten shillings, the full ownership ‘‘in fee simple” of 
the 116,000 acres of land that henceforward would form “the col- 
ony of Assiniboia.’”?° 

Seen in this way, Lord Selkirk’s plan fitted in closely with the 
work of reorganizing the Hudson's Bay Company which in broad 
outline his brother-in-law, Andrew Colvile, had traced out in 1810, 

and which had been accepted as a means of breathing into the 
somewhat sluggish organism of the English company a new spirit 
and a greater vigor of action.*’ Already, the North West Company 
had been able to assess the first effects of the improvement its ad- 
versaries had achieved in both methods and personnel. The pro- 
gram conceived by Selkirk now gave the Anglo-Saxon enterprises 
an added strength and a new success factor: when it had achieved 
maturity, the Red River Colony, by allowing them to find both 
their personnel and their provisions on the spot, would make the 
struggle between the two companies too unequal for the Canadian 
organization, which was forced to import its men and merchan- 
dise at great cost from Lower Canada, to hold on to that supre- 

macy in the West which it had so long maintained. 
Moreover, Lord Selkirk’s enterprise threatened to destroy the 

structure of legality which the Canadian Jurisdiction Act of 1803 
had provided for the country of the West, and of which the North 
West Company had habitually made use to further the aim of 
eliminating its rival.** The foundation of the colony of Assiniboia 
would in effect introduce into the West the civil and criminal juris- 
diction which the Hudson’s Bay Company retained over Rupert’s 
Land according to the terms of the Royal Charter of 1670. By its 
act of cession to Lord Selkirk, the Company transferred that juris- 
diction to the colony which would be established on the banks of 
the Red River, where the Governor and his Council would be au- 
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thorized to exercise it according to the principles of British law.** 
The North West Company would henceforward lose the benefit of 
the legal accommodations that had allowed it to give free rein to 
its policy of violence. Furthermore, under a new system of law, 
the Montreal traders would not be allowed to continue the dis- 
tributions of alcohol that were decimating the native populations; 

Selkirk was already committed to fighting this practice, in antici- 
pation of being able to proscribe it entirely through the elimina- 
tion of the competition that brought trading companies into con- 
flict.*° Finally the voluntary transfer by the Hudson’s Bay Com- 
pany of a vast portion of the domain granted by its charter of 
foundation would in effect confirm the right of proprietorship 
which it claimed over Rupert’s Land. Undoubtedly this event 
would be the prelude to a stricter application of the prerogatives 
included in the charter and a more effective occupation of the ter- 
ritory which it covered. 

The North West Company could not accept without reacting 
against it a development whose success, at a moment when it was 

showing manifest signs of weakness and when its adversaries were 
preparing to storm its stronghold in Athabasca, would have meant 
its ruin: it was not without reason that Simon M’Gillivray resol- 
ved to prevent the realization of Lord Selkirk’s projects. Thus it 
was against the enterprise of Assiniboia, the tangible expression of 
the new policy of their enemies, that the North Westers concen- 

trated their rage. After having tried in vain to paralyse the re- 
cruitment of Scottish settlers and to discourage by means of de- 
famatory articles in the press the possibility of families emigrating 
from Lower Canada toward the rich lands of the Red River,*! they 
launched against the newborn colony an offensive whose violence 
was in keeping with their traditional policy and whose bitterness 
seemed justified by the importance of the stake for which they 
were playing. They were helped by a number of circumstances 
which they cleverly exploited but which in the end fell short of 
bringing about total ruin of the Red River Colony. 

THE EARLY DIFFICULTIES 

Material difficulties emerged right at the beginning, as soon as the 
settlers arrived on the shores of Hudson Bay. The slow voyage, 
whose duration of sixty-one days was one of the longest on re- 
cord,*? with the consequence that they disembarked late in the sea- 
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son, prevented the vanguard that year from reaching in the au- 
tumn of 1811 the banks of the Red River, where they were sup- 

posed to prepare quarters for the families expected in the follow- 
ing year. In a way, according to Superintendent William Auld, 
this may have been “‘fortunate,”’ since a too early arrival would 
have uselessly overcrowded York Factory with men who were in- 
capable, in the absence of the garrison that was away trading in the 
interior, of navigating the waterways of the Shield.** Yet it im- 
mobilized, at the beginning of a winter that would be especially 
rigorous, these “unexpected” and inexperienced ‘‘visitors’’** who 
lived for long months in the temporary shelters they had to put up 
outside the post, where space was too restricted to admit them.** 

Then began the customary ordeals of the cold country, as hard 
for these newcomers as they had been for the personnel of the ear- 
liest garrisons. Many of them were ignorant of the precautions re- 
quired by the rigor of the climate, and this exposed them to seri- 
ous injuries;** the construction of the dwellings they had to im- 
provise, the preparation of logs for them, the work of protecting 
the roofs against the cold, created difficulties compounded by the 
use of tools whose badly tempered steel could not resist the action 
of frost;37 most important, these men lacked the training that 
would have enabled them to feed themselves through hunting,** 
while the scanty migrations of caribou that year in any case re- 
duced the chances of getting fresh meat. Already, in 1810-11, big 
game had been scarce on the shoreline.** The lack of it grew worse 
in 1811-12.*° The same thing happened in the two subsequent 
years,*! and then, because of the presence of women and children, 
the situation became extremely grave.** Scurvy, which William 
Auld had feared in the winter of 1810-11, was not slow to make its 
appearance,** causing discouragement and irritation among the 
men. Many of them, trusting in the excessively generous promises 
that had been lavished on them to counter the intrigues of the 
North West Company, had expected to find in Rupert’s Land the 
most easy and comfortable living conditions.** Others seem to 
have been disappointed by the total absence of any social hierarchy 
in this world of primitive nature where men of all ranks mingled.** 
Finally, most of the colonists, divided by religion and places of 
origin, developed irreconcilable hostilities, which pitted the “hon- 

est” Highlanders against the Orkneymen or against those ‘‘in- 
fidels” of [rishmen,** being—wrote William Auld—‘averse to any 
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connection with these people which no doubt their difference in 
Religious view contributes to confirm.’’*” 

Ina situation of such deep divisions, the disappointments caused 
by the material difficulties of existence led to a state of perpetual 
agitation which at times degenerated into veritable riots: the worst 
broke out among the Irish, and Captain Macdonell was on this oc- 
casion unable to impose his authority as governor."* 

The same trials marked the arrival in 1813 of the families of 
settlers intended to reinforce the contingents that had preceded 
them: decimated by sickness during their voyage, and incapable 
on landing of continuing to the Red River, they had to winter near 
Fort Churchill, in makeshift shelters where they underwent the 
sufferings of the arctic winter in an atmosphere of constant ac- 
rimony and rancor sustained by the disagreements between the 
Scots and the Irish." 

In actual fact, these disappointment and dissatisfactions—in so 
far as they were confined to the shoreline of Hudson Bay—had 
only a slight effect on the colony’s destinies. It was more serious 
when the first contingent had reached the territory of Assiniboia, 
where the North Westers were awaiting them, ready to take ad- 
vantage of any sign of faltering they might betray. The same 
material difficulties that they had experienced on the coast at once 
assailed the colony and impeded its progress; the dissensions that 
had weakened them, the mutinous spirit that had arisen in their 
ranks, appeared once again, giving Lord Selkirk's enemies the im- 
pression that his initiative was too fragile to resist their assault. It 
was August 1812 when Governor Miles Macdonell reached the 
confluence of the Red River and the Assiniboine with the most 
vigorous of his men,*” Two months later, on 27 October, the col- 
ony took shape with the arrival of the first families, seventy men, 

women, and children, whom the Company’s ships had newly 
brought from Europe.*! With his rational and perhaps excessively 
meticulous outlook, Lord Selkirk set out to spare his colony from 
a disorganized beginning, and for this purpose he had planned the 
construction of trails to link Red River with Hudson Bay," or- 

ganized the despatch of artisans capable of meeting basic needs, 
undertaken the formation of an initial herd of sheep and provided 
for the arrival of the first heads of cattle.** But such precautions 
were not sufficient to resolve all the problems that the country 
would soon present to the settlers, and could make up for the ex- 
perience which most of them lacked.** Apart from the difficulties 
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which the men encountered in clearing and seeding the ground 
with the few implements at their disposal,"* and the fact that they 
had to delay sowing their winter wheat until October when—for 
lack of better tools—they prepared the ground with ordinary 
hoes,*® the settlers suffered particularly from lack of food. Al- 
though Macdonell hastened to send men into the region of Pem- 
bina, in the hope of finding in that area of abundant bison herds 
the supplies needed for the families that continued to arrive,*” the 
ravages of the autumn fires and the extreme mildness of the winter 
sent the animals wandering toward the parts of the prairie that 
were clear of snow, and in this way his hopes were frustrated.'* 
The local Saultcaux Indians, whose economy was nearer that of 
the forest peoples than that of the prairie tribes, did not know how 
to use buffalo pounds. Consequently they were unable to follow 
the animals and feed the settlers gathered at Pembina.*® And when 
in spring the herds came near again, the men were no better able to 

assure their families’ sustenance, since they were unable to trans- 

port their cargoes of meat over the frozen ground." The absence 
of personnel accustomed to the way of life of the western country 
and trained in the use of the axe and in woodworking notably de- 
layed the building of the houses meant to receive the settlers’ 
families. These had to be content, in the cold Red River atmos- 
phere, with tepees which they modelled on native habitations, and 
it was only in the last days of November that they were able to 
move into the cluster of log huts that became known as Fort 
Daer.*' 
Now further difficulties appeared: the insufficiency of clothes, 

the absence of proper shoes and the impossibility of providing 
them owing to the lack of leather," the perils to which the little 
herd of sheep they had brought to the Red River was constantly 
exposed from the presence of half-wild dogs, ‘more dangerous 
than wolves,’’** and finally the insidious hostility of the North 
West Company, whose men did their best, under a pretence of af- 
fability and compassion, to sow discouragement among the col- 
onists and exaggerate in their eyes the dangers of their situation. 
The result, among settlers who were already worked up by their 
own dissensions, was a serious discontent which showed itself in 
refusal to obey and in manifest ill will against Miles Macdonell, 
and encouraged the North Westers to foresee the coming disloca- 
tion of the whole enterprise.** 

The situation hardly improved with the appearance of good 
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weather. On the lots, limited by the course of the river to narrow 
frontages (four acres), that were hastily apportioned to them the 
settlers undertook the agricultural labor from which they hoped to 
gather provisions for the winter."® This led to new disappoint- 
ments; the seed was of poor quality; the tillage, almost entirely 
done by hoe, was insufficient, and the wheat, whether of the 

winter or the spring variety, gave poor results on that virgin soil 
infested by insects and rodents, while the crops of barley and 
maize were too meagre to offer any compensation.*’ Fortunately, 
fishing and hunting made up to an extent for these shortages. If a 
few of the settlers worked with energy and conviction, many 
showed only indifference; they ‘“‘cared not in general how little 
they wrought or in what manner it may turn out.’’*” With the re- 
turn of winter, almost the whole little colony had to set off once 
again for Pembina.” There its members lived more easily than the 
previous year, well provided with meat by the freemen who 
agreed to provide their services and succeeded in bringing in 
provisions in spite of the remoteness of the herds.’! The settlers 
even organized, as if they were beginning to take root in their new 
environment, entertainments that alleviated the monotony of the 

winter days.”* Eventually spring returned. It was then only, with 
the arrival in June 1814 of the group of Kildonan settlers, that the 
colony entered into a more promising phase of consolidation. 

Not having been able to reach Red River in the autumn of 1813, 
this new contingent of thirty-one men and twenty women, ani- 
mated by an energy that had too often been lacking in their pre- 
decessors, had left York Factory as soon as the rivers were open to 

navigation. They began work immediately. The soil was 
thoroughly turned, and on the brown and compact land beside the 
Red River a rich harvest of potatoes appeared. The surveyor Peter 
Fidler traced out for the newcomers their fields of a hundred acres 
cach, stretching out like ribbons whose narrow base, now reduced 

to three acres to avoid the excessive spread of the colony, allowed 
the houses to be built close together along the river and the settlers 
to help each other in difficulties’ and to exploit fully the resources 
which the river provided. The conditions that dictated the con- 
centrations of lots along the St. Lawrence imposed here a similar 
distribution of holdings. 

In August and September, newcomers arrived to reinforce the 
first contingent of Kildonan settlers. Their appearance brought to 
about 200 the number of colonists gathered on the shores of the 
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Red River.”* A few of the more enterprising among them began to 
build spacious dwellings, thus expressing their attachment to the 
homeland they were making for themselves in the territory of As- 
siniboia. J. McLean, whose zeal was evident from the earliest 
days, refused to join the exodus of the other families to Pembina, 

and over the winter of 1813-14 established his home near the 
Forks, where he lived with his family on the produce of his land 
and his hunting.”* Peter Fidler was especially qualified by his en- 
durance and ingenuity for the life of a pioneer, and in the summer 
of 1844, assuming the temporary direction of the colony, he 
erected buildings, enclosed within a wooden palisade,”® large 
enough to include a granary, a sheepfold, a stable, and pigsties, as 
well as living quarters. At the same time, work continued on the 
building of Fort Douglas, a new stronghold of the Hudson’s Bay 
Company, placed near the junction of the Red River and the As- 
siniboine, facing the site of Fort Gibraltar, which was occupied by 
the North West Company; it protected the colony that developed 
upstream from the Forks.” Finally, agriculture in its turn recov- 
ered from the uncertainties which at first had paralysed it. Wheat, 
barley, oats, maize, buckwheat, and potatoes had been sown in su- 

fficient quantity and had benefited from weather conditions fayor- 
able enough to promise yields that for the first time would meet 
the colony's need for subsistence.” In addition, having recovered 
from their initial confusion, the settlers were familiarizing them- 

selves with the ways of hunting bison, and by experience daily 
gathered they were bringing new solutions to the problem of 
supplies. 

Meanwhile, underneath the apparent optimism of the popula- 
tion, which was reflected in Miles Macdonell’s letters to Lord Sel- 
kirk, the symptoms of discontent lingered and the dissensions of 
the early days reappeared. The Irish remained turbulent and undis- 
ciplined. The Highlanders showed themselves to be difficult and 
suspicious. Their clan prejudices prevented any solidarity among 
them,” and the situation was worsened by the absence of a 
Gaelic-speaking pastor, by the lack of a school for their children, 
and by the feeling of relative isolation which some of them re- 
tained ina country their first experience of which had disappointed 
them.’ The opening of a school at the end of 1814 was not enough 
to overcome the resentment of those who, because there was not 

enough room in the boats, had been unable to transport their ef- 
fects to Red River.*’ At the same time, there were several deser- 
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tions among the men who had been engaged as indentured ser- 
vants, and, according to the terms of their contracts, were ex- 
pected to put in several years of wage labor for the community 
before they could gain title to their lands." If the settlers who ar- 
rived in June 1814 compelled Macdonell’s admiration by their ex- 
cellent conduct, those who joined them in September were in- 
docile and turbulent, opposed to any idea of serious settlement, 
and even, according to Macdonell, ready to ally themselves with 
the colony’s enemies.** They may well have harbored resentment 
against Lord Selkirk for giving too favorable a description of the 
advantages the country offered them and thus leading them into 
illusions that reality belied.** Some of them, who had to leave their 
country alone, without friends or families, were bound to experi- 
ence in these distant regions the depressing effects of isolation and 
to forget the poverty which had caused their exile as they concen- 
trated on the disappointments of their present situation.** To the 
cleverly camouflaged propaganda of the North Westers such indi- 
viduals offered a soil it was easy to exploit in the hope of detaching 
from the colony a portion of its strength.*° To reconcile these mal- 
contents by dissolving their grudges and thus preventing defec- 
tions would have needed a leader with the qualities of subtlety and 
firmness combined which, unfortunately, Miles Macdonell seems 

to have lacked. 
At the same time the governor picked by Selkirk showed a de- 

votion whose benefits the settlers experienced during the difficult 
period when they were living at Pembina.*’ He did his best to di- 
minish their sufferings by a methodical distribution of the re- 
sources of his disposal and a judicious sharing out of their ac- 
tivities. But he lacked the conciliatory disposition which the situa- 
tion demanded; if he found deplorable the preconceived hostility 
of certain officers, he himself did not know how to display toward 
his enemies the dignity that would have put them in their places, 
or how to gain by moderation the respect of men who were alien- 
ated from him by their aversion to Catholicism, of which he was a 
convinced adherent.** The violence he exhibited toward his oppo- 
nents, the harshness with which he demanded the carrying out of 
the most arduous tasks,*® the severity with which he repressed acts 

of indiscipline provoked by discontent among the men during the 
winter of 1812—13 (of which the representatives of the North West 
Company were quick to take advantage in weakening the new- 
born colony),* all helped to neutralize the benefits that stem- 
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med from the qualities of integrity and devotion he possessed in 
the higher degree, and exposed him to deep resentment. [t seems 

as though, in certain cases, he even failed in the practise of equity, 
whose exercise alone could have maintained a real balance between 
the true settlers and the paid workers: by the policy of discrimina- 
tion he applied, he increased the jealousies and stimulated the re- 
sentments that divided the two groups. Finally, it is evident that 
the biting comments which, right from the beginning, he intro- 
duced into his letters about the Hudson’s Bay Company and its 
selfish methods gave evidence of a lack of cordiality which did not 
help in lessening the misunderstandings and conflicts between the 
governor of Assiniboia and the Company's officers." 

THE ATTITUDE OF THE COMPANY'S OFFICERS 

It would be unjust to see the officers as systematically hostile to an 
enterprise which embraced a plan of reform directed against the 
slow and routine-ridden methods by which—without 
exception—the Company’s agents were bound. Many shared the 
ambition of Superintendent Auld, and saw in the colony Mac- 
donell had come to organize on the banks of Red River a means of 
rescuing their mixed-blood families from the hazards of primitive 
existence and of absorbing them quickly into a society permeated 
by the conceptions of civilized peoples. In such circumstances, 
could they have done other than welcome Lord Selkirk’s initia- 
tives and the man appointed to carry them out? Macdonell, who 
never failed to recount the slightest indiscretions of William Auld, 
admitted that he was received in a courteous and friendly way by 
both the superintendent and the governor of York Factory, Wil- 
liam H. Cook, though he attributed this to their wish to bring 
their families soon to the colony of Assiniboia."? Doing justice to 
Auld’s sincerity, he recorded that even before the arrival of the 

settlers, the latter had taken care to inform the posts on the Red 

River that they should collect provisions that would be needed by 
Lord Selkirk’s immigrants.”* Auld, on his side, had already com- 
municated to the Company’s directors the hopes which the col- 
ony’s foundation aroused in him and the instructions he had given 
his subordinates to resolve the problem of subsistence.”* ‘Many 
parents in this Service . . . say . . . itisa most fortunate thing for 
them that an asylum is on foot which may afford shelter to their 
offspring. I myself too am like them a Parent.’"** Thus there is no 
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reason to doubr that the relations between Macdonell and the 
superior officers who welcomed him on his arrival were marked 
with reciprocal cordiality.°* 

But it is natural that the disturbances introduced by this influx of 
immigrants into the activities of York Factory, the hindrances it 
offered to the carrying out of normal tasks in the posts, and the 
restlessness it stirred among the garrison personnel should quickly 
jeopardize the good relations that were established in the begin- 
ning between the leader of the expedition and the Company’s rep- 
resentatives. The presence of these somewhat undisciplined vis- 
itors, whose winter quarters had to be organized, precipitated Wil- 
liam Auld into a nervous exhaustion.” Their arrival in fact coin- 
cided with a difficult period: in 1811 the trade in furs had fallen off, 
and William H, Cook had written of the “decline of business” in 
the posts along the coast."* York Factory had only with difficulty 
been able to provide for its own subsistence.’ Auld feared that if 
such shortages continued, it would be impossible to solve the 
double problem of feeding both the settlers and the garrisons.'” 
Against their will, the personnel had to accept a reduction in the 
food rations normally given them; from this resulted manifesta- 
tions of ill will and recriminations that irritated the officers all the 
more because Macdonell demanded for his men distributions of 
supplies that were often irreconcilable with the needs or expecta 
tions of the garrisons.'°! 

Caught between such opposing claims, alarmed by Indian re- 
ports of the shortage of game, the governor of York Factory still 
showed neither hostility nor indifference to the settlers who were 
located some distance from his establishment.'”? But if he were to 
husband the post's scanty stocks of provisions he could give in 
neither to the reproaches of his own men nor to the repeated pleas 
of the settlers, and in this situation he was faced with resentment 
from both sides. It would have been difficult for him not to give in 
to outbursts of temper against these immigrants whose presence 
troubled the lives of his personnel and to a great extent paralysed 
the normal activity of his establishment. The officers, in fact, were 
unable to reconcile their normal preoccupations with those now 
added by the concentration of these men near the post. Forced to 
carry on a double activity, on the one hand they sacrificed the pro- 
jected development of their commercial activities to the interests 
of the settlers,'°* yet on the other hand, at the risk of provoking 
Macdonell’s dissatisfaction ,'" they refused to make excessive con- 



The Enterprise of Assiniboia 373 

cessions on behalf of the colony, and especially to employ their 
personnel in provisioning the immigrant camps and thus com- 
promise the accomplishment of the normal winter tasks.‘ Can 
one blame them for regretting the peacefulness of earlier years, or 
for often losing sight of the advantages they had first perceived in 
the Assiniboian enterprise and seeing only the problems it created 
for them? It was not only that the settlers were difficult to handle 
and that their ignorance of the country and its ways of life, apart 
from making them incapable of serving the trading posts,'"" im- 
posed on the Company’s officers an extra load of responsibility, 
since they had often to intervene to prevent accidents or disap- 
pointments linked to the strangers’ lack of experience.'”” The 
mutinies that broke out in the immigrant camp,' and the dissen- 
sions that divided the settlers into mutually hostile groups, had un- 
fortunate effects on the discipline of the employees, creating 
among them, and also among their officers, a mood of irritation 
that was hardly conducive to the good functioning of the service. 
The settlers who arrived in 1813 gave an even worse example to 
the garrison personnel: enrolled as “free settlers’ because they 
were able to pay the cost of their passage, they became excessively 
proud of the fact and refused to perform any physical tasks.'°" 

To these many causes of exasperation we must add the personal 
disagreements that were not slow to break out between the Com- 
pany's officers and the Governor of Assiniboia. Sometimes they 
were simple conflicts over precedence between men who believed 
in the superiority of their respective functions: sometimes they 
were squabbles provoked by the claim of an officer to an infallibil- 
ity of judgment he believed he had acquired through his long ex- 
perience in a primitive country, and which the sceptical Mac- 
donell, sometimes to his cost,!!° but at other times with reason, 

refused to recognize. Such a situation was sharply posed when the 
Governor of Assiniboia decided to undertake the construction of 
craft to transport the settlers to their new place of residence. A dis- 
pute ensued about the design and size of the boats. The superin- 
tendent and the governor of York Factory sought to follow the 
traditional conceptions of the heads of posts, but these were far 
from Macdonell’s ideas.''' This divergence ended by straining the 
relationship between these men who, at the beginning, had con- 
gratulated each other on the good harmony that united them. The 
obligation under which Auld found himself of immobilizing for 
this enterprise a good portion of his personnel,'!* combined with 
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the mortification he felt at having to bow to Macdonell’s views, 

added new causes of antipathy to those that already divided the 
two men. If the Governor of York Factory succeeded in overcom- 
ing his displeasure''* in spite of the disturbances which the arrival 
of the settlers caused even in his family life,'"* the more impulsive 
Auld gave way to invective against the immigrants who teemed in 
the environs of the Factory. In his letters and in open speech as 
well," he adopted a passionate and grating tone that deceived 
newcomers regarding his real feelings and made them regard him 
as a resolute adversary of the Red River settlement. It was in this 
guise that he appeared to Colin Robertson, who described him as a 
“man of strong passions” and believed he had deliberately hin- 
dered Lord Selkirk’s projects from the arrival of the first settlers.""° 
It is certain that, if one become excessively hypnotized by the un- 
kind judgments he applied in his correspondence to the Red River 
settlers,"!7 one can do no other than see him as the declared enemy 

of the Assiniboia enterprise. 
To have avoided the disagreement that emerged from such con- 

ditions would have required a spirit of extreme reconciliation, but 
these men had neither the breadth of vision needed to rise above 
their immediate preoccupations—reduced for one to the good 
progress of his commercial operations and for the other to getting 
his colonizing enterprise under way—nor the flexibility that 
would help them forget the issues that divided them or at least les- 
sen their impact.''® From these unfortunate beginnings there 
lingered between Auld and the Governor of Assiniboia a bitterness 
that did not end with Miles Macdonell’s departure,'' for it was 
further inspired, as we shall soon have the occasion to observe, by 
reasons both deeper and more delicate than the causes already indi- 
cated "2° 

Before bringing in this last point, let us for the time being say 
merely that the hostility toward Macdonell harbored by Hugh 
Heney, the Company’s representative in the Red River sector, 
proceeded from the same motives as that of Auld, his immediate 

superior. His men, while they showed little affability toward the 
newcomers,'*! do not seem to have shared the acrimony of their 
chief, whose impulsive temperament found expression in an even 
more exaggerated way than that of the superintendent.'** 

In spite of the formal orders which Auld transmitted to him, 

Heney had neglected to prepare the provisions needed for the im- 
migrants, and as soon as Macdonell reached the banks of the Red 



The Enterprise of Assiniboia 375 

River, he complained sharply to the superintendent about this 
grave negligence which seriously affected his men’s lives.'** With 
a malevolence at which Macdonell hinted, without daring to ac- 
cuse him openly, Hugh Heney had even bought up their crops of 
potatoes from the freemen who grew gardens around the junction 
of the Red River and the Assiniboine,'** leaving the settlers no 
other alternative than to live their first winter at Pembina, The 
same intent to injure the colony is evident in the instructions 
which in 1813 he gave to the officer MacLeod, whom he enjoined 
to refuse all assistance to the people involved in the Assiniboian 
enterprise.'** It is possible that such prejudiced hostility was a pro- 
jection of Auld’s resentment.'** But Heney could act with such 
conviction only because he shared his superior’s dissatisfaction, 
and because the arrival of the governor, which deprived him of the 
power he had hitherto wielded in the territory of Assiniboia, 
seemed to him a humiliation hard to bear.'?” 

But his interests as well as his pride were at stake in this enter- 
prise. Even if the Company reserved to itself the right of exclusive 
commerce within the limits of the colony and had not surrendered 
its privilege of building trading posts there, it had still accepted, in 
authorizing the creation of Assiniboia, a notable reduction in its 
field of activity."** In the absence of adequate proofs, one can ig- 
nore Heney’s accusation against Macdonell that he was personally 
interested in trading operations, in formal contravention of certain 
clauses of the act of cession of Assiniboia to Lord Selkirk,'*° But 
one can still admit that the opening of an agrarian settlement in the 
parkland of the Red River would mean a reduction of trade in this 
rich locality and an infringement of the interests of the chief factor, 
who had been accustomed to exploiting the trade without interfer- 
ence. With even more doggedness than Auld, Heney pursued 
against the settlement and its governor a spiteful policy whose sys- 
tematic hostility led on several occasions to the moderating inter- 
vention of the superintendent himself. But Auld intervened in 
vain, and the conflict continued without interruption. At Pembina 
the Company’s employees and the settlers, both of them depen- 
dent for their subsistence on the stocks of meat which hitherto had 
been entirely reserved for the Company’s use, became exasperated 
with each other and indulged in mutual recriminations about their 
excessive numbers.'*! The conciliatory and excessively courteous 
manner which Miles Macdonell adopted at the time of his arrival 
toward the North Westers, whom he thought he could win over 
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to the support of the Assiniboian enterprise at a time when they 

were planning, under the guise of goodwill, to bring about its an- 
nihilation, added to the grievances of the Company’s agents.'** 
Even if, as he later claimed, Macdonell’s policy proceeded from a 
rational assessment of realities rather than—as it appeared at the 
time—from self-delusion,'* it was not for this reason any less of- 
fensive in the eyes of those officers who, like Hugh Heney, dis- 
played an open hostility to the North Westers.'** 

Relations were thus every bit as strained between Heney and 
Macdonell as they had been between the latter and William Auld. 
Ceaselessly opposing each other, and accusing each other of delib- 
erately hindering the feeding of the colony and blindly furthering 
the interests of the North West Company, these two men dis- 

played to their adversaries a spectacle of the glaring weaknesses of 

the enterprise of Assiniboia."** 
In fact, there were few among the Company’s officers or ordi- 

nary employees who shared Hugh Heney’s intemperate hostility. 
Many greeted favorably the program of settlement from which 
their children might benefit,'®* and to Heney’s ill will one can op- 
pose the entirely different attitude of Peter Fidler, to whose kind- 
ness Macdonell paid full tribute. From the post at Brandon, whose 
command he had just assumed, Fidler was unsparing in his de- 
voted assistance and in his effective co-operation.'*’ In agreeing to 
carry out the surveys necessary to lay out the lots for the various 
settlers, he displayed his sympathetic interest in Lord Selkirk’s en- 
terprise. Soon, like many others, he would take his place among 
the inhabitants of the colony. Yet it is likely that Heney’s policy 
wielded a demoralizing influence on both his subordinates and on 
the colonists. To the first he gave the example of a hostility which, 
coming from above, would paralyse any sympathy they might 
engender for the Red River enterprise. So far as the others were 
concerned, the constant disputes between Governor Macdonell 
and the Company’s representative aggravated in every direction 
the difficulties that impeded the progress of the settlement. 

Convinced from this point onward of the fissure appearing in 
the organization so laboriously constructed by Lord Selkirk, the 
North Westers were confirmed in the resolution they had formed 
from the beginning of stifling at birth an enterprise whose success 
would have meant the early demise of their own operations. En- 
couraged by the fragility betrayed by the events they had witnes- 
sed, they set about overturning the edifice constructed by the 
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Scottish nobleman, and to carry out their work of destruction, 

they appealed to the Métis group which during the eighteenth cen- 
tury had slowly come into being in the country of the West. It was 
then that, thrust despite themselves into a conflict between the two 

economies that confronted each other in Rupert’s Land, the Métis 

of the West were led to play a more active role, to draw out of the 

composite humanity that already existed in the provinces of the 

West'** a personality that was not yet clearly defined, and in the 
events which they then experienced to uncover the first roots of a 
national feeling. Thus the few years that witnessed the conflict be- 
tween the settlers of Assiniboia and the North West Company, a 
simple episode in the fierce struggle which the trading groups 
waged against each other, had a prime importance in the history of 
the Métis group: from now onward the Bois-Briilé became a 

characteristic element in the society of the West, inseparable from 
its history, as he remains to the present day. 





CHAPTER TEN 

THE TRANSFORMATION 

OF THE METIS 

FREEMEN AND METIS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE 

CONFLICT 

To carry out the work of elimination which its representatives 
considered necessary for the future of the North West Company, 
the latter had to dispose of shock troops who were at the same 
time resolute and obedient. It could not put its entire confidence in 
its own employees, mostly Canadians from the St. Lawrence val- 
ley, engaged as voyageurs, who would have been difficult to or- 
ganize and arm to mount a regular attack on the Red River settle- 
ment. The hostility which they showed to the bourgeois Arch- 
ibald Norman McLeod in 1816 when he tried to turn the staff of 
canoemen who accompanied him into a miniature army at Bas de 
la Riviere’ was an expression of the scruples they felt about being 
involved in any flagrant breach of legality, or in lending them- 
selves to manoeuvres that denied the elementary principles of their 
upbringing. They were indeed little aware of the rights and 
privileges implied in the Charter of 1670 and little concerned about 
the legal basis of Lord Selkirk's enterprise. But though they often 
abandoned themselves to isolated acts of violence and aggression, 
they would have refused to become involved in an enterprise 
whose obvious aim was the destruction of the families who had 
recently established themselves on the Red River. Far from accept- 
ing all their masters’ orders, they showed an independence toward 
them in which the North Westers saw the effect of the policy of 
competitive bidding which the Hudson’s Bay Company was fol- 
lowing in the parishes of Lower Canada to increase its recruitment 
of Canadian personnel.” 
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Responding to the material advantages that were offered, the 
French Canadians were open to the idea of serving the British 
company, and the sympathy they developed for the latter pre- 
vented them from associating themselves with the projects of their 
Scottish chiefs. They also felt that if they were led into excessive 
violence, they might be exposed to judicial procedures from 
which the privileged status that the complaisance of Canadian 
courts had guaranteed the North West Company would no longer 
be able to preserve them.* The Montreal magnates were unable to 
eliminate either the scruples or the timidity of their men, nor could 
they overcome the independence the latter displayed toward their 
superiors. 

But there existed in the country of the West an element whose 
ignorance, isolation, and uncertain moral development made them 
more accessible to the manoeuvres and the propaganda of the 
partners. First, there were the freemen; the very conditions under 
which they enjoyed their “liberation” tended to limit their real 
possibilities of independence. And then there were their Métis des- 
cendants, whose weakness of will made them easy to exploit so 
that they would become the instruments needed to carry out the 
North West Company’s plans. It was among them that the latter 
set out to recruit the troops that would enable it to bring an end to 
the enterprise in Assiniboia. Yet neither the freemen nor the Métis 
felt at the beginning any hostility toward the Red River colony, 
and there was nothing to suggest, when Miles Macdonell arrived 
at the forks of the Assiniboine with the contingent of Scottish 
families, that they would one day seek to destroy the settlers’ 
farms and crops. 

Tt is true that the North West Company had at its disposal vari- 
ous means of making the freemen dependent on its representa- 
tives. Theoretically at least they owed to the tolerance of the 
bourgeois the right to prolong their residence in the country of the 
West. In the ‘‘Tableau”’ which he left us of the fur trade in North 
America, Selkirk represents them as being narrowly enslaved, 
despite a pretence of liberation, to the North West Company; the 

latter forced them to offer it, at terms fixed by itself, the produce 

of their hunts, and to limit their activity entirely to the pursuit of 
its selfish interests.* 

In fact, if the formalities of release reduced many of the freemen 

to an appearance of semi-servitude, that condition remained more 
theoretical than real. In general, the Company arrogated to itself a 
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right of pre-emption on their furs, but it bought them on terms 
that guaranteed a reasonable profit.’ If it reserved the right to call 
on their services when it seemed fitting,® it allowed them to dis- 
cuss the conditions of employment in the same way as the ordi- 
nary personnel; in such circumstances, it remunerated their ser- 
vices at a rate identical to that accorded any other employee.’ The 
inferiority of their position was most manifest in the right which 
the bourgeois claimed of expelling from the territories where they 
had taken up residence* those who offended him by their lack of 
discipline, refused to respond to his requisitions, or harmed his 
trade by competing with him, Faced with the prospect of return- 
ing to Lower Canada, where poverty awaited them, and where in 
many cases they did not dare take their half-Indian families, the 
freemen would give way and submit. But there was nothing in 
this that distinguished them from the engaged men regularly at- 
tached to the service of the posts; failure of discipline or breaches 
of contract in both categories were punished with the same penal- 
ties. Attempts at desertion could lead to pursuits which, in the ab- 
sence of any police force, were confided to the Indians who were 
authorized, so that the lesson would be more efficacious, to rob 

them of their equipment, seize their horses, and, in extremity, 
threaten their lives.’ The most one can say is that the actual situa~ 
tion of the freemen sometimes rendered illusory the appearance of 
liberty given by the expiry of their contracts, since they remained, 
by the very limits set on their independence, in a situation similar 
to that of the engaged men. 

Most of all, the North Westers found in this practice the cer- 
tainty of having available in any situation an experienced man- 
power pool,’ which, by the activity it displayed in seeking out 
fur-bearing animals, guaranteed the Company a certain superior- 
ity over its competitors. But it was a long way from this kind of 
limited freedom to the state of servitude which Lord Selkirk 
described —all the more so since, before the attack on the colony 
made it seem necessary, the Company does not appear to have had 

serious recourse to the sanctions which it claimed to have the right 
of applying. The conditions the freeman engaged himself to res- 
pect on the day of his liberation very soon gave way to an inde- 
pendence which lapsed only on the rare occasions when the Com- 
pany requisitioned his services. A certain number of freemen, 
either by their mingling with native tribes or by their extreme dis- 
persion and the range of their distant wanderings, moved beyond 
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the reach or influence of the heads of posts, But those who were 
faithful to the terms of their release and kept for their bourgeois 
the furs they collected were obeying their personal interests rather 
than any compulsion to carry out their engagements or any idea of 
immutable loyalty. The North West Company in fact gave them 
terms considerably better than those offered by the rival Com- 
pany, and this, even if one had no other proof, should be enough 
to counter the reproach its detractors addressed to it of releasing its 
men only to bind them more securely. Indeed, it had so litele 
thought of reducing them to servitude that it closed its eyes to the 
undertakings they might enter into with the rival company. If the 
freemen were slow to avail themselves of this latitude, it was be- 
cause the British posts were in no position to offer the kind of ad- 
vantages that would attract them to its service. During James 
Bird’s period in Edmonton, where the freemen were especially 
numerous, he tried to establish commercial relations with them, 
and as a result he came to an open recognition of this inferiority. 
The North West Company, he wrote in 1807, received from its 
freemen more furs than all the native tribes brought in, with the 

exception of the [roquois. It gave them the goods they asked for 
on terms more or less equal to those the Hudson’s Bay Company 
offered. But it paid for the beavers that it bought from them in 
cash at the rate of 11 Canadian pounds per pound in weight, and it 

was this that prevented the British Company from competing; 
“they would often prefer Your Honors Goods could they receive 
Money, or Bills for the small part of their Hunts they may so wish 
to dispose of. It is almost unnecessary to add, that the Nw Co. will 
not pay a man in money for any part of his Furs unless he takes his 
necesaries from them.""!' 

Yet a certain number of freemen had already hired themselves 
out to the English forts without the North West Company appear- 
ing to be concerned. In 1789 groups of freemen encountered no 
difficulty in trading furs and buffalo meat at Manchester House; 
some of them, as we have seen, even took the furs they had col- 
lected to York Factory in the hope of trading them at a better rate, 
and do not seem to have been concerned about the possibility of 
eventual coercion by their former bourgeois.'* Others had no 
scruples about acting as guides for the adversaries of the Canadian 
organizations even at a time when the commercial rivalry had 
turned into a merciless struggle.'* They knowingly accepted the 
task of leading them to areas well supplied with fur-bearing ani- 
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mals'* or showing them stands of birches they needed for making 
canoes.'® Thus in 1799 Hudson’s Bay Company men from Buck- 
ingham House reached the rich area of Deer Lake under the guid- 
ance of the Canadian freemen, who were paid in trade goods;'* 

once Greenwich House was established, several freemen went 
there to trade beaver skins.'7 Similarly, the journal of Fort Edmon- 
ton mentioned the establishment of commercial relations in 1798 
with Canadians who had been released from their obligations by 
the North Westers. Some of these, already absorbed into native 
society, looked like actual Indians and had abandoned themselves 
to the indolence of primitive man;"* the more active ones were dis- 
tinguished by the quantity of their returns.'’ But there were still 
not many of either kind. Most of them went to the Canadian 
posts, which responded better to their desire for monetary gain, 
the area in which their links with white society were not com- 
pletely dissolved in the primitive milieu with which they as- 
sociated intimately. 

As the conflict between the trading companies became exacer- 
bated, it seemed more necessary to have recourse to the services of 
these freemen and to treat them as liberally as the North Westers, 

so as to close the gap between the rival posts. Thus in 1807 James 
Bird reached an agreement with a Canadian who proposed to hunt 
fur-bearing animals in the Rocky Mountains for almost two con- 
secutive years, and on his return to hand over to the English post 
part of the wealth in pelts he had accumulated.*® The following 
year, on his own initiative but hoping that the Committee would 
soon agree to the financial remuneration he urged it to authorize, 
Bird negotiated with a group of freemen, including J.-B. 
Lagimodiére, who, after having successfully traded their furs 
among the bourgeois of the Red River and the Company’s 
employees at Fort Albany, now proposed to carry on their opera- 
tions in the foothills of the Rocky Mountains. As they insisted on 
receiving the reward for their hunting in cash, Bird promised to 
advance the sums they demanded from his own capital, and by 
committing himself in this way he was able to conclude a verbal 
contract with them identical to those which they were in the habit 
of making with the North West Company.*! The Canadians who 
round about the same period entered into a commercial agreement 
with Fort Albany insisted on similar conditions.** As a conse- 
quence the Committee adopted the suggestions of its agents and in 
1809 authorized its officers to negotiate for furs with the freemen 
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on the same terms as the North Westers,”* either at the rate of 11 

Canadian pounds per pound in weight for winter beaver, or 5% 
pounds for summer beaver.** 

At this period, it was not only as trappers that the freemen fre- 
quented the English posts. Their activity became as full and diver- 
sified as it had been around the Canadian forts. They hunted bison 
as well as fur-bearing animals, they gladly sold to the Company’s 
officers the produce they grew on their plots of land, they were 
active in providing its personnel with information on little 
exploited regions, on the routes leading to them, and on the dan- 
gers that might result from the presence of hostile tribes.*° From 
reading the journals of the posts one gains the impression that 
these freemen were regularly incorporated into the life of the 
British establishments, without mention being made of any kind 
of opposition from the bourgeois of the North West Company. In 
1812 Bird even noted that two of them brought him an exception- 
ally rich consignment of 600 beavers; although the North Westers 
had offered them 12 Canadian pounds per pound in weight, they 
preferred to let him have them on the same terms because of the 
better deal he offered them in trade goods. He hastened to 
negotiate with other freemen a wider agreement that resulted in a 
gain to the Company of more than £200.** When the conflict fin- 
ally broke out between the North West Company and the colony 
of Assiniboia, the texts reveal no interruption in this commercial 

alliance which had been formed between many of the Canadian 
freemen and the English posts: at most the Edmonton journal 
suggests that for fear of reprisals, the freemen would trade clandes- 
tinely with the Anglo-Saxons and at the same time offer some furs 
“officially” to the bourgeois of the opposing establishment,?” But 
such instances were exceptional; few of the freemen appear to have 
harbored such fears.** 

In such a situation, it was inevitable that at the moment when 
the decisive struggle was on the point of being played out between 
the two rival companies around the colony of Red River, the 
freemen as a group should not show any hostility toward the or- 
ganization to which so many had become customers and suppliers. 
Doubtless these Canadians could not forget that their origins and 
antecedents attached them more closely to the company which, in 
contrast to the British enterprises, represented the interests of the 
St. Lawrence valley. Conscious of these feelings, and adroit at 

reawakening them, the North Westers must have tried to exploit 
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them on opportune occasions to regain the wavering fidelity of the 
freemen and line them up against their enemies. But the liberty to 
which these freemen had become gradually accustomed, and the 
profit they now found in serving the English posts, had obliterated 
these inclinations to a notable degree, and the favorable welcome 
they gave the settlers who had newly arrived on the plains of Man- 
itoba testified to their goodwill and their conciliatory spirit. 

While he continued to denounce the state of subjection to which 
he believed the freemen had been reduced by the bourgeois of the 
North West Company, Selkirk advised Miles Macdonell to exploit 
their long-standing knowledge of the country to facilitate the pro~ 
visioning of the colony and to familiarize its inhabitants with the 
access routes to the territory of Assiniboia.*® He even saw them as 
future settlers, and he envisaged distributing land to them so that 

they would support his plans and constitute the best possible 
safeguard for the colony.*® There is no doubt, of course, that 
many of the freemen, still ruled by a naive vanity, were not 
coolheaded enough to refuse lending themselves to the acts of ag- 
gression which the North West Company asked them to perform. 
Some of them were more inclined than others to ignore the res- 
ponsibilities they had assumed or too far removed from their ini- 
tial upbringing to understand the real implication of their 
superiors’ actions. Others responded to the threat of coercion 
which the bourgeois claimed to be able to apply,*' or to the argu- 
ments the latter invoked to revive their former attachment to the 
North Westers’ cause. These submitted docilely to what was ex- 
pected of them, But others, who were less removed from civilized 
life, who kept their contacts with Lower Canada and maintained 

in the isolation of the prairie the principles which in the colony 
along the St. Lawrence had dominated their existence, reacted 
with rejection or indifference to the persuasions of the partners*® 
and to their intimidatory tactics. The example of J.-B. 
Lagimodiere is significant. His way of life led him to return often 
to Lower Canada, while his religious principles were too well 
rooted and his commercial relations with the Hudson’s Bay Com- 
pany too close for him to perform any criminal acts against the 
settlement. On the contrary, he was to be a useful ally both to 
Lord Selkirk and to his enterprise. 

Thus the North West Company was far from finding unre- 
served support among the freemen. It disposed of more pliable 
elements among them than it found among the Canadian voy- 
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ageurs; it could invoke, so as to mobilize them against the colony, 
the terms of their “‘contract”’ of release; but it never succeeded in 

stifling the benevolent sympathy they demonstrated spontane- 
ously toward Lord Selkirk’s colony or in subduing in all of them 
the voyageur’s pride or the habits of independence which most of 
them had developed thanks to their style of life. 

It goes without saying that the Métis children of this class of 
freemen would at first share the sympathy their fathers showed 
toward the families on the Red River and toward the Hudson's 
Bay Company. The Métis had no understanding of the repercus- 
sions which the enterprise that inaugurated the colony might have 
on the Canadian company and on the destinies of the nomad 
economy which they maintained in Rupert’s Land. Thus, in the 
initial stage of the settlement, we encounter neither prejudice nor 
ill will among these simple and generous men. In most of them the 
event provoked nothing more than indifference. To those who 
lived in the remote areas, the conflict that emerged on the banks of 

the Red River passed unnoticed, and did nothing to change the 
good relations they had established with the English posts.** 

Yet their group offered to the North Westers a field of influence 
considerably more favorable than that of the freemen or voy- 
ageurs. In drawing out for the Métis the lessons of the events that 
were unrolling, in exploiting their susceptibility, their impression- 
able character, their lack of will, the partners had little difficulty 
triumphing over the sympathy they showed toward the settlers. 
The atmosphere of cordiality and mutual aid which presided over 
the birth of the settlement and which offered the immigrants to 
Assiniboia the encouraging spectacle of Métis and freemen rival- 
ling each other in generosity and goodwill toward them, soon 
gave way to an atmosphere of mistrust and then of antagonism 
that set the Métis against the enterprise they had at first regarded 
with favor. 

The young Métis, in fact, were lacking in the elements of resis- 
tance that became evident among the freemen. Their education 

had taken place in a primitive environment, apart from the civiliz- 
ing influences incorporated in the society of New France, and also 
apart from the moral code which, in a native society, did not oper- 
ate beyond the framework of the tribe. Of Christianity they were 
scarcely aware; those among them whom Commissioner Coltman 
interrogated on their religious notions answered that they had 
been neither baptized nor instructed in the Christian religion, that 
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they merely knew the importance of an oath and believed in the 
existence of a God who could punish and reward them;* to such 
rudiments had been reduced the moral upbringing their fathers 
transmitted to them. The mothers, for their part, taught them a 

simple collection of superstitious notions without any moral im- 
plications. Thus they had too fragile a basis to enable them to resist 
the influence of a Company that in their eyes still appeared as a 
dominating power, which knew how to make use of threats and 
intimidation, an effective weapon against these timid natures who 
were too ignorant to express doubts of the legality of the organiza- 
tion’s actions, and among whom the bourgeois, since they had 
their own families of mixed blood, could invoke the solidarity of 

race which united them with the most humble of the Métis. 
Above all, the North West Company had the advantage of being 
represented by a number of men of Métis descent who owed to 
their origins and their knowledge of the psychology of their con- 
geners a considerable prestige among the Bois-Brilés. The events 
of the years that saw the awakening of a national consciousness in 
fact demonstrated that the Métis, though impervious to the re- 
mote and abstract influence of men they did not know and princi- 
ples they did not understand, were at the same time completely 
accessible to the influence of anyone who approached them di- 
rectly, knew their preferences, and could gain their confidence. 

Must we see in this a manifestation of the emotional make-up of 
the Indian and to a certain extent of the French Canadian, a ten- 
dency to accept arguments addressed to the feelings rather than to 
the intelligence? Or a projection of that special view of obedience 
which the Indian also to a degree shared with the Canadian, and 
which made him accept the orders of whoever ruled by persuasion 
and personal prestige rather than by authority and discipline? This 
characteristic became clearly evident in the Canadian Metis during 
the events that for the first time drew attention to his character by 
drawing him into the foreground of the history of the West. He 
put his trust in the men of his own race who knew how to com- 
mand him, and surrendered to their orders with a docility that 
proceeded from his natural passivity and from the ascendancy a 
strong will could always establish over him; he could obey 
blindly, and let himself be led without realizing it into the worst of 
excesses. But if he allowed himself to be won over in this way, it 

was not merely the effect of his emotional make-up and of the 

trust that was born of common origins. It stemmed also from the 
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attitude of the whites, who, arriving in greater numbers and re- 
pudiating the idea of allegiances with the native peoples, began to 
treat the Métis with humiliating scorn. 

From this time onward the Métis began to withdraw into the 
group to which he belonged; the discrimination which the whites 
applied openly to him tied him all the more closely to those of his 
congeners who knew how to dominate him and offer him a clearly 
defined line of conduct. By chance, the North West Company at 
this period had among its personnel a number of enterprising 
Metis who were capable of assuming the role of leaders and of 
transmitting their ideas to people of their own race. Furthermore, 
even if the freemen might feel scruples about declaring themselves 
in opposition to a Company which now possessed a numerous 
Canadian personnel, the Métis, who were less close to the latter, 
would not feel similar hesitations. In brief, they displayed a whole 
cluster of inclinations that seemed to destine them to become 
docile tools in the hands of the partners who were resolved to an- 
nihilate the Red River colony. The North Westers hoped that, 
under the control of leaders of their own race, the Métis would 

carry out that work of destruction with the ferocity that—they 
believed—Indian ancestry or at least close association with the na- 
tive groups would have transmitted to them. 

Thus it was natural that the North West Company should place 
its reliance on this group which as yet was little known, but which 
its initiatives would soon bring to attention. Yet though it had cal- 
culated the evident advantages of such an intervention, the Com- 
pany had not recognized its inherent perils. The docility of the 
Métis was no reliable guarantee of performance, for it resulted 

from a weakness of will that placed them equally at the mercy of 
opposing influences. Should the influence of the leaders who di- 
rected them weaken in the slightest degree, or should they en- 
counter an unexpected change of circumstances, they might with- 
draw their support as easily as they had committed it. If they could 
be violent to excess, changes of mood or impulses of compassion 
could follow without warning; toward the settlers of Assiniboia 
they alternated between passionate hostility and a conciliatory 
mood marked by cordiality and goodwill. Faced by such discon- 
certing contrasts in the attitudes of the Métis, the North West 
Company was obliged constantly to reawaken their loyalties, 
either by threats or promises of gifts or appeals to the sentiments 
of national independence which it inculcated among them 
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and which, without the Company’s actions, they would probably 
never have felt in the same degree. If the North Westers gradually 
overcame the hesitations among the Métis, it was because they 
could exploit the personal influence of a number of Métis devoted 
to their cause; because they could develop a propaganda calculated 
to stir the touchy susceptibilities of the Métis and to arouse in 
them dreams of national grandeur; and finally because they knew 
how to make the most of the errors of their adversaries, not only 
to inspire among the Métis a lively resentment of the immigrants 
of Assiniboia but also to dissipate the scruples that turned many of 
the Canadians freed trom their tutelage against a program of de- 
struction. 

THE TRANSFORMATION 

Good Relations in the Early Days 

The beginnings of the colony were distinguished by mutual cour- 
tesies. When Miles Macdonell on 4 September 1812 took posses- 
sion with great pomp of the territory of Assiniboia, to the sound 
of six guns which the settlers had acquired for the defence of their 
land, the bourgeois of the North West Company, John Wills and 
Alexander Macdonell, were present at the ceremony, in the com- 

pany of eighteen Indians, freemen, Métis, and employees. They 
did not appear to take exception to the reading of the Act of Ces- 
sion of the territory,*? which was formulated for the benefit of 
Lord Selkirk and which affirmed the sovereign property rights of 
the Hudson’s Bay Company, and henceforward of the “noble 
Lord,” in the newly constituted colony. When the ceremony was 
over, the bourgeois gathered with the officers of the British com- 
pany in Governor Macdonell’s tent, where toasts were drunk to 
the future prosperity of the Red River Colony.** Despite the blow 
which the Act of Cession inflicted on the claims of the North Wes- 
ters over the country they exploited, their attitude remained 
courteous and conciliatory. Macdonell could only congratulate 
himself on the welcome they had accorded him on the way to Red 
River,*’ and on reaching Fort Gibraltar and later the site of Pem- 

bina he encountered a friendly reception among their partners.** 
He openly expressed his satisfaction about this in a letter to Wil- 
liam Auld on 5 December 1812 in which he contrasted the indiffer- 
ence of the Hudson's Bay Company’s officers with the prompt 
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generosity of the North Westers. “I am indebted to the North- 
West Company’s gentlemen for much personal civility.”*” And 
one cannot wholly deny the sincerity of an attitude which gave the 
settlers on Red River the hope of an easy and peaceful future: even 
if later events seem to justify the hypothesis of deception from the 
beginning on the part of certain North Westers and even if family 
links between Governor Miles and the bourgeois Alexander Mac- 
donell did not divert the latter’s rancor against the colony, it is still 

beyond doubt that many of the partners, like the Hudson’s Bay 
Company’s officers, welcomed the Red River enterprise as a 
means of achieving the refuge for their children which they had so 
long awaited.‘ It seems logical to conclude that, if no orders had 
come down from their superiors, who were resolved from the 
start to prevent the success of the enterprise, and if the governor 
had not taken the steps he shortly did, many of the partners would 
have continued to watch favorably the realization of a project that 
served their personal interests. 

In the same way, the freemen and their Métis families, who cus- 

tomarily gathered at Pembina to carry out their winter hunts*! and 
whose favorable inclinations Macdonell well knew,** placed their 

experience at the service of the immigrants; their knowledge of the 
country, their skills in hunting, and the fact that many of them 
owned Red River carts in which they could transport the carcasses 
ta the settlers’ camps were of inestimable value to the latter. Some 
of the Canadians were exceptional in their attentions, such as the 

old freeman Peltier, who immediately Macdonell arrived showed 

him a site where the land, already cleared by freemen and ready for 
cultivation, seemed suitable for the establishment of the settle- 

ment.** [t was with his horses that the settlers were able to cart the 
wood necessary for building Fort Daer,** and he agreed to lend his 
cart and his canoe for the summer to a family that, without this 
help, would not have been able to bring in its crop or move 
around.*® Another Canadian, Baptiste Roy, received and took care 
of the seed grains intended for the first agriculture,*® while Fran- 
cois Delorme, assisted by his Métis son, was employed in super- 
vising the construction of the first dwellings and in smoothing re- 
lations with the Indians.*’ Lagimodieére acted as hunter for a pay- 
ment of £30 a year.*® Most of the freemen and Métis were em- 
ployed in. the same way.*® With their families they co-operated in 
feeding the colony: fifteen people helped Lagimodiére in his task, 
eight men joined the Canadian Tranchemontagne, and such 
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groups could bring in as many as seven bison at a time.*? If the 
herds had not been led away by the moderation of the winter of 
1812-13, this personnel of freemen would have provided settlers 
amply with the subsistence they needed before the coming of 
spring. But the scarcity had already begun in December, and it 
lasted until March, only occasionally relieved by the arrival of 
provisions brought by some unusually fortunate hunter, such as 
Lagimodiére or Beaulieu.’ Other freemen were willing to be en- 
gaged as fishermen.** 

A number of the Métis assisted the freemen in these various ac- 
tivities; some, of Canadian origin, helped in the transport of goods 
and in the reception of the newly arrived settlers;"* others, of Scot- 

tish descent, and regularly incorporated in the Hudson’s Bay 
Company’s personnel, were sparing in neither time nor willing- 
ness. An example was the halfbreed, Isham, who helped the 
settlers as soon as they arrived, supervised the preliminary work of 
breaking the soil, and soon became the interpreter for the new col- 
ony, while his son was employed as hunter at wages of £15 a 
year.™* All of them, Canadians and Métis, acted as interpreters as 
well as hunters,®* and they helped to keep the Indians in the good 
mood with which from the beginning they had regarded the 
settlers. 

Selkirk had been careful to send Miles Macdonell particularly 
sensible instructions on the policy he should follow in regard to 
the native people; he recommended him to respect the traditions of 

these primitive folk, not to awaken their apprehension by intro- 
ducing too abruptly the scientific methods from which they would 
eventually benefit, and above all to avoid any appearance of steal- 
ing their lands, by proposing compensation through the payment 
of annuities and through representing the enterprise in Assiniboia 
as leading toward the creation of a commercial establishment 
rather than a sedentary colony.** In the beginning it was in this 
way that many of the Indians in fact envisaged it. Reassured by 
Macdonell regarding the fate of their lands,°” persuaded that in the 
settlement stores they would find an abundance of merchandise 
and generous distributions of alcohol,®* they refrained from op- 
posing the enterprise. The purchase of horses from them was ac- 
companied by ritual gifts of alcohol and tobacco,®* and the furs 
they offered were acquired without hesitation by Macdonell, who 
later justified such actions by his wish to promote friendship with 
the Indians.* Thus, by making itself an organization competing 
with the North West Company, the settlement gave the native 
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people a means of trading more sharply with the bourgeois, and 
the hope of perhaps liberating themselves from their tutelage; the 
North Westers were perfectly aware of this new danger that 
threatened them.* Finally, the Indians saw in the Red River 
settlers eventual allies against the Sioux, their inveterate enemies, 

whose incursions took place regularly, each year in the month of 
July, along the shores of the Pembina River, They came forward, 
even before Governor Macdonell had reached the territory of the 
Assiniboine, with a request that he intervene actively on their side, 

which in the eyes of the Indians was the only way of proving the 
sincerity of the alliance Macdonell wished to make with them.*? 

While Macdonell confided a boy of twelve to one of the Ojibwa 
chiefs so that he could gain practice in the language,®* the Indians 
attended the celebrations which the settlers organized; they took 
part in the Scottish dances that accompanied a wedding among the 
Highlanders in December 1813," and asked for the services of the 
settlement’s piper on the occasion of a wedding between a Cana- 
dian and an Indian woman.” The chief of the Red River Saulteaux 
seems even to have accepted Macdonell’s suggestion that he re- 
nounce the nomad life to dedicate himself to the sedentary occupa- 
tions of farming, and he busied himself trying to win over his fel- 
low tribesmen at Rainy Lake to his new projects.® In brief, in the 
early days an evident sympathy united the settlers in Assiniboia 
with the native element in the broadest sense, whether Indians, 
Métis, or freemen. For the Indians, the understanding was not li- 
mited to the relations of those happy early days; the cordiality per- 
sisted through the worst periods of conflict. For the Métis and the 
freemen it was of short duration, since in the winter of 1812-13, 
when the settlers were struggling painfully against the harsh con- 
ditions of the West in their refuge of Pembina, the Canadian com- 
pany began, insidiously at first and then more and more openly, to 
destroy the work which many of its representatives had either 
welcomed because of the future prospects it offered to them, or 
openly befriended. 

The Intrigue of the North Westers 

This program of dissolution was in fact the work of a few men, 
among whom figured the same Alexander Macdonell whose con- 
duct had at first so well impressed the settlers and whose later at- 
titude suggests that his courtesy was in fact dissimulated. Now 
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that his intimacy with the settlers was so solidly established that he 
felt himself the object of their confidence, and his links of relation- 

ship with his cousin Miles Macdonell guaranteed him the latter’s 
friendship, he was in a position to begin the task of demoralization 
to which he had dedicated himself, His aim was to spread discour- 
agement among the still poorly acclimatized Scots by slyly 
exploiting the difficulties of every kind that assailed them and in 
this way preparing them to abandon an enterprise which he de- 
clared had new disappointments in store for them. The task was 
made easier for him by the relations he had been able to establish 
with the settlers and the extreme cordiality he continued to show 
them. 

Settlers would often pay visits to Macdonell, and he would im- 
mediately enquire about the conditions of life at Fort Daer, would 
blame the governor for not having foreseen what stocks of food 
might be needed for the subsistence of the immigrants, and would 
insinuate that such scarcities were good cause for desertion. Then 
he would offer to help them find their way to Canada. If any 
rumor of these intrigues reached Miles Macdonell, it was easy for 
Alexander to calm his cousin’s suspicions by making a timely offer 
of a few provisions which appeared to demonstrate his generos- 
ity.°” 

Thus the winter of 1812-13 passed in alternations of covert hos- 
tility and feigned goodwill. A number of the discontented settlers 
began to lend an ear to the suggestions of escape they received 
from the representative of the rival company. Some of them de- 
clared later that they had gone to Alexander Macdonell to learn 
details of the means of departure which he could offer them, and 
had received his assurance that if they went in the spring to the 
mouth of the Winnipeg River, they would find there all the assis- 
tance they needed."* Though he was not so ferociously hostile to 

the Assiniboia enterprise, J. Dougald Cameron nevertheless dup- 
licated at Pembina the clever propaganda of Alexander Mac- 
donell.** 

At the same time the influence of the North Westers was exerted 
on the native elements, toward whom they adopted tactics ap- 
propriate to the different groups. They began by criticizing the In- 
dians; but, conscious of the reasons which the latter had to support 
the settlement and wish it to prosper, they were careful not to con- 
front them openly and condemn their attitude. Instead they spread 
among them completely fabricated tales which were designed to 
arouse the hostility of the native people against the settlers.”” They 



394 THE AWAKENING OF A NATIONAL CONCIOUSNESS 

made use especially of the obvious accusation that the newcomers 
were taking over the land and tried to destroy the effect of Miles 
Macdonell’s assurances by arguing that it would all end in the en- 
slavement of the Indians, and that, encircled by the Sioux who in- 

pinged on their territory to the south and the settlement that 
threatened to close them off from the east, they would inevitably 
be reduced to poverty if they did not obtain from the settlers the 
price of their lands and adequate distributions of firearms and mer- 
chandise.?! These arguments do not seem to have seriously shaken 
the friendly attitude of the Indians on the verges of the Red River, 
who were dominated by chiefs favorable to the colony and at- 
tracted by the idea of trade, but in rather more distant areas, 

among the Indians of Turtle River for example, who were not in 
direct contact with the settlers, they did exercise from 1813 onward 

a negative influence.” 
With the freemen and the Métis, the North Westers made use of 

similar arguments, but adroitly detached them from excessively 
material motives by raising them to the level of a national idea. 
They had means of influencing the Métis which were more etfec- 
tive and immediate than anything they could use with the Indians. 
In the winter of 1813, Alexander Macdonell had hinted to his 

cousin, during a discussion provoked by the latter’s claim to be 
able to eject the Canadian traders from the territory of Assiniboia, 
that he knew how to force the settlers to capitulate by reducing 
them to famine.” In this way he exposed the strategy which he 
proposed to use against Lord Selkirk’s plans, and which could be 
achieved only with the co-operation of the Métis. He had no 
trouble in winning over at the beginning a certain number of 
freemen and their descendants. Then, while he himself pursued his 
double-faced policy of good neighborliness and insidious hostility, 
he proceeded to act aggressively against one of the Canadians, 
whom he punished for haying supplied stocks of meat to the set- 
tlement by seizing his horses and refusing to give them back.” 
Though this incident was an isolated one, it indicated clearly that 
the North Westers would not hesitate to use the right of coercion 
which they still claimed over their released personnel. At the same 
time, Macdonell spread widely among the freemen and the Métis 
the advice to hunt the bison on horseback, which, in view of the 
speed of the coursers with which they alone were provided, would 
end in driving the bison so far away that they would be inaccessi- 
ble to the settlers of Assiniboia. This manoeuvre was all the more 
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cleverly devised since the fact that the herds were already far away 
seemed to justify it and to give the Métis the illusion that it was 
inspired less by a desire to harm the colony than by the conditions 
created by the prairie fires and the moderation of the temperature. 
The procedure was well calculated to overcome the scruples of 
those whom their sympathy for the immigrants would normally 
discourage from any kind of malevolent acts toward them, Apart 
from such considerations, the very way of life of these freemen 
and their children, the passionate joy they gained from riding over 
the prairies, and the excitement of hunting the bison predisposed 
them to welcome the suggestions of their bourgeois. There were 
indeed a few of them, like the freeman Bottineau, whose im- 

mediate response to Alexander Macdonell’s invitation stemmed 
from a deliberate intention to deprive the little settlement at Pem- 
bina of its possibilities of sustenance,” but most of those who at 
this time agreed to pursue the herds of bison did so in response to 
natural inclination or to the needs of the moment rather than from 
a desire to harm an enterprise they had not ceased to befriend. 
Many of them, in any case, did not abandon their previous attitude 
and continued to give the colony the benefit of their activity, some 
by offering experienced help to the settlers in building log houses 
with bark roofs, and others in bringing them supplies of meat 
gathered on the prairies perhaps eight or ten days’ journey from 
the Pembina region. More accustomed now to travelling on the 
prairie, better equipped, and favored by the mildness of the 
winter, the settlers managed their move back to the Red River 

without untoward accident.’ Besides, as we have already seen, 
the winter of 1813-14 was less precarious for the immigrants, and 
their provisions were better secured. Some of the freemen, well 

informed of the situation because of their role as interpreters, did 

not hesitate to inform Governor Macdonell of the intrigues which 
the bourgeois of the North West Company were carrying on at 
this time among the Indians,”” and it must have been through 
freemen whose loyalty to him was not undermined that Mac- 
donell, in 1814, became informed of his adversaries’ plans and of 
the violent intentions they denoted.” 

Miles Macdonell’s Answer 

Thus, though the colony did not yet experience the effects of the 
North Westers’ strategy, the governor soon began to feel an uneas- 
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iness that was increased by the imprudent words his cousin let fall 
in the winter of 1812-13. Aware of the danger to his followers of 
the overhunting planned by his adversaries, and disturbed by the 
enormous quantities of meat which the North West Company was 
drawing from the “‘buffalo preserve” of the Red River and Pem- 
bina Mountain, thereby creating a threat of famine among the 
immigrants, Miles Macdonell decided in the spring of 1813 to pre- 
vent by appropriate measures the consequences he feared. On 17 
June he informed Lord Selkirk of his resolution to establish 
quickly an embargo on the products of the Red River, so as to put 
an end to this squandering of victuals, and to hinder the realization 
of the plans that were suggested by the conduct of the bourgeois, 
by whom he pretended, despite all appearances, never to have 
been deceived.” Perhaps at this point Miles Macdonell remem- 
bered the ironic disapprobation which his self-congratulation at 
his good neighborly relations with the North West Company had 
aroused in Hugh Heney,** who was so much better informed on 
the feelings of his adversaries. Resolved to frustrate the schemes of 
the partners, he committed himself to the decisive measure that 

was intended to deny to the North West Company a right of pos- 
session consecrated by time and that would condemn their enter- 
prises to imminent failure. However judicious and founded in law 
may have been the prohibitions he set out to formulate, his initia- 
tives could not fail to be the beginning of a deep rift between the 
settlers and the groups that in the beginning had given them assis- 
tance. Above all, his proposals provided the enemies of the colony 
with a solid basis for their propaganda, They would not fail to 
exploit it among the Métis and the Canadians in order to regain 
the fidelity of those who were too devotedly serving the settlers of 
the Red River and to destroy their scruples about declaring their 
opposition to an enterprise which they could not openly denounce 
as wronging the first occupants of the country, These people were 
accustomed to a freedom without restriction, But the governor 
was proposing to attack the most essential of all their liberties. 
Soon, in fact, he was going to impose on their right to hunt the 
animals of the prairie, which nobody had ever contested, a strict 

limitation that would gravely threaten the very basis of their 
livelihood. It was then that the Métis and the Canadians began to 
think in terms of the contrast between the situation with which the 
introduction of a sedentary economy threatened them and the re- 
spect which the North Westers had already shown for their 
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nomadic existence and the latitude they had given them to regulate 
itas they wished. Automatically, in their eyes, the Company from 
Lower Canada took on once again the ascendancy it had held in 
the past. 

It only needed an apparently logical initiative, motivated by the 
elementary needs of the settlers in Assiniboia, for the latent con- 
flict between the two divergent economies that was concealed 
within Lord Selkirk’s enterprise to awaken abruptly; the sedentary 
colonists would clash with the nomad Metis in the same way as 
agricultural interests in the colony on the St. Lawrence had shown 
themselves to be incompatible with those of the fur trade. In the 
pring of 1813 the conflict emerged in isolated incidents which 
were nevertheless symptomatic of the discontent that was already 
developing among the Métis. Testifying before Commissioner 
Coltman, the Canadian Francois Delorme, whose attitude toward 

the colonists had been especially accommodating, declared that at 
this time an attempt was made to impose three vexatious limita~ 
tions on the freemen: the first threatened them with fines if they 
persisted in driving the bison on horseback, and this they consi- 
dered a hostile act toward them; the second, which forbade them 
to peel the barks of trees to cover their houses, threatened their 

material life as seriously as the ban on hunting in the way they fa- 
vored; the third, designed to restrain the waste of the better kinds 
of trees, called on them to reserve these for house construction and 
to use as firewood only the inferior species or dead branches.*! Re- 
strictions of this kind resulted from the attitudes of a sedentary 
society, guided by principles of judicious economy, and the two 
latter were justified by the already evident shortage of woodland 
on the verges of the prairie; nevertheless, those who were natives 

by birth or adoption were unable to understand the reasons that 
legitimized them, and the bourgeois of the North West Company 
had no difficulty in persuading them to ignore such regulations. 

These incidents had no immediate consequences. Although they 
were the prelude to more rigorous and aggravating rules, they 
were soon forgotten and did not appreciably affect relations be- 
tween settlers and nomads. They merely implanted among the lat- 
ter a vague uneasiness, which was counterbalanced by the declared 
intention of a number of the freemen to go over to the agricultural 
life and establish themselves on lots in Macdonell’s colony.*® But 

the lull was of short duration. On 8 January 1814, following up his 
first initiatives, the governor officially forbade the exporting out- 

wn 
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side the limits of his territory of the pemmican which it was the 
practice to make of bison meat and which provided food for the 
North West Company's brigades that circulated regularly to Fort 
William; the ban applied also to other products of the colony, such 
as fish, game, and vegetables.*® Perhaps Macdonell, whose action 
was contrary to the instructions Selkirk had just addressed to 
him," was acting not only from a desire to ensure the feeding of 
the families for whom he was responsible, but also in obedience to 
the less disinterested thought of eliminating from the environs of 
Red River, by depriving them of their customary provisions," of 
both the rival companies whose representatives had singularly 
complicated his task either by their hostility or by the narrowly 
selfish aims they had pursued. At all events, his action dealt a dis- 
astrous blow to the North West Company, for it came at a mo- 
ment when the season was too advanced to make possible, by sub- 

stituting provisions from more distant areas for the resources of 
which it would be deprived in the Red River region, the rear- 
rangement that the development of its trade demanded. The war 
that was going on at the same time between England and the Un- 
ited States increased the difficulties of the situation by interrupting 
the deliveries of food from Detroit. Finally, the season's hunt had 
been a poor one, and the Canadian company’s personnel would in 
any case suffer from the effects of the scarcity.*° The bourgeois 
John Wills spoke out to Miles Macdonell about the distress he 
would be causing; not without reason, he condemned the gover- 

nor’s decisions as inhuman.*’ Soon his refusals to make Mac- 

donell’s edicts public at Fort la Souris would demonstrate the in- 
tention of the North Westers not to accept without resistance a 
measure that so directly harmed them.** 

The Métis and the freemen themselves would have been more 
directly affected if Governor Macdonell had prohibited —as he first 
proposed to do—the hunting of bison by horse. By following the 
latter procedure, the Métis made the herds inaccessible to the im- 
migrants. In this way they assured themselves the monopoly of 
providing food for the colony, for even if a small proportion of the 
inhabitants of Assiniboia had begun to adapt themselves to the 
buffalo hunt, they were in no position to follow the herds so far 
from their own base. But as soon as the settler’s subsistence was 
assured by the ban on exports of pemmican, this method of hunt- 
ing became less harmful to them." [t was in view of this that the 
proclamation was restricted to prohibiting the export of meat pro- 
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ducts without mentioning the issue that was so close to the hearts 
of the Métis, All the same, Macdonell complained about the pre- 
sence of groups of vagabond Canadians, who lived as nomads on 
the prairie and who, caring little for the well-being of the settlers, 
reserved for themselves the whole product of the animals which 
they hunted to excess. Laboring under delusions which the future 
would quickly dispel, he proposed to detach them from their 
wandering life by establishing them in the colony, convinced that 
the protection they would find there against the Sioux would be 
enough to turn them away from their traditional existence."” 

Nevertheless, the edict he had just promulgated assumed a 
menacing significance for the Métis: its repercussions threatened, 
as clearly as the limitations imposed for a short time in 1813, to 

restrain the virtual anarchy of their way of life, It was clear that it 
heralded the coming of a new kind of authority, represented by 
men lacking the bonds of intimacy that the North West Company 
had established, and on whom they could not rely, should the 
need arise, for either sympathy or understanding. Macdonell 
affirmed that authority peremptorily in the correspondence he car- 
ried on with John Wills, the bourgeois of Fort la Souris, following 
on the proclamation of 8 January. To the latter’s refusal to admit 
that his company’s men should be regarded as subject to the Gov- 
ernor of Assiniboia, Macdonell replied that since they were estab- 
lished on the lands of the Hudson’s Bay Company, they must 
submit to its rules and to those of the settlement's authorities.”! 
The Métis were unaware of this dispute, But they had nevertheless 
the feeling that serious and unfavorable changes were taking place 
that would have the effect of subordinating them to the will of the 
newcomers and destroy for ever the liberty which the North West 
Company had so fully allowed them, For them it was a revolution 
which recalled the substitution of English domination for that of 
New France. The newcomers could not identify themselves with 
their group as profoundly as the North West Company had done. 
And the acts of authority which these strangers had just initiated 
might well be the prelude to others that would seriously imperil 
the economy of their way of life. 

In fact, the threat which they so confusedly glimpsed was not 
slow to materialize. Without waiting to observe the consequences 
of his edict, Miles Macdonell was resolved to put into action, by 
force if need be, the orders he had proclaimed, and the policing 
operations which he devised left no doubt about the establishment 
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in the western plains of an authority prepared to assert itself and to 
challenge the existing state of affairs. In May 1814, having in- 
formed John Wills of his intention to confiscate a cargo of pemmi-~ 
can which the North Westers were taking by the classic route of 
the Assiniboine toward their depot at Bas de la Riviere, Macdonell 
ordered into action the sheriff of the settlement, sending an escort 
of armed men prepared to give him support. The precious stores 
had been carefully hidden in a cache on the clearing which at White 
Horse Prairie breaks the woodland lining the shores of the As- 
siniboine, but, assisted by Lagimodiére and following indications 
given by the free Canadian André Poitras, who lived in the 
neighborhood, the sheriff succeeded in finding and appropriating 
the ninety-six sacks of which they consisted.** A month later a 
similar operation was directed in more difficult circumstances 
against Fort la Souris, at the confluence of the river of the same 
name with the Assiniboine River, two of the arteries most actively 
used in transporting buffalo meat. When the head of the post, John 
Pritchard, refused to hand over the provisions he had just received 
from the hunting grounds of the Qu’Appelle River, the sheriff or- 
dered the breaching of the wooden palisade that defended the 

buildings, and, in spite of the resistance offered to him, he seized 
the rich cargo of 479 sacks of dried meat that had been stored 
there.* 

Macdonell was indeed careful not to attempt to reduce the ad- 
verse company’s personnel to a state of famine. By personally of- 
fering to return to John Wills the provisions he considered neces- 
sary for feeding the men at Fort Gibraltar, he escaped the charge of 
a lack of humanity that had first been levelled against him.™ But 
the seizure which he had ordered deprived the staging point of Bas 
de la Riviere of the provisions that were destined for it, and this in 

turn amounted to paralysing, as Lord Selkirk later recognized, the 
normal passage to Fort William of the Athabasca brigades, which 
henceforward would be deprived of the means of safely complet- 
ing the last stage of their journey.** Thus Macdonell’s rash action, 
apart from indicating to the freemen and the Métis the danger of 
police action against anyone who did not obey the governor’s in- 
junctions, provided the North Westers with a precise grievance. 
They made it an excuse to oppose violence to violence. The two 
parties took prisoners.** On both sides, groups of armed men 
were recruited to ward off possible aggressions. Twenty-eight 
men were sent to the shores of the Assiniboine to protect the 



The Transformation of the Métis 401 

sheriff, who was arriving from Fort la Souris, and the booty he 
was transporting. On their side, the North Westers had mobilized 
a force of 120 voyageurs, and had given the command of them to 
twelve bourgeois who were exasperated by the plundering to 
which they had been subjected, and were resolved to do battle to 
recover their property, A number of Indians had arrived to swell 
their ranks: two or three hundred men were expected any day as 
reinforcement." For the first time, voyageurs, freemen, and Metis 
were taking up arms at the call of the North West Company to 
defend a cause which more and more became that of the popula~ 
tion of Rupert's Land. In the conflict that threatened to break out, 
the disproportion of forces was too evident to offer any other 
prospect, in the event of a defeat of the settlers, but the immediate 
collapse of the Assiniboine undertaking. Macdonell did not dare 
risk such a perilous gamble. When the bourgeois McDonald (John 
McDonald of Garth) went to him and proposed a compromise ac- 
cording to which the colony would receive, out of the consign- 
ment it had captured, two hundred sacks of pemmican, and 
would be assured, during the coming winter (1814-15), new pro- 
visions of fresh meat from the North West Company, he hastened 
to accept an agreement in such reasonable terms,** which allowed 
him, without further harming the interests of his antagonists, to 
meet the needs of the new settlers who would soon be arriving.** 

The Intervention of Duncan Cameron and the New Offensive of the 

North Westers 

An accord between the two parties seemed to have been re- 
established, and some of the partners, assuming that in these cir 

cumstances their company and Lord Selkirk’s enterprise would 
cease to clash with each other, began to think seriously of settling 
down in the colony with their Métis children. J, Dougald Came- 
ron expressed openly his intention of doing so, and it seems likely 
that he would have carried out his plan if it had in fact been possi- 
ble.’ But, on a higher level, the agents in Montreal could not ac- 

cept such an easy reconciliation, which also aroused the animosity 
of William Auld, doubtless inspired by his inveterate hostility to- 
ward the North West Company.'"! This was the very time when 
the Red River colony was entering on its first phase of consolida- 
tion, thanks to the arrival of those model colonists, the Kildonan 
settlers, to the appearance of crops that seemed to justify every 
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hope, to the completion of the first surveys by Peter Fidler, and to 
the acquisition of a flock of sheep which was shortly expected 
from the plains of the Mississippi. 

Apart from that, the colony of Assiniboia promised to serve in 
the near future as the reservoir of men and provisions ,'”? which the 
directors of the Hudson's Bay Company had expected it to be, and 
this explains the hostility which, from the beginning, Lord Sel- 
kirk’s plans had awakened in William M’Gillivray. The very inten- 
tion that certain partners expressed of establishing themselves on 
the banks of the Red River aroused fears that the personnel of the 
North West Company would let itself be gradually drawn toward 
the opposing cause. Fortunately, not all the bourgeois shared these 
inclinations toward defection. Some of them maintained an ir- 
reducible resentment against the colony: in the first rank of these 
was Alexander Macdonell, who, at the same time as J. D. Came- 
ron was preparing to adopt the sedentary life, openly repudiated 
all idea of conciliation.'’’ By making use of such elements, and by 
arranging the intervention of the Highlander Duncan Cameron, 
whose entry into the scene notably reinforced their position, the 
North Westers could make the effort to recover their position and, 
by a mixture of cunning and violence, deprive Miles Macdonell of 
the gains he appeared to have made. Under the impetus given by 
Duncan Cameron, whose active will was reinforced by a Mach- 
iavellian mind, the strategy of encirclement which Alexander 
Macdonell had applied during the winter of 1812-13 was taken up 
on a larger scale, and, once again, the demoralizing tactics, in- 
tended to spread discouragement among the inhabitants of As- 
siniboia, produced their effects. 

As soon as he arrived in the territory of Red River (June 1814), 
Duncan Cameron, whom his long experience in the Lake Nipigon 
sector had familiarized with the native populations and accus- 
tomed to all the violent means adopted by the North Westers, took 
advantage of the ease of access he obtained to the settlers by virtue 
of common language and origins. Addressing them in Gaelic, he 
turned immediately to the most recent arrivals, the immigrants 
from Sutherland, whose good qualities and the attachment they 

immediately manifested for their new home constituted an impor- 
tant guarantee of stability for the colony.’ Inviting them to visit 
him, and winning their sympathy by generous distributions 
of the goods, such as sugar, tea, and liquor, which the governor 
measured out to them sparingly,’ he took every opportun- 
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ity, in the intimacy of conversation, to suggest to them that they 

had unwittingly been taken from their homes, “kidnapped” as it 

were, and transplanted without any guarantee for the future into a 

land where the natives would soon set about massacring them.'*° 

He then offered to take them to Canada; there they would find an 

assured refuge,"” and be spared the privations they were still suf 

fering on the Red River.'* As for the earlier immigrants, he re- 

minded them of the excessive severity Miles Macdonell had 

shown toward them, imposing immoderate punishments for 
minor breaches of discipline.' Before whose who were still at- 
tached to the settlement in the humble condition of wage-earners, 

he dangled—in the hope of bringing about their desertion—the 

bait of higher pay. After having persuaded seventeen of them to 
repudiate their contracts, he made regular use of them to get round 
the others and increase the number of defections." 

At the same time Cameron acted in obedience to instructions 
which the wintering partners had evidently just agreed on at Fort 
William during their last reunion," and, like Alexander Mac- 

donell in the past, he plotted to intercept the colony’s food 
supplies.""? He used a well-planned duplicity to finally win over 
the Métis, some of whom were still faithfully serving Mac 
donell.!!8 As the measures the latter had adopted had not resolved 
the question of how the buffalo hunt should be conducted, and as 
the procedure employed by the free Canadians and the Métis put 
the settlement at the mercy of these men, who alone were supplied 
with fast horses, Macdonell on 21 July 1814 published a new proc- 
lamation which ordered the hunters henceforward to abandon 
their practice of chasing the animals on horseback. Afterward he 
claimed that the North Westers had themselves urged him to this 
decision, whose result would infallibly be to alienate the Métis 
from him.'* J. White, the colony’s doctor, categorically put the 
blame for the initiative on the partners of the North West Com- 
pany,'!* in whose hands he showed Macdonell becoming a mere 
tool, and the Canadian Séraphin Lamarre himself admitted to 
Colin Robertson that he had deliberately led the governor into the 

trap which the cunning Duncan Cameron had laid for him."'® Thus 

it was thanks to the duplicity of his adversaries that the governor 
finally surrendered to the desire he had long manifested of oppos- 
ing the methods of hunting favored by the Métis. Taken in by the 
clever rationalizations of the North Westers, who had no difficulty 

in convincing him of the importance, for their own establishments 
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as well as for the settlers, of limiting this practice, he took on him- 
self, in the eyes of the Canadians and their descendants, the un- 
popularity of a decision to which he had come only through his 
enemies’ suggestions, 

The North Westers hastened to give wide publicity to this proc- 
lamation whose terms they had established in full agreement with 
Macdonell.''” They posted it on the gates of Fort Gibraltar,'!* and 
did not oppose its publication at Brandon House.!' But at the 
same time Duncan Cameron advised the Métis not to take any 
notice of a decision that arbitrarily restrained their right to govern 
their own lives as they wished."** As they could not follow the text 
of the proclamation, he distorted its meaning, and claimed that it 
forbade them under pain of death to assure the subsistence of their 
families."*! In the French translation which he had Séraphin 
Lamarre read to them, Cameron introduced clever modifications 
that were calculated to provoke indignation among those who 
heard it."** At Fort Gibraltar he publicly tore up Macdonell’s de- 
cree, and told the Métis that they had every latitude to hunt as they 
had done in the past,'** adding that he was the boss, and that Mac- 
donell’s orders could not oblige them to anything." 

In this way, not only did Cameron regain the confidence of the 
Métis by the respect he showed for the traditional freedom of their 
way of life, not only did he communicate through his relations 
with these simple natures the spirit of solidarity that animated the 
organization of the North West Company, but he tried, by pro- 
claiming his authority as leader, to challenge the position Mac- 
donell arrogated to himself. 

The governor acted in the name of the Charter of 1670 and of 
the jurisdiction with which he had been invested under the Act of 
Cession of the territory of Assiniboia to Lord Selkirk by the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company. Assisted by a council of three members 
which he had constituted a little after the proclamation of January 
1814 in conformity with the text of the Charter,'** he had obtained 
from his adversaries, by the conclusion of the agreement relating 

to pemmican, an implicit recognition of the authority which he 
held under the terms of the Charter.'*° The Canada Jurisdiction 
Act, of which the North Westers had constantly availed them- 
selves, had thus suffered its first setback. In order to regain the 
ground that had already been lost in this way, Duncan Cameron 
offered in opposition to the titles of his adversaries the legal sanc- 
tion of a royal commission in accordance with which he pro- 
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claimed himself ‘Captain of the Corps of Voltigeurs, Officer 
Commanding on the Red River.’’!*? And by virtue of that lapsed 
commission, which applied to a regiment that had been disbanded 
in March 1813,'** he claimed a supreme authority over all the in- 
habitants of the Red River, proclaimed himself superior even to 
Macdonell,'®® and openly repudiated the legality of Lord Selkirk’s 
enterprise.'*° 

To impose even more on the freemen and Métis, he began to 
parade in his full-dress captain's uniform,'*! and, in accordance 

with the commission with which he claimed to have been in- 
vested, he distributed ranks of lieutenant and ensign to the 
bourgeois Alexander Macdonell, to the clerk Séraphin Lamarre, 
who were directly under his orders, and to the Métis William 
Shaw and Peter Pangman (Bostonois Pangman) who were placed 
under the command of the clerk Cuthbert Grant, himself pro- 
moted to the rank of Captain of the Métis.'** Finally, while in this 
way he created the framework of an army which he intended to 
deploy against the colony, he set out to obtain from the partner, 
A.N. McLeod, who filled the role of justice of the peace under 
the Canada Jurisdiction Act, a warrant of arrest against Miles 
Macdonell, accusing him of theft and breaking in through the 
agency of the sheriff who had conducted the seizure of pemmican 
at Fort la Souris.'** 

For the time being, equilibrium was re-established on the basis 
of legality: the two antagonists laid equal claim to royal authority, 
one by virtue of the Company’s Charter, the other by virtue of a 
military commission. The validity of the titles they invoked could 
not be contested by the freemen and even less by the Métis. But 
while Macdonell sheltered behind a distant act whose illegality the 
North Westers had not ceased to proclaim, Cameron acted in the 
name of a commission that seemed less abstract to the Métis, for 
he invoked once again that Canada Jurisdiction Act with which the 
partners had given cover to their aggressions in earlier years and 
which the natives of the country of the West were accustomed to 
regard as governing the legal status of their fatherland. The juris- 
diction of the Canadian tribunals, nearer and more tangible, had in 
their eyes a solidity that could not be supplanted by the authority 
of a little-known charter. Personified by Duncan Cameron, and 
favorably interpreted by him, it respected the freedom of the 
Métis by avoiding any interference with their way of life, while 
the authority incarnated by Miles Macdonell imposed on them 
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immediate limitations which would doubtless be followed by 
other impositions. Finally, the military entourage with which 
Cameron surrounded himself, and the ranks which he conferred, 

augmented the prestige of the commission of which he took ad- 
vantage to preach openly the destruction of the colony, first of all 
by starving it out,’ and then by force if necessary;'** arguments 
infallible in the eyes of these uneducated men who were ready, as 
Robert Semple would soon observe, to let themselves be awed by 
any display of arms and uniforms or by the influence of men acting 
“in the name of the king.”!"° The doubts that might be aroused 
among the Canadian voyageurs by the North Westers’ frequently 
repeated affirmations of legality were non-existent among the 
more ignorant Metis and, to a great extent, among the freemen. 
And so to the power he acquired from his intimate relations with 
the descendants of the freemen and from the support he found 
among some of the leading Métis, Cameron added the prestige 
conferred on him by his adept invocation of a commission from 
the king and the unanswerable arguments that derived from it. 

The Birth of Métis Nationalism 

But while this work of disruption was going on, Miles Macdonell 
was provoked, by two events which happened at this point, to 
take yet other measures which, however justified they may have 
been, were bound once again to play the game of his enemies and 
tighten more closely their links with the Métis group. His initia- 
tives might possibly have been successful if Cameron's activities 
had been less far advanced, and if the governor had accompanied 

his actions with a counter-propaganda among the Métis and had 
assumed a more bold and capable attitude that would have dem- 
onstrated a self-confidence equal to Cameron's. As things stood, 
his actions could only ruin his cause and that of the colony in the 
eyes of the Métis and give all the support his adversaries could 
have wished to their campaign. 

In September 1814, on his return from York Factory, where he 
had gone to welcome a new contingent of settlers, Miles Mac- 
donell learnt that the North Westers had gone so far as to arrest the 
sheriff, J. Spencer, whom they formally accused of theft at Fort la 
Souris, in preparation for formulating the same charge against the 
governor of the colony.'’’ He also learnt, shortly after, that his 
adversaries had repudiated the agreement that had been reached on 
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the question of the distribution of pemmican, and had resolved to 
hand over to the colony none of the provisions which they regu- 
larly assembled at Fort la Souris.'** They hoped in this way to re- 
duce the inhabitants of Red River to starvation in the winter of 
1814-15, to paralyse as a consequence all their energies, and so, by 
the following summer, to have completely destroyed Lord Sel- 
kirk's creation.'** The decision had been taken at Fort William, 
under the influence of William M’Gillivray and A, N. McLeod.” 
Sustaining an implacable hatred toward the colony, the latter de- 
voted themselves to creating new difficulties for it, and to chang- 
ing the minds of those among their officers who had freely wel- 
comed the idea of taking up land in the Red River valley.'*! The 
prejudices of these leaders quickly communicated themselves to all 
the officers of the North West Company, from the highest to the 
lowest, and this organization, whose workings had always been 
based on reciprocal confidence, once again found a source of 
strength in the solidarity that united the simple clerks to the 
bourgeois and the agents.'*? 

Tt was now that the project which Alexander Macdonell had re- 
vealed to his cousin in the winter of 1813—of taking the colony by 
starvation—began to take shape. The agreement of June 1814 was 
broken, and the North Westers set out to monopolize the produc— 
tion of pemmican from the rich “buffalo parks” of the Qu’ Appelle 
River, so as to cut off even more completely the supplies of food 
to Assiniboia.'** 

To this new offensive the governor replied with the decision to 
prohibit all exportation of dried meat in any form.'** Then he set 
out to remove his enemies from Lord Selkirk’s territory by order- 
ing Duncan Cameron to abandon Fort Gibraltar, which, because it 

was situated within the limits of the colony, was no longer the 
property of the North Westers. The order, to be executed within 
six months, was given to him on 21 October, and the same order 
was soon addressed to the chiefs of the establishments at Turtle 
River and Souris River, of Fort Dauphin, Bas de la Riviere, and 

Carlton." 
Immediately Duncan Cameron redoubled his arguments aimed 

at the Métis and cleverly stirred up in their minds thoughts of the 
danger that these ultimatums implied for their own future. Not 
neglecting any of the aspects likely to arouse their feelings, re- 
minding them that the North West Company had raised them 
from childhood, that they had grown up around its posts, he 
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suggested to them that the expulsion of a personnel whose mem- 
bers were their natural protectors would leave them exposed to the 
tyranny of a group of newcomers who did not understand 
them.'® He added that the orders issued by Macdonell were the 
prelude to the coming expulsion of the Métis from the territory of 
Assiniboia, and that if the governor had thought himself powerful 
enough to act he would not have hesitated to order their eviction 
at the same time as that of the North West Company. As for the 
lands of which the strangers were taking possession, the Métis 
were by right of birth the incontestable owners of them; it be- 
hoved them to oppose the policy of illegal seizure which began 
with the confiscation of the soil and would end with the uncondi- 
tional extradition of the Metis as a group."*” 

Thus, broadening his appeal, Cameron laid the first foundations 
of Métis nationalism: he brought to the people of mixed blood the 
consciousness that by virtue of their birth they had rights of their 
own, which they owed it to themselves to assert and to defend 
against the threats posed by an alien race. The national idea was 
sketched out in this argument whose simplicity captivated the 
Métis and reawakened their prickly sensibilities. Henceforward, 
convinced of their sovereign rights over the immense plains of the 
West where by virtue of their origins they represented the indi- 
genous element, they were not slow to think of themselves as a 
group coherent enough to demand the standing of an independent 
nation and to claim the restitution of a territory which it was 
proposed against all legality to take away from them. 

It was on this slender foundation that the national idea of the 
Métis arose. Yet in a way the concept remained alien to the people 
who adopted it and used it to justify their own later actions. It 
emanated essentially from the bourgeois of the North West Com- 
pany, who skilfully brought it into being and exploited it for their 
own ends. They were equally adroit in spreading the idea with the 
co-operation of the Métis Cuthbert Grant, on whom Cameron 
had conferred the rank of captain and to whom he had given 
command of the Métis group, which Grant set about organizing 
militarily and which he planned to lead against the colony as soon 
as his appeals to national sentiment had taken effect.'** There is no 
doubt that Duncan Cameron stirred up genuinely deep feelings 
among the Métis. Based on a simple idea, and ignoring the more 
soundly based rights of the Indians, these feelings would show 
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themselves, when they were put to the test, tenacious enough to 
prove their sincerity. 

Yet from the beginning the national idea was marred by weak- 
nesses of two kinds, First, the Métis had not conceived it spon- 

taneously and hence it was liable to suffer frequent fluctuations 
under the influence of various kinds of propaganda that were con- 
trary to that of the North Westers but at the same time appealing to 
the Métis temperament. Even more important, because of the var- 
iation in the standards of living among the freemen, which were 
inevitably reflected in the condition of the Métis families, the 
group was not homogenous enough for all its members to harbor 
the same aspirations. In any case, it was a group of people too 
changeable and impressionable by nature for the means of expres- 
sing their national feelings not to vary according to the cir~ 
cumstances or personalities which influenced them. Hence arose 
the endless changes which the national idea underwent in the 
course of Métis history, despite the underlying loyalty it always 
continued to inspire. Hence also arose the circumstance that the 
national idea was affirmed with any vigor only when a strong per- 
sonality was able to awaken and embody it. At least, by arousing 
among the Métis aspirations hitherto unknown to them, the 
North Westers provided the group with an element of cohesion 
which partly made up for that lack of a clearly defined culture 
which the group owed to the duality of its origins. 

Miles Macdonell’s Blunders 

Duncan Cameron would not have been able—as he did—to 
exploit fully the rash actions of his antagonist if the latter had not, 
by his own blunders, provoked the resentment of the Métis and 
given them the impression that they could expect neither sym- 
pathy nor understanding from the new society in Assiniboia. In 
1811 and again in 1813, Selkirk had suggested to Macdonell that he 
should admit as settlers in the Red River territory the released 
employees of either company who, after entering into marriages 
with native women, had acquired Métis families.'*° The lands they 
might occupy would not be given freely; to prevent agricultural 
work from appearing contemptible in their eyes, it would be 
handed over to them at a price which Macdonell had the authority 
to fix as he saw fit.18° The governor was not unaware that a 
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number of officers of the Hudson’s Bay Company, as well as of 
the North West Company, proposed to take up their abode with 
their children in the colony of Assiniboia. He had been assured of 
this as soon as he reached York Factory, and he had discussed it 
openly with Lord Selkirk,'*' informing him that William Auld and 
William H. Cook were both inclined to settle in the colony.'* 
Soon afterward, in 1814, James Bird told him of his intention and 
that of several of his friends to acquire parcels of land on the banks 
of the Red River.'** The disappointment that these men eventually 
displayed at the destruction of the colony'* fully justified Mac- 
donell’s remark in 1814 that the Hudson’s Bay Company’s officers 
were far from displaying a unanimous hostility toward the colony 
of Assiniboia.'®* But if Lord Selkirk encouraged the establishment 
of such mixed-blood families on the lands of the Red River, he had 

no plan to assimilate them with the white settlers he had brought 
there. On the contrary he advised Macdonell to maintain a demar- 
cation that would prevent clashes and conflicts between unequally 
evolved races: he even suggested that it be written into the dis- 
tribution of lands by concentrating the Europeans around the con- 
fluence of the Assiniboine and keeping the Métis families on the 
periphery. This discriminatory system fitted too well with 
Macdonell’s own prejudices for the governor to neglect its applica~ 
tion, A sincere Catholic,'®’ he had spoken from the beginning in 
unsympathetic terms of the free unions that were contracted be- 
tween whites and natives,'®* and he was careful not to encourage 

the mingling of the two groups of families he admitted into the 
colony. At the same time he refused to provide for the officers 
who wished to establish themselves on the Red River the 
privileged treatment they asked in transporting their families to 
the colony and settling them in, Faced by the rejection of his ap- 
proaches to Macdonell, William H. Cook had to address himself 

directly to Lord Selkirk, and to attempt to gain through his 
generosity the concessions that had been refused to him.'** 

Perhaps we can see in this rigidity one of the reasons that led to 
the hostility which a number of the officers showed toward the 
colony that had disappointed their hopes.'°° This is what Colin 
Robertson leads us to understand when, after declaring that the 
majority of them were in the beginning deeply attached to the As- 
siniboian enterprise because of the prospects it offered their chil- 
dren, he accuses Macdonell of having established between them 
and Lord Selkirk’s immigrants a humiliating distinction, of having 
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openly directed all his attentions toward the settlers while treating 
the officers’ families as no better than a subordinate personnel, 
whom he spared neither insult nor criticism, using their faults, and 

mainly the manners they had acquired in the isolation of the trad- 
ing posts, as an excuse to keep them on the verges of the society 
that was being organized on the Red River.'*' By such means, 
which went beyond Lord Selkirk’s instructions ,'** Macdonell fat- 

ally discouraged the officers who at first had welcomed joyfully 
the idea of settling in the colony. For their mixed blood families 
might have been of great help to the settlers at the height of the 
conflict. Through the affinities of race that united them with the 
Canadian Métis, they might have mitigated the latter's resent- 
ment, and in this way they could largely have neutralized Duncan 
Cameron's propaganda. According to Colin Robertson, fifty 
families decided because of the governor's attitude not to partici- 
pate in the land concessions that were offered to them, and in this 
way Miles Macdonell deprived himself of an alliance whose value 
to the cause of the colony cannot be exaggerated.'® 

The result was that from the beginning the Métis as a group 
found it difficult to carve a place for themselves in a society which, 
even though it had experienced the equalizing influence of the 
frontier, still remained subject by a kind of reflex action to the so- 
cial prejudices and readymade ideas which it had imported from 
Europe and which Governor Macdonell affirmed without reserva- 
tion, In fact, when J. Pritchard, one of the North West Com- 

pany’s clerks, was inclined in 1815 to establish himself on the Red 

River, he could not persuade his native wife to follow him among 
these “foreigners” whose contempt and derision she feared.'** In 
the case of the halfbreed Isham, whose value as an interpreter was 
highly attested by William Auld,'* an incident immediately took 
place which gave rise to criticisms on Macdonell’s part that were 
as sharp as they were unjustified, and which testified to the lack of 
goodwill on the part of the governor where the factor of color ap- 
peared,'** 

In these cases it was solely a question of mixed bloods of 
Anglo-Saxon or Scottish origin, in whose cases the higher posi- 
tion of their fathers and the rudiments of education they had re- 
ceived sustained them at a level nearer to that of the whites. Would 
it be excessive to assume that with regard to the Canadian Métis, 
more humble in origin and nomadic in their way of life, the gov- 
ernor had developed an open antipathy? His lack of tact and the 
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malicious way he addressed Canadian freemen and Métis, the has- 
tiness with which he declared to them that the herds wandering in 
the territory of Assiniboia, like the other resources it offered, be- 
longed to him and that they must give up hunting them, and 
above all the haughty indifference he showed toward them when 
they appeared at his home showed an uncontrolled aversion, the 
expression of a nature ill adapted for relations with people whose 
fears or resentments might have been dissipated by a few easy ges- 
tures.'°” The Métis themselves told Colin Robertson that, even 
more than by his words, Macdonell had offended them by his in- 
difference, so unlike the informal cordiality of the bourgeois of the 
North West Company: “No one would ask us in to take a Glass of 
Rum or even to warm ourselves.””"** And this at a time when it 
would have been so easy, by a few marks of consideration, to have 
avoided the inexpiable divisions which the North Westers would 
exploit to the utmost degree! Neglecting those spectacular uni- 
forms that so greatly impressed freemen, Métis, and Indians alike, 

and maintaining toward them all an imprudent distance at which 
they often took offence, Macdonell forgot that in the conflict 
which was about to break out, Cameron had the advantage of 
being able to use methods whose infallible effect on the native 
elements he knew well,'** an advantage which his antagonist’s 
blindness, proceeding from his lack of experience, prevented him 
from challenging. A trader more familiar with the inclinations of 
the Indians, like Hugh Heney, who had been forced to resign his 
position through having incurred the displeasure of his superiors, 
would have been able to prevent the errors or blunders that in this 
way were committed.'”" Left to himself, Macdonell failed to take 
any of the precautions that elementary prudence seemed to de- 
mand. As if on purpose, he magnified the inferiority complex that 
had already been aroused among the Métis by their contact with a 
white population and which, because of his contempt for them, 
the governor made no attempt to mitigate. By his intemperate 
language and the rashness of his policies, he fanned the resentment 
they felt toward these usurpers, who in their eyes seemed resolved 
to reduce them to slavery by depriving them of their means of 
subsistence, by eliminating—in the persons of the North 
Westers—their natural protectors, and finally by making light of 
the sovereign rights of their “nation” over the territory that be- 
longed to them. 

Thus, by the beginning of the year 1815, the Métis had under- 
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gone a radical transformation which had effaced the friendly incli- 

nations they had shown in the early days. The good feelings with 
which they had first regarded Lord Selkirk’s enterprise had been 
shed and replaced by either concealed or open hostility, which ex- 
tended to the people whose presence upset their economy and 
whose laws threatened to dry up the very source from which their 
needs were supplied. All that had been needed to change their at- 
titudes was the clever propaganda of Duncan Cameron, which the 
words and actions of Governor Macdonell did nothing but rein- 
force. 

The Attitude of the Freemen and the Indian 

At the same time, while he directed his main effort toward the 
Métis, Cameron was active among the freemen. This task was 
more difficult, since the Canadians were better equipped to resist 
the propaganda of the North Westers and to maintain a greater 
freedom of judgment in regard to current events. Neither the 
proclamation of July 1814 nor Cameron’s effort to assume 
sovereign power over the Red River and to enrol the “native” 
population against the settlement succeeded in provoking among 
the Canadians the same kind of unanimous resentment as the 
Métis displayed.'”! Many of them continued to serve the settle- 
ment.'”? To maintain a greater support among them, Cameron 

had to elaborate his arguments and even, where necessary, to re- 
sort to violence. The nationalist propaganda so adroitly dissemi- 
nated among the Métis could not have the same effect on the 
Canadian freemen, while the latter, less exclusively dependent on 
the buffalo hunt, were not so impressed by the argument that the 
North West Company recognized their complete freedom in this 
respect. For this reason Cameron sought to attach all the Cana- 
dians who had established themselves in the locality of the Red 
River directly to the Company by means of regular engagements, 
and to monopolize the activity of the hunters so that the settlers of 
Assiniboia would be deprived of their services.'”* 

As for the lukewarm and the reluctant, he devised other means 

of influencing them, either by dances and celebrations which he 
excelled in organizing at Fort Gibraltar and in which great num- 
bers of Métis and Canadians took part, or by the prospect which 
he offered them, if they passed into his service, of repudiating the 
debts they may have incurred toward the rival company or the 
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colony.'”* Already certain freemen had refused to pay off the debts 

from which he promised to free then, and this had led to attacks on 
them which did no good to their perpetrators and made the vic— 
tims all the more solid in their allegiance to the North West Com- 
pany.” 

The fear of an approaching annihilation of the great Canadian 
company did not leave the freemen indifferent.'"* And Cameron 
did not hesitate to forbid the Canadians to serve the colony, 
whether in hunting or in carrying out more diverse material 
tasks.1”7 Where necessary, he used violence. If there were some 
who persisted in their fidelity,'”* most of those who had at first 
offered their services freely to the colony, and even some who had 

expressed their great satisfaction with the actions of the immi- 
grants, moved unreservedly into the opposing camp.'” 

Duncan Cameron had reason to be disturbed by the intention to 
take up lands on the banks of the Red River which some of the 
Canadians manifested. In many cases, of course, the firmness of 
their intentions was doubtful; the nomadism that up to this point 
had ruled their lives seemed likely to undermine any serious incli- 
nation toward a sedentary existence, and Macdonell, as we have 
seen, quickly lost any illusions he may have harbored in this direc- 
tion.'* For many of them, poverty was a serious handicap since it 
made them unable to pay the price asked for their lands.'** Miles 
Macdonell deemed it prudent, in the hope of overcoming this obs- 
tacle, to offer free concessions to those who would agree to im- 
prove the soil and work it for three consecutive years.'** But he 
thought it would be a long time before his proposal would succeed 
among men accustomed to an existence too removed from farm- 
ing for them to accept the agrarian way of life from one day to the 
next, At the same time, there already existed small clusters of cul- 
tivators who, while they still linked their sedentary occupations to 
nomadic activities, appreciated the relative security provided by 
work on the land enough to look with favor on the kind of exis- 
tence offered them in the colony. 

Mote intimately involved in the nomadic life of the prairie, the 
Métis did not experience such aspirations, and the North West 
Company, in developing its arguments, could easily awaken in 
them the natural reflexes of men who practised a purely nomadic 
existence. With the freemen, on the other hand, it soon found its 

propaganda coming up against the sedentary tendencies which a 
number of them showed. It observed with suspicion the first 
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half-agricultural, half-nomad colonies that began to take shape. In 
the spring of 1814 a small group of Canadians prepared to establish 
themselves close to Fort Daer, under the protection it would offer 

against the attacks of the Sioux.'** At the same time, another 
group came together on White Horse Prairie, along the As- 
siniboine River halfway between its confluence with the Red River 
and Portage la Prairie; this was the first nucleus of the future set- 

tlement of St. Francois Xavier.'** Here and there Macdonell’s cor- 
respondence mentions concessions of land granted to Canadians in 
the territory of Assiniboia.'*® The small number receiving conces- 
sions seems to have removed any danger of contagion. But their 
example was still enough to arouse anxiety among the North Wes- 
ters, who feared it would lead to a weakening of their own posi- 
tion. Thus, in the conflict that broke out, the two economies sym- 
bolized by the Métis people and Lord Selkirk’s enterprise came 
into open opposition. Resolved to make an end to the colony of 
Assiniboia, the North West Company set out to detach the Cana- 
dian population, over which it claimed to exercise command and 
even guardianship, from the way of life which the immigrants of 
the Scottish colonies had brought to Manitoba, and Duncan 
Cameron applied himself energetically to fighting against the ten- 
dency that appeared to be spreading among the freemen. He re- 
moved by force some of the Canadians who had taken up conces- 
sions on the Red River.'* He applied pressure to the Canadian 
A. Poitras, who had established himself on a lot at White Horse 

Prairie,'*’ with the intention of discouraging him from having any 
dealings with the colony, and succeeded in winning him over to 
his cause.'* In all this he sustained the policy of William M’Gilliv- 
ray, who at the Fort William reunion had forbidden employees of 
the North West Company to settle in the colony and had offered in 
compensation to help them settle in the region of York in Upper 
Canada.'*" 

So, at the beginning of 1815, Miles Macdonell’s colony had 
largely lost the favor of the peoples who at first had received it so 
welcomingly. The Canadian freemen detached themselves from it 
in large numbers. Willingly or under duress, many adopted the 
viewpoint of the North Westers, and even set about persuading 
their congeners not to help an enterprise that deliberately aimed at 
the ruin of the North West Company.' With more unity, the 
Métis supported the partners who were preaching the destruction 
of the colony of Assiniboia, which was guilty of attacking their 
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primordial rights and of disregarding their national aspirations. 
Only the Indians do not seem to have varied in their attitudes. 

The favorable inclination they had shown toward the settlers from 
the day of their arrival did not decline later on. In 1814 there were 
various indications to show that, despite the intrigues of the North 
Westers, they still felt nothing but sympathy and goodwill toward 
Selkirk’s colony.’*' Perhaps they appreciated the conciliatory at- 
titude which Macdonell had shown toward them at the beginning 
and the care he had taken to dissipate any fears they might have of 
the seizure of their lands. Perhaps they were more aware of the 
advantages which the enterprise of Assiniboia might offer them: 
the possibility of trading with the settlers,'" the profits they could 
make from providing meat for them, and the support they might 
eventually find among the settlers against their enemies in Ameri- 
can territory .’®* 

Macdonell retained their goodwill by emphasizing to them that 
the colony would provide them with the various articles they were 
accustomed to procuring from the whites,'®* and they themselves 
came to the conclusion that the settling of the banks of the Red 
River would henceforward guarantee them against the uncertain 
ties inherent in their manner of life.'** 

Finally, the harm done to them by the Métis and the freemen by 
chasing away the herds of bison led to a resentment among the 
tribes, from which the settlers could not fail to profit, against these 

men who posed as the adversaries of the colony. Lacking horses, 
and consequently unable to pursue the game for great distances, 
the Indians found themselves deprived of their necessary subsis- 
tence by the tactics of the Métis, and they could not take offence at 
the edict Macdonell issued against the practice of hunting on 
horseback: on the contrary the measure was bound to make them 
entertain a greater degree of goodwill toward the governor. What 
could they do against a Bottineau who personally owned eleven or 
twelve rapid coursers capable of overtaking the prairie bison?!” 
For the Métis, the possession of a fast and vigorous horse was al- 
ready a manifest sign of wealth, the most valued capital of the buf- 
falo hunter, Reduced to dire need, the natives—of whom a 
number died of hunger in the winter of 1813—14'*’—conceived a 
strong resentment against the Métis who were responsible for 
their privations. The effect of this was inevitably to neutralize the 
manoeuvres by which the North West Company tried to shake 
their fidelity toward the colony, either by inciting them openly to 
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violence,'* or by interfering between the colonists and the Indians 
in the hope of provoking difficulties and quarrels,'** or by spread- 
ing, through the intervention of the Métis Cuthbert Grant, false 
accusations about the alleged confiscation of native lands by the 
newcomers.*"" The opposition of interests that divided the Métis 
and the Indians, as well as the numerous advantages which the lat- 
ter foresaw in the development of the colony, prevented the na~ 
tives from identifying their cause with that of the North West 
Company and the Métis group, and from sharing in the hostility 
which the North Westers had been able to inspire in the descen- 
dants of the free Canadians. 

At the moment when the colony faced increasing defections, 
and was beginning to become isolated from those who before had 
been of service to it, the Indians persisted in their loyal attitude,*” 

which earned them bitter reproaches from Duncan Cameron: “the 
cowardly Indians hereabouts can’t be depended upon for any assis- 
tance,”"?0# 





CHAPTER ELEVEN 

THE ATTACK ON THE 

SETTLEMENT OF ASSINIBOIA 

THE FIRST DESTRUCTION OF THE COLONY 
(MAY-JUNE 1815) 

If it had succeeded in awakening among the Métis a manifest hos- 
tility against Lord Selkirk’s enterprise, the North West Company 
had not yet inspired in them by the beginning of 1815 a hatred deep 
enough to inspire an attack on the settlement. It was vain, in any 
case, to expect in a people so susceptible to external influences any 
enduring resentment against the immigrants of Assiniboia. 
Good-natured, not obstinate enough to sustain their hatreds, and 
impressionable to excess, they would veer more than once during 

the conflict which the North Westers were preparing to unleash, 
passing from open hostility to conciliation, from exasperation to 
discouragement, and it would be difficult not to see in the assault 
they finally made on the colony the result of accidental cir- 
cumstances rather than a premeditated action. 

Attached by instinct to the North West Company, which 
guaranteed them the only way of life that seemed to conform with 
their inclinations and antecedents, and persuaded that the stabiliza- 
tion of the colony would be achieved only by the loss of their per- 
sonal freedom, by the disappearance of their economy, and by the 
challenging of their national rights, they felt a definite hostility 
toward the enterprise of Assiniboia which testified to the effec- 
tiveness of their superiors’ manoeuvres. But their attitude re- 
mained dependent on the personal influence of a few men who had 
been able—by speaking the right language and by exploiting the 
confidence they inspired—to awaken the desired reactions. A 
show of goodwill toward the Metis, even a few well-chosen 
words, would have been enough to make them abandon their pre- 
judices and turn aside from the aggression toward which the 
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North Westers were constantly urging them. 
Hence arose the rather desultory character of the events that 

marked the years 1815 and 1816, the often uncertain attitude 

adopted by the Métis, and the constant efforts of the North Wes- 
ters to make sure that the resentment felt by the Bois-Brilés 
against the colony would overcome their natural hesitancies. 

Defections among the Settlers 

In general terms the policy of the North West Company showed 
no variation, Resolved to destroy the colony of Assiniboia, it 

utilized simultaneously the methods to which it had always re- 
sorted; on the one hand it attempted to reduce the settlement to 
nothing by inducing more and more of the settlers to desert; on 
the other hand, it set about undermining the will of the more res- 
olute among them by intercepting the arrival of foodstuffs from 
the prairie. To increase the number of desertions, the usual prom- 
ises of monetary rewards and grants of land were made to those 
who would agree to abandon the soil of the Red River.'! Under 
pretexts that had no foundation, arrests were made among the 
settlers who remained too loyal, and their extradition was ordered 

by the North Westers.* More often, it was by means of the dances 
and other gatherings he organized that Duncan Cameron beguiled 
the settlers, stirred up once again the discontents whose causes had 
gradually diminished with the stabilization of the settlement,* and 
won them over to the idea of a new emigration.* In this way, ac- 
cording to Peter Fidler, the colony lost almost a hundred persons, 
a figure nearly equal to the whole number of arrivals in the two 
preceding years.’ Most of them travelled toward the Winnipeg 
River, by which they intended to reach Canada;* some went into 
American territory;’ others simply adopted the way of life of the 
Canadian prairie.* Duncan Cameron’s provocations and intrigues 
kept the colony in a state of excitement and nervousness which af- 
fected the wage-earners most of all: Miles Macdonell had to handle 
them with special care, for fear the slightest offence would lead to 
their desertion.* The terms of the contracts they had signed no 
longer bound them; desertions took place in defiance of all en- 
gagements.'° 

The Growing Hostility of the Freemen 

At the same time Duncan Cameron resumed his scheming among 
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the freemen. To detach them more completely from the colony of 
Assiniboia, he set out to arouse between them and the population 
of Red River an animosity similar to that which separated the 
settlers and the Métis. He had no difficulty in convincing those 
Canadians who, despite their releases, continued to serve the 
North West Company: from the month of January 1815, Mac- 
donell observed the sudden change in their attitude, which 
hitherto had been friendly toward the settlers. The freemen delib- 
eratcly created annoyances, acted boorishly, even committed acts 
of violence, and in this way provoked many quarrels that suc- 
ceeded in exasperating the immigrants.'' Urged on by Cameron, 
other Canadians, who had entered early on into trading relations 
with Macdonell, refused to hand over to him the furs which they 
had agreed to provide in return for the merchandise he had ad- 
vanced to them.'? A manifest ill will replaced the good feeling of 
the first days.'* Everywhere the North Westers increased their 
pressure on the Canadians, in the hope of depriving the Hudson’s 
Bay Company of their services. In the more remote areas, they 
exploited their credulity to discourage them from accepting the 
notes payable in Montreal which the Anglo-Saxons gave them in 
exchange for their furs.’* Above all, they pressed them to give 
chase to the animals that were indispensable for the feeding of the 
settlement, and many of the Canadians, in obedience to their 

chiefs’ command, resumed during the winter of 1815 that blind 
pursuit of the bison herds in which they exhausted their best 
horses and which reawakened the fear of famine in the settlement 
and in the Hudson’s Bay Company’s posts." 

Yet agreement was less unanimous among the freemen than 
among the Métis. If many openly broke Macdonell’s rules, and by 
their conduct seemed to threaten new excesses, there were others 

who, in the conflict that was already engaged, adopted a position 
of neutrality that amounted to a resistance to the provocations of 
the bourgeois.’® It seems certain that, without the moderating in- 

fluence of some of these freemen, the Métis would have seized 
Governor Macdonell and handed him over to Duncan Cameron,'” 

The Chiefs of the Métis Nation 

To reinforce its influence over the Métis, who were more pliable 
than the Canadians, and to spread and strengthen among them the 

patriotic and national idea, the Company called in at this point a 
number of its employees of mixed blood. 
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Most of them worked as clerks and belonged to the families of 
the bourgeois or of high-ranking officers. Their fathers’ positions 
had enabled them to carry on in Montreal studies advanced 

enough for them to appreciate the significance of the events that 

were now taking place, to realize the importance of the stakes in- 

volved so far as the North West Company was concerned, and to 
sense the danger which its ruin or defeat might bring to the Metis 
as much as to the Canadians. The feeling many Canadians then 
harbored that the disappearance of the great company would result 
in an increase of poverty in Lower Canada—so many of whose 
“honest folk” had “only their voyaging to sustain them and their 
families”’*—was shared with equal conviction by the Métis sons 
of the partners. Without concerning themselves with the claims to 
legality ofa charter which in their opinion was negated by anterior 
Canadian occupation,'® they set out to communicate to their 

people the ideas of their bourgeois and in this way to avert the 

danger that threatened them. 
They embarked on their task with an energy and a will exempt 

from the changeability which paralysed the resolutions of their 
congeners. They derived from the example and position of their 
fathers a tradition of attachment to the North West Company that 
was deeply rooted enough to resist opposing influences and to lead 
them into bold ventures.*° During their Lower Canadian upbring- 
ing, they had also acquired a more precise sense of direction that 
drew its inspiration from the culture of the whites and lacked all 
the uncertainties that ensued from the lack of restraint in which the 
Métis child grew up in the plains of the West.?! That the convic- 
tions they expressed and endeavored to inculcate among their 
congeners were lacking in spontaneity, that they sprang in fact 
from the teaching of their fathers or the propaganda of the 
bourgeois, one can hardly doubt, But in their education they had 

imbibed the qualities of action and will needed to realize those 
convictions, and they would bring to the defence of the North 
West Company an energy and a sincerity comparable to that of the 
partners, often reinforced by a blind obedience to their chiefs’ or- 
ders.?* They were too accustomed to the spectacle of the violences 
committed by the North Westers to refuse to associate themselves 
with such actions when circumstances seemed to necessitate them 
or when they received orders to take part. 

The long absence that some of them had undergone, the years 
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they had passed in Lower Canada gaining their education, had not 
diminished the effect of their racial affinities with the Métis. When 
they returned to the country of the West, they immediately re- 
established sympathy and confidence among their compatriots, 
for their education had not deprived them of the homely and pic- 
turesque language, tinged with the modulations of Indian tongues, 
that already distinguished the Bois-Brulés. Cuthbert Grant, son of 
a bourgeois of the same name and of a Métis woman from the 
Qu’Appelle River region, was taken in early childhood to 
Montreal and did not return to the prairie until he was eighteen 
years old.** But the habits he had acquired through his constant 
association with white people, the new qualities he had absorbed 
through his superior education, the ease with which he established 
himself,** had not entirely detached him from his primary in- 
stincts. Absorbed immediately into the life of the West, he had wil- 
lingly adapted himself to its ways, familiarizing himself with the 
inclinations and the ways of expression of the Bois-Brilés, and he 
was better equipped than any other men to find the right word, 
the phrase that would capture the adherence of the Métis, the ar- 
gument that would win their allegiance.** In all sincerity he had 
adopted the ideas that his congeners took to heart, and he affirmed 

the patriotism of their nation with a proud intransigence that as- 
pired to subordinate the settlers to the will of these natives of the 
West.?° 

As well as Grant, other Métis, though less conspicuous, consti- 
tuted nevertheless valuable recruits for the North West Company. 
There was Alexander Fraser, also endowed with a good education 
thanks to a long residence in Lower Canada, after which he was 
appointed to the rank of clerk by Alexander Macdonell;?” William 
Shaw, who had been assured the benefit of a similar education and 
identical promotion by the position of his father, the partner 
Angus Shaw;?* Roderick Mackenzie and Alexander Mackay, both 
trained in Montreal and also figuring among the Company's 
clerks.*” Though they had to be content with the humbler role of 
interpreter, Peter Pangman, nicknamed Bostonois Pangman, and 

Bonhomme Montour, both sons of bourgeois, would play an ex- 
tremely active role in the struggle and demonstrate the ascendancy 
they maintained over the group whose command they shared 
with Cuthbert Grant and William Shaw.*° 

The degree of education these young Métis had received and the 
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more elevated functions that could be delegated to them testified 
to the ambition which the bourgeois of the North West Company, 
like the officers of the rival company, nourished for their children. 
Tt was to the position of their fathers and the benefits this assured 
them that these young Scottish Métis owed the fact that they had 
reached a higher level than the French Métis, generally confined 
by their more humble birth to a subordinate status. This predomi- 
nance of educated Scots explains why the North West Company 
had confided to them, despite their origins and without neglecting 
to call on the Métis Montour and the Canadian Séraphin 
Lamarre,*! the leadership of the Canadian Métis whom it was en- 
deavoring to organize into a disciplined army, united around the 
national ideal. The ascendancy of the native element was as evi- 
dent among the leaders whose upbringing had brought them near 
to the civilized groups as it was among the elements that had re- 
mained nearer to the primitive life, and it constituted the most 
solid link between the two groups, even effacing the differences of 
religious confession that sometimes separated them. Language, it 
is true, united them as much as their affinities of race, for, if most 

of the Scots had become accustomed through their associations to 
the indiscriminate use of English and French, the tongue of Lower 
Canada, along with the native dialects, had quickly assumed as- 
cendancy in the West and had become the customary usage among 
the leaders and their men. 

Guided by their affinities of origin, which were reinforced by 
their use of the same tongue, the leaders chosen by the North West 

Company were able to surmount the difficulties involved in 
commanding the Métis as a group. Cuthbert Grant was distin- 
guished by the firmness of his attitude; he succeeded in imposing 
on his little troop—so ready to fall away if left to themselves or 
under the command of a leader without sufficient authority**—a 
relative degree of discipline. He owed his success to his prestige 
and skill in manipulating the susceptibilities of the Métis, to the 
forcefulness he displayed toward the whites,‘ as much as to his 

strictness and the respect he commanded. Though he could be vio- 
lent toward recalcitrants,*° he also knew how to win the hearts of 
his men; if they sometimes obeyed because of the fear he knew 
how to inspire in them, they were loath to disappoint him by neg- 
lecting to carry out his orders.*® Helped by this instinctual mutual 
understanding, he was able until his death to stand out as the verit- 
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able chief of the ‘‘Métis nation.” The qualities of courtesy and 
strong will gave him a personality that in some ways resembled 
that of the whites, yet a certain hardness of character brought him 
near to the Indians. More than any of the leaders who were as- 
sociated with him, he spread and established among the Metis the 
conviction that they had a right of sovereign proprietorship over 
the lands of the West which was the basis of their claims to nation- 
ality. 

The Organization of the “Métis Nation" 

But that conviction alone would not have been enough to create 
and sustain the national idea if it had not been bodied out in the 
organization given to the Métis at this stage by the North West 
Company. For the first time they were enabled to find—in their 
community of origins and in the presence of “national” leaders—a 
source of cohesion and solidarity. Their leaders were men of the 
same race, thinking and acting like them, proclaiming their essen- 
tial rights, and turning to their advantage the laws which the gov- 
ernor of the colony was constantly evoking. Their actions were 
further sustained by the men who used the authority of their orig- 
inal commissions to prescribe and justify such actions or who 
claimed to be invested with royal authority*”—claims which the 
Metis had neither the opportunity to verify nor the boldness to 
question—and all this strengthened with an appearance of legality 
their pretensions to nationality, The thought never occurred to the 
Métis that this right which they invoked on behalf of their nation 
had already been claimed by the Indians, and that if the whites 

seemed usurpers to them, it was in the same light that they them- 
selves appeared to the native peoples. If and when they had some 
confused perception of this contradiction, they found the solution 
in the incorporation of their group into the race from which it de- 
rived. 

To attach the Métis more closely to the ambitions they had im- 
planted in them, and to awaken in them an aggressive ambition 
which they hoped would overcome their recurrent hesitations, the 
North Westers eventually decided to inflate the national idea by in- 
troducing the title of “Lords of the Soil,” which would flatter their 
vanity and, in reaction to the timidity they were liable to feel in the 
presence of white people, to provoke them to expressions of 
immoderate arrogance.** With a great adroitness, the partners 
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showed an ostensible respect for the independence of these men 
whom they described as “free halfbreeds of the Red River,” the 
only “masters of the soil."’** William M’Gillivray stressed their de- 
sire to be “considered an independent tribe,’"° and the partners 
avoided giving any appearance of constraint, which might have 
caused offence; making a pretence of leaving them free to follow 
their own initiatives, they multiplied the arguments aimed at in- 
ducing the Métis to destroy the colony, but never sought to force 
them into any such action.*! Gradually, the idea spread among the 
Metis that they were indeed the “‘only masters of the soil’ and of 
their own destinies, and that their status as an independent nation 
justified them in imposing their own conditions on the immi- 
grants to the Red River, in the hope of avoiding the servitude that 
seemed to threaten them as a result of the disturbance of their tra~ 
ditional economy. ‘‘You will be given shovels and pickaxes,” 
Duncan Cameron told them, “and you will be forced to cultivate 
the soil for the settlers if you let them freely increase their num- 
bers.’"4 

In the spring of 1815, the Metis laid claim to be treated as equals 
by the North West Company and the settlers in Assiniboia. 
Proudly describing themselves as the “New Nation,” or the na- 
tion of the Bois-Brilés (and in this way elevating into the title of a 
nation the nickname that was derived from the color of their skin), 
they transmitted their wishes, which in fact merely reproduced the 
injunctions of the North Westers, to the population of the Red 

River, demanding that they be carried out under the threat of re- 
prisals, as if they themselves formed a freely constituted state, 
provided with regular institutions.** For, prompted once again by 
the representatives of the North West Company, they had reached 
the stage of thinking of themselves as organized in an autonomous 
republic, whose four leaders were merely the representatives of 
the collectivity, The leaders sustained these illusions by referring 

in the treaties they proposed to the opposing party to the “mutual 
consent of their companions,” in the same way as Indian chiefs 
would make a show of carefully respecting the susceptibilities of 
the men who had come together voluntarily under their leader- 
ship.“ Such rather simplistic concepts suited the inclinations of 
these families of nomad hunters, who were unfamiliar with any 
more developed kind of organization. And in this way their ideas 
of nationality acquired a tenacity that would enable them to sur- 
vive the oblivion into which later events seemed to consign them, 
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and would ensure that they were transmitted almost intact to the 
Métis of the present time. 

While they dictated their wishes to the settlers who had oc- 
cupied their territory, the Métis regarded themselves as free of all 
obligation toward the whites or toward their systems of legisla- 
tion. They even rejected, as inapplicable to their nation, the in- 
junctions of Christianity and the moral laws inspired by them.*® 
The decrees that emanated from their own nation were the only 
ones toward which they admitted any obligation. Moreover, the 
refuge they could find in the boundless prairie, and the possibilities 
of subsistence which it offered them, allowed them to defy with 
impunity the morality of the white men."® 

The contagion of these readymade notions, fabricated by the 
leaders of the North West Company, spread without hindran 
among men who were incapable of discussing them and recogniz~ 
ing their fragility, and who were already too detached from the 
civilizations of their origins to remain committed to their values or 
to oppose by firmly based principles the propaganda to which they 
were subjected, Their national leaders spread the ideas of their 
masters with a zeal encouraged by the titles and dignities with 
which they were now invested and which they regarded as confer- 
ring a superior status to that which they maintained within the 
working hierarchy of the Company.’” 

The scheme envisaged by the North Westers was not only well 
calculated to provide a source of pride and energy that would 
strengthen the vacillating resolution of the Métis. It also allowed 
its promoters to conceal their true responsibility for events under 
the so-called spontaneous activities of the men whose indepen- 
dence they proclaimed and appeared to respect. It was on behalf of 
the “‘New Nation” that they made their boldest demands, and it 
was through the Métis that they transmitted to the settlers the 
order to abandon the soil of Red River.** When, at their instiga- 

tion, acts of violence against the colony increased, they declared 
that they were powerless to moderate the will to destruction of the 
Bois-Brilés, over whose initiatives they had no control.*” Angus 
Shaw and William M’Gillivray never ceased to attest the complete 
independence of the group that responded so well to their man- 
oeuvres,*” and Duncan Cameron did not hesitate to throw on the 
Métis the responsibility for the aggression that would sweep away 
the colony of Assiniboia. Yet when Cameron’s remarks were re- 
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ported to Cuthbert Grant, the latter remained unconvinced of the 
duplicity of this man whose sincerity he had never doubted.*! 

The Appeal to Atavism 

The activities of the North Westers were not bounded by the con- 
siderations already outlined. In order to keep up the energy that 
the Métis gained from the patriotic ideal, they endeavored to 
reawaken in them the Indian affinities within their natures and to 
stir up the savage instincts which in many cases their origins must 
have transmitted to them as a recessive factor in their personalities. 
Any manifestation of that latent atavism might weaken the cour- 
age of the settlers by making them fear the outbreak of primitive 
violence, and this in turn might increase the number of desertions 

and hasten the colony's capitulation. On one side, in fact, we see 
the North Westers striving to destroy the links that still attached 
the Métis to Christianity, whose teachings they told them could 
not be applied to the traditions and the culture of their group. On 
the other hand we see them, once this work had been ac- 
complished, seeking to lead them back to the level of Indian cus- 
toms, either by inciting them to pillage the settlers’ property, 
which they promised to share out among those who carried out 
attacks on the Red River farms,” or by suggesting that they adopt 
the war garb of the Indians, putting feathers in their hair and paint- 
ing their faces, practices that were alien to the Metis, but which 
could have the effect of increasing disorganization among the 
settlers.°* This was all the more likely to happen, since the settlers 
were aware of the presence of a number of Métis whose 
nicknames,** cruder manners,®® and even the languages in which 

they chose to express themselves,®* seemed to identify them with 
the Indians, and whom they therefore believed capable of the 
worst of violences. 

The suggestions transmitted by the partners did not go without 
effect. In the months that preceded the decisive events, one might 

fairly agree that the Métis gave in to the atavism attributed to 
them. They would form armed gatherings on the verges of the 
colony, resembling groups of Indians ready for combat; they sang 
war songs to which they kept time with the beating of drums, and 
even performed Indian war dances and plastered their faces with 
vermilion.*? When the assault was finally unleashed, the warfare 
was conducted according to the rules of Indian tactics, in minor 
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actions such as ambushes, surprise attacks, limited raids, some- 

what more openly carried out than Indian expeditions, but gener- 
ally announced by war cries or Indian war whoops.** When the 
action was over, the joy of the victors was manifested in songs or 
dances to the rhythm of the drums, as in a camp of nomad families 
celebrating the return of its triumphant warriors." How could the 
settlers, whom North Westers did not tire of warning that one day 
they would be massacred by the native peoples, keep calm in the 
presence of such obvious manifestations of a heredity whose con- 
sequences they feared? 
On their side, by reverting to practices that assimilated them 

closely to the warrior tribes of the prairie, the Métis became 

gradually accustomed to the thought of the murderous actions 
which the partners expected of them. The North Westers had well 
considered the tactics that would enable them to rally the Métis to 
their projects. To complete the course of action they had set in mo- 
tion, they had recourse to incessant distributions of presents, and 
especially of alcohol, and they were careful not to ask of the Métis 
any service that was not accompanied by the promise of payment. 
In this way they dissipated any impression of constraint, and clev- 
erly played on the susceptibilities of their men.*” 

The Intervention of the Métis of the West 

Despite the precautions that appeared to guarantee them the loy- 
alty of the Métis, the partners did not have confidence in all the 
elements that made up the group known as the Bois-Briles. Un- 
doubtedly they knew that the Métis of the Red River, repulsed by 
the blunders and the lack of cordiality on the part of Governor 
Macdonell, and seduced by the patriotic idea which they had 
communicated to them, felt from this time onward a deep national 
pride as well as a lively resentment against the colony, so that they 
were unlikely to escape from the North West Company’s influ- 
ence. Yet they still feared the effects of the sympathy that in the 
beginning had united these people with the settlers of Assiniboia. 
Some unexpected change of mood might still, from one day to the 
next, re-establish the links between groups whose relations had 
once been so cordial. Events were to prove such apprehensions at 
least partly justified. Below the surface of their national aspira- 
tions, and below the appearance of an atavistic return to their 
native origins, the outgoing nature of the Métis was always 
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ready to re-emerge,"' and for this reason the cohesion of their 
group was always subject to disintegration.” 

But, between the Métis who inhabited the rich area of the Red 
River, with its wooded and genial landscapes, and those who 

wandered the more remote and wilder regions of the prairie, there 
existed an elemental difference which the years of maturity would 
accentuate and broaden, In the more primitive setting, the Métis 
lived in closer contact with the nomad tribes of the plains. Perhaps 
they derived from this contact a more violent nature, stamped 
with a kind of ferocity. Certainly the isolation that separated them 
from the colony lessened among them the possibilities of a change 
of mood that might emerge from too close a proximity to the 
settlers. To the personal influence of the Métis leaders, which it 
utilized to lessen the risk of defection, the North West Company 
was thus able to add that of the Bois-Brilés who gravitated 
around the forts of the Qu’Appelle River and the Saskatchewan. In 

1816 especially, it increasingly appealed to the latter for their sup- 
port. Already, in 1815, it recruited a number of Métis in the Ed- 
monton region and, under the pretext of confiding to them the de- 
fence of its establishments on the Red River, made use of them in 
realizing its designs against Governor Macdonell.® Thanks to 
their intervention, the Métis as a whole gained in both resolution 
and energy. 

The Attack 

The Company could now prepare the attack on the colony which 
it had contemplated. Its first steps were directed against Miles 
Macdonell, whose errors of judgment singled him out for the re- 
sentment of the Métis, In the course of the winter their hostility 
toward him grew continually. The settlers watched anxiously the 
bitterness of their indignation.® Relations had become too 
strained not to degenerate into an open conflict, which only 
awaited the incident that would provoke it. Then, in February 
1815, the governor sent two of his emissaries to the camp which 
the Métis and the free men of the North West Company had set up 
near the source of the Turtle River, where they hunted the bison 

herds and used their moments of leisure to “sing of war.’ Did 
Macdonell’s representatives go as delegates in the hope of bringing 
about an accord with these men who had developed, from the 

provocations of their leaders and the bellicose appearance of their 
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camp, a veritable war psychosis?® Or were they hoping to oblige 
some of them to deliver to the colony the supplies of meat which 
they had agreed to furnish, at the risk of arousing in the ranks of 
the Métis, through this intervention, the feeling that their national 
independence was being violated?** Whatever may have been the 
case, Macdonell’s emissaries were immediately arrested, and, 

under the guard of the Métis Bostonois Pangman and the Cana- 
dian Charles Hesse, they were taken to the hunters’ camp, where 
they were detained for several days, For the moment, the incident 
had no other consequence than to increase the tension of relations 
and to give credit to the rumors of attack which spread insistently 

within the colony.*” 
Once again, the situation called for skilful and prudent man- 

agement. But Macdonell clumsily committed the same error as in 
1814, when he had thought to ward off the dangers that threatened 
the colony by proceeding with police operations which, however 
justified, were inopportune. On hearing of the attack on his mes- 
sengers, he ordered, as a reprisal, the arrest of Bostonois 

Pangman, one of the most respected men among the Metis, whose 
promotion to the rank of commander in their army had enhanced 
his repute even more in their eyes. It was even possible that the 
incident might influence the attitude of the Indians and range them 
on the side of the Métis; the governor wrote in his journal: “All the 
Indians about the place would join them in case of hostility."°* The 
compromise which followed shortly after this manifestation, and 
the appearance of a reconciliation between the Métis and the 
settlers, did not really change the position of the former group: 
hatred against Macdonell continued, and the North Westers, with 
a tenacity that did not dwindle, since they were resolved to lay 
hands on the governor himself, kept stirring it into life.”° 

The settlers were so conscious of the danger hanging over them 
that, in growing numbers, they gave in to the movement of defec- 
tion. Macdonell could not succeed in holding them; his popularity 
was slight and his authority was openly contested. The ban he is- 
sued on attending the balls which the North Westers continued to 
organize in their fort went unheeded, and the settlers who at- 

tended them immediately fell under the influence of Duncan 
Cameron’s intrigues.”! Some of them deserted not merely with the 
thought of finding in other climes the advantages they had vainly 
sought in the colony of Assiniboia, but also with the intent of 
doing harm both to the governor and to Lord Selkirk’s enterprise. 
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They devised the most malevolent activities against the loyal 
settlers, damaging their fields and fences” and even joining in the 
pillage which the North Westers were constantly suggesting to 
them, Thus, on 6 April 1815, a group of deserters, led by one of 
their number and by the principal Métis leaders, carried off by 
surprise the colony’s artillery while the settlers were occupied with 
their work.”* 

Judging that the rage of the Métis was sufficiently inflamed, and 
the colony weakened enough by such desertions, Cameron de- 
cided he was in a position to engage in decisive hostilities. He re- 
jected the idea of a regular assault, conducted by an organized and 
well-disciplined army, doubtless judging that such a procedure 
would have been too alien to the habits of the Métis to ensure their 
support and to be certain of avoiding a sudden abandonment by 
them of the masters’ cause, induced either by an unexpected resis- 

tance on the part of the enemy or by one of those inexplicable 
shifts of mood that might result from the peculiar nature of the 
Metis. For this reason the first assault was no more than a succes- 
sion of skirmishes and plunderings, which seemed to have no rele- 
vance to any general master plan. Sometimes the Métis would ride 
by in military formation, in little groups of thirty or forty, like a 
well-ordered and commanded troop prepared for an assault. But 
this would only be a show intended, by the warlike apparel and 
belligerent cries of the men, to break down the courage of those 
settlers whose loyalty had resisted all the manoeuvres of the North 
Westers.”* In fact, the Métis contented themselves, at the begin- 
ning of June, with a gathering of their forces in one of those clear- 
ings which, on the verges of the parkland waterways, interrupted 
the strips of woodland along their banks: this was Frog Plain, or 
La Grenouillere, whose empty space opened out along the Red 
River above its confluence with the Assiniboine.” From there, 
they undertook robberies and raids, often carried out in darkness, 
sometimes openly and sometimes unknown to the settlers. Often 
the colony’s horses were shot at with arrows;”* sometimes the cat- 
tle were rustled or killed;?? the fences around the fields were 
pushed over or torn out;”* the cultivated areas were systematically 
ravaged by the feet of the horses whom the Métis released among 
them.” Finally, some of the houses were either occupied or van- 
dalized.*° 

From the camp of La Grenouillére, the Métis also organized 
more direct aggressions; from ambush, cleverly hidden in the 
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coulees or among the thickets and safe from the reprisals of their 
adversaries, they would direct on Fort Douglas a fire whose great 
precision showed the sure marksmanship of the hunters who were 
accustomed to shooting wild animals.*! Thus, from 9 to 11 June 
1815, the palisades of the fort were subjected to a sustained and 
deadly fusillade which claimed several victims; since it was impos- 
sible for the defenders to place them exactly, the attackers could 
act with impunity, unconcerned about the fire of their adversaries, 
who were reduced to shooting at random against an invisible at- 
tacker® in an atmosphere obscured by the smoke that on all sides 
floated out of the thickets where the assailants were hiding.** This 
was how the Indians carried on their actions against the trading 
posts, and it was also how the Métis would act during the insur- 
rection which, in 1885, would pit them against the regular forces 
of the police and the Dominion army. The action continued in the 
following days, spreading among the settlers a growing exhaus- 
tion and a discouragement that aggravated their feeling of power- 
lessness. When the Métis began to threaten those who dared to 
continue working in their fields,** the conviction began to emerge 
that it would be better to abandon Governor Macdonell rather 
than to expose the colony to new outrages and even greater los- 
ses;®* all the more so since a certain number of deserters had joined 

the Métis and were participating personally in the attacks on the 

colony.** 
The North Westers had never ceased to proclaim their intention 

to eliminate Miles Macdonell: it was against him that they had in- 
itiated the conflict, since this provided an excellent cause on which 
to rally and strengthen the sympathies of the Métis—a cause that 
seemed to be inspired by the very will of their nation. Let the gov- 
ernor give himself up to his enemies, and peace would im- 
mediately be made with the settlers of Assiniboia.*” On 17 June, 
Miles Macdonell gave in to the demands of his adversaries. He de- 
livered himself up voluntarily to the partners, in the hope that by 
sacrificing his liberty, he would prevent further shedding of 
blood.** But, behind the person of the governor whose unpopular- 
ity marked him out for the hostility of the Métis, the North Wes- 
ters had their eye on the colony itself, whose destruction was the 
real underlying cause of the attack.*” Thus Macdonell’s capture 
could promise only a fleeting delay. 

Here again, the North Westers were able to shelter under the 

pretended wishes of the Métis, whose independence they pre- 
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tended to respect, and who, they claimed, were not content with 
this first success, If, to begin, they allowed their prisoner the ben- 
efit of a provisional liberty guaranteed by the payment of a 
pecuniary bond, they quickly retracted this, ostensibly on the in- 
sistence of the Métis, who declared that before their hostage was 
set free they would have to receive the rewards that had been 
promised to them.®° After this, and always under the cover of the 
pretended demands of the Métis “nation” (even though the latter 
had sincerely believed that Macdonell’s arrest would bring an end 
to hostilities and were prepared to respond favorably to the pacific 
mediation of the Indians between the two parties),°! the partners 
hastened to transmit to the colonists their final conditions. They 
did this through the intervention of William Shaw, who appeared 
to act in the name of the Métis group rather than of the Com- 
pany’s bourgeois. As well as the abandonment of the Red River by 
Lord Selkirk’s colonists, the ultimatum required the evacuation by 

the Hudson’s Bay Company’s personnel of the post at Brandon,** 
a clear manifestation of the North Westers’ intention to eliminate 
at one and the same time all the troublesome enterprises of their 
adversaries, colony and trading posts alike.** The terms had been 
drawn up by Alexander Macdonell, even though they were offi- 
cially attributed to the Métis “‘nation.”** The four Métis leaders, 
rallying to the viewpoint of the partners, defended the ultimatum 
with conviction.®® But their men, more modest in origin and lack- 
ing in education, could not understand so easily the Company’s 
interest in the exodus of the colonists, and at this point a number 
of the settlers showed great presence of mind by addressing them- 
selves to the more humble of the Bois-Brilés in an attempt to dis- 
solve an intransigence which they well knew was sustained only 
by pressure from the North Westers. 

[t was now that the fragility of the nationalism which the 
partners had aroused among these weak-willed beings became 
evident. Sincerely convinced of their national rights, persuaded of 
the negative intention of the colonists toward them, they had 
nevertheless no thought of pushing their convictions to extreme 
ends. The capitulation of Macdonell on whom their hostility had 
centred, and the certainty that they would now receive the re- 
wards they had been promised seemed to them sufficient advan- 
tages, and after the action they went to Duncan Cameron to give 
back their arms and receive payment for their efforts.®* 

In such circumstances it was easy to play on their sentiments in 
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an attempt to induce one of those sudden changes of mind to 
which they were always liable and so to dislocate the forces of the 
North Westers.°” On 19 June, the very day on which William Shaw 
had indicated to the colony's representatives the intention of the 
Métis to tolerate no longer the presence of settlers on the banks of 
the Red River, the latter were trying to establish a more conciliat- 
ory atmosphere through the mediation of the mixed blood, in the 
employment of the Hudson’s Bay Company. 

Unfortunately, several Scottish halfbreeds, discouraged by 
Miles Macdonell's contemptuous attitude, had already defected,** 

and on the 11 June, when the Bois-Brdlés had fired on the settlers’ 
farms, the halfbreeds employed by the Hudson’s Bay Company, 
though they were in a position to command respect, had avoided 
interfering."? When the Métis leaders had threatened to treat them 
as enemies if they defended Fort Douglas, many of them aban- 
doned the colony and concluded a pacific accord with the Bois- 
Brilés.1°° 

But at the request of Peter Fidler, who was more tactful than 

Macdonell and, besides, had a family of mixed blood, those who 

had not joined the general desertion agreed to make a peace- 
seeking approach to their congeners employed by the North West 
Company. On 14 June, talks were initiated by the halfbreed Jack 
Ram. They were resumed on 19 June.'°* On the next day, when 
two emissaries of the North West Company had just informed the 
settlers of its intention to destroy their farms, to efface every trace 
of their presence, and to tolerate the commercial activity of the 

Hudson’s Bay Company only if it agreed to pay the Métis and the 
freemen an annual tribute in merchandise, the Canadian Metis 
were responding favorably to the peace overtures that had been 
made to them, and had proposed to the colonists, unknown to 
their masters, the conclusion of an accord. They offered to leave 
the settlers and the personnel of the Hudson’s Bay Company in 
peaceful possession of their lands and trading forts, on the sole 
condition that they would not be called to book for the damage 
they had committed and the harm they had caused.'* Thirty-five 
men were involved in this approach, which demonstrated the fac- 
titious character of the activities provoked and led by the North 
Westers and by the leaders who obeyed their orders. Toward these 
impulsive individuals, directed up to now by men who knew how 

to persuade them, a courteous gesture and a proof of confidence 
were enough to prevail over attitudes which had seemed to be sol- 
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idly established among them. At this point it became evident that, 
if the Métis made war according to Indian methods, the only ones 
with which they were familiar, the actions to which they had 
committed themselves in order to intimidate the settlers did not in 
fact constitute responses to a savage instinct. 

It is true that their change of mood did not last long, for their 

leaders quickly regained control over them, On 21 June, when 
Peter Fidler went to the meeting with the Métis in order to 
negotiate the agreement they had proposed, he found himself con- 
fronted by the intransigent William Shaw, who had substituted 
himself for the delegates of the preceding day, and once again de- 
manded the complete evacuation of the colony.’® On the 24th the 
settlers asked the Indians and their chief Peguis to intervene as 
mediators with the Métis and transmit a message of peace, 
which would have been accepted but for the opposition of the 
bourgeois Allan McDonald, commandant of Fort Carlton, who 

prevented the Métis from taking the calumet that the Indians of- 
fered them.'"” Peguis told the settlers that he was powerless to do 
anything more: “We are too few to contend with them at pre- 
sent."’!°* He brought back, in the name of the Bois-Brilés, and 
under the signature of their leaders, Grant, Shaw, Bostonois, and 

Montour, an order of evacuation, for which Peter Fidler threw the 
blame on the partners: the ultimatum made the re-establishment of 
peace conditional on the departure of the settlers and the destruc- 
tion of their farms,' 

Meanwhile, a new attempt at conciliation took place on the next 
day. It came to nothing. The representatives of the colony prom- 
ised not to disturb the Métis in their ways of life, no longer to for- 
bid the hunting of the herds on horseback, to dispense the Métis 
from observing laws that might be promulgated in the colony, 
and finally to admit them to the annual distributions of presents 
that were made to the Indians, These proposals would have been 
enough to win the sympathies of the Métis, if Grant, Shaw, and 
Bostonois had not hastened to revive their failing resolution and 
had not renewed the demands of the North Westers.'!” 

On 27 June, the settlers had to resign themselves to accepting 
the wishes of their enemies. The population of Red River, with its 
modest possessions and the small flock of sheep it had acquired, 
embarked in six boats and set out toward Lake Winnipeg,''' while 
Cuthbert Grant ordered his men to burn down the dwellings that 
marked the site of the colony.'"* A smith’s workshop was the only 
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building to escape destruction,’ and the plains of Red River ap- 
peared to have returned to the nomad economy of earlier years. 
Undoubtedly, the men who had manifested their fury against 
Lord Selkirk’s creation seem to have been obeying the instructions 
of their leaders rather than any clear consciousness of the conduct 
their own interests might dictate. Yet one may ask oneself 
whether the elimination of the colony was not the only solution 
that corresponded to their ideal of life, and whether, in giving the 
order to burn the farms of Assiniboia, their leaders were not better 
serving the cause of the “New Nation” than those who tried to 
convince its members of the benefits that the stabilization of the 
colony would bring them. The poverty and the state of servitude 
into which the Métis group fell when a sedentary economy was 
finally established on the plains of the West gives in hindsight a 
melancholy significance to the warnings which the North West 
Company had earlier lavished on the Bois-Brilés. But the very at- 
tempt to check the progress of the new economy was in vain, The 
North Westers’ success did not carry forward into the future, and 
the destruction of the settlement of Assiniboia was merely a pas- 
sing episode. The struggle against the agricultural colonization 
that was gradually flowing over the plains of the American Middle 
West, and which found in the parkland of the Red River excep- 
tionally favorable conditions, was to stand in opposition to the ir- 
resistible progress of the activity that was destined to supplant the 

primitive exploitation of furs. 
Once the colony was destroyed, the Métis and the freemen left 

the Red River in considerable numbers. Some of them helped the 
settlers in their exodus. Then they found their way to Fort Wil- 
liam, where the partners had promised to recompense them liber- 
ally for their “bravery.’’!"* Simon M’Gillivray did not conceal the 
joy he felt at the destruction of the colony; while denying his own 
responsibility and that of the partners for what had happened, he 
confided to Lord Bathurst the satisfaction which the event had 

given him," 
Yet in the success which the North Westers had just achieved, 

there were two small factors that might have justified them in feel- 
ing apprehensive of the future. On the one side were the hesita~ 
tions which the Métis had displayed; on the other was the favor 
with which from the beginning the Indians had regarded the col- 
ony. In order to make up for the weakness of their situation so far 
as the Indians were concerned, the North Westers had cultivated 
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the support of the western tribes, as they had also sought the in- 
tervention of the Métis from the more distant areas. But it was 
difficult for them to soften the independence of those peoples who 
resisted all thought of discipline and who found it no more in their 
interest than did the Saulteaux of the Red River to work for the 
complete success of either of the rival companies. Thus in the be- 
ginning the partners were unable to recruit in the region of the 
Qu’Appelle River more than a dozen Indians, Cree and As- 
siniboine, whose action in May 1815 was of little consequence.'"° If 
the “proprietor” of Carlton, Allan McDonald, succeeded in re- 
cruiting a more important contingent, it was only at the price of 
distributions of alcohol so lavish that they destroyed among his re- 
cruits all inclination toward activity."7 The Saulteaux of the Red 
River persisted in their benevolent attitude," and the North West 
Company had to admit that it was unable to count on these “cow- 
ardly Indians.""'"’ The Saulteaux even showed an inclination to in- 
tervene against the men who were mobilized by the partners and 
to hinder the depredations they might commit."” But they with- 
drew because of their fear of reprisals'®! and because they felt that 
the conflict did not directly concern their tribes. At the same time, 
they increased their manifestations of goodwill, accepted the role 
of mediators between the settlers and the Métis, helped the settlers 
at the time of their exodus, and cheered them with speeches bear- 
ing the stamp of cordiality,"** but they did not otherwise become 
involved in a struggle in which they judged that the disproportion 
of forces was too much to the advantage of the North Westers,!** 
and in which the abuse of alcohol, a temptation that could not be 
avoided in the neighborhood of white men,'** would have pre- 
vented any serious action on the part of the native people. 

The North Westers pretended not to be concerned with these 
factors which weakened their situation. Soon, however, they 
would feel their effects when, after the colonists had courageously 
repossessed their land, the question was once again posed of the 
destruction of the colony of Assiniboia. 

THE SECOND DESTRUCTION OF THE COLONY 
(JUNE 1816) 

The Return of the Settlers and the Hesitant Attitude of the Métis 

Never in fact were the uncertainty of resolution among the Métis 
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and the fragility of their nationalism so clearly manifested as dur- 
ing the days following the return of the settlers. 

On 19 August, after an exile of seven weeks which they had 
spent on the northern shore of Lake Winnipeg, the colonists re- 

turned to their abandoned lands under the leadership of the energe- 
tic Colin Robertson.'®* Robertson had left Montreal in the spring, 

accompanied by a score of men, who were merely the advance 
guard preceding the main body of the expedition destined to re- 
sume the activity of the Hudson's Bay Company in the fur- 
gathering area of Athabasca.'*° Having reached Red River, he did 
not stay there for long. Finding his way quickly to the settlers’ 
place of exile, he led them back to their new fatherland on the 
banks of the river whose rich soil they had been the first to clear.'?7 
Shortly afterwards, at the beginning of November, a new contin- 
gent of eighty-four settlers, recently arrived from Europe, and 
augmented by forty or so employees,'** reached the colony of As- 
siniboia, under the command of Robert Semple, who had come as 

governor to assume its direction.'*° Flags flying, cheered by the 
old inhabitants returned from exile, the group entered into Lord 

Selkirk’s fief.'*° Since the provisions at their disposal could not as- 
sure their subsistence, the newcomers followed the example of 
their predecessors and chose to live over the winter in the locality 
of Fort Daer, where the abundance of bison, as well as those crops 

which had escaped destruction during the month of June, assured 
them against privation.'*' For the settlers, despite the obstacles 
that had been put in their way, had not neglected their agricultural 
tasks; 40 bushels of barley and wheat, and 100 bushels of potatoes 
had been sown,'** and when Robert Semple reached the site of the 
colony, he discovered to his surprise a crop of 600 bushels of cere- 
als and 500 of potatoes.'** Having put aside the seed needed for 
sowing the following year,’ gathered the supplies of hay for the 
small herd of sheep and cattle of which the colony disposed,'** and 
accumulated a stock of dried and salt fish,'*® they faced the winter 
without apprehension. It was only dwellings that were lacking. 
Most of the thirty homes that formed the original colony had been 
destroyed; only two remained habitable. Yet not all the colonists 
responded to the invitation to spend the most rigorous months at 
Pembina. Twenty-four refused to accept the governor’s urgings, 
and shared the two houses at their disposal until the return of 
spring.'’? At that time Robert Semple intended to re-establish the 
immigrants on the lands which they had formerly occupied and to 
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give shape to Lord Selkirk's colony. To encourage the resumption 
of work, he planned to establish himself among the settlers and to 
undertake the clearing of a patch of land.'** While waiting for the 
arrival of a pastor to care for the spiritual needs of the settlers, he 
authorized one of the latter, J, Sutherland, to serve in his place.'** 
Thus, on the banks of the Red River, the community which the 

North Westers thought they had expelled forever reconstituted it- 
self. 

The event was more than a challenge to the North West Com- 
pany. Its coincidence with the arrival of Colin Robertson," and 
with the organization in Athabasca of a new enterprise supported 
by a personnel of those Canadian voyageurs who had brought 
about the success of the North Westers,'*! broadened its signifi- 

cance, In fact, the two enterprises were closely linked: the colony, 
serving as a supply base for the brigades destined for the regions in 
the extreme north,'*? was necessary for the success of the offensive 
in Athabasca. 

To that double threat, the Company was obliged to retort with 
equal force, once again mobilizing, in the extreme North as well as 
in the territory of Assiniboia, the Métis levies of which it had al- 
ready made use. 

The game, as we have already seen, was won easily in 
Athabasca.'** Here the North Westers were able to exploit not 
only the obstacles which the land offered to penetration by their 
adversaries. They found in the attitude of the Indians and the 
Métis an element of strength on which they could rely. The first, 
who were carefully watched, had too great a fear of reprisals on 
the part of the North West Company to let themselves become in- 
volved in lasting relations with its adversaries.'** The others were 
too close to the Canadian company and its personnel, and too ac- 
customed to seeing it as the sovereign power in these distant re- 
gions,'** to do other than obey its orders and carry out the mea- 
sures it proposed to them.'® Through their more direct associa- 
tion with the Indians they sustained the latter’s fidelity to the 
North West Company,'” and if the native people’s loyalty seemed 
to weaken, they did not hesitate to have recourse to the kind of 
violent acts against them which showed the greater toughness of 
their own characters.'"* The Hudson’s Bay Company was still too 
weakly established in Athabasca and in the neighboring regions to 
dispose of a Métis personnel capable of earning the respect of the 
forces opposed to it.” And the expedition of 1815-16 owed its 
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failure partly to the isolation in which it found itself, in the midst 
of peoples whom the North Westers had warned to hand over 
nothing to their enemies, and whom the Métis and the Canadians 
made sure did not transgress their orders.'*” 

Victorious in Athabasca, the partners found things less easy in 
the territory of Assiniboia, for, if they were able to mobilize large 

numbers of Métis here, they could not with any certainty rely on 
their fidelity. The question arose as soon as the settlers returned to 
their domain. The Métis leaders were absent, as were the more 
implacable of the partners. Most of the Métis had taken them- 
selves to Fort William, either to carry out the customary annual 
transport of furs and merchandise for the North West Com- 
pany,"®! or to collect their rewards. The Métis of the prairie, their 
mission terminated, had returned to the banks of the Qu’Appelle 
River where, under the direction of Alexander Macdonell, they 

were employed in consolidating the Company’s positions. 
Left to their own devices, the few Métis who were present when 

the settlers returned immediately gave in to their natural benevo- 
lence. Through a mingling of conciliation and forcefulness, Colin 
Robertson obtained a formal statement that they had acted only in 
response to the express demands of the North Westers and under 
the promise of payment.'** Certainly the propaganda to which 
they had been subjected had not been without its effect; Robertson 
admitted that the Métis and the freemen had gained an exagger- 
ated idea of their own strength which would take a long time to 
dissipate,'’* and which called for a rigorous response.'** But this 
feeling was soon neutralized by their natural goodwill, by the re- 
morse they perhaps experienced for having treated unjustly men 
who had been guilty merely of awkward or irritating behavior 
toward them, by the forethought with which Robertson himself 
distributed presents of rum and tobacco on his arrival, and finally 
by the cordiality with which the freemen greeted the Canadians of 
his escort, among whom several of them found relatives.'** The 
Métis immediately shared in the satisfaction the freemen experi- 
enced in seeing members of their families, and the settlers in turn 
benefited from the good humor of both groups. Mutual confi- 
dence was re-established to the point where one of the Métis came 
forward to apologize for the events of the preceding June,'*” and 
Robertson noted with astonishment in his journal: “Are these the 
men that drove away the colonists last spring?’’'** Afterwards the 
Métis revealed to him how the North Westers had misrepresented 
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to them Miles Macdonell’s intentions, how they had persuaded 
them that the governor intended to reduce them to servitude, and 
how the latter had awakened their distrust and provoked their 
anger by his lack of respect for them, by the restrictions on the 
hunting of bison which he had formulated, and by his statement 
that the herds which wandered in the territory of Assiniboia be- 
longed, not to the Métis, but to the governor of the colony."° 

By a few well-chosen words, Robertson reassured them about 
his own intentions.'* Both Métis and freemen hastened, as in pre- 
vious years, to put their skill as hunters at the disposition of the 
settlers at the Red River.'' Thanks to their activity around Fort 
Daer, where the ‘‘winterers’’ had gathered once again, there was 
no lack of meat during the cold season.’ J, B, Lagimodiere, 
whose fidelity had resisted the intrigues of the North West Com- 
pany, continued to distinguish himself by his devotion. In Sep- 
tember he helped with the harvest,'®* and, following the Canadian 
custom, he put his carts at the disposal of the settlers. In October 
he was commissioned by Robertson to go to Montreal with an 
important letter giving Lord Selkirk the news of the colony's re- 
establishment. He left the house he had built a few miles from Fort 
Douglas,'** where he had gathered his family, and undertook the 
long journey by way of Red Lake, the head of Lake Superior, and 
Sault Sainte-Marie, that would lead him to his destination in the 
month of January.'®* On his return he was attacked in the locality 
of the Lakehead by the North West Company’s men, who robbed 
him of the letters which Selkirk had confided to him for the gov- 
ernor of the colony.'** 

The grievances which the Métis had harbored during the pre- 
ceding months dissolved in the general harmony of the reconcilia- 
tion which the return of the colonists had brought about. The In- 
dians, for their part, increased their attentions and competed in 
generosity toward the settlers of the Red River.'"? This time it 
looked as though the return of sympathy would be more lasting. It 
is true that there was a moment of hesitation among the Métis 
when their leader Cuthbert Grant reappeared among them in Sep- 
tember 1815. Without voicing any reproach, he made them under- 
stand, by the way he greeted them, the displeasure which their at- 
titude caused him.'** Perhaps this silent disapproval on the part of 
a man to whom they were deeply attached would have been 
enough to win them back if they had not at this time found reasons 
for complaint against the North West Company. Many of them 
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regarded the rewards they had received as insufficient.'* They did 
not hide their feelings from Duncan Cameron, who on 13 Sep- 

tember had made an imposing re-entry at the head of a force of 
seventy Métis.!”° At the same time, convinced that the departure 
of the settlers would assure it the full possession of the Red River, 
the North West Company had neglected to accumulate there any 

reserves of merchandise. Having sent the whole of its stocks to 
Athabasca, it had left its posts entirely stripped, which annoyed 
the Métis and reconciled them with the rival company.'”! 

The partners were clearly aware that the Métis group had es- 
caped from their control. For the first time, Alexander Macdonell 
was doubtful of being able to win them back. Observing the de- 
fections in their ranks, he expressed his discouragement to Duncan 
Cameron: “the Spirit of our People is entirely lost, freemen and all 

look upon them as entire Conquerors, and our destruction is daily 
looked for.’”!”* 

Finally, the greater skill of the individuals now directing the 
colony, the clearer vision of the real situation and the needs it in- 

volved that appeared to animate the policies of Robert Semple and 
Colin Robertson, also had their influence on the Métis in addition 
to the grievances which the latter felt. Robert Semple tempered his 
firmness with a discretion and a courtesy his predecessor had not 
attempted.'”$ For his part, Robertson endeavored, by a policy of 
overbidding,'” and by adroitly exploiting the mistakes and mean- 
nesses of the North Westers,”° to attract the Métis into alliance 
with him. Helped by a number of Canadians who had declared 
themselves in his favor, he dissipated the misunderstandings 
awakened by Duncan Cameron's propaganda, which was once 
again based on warnings of imminent enslavement.'”® He em- 
phasized that his hostility was directed solely against the North 
West Company and did not involve the Métis group,'”” on whom 
he lavished gestures of courtesy intended to efface the unfortunate 
impression created by Miles Macdonell's excessively distant at- 
titude.'”® When necessary, he would intervene against his men if 
they became involved in quarrels with the Métis which threatened 
to throw the latter back into the arms of the North West Company 
at the very moment when he was endeavoring to keep them 
apart.!”* 

To the Indians he addressed equally encouraging words on the 
intentions of the whites.’*” Inspired by his example, John Pritch- 
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ard at Fort Daer succeeded in winning back several of the Métis 
and Canadians whose conduct had shown the depth of their re- 

sentment against the colony and whom the North Westers had 
placed near the hunting territories in the hope that they would 
hinder the settlers’ activities there.'** 

To achieve this end it was enough to arouse the gratitude of the 
Métis by a few personal attentions, to help them in moments of 
distress, and to provide them with articles of primary necessity, 
such as the thread used in making fish nets.'*? The reconciliation 
was so complete that a number of Métis appealed to Pritchard to 
forward to the Bishop of Quebec a petition asking for a priest to 
be sent to the Red River to instruct them.'** By the beginning of 
winter it looked as though the break which Colin Robertson had 
anticipated between the Métis and the North West Company was 
on the point of realization.'* Everywhere engagements of 
freemen and Métis were on the increase. Some of them offered to 
help the settlers in the task of clearing land.** Others occupied 
themselves in cartage or in carrying the mail.'** Yet others col- 
lected the supplies of oakwood needed for manufacturing the Red 
River carts.'*” All these were profitable occupations for which the 
settlers paid well. The hunters earned especially good profits, for 
the Highlanders, forsaking their frugal customs, paid handsomely 
for the quarters of meat that reached them in abundance, and 

which they quickly substituted for the national diet of herrings and 
porridge,'** 

Thus Robert Semple was able to congratulate himself on the re- 
turn of peace to the colony of Assiniboia and on the good relation- 
ship that now existed between the settlers and the Métis,'* It 
seemed a good augury for the straightforwardness with which 
Robertson had immediately combated the intrigues and intimida- 
tions of the partners, 

Returning on 13 September to Fort Gibraltar, Duncan Cameron 
and Alexander Macdonell had created a strong impression on the 
Indians, the Métis, and even the settlers by their gaudy uniforms 

and their considerable escort.” After that, the never-changing 
propaganda was resumed. The same arguments as before were re- 
peated." Once again, the settlers were represented as being re- 
solved to take vengeance for the insults to which they had been 
subjected. Once again, the newly arrived families were slyly ap- 
proached by Cameron and urged to leave the Red River, where 
they would otherwise succumb to the attacks of the Indians, 
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for less desolate regions.'** These intrigues were all the more to be 
feared since at this very moment the North Westers were attempt- 
ing to expel their rivals from their positions on the Qu’Appelle 
River.'** They would have done so by main force if they had not 
encountered the opposition of the Indians."”” 

At this point, a manifestation of authority was needed, and 
Robertson took the initiative. On 15 October he seized Fort Gib- 
raltar by surprise, arrested Cameron, and freed him only on the 
promise of renouncing the insidious propaganda he was making 
among the settlers and the violent policies he had just been inaug- 
urating on the Qu’Appelle River.'°* Two of the settlers showed 
their resentment by whipping him, which singularly diminished 
his prestige in the eyes of the Metis.'"’? Thus Robert Semple 
seemed justified in regarding as vain the threats which Cameron 
was making for the next spring.'"* 

The North Westers Win Back the Métis 

Nevertheless, Semple was not yet master of the situation. The par- 
tial defection of the Métis did not completely disarm the North 
Westers, any more than it finally consolidated the position of the 
colony. If the moderation which Bostonois Pangman displayed 
represented a setback for the North West Company, the latter 
made up for this loss by the immovable fidelity of the more enter- 
prising Metis leaders. Neither Alexander Fraser, nor Cuthbert 

Grant, nor Montour showed any change in their feelings. The first 
had ordered the personnel on the Qu’Appelle River to disperse, 
but he had added that ‘no Colony should exist in their Country so 
long as there was a heart in his Breast,’’'° and that the attitude of 
his compatriots would not “diminish his courage.”®°? Cuthbert 
Grant was more sober in expressing himself, but he had not hid- 
den his displeasure from the Meétis.?°" Montour had also tried to 
bring them back to their allegiance.** Besides, even if the partners 
felt that they were losing ground in Red River, there were still 
great possibilities of action in the region of the Qu’Appelle River. 

Their clerical personnel, as Robertson admitted, remained re- 
markably devoted.?"* Outside the colony, their propaganda was 
freely at work, not only among the Métis belonging to that re- 
gion, who had shown the extent of their exasperation by burning 
down during the summer the Hudson’s Bay Company’s fort on 
the Qu’Appelle River," but also among those whom Alexander 
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Macdonell, with the promise of greater rewards, had attracted to- 
ward the same region, where he had removed them from the in- 
fluence of the leaders of the colony*” and brought them into con- 
tact with their more reliable congeners on the prairie.?*” 

Governor Semple failed to recognize these possibilities of the 
North Westers’ recovery. Instead of redoubling his efforts with the 
Métis, whose changeability was no secret,*"” and supporting 
Robertson's policies to the full, he embarked in a conflict with him 
that quickly ended in an open breach between the two men and as 
a result weakened the position of the settlers. 

The rivalry between the two men was in fact inevitable. It 
existed potentially in the duality of powers which they per- 
sonified, Robert Semple holding over the colony, through his title 
of Governor-in-Chief of Rupert's Land, an authority superior to 
that of Colin Robertson, whose powers as ‘‘chief of the colony” 
did not go beyond the boundaries of the settlement.*”* The situa- 
tion lent itself all the more readily to misunderstanding since it was 
complicated by a complete opposition in temperament, program, 
and ideas. Semple, who was direct and perhaps a little self-willed 

in character, did not share Robertson’s feelings toward the Métis. 

Lacking the latter’s experience, he did not understand, any more 
than his sheriff A. Macdonell, the need to take into account the 

exuberance of the Bois-Brilés, to apply to them that policy of 
“coaxing” which, according to the statement of a veteran of the 

North West like John Pritchard, always had the best effects with 
the groups of mixed blood.*” His suppleness in the early days had 
quickly been subordinated to the rigidity of his temperament, and 
he neglected the sensible warning of Robertson that, from the day 
the Métis returned to the cause of the North West Company, the 
colony would once again be at the mercy of his adversaries.*!” 
Apart from anything else, he felt personally nothing but contempt 
for these descendants of the Indian peoples and for the ageing 
Canadians who formed the group of freemen.?" 

Very soon, the two policies were in open opposition. Quarrels 
came to the surface and increased the tension of relationships. 
They ended with Robertson's resignation, following an altercation 
provoked by the advice he offered to the settlers to group them- 
selves close to Fort Douglas instead of setting up homes in their 
lots which were too far away from the protection of the fort.*"* In 
blindly opposing Robertson’s policy, Governor Semple was mis- 
guided more by his lack of knowledge of the native peoples of the 
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North West than by the feeling of superiority he owed to the nat- 
ure of his functions; he was led away by his imperious tempera- 
ment, yet he suffered from incessant fits of indecision,®"* which in- 
clined him to modify his program of action according to the influ- 
ences to which he was subjected, but sometimes, on the contrary, 
made him give in to an excessive confidence in himself, for which 

he would eventually pay with his life. 
The disagreement that set Semple against Robertson would not 

have had such truly disastrous consequences if it had been limited 
to the colony's leaders, Unfortunately, the state of mind that 

guided Semple’s actions also animated many of his subordinates. 
Among those who had been present at the first destruction of the 
colony and who should have drawn from it some useful lessons 
for the future, the resentments that they felt overcame all pru- 
dence. Some of them did not hesitate openly to defy Robertson’s 
policies by blaming the Métis whose sympathy he tried to regain. 
The violence they committed at this time against Bostonois 
Pangman made it clear to Robertson that he had more to fear from 
these men dominated by their rancorous feelings than from the 
hostility of the North Westers themselves.*'* They added to their 
exasperation with past events an insurmountable racial prejudice 
against anyone who was not Anglo-Saxon, and they showed to- 
ward those who were colored a provocative contempt?* which 
they extended to the Canadians themselves.*"* The Irish, who 
were more irreconcilable than anyone else, associated themselves 

with these manifestations of Britannic pride.*!” For them the In- 
dians were the special objects of repulsion;?"* there were some 
troublesome encounters at Fort Douglas where certain officers of 
the Hudson’s Bay Company displayed a disdainful arrogance to- 
ward these primitive peoples.?!? Semple shared the same pre- 
judices, and those who were responsible for the ever-increasing 
outrages and vexations against the Indians or the Métis availed 
themselves of his protection, and in this way they were able to 
avoid the effects of Colin Robertson’s resentment.”*” At the very 
moment when the latter undertook to convince the Métis and the 
freemen that it was in their interests to trade with the colony or the 
Hudson’s Bay Company, Semple adopted in his dealings with 
them a strict attitude that seemed calculated to throw them back 
into the arms of the North Westers.”*! The governor was obvi- 
ously letting himself be dominated by the men he had invited to sit 
on his governing council, the Irishman Bourke and the Scot Arch- 
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ibald McDonald, to the exclusion of Robertson, whose moderat- 
ing influence was rapidly eroded. Robertson was soon unable to 
continue with the Bois-Brulés the cordial relations he had first es- 
tablished.*** He tried vainly to remonstrate with the men of whom 
he had reason to complain; their answer was that “British values” 

should have precedence over all else.*** 
Certainly the facts related by Colin Robertson, whose evident 

dissatisfaction does not seem to exaggerate the offensive attitude 
of Semple and his supporters, do not imply that all the settlers 
were equally responsible for it. Nevertheless, it could not fail to 
create, among the groups who faced each other, a genuine uneasi- 
ness out of which there emerged once again the inferiority com- 
plex which the Métis developed when they were in contact with 
the whites. Duncan Cameron naturally hastened to exaggerate the 
humiliations which the whites did not spare the Métis; it all 

proved, he told them, that the servitude which he had prophesied 
would be their irremediable fate.*** The feeling of uneasiness 
spread even to the Indians. It is significant that Peguis, the Ojibwa 
chief who had consistently manifested his friendship toward the 
settlers, should have complained about the poor welcome he had 
received at Fort Douglas.*** Finally, there is no doubt that the 
Metis whom the Hudson's Bay Company employed in the trading 
forts or on the Red River were unfavorably impressed by the at- 
titude which the more highly placed officers adopted toward their 
congeners in the opposite camp. Their loyalty, whose fragility had 
been demonstrated by the events of June 1815, once again began to 
show signs of weakening. In both cases the North West Company 
found in the errors of its adversaries a basis for propaganda that 
was effective and easy to exploit. 

The main centre of that propaganda was once again the region 
of the Qu’Appelle River and Brandon House, where, far from the 
conciliating and all too effective influence of Colin Robertson, the 
partners were in a position to mobilize the numbers and the ener- 
gies of the Métis. It was there they organized the army which was 
intended for use in recapturing the colony of Assiniboia. Their ef- 
forts were especially effective in the area of the Qu’ Appelle River; 
there they operated more freely than in the locality of Brandon 
House, whose officer, Peter Fidler, could use against them the 

counterbalancing influence of his Indian affinities. 
In the colony, meanwhile, the North West Company was not 

slow to take advantage of the possibilities of success which were 
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offered it by the errors of its enemies, and Duncan Cameron, re- 
voking all the undertakings he had accepted at the time of the cap- 
ture of Fort Gibraltar, soon emerged from the abstension from ac- 
tivity to which he had temporarily committed himself. He was 
soon able to overcome the humiliations he had suffered since his 
return. Once again, he paraded in military full dress along the 
banks of the Red River,*** accompanied by a retinue of officers in 
richly decorated uniforms. Beside him was the Métis Alexander 
Fraser, notorious for his violence, who had also come back on the 
stage,"*7 and was trying to regroup the hesitant Métis.*** The ar- 
gument of the certainty of reprisals on the part of the colonists 
which these men ceaselessly evoked found its proofs in what was 
happening every day in Assiniboia.*®* The settlers seemed unable 
to admit the idea of a reconciliation, and for this reason Cameron 
was able to represent Robertson as attempting to dupe the Metis, 
with the aim of inflicting a more spectacular revenge upon 
them.**° 

By the end of February 1816, this argument had already done its 
work, and the Métis showed signs of wavering, especially in the 
region of Brandon and Qu'Appelle, where Robertson had to 
abandon the field to his enemies.**' The partners were now able to 
involve them more directly in the action which, in the month of 
December 1815, Alexander Macdonell had announced the inten- 

tion of organizing against the colony.*** The danger in which the 
Athabasca expedition had involved the North West Company im- 
posed on ita measure which, if it put an end to the operations of its 
adversaries, would allow it to redress a singularly imperilled fin- 
ancial situation." The assault on the colony was the desperate 
blow on which the North Westers relied for the re-establishment 
of their interests. 

Robertson assessed their intentions by the provocative attitude 
of Duncan Cameron,*"* by the fact that the North Westers made 
no secret of their intention to annihilate their enemies,?*° and by 

the results which the systematic hunting of the bison herds in the 
region of Fort Daer by the Canadian personnel of the North West 
Company seemed already to presage.** Aware at the same time of 
the increasingly dubious attitude of the Métis, gradually being 
won over to the cause of their bourgeois, who kept them in awe 

by the fear they inspired,**” he decided to precipitate the outbreak 
of a conflict that was now inevitable: the action he projected would 
establish proof of the aggressive designs of the North Westers but, 
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in exonerating the Métis, it would bear witness to the sincerity of 
the intentions he had affirmed on many occasions toward them. 
Repeating his action of the previous October, he seized Fort Gib- 
raltar by surprise on 17 March 1816. There he quickly laid hands on 
important documents which revealed the intentions of the partners 
and laid down the nature of the propaganda they were carrying on 
among the Métis and the Canadians.*** The correspondence of 
Duncan Cameron and Cuthbert Grant revealed the organization of 
a new force of Bois-Brilés whose members, recruited in the re- 
gion of Fort Dauphin, Fort des Prairies, the Churchill River, and 
the Qu’Appelle River, would sweep away in the coming spring 
the last vestiges of the colony that presumed to defy the wishes of 
their nation.*** In these letters Grant took issue with Colin 
Robertson, and affirmed his intention of not tolerating the 
slightest offence against the pride of the Bois-Brilés.**° 

The national idea had re-emerged with a vengeance. Around it 
the Métis would rediscover the cohesion which they appeared to 
have lost, and in its name they prepared to drive back the despoil- 
ers of their land.**! 

The tactics of Colin Robertson might have had a decisive effect 
on the events that were in preparation if he had been able to act on 
the Metis of the prairie, and if the imprudent initiatives of others 

had not compromised his efforts. In the region of the Qu’Appelle 
River, the seizure of Fort Gibraltar was immediately represented 
as a provocation aimed at the Métis. The grievances which the lat- 
ter had harbored against the North West Company were im- 
mediately effaced. Once again, they felt at one with the organiza- 
tion that had never ceased to protect them. They feared that this 
defeat of the North Westers boded nothing but harsh reprisals 
against themselves.*** And, at this very moment, arrests were 

made which struck at the Métis national pride and stirred their 
deepest feelings: first, of Duncan Cameron and the Canadian 
Séraphin Lamarre, which followed shortly after the capture of 
Fort Gibraltar;*** then of Bostonois Pangman, Alexander Fraser, 
Charles Hesse, and Cotonahay, whom Sheriff Macdonell, believ- 

ing that Colin Robertson’s manifestation of authority called for 
other equally energetic measures, seized in the region of Pem- 
bina.** 

These arrests, occurring at a time when Robertson had person- 
ally assured Bostonois Pangman that he was not affected and ran 
no risk,*** entirely upset the plan he had devised for breaking the 
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accord between the North Westers and the Métis. They put him in 
a position of having either to disavow the sheriff's unfortunate in- 
itiatives, or to be discredited in the eyes of the Métis. It was to the 
humiliation of the latter alternative that he resigned himself, not 

daring to declare himself against the sheriff and thus condemn his 
policy.**° The setback he suffered gave justification to Cameron’s 
statements about the sincerity of the settlers and drove the Métis 
back toward their natural allies of the North West Company, As 
for the colony of Assiniboia, it faced once again the prospect of 
isolation among the native peoples of the Red River, the prelude to 
its coming destruction. 

The Indians, among whom Bostonois had many relatives, were 
annoyed by what had taken place. The imprisonment of a man 
who could have passed for one of them was repugnant to their 
feelings.*4” At the beginning of May, several of them went to ask 
in the most pressing terms for his release.*** Semple was obliged to 
give in,*** and Bostonois rejoined his wife and children near Bran- 
don House. Perhaps he retained an instinctive recognition of 
Robertson’s quality that prevented him from immediately giving 
way to an unthinking hostility. Peter Fidler paid homage to his 
goodwill, and was able to congratulate himself on the happy effect 
of Pangman’s release on the Métis of Brandon House.**” But 
shortly afterward Bostonois went on to the Qu’Appelle River, and 
there, dominated again by his masters, he launched out into invec- 
tive against the colony and against Robertson, attributing to him 
the responsibility for the events that were soon to follow.”*! 

It was natural that, during these months of April and May that 
witnessed the foundering of a program so well started, Robertson 
should have given in to discouragement and exasperation. His dis- 
agreements with Robert Semple had continued for too long. The 
arrests that were carried out without his knowledge had angered 
him.** A veritable faction seemed to have developed in opposition 
to his policies.?** Having resolved to leave the colony, Robertson 
ceased to involve himself in events that were moving out of his 
control until the day when, on 11 June 1816, he abruptly made up 
his mind to depart,*** after having obtained from the governor an 
undertaking that he would demolish Fort Gibraltar and would 
concentrate around Fort Douglas the forces of the colony, which 

would be weakened if they were excessively dispersed.*** 
The farm plots that extended for three miles downstream from 

Fort Douglas*** had by now taken on again the appearance of the 
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preceding year. Returning from Pembina on 29 April, the settlers 
had sowed their fields with renewed energy. Barley, wheat, and 
potatoes all promised to bring good returns. Only the scarcity of 
houses, which were being slowly rebuilt, still demonstrated the 
work of destruction that had taken place here.**” Dominated by his 
optimism, Robert Semple failed to give heed to the warnings that, 
during May, the Canadians in their simplicity lavished on the 
settlers. “Watch out! For the love of God, watch out!"?** Undis- 
turbed, and convinced that the mere good sense of his enemies 

would protect him from an aggression for which they would pay 
doubly,*** the governor offered only his inertia in opposition to 
the activity which the partners were generating in the region of 
Qu’Appelle. At Brandon House, at least, their actions came up 
against the influence of Peter Fidler, But at Qu’Appelle the man 
who represented the Hudson’s Bay Company, John Sutherland, 
was not as capable of carrying on the struggle. He himself admit- 
ted his weakness in dealing with the Indians,?*° and his inability to 
win over completely to his cause the freemen who were constantly 
fearful of reprisals from the North Westers.**' 

Meanwhile, this was where the decisive action was being pre- 
pared. The methods were no different from those of the preceding 
year. Against those who held back, whether they were freemen or 
Métis, and especially against those who too openly manifested 
sympathy for the settlers of Assiniboia, or who persisted in an at- 
titude of neutrality, the Métis leaders had recourse to threats, to 

assaults, and even to expulsion from the territory in which they 
had been born.?® It was easy to dupe the more naive, and to im- 

pose on them, so that they came to share a point of view they did 
not understand.*** At the same time, the North Westers extended 
the recruitment of their forces by appealing to the Métis of more 
distant posts. William Shaw raised men at Ile a la Crosse, Simon 

M’Gillivray was active at Fort des Prairies, in the area of English 

River, and as far as Athabasca, while Alexander Fraser and 
Cuthbert Grant mobilized the Métis of the Qu’Appelle River." In 
the month of April, the Bois-Briilés, some on horseback and 

others in their birchbark canoes, made their way in small groups 
toward Qu’Appelle River, where they were concentrated? under 
the command of Cuthbert Grant and Alexander Macdonell.?%* 
Cumberland House and Carlton also furnished groups of varying 
importance.**” Among those who assumed command of these var- 
ious groups figure men who, like the Métis Michel Bourassa, had 
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in the past been distinguished by the generosity with which they 
had welcomed the personnel of the Hudson's Bay Company? 
All of them, when they arrived, were imbued with hostile inten- 

tions toward the Red River settlers, and were resolved to sweep 
them from the territory they had usurped from the Métis nation. 
As buffalo hunters, most of them came armed with their muskets. 
The rest had provided themselves with pistols, daggers, bows, or 
swords. On the Qu’Appelle River, near the North West Com- 
pany’s post, a smith had set up a stall where he repaired their arms 
and forged lances on request.** 

To the Métis of the different areas, the national idea provided the 

necessary factor of cohesion. Supported by Grant and Fraser, the 
North Westers had taken care to maintain and intensify a convic- 
tion whose power over the Bois-Brilés had been proved by 
events. They had unceasingly proclaimed the sovereign property 
rights of the Métis over the lands bordering the Red River.?”° On 
the eve of unleashing the decisive assault on the colony, they gave 
a new amplitude to their policy by designating Cuthbert Grant, 
under the title of “Captain General,” to sole command of all the 
Métis groups of the North West,*”! which were led by “captains” 
subordinate to Grant; Antoine Houle, Michel Bourassa, La Certe, 

Alexander Fraser, William Shaw.*” Then they rallied the energies 
of the “New Nation” around a flag decorated with a horizontal 
figure eight on a red?” or blue®”* ground. The emblem had been 
unfurled for the first time, opposite the Hudson’s Bay post at 
Qu’Appelle, when Alexander Macdonell arrived from the Red 
River in September 1815 at the head of a column of freemen and 
Métis whom he had led away from the colony to remove them 
from the influence of Colin Robertson?” 

Henceforward, all the national manifestations of the Bois- 

Briilés would develop around this insignia which the North West~ 
ers had devised in order to instil patriotic feelings more deeply in 
them.?”° 

Once again, the partners pretended to respect the free initiatives 
of the racial group that had risen to national rank, and in their cor- 
respondence they proclaimed the will of the “New Nation” to 
chase the “intruders and assassins” from the lands of the Red 
River.*” Faithful once again to the tactics that had been successful 
for them in 1815, the North Westers, in order to deceive the settlers 

regarding the true feelings of the Métis, induced their men to re- 
produce the war dress of the primitive tribes.*”* As in the year be- 
fore, the Métis painted their faces before going into action and 
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rode to combat to the beat of drums and to Indian war songs.?”” 
Meanwhile, confident of British valor,**° the leaders of the col- 

ony neglected to oppose to this mounting activity a single measure 
that might detach the Métis from the leaders who had won them 
over again. And so those individuals who had betrayed the cause 
of the North Westers for that of the colony or the Hudson’s Bay 
Company returned to their old loyalties. Some of them, stirred by 
the spectacle of the forces that were gathering beside the Qu’Ap- 
pelle River, yielded to the general drift.**’ Others, even if they did 
not openly abandon the service of the Hudson’s Bay Company, 
refused to take part in a struggle ‘‘against his Country Men” and 
by taking up this position they revealed the sincerity of their pat- 
riotism.** Even some of the Métis in the English posts whose 
fathers had remained faithful to the Hudson’s Bay Company 
adopted a similar attitude. At Brandon House, despite the confi- 

dence which Peter Fidler inspired in them, they manifested an evi- 
dent disinclination to range themselves on the side of their mas- 
ters.*** Perhaps they harbored a resentment against the settlers for 
the standoffishness which many of the latter had shown toward 
them. Perhaps they feared the violence of the North Westers, who 
sometimes deprived them of their arms or obstructed them in car- 
trying out their duties,*** and at other times even dragged them by 
force to the Canadian post where they demanded a written agree- 
ment of neutrality from them.**° Besides, the North Westers var- 
ied their tactics by clever indulgences toward the hesitant; when 
Brandon House was pillaged on 1 June 1816, Cuthbert Grant re- 
frained from touching the property of the Métis J. Lyons and 
T. Favell, and the latter, remembering the threats that had been 

made to them at Red River, refrained from offering the least resis- 

tance.?** Finally, there seem to have been some who renounced the 

education they had received in the Hudson’s Bay schools and let 
themselves be reabsorbed into the primitive environment. Giving 
in to the influence of their indolent mentality, lacking in any ambi- 
tion for personal gain, caring nothing for the loss of wages or even 
the dismissal that might be the price of their negligence or indiffer- 
ence,**’ they envied the lot of the North West Company Métis to 
whom their masters promised good rewards without demanding 
any other activity than military parades or looting operations.?** 
At Brandon House refusals to work increased ,**" and instances of 
indiscipline became more numerous,*"* and if men were sacked it 
merely benefited the opposing camp, 
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More even than in 1815, the colony found itself isolated on the 
eve of the attack from the peoples who surrounded it that would 
sweep it away, as much through the errors of its own leaders as 
because of the disruptive manoeuvres in which its enemies ex- 
celled and of the activity they carried out in the regions where their 
prestige was still intact. All this strikingly justified the reproach 
which Robertson had made to Miles Macdonell, that he neglected 
the strength of the halfbreed element descended from the person- 
nel of the British company, instead of making use of it in the same 
way as the Canadian company utilized its own Métis. Robert 
Semple had acted no differently, even when he might have influ- 
enced the mixed bloods who were accessible to him by arguments 
identical to those which his adversaries used. He could have 
shown them, for example, that the destruction of the Hudson’s 
Bay Company, at which Duncan Cameron’s program aimed, 
would abandon them without defence to the latter’s enemies. He 
could have aroused in them a national sentiment that would have 

deflected the propaganda of the North Westers. 
Signs, indeed, were not lacking to suggest that where the de- 

moralizing influence of the partners did not extend, a frank sym- 
pathy toward the colony could exist among the Métis. It had al- 
ready been declared at Red River where, under the influence of 
Robertson’s policy, the Métis group, according to Cuthbert 
Grant, did not rally unanimously and without reserve to the cause 
it had for the time being abandoned.*" It would soon find expres- 
sion in the region of Brandon House and the Souris River in the 
very heart of the North West Company’s fief, where a number of 
Canadian Métis refused, in spite of promises and threats, to inter- 
vene against the colony, and even warned its governor of the ap- 
proach of the attackers.?° 

In the neighborhood of Cumberland House, one of the Cana- 
dian Métis in the same way told James Bird of the preparations for 
attack, and tried to deter his congeners from taking part in any 
criminal activity." In the area of Jack River, the mixed bloods of 
Anglo-Saxon descent, when they heard of the destruction of the 
colony, organized themselves into a little army for the defence of 
their families and their possessions against the reprisals of the 
North Westers; if it had received the least encouragement from 

Robert Semple or the officers of the Hudson’s Bay Company, this 
group would have stood up to the Métis of the opposing camp.*”* 
To Bird, who as factor at Edmonton was passing through Jack 
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River, the mixed bloods of the region offered to choose leaders of 
their own race and under their command to keep in check the 
Canadian Métis whose power had been greatly enhanced by the 
victory of La Grenouillére [shortly to be described]. Though all 
this happened after the destruction of the colony, this approach re- 
vealed a state of mind that might easily have been exploited for the 
benefit of a party which the blind optimism of its leaders had left 
defenceless against an enemy that was superior in numbers, But it 
also revealed, through the hesitation imposed on Bird who before 

committing himself had to seek instruction from the directors in 
London, the obstacles which the complex and slow-moving 
machinery of the Hudson's Bay Company put in the way of im- 
mediate initiatives on the part of its representatives." Fear of re- 
probation, and the refusal which the officers finally applied to an 
action that might have degenerated into a racial war,”*” paralysed 
the possibility of intervention on the part of the English mixed 
bloods in the same way as the lack of a decisive attitude and an 
ignorance of the real situation had paralysed in Robert Semple all 
impulses toward action. 

In selecting the support he might have found among the Métis 
of the English posts and a certain number of their congeners with 
the North West Company, the governor deprived himself of an ef- 
fective means of influencing the freemen. The latter might well 
have followed the example of the Métis who were favorable to the 
Hudson’s Bay Company. More fully masters of their own deci- 
sions, they maintained an independence which,?** combined with 
the opposition of the Anglo-Saxon or Scottish Métis, could have 
created great difficulties for the partners. But some demonstration 
of vigor was needed to triumph over the timidity they felt in the 
presence of the partners who were always ready to resort to vio- 
lence.**° Semple did nothing to dissipate their apprehensions. He 
even declined to accept the personal intervention which some of 
them proposed to him on the eve of the conflict in the hope of pre- 
venting bloodshed between brothers by race.* In these cir- 
cumstances, the freemen resigned themselves to non-interference. 

Many of them departed into the distant spaces of the prairie.**' 
Others remained in the theatre of events, and though they played 
no role in a contest that was totally unequal so far as the settlers 
were concerned, they expressed now and again, by a few benevo- 
lent gestures, the attachment which some at least of them had re- 
tained toward the Assiniboia immigrants.*” 
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The Indians also confined themselves to an attitude of neutral- 

ity. Except for a tiny proportion, they were no more willing than 
in 1815 to take part in a conflict that did not involve them directly 
or to contribute, by declaring themselves against either of the ad- 
versaries, to the ruin of a competition from which they benefited. 
The North West Company, indeed, had not neglected to seek their 

allegiance. It had appealed to their pillaging instincts, and had 
given them tempting glimpses of gathering a rich booty.*” It had 
tried to involve the Iroquois, of whose devotion it was well 
aware.*"* It had promised to identify the cause of the Indians with 
that of the Métis and had endeavored to show them that the stake 
in the struggle was, for those two closely related groups, the reten- 
tion of the same property rights in the land which they enjoyed in 
common.‘ It had even tried to reawaken in them the memory of 
the wrongs the whites had brought about among their tribes 
through the spread of alcoholism and contagious diseases;*"* to 
spread its arguments more effectively, it had often delegated to the 
Métis the task of expounding and developing them.*”” But it had 
encountered little success. The responses to its appeals, which 
were disseminated as far as the Indians of Rainy Lake, of Fort Wil- 
liam, of the Lakehead area, remained scanty.*”* Alexander Mac- 

donell encountered several categorical refusals to obey,*”* and to 

the few Indians who took part in the skirmishes the records attri- 
bute neither excessive nor violent acts.*!” 

Nevertheless, there was nothing in this situation that coun- 
teracted the projects of the North West Company and the actions 
of its partners. Of the weapons he might have turned against his 
adversaries, the governor failed to understand the effectiveness of 
some, rejected the very idea of others, and merely neglected to use 
the rest. A quick turnabout of the Métis, in whose ranks —despite 
Cuthbert Grant’s authority—the symptoms of indiscipline were 
again appearing,*'' would alone have been able to prevent, at the 
last moment, the realization of the project so long prepared. But 
the presence of a greater number of Métis from the West in the 
army which was coming together on the banks of the Qu’Appelle 
River, the greater cohesion assured by unity of command, the 
animosity aroused by the blunders of some of the settlers, and the 

grave danger which the capture of Fort Gibraltar posed for the 
North West Company and consequently for the group dependent 
on it, so tightened the union of the Métis and the partners that 
there was no reason to expect a breakdown. 
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This time too there was no cause to expect the intervention of 
the Métis of the English company as mediators, since there existed 
among their opponents a stronger intention to cause harm,*!? 

though the latter were neither prepared nor resolved to massacre 
the people of Red River. It does not in fact appear that the North 
Westers had revealed to the Bois-Brilés all their intentions or that 
they had openly assigned to them the task of destroying the 
settlers. Only the Métis chiefs knew the partners’ plans, and they 
would not carry them out.*"* Among their men there were actu- 
ally some who, at the moment of action, were alarmed by the idea 

of an eventual massacre of the people of Assiniboia: they were 
reassured by being told that they should keep on the defensive and 
that their weapons were merely to allow them to ward off any at- 
tack.®" Cuthbert Grant let himself be guided by his attachment 
and loyalty to the North West Company of which he was a de- 
voted employee.*!® He obeyed the urge to avenge the humiliation 
which the return of the settlers had inflicted on the nation he 
commanded; as its “captain general” the setback it suffered in- 
volved him personally.*"® He also let himself be carried away by 
the resentment he bore toward Colin Robertson, The success the 
latter had achieved among the Métis, and the energy he had put 
into the seizure of Fort Gibraltar and the capture of Duncan Cam- 
eron appear to explain the animosity which the Métis chief har- 
bored toward him.*!” Grant was determined to chase the colonists 
from Red River, to prevent their ever returning, to wipe out all 
trace of the colony’s existence.*’* But neither he nor the Métis had 
any premeditated intention to carry things as far as a massacre of 
the colonists. His hatred was concentrated on the leaders of the 
colony. It was only toward them that he did not draw back from 
the idea of murder, and his men shared his feelings.*'* 

The Massacre of La Grenouillere 

As in 1815, the activity of the Métis disintegrated into a succession 
of ambushes and surprise attacks, carried out by small groups of 
men—fifty, sixty, or seventy at the most—armed with an assort- 
ment of weapons. At the beginning of May they attacked a flotilla 
of canoes, loaded with furs and provisions of meat, which was 

descending the Qu’Appelle River under the command of John 
Sutherland. The windings of the river, the tightness of its curves, 
which hardly allowed the passage of the Company's boats and 



The Attack on the Settlement of Assiniboia 459 

forced them to keep a fair distance from each other, and the thick- 
ness of the underbrush that crowded the banks provided easy con- 
ditions for ambush. Led by Cuthbert Grant, Bostonois Pangman, 

and Roderick Mackenzie, the Métis had arranged their troop near 

a particularly sharp curve, where the shallowness of the water 
slowed down the speed of the boats. Concealed in the Indian man- 
ner in pits dug in the soil among the thickets, they unexpectedly 
attacked the two leading bateaux, seized the provisions they were 
carrying, captured the crews, and then laid hands on the craft that 
followed a short way behind.**° The affair had no sequel: the men 
were set free under the promise that they would not take up arms 
against the North West Company.**' Semple made no protest.*? 
But a few days afterwards the Métis took over the Hudson’s Bay 
Company’s fort on the Qu’Appelle River: the North Westers ar- 
rested John Sutherland, holding him prisoner, and demanded of 
the personnel an engagement not to commit any hostile act against 
their representatives on the Red River.*** 

Then, on 1 June, Grant’s little army attacked the post at Bran- 

don and the officer in charge refused to obey the summons to hand 
over the keys of his storehouses to the Métis. In reprisal for the 
seizure of Fort Gibraltar by Colin Robertson,*** the fort was 
sacked under the eyes of the bourgeois Alexander Macdonell, who 
watched from the Canadian post everything that went on. The 
stocks of provisions and trade goods were seized and transported 
to the North West Company’s fort*** and the horses were stolen. 
Since the attackers threatened to burn down the buildings, Peter 
Fidler and his men had taken refuge on the prairie with whatever 
possessions they were able to save from destruction. They lived 
there for a whole week among the Cree and the Assiniboine who 
showed their goodwill by building a temporary shelter for them. 
Never before had the instinct toward savagery manifested itself so 
vigorously among the Bois-Brilées. When their horsemen appeared 
in sight of Brandon House, they had the look of a well-disciplined 
troop, enclosing the national flag within their rectangular ranks, 
and riding to the sound of an Indian drum whose rhythm sus- 
tained their war songs.**® Yet for three whole days pillage and dis- 
order enjoyed free rein. Overcome by drink, the Metis carried on 
their destruction without ceasing, breaking open the hay stores 
whose contents they appropriated, tearing up the palisades of the 
fort, devastating the cultivated plots, and celebrating their success 
with dances and war songs that echoed day and night in the tents 
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which they had set up near the fort. Alexander Macdonell sought 
by his distribution of alcohol and tobacco to provoke them to new 
excesses. The employees watched powerlessly while the task of 
destruction went on; it was still continuing on 5 June.**? 

Finally, on 7 June, armed and painted like a group of native war- 
riors, the troop, commanded by Cuthbert Grant, set off toward 
the colony.*** The North Westers hoped that, having acquired a 
taste for loot through the events at Brandon House, they would 
abandon themselves to cruel actions, and Cuthbert Grant held or- 

ders to that effect.” But it seems certain that the Bois-Briles in- 
tended merely to besiege the colony, expecting that a rigorous 
blockade would reduce it to famine and surrender. This is what 
Cuthbert Grant personally stated.**° The clash that cost the lives of 
so many of the settlers occurred by accident. 

On 19 June, Grant’s army, moving down the valley of the As- 
siniboine and following the left bank, came in sight of Fort Doug- 
las. A short distance from the meeting of the rivers they left the 
Assiniboine and proceeded toward the clearing of Frog Plain— 
known to the Canadians as La Grenouillere—which opened out to 
the Red River,**' downstream from the Hudson’s Bay Company’s 
post and approximately four miles from the colony.** 

At this point the Métis who formed the advance guard surprised 
a number of settlers engaged on farmwork, and carried them offin 
the direction of La Grenouillere. One of them was handed over to 
a freeman and detained in his house,*** Robert Semple im- 
mediately gathered together a handful of settlers armed with use- 
less muskets and, disregarding the prudent advice offered him by 
the older men, set off toward the Métis troop, which had just 

reached the plain of La Grenouillere.*** As the Métis were unsad- 
dling their horses, the rumor spread that the settlers were prepar- 
ing to attack. Immediately, taking up the challenge that the gover- 
nor seemed to be offering, they abandoned the position where 
they intended to make their camp, and rode on to meet the oppos- 
ing group. They encountered it roughly halfway between La 
Grenouillére and Fort Douglas.**° Deploying in a semi-circle, they 
hemmed in the settlers, who retreated toward the Red River,*** 

and took up a position behind one of the coulees that cut across the 
flat surface of the prairie.**’ Semple went forward to parley, and 
the Canadian Boucher left the Métis ranks and rode to meet him. 
They exchanged angry words. The governor seized the bridle of 
the other man’s horse, and at this moment shots were fired. Since 
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the testimony of eyewitnesses was mutually contradictory, it is 
impossible to be sure where they first came from.*** But within a 
few minutes, firing with practice and precision, the Métis had 
massacred twenty-two settlers, almost all the group of thirty-two 
men which Semple had imprudently mobilized and engaged in an 
action which neither side had premeditated.” 

By appearing armed and with their faces painted, and by mak- 
ing prisoners of the first colonists they encountered, the Métis had 
given the impression that an attack was imminent; by reacting 
prematurely, Robert Semple on his side had given the Bois-Brilés 
a similar impression.*” 

In fact, the governor was once again a victim of that ignorance 
of the native peoples which he had already manifested on several 
occasions. The idea of a battle in the open field was in fact too alien 
to the Métis for their parade in military order in the neighborhood 
of the colony to be interpretable as a prelude to such action. The 
ambush was the only tactic that fitted their mentality and their cus- 
toms, and if it had not been for Robert Semple’s unfortunate initia~ 
tive, this is the procedure they would have followed in 1816, as 

they had done in 1815. Based on Frog Plain, they would have be- 
sieged the colony,**! and have awaited patiently the arrival of the 
partners of the North West Company who at this very moment 
were travelling toward the Red River by the classic route of the 
Winnipeg River and Lake Winnipeg.**? The Métis leaders had in 
fact told a number of their men that the arms distributed to them 
were to enable them to defend themselves until the canoes arrived 
from Montreal.*** Then only, the settlers could expect a murder- 
ous attack: the unmitigated determination of the North Westers 
and the tenacious resentment borne by these men whose future 
was at risk** were dangers that seemed to threaten the colony 
much more than the animosity of the Metis. 

Tt seems certain that the partners would not have hesitated at the 
thought of a general massacre of the settlers.**° But it is doubtful if 
the Métis leaders would have been able to carry it out in cold 
blood. The attitude of Cuthbert Grant is significant enough. Dis- 
regarding the instructions of Alexander Macdonell, he had spared 
the lives of the prisoners taken before the affray of La Grenouil- 
lere,* and during the skirmish he had refrained from finishing off 
the wounded Semple, who succumbed to the blows of the only 
Indian to join the attackers.“*7 The threats which he sometimes 
made against the settlers do not alter the general moderation of his 
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attitude. As much as by any sensitivity of reaction, his conduct can 
be explained by a feeling, imbibed through his better upbringing 
and his more advanced education, of the gravity of the actions ex- 

pected of him. He hesitated before the responsibilities that were 
involved in the destruction of the inhabitants of Assiniboia. 

Too ignorant to obey the same motivations, the men he com- 
manded would undoubtedly have given in, if the conflict had not 
been unleashed by accident, to their spontaneous goodness of na- 
ture. But once the battle was engaged, these simple beings, de- 
prived of religious conviction, seemed to give free rein to the sav- 
age instinct which the North Westers had awakened in them. Their 
barbarism found expression in the mutilation of the bodies. Some 
were scalped, others had their skulls broken, yet others were hor- 
tibly slashed.*** In many cases the wounded were finished off.5** 
Such atrocities, it is true, were mainly the acts of the Métis from 

the West, who were more completely dominated by the ways of 
the Indians, and who lacked any real sympathy for the settlers 
whom they had never known.**° The cruelties perhaps also re- 
sulted partly from the resentment which some of the settlers had 
aroused by their offensive attitude.**' The few Canadians and 
freemen who were present among the Métis were better able to 
hold themselves in control.** 

The surrender of the settlers, who gave up their arms and their 
possessions, was all that prevented further massacres and the des- 
truction of the Company’s fort.*** Yet it is probable that this con- 
cession would not have been enough to hold back the Métis if their 
own losses had not been insignificant. Only one Bois-Brilé had 
been killed during the skirmish, and the anger felt as a result of this 
by Bostonois Pangman, a relative of the victim, allows one to sus- 
pect the bitterness of the reprisals that would have resulted from 
greater losses.** 

Obeying the orders of their conquerors, on 22 June 1816 the 
settlers abandoned the shores of the Red River for the second time, 

sacrificing their crops and the few homes they had rebuilt.** 
Under the direction of their most resolute enemy, Alexander 
Macdonell, they reached the north shore of Lake Winnipeg, where 
they would find in the fisheries of Jack River a means of subsis- 
tence.*** Some of them were assured that they would be trans- 
ported to Scotland.**” Many were in a state of total destitution,** 
and could not envisage a return to their native country, where 
poverty awaited them. But the sense of terror which they derived 
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from recent events also discouraged them from returning to Red 
River, which from now on the Bois-Brilés held as their sovereign 
property.2°" : 

The very day of the exodus of the settlers, the partners and 
clerks representing the North West Company—Alexander Mac- 
kenzie ‘the Emperor," A. N. McLeod, Robert Henry, John 
McLoughlin, and Thomas Murray,‘ arrived at Red River and 
observed with satisfaction the success of the plan of campaign that 
had been carried out by the Métis. A few penalties were imposed 
on those whose sympathy toward the colonists had been too 
openly expressed; one freeman, Bottineau, was provisionally ar- 
rested for having become engaged as a hunter in their service.*"' 
The Indians of the Red River were severely reprimanded for the 
attitude of benevolent neutrality they had not ceased to observe 
toward the colony, and from which they had deviated only after 
Governor Semple’s death to defend the cause of the settlers.“** On 
several occasions Indian women had even protected colonists and 
saved them from massacre.*** Emperor Mackenzie accordingly 
condemned in insulting terms the native people and those of their 
chiefs who had maintained their loyalties.** On the other hand, 
A.N. McLeod lavished congratulations and incitements on the 
Métis, taking care to exalt their national pride and to give legiti- 
macy to their action because of the need to defend their soil, which 
was threatened with seizure.*** In reward for their conduct, the 
most notable of the Bois-Brilés were admitted to the partner's 
table at Fort Douglas.** Presents were distributed in the form of 
cloaks and capotes.**7 The Métis were exhorted not to allow any 
weakening of the energy with which they had so valiantly de- 
fended the lands of their “nation.”** As if intending to sustain in 
them the ferocity that had been so skilfully awakened, the North 
Westers praised the Bois-Brilés on the battlefield, where the 
bodies still lay, for the mutilations they had inflicted on their 
enemies 3°" 

The celebrations followed—horse races, buffalo hunts,*”” and 
especially the dances which, stripped of clothes and painted of 
face, the Métis performed for the amused eyes of the North Wes- 
ters,°”! to whom they presented the illusion that they had surren- 
dered to the instincts of primitive man. The partners sought to en- 
courage such inclinations at the same time as they fostered the sen- 
timent of nationalism: they saw in this combination a guarantee 
against the eventual return of the settlers and a possible change of 
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heart among the Bois-Brilés. They set out to aggravate in every 
way the exasperation of the Métis against the colony of As- 
siniboia. A, N. McLeod expressed his delight at the death of a 
Bois-Brile who had been wounded in the battle, in the hope that it 
would revive the hatred of the Métis for the killers of their 
kinsman.*” Confident of the tenacity of this hatred and the feroc- 
ity of their instincts the North Westers left to the Métis the task of 
defending the colony and its environs. Fifty of them mounted 
guard along the Red River as far as the clearings of Image Plain, 
about twelve miles downstream from Fort Douglas.*” For greater 
security, the freemen were ordered to reinforce this surveillance, 
under the threat of immediate expulsion from the territories of the 
North West.‘ All settlers and the traders of the Hudson’s Bay 
Company were to be kept out of the plains of the Red River.*”* 
The North Westers were able to take pride in what had happened, 
and congratulate themselves that it had been achieved, without 
any failure of will and without any infraction of discipline, by the 
very men whose essentially volatile character had been dem- 
onstrated by the events of 1815, and whose loyalty, only a few 
months before the conflict, had seemed so doubtful.*”° 



CHAPTER TWELVE 

THE DISLOCATION OF 

THE METIS ‘“‘NATION’’ 

THE APPARENT INCLINATIONS 
OF THE BOIS-BRULES 

What would happen, on the morrow of the dispersion of the As- 
siniboia colonists, to the convictions that seemed to animate the 
Métis? Would their nationalism survive the scattering of the ele- 
ments who had been represented to them as the usurpers of their 
country? 

At first the officers of the Hudson’s Bay Company believed that 
the patriotic upsurge would survive the events that had provoked 
it. In fact the Métis seemed intent on carrying their depredations 
far beyond the Red River and on proclaiming their sovereignty 
over the immensities of the prairie. Thus, on the Swan River, they 
carried off the herd of horses concentrated there for the use of the 
colony, and afterwards insisted on the capitulation of Fort Hiber- 
nia and the surrender of all its merchandise.’ Near Lake Manitoba 
they arrested Peter Fidler and looted his baggage.” James Bird saw 
in these actions the prelude to wider enterprises directed against 
the trading posts with a view to eliminating the European traders, 
and he thought that only a counteroffensive on the part of the In- 
dians could hinder these manifestations of nationalism.* 

The murder of Owen Keveney, treacherously slaughtered in his 
canoe on Lake of the Woods with the complicity of Metis voy- 
ageurs, when he was on his way to the Red River to take over the 

government in place of Robert Semple, seemed to justify such 
forebodings. In congratulating the murderers, the bourgeois of the 
North West Company did not fail to find a justification for the at- 
tack in the need to destroy all possible ravishers of their lands.* 
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THE FIRST BACKSLIDINGS 

But this attitude could not, in 1816 any more than in 1815, justify 
an absolute confidence in the inclinations of the Bois-Brilés. The 
memory of their waverings in the preceding year remained with 
the North Westers, On the very day after the attack on Fort 
Qu’Appelle, Peter Fidler had observed among some of the Métis a 
visible weakening of their will to act.” It is possible that, if it had 

not been for the accidental circumstance that brought them into 
conflict with Robert Semple’s troop, the Métis would have been 
reduced to the slow task of besieging the colony, and, influenced 
by its inhabitants, might not all have been able to maintain their 

fidelity to the cause of the North Westers. “By a little flattery and 
good management,” wrote Alexander Ross, “the half breeds and 
Indians might have been diverted from their mischievous projects, 
since they are by no means unreasonable people when an appeal is 
made to the better feelings of their nature.”* 

Even in the attack they made on Owen Keveney, the Métis 
voyageurs revealed the usual volatility of their inclinations: one 
among them refused to take part, and expressed frank indignation 
at the actions of the murderers.” 

In such circumstances, it was enough that the news of the cap- 
ture of Fort William by Lord Selkirk's troops should reach the 
Métis who had followed the bourgeois Daniel Mackenzie to Bas 
de la Riviere for the ardor of their nationalism to be seriously sha- 
ken. The dislocation of the Métis “nation”? now seemed inevitable 
at the very moment when, impelled by its recent success, it 
seemed most solidly established and on the point of undertaking 
the great offensive James Bird foresaw. The North Westers were 
so aware of the fragility of the situation that, as soon as they learnt 
of the entry into the field of the forces of Lord Selkirk, they tried 
to prevent defections by threatening both freemen and Métis with 
eviction from the North West if they did not immediately take up 
arms.* That they should have felt obliged to resort to such tactics 
when the events at Red River seemed to have cemented the na- 
tional cohesion of the Métis and to have inspired them with such 
hatred of the usurpers of their territory showed the little confi- 
dence they had in the solidity of the group they relied on for the 
realization of their plans. No less symptomatic was the trickery 
with which, following a procedure that had been successful in 
1815, they tried to impose on the Métis in the hope of preventing 
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the dislocation of their forces. Having obtained in July a proclama- 
tion of the governer-general of Canada which condemned the vio-~ 
lences and disorders in the territories of the North West and 
threatened those who were guilty with judicial proceedings, they 
had given Cuthbert Grant and Joseph Cadotte the task of transmit- 
ting a falsified version to the illiterate Métis. The trick failed be- 
cause of the intervention of a clerk of the North West Company, 
who revealed the real text.’ None the less, such a procedure consti- 
tuted an admission of weakness on the part of the North Westers 
and a proof of the contempt they felt for their men. 

For the North West Company the situation was one of extreme 
gravity. Lord Selkirk was personally in charge of the expedition 
which had just entered the territories of the North West with the 
intention of retaking from the partners the positions they had 
seized and re-establishing the settlers in the peaceful enjoyment of 
their properties. Provided with a commission as Justice of the 
Peace which he held from the governor-general of Canada, Sir 
Gordon Drummond, he had engaged in Montreal, with promises 
of land concessions on the Red River,'® a hundred men belonging 

to the regiments of De Meuron and De Watteville who had partly 
been recruited, after the disaster of Bailen, from among the pris- 
oners from General Dupont’s army;"' the ending of the war of 1812 
had led to their disbandment.'* 

As soon as the little army had occupied Fort William, the 
freemen of the region and some of the Métis had shown the timid- 
ity of their convictions by abandoning the cause of the North Wes- 
ters.'* Even more disquieting was the fact that a number of Cana- 
dians, who now felt sure of finding a home for themselves and 
their families under the protection of the troops who were now 
making their way to Red River, gladly welcomed the idea of estab- 
lishing themselves there.'* Soon it would be the officers of the 
Hudson’s Bay Company, who like Bird had deplored the destruc- 
tion of the colony,* and now would take their families to As- 
siniboia and so swell the numbers of the colonial population in an 
atmosphere freed of the quarrels and prejudices of the early days. 
At Rainy Lake, Selkirk had made further recruits among the 
freemen.'® The North West Company, at the end as at the begin- 
ning of the conflict, saw itself reduced to having no more support 
than the forces of the Métis group and the loyalty of the leaders 
who controlled it. 

Alexander Macdonell had indeed recommended to the partners, 
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on 30 July 1816, even before the capture of Fort William had 

weakened their position, that they should prevent the dispersion 

of the Bois-Briilés, an event which, ifit took place would have the 

gravest consequences for the Company.’ But the concentration of 

the Metis forces, which had temporarily been achieved in opposi- 
tion to the colony of Assiniboia, had not survived the latter's des- 
truction. Most of them had already departed toward the Qu’Ap- 
pelle River, and the Red River and the shores of Lake Winnipeg 
were stripped of men, so that the North Westers declared they 
were unable to sustain an attack there."* The approach of Lord 
Selkirk’s expedition, the success it had achieved against the head- 
quarters at Fort William, the impression that could not fail to be 

created by the arrival of these new forces whose standing as sol- 
diers of the king the partners imprudently recognized'*—all these 
factors were bound to make difficult any regrouping of the Bois- 
Brilés. If the partners had been able to stifle among the latter the 
scruples inspired in them by Christian teachings,” they had never 
ceased to preach to them respect for royal authority, in which they 
had skilfully cloaked themselves to give an appearance of legality 

to all their actions. It was “in the king’s name” that Duncan Cam- 
eron had established his authority; it was by representing Keveney 

as an “enemy of the king” that the partners at Rainy Lake had per- 

suaded the voyageurs who escorted him to commit their mur- 

der.?! Warned now of the arrival of Lord Selkirk’s forces, the 

Métis would hesitate to take up arms against the authority they 
represented, At the same time, they had lost their cohesion 
through dispersal; the resentment they felt toward the colony and 
which had been the prime element in their discipline was already 
somewhat blunted; they were no longer obedient to that collective 
hatred which had been sustained by the great number of men 
gathered together and the influence of their chiefs; and all this 

meant that they would lend themselves less easily to the man- 
oeuvres of the partners and give in with less docility to either 
commands or threats. Duncan Cameron, whose influence had al- 
ways been decisive, was no longer there.** 

The first weakening of support took place at the beginning of 
September, at Bas de la Riviere, where a small group of Métis had 
followed Alexander Macdonell, with some of the more energetic 
leaders, Grant, Shaw, Pangman, and Cadotte. At Macdonell’s 

suggestion that they set up an ambush for Selkirk's soldiers who 
were approaching Red River, one Métis refused categorically to 
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take part, remarking that Selkirk was protected by “soldiers of the 
king” and that he personally, rather than fight them, would dress 
himself in a buffalo skin and live on the prairie like an Indian.** His 
argument won the support of his companions. A few of them 
agreed merely to go under the command of Grant and Cadotte on 
a scouting expedition as far as Rainy Lake.** None of them sup- 
ported Macdonell’s proposition. He was left without any recourse 
except the fidelity of the leaders who had always served him and, 
perhaps, that of the Métis gathered at Qu’Appelle who as yet were 
unaware of the approach of an armed force invested with royal 
authority. Macdonell set off to join the latter, in the hope that they 
would not abandon the cause of their leader and of the North West 
Company. Cuthbert Grant went with him, transporting the 
weapons that had been seized in the colony.** 

THE ARRIVAL OF SELKIRK’S TROOPS 
AND THE DEFECTION OF THE BOIS-BRULES 

At the beginning of November the advance guard of the expedi- 
tion, consisting of thirty-five men under the command of Cap- 
tains Miles Macdonell and d’Orsonnens, seized the post at Rainy 
Lake.?° Then they skirted Lake of the Woods, and, by Lac Roseau 
and the Roseau River,*’ they reached Fort Daer on 31 December 

1816.28 At dawn on 10 January they seized Fort Douglas by sur- 
prise.” The freemen at Pembina had already warmly welcomed 
them.*° The Indians of Red River, indifferent to the pressing 
exhortations Alexander Macdonell had addressed to them after the 
defections at Bas de la Riviere,* showed their sympathy by bring- 
ing provisions of meat.** The partners, who at first had handled 
them tactlessly, and whose conciliatory tone now showed the 
sense they had of their own weakness,** had lost all influence over 
them. 

At this point the Métis finally disappointed the hopes that the 
North Westers had pinned on the solidity of their “nationalism.” 
When d’Orsonnens’ company reached Rainy Lake, Cuthbert 
Grant had received the order to mobilize his men and go to Fort 
Douglas to take over its defence, On 22 January he reached Fort la 
Souris and learnt of the capture of Fort Douglas. Immediately dis- 
cipline weakened among his men and Grant experienced the same 
refusals to obey as Macdonell at Bas de la Riviere. Several of them 
resisted the idea of fighting, claiming —an argument they had not 
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invoked in connection with previous actions—that they had never 
signed any engagement to do so. The threats of sanctions which 
Cuthbert Grant addressed to them provoked sharp retorts. Ifa few 
of them agreed to approach Fort Douglas, it was only to spy on 
the movements of the garrison and make a few prisoners when 
they could do so with impunity; in this way they surprised four 
men at the home of J, B. Lagimodiere, fifteen miles from Fort 
Douglas, who had gone there in search of supplies of fresh meat.** 
To such simple ambushes was now reduced the activity which the 
Bois-Brilés—once so violent and so resolute—agreed to carry out 
in the interests of the North West Company. It was no longer a 
question of national feeling, of protection of the fundamental 
tights of the Bois-Brilés: their aggressive inclinations had van- 
ished at the mere mention of ‘soldiers of the king.” 

A second attempt at intervention toward the middle of February 
had no better success. Responding to the appeal of Cuthbert Grant 
and J, Cadotte, whose national spirit remained as lively as their 
loyalty to the cause of the North Westers, a group of twenty-six 
Métis left the Qu’Appelle River with the aim of demanding from 
the governor of Fort Douglas the liberation of the men he had cap- 
tured there on 10 January, and whom he was holding in prison be- 
cause of their participation in the murder of Keveney; the North 
Wester Archibald McLennan, the Canadian Séraphin Lamarre, and 

the Métis Mainville, But this appearance of resolution concealed 
only a feeble impulse toward action. Even Grant, despite his sin- 
cerity and the violence he preached, did not have the audacity to 
engage in energetic action. Without daring to admit it, he like all 
the others was affected by the feeling of unsureness inspired by the 
appearance of Selkirk’s troops and the principle in whose name 
they acted. At Fort la Souris, on the way to Fort Douglas, he could 
not overcome the opposition of the Canadians he tried to recruit: 
stronger of will than the Métis, more concerned about legality, the 
freemen feared to be led into excesses which their moral upbring- 
ing would find repellent. For the first time, we see one of the 
Canadians, Marsolet, intervening between his Métis son and the 

leaders who were attempting to enrol him among their men, and 
forbidding him to become associated with the expedition. A 
tribunal was improvised to judge him. Marsolet disdained the 
threats that were offered him; basing his arguments strictly on re- 
spect for the governor-general’s proclamation which condemned 
violences and disorders, he continued to oppose his son’s depar- 
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ture. Another Canadian, Hamelin, adopted a similar attitude. Un- 
able to make him give way, Cuthbert Grant forcibly enrolled his 
Métis son.** 

Yet, during the discussion that had taken place, the national idea 
had not been invoked. The ‘‘judges” claimed to command the 
young Métis not because of the patriotism that tied them to their 
nation, but of the narrower law of attachment to their bourgeois, 
which directly contradicted the national idea. 

Tainted with the violence of its predecessor, composed of ele- 
ments some of which bowed only to constraint, and deprived of 
the national impetus, the expedition was doomed to failure. It was 
already on the point of dissolution when the news arrived that Fort 
Douglas was strongly defended, and Cadotte was able to triumph 
over the unwillingness of his men only by appealing to their van- 
ity.®* In the end, when the troop had reached the neighborhood of 
the fort and the governor had replied with a refusal to accept 
Grant’s written demand for the liberation of the prisoners, the 

Métis confined themselves to pointless raiding. For a few days 
they prowled in the neighborhood of Fort Douglas, trying to 
drive off any cattle that might be ill tended. But precautions were 
taken, thefts were unimportant, and when they ran short of provi- 
sions, the Métis drifted away, Lacking the impetus which more 
enterprising men had given them in the beginning, scared by the 
arrival of a force whose arms alone earned it respect, they seem to 
have forgotten their claims to sovereignty of the land, to have 
ceased to be aware of the perils to their nation that the colony har- 
bored, and to have decided to accept the presence of the troops 
who were meant to protect the settlers. Cuthbert Grant himself 
vacillated. When Cadotte talked of going to Pembina and doing 
honor to the warlike repute of the Bois-Brilés by massacring a 
few of the adherents of Lord Selkirk who had gathered there, he 

refused to support him. “We are not barbarians,” he declared. His 
attitude immediately determined that of his men.*” Humiliated by 
the refusal of the governor of Fort Douglas to accept his demand 
for the liberation of the prisoners,** and realizing that his threats 

had aroused only derision, Cuthbert Grant was visibly discour- 

aged. 
His role of Captain General gradually faded away. Neither at 

Qu’Appelle nor at Fort la Souris did he manifest any activity. It 
would have been difficult in any case for him to fight against the 
growing disintegration of the nation which for a time he had 
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united under his command. The Métis of the Saskatchewan and 
Churchill rivers, who had been distinguished for the ardor of their 
nationalism and for their violence, had returned to their various 

territories; they now refused to respond to the appeals of the 
energetic Simon Fraser.** In the area of Fort la Souris, where most 
of the Métis were gathered, several openly passed over to Lord 
Selkirk’s side, making their submission to Miles Macdonell, who 
had resumed at Fort Douglas his functions as governor; they ac- 
cepted the mission of arresting J. Cadotte who was trying in the 
region of Qu’Appelle to deter the Métis from coming to terms 
with the representative of the Scottish lord.*” At Red River some 
of them accepted renewed engagements in the service of the Hud- 
son’s Bay Company and agreed to protect Fort Daer against a pos- 
sible attack.*! The rare instances of opposition were overcome by 
strict measures.** Finally the fidelity of the Indian chief Peguis kept 
in awe the prairie tribes, whose undecided attitude had raised fears 
of hostility.** 

Only the Métis of the Qu’Appelle River, without openly pro- 
nouncing themselves against the settlers, appear to have felt a 

more solid patriotism and a more reliable attachment to the North 
West Company.“ But Alexander Macdonell could only seriously 
count on a small number of men: Fraser,** Cadotte, “© Shaw, 

Bonhomme Montour. Even among those who seemed the most 

committed, there were some whose conduct gave the lie to the 

sentiments they professed. Joseph Peltier, better known by his 

nickname of Assiniboine, a half-brother of Bostonois Pangman 
and one of the leading Bois-Briillés, could not resist the effect of a 

personal contact with Captain d’Orsonnens, and promised him 
that he would seek to create a more conciliatory attitude among 
his fellows.*” And though Montour himself gave the appearance of 
standing aside and adopted a contemptuous and almost hostile at- 
titude toward d’Orsonnens’ men, he nevertheless paid visits to the 
personnel of Fort Douglas, where his brother-in-law was held 
among the prisoners,** and in this way ran the risk of relaxing his 

attitude. 
The news also spread that commissioner-magistrates had been 

appointed by the governor-general of Canada, in the name of the 
Prince Regent of England, with the mission of carrying out an en- 
quiry into the events of 1815-16."° Thanks to the protection that 
was henceforward assured to them, the colonists gradually re- 
turned to the banks of the Red River. The fears they still felt, 
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which led them to cluster around Fort Douglas,** did not prevent 
their resuming in the spring the farm work that had been so brut- 
ally interrupted the year before. A certain number of the De 
Meurons, in conformity with the terms of their engagements, 
took up land and began to clear it.** Once again the colony had 
taken root in the territory of Assiniboia. It was protected by a mili- 
tary force, and by a new legality which banished the North Wester 
spirit from the Red River, which destroyed the national claims of 
the Bois-Brilés, and which announced the advent of different 
conceptions that it would have been vain to think of turning back. 

The final attempt which the Métis now made to oppose the 
events that were overtaking them was, like the incidents at the be- 

ginning of the year, no more than a gesture without future and 
without consequences. It was provoked by the arrival in June 1817 
of Lord Selkirk in person at the head of a column of reinforce- 
ments. Cuthbert Grant and his faithful followers appeared anxious 
to emerge from their retreat and to bar the way to the master of 
the colony, who reached the Red River by way of Bas de la Riviere 
and Lake Winnipeg. They entrenched themselves in a strong posi-~ 
tion near Fort Douglas. But the Métis were deeply divided, and 
Lord Selkirk’s arrival was sufficient to disperse them. Grant and 
Cadotte, with the more compromised of their followers, took re- 
fuge in the Canadian post at Brandon.” 

At Fort Douglas 21 June was marked by rejoicings. The Indians 
gathered to be present at the entry of the lord into his domains. 
Liberal distributions of tobacco and alcohol were made to them. 
Then the Indians invited Lord Selkirk and Miles Macdonell to take 
part in a council at which were also present, besides the chiefs of 
the Cree, the Saulteaux, and the Assiniboine, the partner Angus 
Shaw and the Métis Pangman: there they exhorted the whites to 
live in harmony and to come in greater numbers into their country 
so as to increase commercial activity.** 

For a few days one saw once again, in the environs of Fort 
Douglas, some of the Métis who had been directly associated with 
the attacks of 1815 and 1816. The presence of Angus Shaw reas- 
sured them. His own son, William Shaw, was with him.** The lat- 

ter was not unaware that Commissioner Coltman, who arrived in 
the colony on 5 July to carry out the enquiry already mentioned, 
to establish responsibilities, and to ensure respect for the Procla- 

mation of the Prince Regent (1 May 1817) which enjoined the op- 
posing parties to cease all hostility and restore to each other their 
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respective properties,°* was animated by an evident partiality to- 
ward the North Westers.** Nevertheless, in the presence of this 
personage who was endued with supreme authority by the Regent 
and whose powers temporarily supplanted all other jurisdictions, 
including that of Lord Selkirk,°? the Métis could not hide their 
fearfulness. On 14 July the majority of the Bois-Brilés took them- 
selves off, under the leadership of Bostonois Pangman, and re- 

sumed their nomad existence some thirty miles from the colony.” 
Shortly afterward, on 11 August, Peter Fidler reoccupied the 

post at Brandon. The buildings, looted in 1816, had fallen into ruin 
during the winter months. A number of Métis had settled in with 
their families and, helped by the Indians, they had completed the 
destruction.” Yet Peter Fidler was welcomed by the native 
people, since his return would remedy the shortage of merchan- 
dise from which the Canadian fort had suffered during his ab- 
sence.®” Undoubtedly, hard words were still being said against the 
colony. But it was the partners who spoke them to the Métis, and 
the bitterness of their reflections hindered neither the freemen nor 
the Métis nor even the employees of their own company from 
helping to revictual the Hudson’s Bay Company’s post." By his 
personal qualities, by the confidence he was able to inspire, Peter 
Fidler quickly established contact with the Métis who had taken 
refuge at Brandon, and he was able to calm the suspicions and the 
resentments of the most violent among them. A change in attitude 
had taken place even in the Grants and the Cadottes since the most 
recent events. Called to answer for their actions before Commis- 
sioner Coltman, they did not think of evading the responsibilities 
they had incurred. They docilely gave themselves up as prison- 
ers.“ In anticipation of appearing before the Canadian tribunal, 
they made their way to Fort Douglas, where the commissioner 
was gathering the depositions of the Métis.°* There they were 
freed on parole.** From Brandon to Red River, they travelled with 
Peter Fidler, and between Fidler and Grant a firm friendship and 

confidence were established. Sharply affected by the foundering of 
the ambitions he had developed for the nation of the Bois-Brilés, 
and by the rapid dissolution of the group he had for a while united 
around a national ideal, Grant spoke to Fidler of his disappoint- 
ments with open bitterness. Accusing the North West Company 
of having incited him to the violences he had committed, he of 
fered to betray the interests of the partners between whose hands 
he had been nothing but a tool.®* He denied the idea he had once 
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passionately defended, he renounced the role of leader of the Metis 
nation which he had so recently assumed with vigor, he even of- 

fered to serve the British company that had been represented as the 
usurper of the land over which, by right of birth, the Bois-Brilés 
claimed sovereign rights of property. 

THE FRAGILITY AND THE FATE 
OF METIS NATIONALISM 

For the time being, it was all up with the Métis nation, with its 

cohesion, with its ambitious projects, with its aspirations to inde- 

pendence. [t had been born of the calculated suggestions of the 
North Westers. It had been fostered by the errors of the whites, 
who were too much inclined to ignore the traditional Métis way of 
life and to give the impression that it would no longer be tolerated 
when they were masters, and who were also incapable of gaining 
the goodwill of these men whose suspicions they never succeeded 
in quelling. Thus the national idea rested on foundations that were 
too narrow to provide any real solidity. It had not yet resulted in 
the formation of any principle of union, nor had it inspired the 
Bois-Briilés as a whole with a precise political program or led 
them to assert by means of a regularly organized government the 
aims of sovereignty and independence that had been so fleetingly 
expressed and adumbrated. 

Even to achieve what they had done, the North Westers had 

been obliged constantly to stimulate among the Métis a feeling of 
national pride that was always ready to flicker or even to go out; 
they had constantly to resort to means that stressed the weakness 
of an urge toward action that was incapable of developing from its 
own resources without the artificial sustenance of external stimuli, 
such as incitement to looting, repeated appeals to atavistic Indian 
instincts, distributions of presents or of alcohol, threats of reprisal, 
or bare-faced attempts to take advantage of the ignorance or naiv~ 
eté of the Bois-Briilés in an unscrupulous attempt to deceive them. 
In the events that had happened in such rapid succession and had 
given an appearance of vigor to their nationalism, the Métis had 
sometimes responded with passing indignation which the attitude 
of the settlers—and especially of the governors—had aroused in 
them; sometimes they were moved by the fidelity which they sus- 
tained to the North West Company and to the desire to defend a 
cause that seemed to be identical with that of their race; sometimes 
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by the fear of their bourgeois and by the provocations with which 
the latter stimulated their animosities; and perhaps rather more 
often by the impetus provided by those leaders who knew how to 
dominate them and inspire their confidence; seldom had they acted 

from a genuinely spontaneous conviction. 
Thus the importance which some people gave to the acts of ag- 

gression that had recently taken place, the consequences for the fu- 
ture of Canada® which they attributed to them, and the strength 
they found in the Métis group" were in fact exaggerated impres- 
sions resulting from a false understanding of the realities of the 
situation. Better informed, the settlers who had observed the vari- 
ous changes of attitude among the Métis were able to reduce to 
their true proportions the events that had temporarily swept away 
the colony; they saw in them merely the effects of the propaganda 
carried on by the North Westers.® James Bird himself, who had 
been misled in his estimate of the power of the Bois-Brilés, 
doubted their strength of character and hardly believed they were 
capable of pursuing to the end the satisfaction of the claims they 
had formulated." 

What in fact were the bases of their nationalism? 
They had grouped themselves under the leadership of chiefs of 

their own race, whose whim it had been to give them a govern- 
ment based on popular consent and free choice by individuals: the 
model had been vaguely inspired by Indian concepts and by the 
regular pattern of discipline among the Canadian voyageurs. They 
had received a national flag from the partners. Under the name of 
Bois-Brulés they had proclaimed the independence of their nation, 
and, in the name of their culture, some of them had claimed that 

they were disavowing the teachings of Christianity. In the im- 
mense territories of the North West, whose possession they 
claimed despite the anterior rights of the Indians, they appeared 
among the native peoples as a distinct group; they did not hesitate 
to harm the Indians’ interests, to limit their possibilities of subsis~ 
tence, and often an active resentment divided the two groups.” 
They did not become incorporated into the framework of the na- 
tive societies, and openly proclaimed that they were not ‘‘barbar- 
ians,”’ but they did not mingle any more closely with the Cana- 
dians, some of whom showed contempt for them and declared 

that “their souls were as black as their faces’?! 
The active role they had just played moreover revealed their 

characteristic traits. Less open than the Canadians, they seem to 
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have inherited from their Indian ancestry a propensity for intro- 
version. Capable of controlling their reactions, they surprised 
Europeans by the silence they could maintain regarding events in 
which they had taken an active part.” Cuthbert Grant evaded the 
questions posed to him by George Simpson, and with an impas- 
sive reserve refused to give him the slightest explanation. Yet their 
nature was more outgoing than that of the Indian, more openly 
inclined to cordiality and jesting, among their own group as well 
as in their relations with whites. Their reserve would always dissi- 
pate as soon as confidence was established: if they sometimes mis- 
led their interlocutors by the silence they presented to them, they 
could also anticipate their intentions and, without being asked, 
offer them abundant information.” Inevitably this created among 
the whites an impression of dissimulation, but it was nothing to 
compare with that of the Indian, who would sometimes hide his 
feelings for long years so as to take his adversary more easily by 
surprise. The lack of frankness which Europeans attributed to the 
Métis found expression rather in the perpetual oscillations of his 
conduct, in the impression he gave of betraying one after another 
the causes for which he had declared his support. But here we 
must see, not so much a deliberate or spontaneous process of de- 

ception, as a reflection of his emotional temperament and of his 

unsettled upbringing in contact with two cultures only superfi- 
cially assimilated. Hence came that weakness of will which was 
manifest not only in the hesitations of his behavior, in the lack of 
conviction with which he defended his own interests,’* but also in 
his propensity for drinking,”® the freedom of his manners; in a 
phrase, by the absence of a clearly defined morality. Undoubtedly, 
by trying to free the Métis from the shackles of Christianity, and 
by making them accustomed to treat lightly the engagements they 
had entered into with its adversaries,”° the North West Company 
had made its special contribution to the development of this lack 
of morality; the disorders of which both Indians and Canadians 
had often provided them with examples could only influence them 
further in the same direction. Thus it was with an appearance of 
exactitude that Lord Selkirk was able to accuse them of reproduc- 
ing the worst aspects of the two races that had given birth to 
them.” Finally, the timidity they felt in the presence of the whites, 
combined with the scanty regard the latter showed toward them, 
militated against any kind of spontaneous confidence between the 
races, paralysed openness of reaction among the Métis, and ex— 
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aggerated even more the impression of deceptiveness which the 
European retained of him.” The same causes were responsible for 
that excitability we have often noted in the Métis, which was an 
expression of the inferiority complex he felt among whites and 
which could only increase as the relations between the two groups 
took on a permanent stamp. Indeed, the Métis mingled with the 
whites more easily than an Indian could do. But if he got on well 
with the personnel of the trading posts, he felt uneasy in his con- 
tacts with the Assiniboia settlers, who were more alien to his way 
of life; this inhibited any freedom of relations and often deformed 
in his eyes the significance of both the actions and the attitudes of 
the white men. His sensitivity found further nourishment in a 
natural pride. By flattering his vanity, one could lead him to mod- 
ify his line of conduct completely.”" On the other hand, he adapted 
himself with difficulty to the constraints which others attempted 
to impose on him; no more than the Indian could he accept the 
humiliation of imprisonment or submit to commands that were 
too absolute. 

In the personality of the Bois-Brilés, the habits and tendencies 

of the native peoples were linked with those of the Canadians, but 
both in the process underwent a noticeable attenuation. The self- 
control so pronounced in the Indian did not retain enough strength 
among the Métis to repress entirely the exuberance of the more 
passionate Canadian nature; the manifestations of cruelty to which 
he might abandon himself were sometimes tempered by 
humanitarian reactions alien to primitive man; his natural pride 

was not strong enough to impel him to efforts as energetic as those 
motivated by the voyageurs’ vanity, and his warlike enterprises, 
launched at random under the influence of some personal feeling 
of resentment, were neither the consequences of the demands of 
some code of honor nor the effects of a temperament that was 
strongly vindictive or bellicose. Many of these traits, which seem 
to be modified reflections of the particular characteristics of primi- 
tives and Canadians, appeared even, despite his Scottish ancestry, 
in the personality of a Cuthbert Grant.*” Only his greater will- 
power and his superior energy distinguished him from the general 
run of the Bois-Brilés. In such ways he showed the value of the 
better and stricter upbringing he had received during his youth. 

It would be equally difficult to find in the Métis way of living 
any elements that were strictly peculiar to them. Their economy 
was inspired by that of the Indians in so far as it was based essen- 
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tially on the practice of hunting bison, but it drew near to that of 

the Canadian voyageurs because of their use in navigating the craft 

of the two companies from the wintering posts to the depots on 

Lake superior and vice versa. According to the evidence gathered 

by Commissioner Coltman in 1817, this last practice had already 

become a regular one among the Métis of the West.*' At the same 
time, the scanty rudiments of an agricultural life which the 
younger Métis carried on in the freemen’s colonies of which we 
have already spoken brought their economy nearer to that of the 

whites. 
In all this there was nothing truly original: simply a series of 

borrowings from the cultures of the ancestral races, adapted to the 

demands of the physical environment. Nor in their domestic life 
was there anything that suggested originality: their log houses, 
walls packed with clay, were those of the freemen; their lodges or 

tepees reproduced purely and simply the skin tents of the native 
tribes.** Their clothing imitated that of the voyageurs but was de- 
rived also from Indian examples: to the Canadian capote, the 
Métis added the leather trousers and moccasins of the native 
people and the bead ornaments with which, again following In- 
dian example, they liked to decorate their clothes." Their diet 
consisted of game and fish, of roots and wild fruit, of vegetables 
and of wheat flour from which, like the Canadian voyageurs, they 

made their galettes.** 
As to the language in which they expressed themselves, it nor- 

mally alternated between the Indian dialects habitually used in the 
families,*® and the French of Quebec, modified by expressions 

translated from the Indian tongues or loaded with terms directly 

borrowed from the language of their mothers ,** and modulated by 

singsong intonations that recalled the accents of the natives and 
even today remain very characteristic of the Bois-Brilés. 

In brief, there existed, neither in their material culture, nor in 

their personality, nor in their achievements, any clement that was 

really likely to provide a solid foundation for the national ideal. 
This found expression only in a sporadic fashion, under the effect 

of passing grievances. It was too fragile to constitute a principle of 

cohesion and to bring about among these men, without either 
education or political concepts, an ideal and a will to action likely 
to assure their domination of the North West. The Métis had not 
derived such national aspirations either from the teachings of their 
Indian mothers or from those of their Canadian fathers who, on 
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the contrary, had urged them to accept the royal authority, The 
example of the Canadian Marsolet opposing the enrolment of his 
son in a rebel troop witnesses to the disaccord which, on this 
point, could set the father and the son in opposition, and the case is 
not an isolated one.*” The national feeling was too recent in date, 

and too lacking in spontaneity, for it to be strongly rooted yet 
among the Métis. 

In any case, the nation that for such a brief period came together 
under the authority of Cuthbert Grant was too limited in its com- 
position to merit the name that was accorded to it, With the excep- 
tion of the leaders who had assumed direction, the nation of the 
Bois-Brilés consisted essentially of Canadian Metis. In this way it 
was formed in the image of the North West Company. On the 
upper level were the sons of the Scottish bourgeois, destined by 
their upbringing and higher learning for the direction of the new 
nation; below were the descendants of the voyageurs and the 
lower grade employees, almost all of them Canadian by origin. 
The Metis of Canadian and halfbreeds of Anglo-Saxon origin who 
belonged to the personnel of the Hudson’s Bay Company had not 
entered into a movement which logically—as the partners and 
Cuthbert Grant may have hoped—should have included all the 
people of mixed blood in the North West, whatever their descent. 
Only in such circumstances might the new nation have been able 
to form a political and racial entity. 

Perhaps we must see in the neutrality of the Scottish group dur- 
ing that first rebellion of the Métis one of the reasons that led to its 
quicker and more complete assimilation into the society that in the 
end would impose its authority and its methods on Rupert's Land. 
It is obvious, of course, that the events of the years 1815 and 1816 
must have left in the hearts of the settlers a violent resentment 
against the men who had devastated their territory; apart from 
their leaders, those men were none other than the Canadian Métis. 
Inevitably, feelings of distrust, fear, even malice greeted the rep- 

resentatives of a group whose actions had in the early days been so 
harmful to the newly founded colony. Fanned by religious pre- 
judice, hostility toward the Canadian Métis steadily increased, 
while the Scottish halfbreeds escaped the resentment that gathered 
around their cousins in the employment of the North West Com- 
pany. Apart from the education some of them had received, his- 
tory intervened to offer the Scottish halfbreeds of the Red River an 
access to local white society, which from the beginning was div— 
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ided from the French-speaking Métis by barriers of suspicion and 
religious bias. Such factors, rather than any intrinsic difference of 
character between the mixed blood population of Canadian and 
Scottish descent, favored an alliance between the Scottish 
halfbreeds and the more active elements of the society that had 
taken shape on the banks of the Red River. For even if, as Sir John 
Franklin asserted, the Scottish halfbreeds exceeded the Canadian 

Métis in moral worth, the fact remains, to judge from the scanty 
allusions that have survived,** that they were equally prone to 
loose conduct, to drinking, to lack of self-discipline, to a touchy 
sensibility —and, in a modified way, to lack of will: in all, to that 

whole cluster of reflexes which stemmed from the quality of their 
origins, and which seem to have found frequent expression in the 
character of Cuthbert Grant.*® Yet a variation remained between 
the two groups, linked to their different origins and antecedents, 
and to the different degrees to which the Canadians and the Scots 
(or Orkneymen) had assimilated the concepts of native cultures. 
Remaining closer to the culture of their homeland, the Scots had 

transmitted its traditions to their children of mixed blood: the lat- 
ter in turn were less inclined than the Canadian Métis to accept In- 
dian ways of living. The basic upbringing they received at the 
schools in the English posts undoubtedly reinforced this inclina- 
tion which, latent though it may at first have been, would reveal 
itself clearly as soon as the agrarian economy had taken control; 
from that time onward the Scottish Métis, many of them willing 

to accept the settlers’ life, appeared in opposition to the openly 
nomadic group of the French-speaking Métis. 

As it manifested itself at this period, the nation of the Bois- 

Brilés, in actuality reduced to the group of Canadian Métis that 
had openly proclaimed its independence and its sovereignty over 
the lands of the North West, was too unsteady to be able to play a 
sustained and dominant role. The hesitation the Bois-Briilés had 
shown on the mere appearance of the king’s soldiers indicated that 
they were incapable of sustaining, in the face of a superior power, 
the kind of stand they had first taken up. Yet the weaknesses that 
from the beginning seemed to condemn to failure the ambitions of 
the Metis could not prevent the national idea from surviving in a 
kind of inner urge which they jealously defended. The Bois-Brilés 
kept alive the memory of the victorious day at La Grenouillére and 
of the national grandeur it symbolized in their eyes. They exalted 
it in fact as the most glorious day in their history, and the bard 
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Pierre Falcon took it as the theme for a song that would long echo 
on the prairie.*° Nor did they forget the expectations which the 
North Westers had taught them. Later on, when they were better 
educated and more familiar with the concepts of white society, 
they would become convinced that their essential interests had 
been wronged and then they would once again put forward their 
claims, based on the rights conferred on them by their birth. We 
shall see these claims appearing at the outset of the conflict which, 
in the years of their maturity as a group, would involve the Métis 
once again in conflict with the Hudson’s Bay Company; the same 
claims would find more violent expression in the insurrections of 
1869-70 and 1885." Sometimes the Métis would defend them 
with the rough energy of timid natures which felt a confused in- 
feriority in the presence of the whites and which in justifying their 
extreme demands were obeying the vital urges of their emotions. 
But if Métis nationalism seemed at this stage to shed its original 
uncertainties, it was always hampered by the small number of 
strong personalities that the group contained, by the indefinite 
character of the culture it represented, and by the failure of its 
achievements to reach the same level as those of the whites. 

THE APPEARANCE OF THE MISSIONARIES 
AND THE PACIFICATION OF THE COLONY 

For the present, the events that had taken place left in the hearts of 
the Métis only a mute resentment against the usurpers of their 
land. Hostilities might gradually have been resumed if the arrival 
of the first missionaries in 1818 had not introduced into the country 
a promise of peace and neutralized the attempts which the North 
Westers were again making to provoke the Bois-Briiles. While in 
York and Montreal the judicial assizes were involved in determin- 
ing the responsibilities and assessing punishments for the defen- 
dants in the Red River cases, Lord Selkirk’s colony at last took 
root in the plains of Manitoba, and the Hudson's Bay Company 
began to realize its ambitions in Athabasca. In April 1817, work 
started again in the colony.” On 18 July, the Saulteaux, despite 
opposition from the partners, had formally sold to Lord Selkirk 
the lands beside the Red River,®’ and on a soil now freed from en- 
cumbrances, Peter Fidler had immediately resumed his survey- 

ing. To attract new settlers, Selkirk eased the terms for selling 
land (10 shillings per acre), no longer insisting on cash down and 
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proposing reductions for those who distinguished themselves by 
their activity.** The needs of the colony would soon be taken care 
of by the opening of a store." In spite of the numerous difficulties 
that hindered work in the fields, such as the insufficiency of 
horses,*” the frequency of prairie fires that sometimes ravaged the 
settlers’ farms,"* the scarcity and high cost of labor, ® and the bad 
weather,!°° the population succeeded in harvesting modest crops 
in 1817.!°' William Laidlaw even undertook the organization of a 
model farm, whose rational methods could serve as a stimulant 
and a guide for the settlers of Assiniboia.'* At the same time, Sel- 

kirk investigated the possibilities of increasing the colony’s flocks. 
He studied the problems of communications with the United 
States, whose reserves of cattle could augment the herd at Red 

River,'°> and with that in view he started negotiations with 

American breeders.'°* He watched with favor the early efforts to 
domesticate bison.’ Finally, he sought outlets likely to absorb the 
colony’s surplus produce.'”* 

Attracted by the prospects of the security they would find in the 
colony, the freemen who were former employees of the North 
West Company welcomed in increasing numbers the idea of set- 
tling down there.'®” Several families of employees from the Hud- 
son's Bay Company’s posts had already made their way to Red 
River, and the officers showed their intention of following this 
example.'* In Sault Ste. Marie, in the little frontier town of Prairie 

du Chien in American territory, Canadians and French Métis 

voiced the same desire." The sympathies that had been expressed 
in 1814 for Lord Selkirk’s creation, but which afterwards nobody 
had dared to affirm openly,''® reappeared now that they could be 
expressed with impunity. When Lord Selkirk left his colony on 19 
September 1817, he carried away with him the impression of a 
general pacification. 

Between settlers and Métis or freemen harmony was equally 
re-established, The freeman Poitras returned to Peter Fidler the 
objects that had been taken from him in the looting of Brandon 
House. He traded several of his own carts with the Hudson’s Bay 
Company’s personnel. Others provided transport for the settlers 
or the Company, or once again supplied them with buffalo meat. 
Lagimodiére, whose loyalty had never flagged, gave new proofs 
of his devotion to Selkirk’s cause.''! This atmosphere of cordiality 
extended also to the Hudson’s Bay Company’s more remote 
posts, where the agitation had been so strong in 1815-16, Tran- 
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quility had returned to Brandon and the British company soon 
reoccupied its position on the Qu’Appelle River. It established its 
fort a short distance from the site it had previously occupied beside 
the Assiniboine River, and the support it found among Métis and 
freemen allowed it to resume peacefully its commercial activity.'"* 

All these changes, visible signs of a new order, could not fail to 
disturb the North West Company. There was no question of di- 
recting a new attack on the colony after Selkirk’s departure. But, 

rather than agree openly to its re-establishment, and thus admit 
their defeat, the partners tried to regain a little of their prestige 
through a policy of wrangling and obstruction, and thus to hinder 
the work of restoration followed by their adversaries. In the pre- 
sence of Commissioner Coltman, who did not conceal his partial- 
ity for them," they provoked petty squabbles, with the intention 
of irritating Lord Selkirk and of curtailing the territory of the col- 
ony or reducing its supplies of wood,''* whose extreme scarcity 
already posed a distressing problem. The partner J. Grant tried to 
kill the only bull in the territory of Assiniboia and thus to deprive 
the settlers of the means of ploughing their fields.''* From his post 
at Pembina, he resumed his predecessors’ attempt to dissuade the 
freemen from helping to feed the settlers.''* If he failed with most 
of them, in Montreal the representatives of the North West Com- 
pany worked on the witnesses called to testify before the tribunals 
of Lower Canada and succeeded in winning several of them 
over."'” Unable to regain the confidence of the Indians,''* they 
aborted the peace treaty which was about to be concluded between 
the Sioux and the Ojibwa and which would have greatly benefited 
the security of the colony. In agreement with Selkirk, the trader 
Duncan Graham had undertaken to bring the two groups to- 
gether,” with a view to organizing a trading agreement with the 
Sioux that would only be possible if peace were established.'*° In 
May 1817 he succeeded in establishing between the Ojibwa of the 
Red River and the representatives of two Sioux tribes the basis for 
a reconciliation that seemed likely to be extended to the As- 
siniboine.'*' But while the peace was being concluded, a group of 
Saulteaux, evidently instigated by the North Westers, attacked the 
employees of Duncan Graham in the neighborhood of Turtle 
River. The incident destroyed the effect of the negotiations.'** The 
following year the chief who, at Graham's request, had gone to 
Fort Douglas to negotiate the peace, died in an ambush near to 
Brandon House into which the Saulteaux led him under the guise 
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of friendship, once again perhaps at the suggestion of the North 
West Company.'** From this point there was no longer any ques- 
tion of reconciliation. Hostilities were resumed between the two 
sides, expeditions intent on revenge increased,'** and the projected 
flow of commerce could not be established.'* These endlessly re- 
newed uncertainties in their turn slowed down the peopling of the 
colony .!*° 

These initiatives may have been planned as the prelude to a 
broader action by the partners. At Green Lake, the irreconcilable 
Alexander Macdonell had mobilized a small group of Métis and it 
was rumored that in the spring of 1818 he would attempt a new 
attack on the colony.'"” 

But in that year the missionaries arrived in the territory of As- 
siniboia. With them appeared the moral force that was best fitted 
to act on the temperament of the Métis, the only one that was real- 
ly likely to inspire the Bois-Brilés to a peaceful line of conduct and 
emasculate the plots and schemes of the North Westers. On 16 
July, acclaimed by the population who crowded on the shore 
where their canoes landed, the two priests called to the evangeliza- 
tion of the plains of Manitoba, Joseph-Norbert Provencher and 
Joseph Nicolas Sévere Dumoulin, brought to the settlers and to 
the Métis their message of peace.'* 

The colony that welcomed them looked at its best. The crops 
promised to reward the labor of its inhabitants. In the section oc- 
cupied by the De Meurons, thirty-one dwellings had risen from 
the soil, lining the first artery of the colony, German Street.'** 
New immigrants had come to swell the ranks of the population. 
Pushing beyond the junction of the two rivers, they swarmed 
along the Assiniboine, where a group of Orkneymen had estab- 
lished themselves on White Horse Prairie.!*" The missionaries 
would guarantee the nascent peace of the colony with their moral 
authority. But their arrival also gave sanction to the establishment 
of a sedentary economy on the banks of the Red River. Under the 
guidance of their missionaries, the Métis became reconciled to the 

very activity which in the beginning they had sought to destroy. 
And finally, thanks to the pacification which their very presence 
introduced into the country, the missionaries fostered the triumph 
of a new legal order, which would soon find expression in the 

working of the institutions of the colony of Assiniboia, and would 
banish from this area the violence that had marked the years of 
domination by the North West Company.'*' To this land so dis- 
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tant from the valley of the St. Lawrence,'** and up to now practi- 
cally unknown to the authorities of Lower Canada, the latter now 
began to pay attention.'** Colonel Coltman’s mission de- 
monstrated their intention no longer to leave to the free play of the 
lawless forces that faced each other in the West the regulation of 
the conflicts which divided them. By way of the colony of As- 
siniboia a new legality, permeated by British concepts, quickly 
appeared on the plains of the West. Though it was limited to a tiny 
fragment of the vast Rupert’s Land, it brought a new spirit to the 
country, different from the old North Wester spirit, and it served 
as a prelude to the organization which, under the authority of the 
Hudson’s Bay Company, would gradually be imposed on the 
spaces of the prairie. 

Faced by the outcome of events on Red River, the North West 

Company was forced to accept the defeat it had just suffered. It 
tried hard, by supporting the activities of the missionaries, to gain 
recognition from the Métis and in this way to snatch from its ad- 
versaries the popularity of the happy initiative on the part of Lord 
Selkirk, to whom belonged the honor of having persuaded the 
evangelists to begin their work in the West.'** But it succeeded no 
better in this than in continuing its retrograde attempts to negate 
the Charter of 1670 and contest the rights which this guaranteed to 
the Hudson’s Bay Company." In fact, it was forced to concen- 
trate its attention on the more distant region of Athabasca, and to 
attempt, in a desperate struggle that revived all the violence of ear- 
lier years, to make the best of the prestige and the power it still 
retained there. ‘The blow which Lord S. struck at Fort William,” 

wrote Colin Robertson in 1818, “the reestablishment of the col- 
ony, followed by the Catholic mission are events so strongly im- 
pressed on the minds of all as to have completely laid the axe at the 
root of North West influence... in this part of the country, I 
wish I could say as much for that of Athabaska. There a strong 
germ exists.””!** 

Here the proclamation of the Prince Regent was deliberately ig- 
nored. A. N. McLeod, acting in defiance of the instructions it 
contained,'*” led the Métis into new attacks on the personnel of the 

rival company. Given confidence by the presence of many Cana- 
dians in John Clarke’s expedition, the Métis had at first shown 
themselves prepared to enter into more friendly relations with 
their enemies. A few of them even became engaged among the 
Hudson's Bay Company’s personnel.'** But soon, under the direc- 
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tion of the partners who continued to appeal to their most violent 
instincts, they resumed their former practices, joining in the loot- 
ing their masters organized,'** and accepting the most criminal 
tasks, such as the mission of murdering John Clarke,'*° which they 

would have done if the latter had not been forewarned of their 
plot, and abandoning themselves to attacks and outrages against 
the officers and men of the Hudson's Bay Company, of which the 
worst were committed at Green Lake,'"' around Ile a la Crosse'** 
and at Lesser Slave Lake." It is true that in acting in this way the 
Métis of these distant regions were often responding to the fear the 
partners knew how to inspire in them. But they were also giving 
in to the inclinations of a character nearer than that of their eastern 
congeners to primitive man and less imprinted with humanitarian 
scruples, as well as to the stronger attachment which in this region 
they felt toward the bourgeois of the North West Company. This 
was a distinction that would sharpen in the coming years and con- 
tinue, without changing appreciably, down to our own days. 
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which burns the standing wood all round, . . . This shocking devastation 
has laid open the woods about York Factory river. This is practised every 
summer by the natives, From York Factory to Albany along the coast and 
for many miles inland are spots of burnt woods from 100 yards to 20 miles 
in length.” Samuel Hearne, A Journey from Prince of Wales's Fort in Hudson's 
Bay 10 the Northen Ocean, ed. by J. B. Tyrrell (Champlain Society, To- 
ronto, 1911), p. 294. 
A6/1, p. 133. “A breife Account of a voyage made to Churchill River from 
Pt, Nelson River in the Hayes sloope anno 1686,” by Michael Grimington. 
“The land on both sides low, on the South side full of trees and underwood, 
the north side stony and barren, no trees,” 
Hearne, op. cit., p. 138 (note). 

. David Thompson's Narrative of His Explorations in Western America, 1784— 
1812, ed. by J. B, Tyrrell (Champlain Society, Toronto, 1916), pp. 16-17. 
“The whole is a dreary monotonous coast of rocks and moss without hills 
or mountains to the Mackenzie river .. . "; W. A. Mackintosh, Prairie 
Settlement: The Geographic Setting. Toronto, 1934, p. 19. 

39. L. R. Masson, Les Bourgeois de la Compagnie du Nord-Ouest, Quebec, 
1889-90, vol. Il, p. 100, “The surface of the country . . . is level, in- 
terspersed however with mountainous rocky precipices and an immense 
number of lakes. . . , The soil is remarkably barren of no depth . . . pure 
sand... . The best spots afford a mixture of clay with fine sand and moss 
ofa black colour. The country is . . . full of marshes and poorly wooded.”; 
Hearne, op. cit,, pp. 255-7; Sir John Richardson, Arctic Searching Expedition, 
London, 1851, pp. 96-7, 132, 320-1; Warburton Pike, The Barren 
Ground of Northern Canada. New York, 1892, pp. 39-40; Birket-Smith, op, 
cit, p. 16. “Itis a low, rolling country where ic n hills of Precambrian 
formation rise up over lower Quaternary deposits."; E. Petitot, Exploration 
du Grand Lac des Ours. Paris, 1893, pp. 61-4. 
Vilhjalmur Stefansson, The Northward Course of Empire. New York, 1922, 
“The Barren Grounds of Northern Canada are in reality a vast pasture, 
covered not only with lichens and mosses, but mainly with the flowering, 
plants of more southern latitudes, sedges, blue-grass, timothy, goldenrod, 
dandelion, ... " Richardson, op. cit., pp. 320-1; Pike, op. ci , pp. 39-40; 
Hearne, op. cit., p. 313. 
Birket-Smith, op. cit. p. 18. 
Hearne, op. cit., pp. 214-15; E2/5, p. 32 v. Graham, “Observations . . . 
(1768). “They pass and repass along the coast spring and fall in herds of 
many thousands . . . They are plenty along the seashore only in the height 
of summer, They cannot remain inland on account of the musketoes, but 
are obliged to come near the sea where it is cooler.”; B239/2/117, p. 3 
(1810-11). B239 a/118 (1811-12), p. 5 v, 10 vols. 

“Relation du Detroit et de la baie d’Hudson par Monsieur Jérémie.” 
(|. F. Bernard, Recenil de Voyages au Nord. Amsterdam, 1724, p. 406. 
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“Around Fort Bourbon there is nothing remarkable except that during the 
summer there are enormous numbers of caribou who are driven from the 
woods by the great multitude of mosquitoes and gadflies and find their way 

.’ On the migrations of the caribou: ibid., p. 423 E. T. Se- 
ton, in Life Histories of Northem Animals, New York, vol. Ill, pp. 122-8, 
attributes to the migrations of the caribou a more erratic nature than does 
Hearne, whose description we reproduce here. D. T. Hanbury, “A jour- 
ney from Chesterfield Inlet to Great Slave Lake.” Geographical Journal, Lon~ 
don, 1898-9, vol. XVI, pp. 63-77. 

. Seton, op. cit., vol. I, pp. 191-2. 

. Thompson, op. cit,, pp. 102-3. 

. Mackintosh, op. cit., p. 3. 
» Isham, “Observations (1743).” E2/1, pp. 90-1, A. Skinner. “Notes on 

Eastern Cree and Northern Saulteaux” P CAnthropological Papers, Am. Mus, 
Nat. Hist. New York, vol. IX, pt. I, 1911, p. 134); Thompson, op. cit., p, 
58-9. 

. John Macoun, Manitoba and the Great North-West, Guelph, 1882, p. 186. 

.E. E. Jenks. “Wild Rice Gatherers of the Upper Lakes.” 19th Report of the 
Bureau of American Ethnology. Washington, 1900, pp. 1011-60; Trevor 
Lloyd, “Wild Rice in Canada” (C.G.J., Nov. 1939). 

. E2/2, p. 14v.J. Isham, op. cit. (1743); Thompson op. cit. , pp. 95-6, 102-3; 
E. T. Seton, Life Histories, vol. 1, pp. 191-2, Ill, pp. 55-64. 

. B60 c/I (1815). B49 e/I, pp. 4—5 (1815); The Voyages of Pierre Esprit Radis- 
son, ed, by G. D. Scull, Prince Society. Boston, 1885, p. 153; L. R. Mas- 
son, Bourgeois II, p. 240 (Duncan Cameron, The Nipigon Country, p. 341 
(Peter Grant, The Saulteaux Indians); Thompson, op. cit,, pp. 95-6. 

. B89 c/I (1822-3. B39 e/6, p. 2 (1823-4; B49 c/l (1815); Mackenzie, op. cit. 
p. Ixxxi. 

E,T. Seton, Lives of Game Animals. London, vol. Ul, 1927, p. 706; 
R. 1. Dodge, The Plains of the Great West. New York, 1877, p. 144. 

. B60 c/l (1815). Radisson, Voyages, p. 210; Thompson, op. cit., p. 185. 

. D5/19, Abitibi, 22 Feb, 1847. Thos, Fraser to G, Simpson: “Our Indians 
do not complain of the scarcity of food. The rabbits are tolerably numerous, 
which is their main support during the winter season."; A. Skinner, op. cit. 
p. 24 et seq. 
E2/1, p. 74 v. Isham, “Observations”: . .““One of our main dependences is 
on geese. . . . The white geese are the best. They breed to the North in the 
summer, to the south in the winter. They fly to the North beginning of 
may, staying three weeks or four in the marshes, return in August and are 
all gone to the South by the Ist of October,” 

. B39 e/6, p. 2 (1823-4). On the distribution of fur-bearing animals, cf. 
B. Brouillette, La Chasse des animaux a fourrure au Canada. Paris, 1931. 

. D4/92, p. 18: Simpson's report, 10 July 1828; Skinner, op. cif., p. 24 ef seq. 
Masson, op. cit., II, p. 309. 

. B104 a/2, p. 46 (1819-20); Thompson, op. cit., pp. 10, 181; Skinner, op. 
cit., p. 59; A.S. Morton, The Jounal of Duncan McGillivray. Toronto, 
1929. Introd, pp. Ixiii-iv. 
Thompson, op. cit., p. 159; McLean, Notes of a Twenty-Five Years’ Service, 
I, p. 260, 

E. Radisson, Voyages (Scull), p. 201, Masson, op. cit., Il, p. 242; Skin- 
ner, op. cit., p. 24 ef seq.; D. Jenness, The Indians of Canada. National 
Museum of Canada. Ottawa, Bulletin 65. Anthropological Series no 15, 
1934, p. 285, 
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Thompson, op, cit., p. 156: (Winter at Rein Deer Lake. December 18/1796: 
—56° F). “It was a day of most intense cold. The ice on the lake was 
splitting in all directions, the smoke from the chimneys fell in lumps to the 
ground,” pp. 300-4; D5/43, p. 89, Isle a la Crosse, 20 Jan, 1857, G, De- 
schambault to G. Simpson: "Thermometer very low, —400 —450 F."; 
B39 c/3, p. 5 (1820-1). W. Brown’s Report (Athabaska Department). 
“The frosty dews start end of August . The ice sets fast about 15 
november. . , . The weather then becomes clear and the air keen, but the 
severe cold does not set in till after Christmas.” 
B60 a/22 (1823-4), p. 15, The thickwood Cree (Cree des bois) “could live 
more easily on buffalo in the plains than in the strong woods, where the 
means of subsistence are very precarious . . . but where they have a chance 
of making better fur hunts. . . . No sooner did the time arrive when the 
buffalo was expected to approach this river than they rushed out to the 
plains to meet them, .., "; Masson, Bourgeois... , II, p. 308. “Though 
no people are more attached to their native soil, yet the abundance of game 
(is powerful motive for them to desert their country).” 
Mackenzie, op. cit., pp. Ixx, bexii-iii; St. Boniface. Archives de I'Ar- 
chevéché. Mgr Grandin, Mission de St. Jean Baptiste, 24 Aug. 1866. 
“(From Carlton to Green Lake] the caravan travels across hills and ravines 
interrupted by boggy marshes and by trunks of trees brought down by fire 
whose presence is all the more dangerous because they are hidden by high 
grass.” 
B49 c/1, pp, 1-2 (1815); Maclean, op, cit., Il, p. 369. 
Mackenzie, op. cit., p. 129. In 1802, Peter Fidler saw this, because of the 
abundance of bison, caribou, and moose, as a site extremely favorable for 
the establishment of a trading fort. B39 e/I, pp. 37 B39 a/I, p. 1 (1802-3), 
B39 c/3, p. 5 (1820-1); Macoun, op. dt., p. 123; C. A. Dawson and 
R. W. Murchie, The Settlement of the Peace River Country (Canadian Fron- 
tiers of Settlement). Toronto, 1934, pp. 15-26. 

. Mackenzie, op. cit., pp. 108-9. 
Gabriel Franchére, Narrative of a Voyage to the North West Coast of America 
(1811-14), New York, 1854 (Thwaites, Early Western Travels, VI, p. 372); 
B60 e¢/I (1815). “The country north of the Saskatchewan is mostly thick 
woods, from the Rocky Mountains to old Buckingham House.” Cf. Plate 
Vil, 
Selk, P. (P.A.C,), p. 17.3418 (Colin Robertson, { July 1815): “Both sides of 
the Red River are clothed with stately oaks, elm, maple and pop- 
lar. ., . The woods deepen as you approach the Lake, but from the settle- 
ment to the Limestone Quarry, about twenty miles, the woods are about a 
mile in depth, in bays they are more, and at points the plains run to the 

Lettres de Monseigneur Joseph-Norbert Provencher, St. Boniface 
( a), 1913, p. 27. “The Red River . . . is bordered with oaks, elms, 
aspens, etc. Behind that barrier of woods the prairies extend out of sight.’* 
Mackenzie, op. cit., pp, Ixxii-iii: “The males take refuge here during the 
winter, and so do the females when the cold is particularly rigorous.”; 
Morton, op. cit., pp. liv-v. 
The Kelsey Papers, with an introduction by A. G. Doughty and Chester 
Martin. Ottawa, 1929, p. 3. 
Thompson, op. ¢it., p. 183; A.D.C.M. Manuscrits de l'sle, 115~x, p. 57: 
Letter of Le Sueur from Natchez, 4 Apr. 1700. “There are only bare prairies 
cut by rivers which have their sources in large or small lakes. A Frenchman 
and several savages who have traversed all these prairies told me that in the 
great heat of summer, after heavy rains, certain areas of these prairies are 
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white with salt, which attracts all kinds of animals"; J. Macoun, Autobiog- 
raphy. Ottawa, 1929, p. 141, “Rising out of the depression . . . we reached 
the summit of a slight rise and we were struck almost specchless by the sight 
that lay before our eyes. We were now on the verge of the real 
prairic. ... Looking west, north or south, a level expanse of green 
meadow lay stretching out before us to the horizon, without a break and 
without anything resembling a live animal or shrub,” 

2. B27 e/! (1815). "The country . . . is principally immense plains, covered 
with grass and herbs more or less luxuriant according to the quality of the 
soil... "; Morton, op. cit., p. 22. Cf. Plate VI, 2. 

. Masson, Bourgeois, Ip, 269. “The plains are near the banks and so extensive 
that a man may travel without passing a wood a mile long. All the 
wood here, as in the rest of the plains, being only small tufts . . . called by 
the French ilets de bois.” (J. McDonell, “Some account of the Red River,” 
17972); A, Mackenzie, Voyages from Montreal, p. Ixiii. et seq.; Provencher, 
Lettres, p. 27, Annales de la Propagation de la Foi, Quebec, Mar. 1853, pp. 44 
vt seq., R. Lafleche, 4 Sept. 1841. “The prairies into which the Métis go each 
summer are immense. They include the whole area between the Assiniboine 
River to the North, the Red River to the east, the Cheyenne River and the 
Grand Coteau to the South.” 
See note 4, E, Coues, New Light on the Early History of the Greater North 
West, New York, 1897, 1, pp. 314-15. H. Youle Hind, Report on the As- 
siniboine and Saskatchewan Exploring Expedition. Toronto, 1859, p. 31. 
J. Macoun, Manitoba, p. 258. Cf. Plates VIB, VII A. 
Twining (Capt. W. J.), Reports upon the survey of the boundary between the 
Territory of the United States and the Possessions of Great Britain ... Washington, 
1878, pp. 61-2. G. M. Dawson, Report on the Geology and Resources of the 
Region in the Vicinity of the Forty-Ninth Parallel. Montreal, 1875, pp. 218-29, 
248. 
W. A. Mackintosh, op. cit., p. 18. 
B 60 ¢/6, (1823-4). “The tracking ground along the North Saskatchewan is 
two days march above Cumberland House and continues to Edmonton. 
The men consider this as a kind of relaxation of their duty. It is about 100 
miles long. The boat is dragged at 3 miles per hour, the men being relieved 
every two hours."; Morton, op cit., p. 18. 
Thompson, op. cit., p. 185; Coues, op. cit., 1, pp. 229, 406-15; Macoun, 
Manitoba, pp. 87, 98, 249. “The Cypress Hills form a series of plateaux 
extending from east to west about 100 miles. At the castern end they rise 
abruptly from the plain to the height of 400 feet, but at the northwestern 
extremity they were found 2000 feet above the plain north of Fort Walsh," 
Mackintosh, op. cit., pp. 7-8; J. Hesketh, “History of the Turtle Mountain 
Chippewa" (N.D.H.C. V, 1923, pp. 85-9); History of the Red River Valley, 
Past and Present. Chicago, 1909, pp. 34-9, Cf, Map 1. 
E, Coues, op. cit., 1, p. 307. 
E2/11, pp. 52-3. “A Journal of a Journey Performed by Mr. Matthew 
Cocking, Second Factor at York Factory .. . 1772-1773" 
“Journal of a voyage to ascertain the boundary line,” by Capt. George 
Taylor (B 235 1/10, 1827-8, p. 28 v. “The mountain (Turtle Mountain) 
appears to be very swampy . . . and in these swamps the muskrat is to be 
found in abundance. Also throughout the mountain martins, foxes, bad- 
gers, red deer... .” 
Ibid. (B 235 a/9, p. 29 v.). 
Cocking, “Journal.” E2/I1; p. 53 v. 

. L. Lafleche. St. Frangois Xavier, 1 June 1845 (Archives de l’Archevéche 
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de Saint-Boniface); R. Lafléche. St. Francois Xavier, 4 Sept. 1851 (Annales 
de la Prop, de la Foi, Quebec, Mar, 1853). 
Cocking, Journal, E2/11, p. 53; Henday, “Journal.”B 239 a/40 (1754-5). 
“Nearing Red Deer river we come across pines and birch along the creeks (I 
had not seen one pine tree since I left Steel river).”; Youle Hind, op, cit. p. 
31. “The South Branch from the elbow to the Moose Woods flows through 
a treeless region, as far as relates to the prairie on either side; but in the 
ravines leading to the river detached groves of small timber occur.” 
A. Henday. B 239 a/40, p. 10 (1754-5; B 27 e/1 (1815): “The kinds of 
woods are the pine, birch, fir, poplar, aspen and a few small trees here and 
there about the banks of the river.""; Journals and Letters of Pierre Gaultier de 
Varennes de la Vérendrye and His Sons, ed. by Lawrence Burpee (Champlain 
Society, Toronto, 1927), p. 485: “Abridged description of the map repre~ 
senting the establishments and discoveries of the sieur de la Vérendrye and 
his sons" (1749). “Only the shores of the rivers [Assiniboine and Red rivers] 
are planted with trees, and the usual woods consist of white oaks, elms, ash, 
whitewood, birch and unknown trees. All the rest is prairie, where there are 
isolated copses of oaks and wild plums.”; W. H. Keating, Narrative of 
Long's Expedition. Philadelphia, 1824. vol. Il, p. 36, Youle Hind, op. cit. pp. 
10-11, 30, 31. 

. Cocking,“Journal.”B 239 4/69, pp. 10-11; Macoun, Manitoba, pp. 77-8, 
189, 238 et seq.; Autobiography, pp. 59, 141. 
Thompson, op. cit., p. 186; D 5/46, p. 413. Fort Pembina, 27 July 1857. 
Captain Palliser to the Colonial Office: “The soil consists of one foot black 
vegetable mould resting on a free clay loam. The clay mud is very tenacious 
and renders access to the banks of the Red River very difficult, and great 
care is required in passing a cart or waggon across.”; L. Lafleche, St. Fran- 
cois Xavier, 1 June 1845 (Archives de l'Archevéché, St. Boniface); Dawson, 
op. cit., pp. 277-8; Macoun, Manitoba, p. 102. 
Cocking, “Journal.” E2/11, pp. 50-7; B27/c/I (1815). “The soil is generally 
sandy, but in the points of rivers it is blackish mould for about 10 inches 
deep, but three feet from the surface it is pure sand.”; Dawson, op. cit., p. 
291; Macoun, Munitoba, p. 107, Macoun, Autobiography, pp. 176~7. 
M. Cocking.“Journal.” E 2/11, pp. 55-6, “We proceed broadly along little 
Eagle Creek. Buffalo feeding on all sides, Barren sandy soil, very little 
grass, mostly wild wormwood which the natives name Mustoose Wekos- 
quah or Buffalo liking.”; Macoun, Manitoba, pp. 77, 238, 244.; Coues, New 
Light, I, p. 138. 

. Macoun, Manitoba, pp. 104-5; F. G, Roe, “Buffalo as a Possible Influence 
in the Development of Prairie Lands (C.H.R., Sept. 1937 pp. 275-87). 
Coues, New Light I, pp. 123, 210-11, 225; Alexander Ross, The Red River 
Settlement: Its Rise, Progress and Present State. London, 1856, pp. 14-15; 
E. T. Seton, “Prairie Fires" (Man. H. and Sc. Soc. 16); L. Lafleche, St. 
Francois Xavier, 1 June 1845 (Arch, de l'Archevéché St. Buniface): “Fire 
breaks out in the prairie cach year in October and immediately after the 
thawing of the snows.” S, B, Steele, Forty Years in Canada, London, 1915, 
pp. 258-9. 
Macoun, Manitoba, pp. 104-5; Ibid., Autobiography, p. 175; Seton, op. cit. 
Jason Lothrop, “A Sketch of the Early History of Kenosha County, Wis- 
consin” (Col. St. Hist. Soc. Wisc. 1855, p. 450.) “After the first frost, in the 
autumn of 1835, had killed the millions of tons of grass west of us, we 
began at Pike river to see the rising smoke at a distance. The Indians proba- 
bly had fired the prairies as early as they could for hunting purposes. It was 
some time in the latter part of september. We began to see the advancing 
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fire towards evening on the prairie... . The blaze and burning of frag- 
ments being blown by the wind caught the tops of the high grass and the 
raging fire continued to advance so swiftly that a deer would hardly escape 
it... . The roaring terror came through the woods with awful grandeur, 
Large trees, as well as all smaller vegetation, quickly fell before the ruthless 
invader. This was when the prairies were uncropped by the countless herds 
that now roam over them.” 

. B235 a/4, p. 6. 27 Sept, 1822. “The sky is so obscured by smoke that it is 
changed almost into night.”; Archives des Soeurs Grises (St. Boniface), Il, 
p. 59 ef seq, Journal de la Mere McMullen (1859), 
G.P.de T. Glazebrook, The Hargrave Correspondence, 1821-1843 
(Champlain Society, Toronto, 1938), pp..96, 250. “Th, Simpson to J. Har- 
grave. Red River, 28 Nov. 1836. The Catholic population of the main river 
have lost much of their hay by fire. And several families . . . have in con- 
sequence gone to winter at the Turtle Mountain.” , D 5/18, p. 544. J. Row- 
and to G. Simpson, Edmonton, 29 Dec. 1856. ““What hay we made in the 
fall and summer was all burnt by the fire raging in the fall. For thousands of 
miles around Carlton the plains are black.."; J. E. Harriot, Red River Set- 

tlement, 22 Nov, 1853 (Arch. de l'Archeveche, St. Boniface); Monseigneur 
Grandin, St. Albert, 13 Oct. 1870 (Arch. de I'Archevéché, St. Boniface). 
“The prairie is all on fire. For several days we have been trembling for our 
buildings, and most of our horses are probably dead. Our poor hunters in 
the prairie have also been overtaken by the fire. Several have lost their 
horses, their dwellings, their belongings. One man has died in the fire”; 
G, Dugast, St. Boniface, 2 Oct. 1871 (Arch. de I’Arch., St. Boniface). 
“Fire ravages. We have been enveloped in smoke for eight days. All of the 
Sisters’ hay is burnt.” 
14/86, p. 5. (23 June 1823); D4/122, p. 19. “J. Clarke to the Gover~ 
nor... Northern Department. Fort Pelly, 6 january 1829. Fire has been 
raging through the plains for three months. The grass is so completely 
burnt that it is not easy for us to find a spot our poor horses may feed 
upon,” 
1D5/23, p. 216. “J. Rowand to G. Simpson, Edmonton, 6 Nov. 1848, The 
fire has been raging, the fort was very near going. All our hay, wood 
boats, firewood were burnt. The Strongwood Indians are starving.”; 
15/18, p. 544, loc, cit. 
D4/1.17, p. 45, “J. McDonald to G, Simpson, Beaver Creek, 8 April 
1823. The failure of provisions in the Saskatchewan and this district both in 
the same year is a rare circumstance which will be severely felt next sum~ 
mer. The cause... is the burning of the plains last fall from lake 
Ouinipique to Fort des Prairies and the Missouri.”’; Lettres de Monseigneur 
Provencher, p. 81. “St. Boniface, 20 Nov. 1822. Not only has the fire run to 
the Red River, but it has spread as far as the Fort of the Prairies, fromm which 
the Company brings many provisions by the last barges that come from the 
Bay.”; D5/35, pp. 281-2. A, W. Buchanan to G, Simpson, Fort Garry, 6 
Dec. 1852. “The only place unburnt is a strip of land extending from the 
Missouri to the Turtle Mountain, and to this place the buffalo resort.” 
D5/5, p. 301. A. Thom to G. Simpson, Red River, 31 July 1840, 
B60 2/11, p. 2 v. (1812-13), 
“Regulations passed at a meeting of the council of Assiniboia, held at Fort 
Garry, 25 June 1841” (Archives de I'Archevéché, St. Boniface). 
14/118, p. 16 v. Roderick Mackenzie to G. Simpson, Fort Alexander, 11 
Sept. 1822. “The country hereabouts has been overrun with fire, so that 
wood such as boats would require is extremely rare, even timber for house 
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building,”; Thompson, op. cit., p, 248; Youle Hind, op. cit., pp. 52-3, 59; 
Steele, op. cit, p. 69. 
Ibid., p. 118; Dawson, op. cit., p. 224. 
B60 a/24, p. 10 vy, 13 Oct. 1826, “Plains on fire, It must either be done 
accidentally by Joseph la Douceur tenting with our hunters, or by the 
Assiniboines as a revenge for the affray.” 
F.U. Graham, Nores of a Sporting Expedition in the Far West of Canada 
(1847), London, 1898 (printed for private circulation only). “The country 
full of smoke from the fires caused by Indians’ carelessness in raising camp 
or lit intentionally when desirous of hiding the traces of their ‘travois' from 
their enemies.”; Coues, op. cit., 1, p. 123. B60 a/22, p. 19 y. (1823-4). 
B60/c/6, p. 2 (1823-4), Keating, op. cit., Il, pp. 40—1. 
History of the Expedition under the Command of Lewis and Clark, ed. by E. 
Coues. London, New York, 1893. I, p. 249. P. 77; “We set the surrounding 
prairies on fire. This is the customary signal made by traders to apprise the 
Indians of their arrival. Ir is also used between the different nations as an 
indication of any event which they have previously agreed to announce in 
that way, and as it is seen it collects the neighboring tribes.” 
B 60 2/24, p.10 v., loc. cit 
D 5/12, p. 589. “Al. Christie to G, Simpson. Red River Settlement, 27 
December 1844”; McLean, op. cit., II, p. 377. 
B 60 2/25, p. 28 "30 October 1827. The appearance of the country is nearly 
winter, very cold and covered with snow”; B 60 ¢/I (1815); D 4/74, p. 418. 
“Simpson to London. Fort Garry, 30 June 1854. Winter very severe. Great 
depth of snow has impeded the movements of the traders... . "; D 4/89, 
pp. 75—6 (1826); Glazebrook, op. cif., p. 226. “D. Ross to J. Hargrave, 
Norway House, 22 Febr, 1836 . . . There has not been two days on an end 
without snowing since the middle of November.” 
B 2352/8, p.5. 4 July 1827. “Showers of rain promise excellent crops.” 
F. U. Graham, op. at, “People tell me that the scarcity of water in the 
plains is becoming alarming. Springs have dried up. The Indians say that 
they shall soon be obliged to stick to the main rivers.”; B 60 2/15, p. 3 v. 
“Weather uncommonly dry... . ” 
B 60 ¢/6 (1823-4), p. 2. 
B 27 e/| (1815). The thaw generally commences the latter end of March 
and about the middle of April the snow is all off the ground. . . . ""; B 235 
a/6 (1825-6) p. 30, notes the thaw on 13 Apr, 1826, The wild geese and 
ducks appear; Thompson, op. cit,, p, 186; Monseigneur Taché, Esquisse sur 
le Nord-Ouest de Amérique. Montreal, 1901, p. 12. “The melting of the 
snows is very rapid in the prairies , . so that the ground can often be sown 
in the last fortnight of April.” 
B 239 a/40, p. 24 v, 25v (A. Henday’s journal); E 2/4, p, 53, 54 (A. 
Henday's journal, 1755-6): "January 1756. F observe the bad weather is of 
no continuance, and the cold is nothing like so severe as at York Factory.” 
B 235 a/8, p, 17 “April 19 1828. After cold and snow the wind changes to 
the South and warm weather succeeds the cold weather almost instantane- 
ously.”; B 60 e/6 (1823-4), p. 2. “Astonishing variation in the weather: 
beginning of January was very mild last year and the last 10 days of January 
again mild.”; Taché, op. cit., p. 12. 
Winter 1807-8 at Pembina (N.D.H.Q. V-4, 1930=1, p. 239 et seq.) D 4/69, 
p. 57 “Simpson to London, Norway House, 1 July 1847. The winter has 
been unusually severe -48° on several occasions."'; Selk. P. p. 16879, Journal 
of M. Macdonell: Jan. 1814, “weather extremely cold, -40°5."" 
Cocking’s journal (1772-3), E 2/11, pp. 61-2; Clark Wissler. Material 
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culture of the Blackfoot Indians (Am. Mus. Nat. Hist. Anthrop. P., V, 
1910), p. 20, 
Carlton Journal, 1815-16, p. 4; Coues, op. cit., Il, p. 616-17; Thompson, 
op. cit., pp. 58, 59, 185; D. W. Harmon, A Journal of Voyages and Travels in 
the Interior of North America. Andover, 1820. p. 81; Nicollet (Jean Nicolas) 
Diaries, 1838, Library of Congress, Washington, D.C,; McLean, op. cit., I. 
p. 85; J. Hesketh, “History of the Turtle Mountain Chippewa” (N.D.H.C., 
V, 1923, p. 853); Macoun, Manitoba, pp. 102, 182-3. 

t., 1, 370; John Charles Fremont, Memoirs of My Life 
Chicago, New York, 1887, p, 45. 

. B60.a/25, p. 4, “June 7 1827. IT send men to the Pine Hummock for raising 
timber for boatwork. La Douceur took some horses to drag the logs, ac- 
companied by a number of women and children for gathering the sap from 
the poplar and birch trees, which is a very sweet refreshment.”; B 104 a/2, 
p. 56v (1819-20); “April 1820. Men making troughs for the women to put 
birch water in. Sugar is made from this"; Coues, op. cit., 1, p. 173. 

123. Thompson, op. cit., pp. 185—90; Hesketh, op. cit., p. 85 et seq. 
124. A.S. Morton, The Journal of Duncan M jillivray, Toronto, 1828, 

« . numerous as the locusts of Egypt. . . . To give us passage, they were 
forced to range themselves on both sides, and we were no sooner passed 
than they closed their ranks as before.”” 

5. Carlton Journal, 1815-16, p. 9; Coues, op. cit., Il, pp. 491-6; Thompson, 
op. cit., p. 188; Harmon, op, cit., pp. 11014; C. D. Forde, Habitat, Economy 
and Society. London, 1937, pp. 49-50. “The dryness of the ‘semi-arid’ 
climate of the prairie, and the insufficiency of drainage, explain the great 
number of saline lakes and the expanses of whitened soil, covered with 
efflorescences which surround their shores in Manitoba and Saskatchewan; 
saline lakes and marshes were gathering places for the herds of bison” 
(Coues, op. cit, 1, p. 138. Dawson, op. cit., p, 229). 
D5/46, p. 418. Montreal, 8 Dec. 1857. “We came in sight of the Saskatche- 
wan... . This is the heart of the buffalo country, It may be called the 
buffalo preserve, being the battleground between the Crees and Blackfeet 
where none go to hunt for fear of meeting enemies. The whole country, as 
far as the eye could reach, was covered with buffalo in bands varying from 
hundreds to thousands. The grass was eaten to the earth.” 
D 4/116, p. 20. A. Kennedy to G. Simpson. Cumberland Ho. 13 Mar, 1822; 
Morton, op. ¢it., introd. p. Iv: “The distinctive part played by the Forts des 
Prairies . . , was to provide the provisions for the post haste journey to and 
fro of the northern brigades.” 

. D4/86, p. 20 (1823). 
. Charles Mackenzie, The Missouri Indians, 1804 (Masson, Bourgeois, 1, pp. 
336-7; Coues, op. cit., 1, pp. 145-51. I, p. 406; R. Lafleche, St. Francois 
Xavier, 4 Sept. 1851 Ann, la prop. de la Foi, Quebec, Mar. 1853) 

Provencher, Lettres, p, 22, “It takes several days by way of the Souris or 
the Assiniboine River to reach the forts of the two companies. They derive 
from this area a small quantity of furs and dressed leather, but mostly 
provisions which consist of dried meat which form the cargoes of the 
canoes that go to the northern posts.” 
“Across the plains in 1863—5. Journal of W. H. Clandenning” (N.D.H.Q., 
14, p. 247 et seq.): “The buftalo and wolves cover the plains... . Buffalo 
are in clouds all over the country. I think we have seen 15,000 this day. 
(This refers to the region of the Grand Coteau of the Missouri.); Coues, op. 
cit., p. 138; Youle Hind, op, cit., p. 53; Manuscrits de I'lsle (A.C.D.M.), 
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115-X. Letter of Le Sueur, to Natchez, 4 Apr. 1700, p. 57. “A Frenchman 
and several savages who have traversed all the prairies told me that in the 
great heat of summer, after heavy rains, certain areas of the prairies are 
white with salt, which attracts all kinds of animals.” 
D 4/117, p. 45. J. McDonald to G. Simpson, Beaver Creek, 8 Apr, 1823. 
“The Indians being continually at war on the Missouri tribes who are too 
powerful for those of this river’; Coues, op. cit., 1, p. 9; Journal de 
F. A. Larocque, 1808. Ottawa, 1911. 

op. tit, Ly p. 64. 

buffalo in the Red River country] is... . that we find great difficulty in 
getting our brigades to and from their wintering grounds.” 
J Rowand. Edmonton, Dec. 1846 (Archives de I'Archeveché, St. Boniface). 
Provencher, Lettres, p. 42. “St, Boniface, 24 Nov. 1819. Itis frightening to 
see the fire breaking out among the dry grass and propelled by a great wind. 
Tt moves with astonishing speed, and even though it may be poorly fed, it 
can burn large herds of cattle which cannot escape its progress and, even if 
they do not die immediately, do not long survive,” 

. Ibid., p. 81."St. Boniface, 29 Nov. 1822. The season has been a very dry one 
so that almost everywhere the prairies have been burnt over, which will 
probably involve us in shortages, at least of meat.” 

. D 4/77, p. 321. G. Simpson to W. G. Smith. Lachine, | Mar. 1858. 

. DA/I7, p. 24. J. Leith to G. Simpson, Cumberland Ho., 10 Feb. 1823: “the 
natives set fire to all the country on both sides the river (Assiniboine), so 
that not an animal was to be seen out of the mountains of Fort Dauphin.” 

. D 5/35, pp. 281-2. A. W. Buchanan to G. Simpson. Fort Garry, 6 Dec 

1852. 
. D 5/19, 9 Feb. 1847. A. Christie to G. Simpson. Fort Garry. “From the 
extensive fires of last autumn no buffalo are to be found until they approach 
the banks of the Missouri, which is too far distant to be of any benefit to 
us.” 

D 5/4, p. 224. J. Rowand to Simpson, Edmonton, 4 Jan. 1837; D 5/7, p. 10. 
Ibid., 4 Jan. 1843. “Fire has been raging in this vicinity for a long time in the 
fall. ‘The buffalo having nothing left to cat have kept away... . "; B60 
a/9, p. 5 (Jan. 1811); "'Great difficulty in getting provisions on account of the 
burning of the plains between the Red Deer and South Branch rivers"; B 60 
a/I1, p- 25 (12 Oct. 1812) “The plains have been for seyeral days burning in 
the most dreadful manner, , . No prospect of provisions if dry weather 
continues"; B 60) a/12, pp. 1-7 (ct. 1813), “Weather still remarkably dry, 
fires still raging, another poor year for provisions”; D 5/4, p. 234 (1835-7); 
J.P. Pruden to G. Simpson, 1 Jan. 1837. “Plains burnt last fall to great 
extent. No buffalo consequently,”; D 5/19 Jan, 1847. J, Rowand to G. 
Simpson: D 5/10, p. 61 (1844). J. Rowand to G, Simpson, 4 Jan, 1844. 
“Owing to the Prairies being all burnt last fall far to the south of Red Deer's 
river, the buffalo did not approach the Rocky Mn ho.” 

. D 4/122, p. 12. F, Heron to G. Simpson, Brandon Ho., 10 Dec. 1828, “The 
plains were burned during last autumn, whereby the buffalo and Stone 
Indians were driven beyond our reach.” 

. D4/122, p. 15, J. Stuart to Simpson, Ft. Garry, 15 Dec, 1828, D 5/19, 9 Feb, 
1847, A. Christie to Simpson; D 5/12, p. 589. Ihid., Red River Settlement, 
27 Dec. 1844 "No hunting as a result of extensive fires in the plains"; D 
4/120, p. 40. J. Bird to G. Simpson, R.R.S. 18 Feb. 1827. “The plains having 
been burnt to a considerable extent beyond Pembina, those who have de- 
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pended on buffalo for their support have suffered great privation , . . "; B 
239 b/85, p. 29. J. Sutherland, Jack River, 28 Feb. 1815, “Lack of fresh 
provisions at all the houses in the Red River owing to the fite passing over 
the plains from the Forks to Brandon.” 
Ibid., p. 22, note 2. Provencher, Lettres, pp. 80~1 (1822). 
D 4/71, p. 321. Simpson to London. Norway Ho., 26 June 1850. 
D 5/12, p. 166, D, Ross to G. Simpson. Norway Ho., 14 Aug, 1844. 
D 4/17, p. 321 Simpson to London. Norway Ho., 26 June 1850. “the whole 
country between the Saskatchewan and Missouri having been overrun by 
fire... without the large supplies from Red River we should be unable for 
want of pemmican to conduct our transport service.” 
D 4/102, p. 39: Simpson's report, R.R.S., 10 June 1835. 
B 235 a/5, p. 26v. “March 17 (1825). Several settlers arrived from the plains 
with sledloads of fresh meat, which they brought from a great distance 
beyond Pembina, the buffalo in consequence of the late warm weather 
having moved far out into the plains"; D 5/52, p. 122. W. J. Christie to G. 
Simpson, Ft, Garry, 3 June 1860. “Owing to the mildness of the winter or 
other causes, buffalo were not within reach of any of the Saskatchewan 
Plain posts”; D 4/120, p. 29. J. Stuart to G. Simpson. Edmonton, 5 Jan. 
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the summer and early part of the fall buffalo were very abundant, but the 
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weather keeps the cattle from coming”; D 4/89, pp. 75—6. Simpson's re- 
port, 20 Aug. 1826; D 4/90. pp. 77-8, 25 July 1827. 

. D 4/120, p, 40. J. Bird to G. Simpson. Red River, 18 Feb, 1827. “The Plains 
have been burnt to a considerable extent beyond Pembina, those who have 
depended on buffalo for their support have suffered great privations, and 
some lives have been lost in unnecessary attempts to cross large open 
plains.” 

- B 235 a/5, p. 26 v. loc. cit. 
. Sibley P. (Minnesota Historical Society). M. McLeod to H. H. Sibley, St 

Paul, 2 Jan, 1851. 
. B 239 b/69, p. 53. Cumberland Ho., 28 May 1804 
. B60 e/I (1815). “A very mild winter, which admits of the buffalo's winter- 

ing in the large plains of the south. . . . 
. Selk. P., p. 477 et seq. W. Auld to Selkirk. “In Red River little snow fell 

except in the woods near the banks of the river. Buffalo went far off in the 
plains and it was summer in the latter end of May before these animals 
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River, 1 June 1813. M. Macdonell to W. Auld, “The winter was mild, cattle 
consequently scarce.” 
Selk. P., p. 769, M. Macdonell to Selkirk. Forks Red River, 17 July 1813: 
“Provisions usually scarce, the mild winter having added to the plains being 
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D 4/38, p. 50. Simpson’s Report. Norway Ho, , 21 June 1825; D 4/88, p. 82; 
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the buffalo never advanced towards the woods and the Indians have suffered 
much from starvation, Were it not for barley and potatoes, we should have 
suffered as much.” 
F, U. Graham, Notes of a Sporting Expedition in the Far West of Canada in 
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- D 4/125, p. 88 v. Colin Robertson to G. Simpson, Fort Pelly, 13 Feb. 1831: 
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D 4/23, p. 111. J. P. Pruden to G. Simpson, Carlton, 30 May 1830: 
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distance. . . . "; D 5/29, p. 383. J. Rowand to G. Simpson, Edmonton, 24 
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Hind, op. cit., p. 105. 
Masson, Bourgeois, 1, p. 333, Charles Mackenzie, The Missourri Indians 
(1804; Selk. P., pp. 1802-4. Journal of John McNab (1816) 
Sibley P. (Minn. Hist. Soc.) M. Macleod to H. H. Sibley. Lac qui Parle, 3 
May 1842. N. W. Kittson to H.H. Sibley, Pembina, 4 Feb. 1852; 
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Provencher, Lettres, p. 33, Fort Daer or Pembina, 15 Jan. 1819. “The good 
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brings us some fresh meat.”; Coues, op. cif., I, pp. 161-8; J. Hesketh, 
“History of the Turtle Mountain Chippewa” (N.D.H.C., V, 1923, p. 85 of 
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D 4/123, p. 57. J. Rowand to G. Simpson. Edmonton, 8 Jan. 1830, 
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